#### BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY



# OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES OF YALE UNIVERSITY DECEASED DURING THE YEAR 1943-1944

#### **BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY**

Entered as second-class matter, August 30, 1906, at the post office at New Haven, Conn., under the Act of Congress of July 16, 1894.

Acceptance for mailing at the special rate of postage provided for in Section 1103, Act of October 3, 1917, authorized August 12, 1918.

The Bulletin, which is issued semimonthly, includes:

- 1. The University Catalogue Number.
- 2. The Report of the Treasurer Number.
- 3. The Catalogue Numbers of the several Schools.
- 4. The Alumni Directory Number.
- 5. The Obituary Record Number.

#### BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

### OBITUARY RECORD

OF GRADUATES DECEASED DURING THE YEAR ENDING JULY 1, 1944

PREVIOUSLY, HITHERTO UNREPORTED, AND OF A NUMBER OF STUDENTS WHO LEFT COLLEGE TO ENTER FEDERAL SERVICE

NUMBER 103

NEW HAVEN 1945

#### **CONTENTS**

Biographies of Graduates												5
Yale College	•	•		•			•			•		5
Sheffield Scientific School	•						•					205
School of Engineering		•		•								288
Graduate School .	•					•						291
Masters of Arts	•											291
Doctors of Philosophy				•	•			•	•			293
School of Medicine.	•			•			•				•	300
Divinity School		•							•	•		305
School of Law	•		•	•					•			323
School of the Fine Arts			•	•	•			•				344
Bachelors of Fine Arts				•			•	•				344
Master of Fine Arts.		•			•			•			•	347
School of Music	•	•	•					•				348
School of Forestry	•	•	•	•	•			•				<b>3</b> 49
School of Nursing.		•			•							352
Supplement		•	•	•	•	•			•		•	353
Dates of Death of Recipients	of ?	Ho	nora	ıry İ	Deg	rees				•		380
Dates of Death of Certificate	: H	olde	ers a	ınd	No	n-Grac	luat	es				<b>38</b> 0
Statistics	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	387
Index	•	•	•	•	•	}.	•	•	•			388

## YALE UNIVERSITY OBITUARY RECORD\*

#### YALE COLLEGE

#### Samuel Fairbank Blodgett, B.A. 1874.

Born September 24, 1849, in Jacksonville, Ill Died January 7, 1944, in Kansas City, Mo

Parents, Willard and Margaret T. Blodgett of Jacksonville Prepared at

Phillips Academy, Exeter, N.H. Member Delta Kappa at Yale

Unoccupied 1874–75, teacher grammar school Hinsdale, Ill, 1875–76 and Southboro, Mass., 1876–79; principal Peters High School, Southboro, 1879–87; superintendent public schools Milford, Mass, 1887–96, Framingham 1896–1913, Randolph, Holbrook, and Avon Union School District 1913 until retirement 1917, resided in Kansas City 1926–44, member Masonic order and Episcopal church.

Married June 6, 1878, in Stoneham, Mass, Annie Elizabeth, daughter of Samuel W. Parker. Son. George Parker Mrs. Blodgett died October 18,

1937.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Mount Moriah Cemetery, Kansas City. Survived by son, two grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren.

#### William Parkin, B.A. 1874.

Born September 3, 1854, in New London, Conn Died December 24, 1943, in New York City

Father, William Winthrop Parkin, a merchant in New York City, son of Dr. John S. W. Parkin and Mary (Hitchcock) Parkin Mother, Frances Moore (Rogers) Parkin; daughter of Dr. J. Smythe Rogers and Augusta Temple (Winthrop) Rogers of New York City

St. Paul's School, Concord, N H. Entered Yale College Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year, salutatory oration appointment Senior year; president Berkeley Association Senior year, member Yale University Dramatic Association, Delta Beta Xi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa.

\* If the father of an alumnus is a Yale graduate, the father's record is not usually given in this volume, but may be found in published form elsewhere.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1874–76 (LL.B. 1876) and clerk in an office in New York City; admitted to the bar; lawyer in New York City 1878 until retirement 1939, member Whiting [John B., '74] & Parkin (later Gibson, Whiting & Parkin) 1878–84; clerk MacFarland, Reynolds & Harrison 1884–90; partner MacFarland & Parkin 1890–97, clerk United States Circuit Court of Appeals, Second District, 1897–1939, life member New York National Academy of Design; member Century Association and Episcopal church.

Unmarried.

Death due to heart disease Buried in Cedar Grove Cemetery, New London. Survived by two sisters, the Misses Augusta and Alice Temple Parkin of New York City.

#### Cornelius Royal Wallace, B.A. 1874.

Born October 27, 1845, in Medford, Mass. Died March 17, 1944, in West Palm Beach, Fla.

Parents, Alfred and Harriet (Newell) Wallace. Prepared at Phillips Academy, Andover, Mass Member Gamma Nu at Yale.

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1874–75; private tutor in Philadelphia 1875–76 and New York City 1876–77; teacher in public schools of New York City 1877 until retirement 1906; lived abroad for some time but for many years before his death resided in West Palm Beach

Married (1) March 6, 1885, in Greenwich, Conn., Anna Schlumberger Von Bach, daughter of Johann G. Schlumberger (Ph D. University of Munich), and Schell Schlumberger. No children. Mrs. Wallace died in 1915 Married (2) about 1930, in Florida Mrs. Wallace died January 10, 1940.

Death due to gastroenteritis Ashes scattered on Lake Worth, Fla. Survived by a stepdaughter, Mrs. Charles Howard, four stepgrandchildren, and ten stepgreat-grandchildren.

Since January 16, 1941, Mr Wallace had enjoyed the distinction of being the oldest living graduate of Yale.

#### Franklin Augustus Gaylord, B.A. 1876.

Born May 1, 1856, in Yonkers, N.Y. Died August 14, 1943, in Teaneck, N.J.

Father, Augustus Gaylord, a broker in New York City, adjutant general of Wisconsin during Civil War Mother, Martha (Champlin) Gaylord.

Milwaukee (Wis.) Academy. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; English composition prize Senior year, president Class Debatıng Club Senior year; Class poet; member Delta Kappa, Alpha Sıgma

Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1878-81, teacher Cornwall-on-Hudson 1876-78 and Brooklyn and New York City 1884-87; traveled in Europe studying French and German 1882-84; ordained in Presbyterian church 1894; minister Trinity Congregational Church of Tremont, New York City, 1895–99; associated with Young Men's Christian Association 1887–94 and 1899 until retirement about 1921; general secretary of the Association in France and minister American chapel in Paris 1887–94, instrumental in erection of new building in Paris; general secretary in Russia 1899-1917 and took active part in organization and incorporation of Society for the Moral and Physical Development of Young Men, Leningrad, and similar work in Moscow; aided Russian refugees in Berlin, Warsaw, and Belgrade; secretary American hospital for wounded Russian soldiers during World War I; served in Russia until all Americans were withdrawn from Russian territory, general secretary International Committee, Y M C A., 1918–21 and represented Committee at Odessa, Constantinople, and Cairo 1920; lectured in the United States and many European cities 1921; author: The Builders of the Atoll (1935) and of many other poems published in magazines; translated several Russian poems, presented to Czar Nicholas II in 1907 and 1911, chevalier Order of St. Anne (third class) 1902, Order of St Stanislaus 1916, and of the Russian Red Cross 1920; resided at West Englewood, N.J., 1919–43; trustee James Stokes Society, acting Class secretary 1930, Class secretary 1930-43, and Class agent 1930-42; member Town Hall Club, Clergy Club of New York, and Authors Club (London).

Married September 10, 1891, in New York City, Mary Louise, daughter of Rev Charles Seymour Robinson, D.D., LL.D. (B.A. Williams Coll. 1849; grad Princeton Theological Seminary 1855), and Harriet (Church) Robinson. No children.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Ashes interred in Torrington, Conn. Survived by wife (died November 5, 1943).

#### Charles Sumner Mervine, B.A. 1877.

Born April 27, 1851, in Milton, Pa. Died January 16, 1944, in West Palm Beach, Fla.

Father, Thomas Mervine, member White, Mervine & Lawson, manufacturers of agricultural implements, Milton; son of John and Elizabeth (Thomas) Mervine of Chester County, Pa Mother, Mary Russel (Batten) Mervine; daughter of Russel and Mary (Entriken) Batten of Chester County.

Milton High School. Class picture committee Senior year; member

Gamma Nu and Psi Upsilon.

Teacher Milton High School 1877–78; attended Drew Theological Seminary 1878–81 (B D. 1881), received on trial Philadelphia Conference of Methodist Episcopal Church 1881; ordained deacon 1883 and elder 1885; minister New Holland, Pa., 1881–82, Franklinville 1882–84, Raubsville 1884–87, Tannersville 1887–90, Boehm's 1890–92, Georgetown, Gap, and Christiana 1892–95, Nesquehoning 1895–98, Siloam, West Philadelphia, 1898–1902, Frankford 1902–05, Pen Argyl 1905–08, Asbury Church, Philadelphia, 1908–12, Lebanon 1912–15, Royersford 1915–18, and Manayunk 1918 until retirement 1923, resided in Roxborough, Pa, since 1923, spending winters in Florida, secretary Class of 1877 from 1933 to 1944; secretary-treasurer Preachers Aid Society, Philadelphia Conference, 1926–35 and on board of trustees of the Conference 1922–40; member First Methodist Church, Roxborough

Married May 18, 1881, in Madison, N J, Cornelia Kitchel, daughter of Joseph Ely and Margaret Cook (Kitchel) Muchmore. Children: George Stickle (E E Lehigh Univ. 1905), Ernest Muchmore (M E Lehigh Univ. 1909), and Marguerite (Centenary Collegiate Inst. 1906–08) Mrs. Mer-

vine died October 21, 1939.

Death due to senility. Buried in Mount Moriah Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by children, four grandchildren, six great-grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Jessie Mervine Stevens of Lorton, Va, and a brother, Dudley Tyng Mervine of La Grange, Ill

#### Alfred Lawrence Ripley, B.A. 1878.

Born November 6, 1858, in Hartford, Conn. Died October 13, 1943, in Andover, Mass

Father, George Ripley, president National Hide & Leather Bank of Boston; son of Franklin and Charlotte (Barrett) Ripley of Greenfield, Mass. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Aiken) Ripley; daughter of John and Mary Means (Appleton) Aiken of Andover Yale relatives include: Frank R. Shipman, '85 (brother-in-law); and G. Ripley Cutler, '16, and Thomas L Shipman, '28 (nephews).

Phillips-Andover. Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment and Scott Prize in German Senior year; Class baseball team and University Baseball Team Senior year; Class glee club and treasurer Class boat club Sophomore year; Junior Promenade Committee; member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, Phi Theta Psi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa. Graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1878-79 (on University Baseball Team), Harvard Medical School 1879-80, and the universities of Bonn and Berlin 1882–83; tutor in Latin Yale University 1880–82 and in German 1883– 85, assistant professor of German language and literature 1885-88, banker ın Boston 1888–1943; vice-president National Hide & Leather Bank 1890– 1901 and consolidated State National Bank 1901-08, president 1908-12, first vice-president Merchants National Bank of Boston (merged with State National Bank) 1912–17, president 1917–29, and chairman of the board 1929-43; a director Federal Reserve Bank of Boston 1923-27; lecturer Amos Tuck School of Administration and Finance, Dartmouth College, 1904 and 1906; M.A. Hon Yale 1888 and LL D. 1935, LL D Dartmouth 1936; alumni fellow Yale Corporation 1899-1933 (member Prudential Committee 1901-33, Committee on Finance 1905-33, and Committee on Educational Policy 1919–23, 1928–30), trustee Peabody Museum of Natural History 1924-29; Class agent 1930-39 and Class treasurer 1930-43, president Yale Club of Boston 1923-25, Boston Clearing House Association 1924-33, trustee Phillips-Andover 1903-43 (president of the board 1908-29), Provident Institution for Savings 1917-43 (vice-president 1932-43), and Crocker, Burbank & Company Association 1934-42, moderator Andover town meetings; associate member American Academy of Arts and Sciences.

Unmarried.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Chapel Cemetery, Andover. Survived by a brother, Philip F. Ripley, '97.

Mr. Ripley's gift of 500 books to Yale in 1898 formed the nucleus of the seminary library in the Department of German.

#### George Richard Walker, B.A. 1878.

Born February 8, 1857, in Akron, Ohio Died July 2, 1943, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Richard Baxter Walker, a hardware merchant in Akron Mother, Mary Esther (Jenny) Walker.

Akron High School; attended Western Reserve University 1874–76 Entered Yale College Junior year; Class baseball team and Class crew Junior year; Senior barge race, teacher Broadway Mission Senior year, chairman Class Day Committee; member Linonia and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Tutor Illinois College, Jacksonville, 1878–80, admitted to the bar, lawyer in Chicago 1880–1905 and 1914 until retirement 1930 (member Dow, Walker & Walker, and Freeman & Walker, practiced independently 1914– 30); United States attorney for southern district Indian Territory, Ardmore, Okla, 1906–10 and third judicial division Alaska, Valdez, 1910–14, private Illinois Volunteer Training Corps World War I; member Central Church of Chicago

Married May 7, 1892, in Chicago, Maude Josephine, daughter of Samuel and Frances (Knight) Dow. Children. Dow and Richard Baxter. Mrs. Walker died December 9, 1941.

Death due to uremia Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by children and one grandson.

#### Martin Clark, B.A. 1879.

Born February 25, 1855, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died June 16, 1944, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, William Henry Clark, a merchant in Buffalo Mother, Elizabeth Adelia (Burt) Clark.

Central High and Buffalo Classical schools. Attended Yale College 1875-77, Class glee club; awarded degree in 1890 with enrollment in Class of 1879

Studied law in office of Lewis & Gurney, Buffalo, 1877–80; admitted to the bar 1880, lawyer in Buffalo 1880–1944; member Clinton & Clark 1882–1901; practiced independently since 1901; instructor in admiralty and maritime law and the practice and jurisdiction of United States courts at University of Buffalo Law School 1895–1902, attorney Buffalo State Hospital 1904–12, president Park Club 1905 and Yale Alumni Association of Buffalo 1917; organizer and charter member University Club of Buffalo; secretary and attorney board of managers Church Charity Foundation; a founder and life member Buffalo Public Library, life member American Economic Association, vestryman Trinity Church (Episcopal), Buffalo, 1927–30.

Married February 9, 1882, in Elmira, N.Y., Cora Lee, daughter of Stephen Potter and Lucy (Pratt) Bedell. Children: Grace Bedell (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1904), the wife of Howard Williams Morey; Clinton, '08; Martin Lee, '10, Stephen Bedell, '13; Ruth Lothrop, the wife of J. Howard J Adams, '11 S; and Joyce Burt, the wife of Joseph Eberle Stinson (Purdue Univ ex-'13). Mrs. Clark died November 23, 1930

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by children, eight grandchildren, among whom are Elizabeth Adams Dodge, ex-'39 Art, and J. Howard Adams, Jr., '41, and five great-grandchildren

In 1934 Mr Clark presented his law library of 1,679 volumes to the Yale University School of Law.

#### Aaron Van Schaick Cochrane, B.A. 1879.

Born March 14, 1858, in Coxsackie, N.Y. Died September 7, 1943, in Hudson, NY.

Father, Francis Cochrane, a farmer in Coxsackie, son of John Robert and Mary (Potts) Cochrane of Alburgh, Vt. Mother, Barbara (Van Schaick) Cochrane; daughter of Aaron Isaac and Helena (Whitbeck) Van Schaick of Coxsackie. Yale relatives include a brother, Francis Cochrane, '87.

Hudson River Institute, Claverack, N.Y. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Scott Prize in German, member Gamma Nu and Phi Beta Kappa.

Taught mathematics at Hudson Academy and studied law with Andrews & Edwards 1880–81; admitted to the bar 1881; member Hawver & Cochrane, Hudson, 1881–90 and Brownell & Cochrane 1890–1901; police justice in Hudson 1887–88; district attorney Columbia County, N.Y, 1889–92; United States Representative, 19th New York District, 1897–1901, justice of the Supreme Court, State of New York, 1902–15, associate justice Appellate Division 1916–21, presiding justice 1922–28, and official referee 1928–41; secretary Columbia County Republican Committee several years; vice-president Farmers National Bank, Hudson, 1922–29, president 1929–32; trustee Hudson Savings Bank 1910–32 and Hudson City Hospital 1930–33; member Columbia County and New York State Bar associations and Reformed Protestant Dutch Church, Hudson

Married October 10, 1882, in West Taghkanic, N.Y., Margaret Minerva, daughter of William Henry and Margaret (Hood) Hawver Children Margaret Roberta (B A. Wellesley Coll. 1910, Mrs. Charles Arnold Ferriss) and Francis Aaron, '14 S. Mrs Cochrane died January 18, 1933.

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Riverside Cemetery, Coxsackie. Survived by children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Helena C. Gates of Coxsackie.

#### Julian Wheeler Curtiss, B.A. 1879.

Born August 29, 1858, in Fairfield, Conn. Died February 17, 1944, in Greenwich, Conn

Father, Henry Tomlinson Curtiss, a merchant in New York City, son of Henry and Anne (Tomlinson) Curtiss Mother, Mary Eliza Henderson (Beardslee) Curtiss, daughter of Cyrus and Maria (Burr) Beardslee. Yale relatives include: George A. Phelps, '95, Alfred L Curtiss, '96, and Marion B. Phelps, '96 S. (nephews); and George A. Phelps, '28 (grand-nephew).

Polytechnic Preparatory School, Brooklyn, N.Y., and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn Class crew Sophomore and Junior years; University Crew Junior and Senior years, member committee on arrangements winter athletic meet, and judge fall regatta and spring athletic games Senior year; Class tug-of-war team; Class supper committee Junior year, on Junior and Senior Promenade Committees; member Dunham Boat Club, Delta Kappa, Linonia, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

In business in New York City 1879 until retirement 1938; salesman for a tea importing firm 1879; member Lyman & Curtiss, toy manufacturers, 1879-84; associated with A. G. Spalding & Bros, manufacturers of athletic goods, 1885-1938 (secretary 1885-98, vice-president 1898-1920, president 1920-33, chairman of the board 1933-38 and of the advisory committee 1938-44), M A Hon. Yale 1926; advisory rowing coach at Yale 1902-11; referee Poughkeepsie regattas 1918-40, intercollegiate regatta at Ithaca 1920, and Yale-Harvard races at New London, Conn, 1933-40 (chairman Yale-Harvard Regatta Committee 1897–1902); represented Intercollegiate Athletic Association on Olympic Rowing Committee 1938–40; governor United States Golf Association; honorary member Greenwich Recreation Board, chairman Greenwich War Bureau 1917-18; first president Greenwich Young Men's Christian Association 1916–24; member Greenwich Board of Education 1913-37 (chairman 1924-37); assisted in forming Rosemary Hall Corporation, Greenwich, 1890; one of two neutral arbitrators between New York Central Railroad Company and shop craft employees; director Gaylord Farm Association, Wallingford, Conn.; member Yale Athletic Association alumni advisory crew committee and Yale committee of the Military Training Camps Association, Alumni Fund agent for his Class 1893-1944; acting Class secretary 1928-34, secretary 1934-44, chairman Yale Alumni University Fund Association 1902-04; a founder New York Yale Club (on house committee 1899-1902, member Council 1899-1907, Committee on University 1906-15, vice-president 1902-03, and president 1904-06), member Connecticut State Board of Education 1919-37, and Greenwich, Connecticut, and United States Chambers of Commerce, attended Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich.

Married October 12, 1880, in New York City, Mary Louise, daughter of Joseph Smith and Thankful (Smith) Case. Children: Jean Beardslee, the wife of L Wallis Gibbons, '02 S; Mary Louise, the wife of Herbert H Pease, '02 S, Henry Tomlinson, '10 (died January 11, 1928); and Margaret Burr (died December 29, 1915).

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Putnam Cemetery, Greenwich Survived by wife (died July 13, 1944), two daughters, seven grand-children, two of whom are Hoyt C Pease, '34 S., and Julian C Pease, ex-'37 S, and thirteen great-grandchildren.

#### John Villiers Farwell, B.A. 1879.

Born October 16, 1858, in Chicago, Ill. Died June 17, 1944, in Lake Forest, Ill

Father, John Villiers Farwell, founder John V. Farwell Company, wholesale drygoods, Chicago; son of Henry and Nancy (Jackson) Farwell Mother, Emeret (Cooley) Farwell; daughter of Noah and Sophronia (Parsons) Cooley of Granville, Mass. Yale relatives include. Walter Farwell, '85, Francis R Cooley, '86, and Charles P Cooley, '91 (cousins); Frank F. Ferry, '00, John F. Ferry, '01 S, Montague Ferry, '02 S, Horace F. Ferry, '06, Albert D Farwell, '09, Emerson Tuttle, '14, Arthur F. Tuttle, '15, John V. Farwell, 3d, '18, Ralph I. Farwell, '19, Arthur Farwell, '22 S., Julian I. Farwell, ex-'24 (nephews), and Francis C. Farwell, 2d, Class of 1944 (grandnephew)

Lake Forest Academy and Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior year; Class crew Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; Senior barge race; University Football Team Senior year, on committee on arrangements Presentation Day; member University Boat Club (secretary Junior year, on house committee Senior year), Kappa Sigma

Epsilon, Psi Upsilon, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa

Traveled around the world 1879-80; associated with John V Farwell Company 1880–1944 (member of firm since 1884, general manager 1891– 1925, president 1906–25, chairman board of directors 1925–44), M.A. Hon Yale 1911, fellow Yale Corporation 1911-31 and chairman Corporation's Committee on Architectural Plan 1919-31; served on numerous committees concerned with the expansion of the University, president Chicago-Yale Scholarship Trust 1910-31 and Yale Club of Chicago 1918-19, Illinois State chairman Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; trustee Peabody Museum of Natural History at Yale 1929–31 and Rosenwald Museum (now Museum of Science and Industry), Chicago, 1926-32, treasurer board of trustees Lake Forest University 1898-1921; member committee to provide graduate fellowships for American students in French universities 1917; first president Merchants Club of Chicago 1896-98 and Consolidated Commercial and Merchants Club 1907-08; president First State Pawners Society 1899-1923, board of trustees Chicago Young Men's Christian Association 1901-31, and National Citizens League (which assisted in formation and adoption of Federal Reserve Law) 1911-14, vicepresident Citizens War Board of Chicago 1917; chairman committee which reformed Illinois revenue laws 1897, War Relief Committee (Chicago), and United States Chamber of Commerce Board on War Taxation 1918, treasurer Committee which prosecuted Cook County "boodlers"

1887; an organizer Legislative Voters League of Chicago and Municipal Lodging House, member Chicago Plan Commission 1910–29; a director Chicago World's Fair 1893, appointed by President Taft to Red Cross Endowment Committee of Chicago 1910–12; member Sumner Club and First Presbyterian Church, Lake Forest.

Married (1) May 20, 1884, in Chicago, Ellen Sheldon, daughter of Thomas Drummond, LL.D. (B.A. Bowdoin Coll. 1830), and Delia (Sheldon) Drummond. Daughter: Katharine (Mrs. Katharine Farwell Carpenter). Mrs. Farwell died August 6, 1912. Married (2) April 3, 1919, in Coronado, Calif, Harriet Flower Dunlap Smith, daughter of James Monroe and Lucy Louisa (Coues) Flower. Mrs. Farwell died December 26, 1938.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Lake Forest Cemetery Survived by daughter, five stepchildren, Mrs W. Dow Harvey of Lacomber, Ill, Perry Dunlap Smith (B.A. Harvard 1911) of Chicago, Lawrence Dunlap Smith (B.A. Harvard 1912) of Lake Forest, Prof. Elliott Dunlap Smith (B.A. Harvard 1913, LL B. 1916, M A. Hon. Yale 1928) of New Haven, and Hermon Dunlap Smith (B.A. Harvard 1921) of Lake Forest, eighteen stepgrandchildren, a sister, Mrs Fannie F. Tuttle, the widow of Henry N. Tuttle, '81, of New Haven, and a brother, Arthur L. Farwell, '84. Another brother, Francis C Farwell, '82, died in 1935.

#### Robert Hallam Munson, B.A. 1879.

Born January 27, 1857, in Bradford, N.Y.

Died December 24, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Edgar Munson, a lumberman in Williamsport, Pa.; associated with John R. Cook & Company, Slonaker, Howard & Company, and Starkweather & Munson; son of Jesse and Sophia (Tallmadge) Munson of Bradford Mother, Lucy Maria (Curtis) Munson, daughter of Amos and Louisa (Johnson) Curtis of Meriden, Conn Yale relatives include: C. La-Rue Munson, '75 L. (brother); Edgar Munson, '04, and George S Munson, '04 (nephews); and George Munson, ex-'32, N. Van Vranken F. Munson, '33, and Townsend Munson, '33 (grandnephews).

Cheshire (Conn) Academy Dissertation appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year; Class baseball team; captain Dunham Boat Club and on winning crew Senior year; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Psi Upsilon.

With Susquehanna Saw & Planing Mill 1879–91; vice-president Hall & Munson Company, Bay Mills, Mich, 1891–1904; president Cowlitz Lumber Company, Castle Rock, Wash., 1902–43, Munson Lumber Company, Nelson, British Columbia, 1910–43, and Sterling Collieries Company, Nelson, British Columbia, 1910–43, and British Columbi

pany, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, 950 Fifth Avenue Corporation, New York City, and Hallam Corporation; member Episcopal church.

Married June 18, 1884, in Pittsburgh, Pa, Olivia, daughter of Andrew and Elizabeth (Wightman) McKee. Children: Helen McKee, the wife of Richard Manning Russell (B.A. Harvard 1914); Curtis Burton, '16, and Alexander McKee, '16 (died December 19, 1917).

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, daughter, one son, and seven granddaughters.

#### John Woodruff Shepard, B.A. 1879.

Born July 18, 1858, in Essex, Conn. Died June 10, 1944, in Darien, Conn.

Father, Frederick William Shepard (MD 1834), a physician in Essex, son of Job and Azubah (Clark) Shepard of Plainfield, Conn Mother, Maria Theresa (Green) Shepard; daughter of Timothy and Lucretia Hathaway (Knowles) Green of East Haddam, Conn Yale relatives include Nathaniel Clarke (BA 1714) (great-great-great-great-uncle), John Shepard (B.A. 1748) (great-great-uncle); Frederick J. Shepard, '73 (brother); Edward M. Chapman, '84, and Frederick S. Chapman, '94 (nephews); and Edward N Chapman, '17 (grandnephew).

Hartford (Conn) Public High School Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Dunham Boat Club, Linonia, and Kappa Sigma Epsilon.

Employed by a bank in Hartford 1879–82, attended Harvard Medical School 1882–83, associated with Boston Safe Deposit and Trust Company 1883–89 and Title Guarantee & Trust Company, New York City, 1889 until retirement 1933, secretary New England Society of Brooklyn, vestryman and treasurer Church of the Messiah (Episcopal), Brooklyn

Married September 3, 1890, in Wilmington, Del., Alice Spencer, daughter of Horace Burr (M.D. 1842) and Louisa Nancy (Hungerford) Burr. Sons: Frederic Burr, '15, and Ralph Hungerford (US Naval Academy 1918–19). Mrs. Shepard died January 30, 1938.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, NY. Survived by sons and two grandchildren.

#### Peter Flint, B.A. 1880.

Born December 6, 1856, in Ticonderoga, NY. Died December 8, 1943, in Port Henry, NY

Father, Charles Northrop Flint, a lawyer in Ticonderoga, son of Peter and Hannah (Covenhoven) Flint of Tribes Hill, N.Y. Mother, Aura

Maria (Thompson) Flint; daughter of George and Hannah (Sweet) Thompson Yale relatives include a brother, Charles N. Flint, '85.

Port Henry Common School and Hopkins Grammar School, New Ha-

ven, Conn. Member Delta Kappa.

Studied law in office of Waldo & Grover, Port Henry, 1880-84; admitted to the bar 1883, associated with A. S. Barnes & Company, publishers, New York City, 1884; secretary to William Brookfield, commissioner of public works, New York City, 1884-85; in law office of William Cory Sanger 1885-87, on staff American Railroad Journal as agent for Forney car seat 1887-89, reporter and editorial writer New York Tribune 1889-94; partner Hartridge [Clifford W., '87], Birdsee & Flint 1896-98 and Benedict & Flint, receiver and trustee in bankruptcy United States District Court for Southern New York 1899-1904; lawyer in Schenectady 1916-33 and Port Henry 1933-43; court reporter New York Times, contributed editorials and articles on fishing, game hunting, and conservation laws to newspapers; a delegate Sons of the American Revolution to investigate war relief conditions in Cuba, on Gould-Lipton Commission, under United States government orders, 1898; secretary United Commercial Lawyers, New York City, 1897–98, Sons of Oriskany, Inc., and Schenectady County Fish and Game Protective Association; an organizer Schenectady Chamber of Commerce and Young Men's Christian Association; member Moriah Town Historical Society (Port Henry), New York State Historical Society, Schenectady County Farm Bureau, New York Silurians, Sons of the American Revolution, and Methodist church.

Married June 30, 1899, in New York City, Alice, daughter of William Seely and Elizabeth (Wilson) Morlan No children. Mrs Flint died March 23, 1933

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Moriah Union Cemetery, Port Henry. Survived by no immediate relatives

#### William Maltby Lovering, B.A. 1881.

Born April 19, 1861, in Taunton, Mass. Died June 23, 1944, in Taunton, Mass.

Father, Charles Loughead Lovering, treasurer Whittenton Manufacturing Company, cotton goods, Taunton, son of Willard and Susan (Loughead) Lovering of Hollister, Mass Mother, Sarah Rebecca (Maltby) Lovering, daughter of Erastus Maltby (B.A. 1821) and Almira (Smith) Maltby of Taunton Yale relatives include: Samuel Maltby (B.A. 1712) (great-great-great-uncle), Jonathan Maltby (B.A. 1779) and Isaac

Maltby (B.A. 1786) (great-great-uncles); and Edward B. Maltby, ex-'61 (uncle).

Bristol Academy, Taunton, and St Mark's School, Southboro, Mass. Class tennis club Senior year; member Dunham Boat Club, Delta Kappa,

Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Superintendent Whittenton Manufacturing Company 1881–1904; drygoods commission merchant Lawrence & Company, New York City, 1904–07; treasurer Taunton Dye Works and Bleaching Company 1895–1928 and Taunton Wool Stock Company 1902–44 (president 1938–44), alderman Taunton 1889; member Unitarian church

Unmarried.

Death due to cardiac exhaustion. Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, Taunton. Survived by no immediate relatives

#### Martin Welles, B.A. 1882.

, Born April 15, 1859, in Henderson, Minn Died October 6, 1943, in Farmington, Conn

Father, Roger Welles (B.A. 1851). Mother, Mercy Delano (Aiken) Welles. Yale relatives include William Griswold Smith, ex-'91 (cousin), and Samuel G Huntington, Jr, '24 (son-in-law).

Hartford (Conn ) Public High School. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; librarian Broadway Sunday School Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years and assistant superintendent Junior year; member

Class picture committee and Kappa Sigma Epsilon.

Attended George Washington University 1882-85 (LL B. 1884, M.L. 1885); examiner United States Pension Office, Washington, 1882-85, admitted to the bar 1886, associated with Title Guarantee & Trust Company, New York City, 1886-93 and Bond & Mortgage Guarantee Company of New York 1893–1906 (assistant secretary, treasurer, and fourth vice-president); traveled in Europe 1906-07, vice-president Connecticut River Banking Company of Hartford 1907-41; auditor Travelers Insurance Company 1912–31; secretary and treasurer Travelers Bank & Trust Company 1913-32, vice-president and secretary 1932 until retirement 1941; president Rolock, Inc, industrial fixtures, Fairfield, Conn., 1929-35; treasurer Dwight Slate Machine Company, Hartford; on Westfield (NJ) City Council 1889–1901 (chairman 1900–01); president Westfield Board of Education 1902-05; treasurer Connecticut branch Society of Mayflower Descendants 1930-31 and assistant treasurer 1940-41, director Family Service Society, Hartford, 1908–36 (treasurer 1912–32); treasurer Young Men's Christian Association 1912–22; on High School Plan and Building Commission 1916; corporate member-at-large American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1909–43 (auditor 1931–38); treasurer Class of 1882 from 1937 to 1939, member Connecticut Historical Society, Sons of the American Revolution, and Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford

Married June 12, 1888, in Washington, D.C., Mary Amelia, daughter of Rev. William Weston Patton, D.D., LL.D. (B.A. New York Univ. 1839), and Mary Boardman (Smith) Patton and sister of Cornelius H. Patton, '86 D. Children: Martin Rice (died August 5, 1895); Carolyn Aiken (B.A. Smith Coll. 1914), the wife of Francis Duffy Ellis, Jr. (B.A. Univ. Pennsylvania 1915, M.D. 1918, M.P.H. Yale 1941); Margaret Stanley (B.A. Smith Coll. 1916; died October 17, 1942); Mary Patton (Mrs. Samuel G. Huntington, Jr.; died March 31, 1930); and Roger Patton, '24 Mrs. Welles died March 26, 1943

Death due to senility. Buried in Center Cemetery, Newington, Conn Survived by one daughter, one son, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Grace Welles Beadle of Newington, and two brothers, E Stanley Welles, ex-'90, and Lemuel A Welles, '93.

#### Herbert Loring Frost, B.A. 1883.

Born September 27, 1859, in Cleveland, Ohio Died February 10, 1944, in East Cleveland, Ohio

Father, Loring Colledge Frost, a railroad civil engineer in Cleveland Mother, Mary Richmond (Henry) Frost.

Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland. University Bicycle Association Sophomore and Junior years; Class baseball team Junior year, on Class Day Committee Senior year, member Delta Kappa and Psi Upsilon.

Attended Cleveland Homeopathic Medical College 1883–86 (MD 1886), house surgeon Buffalo (N.Y) Homeopathic Hospital 1886–88, interne St Bartholomew's Hospital, London, and studied at Medical College of University of Edinburgh 1889, surgeon and physician in Cleveland 1889–1944, demonstrator in anatomy Cleveland Homeopathic Medical College 1890–91, professor of anatomy 1891–94, and professor of surgery 1894–1913, on staff Huron Road Hospital, East Cleveland, 1894–1944 (chief of visiting staff 1924–36 and head of surgical department for many years); surgeon Cleveland City Hospital; fellow American College of Surgeons

Married August 5, 1896, in Cleveland, Fanny Nellie, daughter of George W and Louise Augusta (Stafford) Smith. No children.

Death due to bilateral lobar pneumonia. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife

}

#### Victor Emanuel Helleberg, B.A. 1883

Born May 25, 1861, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died October 8, 1943, in Lawrence, Kans

Father, Carl Gustaf Helleberg. Mother, Anna Elizabeth (Franks) Helleberg; daughter of Frederick Franks (Otto Jacob Nattoch Dag) and Margaret (Stewart) Franks of Cincinnati

Woodward High School, Cincinnati Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Baseball Team; substitute Freshman Football Team; consolidated baseball nine Sophomore year; Class baseball team

three years; member Delta Kappa and Psi Upsilon.

Attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1883–85 (LL B 1885); admitted to the bar 1885; lawyer in Cincinnati 1885–93; president American Process Engraving Company, Cincinnati, 1893–1903; agent for March's *Thesaurus* in Kentucky and southern Ohio 1903–05, attended University of Cincinnati 1905–06, fellow in sociology University of Chicago 1906–08 and instructor 1908–10; assistant professor of sociology University of Kansas 1910–13, associate professor 1913–27, professor 1927–37, professor emeritus 1937–43; author *The Social Self* (1941); member American Sociological Society.

Married June 28, 1902, in Cincinnati, Margaret May Tripp. No children Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Spring Grove

Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by wife

#### Harry Roberts Hillard, B.A. 1883.

Born July 15, 1859, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa Died July 25, 1943, in New York City

Father, Thaddeus Street Hillard, member Miner-Hillard Milling Company, Wilkes-Barre; son of Oliver Burr and Harriet (Roberts) Hillard of Charleston, SC, and Wilkes-Barre Mother, Esther (Reynolds) Hillard, daughter of Samuel and Lydia (Tuthill) Reynolds of Elmira, NY Yale relatives include: John Butler Woodward, '83 (brother-in-law); Lord Butler Hillard, '83, John N. Conyngham, ex-'88 S, William H Conyngham, '89 S, and Herbert Conyngham, '95 S. (cousins), and John Butler Woodward, Jr., ex-'12 (nephew).

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass Member Senior Promenade

Committee, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Associated with his father 1883-84; secretary Hazard Manufacturing Company, iron and steel wire rope, Wilkes-Barre, 1884-89; treasurer Colonial Trading Company, Buyers Index Publishing Company, Insular Steamship Line, exporters, New York-City, and William E. Peck & Company,

Inc., mercantile exporters, until retirement 1924, member Class reunion committees, Drug and Chemical Club of New York, and Episcopal church.

Married (1) June 13, 1899, in Columbus, Ohio, Lillian May, daughter of Samuel and Anna (Weiser) Stevens. Daughter: Stephanie (B A. Vassar 1928), the wife of Charles Victor Barry (B.S. Univ. Pennsylvania 1923) Mrs Hillard died February 5, 1929 Married (2) June 29, 1937, in New York City, Florence Stone Morse, daughter of Samuel Pease and Mary Esther (Reed) Stone

Death due to a stroke Buried in Rockland (N.Y.) Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, one granddaughter, and a brother, Tuthill R. Hillard,

'83 (died May 1, 1944; see following sketch)

#### Tuthill Reynolds Hillard, B.A. 1883.

Born December 12, 1860, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa. Died May 1, 1944, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

For family history see biography of his brother, Harry R. Hillard, '83. Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Freshman Football Team, Class tug of war team Freshman year; Class picture committee; member Yale Yacht Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Studied law for a short time in office of E T. and J. B Darling, Wilkes-Barre; admitted to Pennsylvania bar 1885; member of party on yacht Brunhilde which made record trip around the world 1885–87; on return to Wilkes-Barre practiced law independently 1887–93; manager Hillard Mill 1893–94, treasurer Miner-Hillard Milling Company 1894–1903, vice-president and treasurer 1903–24, president and treasurer 1924–43, and president 1943–44, first vice-president and a director Greater Wilkes-Barre Chamber of Commerce, member Class reunion committees; attended First Presbyterian Church, Wilkes-Barre

Married September 14, 1904, in Wilkes-Barre, Edith Donaldson, daughter of Henry Mills and Harriet (Thorpe) Fuller. No children Mrs. Hillard died February 15, 1934.

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Hollenback Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Carll Andrews Lewis, B.A. 1883.

Born January 2, 1862, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 9, 1944, in North Branford, Conn.

Father, John Gardner Lewis, principal Webster School, New Haven; son of Enoch Burrows and Sarah (Knowles) Lewis of Hopkinton, R I.

Mother, Jane Abigail (Hart) Lewis; daughter of Aaron and Abigail Bronson (Andrews) Hart of New Britain, Conn.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven Third composition prize first and second terms Sophomore year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1883–84.

Principal Guilford (Conn) Institute and High School 1884–87 and 1898–1913, instructor in classics Hillhouse High School, New Haven, 1887–90; engaged in farming Hampton, Conn., 1890–98 and 1913–18; principal Fort Covington (N.Y) High School 1918 until retirement 1924, resided in North Branford 1924–44, editor *Lewisiana*, a monthly genealogical interfamily paper, 1893–1907, member American Historical Association, attended Congregational church.

Married June 23, 1886, in Hampton, Carrie Louise, daughter of William Henry and Emma (Woodworth) Lincoln Children Edith Palmer (B.A Oberlin Coll. 1915; Mrs Earle Vincent Harrison; died November 25, 1935); Ethel Knowles (cert Univ of Connecticut 1915, Univ Chicago 1934–35); John Gardner; and Bessie Lincoln, the wife of Nathan A Harrison Mrs. Lewis died February 26, 1918

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in North Cemetery, Hampton Survived by two daughters, son, six grandchildren, and three brothers, Harry B Lewis, '93 S., Dwight M Lewis, '97, and Newton F Lewis, ex-'98 S Another brother, Robert H Lewis, '87, died in 1936

#### Robert Munro Boyd, Jr., B.A. 1884.

Born, May 5, 1863, in Montclair, N J. Died July 23, 1943, in Montclair, N J.

Father, Robert Munro Boyd, an importer of laces; son of Samuel and Sylvia (Coe) Boyd of New Orleans, La, and Montclair Mother, Katherine Bishop (Crane) Boyd; daughter of Matthias and Susan (Baldwin) Crane of Montclair Yale relatives include a cousin, Ernest B. Millard, '92

Montclair High School Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior year; oration appointment and winner Cobden Club Medal for proficiency in political economy Senior year, on board Yale Daily News Freshman year, member Yale Society of Natural History (president Senior year), Delta Kappa, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1884-86 (LL B 1886, member Phi Delta Phi) and Columbia School of Political Science 1885-86 (M A 1886); admitted to New York bar 1886 and New Jersey bar 1889,

lawyer in New York and New Jersey 1886 until retirement 1936; associated with Davies & Rapallo, New York City, 1886 and Title & Guaranty Trust Company 1887; member Murphy, Lloyd & Boyd, and Boyd & Dodd (later Boyd, Dodd, Kerr & Booth), Montclair, 1929–36, town attorney for Montclair; not active but retained a connection with Hunt, Hill & Betts, New York City, New Jersey assemblyman (leader of the house); a founder Bloomfield (NJ) Trust Company (later Bloomfield Bank & Trust Company) 1902, counsel 1902–43, vice-president 1920–43; president New Jersey branch National Security League 1916, trustee Montclair Public Library 1894–1906 (chairman of the board 1904–06); governor-general Society of Mayflower Descendants; national governor Society of Colonial Wars, governor Huguenot Society of New Jersey; judge advocate general Order of the Crown of Charlemagne; an organizer Montclair Athletic Club and Montclair Dramatic Club, member New Jersey Bar Association and Congregational church, Montclair.

Married October 26, 1898, in New London, Conn., Mary Edith, daughter of Eugene Adolphus and Eleanor (Croes) Bancroft. No children.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Montclair Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Herbert F. Keen of Montclair.

#### Neville Hart Castle, B.A. 1884.

Born February 15, 1863, in San Francisco, Calif. Died October 10, 1943, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Richard Castle, a merchant in San Francisco. Mother, Matilda (Levy) Castle.

Private tutors and Urban Academy, Los Angeles, Calif Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, member Delta Kappa and Delta

Kappa Epsilon

Attended Hastings College of the Law, University of California, 1884–86; admitted to the bar 1886; successively clerk Doyle, Galpin & Scripture, San Francisco, independently engaged in San Francisco, and partner Lamar & Castle, San Jose, Calif, 1886–98; engaged in mining in Alaska and partner McKee [Lanier, '95] & Castle, lawyers, Council, Alaska, 1900–08, proprietor weekly *Council News*; assistant and acting United States attorney, Second Judicial Division, Territory of Alaska, Nome, 1909–13; attorney for prohibition administrator of San Francisco 1914–16; engaged in management of a firm in San Francisco 1916–20, head Bureau of Intelligence, First Judicial Division, Juneau, Alaska, 1920–23, Third Judicial Division, Valdez, 1930–32, and Fourth Judicial Division, Fairbanks, 1932 until retirement 1934, with United States Customs Office, San Francisco,

1923-30; contributed to magazines and newspapers; member Pioneers of Alaska, Enie Club (Nome), and Masonic order

Married (1) February 14, 1897, in San Francisco, Mary Crittenden, daughter of Henry H. Scott. No children Mrs. Castle died in June, 1910. Married (2) May 27, 1915, Kate Voorhies Mr. and Mrs Castle were divorced in 1926.

Death due to pulmonary emphysema with chronic cor pulmonal. Buried in Home of Peace Cemetery, Lawndale, Calif Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Edward Chenery Gale, B.A. 1884.

Born August 21, 1862, in Minneapolis, Minn Died September 12, 1943, in Minneapolis, Minn

Father, Samuel C. Gale (B.A. 1854). Mother, Susan Abigail (Damon) Gale. Yale relatives include: Charles S Gale, '95 (brother); Harlow Gale, '85, Samuel E. Damon, '96, Maurice S Damon, '04, and Henry F. Damon, '06 (cousins); and Alfred D. Lindley, '25 (nephew)

Minneapolis High School; attended University of Minnesota 1879–81. Entered Yale College Sophomore year, first prize in English composition first and second terms Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year; second prize Junior Exhibition, high oration appointment, Townsend speaker, and David C. DeForest Prize Senior year, member Yale Yacht Club (winner Class C race fall and spring regattas Junior year, a fleet captain Senior year); chairman Yale Literary Magazine and an editor Pot-Pourri Senior year, member Yale Society of Natural History, Psi Upsilon, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa

Traveled in Europe and studied in Germany 1884–85, studied law in Minneapolis 1885–86; attended Harvard Law School 1886–87 (M A. 1887); admitted to the bar 1887, lawyer in Minneapolis 1887 until retirement 1942; member Snyder & Gale 1901–18 and Snyder, Gale & Richards 1919–33, associate 1933–43; president Hennepin County Sanatorium Commission 1913–42, Yale Alumni Association of the Northwest 1914–15, Minneapolis Public Library Literary Board 1928–43 (member of the board 1908–43), and Minnesota State Historical Society 1936–39, president of the board Glen Lake Hospital 1913–42; trustee Minneapolis Institute of Arts 1889–1943 (vice-president 1915–43), director Hennepin County Historical Society and Minneapolis Symphony Orchestra Association; on board Minneapolis Foundation, Hennepin County Tuberculosis Association, Family Welfare Association, and Citizens Water Commission; awarded Ordre d'Officier Leopold II for research and activity in 1930 celebration of 250th anniversary of the explorer Father Hennepin; member

Minneapolis Bar Association (president 1919-20) and Plymouth Church

(Congregational), Minneapolis (president board of trustees).

Married June 28, 1892, in Minneapolis, Sarah Belle, daughter of John Sargent and Mahala (Fiske) Pillsbury. Children: Edward Pillsbury (died in infancy) and Richard Pillsbury, '22.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis. Survived by wife, one son, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs.

Clarkson Lindley and Miss Marian Gale, both of Minneapolis.

#### Robert Walbridge Hamill, B.A. 1884.

Born December 8, 1863, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 17, 1943, in Clarendon Hills, Ill.

Father, Charles Davisson Hamill, a grain commission merchant in Chicago, president Chicago Board of Trade; a founder The Orchestral Association, Chicago, son of Dr Robert C Hamill and Eliza (Davisson) Hamill of Bloomington, Ind. Mother, Susan Frances (Walbridge) Hamill; daughter of Henry and Fannie (Thompson) Walbridge of Ithaca, N.Y. Yale relatives include a cousin, Alfred E. Hamill, '05.

Harvard School, Chicago Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; Class tennis club Sophomore year; secretary and treasurer Class boat club Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; treasurer Yale Football Club Junior year, president Senior year, on executive committee Yale Athletic Association Junior year; delegate Intercollegiate Athletic Association Senior year, member University Boat Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Psi Upsilon.

General partner Hamill & Brine, grain, provision, and commission merchants, Chicago, 1884–88; associated with the Lyon Company, real estate, Chicago, 1896 until retirement 1939 (president 1917-39); chairman Fifty-Year Class Reunion Committee; member Chicago Historical Society, Art

Institute of Chicago, and Field Museum, Chicago.

Married June 22, 1892, in Chicago, Katharine, daughter of John B. and Emily C. (Wright) Lyon Children: Robert Lyon, '20; Katharine; Emily Lyon, the wife of Lieut. Col. Fifield Workum (B.A. Harvard 1920, LL.B. 1923); and Frances

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, a sister, Fanny H. Phelps, the widow of Edward J Phelps, '86, and a brother, Laurence Hamill (BA Univ. of Chicago 1904) of Cleveland. Two other brothers, Charles H. Hamill, '90, and Philip W. Hamill, '98, died in 1941 and 1931 respectively

#### Howard Haines Higbee, B.A. 1884.

Born August 13, 1861, in Lodi, Ohio. Died January 22, 1944, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Edwin Converse Higbee, member Hower & Higbee, department store, Cleveland, and president of its successor, Higbee Company, son of Jeremiah and Sarah Hunt (Converse) Higbee of Lodi. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Haines) Higbee; daughter of Austin David and Hannah (Tryon) Haines of Lodi.

Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland. Member Delta Kappa and Psi Upsilon.

Instructor in Latin, Greek, and German, Granville (NY) Military Academy 1884–85 and mathematics Kenyon Grammar School, Gambier, Ohio, 1885–86; taught at Mount Pleasant Military Academy, Ossining, N.Y., 1886–87; studied in Leipzig, Germany, 1887–88 and Munich 1892–93; assistant Wyatt & Saarbach, industrial and analytical chemists, New York City, 1891–92; attended Johns Hopkins University 1889–91, 1893–95 (Ph.D. 1895) and Cornell Graduate School 1901–02; instructor in quantitative analysis Tufts College 1895–96, assistant professor of general and physical chemistry Hamilton College 1896–1900, professor of physics and chemistry Antioch College 1903–07, engaged in private scientific research in applied mathematics; retired about 1923 and had since devoted his time to the study of philosophy and the theory of music; author of many papers published in scientific journals; honorary member Phi Beta Kappa, member Old Stone Church (Presbyterian) and Calvary Presbyterian Church, Cleveland.

Married September 5, 1888, in Wooster, Ohio, Florence Evyline Johnson (Ph.B. Coll. of Wooster 1887, Ph.D. 1897), daughter of Isaac and Catherine (McClure) Johnson. No children Mrs Highee died February 12, 1924.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by a brother, William Tryon Highee of Cleveland

#### Frederick Scheetz Jones, B.A. 1884.

Born April 7, 1862, in Palmyra, Mo. Died January 14, 1944, in Hamden, Conn

Father, George Crow Jones (B A. Princeton 1838, M A. 1843, M D Jefferson Medical Coll. 1842), a physician in Monroe City, Mo; assistant surgeon 3d Missouri Cavalry during Civil War, son of George Jones. Mother, Caroline Ash (Scheetz) Jones; daughter of Rev. George Sheets and Maria May (Capelle) Sheets of Delaware and Pennsylvania

St Paul's School, Palmyra, and Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn. Third Freshman scholarship and third mathematics prize Freshman year; philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; editor *Yale Banner* Senior year, member Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa. M A. 1896 Graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Studied at University of Berlin and Royal Polytechnic School of Berlin 1887-88 and Polytechnic School, Zurich, 1888-89; taught history and elocution at Shattuck School 1884-85; instructor in physics University of Minnesota 1885–87, professor 1889–1909, and dean College of Engineering and the Mechanic Arts 1902-09; succeeded in having a year of liberal studies added to regular four-year engineering course; instrumental in starting football at Minnesota; dean of Yale College 1909–27, dean emeritus 1927– 44; his tenure of office marked by the establishment of the finances of Yale College on sound basis, by great improvement in housing facilities, and in a marked raising of standards of scholarship in spite of rapidly increasing numbers of students; member Board of Control Yale University Athletic Association 1916–17 and Committee on Honorary Degrees 1921–26; associate fellow Berkeley College (Yale University) 1933-44; on board of deacons Church of Christ in Yale University 1936-38; represented the University frequently at alumni association meetings and school and college events, LLD. University of Kentucky 1909; trustee The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, 1912-44 and chairman of the board 1921-42; member Connecticut State Board of Education 1919-39, chairman 1919-35; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member Association of New England Colleges, American Physical Society, Society for the Promotion of Engineering Education, Sigma Xi, and Episcopal church.

Married June 4, 1890, in Kirkwood, Mo., Mary Weston Gill (grad. Mary Inst 1880), daughter of George Henry'and Ellen Pindell (Bodley) Gill. Children George Gill, '14, and Ellen Bodley (B A. Smith Coll 1916; Mrs. Clarence James Campbell, died April 16, 1931). Mrs. Jones died November 25, 1933

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Ashes interred in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by son and four grandchildren.

#### Walter Sterrett Baldwin, B.A. 1885.

Born April 12, 1862, in Milwaukee, Wis. Died November 29, 1943, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Byron Anastasius Baldwin, president Byron A Baldwin & Company, real estate, Chicago, Ill; son of Lodrick Ives and Rosina (Battles) Baldwin of Conneaut, Ohio. Mother, Henrietta (Sterrett) Baldwin, daugh-

ter of Judge Joseph M. Sterrett and Catherine (Riblet) Sterrett of Erie, Pa. Erie High School. Class baseball team Sophomore year; member Gamma Nu.

Associated with John W. Masury & Company, wholesale paint dealers, Chicago, 1885–86; junior partner Byron A Baldwin & Company 1886–95; engaged in farming and ranching in Glendale, Ariz, 1895–97; independently engaged in real-estate, renting, and loan business in Chicago 1897 until retirement 1920; resided in Pasadena 1920–43

Married December 16, 1893, in Kenosha, Wis, Lora Augusta, daughter of Charles Augustus and Marie (Girard) Shattuck. Daughter Marjorie Jocelyn, the wife of Harry Van Wart, Jr.

Death due to heart disease. Ashes interred in Erie. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs. Katharine Baldwin Eiker Fox of Pasadena.

#### Edward Herrick Chandler, B.A. 1885.

Born April 11, 1863, in New Haven, Conn Died April 7, 1944, in Woodstock, Conn

Father, Rev. John Eddy Chandler (B A. 1844, M A Hon 1870). Mother, Charlotte Maria (Hopkins) Chandler Yale relatives include John Chandler (B A 1759) (great-great-uncle); Joseph Chandler (B A. 1842) (uncle), John S. Chandler, '70 (brother); Edward H Hume, '97, Robert E Chandler, '04, John C. Hume, ex-'05, Robert W. Hume, ex-'07, John R Chandler, '11, and William H. Chandler, '15 (nephews), Theodore C Hume, '25 (grandnephew); and Edward B Chandler, '75 S, Joseph H Chandler, '77, and Arthur D. Chandler, '78 (cousins).

Newton High School, Newtonville, Mass Second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, second prize in English composition Sophomore year; dissertation appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; Class tennis club Junior year, Freshman Glee Club; Class glee club Junior year, College Choir three years, awarded Yale Courant and Yale Record prizes for humorous writing Junior year, Class deacon four years; teacher Broadway Sunday School Freshman and Sophomore years, assistant superintendent Junior year, superintendent Senior year; Class statistician; member Psi Upsilon.

Attended Andover Newton Theological Seminary 1885–89 (diploma 1888); assistant editor Sunday School publications Congregational Sunday School & Publishing Society 1889–91 and Bible Studies Union Lessons 1891–92 (Erastus Blakeslee, '63, editor); ordained in Union Congregational Church, Taunton, Mass., 1892 and minister there 1892–97 and 1924–27; minister Congregational Church, Wellesley, Mass., 1897–1901; secretary Twentieth Century Club, Boston, 1901–24, resided in Woodstock

Congregational Church (1898); founded and edited Our Town, a monthly paper for all Protestant churches in Wellesley; associated with Robert A. Woods in founding South End House, Boston, 1892; president Woodstock Library Association 1928–35, chairman Woodstock Board of Education 1930–32, a vice-president Yale Club of Boston 1917; secretary Taunton Historical Association 1895–97, Boston board American Institute of Sacred Literature 1908–11, and General Theological Library, Boston, 1910–13, member First Congregational Church, Woodstock, Conn.

Married (1) August 15, 1892, in Salem, Mass., Emelyn Doane, daughter of John C and Martha Ellen (Whipple) Osgood. Children: Martha Herrick (BA Smith Coll 1917, MEd. Harvard 1932); Osgood (died July 2, 1904), and Elizabeth Lathrop (B.A. Smith Coll. 1926, B.A. Univ. Oxford 1928), the wife of William Patterson Cumming (BA. Davidson Coll 1921, Ph D Princeton Univ 1925). Mrs Chandler died September 18, 1916 Married (2) June 12, 1917, in Brooklyn, NY., Amelia Jane, daughter of Henry Snow and Ella Jane (Perkins) Ripley Son: Edward Ripley (died in infancy)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Woodstock Hill Cemetery, Woodstock Survived by wife, two daughters, and two grandchildren.

#### Walter Farwell, B.A. 1885.

Born June 23, 1863, in Chicago, Ill. Died July 30, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Charles Benjamin Farwell, United States Representative and Senator, son of Henry and Nancy (Jackson) Farwell of Groton, Mass. Mother, Mary Evaline (Smith) Farwell; daughter of Thomas and Phoebe (Angell) Smith of Williamstown, Mass. Yale relatives include: John V. Farwell, '79, Francis C. Farwell, '82, Arthur L. Farwell, '84, and Albert D. Farwell, '09 (cousins); Farwell Winston, '15, Wayne C. Taylor, '16, Otis Chatfield-Taylor, ex-'23, Robert F. Chatfield-Taylor, ex-'31 (nephews), and Adelaide C. Whitman, ex-'27 Art (niece).

Lake Forest (Ill) Academy Senior Debating Society; Class Tennis

Club; member Hé Boulé and Psi Upsilon.

Became associated with John V. Farwell & Company, wholesale dry goods, Chicago (recently merged with Carson, Pirie, Scott & Company), in 1887, for many years managed the XIT Ranch, owned by his family, in Farwell, Texas, commissioned First Lieutenant, Company E, Illinois National Guard (federalized as 108th Engineers), June 21, 1917; overseas December 27, 1917—May 20, 1919, commissioned Captain September 9,

1918; served with 33d Division on the Somme and in the Meuse-Argonne, discharged June 11, 1919; resided in Syosset, NY, 1913-43; member Non-Partisan Civic Organization, Oyster Bay, N.Y.

Married in 1902, in Washington, D.C., Mildred, daughter of General Robert Williams, U.S.A, Ret., and Adell (Cutts) Williams No children

Mrs Farwell died April 5, 1941.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Oyster Bay Survived by two sisters, Anna Farwell de Koven (B A. Lake Forest Univ. 1880) of New York City and Mrs. Robert Greaves McGann of Chicago.

#### Henry Knabb Harrison, B.A. 1885

Born October 20, 1864, in Birdsboro, Pa Died July 6, 1943, in Reading, Pa

Father, George Washington Harrison, treasurer E. & G. Brooke Iron Company, Birdsboro Mother, Hannah Amelia (Knabb) Harrison

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa First colloquy appointment Junior year Studied law in Reading 1885, clerk Pennsylvania Investment Company, Kansas City, Mo., 1886–90; cashier First National Bank, Birdsboro, successively teller, cashier, vice-president, and president First National Bank & Trust Company, Reading, 1924–33; president West Reading Title & Trust Company, vice-president Birdsboro Electric Company, treasurer St. Joseph's Hospital and Chamber of Commerce; vestryman and warden St. Michael's Church (Episcopal), Birdsboro

Married (1) June 7, 1904, Elizabeth Lincoln Smith, daughter of David J and Mary Ives (Davis) Lincoln. No children Mrs. Harrison died in 1939 Married (2) in December, 1940, Ethel Ogden Nicholson

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in St. Michael's Cemetery, Birds-boro. Survived by wife.

#### Robert Bage Kerr, B.A. 1885.

Born June 18, 1863, in New York City. Died May 27, 1944, in Bronxville, N.Y

Father, Thomas Barbour Kerr, a distiller in New York City; son of John and Jane Ann (Robinson) Kerr of New York City Mother, Serena (Bage) Kerr; daughter of Robert and Ann Sedney (McKenzie) Bage of Albany, N.Y. Yale relatives include a grandson, Nicholas S. Kerr, ex-'39 S. Phillips-Exeter. Member Delta Kappa and Psi Upsilon.

Clerk Charles C. Marsh & Company, bankers and commission mer-

chants, New York City, 1886–89; stockbroker in New York City 1889 until retirement 1943; senior partner R. B & T. H. Kerr (later Kerr & Company) 1889–1915; associated with Wright, Slade & Company 1915–28 and with his brother in L. S Kerr & Company and Harris Upham & Company 1928–43; an organizer United States Golf Association and secretary 1895–1900; member St. Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married (1) October 24, 1889, in New York City, Grace, daughter of Edward Arthur and Katharine (Young) Nichols. Children: Katharine, Robert Bage, Jr, and Edward Arthur Nichols. Mr. and Mrs. Kerr were divorced in 1913 Married (2) in 1916, in Baltimore, Md, Adele Gilbert.

Mr. and Mrs. Kerr were divorced in 1922.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y. Survived by children, four grandchildren, and one great-grandchild

#### Charles Lewis Way, B.A. 1885.

Born October 4, 1861, in Hartford, Conn Died September 20, 1943, in New York City

Father, Samuel Lewis Way, associated with Way Hardware Company of Hartford; son of George Meigs Way of Hartford Mother, Kate Medora (Forbes) Way, daughter of Charles Randolf and Mary Ann Forbes of Hartford Yale relatives include a nephew, Donald F. Way, '13 S.

Hartford Public High School First colloquy appointment Junior year and second colloquy appointment Senior year; Class crew Freshman and Sophomore years; Class tug-of-war team Sophomore year; Class tennis club and Class lacrosse team Junior year; president University Lacrosse Association Senior year, on Senior Promenade Committee; member Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Secretary Hartford Hammer Company 1885–93 and Way Hardware Company 1893–1904, engaged in automobile business, Boston, 1904 until retirement 1936 (superintendent of salesmen Autocar Sales and Service Company 1908–36), member Main Street Congregational Church, Hartford

Married November 3, 1887, in New Haven, Conn., Idyl Augusta Shepard, ex-'86 Art, daughter of Orry Mortimer and Cornelia (Clark) Shepard and sister of Henry H. Shepard, '91 S. Children Carlton Shepard (died January 21, 1905) and Harold Lewis (died in infancy).

Death due to a kidney ailment. Ashes interred in Spring Grove Ceme-

tery, Hartford Survived by wife

#### William Adams Brown, B.A. 1886.

Born December 29, 1865, in New York City Died December 15, 1943, in New York City

Father, John Crosby Brown, LL.D. (B.A. Columbia 1859), of New York City; banker and philanthropist, senior member Brown Brothers & Company; president board of directors Union Theological Seminary 1897–1909; son of James and Eliza (Coe) Brown of New York City Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Adams) Brown, daughter of Rev William Adams, D.D., LL.D. (B.A. 1827), and Martha Bradshaw (Magoun) Adams Yale relatives include John Adams (B.A. 1795) (great-grandfather), Parker Adams (B.A. 1804) (great-great-uncle), John R. Adams (B.A. 1821) and Ripley P. Adams (B.A. 1825) (great-uncles), Thatcher M. Adams (B.A. 1858) and William Adams, ex-'61 (uncles); William Adams, '91 S., William Adams Delano, '95, Thatcher Magoun Adams, '95 S., Moreau Delano, '98, John B. Adams, '99, Thomas S. Adams, '01 S., Eugene Delano, Jr., '08 (cousins), J. Crosby Brown, '25, Moreau D. Brown, '26, Alexander Crosby Brown, '28, Daniel N. Brown, '28, and Thatcher M. Brown, Jr., '30 (nephews).

St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Second Berkeley Premium in Latin Composition and first Gamma Nu Declamation Prize Freshman year, first English composition prize first and second terms Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, special honors in ancient languages Senior year; Commencement speaker; Townsend orator; Class tennis club Freshman and Senior years; winner running high jump winter, spring, and Class athletic games Sophomore year and of high kick winter athletic games Senior year, teacher Bethany Sunday School Sophomore year, superintendent Junior and Senior years, member Gamma Nu, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa Attended Yale Graduate School 1886–87 and 1898–1901 (M A 1888, Ph D 1901)

Studied at Union Theological Seminary 1887–90 (diploma 1890), University of Berlin 1890–92 (on traveling fellowship from Union), and Oxford and Berlin 1903–04, ordained in Madison Square Presbyterian Church, New York City, January 17, 1893; instructor in church history Union Theological Seminary 1892–93, systematic theology 1893–95, provisional professor 1895–98, Roosevelt professor 1898–1930, research professor applied theology 1930–36, professor emeritus 1936–43, acting president 1925, D.D. Union College (N.Y.) 1903, Yale 1907, University of St Andrews 1922, University of Oxford 1937, S T.D Columbia 1937; honorary canon Washington Cathedral 1937–43; awarded Distinguished Service Prize by Class of 1886 in 1935; represented Federal Council of Churches of

Christ in America at enthronement of Archbishop of Canterbury 1942; lecturer on religion in Japan, Korea and China 1916; Nathaniel W. Taylor lecturer at Yale 1932-33; exchange lecturer in Europe summer 1939; fellow Yale Corporation 1917–34; following adoption of Plan for University Development 1919 took active part in inaugurating it, as acting Provost (1919-20), member Prudential Committee 1919-21, Committee on Educational Policy 1919-22, 1923-34 (chairman 1919-22, 1923-30), and Committee on Architectural Plan 1919-28, trustee Peabody Museum of Natural History 1929–34; a director Yale Alumni University Fund Association 1895-1921 (chairman board of directors 1909-11), Class agent 1895-1917 and 1921-22; trustee Presbyterian Board of Home Missions 1910-23, Constantinople Woman's College 1915-43 (vice-president of the board 1927-30 and president 1930-43), and Bangor Theological Seminary 1939-43; a founder and chairman City Missions Council, New York City, and of committee on education and promotion World Council of Churches 1936-43; a founder in 1907 and director Grenfell Association of America; director Union Settlement Association, New York City, 1893-1930 (president 1917-19) and New York Institute for the Deaf and Dumb; organizer and first president American Theological Society; president Religious Education Association 1928–31, Near East College Association 1936–43, and American section Universal Christian Council for Life and Work 1936-43 (first chairman administrative committee 1932-33); chairman Committee of Fourteen on Vice, New York City, 1916-18, department of research and education Federal Council of the Churches of Christ in America 1924-36 (on administrative committee and advisory committee 1937-43 and department of relations with churches abroad 1936-43), and executive committee National Conference of the Christian Way of Life; assistant educational director 23d Street branch, Young Men's Christian Association, New York City, 1911-16, in charge selection of Y.M.C A. secretaries for overseas service during World War I; secretary General Wartime Commission of Churches (sponsored by Federal Council of the Churches of Christ in America) 1917-19; chairman Committee on the War and the Religious Outlook, member Lindsay Commission on Christian Higher Education in India 1930-31; theological consultant during study to determine condition of theological education in the United States for Conference of Theological Seminaries and Institute of Social and Religious Research; delegate Congress on Church Work in Latin America, Panama, 1916, World Alliance for International Friendship Through the Churches, Zurich, 1924, University Conference on Life and Work, Stockholm, 1925, and International Conference on Church, Community, and State, Oxford, England, 1937 (cochairman American executive committee), member Archbishop's Committee at Ecumenical Conference, Utrecht, Holland, and Edinburgh, Scotland, 1938, and World Conference on Faith and Order, Princeton, N.J., 1942 (on continuation committee), member Society of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, American Philosophical Society, Century Association, University Club, Authors Club (New York and London), Royal and Ancient Club of St. Andrews, Scotland, and Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City

Author: The Essence of Christianity, A Study in the History of Definition (1902), A Little Book of Family Verse (1906), Christian Theology in Outline (1906), Morris Ketchum Jesup, a Character Sketch (1910), The Christian Hope: a Study of the Doctrine of Immortality (1912), Modern Theology and the Preaching of the Gospel (1914), Is Christianity Practicable? (1916), New Thoughts on an Old Book (1920), The Church in America (1922), Imperialistic Religion and the Religion of Democracy, a Study in Social Psychology (1923), The Creative Experience (1923), The Quiet Hour (1926), The Life of Prayer in a World of Science (1927), Beliefs That Matter. a Theology for Laymen (1928), Pathways to Certainty (1930), How May God Be Found (1931), God at Work a Study of the Supernatural (1933), The Education of American Ministers (1934), The Church: Catholic and Protestant (1935), Finding God in a New World (1935), Church and State in Contemporary America (1936), The Minister, His World and His Work (1937), The Case for Theology in the University (1938), A Teacher and His Times (1940), A Creed for Free Men, A Study of Loyalties (1941), The New Order in the Church (1943), and How to Think of Christ (1945), coauthor Musical Instruments and Their Homes (1888); joint author: Religion Among American Men (1919), The Religions of Democracy (1941), American editor The International Library of Christian Knowledge; an editor The Hibbert Journal, Constructive Quarterly, Religion in Life, Review of Religion, and Review of the Churches, author of numerous articles and essays, The Church Through Half a Century, essays in his honor by former students, was published in 1936.

Married March 30, 1892, in St. Paul, Minn., Helen Gilman, daughter of Daniel Rogers and Helen Abia (Gilman) Noyes and sister of Winthrop G. Noyes, '91, and D. Raymond Noyes, '05. Children: John Crosby, '15, William Adams, Jr., '17, Winthrop Gilman, '29, and Helen Adams (died September 25, 1928). Mrs. Brown died December 12, 1942.

Death due to occlusion of coronary artery. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, NY. Survived by sons, four grandchildren, three sisters, Elizabeth B. Moore, the widow of Rev. Edward C Moore (DD. Yale 1909), Amy B. de Forest, the wife of Henry L. de Forest, '97, and Miss Mary Magoun Brown of New York City, and a brother, Thatcher M. Brown, '97. Another brother, James C Brown, '94, died in 1930

#### George Edwin Eliot, B.A. 1886.

Born June 1, 1864, in Clinton, Conn. Died November 11, 1943, in Madison, Conn.

Father, George Edwin Eliot of Clinton, member State legislature 1853; son of Ely Augustus and Susan Maria (Pratt) Eliot of Clinton. Mother, Chloe Cornelia (Redfield) Eliot, daughter of David Redfield of Killingworth, Conn Yale relatives include: Jared Eliot (B A. 1706) (great-great-

great-grandfather), and John L. Eliot, '94 S (cousin).

Morgan School, Clinton Third English composition prize first term and second prize second term Sophomore year; philosophical oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment and special honors in English Senior year; Class tennis club Sophomore year; librarian Bethany Sunday School Junior year; on board Yale Record and coeditor Yale Pot-Pourri Senior year; Commencement speaker; member Psi Upsilon, Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa. Graduate member Elizabethan Club. Attended Yale Graduate School 1886–88 (M.A. 1888)

Instructor in English Morgan School 1888–99, principal 1899–1931, and principal emeritus 1931–43, author: Three Corners of London (containing "Ye Olde Cheshire Cheese," 1928), introduction and notes for Dryden's Palamon and Arcite (1898), and Genealogy of the Descendants of John Eliot (1901), on committee in charge of Class fund 1929–36 and on Class reunion committee 1931; president Clinton Choral Club 1925–43; member Clinton Historical Society, New England Association of Colleges and Preparatory Schools, and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Clinton (Sunday School superintendent, choir director, and deacon).

Unmarried

Death due to coronary accident Buried in Indian River Cemetery, Clinton Survived by no immediate relatives.

Mr Eliot bequeathed a sum to be added to the Jared Eliot Fund in the University Library This fund, established by bequest of his ancestor, Jared Eliot, in 1763 and added to by bequest of Thomas Ruggles (B.A. 1723) in 1770, was the first permanent endowment of the Library.

#### William Augustus Otis, B.A. 1886.

Born September 14, 1864, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died March 31, 1944, in Colorado Springs, Colo.

Father, Charles Augustus Otis, president Otis Steel Company and Cleveland Commercial National Bank; mayor of Cleveland 1872; son of William Augustus and Eliza (Proctor) Otis of Cleveland. Mother, Ann Eliza (Shepard) Otis; daughter of David Lindsay and Mary Eliza (Smith) Shepard

Private schools, Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland, and Siglar School, Newburgh, NY. Attended Yale 1882-83, member Eta Phi MA Hon.

1899; enrolled with the Class of 1886 in 1905.

In fall of 1884 went to San Antonio, Texas, for his health and in 1885 to a cattle ranch in southwestern Colorado, moved to Colorado Springs in 1886 and resided there until his death, partner brokerage firm Kissell, Otis & Connor, dealers in mining stocks and ventures, 1892–95 and William A. Otis & Company [Philip B Stewart, '86, a partner] 1896-1910, partner with Philip B. Stewart and Charles A. Otis in Otis & Hough, bankers and brokers, Cleveland, 1905–12; in charge Colorado Springs branch of Otis & Company, Cleveland, 1912 until retirement in 1925; organized Austin Bluffs Water Company (later Northfield Land & Water Company) in the 1890's (president 1900-04 and 1906-44) and Lillie Gold Mining Company which was absorbed by an English syndicate (secretary American board); president Utah Ice & Storage Company of Salt Lake City 1904–37 and Colorado Land Sales & Loan Company, Colorado Springs, 1934-44; vice-president Otisito Mines Company 1907-44; in 1909, with Alfred Cowles, '86, and Philip B. Stewart, promoted Arkansas, Louisiana & Gulf Railroad Company to develop timber and potential oil-bearing lands in Arkansas owned by the Southern Development Company and Bartholomew Land Company; an officer and director of these companies and their successor the Bartholomew Consolidated Land Company, member Grace Church and St Stephen's Parish (Episcopal), Colorado Springs.

Married (1) April 26, 1888, in New York City, Alice, daughter of Erastus Barnes and Augusta (Füllerton) Rudd Children. William Fullerton (ME Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst. 1917), Charles Augustus, 3d, and Philip Stewart (ME Cornell 1923). Mr and Mrs. Otis were divorced in 1905 Married (2) December 11, 1909, in Chicago, Rowena Goddard Chamberlin, daughter of Charles William Goddard (BA. Bowdoin Coll. 1844; Harvard Law School 1845–46) and Rowena Caroline (Morrill)

Goddard.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, Colorado Springs. Survived by wife, sons, four grandchildren, and a brother, Charles A. Otis, '90 S Another brother, Harrison G. Otis, '99, died in 1928.

#### William Howard Ludington, B.A. 1887.

Born September 24, 1864, in New York City Died April 2, 1944, in Atlanta, Ga.

Father, Charles Henry Ludington, member Lathrop, Ludington & Company, wholesale dry goods, New York City, son of Lewis and Polly

(Townsend) Ludington of Carmel, NY. Mother, Josephine Lord (Noyes) Ludington; daughter of Daniel Rogers and Phoebe Griffin (Lord) Noyes of Lyme, Conn. Yale relatives include: Charles H. Ludington, '87, and Arthur C. Ludington, '02 (brothers); Winthrop G. Noyes, '91, C. Reinold Noyes, '05, D. Raymond Noyes, '05, Robert H. Noyes, '08, and Laurence G. Noyes, '16 (cousins), and C Townsend Ludington, '19, Wright S. Ludington, ex-'22, and Nicholas S Ludington, '27 (nephews)

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH Winner running broad jump Sophomore year, 120-yard hurdle Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years and at intercollegiate meet Junior and Senior years (established a record Senior year), won 120-yard dash and 220-yard dash Junior year, Senior Promenade Committee, member Yale University Athletic Association, University

Club, Gamma Nu, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Employed in New York City 1887–1904; associated with American Surety Company 1887–90, treasurer American Drier Company 1890–93; in electric department H. W. Johns Manufacturing Company, roofing and boiler covering, 1893–97; successively assistant secretary, secretary, and treasurer Croscup & Sterling Company, publishers of subscription books, 1897–1901, treasurer The Gilliss Press 1901–04; since 1904 had devoted his time to management of personal affairs; founder member Squadron A, New York National Guard, 1889–97, retiring as sergeant; resided in New Haven and Lyme, Conn, 1914–21, London 1922–29, Cannes 1930–41, and Atlanta 1941–44, member The Pilgrims, The Zoological Society (London), and Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married June 1, 1910, in New Haven, Mildred Cornelia Hoadley, daughter of William Henry and Cornelia Maria (Hoadley) Wilson. Children William Howard, Jr. (Univ. of Cambridge 1932-33), and Morris

Hoadley (B A. Univ. of Cambridge 1936)

Death due to a paralytic stroke. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, sons, and two sisters, Helen Ludington Rotch, the wife of Arthur Grinell Rotch (B.A. Harvard 1903) of Boston, and Miss Katharine Ludington of Old Lyme, Conn.

#### James McCormick, Jr., B.A. 1887.

Born December 12, 1863, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died October 1, 1943, in Harrisburg, Pa.

Father, James McCormick (B.A. 1853). Mother, Mary Wilson (Alricks) McCormick Yale relatives include. Henry McCormick (BA. 1852) (uncle); and Henry B McCormick, '92, and Vance C. McCormick, '93 S. (cousins)

Harrisburg Academy. President Yale Orchestra Senior year; teacher

Bethany Mission Junior year; member University Club, Dunham Boat Club, Gamma Nu, and Psi Upsilon.

Clerk Dauphin Deposit Bank, Harrisburg, 1887–88; secretary Paxton & Steelton Flour Mills Company, Harrisburg, 1888–1900 (treasurer); engaged in management of family farm properties 1900–36 and experimented with reforestation; due to ill-health had not been actively engaged since 1936; trustee Harrisburg Public Library 1905–43 and treasurer of the board 1913–41; member Dauphin County Historical Society, Harrisburg Natural History Society, Civic Club, Chamber of Commerce, and Pine Street Presbyterian Church, Harrisburg.

Unmarried.

Death due to arthritis Buried in Harrisburg Cemetery Survived by a sister, Mrs. William Webster Finney of Aberdeen, Md, and a brother, Donald McCormick, '90 Three other brothers, Henry McCormick, Jr, '84, William McCormick, '87, and Robert McCormick, '00, died in 1939, 1923, and 1925 respectively.

### William Lyon Phelps, B.A. 1887.

Born January 2, 1865, in New Haven, Conn Died August 21, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Rev. Sylvanus Dryden Phelps, D.D. (B A Brown 1844, grad Yale Divinity School 1847, M.A Hon. 1849), clergyman, editor, and author; trustee Brown University 1878–95; son of Israel and Mercy (Stevens) Phelps of Suffield, Conn Mother, Sophia Emilia Lyon (Linsley) Phelps; daughter of Rev James Harvey Linsley (B.A. 1817) and Sophia Brainard (Lyon) Linsley of Stratford, Conn. Yale relatives include Achilles Mansfield (B.A. 1770) (great-great-uncle); and Dryden L Phelps, '17 (nephew).

Hartford (Conn.) Public High School. First premium for English composition first term and second premium second term Sophomore year, Exhibition prize and oration appointment Junior year; one-year honors in English and philosophy Junior and Senior years; high oration appointment and Townsend Premium Senior year; Commencement speaker, winner half-mile race Class games spring of Freshman year; founder The Pundits Sophomore year; editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; vice-president University Y.M.C.A. Junior year; Class Ivy Committee; member Gamma Nu, Psi Upsilon, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1887–88, 1889–90 (Ph D 1891) and Harvard Graduate School 1890–92 (M.A. 1891); teacher of English and history Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y, 1888–89; instructor in English Harvard University 1891–92; member faculty Yale University

1892-1943 (instructor in English literature 1892-96, assistant professor 1896–1901, Lampson Professor of English Literature 1901–33, Lampson Professor emeritus 1933-43); public orator at Yale Commencements 1920-40; Alumni University Fund agent for the Graduate School 1925-30, associate fellow Branford College (Yale University) 1933-43; an incorporator Yale University Elizabethan Club Corporation and president Elizabethan Club 1911-13, honorary member Aurelian Honor Society; member Yale University Board of Preachers for many years; taught English literature at University of California summer sessions in Berkeley 1908 and Los Angeles 1919; lectured at many colleges and in many cities throughout the United States, D.D. Tusculum College 1928, S.T.D. Syracuse University 1930, DCL. Pennsylvania Military College, Jefferson Medical College, and Hahnemann Medical College 1940; L.H.D. New York University 1927, Muhlenberg College 1931, Litt D. Colgate and Brown universities 1921, McMaster University 1927, Columbia 1933, Lafayette College 1939, University of Vermont 1941, LL.D. Kalamazoo College 1927, Rollins College 1930, Denison University 1931, Miami University 1933, Yale University 1934, and Clark University 1939; awarded gold medal of National Institute of Social Sciences 1930 and National Society of New England Women 1939, Franklin Medal of American Philosophical Society 1937, American Education Award of Associated Exhibitors of National Education Association 1940, New York University plaque and gold medal for literary eminence 1941, licensed to preach in Baptist church, Hartford, 1888; trustee Huron City (Mich) Methodist Episcopal Church 1893–1943 and lay pastor summers 1922-42; deacon Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven, and ordained honorary pastor December 16, 1928; president New Haven Orchestra Association 1912-35, honorary president 1936-43, and Little Theater Guild of New Haven, vice-president National Institute of Arts and Letters 1914-16, president 1929-31, and secretary American Academy of Arts and Letters 1937-43; vice-president National Institute of Social Sciences 1932-43, Northern Baptist Education Society, and the Church and Drama League of America; honorary vice-president Chicago Tract Society 1943, trustee Suffield (Conn.) Academy 1927-43 and Elmira College 1933-43; a director Hall of Fame for Great Americans at New York University 1940-43; member advisory board Musical Alliance of America, and Pulitzer Prize Committee 1923-24, 1934-35, and 1935-36; fellow American Geographical Society of New York and American Academy of Arts and Sciences; honorary member Actors Fund of America and The Players; corresponding member New York Genealogical and Biographical Society, member American Philosophical Society, The Authors Club (New York), The Athenaeum, Authors Club and Anglo-Russian Literary Society of London, Strollers, Connecticut Society of the Order of the Founders and Patriots of America (chaplain and governor), and Florida

Association of Fine Arts; author of many books, pamphlets, newspaper and magazine articles, book columns, and essays, including: The Beginnings of the English Romantic Movement; A Study in Eighteenth Century Literature (1893), The Pure Gold of Nineteenth Century Literature (1907), A Dash at the Pole (1909), Essays on Modern Novelists (1910), Essays on Russian Novelists (1911), Teaching in School and College (1912), Essays on Books (1914), Robert Browning, How to Know Him (1915), The Advance of the English Novel (1916), The Advance of English Poetry in the Twentieth Century (1918), The Twentieth Century (1918), Archibald Marshall, A Realistic Novelist (1918), Reading the Bible (1919), Essays on Modern Dramatists (1921), Human Nature in the Bible (1922), As I Like It (first series 1923, second series 1924, third series 1926), Some Makers of American Literature (1923), Howells, James, Bryant, and Other Essays (1924), Human Nature and the Gospel (1925), Adventures and Confessions (1926), Happiness (1927), Twentieth Century American Novels (1927), Love (1928), Memory (1929), Music (1930), Christ or Caesar, the Religion of Jesus and the Religion of Nationalism (1930), Essays on Things (1930), Human Nature (1931), The Excitement of Teaching (1931), Appreciation (1932), The Courage of Ignorance (1933), Easter, the World's Best News (1933), Autobiography, With Letters (1939), and Marriage (1940), compiler. What I Like in Prose (1933), What I Like in Poetry (1934), Yearbook (1935), The Mothers' Anthology (1940), and The Children's Anthology (1941); editor. Irving's Tales of a Traveller (1894) and The Sketch Book (1895), Selections from the Poetry and Prose of Thomas Gray (1894), George Chapman (1895), Thackeray's The English Humorists of the Eighteenth Century (1900) and The History of Henry Esmond, Esq (1902), The Chronicle History of the Life and Death of King Lear and His Three Daughters (1917), Essays by Robert Louis Stevenson (1918), Sheridan's The Rivals (1920), Selected Stories from Kipling (1921), The Merchant of Venice (1923), Samuel Butler's The Way of All Flesh (Everyman's Library, 1927), Letters of James Whitcomb Riley (1930), Selected Poems, by James Whitcomb Riley (1931), and Matthew Merian's Illustrated Bible (1933); wrote prefaces and introductions to many books and editions of collected works, including The Novels of Samuel Richardson (19 vols., 1901-02), The Novels and Letters of Jane Austen, edited by R. B. Johnson (12 vols., 1906), Robert Browning's Complete Works (1910), Christopher Marlowe (1912), Representative Plays, by J M Barrie (1926), and Vol. 3 of the Tolstoy centenary edition—Childhood, Boyhood and Youth (1928).

Married December 21, 1892, in Huron City, Annabel, daughter of Langdon and Amanda Jane (Lester) Hubbard No children Mrs Phelps died March 22, 1939.

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a brother, Rev. Arthur S. Phelps, D.D., '86. Another brother, Rev Dryden W. Phelps, Litt.D., '92 D., died in 1931.

Professor Phelps bequeathed to Yale his library of over 5,000 volumes and his teaching notes, notes for books and articles, and countless letters from distinguished friends. In 1944 a Liberty ship was named in his honor.

## Frederick W. Sprague, B.A. 1887.

Born October 4, 1865, in Chicago, Ill Died October 1, 1943, in New York City

Father, William Sprague, a glass merchant in Chicago; son of William and Louisa (Jewett) Sprague of Hallowell, Maine. Mother, Caroline Robinson (Smith) Sprague; daughter of Justin Ely and Cornelia (Wetmore) Smith of Hallowell. Yale relatives include two cousins, Edward P. Smith, '94 S, and E Burnham Smith, '98.

Chicago Central High School and Higher School for Boys, Chicago. Freshman Baseball Team; Class baseball team Sophomore year; member University Club, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Associated with Sprague Smith Company, wholesale jobbers of plate and window glass, Chicago, 1887–99; secretary and treasurer Orangine Chemical Company, Chicago, 1899–1914, engaged in land development work, Washington, N.C., 1921–25; associated with Lehn & Fink, wholesale druggists, New York City, 1925–28, Motor Improvement Company, Inc., Newark, N.J., 1928–35, and American Distilling Company, New York City, 1935–43, member Cathedral of St. John the Divine (Episcopal), New York City.

Married January 6, 1917, in New York City, Jane Beckwith Winston, daughter of Dr. Lod Beckwith and Emma (Jones) Beckwith. Mrs. Sprague died October 2, 1943

Death due to pneumonia. Ashes interred in Mount Auburn Cemetery, Cambridge, Mass. Survived by a stepdaughter, Mrs. Mary Winston Dorrell of Southbridge, Mass, and a brother, Richard P. Sprague of Wilmette, Ill. Another brother, Ralph W. Sprague, '92 S, died in 1939.

#### Francis Bacon Trowbridge, B.A. 1887.

Born June 7, 1866, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 27, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Thomas Rutherford Trowbridge, Jr., of New Haven and New York City; member Henry Trowbridge's Sons, West Indies shipping firm;

president New Haven Harbor Commission, New Haven Colony Historical Society, and New Haven Board of Aldermen; son of Thomas Rutherford and Caroline (Hoadley) Trowbridge of New Haven Mother, Katherine (Bacon) Trowbridge; daughter of Francis Bacon (B.A. 1838) and Elizabeth Shelden (Dutcher) Bacon of Litchfield, Conn Yale relatives include: Daniel Trowbridge (B.A. 1725) and John Ashley (B.A. 1730) (great-great-great-great-grandfathers); Asa Bacon (B.A. 1793) (great-grandfather); John Bacon (B.A. 1796) and David Bacon (B.A. 1806) (great-great-uncles); E. Champion Bacon (B.A. 1833) (great-uncle); William R. H. Trowbridge, '63 (uncle); Winston J. Trowbridge, '79, Henry Trowbridge, '80, J. Parker Trowbridge, '83, Frank D. Trowbridge, '84, Thomas R Trowbridge, ex-'84 S, Elford P. Trowbridge, '87, William R. H. Trowbridge, '87, Florence Trowbridge Heaton, ex-'93 Art, and Courtlandt H. Trowbridge, ex-'90 Spec. S (cousins); and Edith Champion Trowbridge, ex-'94 Art (sister)

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Glee Club, member Yale Bicycle Club, Beta Chi, and Psi Upsilon Attended Yale School of Law 1887–90 (LL B

1890).

Admitted to the bar 1890 but never practiced law; engaged in management of family real estate and trusts until retirement 1935, covered special assignments for various Connecticut newspapers and for several years wrote a tri-weekly column under nom de plume Cy Pringle; author Champion Genealogy (1891), Hoadley Genealogy (1894), Ashley Genealogy (1896), and Trowbridge Genealogy (1908); contributed to various genealogical books and magazines; trustee Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven; life member New Haven Colony Historical Society and New England Historic-Genealogical Society; member Class reunion committees, Yale Library Associates, Society of the Cincinnati, Sons of the American Revolution, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven (on committee to celebrate 300th anniversary of the church).

Married June 30, 1898, in Brooklyn, NY, Mabel Christine, daughter of James Augustus Nelson, ex-'73 S., and Helen Josephine (Chipman)

Nelson. No children. Mrs. Trowbridge died July 30, 1922.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Grove Street

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Grove Street Cemetery Survived by no immediate relatives.

Mr. Trowbridge established in 1937 a fund for the benefit of the University Library in memory of his great-uncle, E. Champion Bacon, B A 1833. In 1943 he gave the Memorabilia Fund to maintain his gifts to the Yale Memorabilia Collection and for general purposes of the Library

### Edmund Allen, B.A. 1888.

Born February 24, 1867, in St. Louis, Mo. Died January 24, 1944, in Colorado Springs, Colo.

Father, Edmund T. Allen (B A. 1857); son of Edmund and Sarah Russell (Freeman) Allen. Mother, Sylvia Taber (Bowen) Allen; daughter of Martin and Mary Sprague (Braley) Bowen of Fairhaven, Mass. Yale relatives include Clifford B. Allen, '85 (brother); and Edmund T. Allen, '31 (nephew).

Smith Academy, St. Louis, and private tutors. Freshman Baseball Team; Class crew Sophomore year, Junior Promenade Committee; cup man;

member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Junior member John Grether and Company, real estate, St. Louis, 1889–95; employed in Colorado Springs 1895 until retirement 1936; successively with El Paso Ice & Coal Company, in real-estate and insurance business, and engaged as a mining broker 1895–1906; assistant postmaster 1906–36; member First Congregational Church, St. Louis

Married (1) August 24, 1892, in St Louis, Maude Celeste, daughter of William Ware and Caroline (Gardthausen) Branson. No children. Mrs. Allen died March 8, 1909 Married (2) June 4, 1917, in Denver, Colo., Charlotte, daughter of Charles Frederick and Marie (Starck) Reyer. No children.

Death due to chronic myocardial disease. Ashes interred in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St Louis. Survived by wife.

### William Pitt Baldwin, B.A. 1888.

Born May 12, 1867, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 5, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Charles Amos Baldwin, salesman Harmon, Baldwin & Foy, corset manufacturers, New Haven, and in real-estate and insurance business; alderman and fire commissioner; served with 27th Regiment Connecticut Volunteers during Civil War, son of Darius and Thirza (Dorman) Baldwin of Orange, Conn. Mother, Hannah Pitt (Smith) Baldwin; daughter of Samuel and Sarah (Pitt) Smith.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven High oration appointment Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; Class picture committee Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale School of Medicine 1888–90 (M.D. cum laude 1890; Campbell Gold Medal; a founder Delta Epsilon Iota).

Studied at New York Homeopathic Medical College and Flower Hospital, New York City, 1890-91 (M.D. 1891); on house staff Metropolitan Hospital, Ward's Island, 1891–92; assistant to Dr. Leander P. Jones, Greenwich, Conn., 1892-93; studied at University of Vienna 1893-94; physician in New Haven 1894-1944; on medical board Masonic Home, Wallingford, Conn, 1895-1906 (secretary 1895-1901 and medical superintendent 1903-06); a founder Grace Hospital, New Haven (senior attending surgeon, consulting surgeon, chief of staff 1920-25, member prudential committee 1907-25, and on nursing committee); consultant Charlotte Hungerford Hospital, Torrington, Conn; member New Haven Board of Councilmen 1897-98, Board of Aldermen 1898-1900, and Park Commission 1897 and 1899; a director Family Society of New Haven; president Connecticut Homeopathic Medical Society 1906-07 (on State examining board); fellow American College of Surgeons; member New Haven Clinical Society, American Institute of Homeopathy, New Haven County Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married (1) October 10, 1895, in Greenwich, Conn., Gertrude Louise, daughter of Luke Adolphus Lockwood (B.A. Trinity Coll [Hartford] 1855) and Mary Louise Lockwood. Mrs. Baldwin died July 12, 1896. Married (2) May 10, 1902, in Brooklyn, NY, Lulu, daughter of John Nelson and Mary (Guile) Kenyon No children

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived-by wife.

## Harold Van Meter Ogden, B.A. 1888.

Born November 24, 1866, in Charleston, Ill Died March 19, 1944, in Pasadena, Calif

Father, John Wesley Ogden of Chicago; treasurer Haskell & Barker Car Company (later The Pullman Company), Michigan City, Ind.; son of John Joseph and Fannie (Mills) Ogden of Clarendon, NY, and La Porte, Ind. Mother, Frances (Van Meter) Ogden; daughter of Dr Samuel Van Meter and Frances Elizabeth (Hutchason) Van Meter of Charleston.

Allen's Academy, Chicago. High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Senior Promenade Committee, member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Phi Beta Kappa.

Traveled abroad after graduation; with Haskell & Barker Car Company about 1889-90 and 1900 until retirement 1912 (purchasing agent 1906-12), engaged in real-estate business Olympia, Wash., about 1890-91 and secre-

tary-treasurer West Side Mill Company, saw mill and lumber yards, Olympia, 1891–1900; manager Olympia Water Works 1896–1900; an organizer and director State Bank of Olympia; resided at his country place in Michigan City 1900–26 and in California 1926–44 (in Pasadena 1928–44), since retirement traveled in the United States and abroad and while in Michigan City experimented with new varieties of grains, vegetables, and flowers, trustee First Presbyterian Church, Michigan City, 1901–25 and treasurer.

Married October 15, 1891, in Michigan City, Emma Ford, daughter of Henry William and Ellen Annette (Ford) Johnson. One son who died in infancy.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Mountain View Mausoleum, Altadena, Calif Survived by wife, a brother, Walter Joseph Ogden of San Diego, Calif., a half sister, Mrs. Harold Ashforth Richardson of Palm Beach, Fla, and a half brother, Wesley Ogden of Piedmont, Calif.

## James Robert Seeley, B.A. 1888.

Born March 11, 1864, in Bridgeport, Conn Died March 29, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William K. Seeley (LLB. 1852). Mother, Mary (Jennings) Seeley Yale relatives include an uncle, Philander S. Seeley, ex-1847.

Bridgeport High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year. Attended Yale School of Law 1889–91 (LL B. 1891)

Admitted to Connecticut bar 1891 but never practiced law; resided in Bridgeport, and devoted his time to management of personal affairs; member United Congregational Church, Bridgeport.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by a cousin, Mrs. Katherine Seeley Sherwood of Fairfield, Conn.

Mr Seeley made a bequest to the University.

## Henry Cornelius Atkins, B.A. 1889.

Born November 27, 1868, in Atlanta, Idaho Died June 15, 1944, in Indianapolis, Ind.

Father, Elias Cornelius Atkins, founder and president E C Atkins & Company, saw and tool manufacturers, Indianapolis; son of Rollin and

Harriet (Bishop) Atkins of Bristol, Conn. Mother, Sarah Frances (Parker) Atkins; daughter of Rev. Addison Parker (B A. Middlebury Coll. 1823) and Eunice (Brigham) Parker of Agawam, Mass. Yale relatives include a nephew, Thomas R. Kackley, '27 S.

Indianapolis Classical School. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; scorer University Baseball Association Senior year, Senior Promenade Committee; member University Club, Gamma Nu, Eta Phi,

Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

With E. C. Atkins & Company 1889–1944 (in office and factory 1889–93, superintendent 1893–1901, president 1901–44); president Yale Alumni Association of Indiana 1919–20; a founder and president Community Fund of Indianapolis 1927–28; treasurer and director Indianapolis Y.M.C.A. 1907–39, director emeritus 1939–44; awarded Staff of Honor by city of Indianapolis 1939, director National Association of Manufacturers, member Indiana Manufacturers Association, Sons of the American Revolution, Citizens Historical Society (Indianapolis chapter), Chamber of Commerce, and Masonic order, trustee First Baptist Church, Indianapolis.

Married January 7, 1896, in Indianapolis, Susan, daughter of Ferdinand and Mary (Keyes) Winter, and sister of Clarence Winter, '97, Keyes Winter, '00, and William Winter (cert in Forestry 1907) Children Elias Cornelius, 2d, ex-'19, Keyes Winter, ex-'23 S, and Henry Cornelius, Jr. (Williams Coll. ex-'27).

Death due to cerebral apoplexy. Buried in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis. Survived by wife, sons, seven grandchildren, and a sister, Carra A. Wadhams, the wife of Dr. Sanford H. Wadhams, '94 S

## Porter Beach Godard, B.A. 1889.

Born June 6, 1861, in North Granby, Conn. Died August 13, 1943, in Kansas City, Mo

Father, Harvy Godard, farmer, lumberman, and sawmill and gristmill operator in Granby; member Connecticut legislature, master Connecticut State Grange; son of Oren and Minerva (Holcomb) Godard Mother, Sabra Lavinia (Beach) Godard; daughter of Oliver and Mercy Lavinia (Case) Beach Yale relatives include a brother, George S Godard, '95

Wilbraham (Mass.) Academy. Second mathematical prize Freshman year; second colloquy appointment Junior year and first colloquy appoint-

ment Senior year; member Gamma Nu and Sigma Nu

Studied law in office of Johnson & Prentice, Hartford, 1889, attended Yale School of Law 1890-91 (LL B 1891; member Kent Club), admitted to Connecticut bar 1891 and Missouri bar 1892; associated with Lathrop

[Gardiner, '69], Morrow [Thomas R., '80] & Fox [John M., '79], lawyers, Kansas City, 1891–92 and Gage, Ladd & Small 1892–1919; practiced independently 1919–43; at various times special judge Probate, Circuit, and Juvenile courts, Jackson County, Mo; on legal staff Kansas City Board of Education; an organizer Yale Alumni Association of Kansas City 1902, secretary and treasurer 1902–11, president 1911–13, first vice-president 1921–22, representative on Alumni Board 1920–26 and 1927–34; represented Yale at semicentennial of Park College (Parkville, Mo.) 1925; several times president Kansas City Alumni Association of Sigma Nu; director Juvenile Improvement Club; committee chairman of endowment fund Boys' Hotel 1924, member Kansas City Bar Association (secretary 1899–1902), Missouri and American Bar associations, American Forestry and National Conservation associations, Kansas City Law Enforcement Association, Chamber of Commerce, and Art Institute; trustee First Congregational Church, Kansas City.

Married June 30, 1897, in New Haven, Conn., Eleanor May, daughter of Charles Edmund and Elvira Roxanna (Parker) Howd. No children.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Granby (Conn ) Cemetery. Survived by wife (died November 30, 1944) and a brother, Ollie C. Godard of North Granby.

## John Fuller Appleton Merrill, B.A. 1889.

Born February 10, 1866, in Portland, Maine. Died January 2, 1944, in Portland, Maine.

Father, Lieut Col. Charles Benjamin Merrill (B.A. Bowdoin 1847; LL B Harvard 1849), a lawyer in Portland, manufacturer in Westbrook, Maine, Civil War veteran; son of Dr. John Merrill and Mary (Boyd) Merrill of Portland. Mother, Abba Isabella (Little) Merrill; daughter of Josiah Stover Little (B A. Bowdoin 1825, M.A. 1828) and Abba Isabella (Chamberlain) Little of Portland Yale relatives include a brother, Charles P Merrill, ex-'86

Portland High School and Phillips-Andover. Secretary and treasurer Class crew Freshman, Junior, and Senior years; treasurer '89 and '88 S. crew Sophomore year and University Baseball Association Senior year; member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Studied law in office of Judge William L. Putnam, Portland, 1889–91; attended Harvard Law School 1891–92; admitted to the bar 1892; lawyer in Portland 1892 until retirement 1940; judge Municipal Court, Portland, 1911–15; United States attorney for District of Maine 1915–22 and special assistant to United States attorney 1922–23; jury commissioner for District Court of United States in Maine 1937–44; senator from Cumberland

County in Maine Legislature 1907–08, on Common Council, Board of Aldermen, Supervising School Committee, and Police Examining Board for many years; member City Hall Building Commission 1911; treasurer Eastern Argus Publishing Company 1914, receiver First National Bank of Portland 1933–40; trustee Children's Hospital, Portland, 1908–44; commodore Portland Yacht Club, member Cumberland and American Bar associations; senior warden St. Luke's Cathedral (Episcopal), Portland, chancellor Episcopal Diocese of Maine and trustee Diocesan funds.

Married June 7, 1910, in Portland, Elizabeth Payson, daughter of Charles William Goddard (B A. Bowdoin 1844, M A 1847; Harvard Law School 1845–46) and Rowena Caroline (Morrill) Goddard No children

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife.

### Thomas Gaskell Shearman, B A. 1889.

Born May 13, 1868, in Brooklyn, NY Died March 12, 1944, in Washington, D.C.

Parents, James Augustine and Helen (Thompson) Shearman.

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa First English composition prize and third declamation prize Sophomore year, second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year, competed in athletic games throughout his college course and member University Athletic Team four years; set Yale record in pole vault winter and spring games Sophomore year and intercollegiate games Senior year, established Yale record in running high jump winter and spring games Sophomore year and at intercollegiate games Sophomore and Junior years and intercollegiate record running broad jump Sophomore and Senior years; University Glee Club and College Choir Senior year, financial editor Yale Courant Senior year; Class cup committee; author Class Ivy Ode, member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head

Principal Shelton Avenue School, New Haven, Conn., 1889–90; instructor The Hill School 1890–91; attended Union Theological Seminary, New York City, 1891–94 (diploma 1894), ordained in Congregational church 1894; assistant minister Congregational church Montclair, N J., 1894–95; minister Auburn Street Congregational Church, Paterson, N J., 1895–97; attended Columbia University 1897–1900 (M A 1899, LL.B 1900); admitted to the bar 1900; lawyer in New York City 1900–08 (with Merrill & Rogers 1900–02; managing clerk office of Willard A. Mitchell 1902–04); in government service Washington 1908 until retirement 1940; assistant law officer Forest Service, Department of Agriculture, 1908–10;

assistant attorney Department of the Interior 1910–13; law officer in charge Forest Service appeals 1913–18; assistant to solicitor Department of Agriculture 1918–30 and senior attorney in the office of solicitor 1930–40; author of many articles published in religious and legal journals; president Yale Alumni Association of Washington 1918 and 1919, member executive committee 1920; chairman committee on entertainment Associated Southern Yale Clubs 1921; deacon First Congregational Church, Washington

Married October 11, 1894, in Brooklyn, Nellie Hall, daughter of Thomas and Emma (Brown) Stillman No children

Death due to dilatation of the heart. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife.

Mr Shearman bequeathed to Yale his athletic medals, cups, and trophies

## James Thomas Whittlesey, B.A. 1889.

Born October 18, 1866, in Brunswick, Maine. Died December 20, 1943, in Altadena, Calif.

Father, Rev Eliphalet Whittlesey, D.D, LL.D. (B.A 1842, M.A. 1847, grad. Yale Divinity School 1850) Mother, Ann Augusta (Patten) Whittlesey Yale relatives include: John Smalley (B.A. 1756) (great-grandfather); Roger Whittlesey (B.A. 1787), Isaac Porter (B.A. 1788), and Israel B. Woodward (B.A. 1789) (great-uncles), William Whittlesey (B.A. 1827), John Smalley Whittlesey (ex-1844 D.), and Charles W Camp (B.A. 1844) (uncles), George P Whittlesey, '78 (brother); and Cornelius H. Patton, '86 D (brother-in-law).

Prepared in Montclair, N.J Second colloquy appointment and special one-year honors in natural and physical sciences Senior year, Freshman Glee Club, assistant superintendent Dixwell Avenue Sunday School Senior year, member Psi Upsilon.

Successively with Thomson-Houston Electric Company and N W T H Company, St Paul, Minn, and Coast Conducting Electric Railroad Company, Portland, Ore, 1889–90; consulting engineer in New York City 1890–92, superintendent motor department Brooklyn (N.Y.) Street Railroad 1892–96, chief engineer Brooklyn Rapid Transit Company 1896–98; with Stephenson Car Company, Elizabeth, N J, 1898–1900; chief engineer United Electric Company, Newark, N.J., 1900–12; adviser to Claus and Rudolph Spreckels on public utilities interests, San Francisco, 1912–18, director West Coast branch Engineering Business Exchange, San Francisco, 1918–20, on Railroad Commission of the State of California

1920–25; independent consultant in San Francisco 1925 until retirement 1928; retained by city of San Francisco to make a report on its street-lighting system 1927, member National Civic League, Engineers Club of San Francisco, American Society of Electrical Engineers, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Plymouth Congregational Church, Oakland, Calif.

Married (1) October 28, 1891, in Bay Ridge, NY., Elsie Bliss, daughter of Charles Henry and Mary (Bliss) Still. Children: Frances (BA Univ California 1918), the wife of René Guillou (B.S. Univ California 1915, M.A. 1942); Pauline Patten (Univ. California ex-'20), the wife of Thomas I. Crowell, Jr., '17; and Margaret (died August 2, 1926). Mrs Whittlesey died September 1, 1928. Married (2) October 4, 1930, in Edgartown, Mass., Caroline Louise, daughter of Henry Thurlow and Jean Grant (Farquhar) Bartlett Mrs. Whittlesey died February 26, 1943

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in the Columbarium,

Oakland. Survived by two daughters and six grandchildren.

### Edgar Ames, B.A. 1890.

Born February 26, 1868, in St. Louis, Mo. Died June 28, 1944, in Seattle, Wash

Father, Edgar Ames, a meat packer in St Louis; son of Nathan and Rectina (Bliss) Ames of Cincinnati. Mother, Lucy Virginia (Semple) Ames; daughter of General James Semple and Mary Stevenson Mizner (Cairns) Semple of Springfield and Elsah, Ill Yale relatives include a brother, Henry S Ames, '86

Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; treasurer University Baseball Association Senior year, Class supper committee; cup man, member Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Traveled abroad 1890–95; general manager Seattle & Lake Washington Waterway Company, harbor improvements, 1895–1900; president Seattle General Contract Company 1900–20 and Puyallup (Wash) Dredging Company 1914–20; organizer, and president and general manager Ames Shipbuilding & Drydock Company, Seattle, 1915–22; president Ames Terminal Company, Seattle, 1922–44, built twenty-five steel ships for the government during World War I, member Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers and Episcopal church.

Married July 6, 1909, in New York City, Anne Shaw Sheldon, daughter of Thomas Benjamin and Elaine (Sullivan.) Shaw Daughter Margret, the wife of John Arthur Baillargeon.

Buried in St Louis Survived by wife, daughter, and two grandchildren.

### Arthur Willis Colton, B.A. 1890.

Born May 22, 1868, in Washington, Conn. Died December 28, 1943, at Sneden's Landing, Palisades, N.Y.

Father, Rev Willis Strong Colton (B A. 1850) Mother, Lucy Parsons (Gibson) Colton Yale relatives include: Benjamin Colton (B.A. 1710) (great-great-grandfather); Eli Colton (B.A. 1737), Adonijah Bidwell (B A 1740), Nathaniel Hooker (B.A. 1755), George Colton (B.A. 1756), and Fisher Gay (B A. 1759) (great-great-uncles); George Colton (B.A. 1804) (grandfather); Chester Colton (B.A. 1804) (great-uncle); John O. Colton (B A 1832), George H Colton (B A. 1840), Theron G. Colton (B A 1844), Henry M. Colton (B.A. 1848), Horace B. Colton (M A. Hon 1850), and Lewis W. Gibson (B.A. 1854) (uncles); Alfred Ely Colton, ex-'83 D (cousin); George W. Colton, '21 S (nephew), and Edward C Fowler, '42 (grandnephew).

Gunnery School, Washington Third composition prize Sophomore year; first colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment, Townsend orator, special one-year honors in English, and shared Scott Prize in German Senior year; Freshman Glee Club; Second Glee Club Sophomore year; Apollo Glee Club Junior year, College Choir Senior year, Dwight Literary Society Freshman year; Class Literary Society and an editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year, Class poet; member Yale Assembly and Chi Delta Theta. Graduate member Elizabethan and Elihu clubs Attended Yale Graduate School 1890–93 (Ph.D. 1893).

Instructor in English Yale University 1893–95; engaged in literary work in Toledo, Ohio, 1895–96, teacher at The Ridge School, Washington, 1896–1900, librarian University Club Library, New York City, 1906 until retirement 1929, traveled in England, Europe, the United States, and the Mediterranean and Caribbean areas; author of short stories, essays, reviews and general articles until 1937, his work appeared in many magazines, including Harpers Magazine, The New Republic, The Saturday Review of Literature, Collier's, The Bookman, The Atlantic Monthly, Scribner's Magazine, The Unpopular Review, and The Architectural Record, author "The English Prologue and Epilogue," Bonnie Ben Cree (1900), The Delectable Mountains (1901), The Debatable Land (1901), Tioba (1903), Port Argent (1904), The Belted Seas (1905), The Cruise of the Violetta (1906), and Harps Hung Up in Babylon (1907); member Authors Club (New York) and The Players.

Married September 22, 1917, at Dongan Hills, Staten Island, N.Y., Amy, daughter of General John Tudor Richards and Cora (Howard) Richards. No children

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Washington Cemetery.

Survived by wife, two sisters, Mrs. Ada C. Brinsmade and Emelyn C. Hickox, the widow of Edward P. Hickox, '78, both of Washington, and two brothers, George Benjamin Colton of Toledo, and Lewis Gibson Colton of Washington.

## Allan [Gold] Robinson, B.A. 1891.

Born March 31, 1868, in Troy, NY. Died May 25, 1944, in Washington, Conn.

Father, Rev. Charles Edward Robinson, D.D. (B.A. Hamilton Coll. 1857), a Presbyterian minister in Pelham Manor, N.Y, son of Peter Robinson. Mother, Clara (Vaill) Robinson; daughter of Flora (Gold) Vaill.

Benedict's 'Classical School, Rochester, NY., attended University of Rochester 1886–88. Entered Yale College Sophomore year; third declamation prize Sophomore year; first colloquy appointment Junior year, University Glee Club Junior and Senior years; College Choir Senior year, chairman Senior Promenade Committee; member Alpha Delta Phi and Chi Delta Theta.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1891-94 (LL B 1894); admitted to the bar 1894; practiced law in office of Davis, Stone & Auerbach, New York City, 1894-1902; secretary to Commissioner of Immigration, Port of New York, 1902-05; secretary Allied Real Estate Interests 1905-06, president 1906-14; president City and Suburban Homes Company 1915-22 and Commonwealth Bond Corporation 1922 until retirement 1928, manager Operating Division United States Housing Corporation 1918-19; resided in Washington, Conn, 1930-44, president Mendelssohn Glee Club of New York City 1900-06 and 1927-36, MacDowell Memorial Association of Peterborough, NH, 1911-13, and Schola Cantorum 1912-13; a director and member executive committee Philharmonic Society of New York 1912-13, treasurer National Citizens Committee on Russian Treaty Abrogation 1911–12, chairman New York City Committee of Association to Prevent Corrupt Practices at Elections 1909– 11, New York City Charter Conference 1911, Citizens Police Committee 1912, Mayor's Committee on Building Inspections 1915, and Citizens Committee on New York City's Financial Condition 1915, member State commission to investigate the Torrens system of title registration 1908, Municipal Commission on Congestion of Population 1909, and Building Heights Commission 1913; member Presbyterian church

Married March 14, 1898, in New York City, Jean deForest Knox, daughter of William Delamater and Jeanie deForest (Knox) Barbour. Children Edward, '21, and Jane Knox (B A Smith Coll. 1923), the wife of Everett Callender, '27 S.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Washington Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

### Ira Emanuel Seidle, B.A. 1891.

Born December 11, 1869, in Normal Square, Pa Died October 2, 1943, in Lehighton, Pa.

Father, Charles Henry Seidle, associate judge Carbon County, Pa, 1888–93; president Citizens National Bank, Lehighton; son of Jonathan and Sarah (Kocher) Seidle of Mahoning Valley, Pa Mother, Kate Ann (Nothstein) Seidle, daughter of Daniel and Salome (Hoppes) Nothstein of Mahoning Valley

Palatinate College, B.A Muhlenberg College 1890. Entered Yale Col-

lege beginning of Senior year.

Teacher and principal Normal (Pa) Institute 1891–93 and postmaster 1892–93, attended Yale School of Law 1893–94 (member Kent Club) and University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1894–95 (LL B. 1895); admitted to the bar 1895, in collection department Keator, Freeman & Jenkins, lawyers, Philadelphia, 1895–96; partner Balliet & Seidle, Lehighton, 1896–1914, 1920–40, and 1942–43, Heydt, Balliet & Seidle 1914–20, and Balliet, Seidle & Prutzman 1940–42, borough solicitor Lehighton, M A. Hon Muhlenberg College 1892; trustee and secretary Grace Evangelical Lutheran Church, Lehighton, for seventeen years.

Married October 2, 1900, in Lehighton, Elizabeth Natalie Gabel (grad. West Chester [Pa] State Teachers Coll 1897), daughter of Josiah Ludy and Amanda Alice (Heberling) Gabel. Children Louise Amanda (Carnegie Inst. Technology 1922–23; Kutztown [Pa.] State Teachers Coll. 1923–25), the wife of Ralph Stermer Kreamer, and Elizabeth Mary (B.A Ursinus Coll. 1939), the wife of William Oliver Moyer (B.A Muhlenberg Coll 1939; B D. Mount Airy Lutheran Theological Seminary 1942).

Death due to heart failure Buried in Lehighton Cemetery. Survived by

wife, children, and one grandson.

## Richard Gardner Eaton, B.A. 1892.

Born September 8, 1869, in Wakefield, Mass. Died January 9, 1944, in Sedro Woolley, Wash.

Father, Chester Williams Eaton (B S. Dartmouth 1859, Harvard Law School 1863-64), a lawyer in Wakefield; served with 50th Massachusetts Volunteers during Civil War, son of Lilley and Eliza (Nichols) Eaton of Wakefield Mother, Emma Giles (Leach) Eaton; daughter of Rev Giles Leach and Emma (Thompson) Leach of Wells Beach, Maine, and Mere-

dith and Franklin Falls, N.H. Yale relatives include a nephew, Samuel H. Eaton, '37.

Wakefield High School and Phillips-Andover First colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; president Chess Club Senior year.

Attended Harvard Medical School 1892-96 (M.D. 1896), interne Worcester (Mass.) City Hospital 1896-97, physician in Holyoke, Mass, 1897–1908 and Wakefield 1908–11; second assistant physician Brattleboro (Vt.) Retreat 1910-11, physician State Hospital, Kings Park, N.Y., 1911-16, Cherokee (Iowa) State Hospital, 1915-17 and January-November, 1919, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, July 16, 1917, stationed at Phipps Clinic, Baltimore, Saint Elizabeths Hospital, Washington, Fort Ontario, and Camp Grant; discharged December 12, 1918, consultant in nervous and mental diseases Ethan, S Dak, 1920-21, physician North Dakota State Hospital for the Insane, Jamestown, 1921-22, Southern Idaho Mental Hospital, Blackfoot, 1921–22 (superintendent 1923–24), and Eastern State Hospital, Medical Lake, Wash, 1922-24, medical examiner and specialist in neuropsychiatry United States Veterans Bureau, Spokane, and USVB. Hospital 94, American Lake, Wash., 1924–25 and Hospital 57, Knoxville, Iowa, 1925–31; associated with Veterans Administration Facility 1931 until retirement 1939 (in Lincoln, Nebr, 1931-35, Boise, Idaho, 1935-37, and Minneapolis, Minn, 1937-39), resided in Palo Alto, Calif, 1939-44, member Masonic order and Wakefield Congregational Church.

Married (1) June 1, 1905, in Holyoke, May Louise, daughter of Pliny Jones and Martha Anne (Starkweather) Crafts Children Richard Gardner, Jr, and Elizabeth Crafts. Dr and Mrs. Eaton were divorced in 1914 Married (2) November 10, 1921, in Blackfoot, Josephine Louise, daughter of John and Sophia (Bockenhauer) Voss.

Death due to influenza. Buried in New Tacoma Cemetery, Tacoma, Wash. Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Theodore Eaton, '94

## Otis Harrison Fisk, B.A. 1892.

Born March 5, 1870, in Covington, Ky. Died January 10, 1944, in Framingham, Mass

Father, Charles Henry Fisk, LLD. (B.A. Miami Univ. 1863, MA 1868; LLB. Cincinnati Law School 1864), a lawyer in Lexington and Covington, Ky.; son of Lieut. John Flavel Fisk and Elizabeth Sarah (Johnson) Fisk of Covington Mother, Margaret Anne (Emmal) Fisk, daughter of William B. and Catherine (Miller) Emmal of Lexington Yale relatives include a cousin, John F. Fisk, 3d, '13 S

Prepared at private schools and Mt. Auburn Institute, Cincinnati, Ohio. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale Union and Beta Theta Pi.

Studied at universities of Leipzig, Berlin, and Heidelberg 1892–96 (Dr. Phil. Heidelberg 1895, Dr. Jur. 1896); attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1896-99 (LL.B. 1899); admitted to the bar 1899; lawyer in Cincinnati 1800 until retirement 1929; lecturer in medical jurisprudence University of Cincinnati 1914-29; assistant professor of civil law Harvard University 1929-30, lecturer on wills and probate practice Xavier University, Cincinnati, 1929-30; attended Y.M.C.A. Training School, Blue Ridge, NC, educational and building secretary Camp Sheridan 1918–19; trustee Miami University; author. Stimmrecht und Einzelstaat in den Vereinigten Staaten von Nordamerika (1895, 1896), The Constitution of the German Empire (1916), Presumption in the Law (1921), Fundamentals of the Law of Proof in Judicial Proceedings (1928), and Kunde uber America (1944); translated into German The Facts About the Candidate by Byron Andrews (1904) and from the German Institutes of Roman Law of Civil Procedure by Leopold Wenger (1940); member Cincinnati Bar Association and Masonic order; vestryman, treasurer, and Sunday-school superintendent Church of the Epiphany (Episcopal), Cincinnati, and vestryman St. Andrew's Church, Framingham.

Married (1) June 5, 1901, in Cincinnati, Helen Whitelaw, daughter of Joseph and Sophia Helen (Whitelaw) Pogue. Children: Isabelle Eastman (BA Wellesley Coll. 1923; BEd Univ Cincinnati 1929); Elizabeth Whitelaw (died March 9, 1913); Sophia Helen (BA. Wellesley Coll. 1930), the wife of John Anderson Laird (B.A. Cornell 1930); and Margaret Pogue (BA Wellesley Coll 1937). Mrs Fisk died August 7, 1927. Married (2) February 9, 1929, in Roslindale, Mass., Mabel Anna, daughter of Elijah and Ella (Pearl) Hebb

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Walnut Hill Cemetery, Brookline, Mass. Survived by wife, three daughters, two grandchildren, and a sister, Elizabeth Sarah Fisk Cutter, the wife of Edward Henry Cutter (BS in ME. Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1902) of Elgin, Ill.

### Harry Howell Kennedy, B.A. 1892.

Born April 10, 1871, in Syracuse, N.Y. Died October 31, 1943, in Berkeley, Calif.

Father, Dennis M. Kennedy, president J. F. Pease Furnace Company, manufacturers of heating apparatus, Syracuse. Mother, Betsy (Rice) Kennedy, daughter of John and Amy (Brown) Rice of Elbridge, N.Y.

Syracuse High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year and first dispute appointment Senior year, member Zeta Psi.

In Syracuse office J. F. Pease Furnace Company 1892–94, assistant manager Chicago branch office 1894–96, and western manager 1896–1907, western manager International Heater Company, manufacturers of hot-air equipment, Chicago, 1907–12; in charge heating department Crane Company, San Francisco, 1912 until retirement 1929

Married August 8, 1911, in Hollywood, Calif, Ethelyn Leone Ebner (B.A. Univ. California 1910), daughter of William M. and Lillian Maud (Palmer) Ebner. Daughter: Ethelyn Elizabeth, the wife of David Edward Stuart-Young (B A. Univ. Cambridge 1929, M A 1933)

Death due to a stroke. Ashes interred in Chapel of the Chimes Columbarium, Oakland, Calif Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Elizabeth Kennedy Elliott (B M Smith Coll. 1896) of Carmel, Calif

## Sidney Locock Lasell, B.A. 1892.

Born October 31, 1870, in Orange, N J. Died January 20, 1944, in Pasadena, Calif

Father, Claudius Buchanan Lasell, manufacturer and retailer in Norristown, Pa., and New York City; son of Chester and Nancy (Manning) Lasell of Schoharie, N.Y. Mother, Elizabeth Washington (King) Lasell, daughter of Jonas and Annétta Aspasia (Mengous) King of Athens, Greece

Dearborn-Morgan School, Orange. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year, winner 220-yard dash fall athletic games Junior year; University Athletic Team Junior and Senior years, University Glee Club Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; assistant organist Battell Chapel, in Dwight Hall Chorus and College Choir Junior and Senior years; member Psi Upsilon and Scroll and Key

Studied in Athens, Greece, 1892–93 and at London School of Tropical Medicine 1908; attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1893–96 (M D 1896), worked in various clinics and studied in New York City 1896–97; interne surgical staff New York Hospital 1897–99 and Sloane Hospital for Women 1899; medical missionary in China under Presbyterian Board of Foreign Missions, working in Hainan, Nanking, and Hangchow, 1899–1927, physician and surgeon in Pasadena 1928 until retirement 1936; in World War I with medical department (assimilated rank of Captain), American Red Cross, Czech army, on trans-Siberian railroad; in charge hospital station at Buchedu, and later at Vladivostok and Omsk; treasurer West Siberian Red Cross; director Pasa-

dena Home for the Aged, Pasadena Mexican Settlement, and Pasadena Council of Religious Education; member China Medical Association; elder

Pasadena Presbyterian Church.

Married June 5, 1912, in Redlands, Calif, Ruth Lyon (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1904), daughter of Eldridge Merrick Lyon, '74, and Clara Sophia (Grout) Lyon Children. Eldridge Lyon, '36 (MD. Columbia 1940; Capt MC, AUS.), Sidney Locock, Jr., '37, '41 M; Katharine (died February 11, 1920); and Ethel (Wellesley Coll 1940–43; Univ California at Los Angeles 1943–44; Occidental Coll. 1944–). Mrs. Lasell died May 14, 1941

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Redlands. Survived by one daughter, two sons, and two sisters, Gail L. Remington (BA Mount Holyoke Coll 1898), of Bound Brook, NJ, and Mrs.

Walter Standish of Orange

### Levi Winfield Marshall, B.A. 1892.

Born June 13, 1865, in Bridgewater, Mass. Died November 19, 1943, in Bridgewater, Mass.

Father, William Henry Marshall, a homestead farmer in Ogden, Kans.; schoolteacher and shopkeeper in Middleboro, Mass.; son of Henry and Uranah Farnham (Tucker) Marshall of Sutton, Mass. Mother, Ruhamah Authanett (Walker) Marshall, daughter of Levi and Lydia (Walker) Walker of Bridgewater. Yale relatives include two nephews, Gordon P. Marshall, '21 S, and Howard W Marshall, '21 S.

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass College Choir Junior and Sen-

ior years, member Yale Union and Sigma Nu.

Taught at Siglar School, Newburgh, NY., 1892–93 and Riverview Military Academy, Poughkeepsie, NY., 1893–94; employed in Boston, Mass, 1894–1935, building construction estimator and architectural surveyor 1894–1910, manager Tyson Construction Company, Inc., 1910–14; partner Tyson, Weare & Marshall Company 1914–15, president Marshall-Rogers Construction Company 1915–17, construction superintendent General Building Company 1917–24, consulting building estimator and appraiser 1924–28, chief estimator O. H. Drisko & Sons 1928–34, retired in 1935 because of ill-health; during World War I served in France as a construction engineer, Stone & Webster Engineering Corporation, Boston, on base depots for Ordnance Department, American Expeditionary Force; member Masonic order and Congregational Church, Wakefield, Mass

Married May 13, 1897, in Wakefield, Grace Eleanor, daughter of George Washington and Mary Frances (Pennell) Aborn Children: William Bart-

lett, '21 S., and Eleanor (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1923), the-wife of C. Alfred

Capen (B.A. Princeton 1924).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Mount Prospect Cemetery, Bridgewater. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Frederick T. Chase and Florence Mabel Marshall (B.A. Boston Univ 1899), both of Belfast, Maine, and two brothers, Henry Newton Marshall of Newton, Mass., and Harry R. Marshall of Waban, Mass.

## Frank Wright Seymour, B.A. 1892.

Born August 7, 1871, in Colebrook, Conn. Died March 30, 1944, in Winsted, Conn

Father, John Seymour, a carriage maker in Winsted, son of Erastus and Jerusha (Porter) Seymour of Colebrook. Mother, Margaret Louise (Wright) Seymour, daughter of Alvin and Margaret (McCleary) Wright of Colebrook.

Winsted High School. Oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment and two-year honors in political science, history, and law Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale School of Law 1892–94 (LL.B 1894).

Admitted to the bar 1894; justice of the peace and registrar of voters, Winsted, 1894–1902, judge town court of Winsted 1899–1925 and judge of Winsted-Colebrook probate court 1906 until retirement 1941, member Masonic order and Second Congregational Church, Winsted

Married June 14, 1902, in Winsted, Nellie, daughter of William Bailey and Ellen Martha (Russell) Foster Children. Foster (died July 30, 1911), Jane, and Anne (B.A Vassar Coll 1936), the wife of James Karr (B S. Middlebury Coll 1937).

Death due to transitional epithelioma of the brain Buried in Center Cemetery, Winsted. Survived by wife and daughters

## Charles Wilder Bosworth, B.A. 1893.

Born August 28, 1871, in Springfield, Mass Died February 10, 1944, in Springfield, Mass

Father, Henry Wilder Bosworth, a lawyer in Springfield, judge Springfield police court, son of Lyman and Sarah (Waite) Bosworth of Otis, Mass. Mother, Mary Elizabeth Strong (Hall) Bosworth, daughter of Rev Thomas Armory Hall of Otis

Springfield High School. First Berkeley Premium for Latin Composi-

tion Freshman year; high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Studied law in his father's office 1893–95; admitted to the bar 1894; lawyer in Springfield 1894 until retirement about 1934; president Union Trust Company, Springfield, 1906–14 and counsel for the bank thirty-seven years, referee in bankruptcy United States District Court for Hampden County, Mass, 1898 until about 1920; on Board of Police Commissioners, Springfield, 1902 until resignation 1907 to serve as city's legal adviser in promoting a plan for river-front development; president and later vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Western Massachusetts; trustee Proprietors of Springfield Cemetery Association 1923–44; member Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), Springfield

Married November 17, 1917, in Springfield, Rachel Rising Woods, daughter of Bradley D. and Henrietta Lydia (Reynolds) Rising and sister of Richard B Rising, ex-'09 Spec S. No children.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Springfield Cemetery. Survived by wife

### Otho Grandford Cartwright, B.A. 1893.

Born September 7, 1869, in Belmont, NY Died November 29, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Alphonso Goodrich Cartwright, a leather merchant in Alfred, NY, Captain Company I, 85th New York Volunteers, during Civil War; son of Silas Cartwright of Alfred Mother, Lovia DeLery (Etheridge) Cartwright; daughter of Jeremiah and Elizabeth (Daniels) Etheridge of Roanoke Island, NC

Phillips-Andover. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Football Team; substitute University Football Team Sophomore year, Yale University Athletic Team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, winner pole vault Yale-Harvard meet Junior and Senior years and Intercollegiate Athletic Association meet Senior year, member Yale Union Attended Yale Graduate School 1900–03 (M.A. 1901).

Taught history Betts' Academy, Stamford, Conn., 1893–95, Taft School, Watertown, Conn, 1895–97 and 1898–1900, William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia, 1897–98, and Horace Mann School, New York City, 1903–08, partner Newton & Cartwright, book publishers, New York City, 1908–09, associated with Russell Sage Foundation 1909–10; director Westchester County Research Bureau 1910–12, managing director 1910–16, and treasurer; graduate *cum laude* New York School of Philanthropy 1910, C.P A New York University 1916; with Lybrand, Ross Brothers & Montgomery,

certified public accountants, New York City, 1912–13; independently engaged as auditor and accountant 1918-41; senior partner Cartwright & Sparrow, accountants and auditors, 1921–23; became treasurer Gasoline Products Corporation in 1927 and head Otho G Cartwright & Associates, accountants and tax specialists, in 1930; senior partner Cartwright and Cartwright 1941-42; auditor E. W. Bliss Company, Brooklyn, 1942-43; engaged in cost accounting and systematizing work in government ammunition plants 1918; author: Historical Study of Hell's Kitchen District of New York City (1910) and numerous articles on county governments and tax laws in various journals; joint author: West Side Studies (1914), appointed by Governor Glynn of New York as delegate National Tax Conference, Denver, Colo., 1914; chairman Committee on Municipal Accounting of New York State Society of Certified Public Accountants 1929; recording secretary and treasurer Association of History Teachers of Middle Atlantic States and Maryland 1905-08; secretary Schoolmasters Association of New York and Vicinity 1906, member American Institute of Public Accountants, Masonic order, and Riverside Church, New York

Married July 15, 1908, in Des Moines, Iowa, Harriet May, daughter of Samuel B. and Martha (Berry) Garton Son Roger.

Death due to uremia and lobular pneumonia. Ashes interred in Belmont. Survived by wife and son.

# Charles Benjamin Bishop, B.A. 1894.

Born June 11, 1872, in Litchfield, Conn. Died April 2, 1944, in Litchfield, Conn

Father, Charles Benjamin Bishop, engaged in fire insurance and realestate business in Litchfield, son of Charles and Mary (Bacon) Bishop of Madison and Litchfield, Conn Mother, Jane Griswold (Farnsworth) Bishop; daughter of James Francis and Emily (Raphael) Farnsworth of Hartford, Conn

Litchfield High School Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, president Berkeley Association Senior year.

Master Pomfret (Conn.) School 1894–1904; associated with Browning School, New York City, 1904 until retirement 1936 (instructor Latin and history 1904–12 and 1914–23, secretary 1923–36); engaged in closing out his father's business 1913–14; resided in Litchfield 1936–44, member Litchfield Historical Society and First Congregational Church, Litchfield

Unmarried

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in New East Cemetery, Litchfield. Survived by a sister, Miss Mabel Bishop of Litchfield.

## Allen Ross Diefendorf, B.A. 1894.

Born December 21, 1871, in Savannah, NY. Died July 30, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Fletcher Adelbert Diefendorf of Fairport, N.Y, a manufacturer of staves and barrels, New York Assemblyman; son of Hiram and Eliza (Wilson) Diefendorf of Rochester, N.Y Mother, Susan (Quackenbush) Diefendorf; daughter of Isaac K. and Julia (Ross) Quackenbush of Cayuga County, N Y

Fairport Union High School Entered Yale College beginning of Sophomore year; first dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year, in charge University training tables Senior year. Attended Yale School of Medicine 1894–96 (MD. 1896, business manager Yale Medical Journal 1895–96, Keese Prize; member Nu Sigma Nu).

Interne Worcester (Mass) Hospital for the Insane 1896-97 and junior assistant physician 1897-98, assistant pathology department Boston City Hospital 1898; clinical director and assistant physician Connecticut State Hospital, Middletown, 1898–1907; specialist in nervous and mental diseases, New Haven, 1907-43; lecturer in psychiatry Yale School of Medicine 1898–1924; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, July, 1918; on special board for examining nervous diseases, Camp Devens, service June-September, 1918; studied in Heidelberg Clinic and other German and English clinics summer 1902 and in Vienna with Freud and Jung summer 1929, consulting psychiatrist District No. 2, U. S. Public Health Service, Bridgeport (Conn ) General Hospital, Grace Hospital (New Haven), and Westport (Conn.) Sanatorium; author: Clinical Psychiatry (abstracted and adapted from 6th German edition of Kraepelin's Lehrbuch der Psychiatrie, 1902) and of many articles published in medical journals, co-author Neurological and Mental Diagnosis (1908); president Connecticut Society for Psychiatry 1934; second vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1927–28 and first vice-president 1928–29; on advisory committee Connecticut Society for Mental Hygiene and Connecticut Occupational Therapy Society; member New Haven County Medical Association, Connecticut State Medical Society, New York Psychiatric Association, New York Neurological Association, American Psychiatric Association, American Medical Association, Sigma Xi, Masonic order, and United Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married September 4, 1895, in New Haven, Jeanette Louise, daughter of William Henry and Louise (Leavenworth) Cooper. Children Dorothy Louise (BS. Teachers Coll, Columbia, 1921); Allen Ross, Jr., '21 S.; Elizabeth Wooster (BA Vassar 1924), the wife of Warren Low Cook,

'25, and Eleanor Jeanette (Smith Coll. ex-'29) Mrs Diefendorf died October 25, 1939.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by children, five grandchildren, two sisters, Miss Anna Gertrude Diefendorf and Elizabeth D. Price (Ph B Cornell 1898), the wife of George S. Price (M D Eclectic Medical Coll 1892), both of Fairport, and a brother, Hiram Knapp Diefendorf of San Francisco

## Winthrop Hillyer Duncan, B.A. 1894.

Born January 24, 1872, in Lowell, Mass Died July 20, 1943, in Concord, NH

Father, William Wallace Duncan, a pharmacist in Lowell; son of Josiah and Lucinda (Fairbanks) Duncan of Antrim, N.H. Mother, Mary Harrison (Hart) Duncan (Elmira Coll. 1861–63), daughter of Jonathan and Almira M. (Jones) Hart of Williston and Burlington, Vt.

Holderness School, Plymouth, N.H., and Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment and one-year honors in modern languages Senior year; member Beta Theta Pi Attended Yale School of Law 1894–96 (LL.B 1896; member Corbey Court).

Admitted to New York bar; with Stickney, Spencer & Ordway, lawyers, New York City, from about 1896 until 1903, with Lawyers Title Insurance and Trust Company, New York City, 1904–11; assistant solicitor United States Title Guaranty Company in Jamaica, N.Y, and later in Brooklyn, 1911–25, assistant solicitor in law department New York Title and Mortgage Company 1926 until retirement 1938, author of a study and compiled bibliography on Josiah Priest, historian of the American frontier (1935), and wrote introduction to Isaac Webster's narrative of his captivity among the Indians (1927); author of many articles on Indian captivities; member American Antiquarian Society, New Hampshire, Connecticut, New York State, and Staten Island Historical societies, Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Brooklyn

Married June 28, 1899, in Scranton, Pa, Louise Bidwell, daughter of Stephen Parker and Mary (Lillibridge) Hull and sister of Ralph S. Hull, '94 Daughter' Katherine Duncan Waterman Nelson, the wife of Richard MacDonald Nelson (B A. Trinity Coll. [Conn.] 1911). Mrs Duncan died June 22, 1938.

Death due to acute coronary occlusion. Buried in Lowell Cemetery Survived by daughter and a grandson.

## Wilber Leslie Evans, B.A. 1894.

Born November 27, 1872, in Upper Alton, Ill. Died July 9, 1943, in San Antonio, Texas.

Father, Ira Hobart Evans, a businessman in Austin, Texas; speaker Texas House of Representatives; son of Dr. Ira Evans and Emeline (Hobart) Evans of Piermont, N.H. Mother, Francese Abigail (Hurlbut) Evans, daughter of Rev. Thaddeus B. Hurlbut of Alton.

Western Military Academy, Alton, and Knox Academy, Galesburg, Ill, B.A. Knox College 1893 Entered Yale College beginning of Senior

year, second dispute appointment; member Phi Gamma Delta.

Agent for New York and Texas Land Company, Ltd., Amarillo, Texas, 1894–1901 and western agent at Eagle Pass 1902–08; secretary and treasurer Anderson Publishing Company, New York City, 1902–07, president 1907–09, member Evans Brothers, investments, New York City and San Antonio, 1908–15, investment consultant Edward Chamberlain & Company, San Antonio, 1915–21, engaged in handling his own investments 1921–39, member The Evans Company, San Antonio, 1939 until retirement 1941, interpreter of romance languages Censorship Bureau, San Antonio, 1941–43; LLD Knox College 1928; a founder Texas Society of Mayflower Descendants and deputy governor-general 1933–42; treasurer Texas Society of Social Hygiene; member Holland Society of America, Sons of the American Revolution, Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, and West End Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married September 7, 1898, in Denver, Colo., Josephine Wilhelmina, the daughter of Joseph William and Margaret Elizabeth (Yerkes) Taylor. Children Francese Roma (B A. Newcomb Memorial Coll. for Women, Tulane Univ, 1921, Mrs John Gordon Ives) and Hobart Leslie (Kansas State Agricultural Coll *ex-*'26)

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Mount Hebron Cemetery, Montclair, N J Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and two brothers, Francis Hurlbut Evans (B S Knox Coll. 1901) of Montclair and Hobart Yale Evans (Knox Coll. 1800-94, 1807-98) of Austin.

## George Bigelow Bartlett Lamb, B.A. 1894.

Born January 30, 1871, in New Haven, Conn Died December 6, 1943, in New York City.

Father, George Dana Lamb, a manufacturer of leather goods, specializing in patented strap fasteners, New Haven; son of George W. and Martha (Preston) Lamb of Wilmington, Vt Mother, Emma Gulielma (Bigelow) Lamb; daughter of John and Anna Dean (Thorndyke) Bige-

low of Framingham, Mass. Yale relatives include a cousin, C Frederick Childs, '99.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Freshman Glee Club; University Banjo Club three years; member Sigma Nu. Attended Yale School of Law 1894–96 (LL.B. 1896; an editor Yale Law Journal Senior year)

Admitted to Connecticut bar 1896 and New York bar 1897; lawyer in New York City, specializing in real-estate cases, 1897–1904 and on Long Island 1904 until retirement 1935 (practiced independently 1897–1907 and 1911–35; partner Beattys & Lamb 1907–11); a director Long Island Chamber of Commerce; member Long Island Association and Universalist church.

Married September 29, 1898, in Storrs, Conn, Antoinette Storrs, daughter of Benjamin Eyre and Marie Antoinette (Storrs) Valentine Son Dana Storrs (Dartmouth ex-'21; B.S Princeton 1923).

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, son, and three grandchildren.

#### Howard Asa Lamprey, B.A. 1894.

Born September 13, 1868, in Laconia, NH Died January 21, 1944, in Waterford, Conn

Father, George Henry Lamprey, a mechanic in Laconia; son of Asa and Deborah (Sanborn) Lamprey of Gilmanton, N H Mother, Addie Levina (Farrar) Lamprey; daughter of Perley and Eliza (Merrill) Farrar of Gilmanton.

Phillips-Andover. First DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman year and second prize Sophomore year; second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years.

In business in Philadelphia a short time 1894; assistant clerk and deputy clerk Common Pleas Division Supreme Court of Rhode Island at Providence 1894–98; admitted to Rhode Island bar 1898, lawyer in Providence 1898–1914 (associated with Warren R. Perce 1898–1912), United States title attorney for northern New Hampshire, in office of solicitor Department of Agriculture, Woodsville, 1914 until retirement 1935, resided in Old Lyme, Conn., 1936–44; member Grace Church (Episcopal), Providence.

Married September 7, 1896, in Philadelphia, Estelle Viola, daughter of Abraham Mathew and Caroline (Sanborn) Loomis. Children Edythe (died in infancy); Carolyn Sanborn, the wife of Leslie Bigelow Cone, and Farrar Loomis (B.S in M.E. Rhode Island State Coll of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts 1924) Mrs Lamprey died December 27, 1932.

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease. Buried in Evergreen

Cemetery, New Haven, Conn. Survived by one daughter, son, and four grandchildren.

## Alfred Macauley Pope, B.A. 1894.

Born September 3, 1873, in Indianapolis, Ind. Died June 8, 1944, in Paterson, N.J.

Father, Charles Frederick Roehr Pope, actor and theater manager; owned and controlled theaters in Indianapolis, Kansas City, St. Louis, and New Orleans, United States consul at Toronto, Ontario, 1889–93; son of Christian Frederick and Johanna Maria (Papst) Roehr of Saxony, Germany, and Rochester, N.Y Mother, Margaret Elizabeth (Macauley) Pope, daughter of John and Bridget (Smith) Macauley of Rochester Yale relatives include three nephews, Russell Burke, '28, C. Roberts Pope, '30, and John M. Burke, ex-'33.

Prepared in public schools of St Louis and Toronto. Second dispute appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; Class crew Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years, Class football team and president Yale University Tennis Club Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Associated with Seaboard National Bank, New York City, 1896–97, 1900–06, and 1917 until about 1928, and Equitable Trust Company and Chase National Bank until retirement 1937; in real-estate business, New York City, 1897–1900, secretary and treasurer Physicians Supply Company, Louisville, Ky, 1906–07 and business manager Macauley's Theater 1907–14, engaged in farming in Ghent, N.Y., 1914–16 and Lakewood, N.J., 1916–17; resided in Vienna, Va; member Episcopal church.

Married January 28, 1903, in New York City, Ethel Augusta, daughter of Edward Augustus and Mary (Skiddy) Quintard. Son. John Macauley, ex-'30.

Death due to uremia. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, NY Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Katherine P. Burke, the wife of Charles Russell Burke (Columbia Univ ex-'91), and Miss Helen Pope, both of New York City, and a brother, C. L. Macauley Pope, '93.

### George Finch VanSlyck, B.A. 1894.

Born January 24, 1874, in Montclair, N.J. Died December 2, 1943, in McAllen, Texas

Father, William Henry VanSlyck, eastern representative for the whole-sale dry goods firm of Finch, VanSlyck & McConville, St. Paul, Minn; son

of Henry and Mary (Howland) VanSlyck of Kinderhook, NY. Mother,

Lucy Anne (Riker) VanSlyck; daughter of Charles Riker.

Mr. Leal's School for Boys, Plainfield, N J. First Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition and DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman year; third Henry A. Hurlbut Scholar and third Lucius F Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Townsend Premium and David C DeForest Prize Senior year; College Choir Junior and Senior years; Second Glee Club Senior year; member Alpha Delta Phi and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1894–96; admitted to the bar 1896; lawyer in New York City 1896–1907 (associated with Alexander & Green 1896–97); secretary and treasurer Finch, VanSlyck & McConville 1907–11, second vice-president 1911–15 and 1922–24, auditor 1915–22, and vice-president and director 1924 until retirement 1932; trustee and chairman of the board Sprinklered Risk Underwriters of Chicago 1915–31, since 1934 had resided in Mission, Texas, and operated citrus orchards; member Collegiate Reformed Dutch Church of America, New York City

Married (1) April 22, 1897, in New York City, Edith Anne, daughter of William Pike and Anne E. (DeForest) Glenney. Son: DeForest, '20. Mr. and Mrs. VanSlyck were divorced in 1909. Married (2) October 14, 1909, in Madisonville, Ky, Emmalyn Prewitt Lackaye, daughter of James Harvey Prewitt, MD, D.D.S., and Sarah (Lacy) Prewitt

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery,

Mission. Survived by wife, son, and five grandchildren.

## Edward William Beattie, B.A. 1895.

Born December 12, 1874, in Chicago, Ill Died June 25, 1944, in Sarasota, Fla.

Father, Edward William Beattie, engaged in banking, mining, and real-estate business, Helena, Mont., United States Surveyor-General 1904–12 Mother, Caroline Orne (Berry) Beattie; daughter of Weedon and

Julia (Chapman) Berry of Westerly, R I.

Phillips-Exeter. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, an editor Yale Daily News Junior and Senior years; an editor Yale Alumni Weekly Senior year; member Yale Union, University Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon. Attended Yale School of Law 1896–98 (LL B. 1898; honors Junior year; Kent Club diploma Senior year, vice-president Kent Club Junior year and a president Senior year; treasurer Yale Law Journal Senior year, member Corbey Court).

Admitted to practice in Montana 1898, Massachusetts 1900, and New York 1911; lawyer in Helena 1898–99 and Springfield, Mass, 1900–13

(member Leary [Daniel E., '88 L.] & Beattie 1902–13); in legal department Anaconda Copper Company, Butte, Mont., 1899–1900; general attorney New York Telephone Company, New York City, 1913 until retirement 1939; resided in Sarasota 1939–44, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State Bar Association, and Episcopal church

Married (1) June 1, 1900, in Springfield, Ethel May Dickinson (B.L. Smith Coll 1898), daughter of Francke Walden and Katie May (Algood) Dickinson Son Edward William, Jr., '31. Mrs Beattie died April 2, 1910. Married (2) May 29, 1913, in New York City, Jessica Mayer Coffee. Son: John Orne, '39 S Married (3) July 28, 1923, in New York City, Cordelia, daughter of Knute Olson and Lina (Culbertson) Lee.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Manasota Burial Park near Sarasota. Survived by wife and sons

#### Arthur Fuller Carpenter, B.A. 1895.

Born August 1, 1874, in Rome, N.Y. Died December 19, 1943, in Rome, N.Y.

Father, Erwin Cowles Carpenter, president Rome Metallic Bedstead Company, son of Henry Stephen and Mary Ann (Cowles) Carpenter of Rome Mother, Julia Cole (Fuller) Carpenter, daughter of Charles and Aliva (Cole) Fuller of Rome

Rome Free Academy and Warington Classical School, Washington, D.C. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment, one-year honors in political science and law, and Cobden Club Medal Senior year, member University Club

Associated with Merrimac Mattress Manufacturing Company, Boston, 1895–98 and Foster Brothers Manufacturing Company, mattresses, Baltimore, 1898–1900, secretary and treasurer Rome Metallic Bedstead Company 1900–24 and president 1924 until retirement 1933; trustee Rome Library Association 1923–43 and School of Related Arts and Sciences (New York City and Utica) 1935–40; a member of the William Graham Sumner Club he engaged in private research in fields of economics and "the individual in society" and conducted seminars in School of Related Arts and Sciences, member Rome Chamber of Commerce and Zion Church (Episcopal), Rome.

Married October 8, 1902, in Rome, Grace, daughter of William Hubert and Anna Louise (Selden) Van Wagenen. No children.

Death due to subacute bacterial endocarditis. Buried in Rome Cemetery. Survived by wife

#### Lewis Fox Frissell, B.A. 1895.

Born August 2, 1872, in Bloomfield, N J Died October 24, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Algernon Sydney Frissell, president Fifth Avenue Bank, New York City; son of Amasa Cogswell Frissell (Yale Divinity School 1838–41) and Lavinia (Barker) Frissell Mother, Susan Brinkerhoff (Varick) Frissell; daughter of John Remsen and Susan Brinkerhoff (Storm) Varick of Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Yale relatives include Ezra R Frissell, ex-'72, and Hollis B. Frissell, '74 (uncles); Remsen V. Messler, '80, Eugene L Messler, '94 S, George Lauder, Jr., '00 S, and Sydney D. Frissell, '08 (cousins)

Mt. Pleasant Military Academy, Ossining, NY, and Phillips-Andover. Dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment and two-year honors in natural sciences Senior year, member University Club. Attended

Yale Graduate School 1895–96 (MA 1897).

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1896–1900 (MD 1900); interne Presbyterian Hospital, New York City, 1900-02; assistant in medicine Vanderbilt Clinic 1902; studied at University of Berlin 1902; physician in New York City 1902-43, assistant to Dr Walter P. James 1902-03 and Dr Francis P Kinnicutt 1903-04, instructor in physical diagnosis College of Physicians and Surgeons 1906-09, associate 1909-13, assistant professor clinical medicine 1913-38, and professor 1938-41; visiting physician House of Rest 1905-09, Seton Hospital 1909-11 (secretary medical board 1907-09 and president 1909), and New York Orthopedic Hospital 1911-27 (consulting physician 1938-43), associate attending physician St Luke's Hospital 1911-22, attending physician 1922-29, director of service 1929-38, and consulting physician 1938-43; consulting physician North Country Community Hospital, Glen Cove, NY., member advisory board on cardiovascular diseases for US Army draft board, New York City, 1917; chairman medical advisory board for examination of troops, St Luke's Hospital, December, 1917—June, 1918, member Tuberculosis Commission of Rockefeller Foundation, Boissy d'Anglas, France, July, 1918-January, 1919; president New York Clinical Society 1927, trustee New York Academy of Medicine 1935–37; on special New York committee, President's Committee on University Development (Yale), Division of Medicine and Public Health, 1939, member Monthly Medical Society, New York Pathological Society, Society for the Prevention of Tuberculosis, American Medical Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American College of Physicians, The Pilgrims, Sons of the American Revolution, New England Society in the City of New York, and Presbyterian church.

Married (1) June 18, 1902, in Simsbury, Conn., Antoinette Wood,

daughter of James Boyce and Mary Ann (Phelps) Montgomery, sister of Phelps Montgomery, '95, and half sister of Henry M. Montgomery, ex-'84 S. Children: Lewis Varick, '26 (died March, 1931), Phelps Montgomery (died August 18, 1923), and Antoinette Wood, the wife of Francis McNeil Bacon, 3d (B.A. Harvard 1921). Mrs Frissell died September 11, 1931. Married (2) September 27, 1934, in Newport, R.I., Ethel Hope Bennett, daughter of James and Charlotte Armstrong (Thomson) Hope.

Death due to occlusion of cerebral artery Buried in Berkeley Memorial Cemetery, Newport. Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, a stepdaughter, Hope Bennett Wyeth, the wife of Walter Francis Wyeth (B.A. Harvard 1929), and a sister, Mrs. Jerome Kidder of Farmington, Conn.

Mrs Frissell has presented to the University the two collections made by her husband and these will bear his name—one, Sandwich glass, plates, and pens, the other, atlases and maps.

### Yandell Henderson, B.A. 1895.

Born April 23, 1873, in Louisville, Ky. Died February 18, 1944, in La Jolla, Calif.

Father, Isham Henderson (graduate Centre College 1842), a founder and owner Louisville Courier-Journal, organizer and builder of engineering works, son of Isham and Harriotte (Kirtley) Henderson Mother, Sally Nielsen (Yandell) Henderson; daughter of Lunsford Pitts Yandell (MD. Univ Maryland 1825) and Susan Juliet (Wendell) Yandell. Yale relatives include a brother, Isham Henderson, '99.

Private tutor and Chenault's School, Louisville. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Union Attended Yale Graduate. School 1895–98 (Ph.D. 1898; member Sigma X1).

Played important part in development of physiology in the United States; studied at universities of Marburg and Munich 1899–1900; assistant in physiological chemistry Yale University 1898–99, instructor in physiology 1900–03, assistant professor 1903–11, professor 1911–21, professor of applied physiology and director laboratory of applied physiology 1921–38, professor of physiology emeritus 1938–44; member Naval Militia, Connecticut National Guard, 1897–99; enlisted United States Navy June 14, 1898, assigned as Ensign to cruiser Yale, a troop transport, member first expedition to Puerto Rico; discharged August 8, 1898; consulting physiologist United States Bureau of Mines 1913–25 and on Bureau's commission for the study of ways and means of decreasing poison gas hazards in

mining, which resulted in the development of oxygen mask; organized first medical science division of war-gas investigations for Bureau of Mines (the nucleus of Chemical Warfare Service of the United States Army) and chief physiologist 1917-19; one of the developers of the gas mask used in World War I and of H-H inhalator; supervised manufacture of first 10,000 gas masks for the A E.F. and was the first to enter a lethal chamber wearing one of these masks; chairman medical research board Aviation Section, Signal Corps, devising tests for altitude flying, 1917, in charge research to determine standards for ventilation of Holland Tunnel under Hudson River, adviser for physiological exhibits World's Fair, Chicago, 1933, author Collected Papers of Yandell Henderson (8 vols, 1928), After Repeal-What? (1933), A New Deal in Liquor (1934), Adventures in Respiration (1938) largely autobiographical, and numerous articles on physiological effects of gases, spirituous liquors, respiration, and circulation; co-author: Oxygen Mine Rescue Apparatus and Physiological Effects on Users (1917), Noxious Gases and the Principles of Respiration Influencing Their Action (1927, 1943); joint author Physiological Observations Made on Pike's Peak, Colo, with Special Reference to Adaptation to Low Barometric Pressures (1913), co-editor Incomes and Living Costs of a University Faculty (1928), MD Hon Connecticut State Medical Society 1942; vice-chairman Connecticut delegation to National Convention of Progressive Party 1912 and candidate for Congress, Third Connecticut District, 1912 and 1914; on New Haven Charter Revision Commission 1914-19, associate fellow American Medical Association (secretary section on pathology and physiology 1909, 1910 and chairman 1910, 1911, member council on physical therapy); honorary member American Climatological and Clinical Association, Coal Mining Institute of America, and Society of Physicians, Vienna; member Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Philosophical Society, American Physiological Society, American Pharmaceutical Association, American Society of Anesthetists, National Academy of Sciences, Society of Biological Chemists, Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, American Association of University Professors (chairman Yale branch 1926-30, on executive committee 1930), and Physiological Society (London).

Married April 2, 1903, in Newton Center, Mass, Mary Gardner Colby (Smith Coll ex-'04), daughter of Joseph Lincoln and Mary Cornelius (Little) Colby. Children. Malcolm Colby, '25, and Sylvia Yandell, the wife of George McLean Harper, Jr. (B.A Princeton 1920, Ph D 1926) Mrs Henderson died June 25, 1943.

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in East Lawn Cemetery, Williamstown, Mass. Survived by children and six grandchildren.

### Norton Adams Kent, B.A. 1895.

Born July 28, 1873, in New York City. Died June 5, 1944, in North Conway, N.H.

Father, Elmore Albert Kent, member E. A. Kent & Company, grain and provision merchants, New York City; son of Albert and Lucinda (Gillette) Kent of Suffield, Conn. Mother, Mary Abby (Holman) Kent; daughter of Edwin and Sarah Elizabeth (Hemenway) Holman of Newton, Mass Yale relatives include: David Ripley (B.A. 1749), Hezekiah Ripley (B A 1763), and Bradford Ripley (B A. 1763) (great-great-great-great-uncles), John Adams (B.A. 1795) (great-g

Berkeley School, New York City. Third DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman year and first prize Sophomore year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, one-year honors in political science and law Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa.

Successively with Grant Locomotive Works, Wells & French Car Company, and Metropolitan National Bank, Chicago, 1895-97; graduate student in physics Yale University 1897-98 and in physics, mathematics, and practical electricity Johns Hopkins University 1898-1901 (Ph D 1901); assistant in spectroscopy Yerkes Observatory, Williams Bay, Wis., 1901-03; professor of physics and chairman department of astronomy Wabash College 1903-06; member faculty Boston University 1906-44 (established department of physics 1906 and head of department 1906-42; instructor in physics 1906-07, assistant professor 1907-10, professor 1910-42, and professor emeritus 1942-44), visiting professor of physics Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1942-44, author: Notes on the Zeeman Effect (1901), The Relative Positions of the Arc and Spark Lines of the Spectra of Titanium, Zinc and Iron (1905), and A Study with the Echelon Spectroscope of Certain Lines in the Spectra of the Zinc Arc and Spark at Atmospheric Pressure (1912); co-author Difference in Wave Lengths of Titanium λλ 3900 and 3913 in Arc and Spark (1907), contributed research articles on various subjects in spectroscopy to scientific periodicals; fellow American Academy of Arts and Sciences (on Rumford Committee 1930–44 and chairman 1940-44), member Eastern Physics Teachers Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Astronomical and Astrophysical Society, American Physical Society, American Geographical Society, American Forestry Association, Society for Protection of New

Hampshire Forests, National Conservation Association, Sigma Xi, and

First Congregational Church, Cambridge, Mass.

Married March 27, 1906, in Salem, Mass., Margaret Crowninshield (Wheaton Coll. ex-'00), daughter of Rev Edward Crowninshield (S.T.B. Harvard 1870) and Rebecca (Faelton) Crowninshield. Daughter Margaret Crowninshield (B.A. Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1944)

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Newton Cemetery. Survived

by wife and daughter.

## Howard Barnes Lee, B.A. 1895.

Born December 10, 1873, in Covington, Ky. Died August 15, 1943, in Louisville, Ky.

Father, Washington McGruder McGowan Lee, president Covington City National Bank. Mother, Louisa Cassandra (Barnes) Lee; daughter of Thomas Cross and Amelia (Howard) Barnes of Mount Sterling, Ky. Yale relatives include an uncle, Pearce Barnes, '74.

Ann Arbor (Mich.) and Louisville High schools. Second colloquy appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year, Freshman Glee Club; secretary Yale Gymnastic Association Junior year and president

Senior year.

Attended University of Louisville School of Law 1895–97 (LL B 1897), admitted to the bar 1906; legal editor Louisville Evening Post 1895–1903; lawyer in Louisville 1903 until retirement 1937 (member Lee & Straus 1903–12, Straus, Lee & Krieger 1912–21, Peter, Lee, Tabb & Krieger 1921–33, Peter, Lee, Tabb, Krieger & Heyburn 1933–34, and Lee & Krieger 1934–37); election commissioner for Jefferson County 1906–08, attorney Louisville Liberal Board 1909–10, general attorney Louisville Railway Company 1911–35 and Louisville Interurban Railroad Company 1920–35, president Orphanage of the Good Shepherd about 1915–39 and Louisville Community Chest 1932–34; chancellor and secretary board of trustees Episcopal Diocese of Kentucky 1935–37; director Protestant Episcopal Home; member Louisville Chamber of Commerce, Louisville, Kentucky State, and American Bar associations, Masonic order, and Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), Louisville; vestryman St Mark's Church

Married November 9, 1909, in Louisville, Louise, daughter of Garvin and Ellen (Robinson) Bell Daughter Louise Bell (BA Vassar 1934), the wife of Lieut. Andrew Wallace Duncan, Jr, U.S N (LL B Univ. Vir-

ginia 1935).

Death due to pulmonary edema Buried in Cave Hill Cemetery, Louisville. Survived by wife, daughter, and two granddaughters.

### William Herbert Scoville, B.A. 1895.

Born August 25, 1873, in Norwich, NY. Died December 30, 1943, in West Cornwall, Conn.

Father, Rev Samuel Scoville (B.A. 1857). Mother, Harriet Eliza (Beecher) Scoville Yale relatives include: Lyman Beecher (B.A. 1797) (great-grandfather), Edward Beecher (B.A. 1822), George Beecher (B.A. 1828), and William H Beecher (M.A. Hon 1833) (great-uncles), William C Beecher, '72 (uncle); Harry Beecher, '88 (cousin), Gurdon T. Scoville, '26, and William Beecher Scoville, '28 (nephews).

Stamford (Conn ) High School First dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; University Athletic Team Sophomore and Junior years, an editor Yale Pot-Pourri Senior year; on Senior Promenade and Class Day committees; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Scroll and Key

Attended Worcester Polytechnic Institute 1896–97; associated with Hampton Institute 1895–1943 (instructor 1895–96, manager Southern Workman 1897–99, business agent Huntington Industrial Works 1899–1904, secretary business committee 1904–06, secretary of the Institute 1906 until retirement 1939, secretary board of trustees 1917–43, trustee 1941–43); resided summers in North Cornwall 1906–43; private Virginia National Guard, Company L, 3d Battalion, First Training Regiment, Plattsburg, 1915, federalized June, 1916, caisson corporal Battery D, First Regiment, Field Artillery, Richmond, Va., June–September, 1916, and San Antonio and Leon Spring, Texas, October–November, 1916; discharged November 28, 1916; secretary committee to organize Yale Club of Virginia 1921–22, member Ends-of-the-Earth Club; deacon Hampton Institute Church.

Married May 26, 1900, in Stockbridge, Mass, Louise Hopkins, daughter of Brigadier General Samuel Chapman Armstrong (B.A. Williams Coll. 1862) and Emeline Dean (Walker) Armstrong. Children: Anne Beecher, the wife of Russell Welles, Samuel Armstrong, '28, Louise Hopkins, the wife of William R. Morley, '28, Roxana Foote (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll 1931), the wife of Edward H. Dodd, Jr, '28, and Harriet Beecher (Vassar Coll ex-'35), the wife of Francis Lee Higginson, Jr. (Harvard ex-'29)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in North Cornwall Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, fifteen grandchildren, two sisters, Harriet Beecher Scoville Devan (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1883) of Essex Fells, N J., and Annie Beecher Scoville (Wellesley Coll. ex-'89; Univ. Oxford 1890) of Stamford, Conn, and a brother, Samuel Scoville, Jr., '93.

# John Bissell Speer, B.A. 1895.

Born January 23, 1873, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died March 4, 1944, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Alexander Morrow Speer (M D Jefferson Medical Coll 1853), a physician in Pittsburgh, son of James Ramsey Speer (grad. Washington [Pa] Coll. 1816; M D Univ. Pennsylvania 1821) and Hettie (Morrow) Speer of Pittsburgh. Mother, Ellen Caroline (Bissell) Speer, daughter of John and Nancy (Semple) Bissell of Pittsburgh

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh. Freshman Baseball Team, University Baseball Team three years and substitute Freshman year; secretary University Baseball Association Junior year, on Cap and Gown Committee,

member Eta Phi and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

In business in Pittsburgh 1895 until retirement; associated with American Water Works and with Guarantee Company 1895–1900; manager bond department Post & Flagg Company 1900 until about 1910, partner with his brother Alexander in Speer Brothers, investment bonds, 1900–18; resided in Pasadena since retirement in 1922; member Episcopal church.

Married October 18, 1904, in Highland Park, Ill, Helen Stockton, daughter of David Shields and Esther Clark (Stockton) Cook Children John Stockton, Lawrence Shields (died in 1911), and Eleanor Bissell

Death due to an intestinal obstruction Survived by wife, one son, daughter, and a brother, Alexander M Speer, '98 S

# John Frelinghuysen Talmage, B.A. 1895.

Born March 23, 1875, in Brooklyn, NY. Died December 1, 1943, in Mendham, NJ

Father, John Frelinghuysen Talmage (B.A. Rutgers Coll 1852, M.A 1855; M.D. New York Univ. 1859), a physician in Brooklyn, son of Thomas Talmage of Somerville, N.J. Mother, Margaret A (Hunt) Talmage; daughter of Thomas and Emmaline S. Hunt of New York City

Brooklyn Latin School. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; president University Tennis Club and competed in Intercollegiate Tennis Tournament Senior year; member University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Attended New York Law School 1895–97 (LL.B 1897), traveled abroad 1897–98; admitted to the bar 1900; began the practice of law in New York City 1898; associated with Alexander & Greene and practiced independ-

ently, owned and operated Audley Farms, dairy products and cattle breeding, Mendham, 1916-43, member St. Bernard's Church (Episcopal), Bernardsville, N J

Married August 4, 1917, in New York City, Nannie Nye Jackson Stevens, daughter of Philip Nye and Margaret (Atlee) Jackson. No children Mrs Talmage died May 31, 1943

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery,

Brooklyn. Survived by no immediate relatives.

# William Mills Wheeler, B.A. 1895.

Born October 4, 1872, in Stratford, Conn. Died April 29, 1944, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, William Ezra Wheeler, a merchant and manufacturer in Stratford, son of Samuel William and Elizabeth (Wakelee) Wheeler of Stratford. Mother, Sarah (Tomlinson) Wheeler, daughter of Gideon and Abigail (Wells) Tomlinson of Stratford.

Bridgeport High School. First colloquy appointment Junior year; third dispute appointment and one-year honors in political science and law Sen-

ior year

Tutor in Fort Edward, NY., 1895–96, instructor at Mt. Pleasant Military Academy, Ossining, N.Y., 1897–1900; unoccupied 1900–03 because of ill-health; teacher Cheltenham Military Academy, Ogontz, Pa., 1903–05, Brown School, Providence, R.I., 1905–06, and Staten Island Academy, West Brighton, NY, 1906–07; associated with Weed Chain Tire Grip Company 1907–17 (became sales manager in 1911) and secretary and director of its successor, American Chain & Cable Company, Inc., Bridgeport, 1917–44; vice-president Bridgeport Rotary Club 1936–37; chairman Chain Institute, Inc., trustee United Congregational Church, Bridgeport, 1927–38

Married June 27, 1908, in Meriden, Conn, Ida May Furniss (special student Univ Chicago 1897–1902), daughter of Edward and Mary Ann (Davis) Furniss. Children. Elizabeth (Smith Coll. ex-'31), the wife of Ernest Hyde Cady, Jr; Mary Louise, the wife of Frank C Hunt, Jr., ex-'35 S, and Edward Furniss, '37

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Ashes interred in Putney Cemetery, Stratford. Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Elizabeth Wheeler Stagg of Stratford

# Samuel Morgan Alvord, B.A. 1896.

Born November 19, 1869, in Bolton, Conn. Died December 1, 1943, in Bolton, Conn.

Father, Elijah Anson Alvord, a farmer in Bolton; son of Martin and Martha Burleigh (Clark) Alvord of Bolton Mother, Cynthia Ann (Warner) Alvord; daughter of Ashbel and Hannah (Morgan) Warner of Bolton Yale relatives include a great-uncle, Saul Alvord (B.A. 1800).

Hartford Public High School. Second in entrance examinations for Hugh Chamberlain Greek Prize; second Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; president Freshman Union, vice-president Yale Union Junior year and president Senior year; member Alpha Delta Phi and Phi Beta Kappa (secretary Senior year).

Instructor in Latin and Greek Pennington (N J) Seminary 1896–1900; instructor in Latin Hartford Public High School 1900 until retirement 1936 (chairman classical department for many years, master Hopkins Grammar School 1914–36), resided in Bolton 1936–43; author A Genealogy of the Descendants of Alexander Alvord (1908) and A Historical Sketch of Bolton, Conn. (1920); president Bolton Cemetery Association, treasurer and council member Hartford Public High School Athletic Association 1901–24, secretary Alumni Association 1907–36, and faculty adviser Hartford Public High School and Hopkins Debating clubs 1901–35, chairman Bolton Bicentennial Committee 1920; member Sons of the American Revolution and Connecticut Historical Society, deacon Immanuel Congregational Church, Hartford, and Bolton Congregational Church

Married December 27, 1900, in Pennington, Mary Ann, daughter of Rev. Thomas O'Hanlon, D D, LL D. (B A. Princeton 1863, M A 1866), and Hannah Maria (Maps) O'Hanlon Son Morgan Hanlon, '24

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Bolton Center Cemetery. Survived by wife, son, and one granddaughter

# Leonard Beaumont Bacon, B.A. 1896.

Born July 25, 1875, in Rochester, N Y. Died February 16, 1944, in Rochester, N Y

Father, Theodore Bacon (BA 1853) Mother, Julia (Selden) Bacon. Yale relatives include: Leonard Bacon (B.A. 1820) and Henry R Selden

(LL.D Hon 1857) (grandfathers); Benjamin W. Bacon (B.A. 1847), Leonard W. Bacon (B.A. 1850), Francis Bacon (M.D. 1853), George B. Bacon (B.A. 1856), Eugene Smith (B.A. 1859), Edward W. Bacon (B.D. 1869), Thomas R. Bacon (B.A. 1872), and Alfred T. Bacon (B.A. 1873) (uncles), and Nathaniel T. Bacon, '79 S, Benjamin W. Bacon, '81, Theodore D. Bacon, '83 S., Selden Bacon, ex-'83, Leonard W. Bacon, '88, Leonard B Smith, '94, Winthrop D Smith, '96, Roger T. Bacon, ex-'11 S, Susan Almira Bacon (Ph.D. 1911), Alfred H. T. Bacon, '14, Henry W Closson, '16, and David L. Bacon, '16 S. (cousins).

Fort Hill School, Rochester, and Phillips-Andover. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years, lieutenant Dunham Boat Club Sophomore and Junior years; member Alpha Delta Phi.

Studied law in his father's office 1896–97, attended Harvard Law School 1897–99 (LL B 1899); admitted to the bar 1900; lawyer in Rochester 1900 until retirement 1938; practiced independently and later in partnership with his brother Henry until 1902; an editor Lawyers Co-operative Publishing Company 1902–05; associate Harris & Harris 1906, Harris, Havens, Beach & Harris 1907–11, and Harris, Beach, Harris & Matson 1912–20 (partner 1921–25); partner Harris, Beach & Matson 1926–29, Harris, Beach, Folger & Bacon and Harris, Beach, Folger, Remington, Bacon & Keating 1930, and Harris, Beach, Folger, Bacon & Keating 1931–41; trustee Reynolds Library 1924–40 (member building committee 1924–30 and library committee 1931–35; president of the board 1930) and Wells College 1927–34; a director and secretary Rochester Friendly Home 1914–38, chairman executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Rochester 1924, second vice-president 1925, and first vice-president 1926.

Married May 14, 1903, in Ridgewood, N J., Eleanor, daughter of Frank Morgan and Mary Eliza (Hogg) Cowperthwaite Children. David, '25, Alice, the wife of Lawrence Trenery Hallett (B A. Univ. British Columbia 1923, Ph D. Univ Wisconsin 1928); and Leonard Lee, '28.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a brother, Henry Selden Bacon, '93

#### Henry Hobart Benedict, B.A. 1896.

Born March 22, 1873, in New Haven, Conn. Died April 14, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Henry Hobart Benedict, president Benedict & Pardee Company, wholesale coal dealers, New Haven, president Young Men's Christian Association, New Haven, son of Henry Walter and Sarah Eunita (Heming-

way) Benedict of New Haven Mother, Eleanor Augusta (Maltby) Benedict; daughter of George Williams and Sarah Anne (Bogart) Maltby of Godwinsville, N.J.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Yale Shooting Club Team four years; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club (on board of governors Senior

year), University Club, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key

Associated with Benedict & Pardee Company 1896–98 and secretary 1914–21; hunted big game and fished for tarpon, salmon, and amberjack in the United States and Canada 1898–1909; representative DeRidder & Martin, brokers, New York City, 1927–32, retired in 1933; member First Methodist Church, New Haven.

Married February 23, 1910, in Indianapolis, Ind, Marjorie Louise, daughter of George Brenton and Minnie (Knight) Moore. Son Henry Walter, '34.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Helen B Barnes, widow of Bayard Barnes, '95 S, of Palm Beach, Fla

## Christopher Bush Coleman, B.A. 1896.

Born April 24, 1875, in Springfield, Ill. Died June 25, 1944, in Indianapolis, Ind.

Father, Louis Harrison Coleman, merchant and investment banker in Springfield; son of Hardin Hawkins and Barbara Ann (Hopper) Coleman of Hopkinsville, Ky. Mother, Jenny (Logan) Coleman, daughter of Stephen Trigg and America Tandy (Bush) Logan of Springfield. Yale relatives include a cousin, Logan Hay, '93.

Springfield High School and Lawrenceville (N J.) Academy. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; two-year honors in political science and law Senior year; secretary Freshman Union; member Yale Union, Delta Kappa

Epsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Auburn Theological Seminary 1896–97, Chicago Theological Seminary 1897–98, and University of Chicago Divinity School 1898–99 (BD 1899); studied at University of Berlin 1904–05 and Columbia University 1911–12 (Ph.D. 1914), ordained in First Christian Church, Springfield, September 17, 1899; professor of history Butler University 1900–20 and vice-president 1912–20; head department of history and political science Allegheny College 1920–24; director Historical Bureau, Library and Historical Board, State of Indiana, 1924–44 and acting director Indiana State Library 1936–42; author: Church History (1911), Constantine the Great and Christianity (1914), Memoirs of Louis Harrison Coleman

(1920), and The United States at War (1943), translator. The Treatise of Lorenzo Valla on the Donation of Constantine (1922); editor Centennial Handbook, Indiana Historical Society, 1830–1930 (1930); associate editor: Indiana Magazine of History (formerly Indiana Quarterly Magazine of History) 1908-11 and 1919-20, editorial director Indiana Historical Collections (vols. 13-27) and Publications and Prehistoric Research Series of Indiana Historical Society, contributed to Dictionary of American Biography and to many historical periodicals; compiled Handbook of Historical Societies for their nationwide conference (1936); worked effectively for publication of historical papers by U.S Department of State; president College Settlement Association of Indianapolis 1911–19; chairman Marion County Board of Charities; vice-president American Association for State and Local History 1943-44; secretary Conference of Historical Societies 1926–38 and Whitewater Canal Association of Indiana 1943–44; executive secretary George Rogers Clark Sesquicentennial Commission 1928-35; member Indiana Historical Society (corresponding secretary 1924-44), Mississippi Valley Historical Association, American Historical Association (member council 1933-34), American Political Science Association, American Geographical Society, American Society of Church History, and Unitarian church.

Married June 25, 1901, in Indianapolis, Juliet, daughter of Edgar Adelbert and Martha (Julian) Brown. Daughters: Ruth (died in infancy); Constance (Vassar ex-'26; Pennsylvania Academy of Fine Arts 1925–28), the wife of Edgar Preston Richardson (B A. Williams Coll. 1925); and Martha Julian (B A. Wells Coll. 1936), the wife of Edmund Corey Bray (B S. Middlebury Coll. 1930, M S. Brown Univ. 1931).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis Survived by wife, two daughters, and two brothers, Logan Coleman (B A. Princeton 1896) of Springfield, Ill., and Louis G. Coleman, '03.

# John Marshall Gaines, B.A. 1896.

Born May 11, 1873, in New Haven, Conn. Died November 11, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Rev. Marshall Richard Gaines (B.A. 1865). Mother, Louise (Walker) Gaines (grad Mount Holyoke Coll. 1862). Yale relatives include a brother, Morrell W. Gaines, '98.

Cutler Academy, Colorado Springs, Colo. First DeForest Mathematical Prize Freshman and Junior years and second prize Senior year, first Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year; Woolsey Scholarship Prize Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, valedictorian, member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa (vice-president Senior year) Attended Yale Graduate School 1896–1900 (Ph.D. 1900; assistant in political economy 1897–1900; member Sigma X1).

In actuarial department New York Life Insurance Company, New York City, 1900-04; by examination became associate Institute of Actuaries 1902; assistant in insurance Yale University 1903-04; organizer and auditor M Hartley Company, New York City, 1904 and treasurer of its firms the Bridgeport (Conn ) Gun Implement Company and Remington Arms-Union Metallic Cartridge Company, New York City, 1904-14, from 1914 to 1916 engaged with William A. McFadden, '96, in preliminary work which led to establishment of National Hardware Stores, Inc., treasurer of the company 1918–19; treasurer Calco Chemical Company, Bound Brook, N J, 1919–20, independently engaged as business consultant in New York City 1927 until retirement; resided in New Haven 1928-43, but spent winters in Florida because of ill-health, engaged in military census work in New York State 1917 and adviser on National Council of Defense, in charge War Risk Bureau, Insurance Section, Treasury Department, 1917-18; in 1915 became member of Camp Fire Club of America and was actively interested in game conservation; member Actuarial Society of America and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married October 12, 1901, in New Haven, Cornelia Galpin, daughter of Pierce N. Welch (B.A. 1862) and Emma (Galpin) Welch and sister of Pierce N. Welch, '98 Sons: John Marshall, Jr, '24 (MS Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1926, Ph D. 1931); William Welch, '26 (Ensign US Coast Guard); Pierce Welch, '27 (LL B. Harvard 1931), and Robert Wolcott, '37 S. (MS. Massachusetts Inst Technology 1939)

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, sons, six grandchildren, and a sister, Ruth Louise Gaines (B A Smith Coll. 1901) of Meriden, N.H.

Early in 1943 Mr. Gaines gave his collection of over 4,000 shells from the beaches of the Florida west coast to the Peabody Museum of Natural History at Yale.

## William Spoohnt Gordon, B.A. 1896.

Born January 26, 1874, in Odessa, Russia Died February 17, 1944, in New York City.

Parents, Nathan and Anna (Gordon) Spoohnt. Lancaster (Pa.) High School. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1896 and New York Law School 1896–98 (LL B. 1898), admitted to the bar 1898; lawyer in New York City 1898–1944, associated with Paskus & Cohen 1898–1902; member Lavelle & Gordon 1902–07, Paskus, Cohen, Lavelle & Gordon 1907–13, and Paskus, Cohen & Gordon 1913–29; senior member Paskus, Gordon & Hyman 1929–44, counsel Climax Molybdenum Company 1931–44; vice-president Garden Chemical Company; treasurer 693 Fifth Avenue Realty Corporation 1921–26; member New York County, New York State, and American Bar associations

Married June 16, 1909, in New York City, Bertha, daughter of Morris and Harriet (Feist) Moss Children William, Jr., '34; Jane (B S. Teachers Coll., Columbia, 1939), the wife of Charles William Loeb (B A. Swarthmore Coll 1937; LL B Yale 1940); and Richard Moss, ex-'44.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mt. Hope Cemetery, Cypress Hills, Brooklyn, NY Survived by wife, children, and two grandsons

# Theodore Meech Gowans, B.A. 1896.

Born July 19, 1874, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died December 22, 1943, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, John Gowans, member Gowans & Sons, soap manufacturers, Buffalo, son of Peter and Mary (Strachen) Gowans of Perth and Crieff, Scotland Mother, Emily Fitch (Hoyt) Gowans; daughter of Asa and Louise (Penny) Hoyt of Putnam County, N.Y.

Central High School, Buffalo, and private tutor. Philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended University of Buffalo Law School 1898–1900 (LL.B. 1900); clerk Moot, Sprague, Brownell & Marcy 1898–1900, admitted to the bar 1900 but never practiced law; associated with Gowans & Sons 1896–98 and 1900–15 (secretary-treasurer 1901–15); in insurance business in Buffalo 1915 until retirement 1922 because of ill-health (with Woodworth-Hawley Company 1915–16, associated with Tiernan & Company, Inc., and independently engaged 1916–22), member Westminster Church (Presbyterian), Buffalo.

Married March 18, 1903, in St. Louis, Mo., Daisy Chesley, daughter of Young Hance Bond, LLD (MD. Univ. Maryland 1867), and Minnie (Slayback) Bond. Son. Benjamin Bond

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by wife, son, and one granddaughter.

## Maitland Fuller Griggs, B.A. 1896.

Born February 12, 1872, in Granby, Conn. Died July 24, 1943, in Old Lyme, Conn

Father, Joseph Fuller Griggs, associated with Boston & Albany Railroad Company, Springfield, Mass.; son of Joseph Maitland and Elvira (Fuller) Griggs of Springfield. Stepfather, Federal B Bridgman of Hartford, Conn. Mother, Helen M. Bagg Griggs Bridgman; daughter of John and Elvira (Brown) Bagg of West Springfield, Mass. Yale relatives include two nephews, John Bolter Griggs, '23, and Walter D. Griggs, ex-'33 S

Hartford Public High School. Philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; portfolio editor Yale Literary Magazine Senior year; Sophomore German Committee; Junior Promenade Committee; on membership committee University Y M C A. and Class deacon Senior year; member Yale Union, Alpha Delta Phi, Skull and Bones, Chi Delta Theta, and Phi Beta Kappa. Graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Attended New York Law School 1896–98 (LL.B. 1898); admitted to the bar 1898; lawyer in New York City 1898-1917, specializing in corporate practice and settlement of estates; director Alexander Smith & Sons Carpet Company, Yonkers, N.Y., 1919 until retirement 1942 (chairman of the board 1919-33); commissioned Captain, Ordnance, July 2, 1917, promoted Lieutenant Colonel January, 1918; assigned to office of Chief of Staff, War Department, Washington, D.C., chief, Advisory Section, Ordnance Department, and member Compensation Board and Ordnance Claims Board; honorably discharged January 15, 1919, president House of Rest, Inwood, N.Y. (later Sprain Ridge, Yonkers), 1919-42, director Children's Village, New York Juvenile Asylum, Dobbs Ferry, NY (first vice-president 1920-31), and New York Tuberculosis Association, trustee Frick Art Collection and Metropolitan Museum of Art 1935–43; member advisory committee of Chicago Art Institute for Century of Progress Exposition, Chicago, 1933; won first and second prizes for oil paintings at amateur exhibits held in Yale Club, University Club, and Century Association, New York City, at various times between 1933 and 1942; authority on Italian primitive painting; originator and a founder of Associates in Fine Arts at Yale University and served as chairman 1926 to 1941, chairman Committee on Accessions, Yale Art Gallery, 1928-40; governor Yale Publishing Association 1923-28, L.H D Yale 1938; member New York State Bar Association; trustee Irvington (N.Y.) Presbyterian Church

Married November 9, 1898, in New York City, Carolyn Cowles, daughter of Charles Northam and Harriet (Welles) Lee Children Dorothy Maitland (Bryn Mawr ex-'20; Mrs Francis King Murray), Maitland Lee (Christ Church, Univ. Oxford, 1923–25); and Northam Lee, '27

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Ashes interred in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Scarborough, N.Y Survived by wife, children, nine grand-

children, and a brother, John B Griggs, '97 M.

During his lifetime Mr Griggs gave to the Yale Art Gallery many objects of art, including French Romanesque statues from the Church of St. Martin at Angers, France, Italian paintings and sculpture, and Chinese sculpture He also bequeathed to the Gallery the greater part of his collection of Italian paintings, ten pieces of sculpture, four tapestries, and one large needlepoint.

# Frank Mason Jeffrey, B.A. 1896.

Born August 9, 1874, in Torrington, Conn. Died October 26, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Joseph H Jeffrey, a mechanic in Torrington. Mother, Kate E. (Mason) Jeffrey

Torrington High School. Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; two-year honors in ancient languages Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1896–98 (M.A. 1900).

Tutor Rectory School, New Milford, Conn., 1898; instructor in Latin and history Smith Academy, St Louis, Mo, 1898–1910; manager Yeager Piano Company, Torrington, 1910–11; instructor in history and civics and head of history department Torrington High School 1911–19, acting principal 1915, and principal 1919 until retirement 1937; member Torrington Chamber of Commerce and Masonic order; trustee, deacon, and clerk Center Congregational Church, Torrington

Married August 20, 1902, in Torrington, Alice Dayton, daughter of Andrew Jackson and Lillie (Dayton) Woodward. Daughters: Catherine Mason (B A Mount Holyoke Coll 1925) and Eleanor Dayton, the wife of Vincent P. Weaver, '27 S Mrs Jeffrey died June 24, 1927.

Death due to infarction of the myocardium. Buried in Center Cemetery, Torrington Survived by daughters and three grandchildren.

#### James Denison Sawyer, B A. 1896.

Born March 16, 1875, in Buffalo, NY. Died September 18, 1943, in New York City

Father, George Pliny Sawyer, '72. Mother, Ida Maria (Wilcox) Sawyer. Yale relatives include Jonathan Todd (BA. 1732) (great-great-great-uncle); Timothy Todd (BA. 1747) (great-great

uncles); William W. Wilcox (B A 1835) and George A. Wilcox (B A 1852) (great-uncles); Ansley Wilcox, '74, William B. Sawyer, '76 S, Marrion Wilcox, '78, Walter I. Badger, '82, Daniel H. Wilcox, ex-'84, Frank U. Wilcox, ex-'86, Edward C Fellowes, '88, and Urquhart Wilcox, '95 S (uncles); Walter I. Badger, Jr., '13, Edward A Fellowes, ex-'18 S, and Eric L Hedstrom, '21 (cousins); William B. H Sawyer, '38 (nephew)

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, NY. Vice-commodore Yale Corinthian Yacht Club Senior year, member University Club and Alpha Delta Phi.

Associated with M. H. Birge and Sons, manufacturers of wallpaper, Buffalo, 1896–97; with Brooks Locomotive Works (merged in 1901 with American Locomotive Company), Dunkirk, NY, 1898–1920 (assistant to second vice-president 1901–07, sales manager 1907–17, and vice-president in charge of sales 1917–20); vice-president W. A. Harriman [W. Averell, '13] & Company, Inc., brokers in New York City, 1920–27, partner G. M.-P. Murphy & Company 1927–38 and Eastman, Dillon & Company 1938–43.

Married (1) April 4, 1904, in Bayonne, N.J., Sallie Shannon, daughter of John Amadée and Sallie (Shannon) Walsh. Son James Denison, Jr (died October 2, 1915). Mrs. Sawyer died February 27, 1924 Married (2) June 5, 1925, in Wellesley, Mass, Ethel Cochrane Cushing, daughter of Alexander and Mary Russell (Sullivan) Cochrane

Death due to aneurism of the aorta. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by wife, a stepdaughter, Mrs. George C Clark, Jr, two stepsons, Howard Gardiner Cushing (B.A. Harvard 1928) and Alexander Cochrane Cushing (B.A. Harvard 1936, LL B 1939), a sister, Miss Marjery F. Sawyer of Buffalo, and a brother, Ansley W. Sawyer, '07

#### Morris Mortimer Whitaker, B.A. 1896.

Born February 24, 1873, in Boston, Mass Died January 30, 1944, in Jacksonville, Fla

Father, Ezra Jabez Whitaker, chief engineer United States Navy Yard, Brooklyn, N.Y.; son of Ezra Douglas and Amanda Malvina (Jones) Whitaker of North Adams, Mass. Mother, Cornelia Sophia (Clark) Whitaker, daughter of Welcome Morris and Lodemia (Clarke) Clark of Sackets Harbor, N Y Yale relatives include a cousin, Ezra D Whitaker, '98

Polytechnic Preparatory School and Adelphi Academy, Brooklyn, attended Williams College 1891–92 Entered Yale College Sophomore year.

Studied naval architecture at Cornell University 1897–98 and University College, London, 1900–01; iron shipworker Newport News, Va., 1896–97 and draftsman 1898–99; superintended construction of yacht *Arrow* at

Nyack, N.Y, 1899–1900; president Canada Launch Works, Toronto, 1901–05, technical editor Motor Boat Publishing Company, New York City, 1905–07; independently engaged as boat designer in New York City 1909–19, general manager Northeastern Shipbuilding & Transportation Company, Freeport, Maine; employed by Russian Navy Department 1915–16 and United States Navy & Fleet Corporation 1917–19; motor boat specialist Tams, Lemoine & Crane, naval architects and marine brokers, New York City, 1920–22; engaged in boat building, Works Progress Administration, Nyack, about 1932–33, in charge procurement and expediting Greenport (NY) Basin & Construction Company, building mine sweepers for the Navy, 1941–43; engaged in Navy shipbuilding, Erie, Pa., and Jacksonville, Fla., 1943–44, trustee Village of South Nyack 1932–36; member Masonic order and Unitarian church

Married (1) December 28, 1898, in Brooklyn, Mary Louise, daughter of Francis Ebenezer and Mary (Souther) Southard. No children. Mr. and Mrs. Whitaker were divorced in 1931. Married (2) June 12, 1932, in Greenwich, Conn, Marie Louise, daughter of Samuel Van Benschofen and Edith (Moran) Schreiner Daughter: Sara

Death due to heart failure. Buried in South View Cemetery, North Adams. Survived by wife and daughter.

# William Dwight Baldwin, B.A. 1897.

Born October 25, 1873, in Sunnyside, Maui, T.H. Died October 31, 1943, in Makawao, Maui, T.H.

Father, Henry Perrine Baldwin, superintendent of sugar plantations in Maui and Makaweli, T.H., senator Hawaiian legislature; son of Rev. Dwight Baldwin, M.D. (BA 1821), and Charlotte (Fowler) Baldwin of Maui Mother, Emily McKinney (Alexander) Baldwin; daughter of William Patterson Alexander (Princeton Theological Seminary 1828–31) and Mary Ann (McKinney) Alexander of Maui, and Oakland, Calif. Yale relatives include John D Fowler (B.A 1813) (great-uncle), William D. Alexander (BA 1855) and David D Baldwin (B.A 1857) (uncles); Arthur C Alexander, '88 S, Erdmann D. Baldwin, ex-'89 S., William A. Baldwin, '92 S, Wallace M Alexander, '92 S, Samuel E. Damon, '96, and Henry F Damon, '06 (cousins); Henry P. Baldwin, '25, Fred C Baldwin, '28, Asa F. Baldwin, '29, Lawrence A. Baldwin, '33, and Lewis W. Baldwin, '36 (nephews).

Oakland High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Second colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; treasurer Freshman Union.

Attended Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1897–1901 (MD 1901); studied in Germany summer of 1898; interne St. Luke's Hospital, New York City, 1902–04 and New York Post-Graduate Hospital, New York City, 1904, practiced medicine in Honolulu with his classmate, Dr. James R. Judd, 1905 until retirement 1913; engaged in farming in Haiku, T.H., 1913–43; on Territorial Board of Health 1908–12, Hawaiian representative Federal Food Administration 1917–18, Captain, Medical Service, American Red Cross, in charge of Vladivostok (Russia) Hospital for Civilians 1918–19; president Alexander House Settlement, Wailuku, Maui, 1916–43; president of the board Kula Sanatorium 1919–43 and Maui Tuberculosis Association; chairman Boy Scout Council, Maui; trustee Fred Baldwin Home and Maunaolu Seminary; honorary member Maui Rotary Club; member Maui Chamber of Commerce, attended Congregational church.

Married March 30, 1904, in New York City, Abigail Wellington, daughter of Henry Clay and Elizabeth Virginia (Cook) Holbrook Children Dwight Holbrook, Charlotte, the wife of Nathaniel Whittier (B S Harvard 1927); and Virginia, the wife of Wellington Wells, Jr. (B A Harvard 1931).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Makawao Cemetery Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, four brothers, Arthur D Baldwin, '98, Frank F. Baldwin, ex-'99 S, Samuel A. Baldwin, '08, and Harry A Baldwin of Maui, and a sister, Mrs. Maud Baldwin Cooke of Honolulu Another brother, Fred C Baldwin, '04, died in 1905.

#### Francis Boardman, B.A. 1897.

Born August 15, 1876, in Rutland, Vt Died December 12, 1943, in New York City.

Father, William Henry Boardman (B A. Univ. Michigan 1868, C E. 1869), editor and publisher Railway Age Gazette, New York City; son of Isaac Smith and Mary Lockwood (Dixon) Boardman of Dixon, Ill Mother, Henrietta Frances (Hall) Boardman; daughter of Henry and Henrietta Frances (Clark) Hall of Rutland, Vt. Yale relatives include. Richard S Chisolm, '97 (brother-in-law), Lansdale Boardman, '40, and Bradford Boardman, Jr., 1945W (nephews).

Phillips-Andover. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Alpha Delta Phi and University Club.

Laborer Detroit and Mackinac Railway Company, Michigan, 1897–98; attended Columbia University School of Mines 1898–99, held various positions on construction West Virginia Short Line Railway Company 1899–

1900; associated with New York Central & Hudson River Railroad Company 1900–43 (assistant superintendent of track Hudson 1900–01, assistant engineer and supervisor of track White Plains 1901–07, division engineer electric division Grand Central Terminal 1907–12, engineer electric division 1912–16, division engineer 1916–22, engineer maintenance of way Grand Central Terminal and division engineer electrified zone 1922–26, and assistant terminal manager Grand Central Terminal 1926–43); director works division Emergency Relief Bureau of New York 1935; contributed articles to Railway Age Gazette, Boy Scout master Riverdale 1910–12; supervised building Neighborhood House and served on Board of Education, Riverdale, member American Railway Engineering Association, City Art Commission of New York, Special Appeals Draft Board of New York City, and Episcopal church

Married June 8, 1910, in Boston, Mass., Anne Macdonald, daughter of Benjamin Shreve and Anne (Macdonald) Calef Children Elisabeth, the wife of Francis Vernon Lloyd, Jr.; William Hall (B A. Williams Coll. 1936), Francis, Jr (B.A. Williams Coll 1938); and Robert Calef (B.A.

Williams Coll. 1940)

Death due to influenza. Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Saco, Maine. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Clara Boardman Peck of Ridgefield, Conn, and a brother, Dixon Boardman, '02. Another brother, Bradford Boardman, '05, died in 1940.

# Willard Church, B.A. 1897.

Born March 6, 1875, in New York City. Died May 23, 1944, in Upper Montclair, N.J.

Father, William Conant Church of New York City; author; publisher New York Sun, founder Army and Navy Journal 1863 and Galaxy Magazine 1866, a founder and fellow in perpetuity Metropolitan Museum of Art, Lieutenant Colonel, US Volunteers, during Civil War, son of Rev. Pharcellus Church, DD (grad. Colgate Theological Seminary 1824), and Chara Emily (Conant) Church of Tarrytown, NY. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Metcalf) Church, daughter of George Henry and Lorena Delano (Cheever) Metcalf of Augusta, Ga

Berkeley School, New York City High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Phi Beta Kappa

Reporter New York Sun 1897–99, assistant editor and manager printing office W. C & F P. Church, publishers of Army and Navy Journal, New York City, 1899–1908, secretary and treasurer 1908–17, and manager and owner 1917 until retirement 1922, vice-president R. T. [Richard T.,

'96 S.] & D. T. Dana Company, publishers of technical books, and Codex Book Company, publishers of mathematical charts; resided in Montclair and Upper Montclair 1922–44; fellow in perpetuity Metropolitan Museum of Art; member Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, Navy League of the United States, New York Genealogical and Biographical Society, New York Zoological Society, and St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Montclair.

Married February 24, 1908, in New York City, Agnes Montgomery, daughter of Robert Montgomery and Ida Leonora (Schwacofer) Donaldson. Children Chara Delano (Skidmore Coll. ex-'35), the wife of Francis Frederick Phillips, Mary Agnes (Smith Coll. ex-'36), the wife of Donald Erskine Kidd (B.A. Princeton 1935), and Margaret Montgomery, the wife of James Daly (special student Harvard 1920–22, 1923–24)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown. Survived by wife, daughters, and four grandchildren.

## William Henry Owen, B.A. 1897.

Born October 11, 1874, in New York City. Died May 27, 1944, in Natural Bridge, Va.

Father, William Henry Owen, a merchant in New York City, Civil War veteran; son of Edward Hezekiah and Jane Augusta (Livingston) Owen. Mother, Mary Lavinia (Brooks) Owen, daughter of Edward Sands and Adeline Matilda Creemer (Leveridge) Brooks.

Berkeley School, New York City. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; one-year honors in history Senior year, president Berkeley Association Senior year; member University Club. Attended Yale Graduate School 1897–99 (M A. 1899). Graduate member Elizabethan Club.

Graduate General Theological Seminary of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States 1901, B.D. 1903, S.T.D. Hon. 1936, ordained deacon in Cathedral of St. John the Divine, New York City, June 2, 1901, and priest December 22, 1901; curate St. Thomas' Church, New York City, 1901–06; rector Trinity Church, Mount Vernon, N.Y., 1906–22 and Holy Trinity Church, New York City, 1922—January 1, 1938 (rector emeritus 1938–44); president New York Churchman's Association 1916–17 and Mount Vernon Ministers Association; secretary Board of Examining Chaplains, Diocese of New York, 1913–26 (president 1926–44) and Archdeaconry of Westchester; trustee Mount Vernon Public Library 1915–20, Church Temperance Society, New York City, and Cathedral of St. John the Divine 1920–44; on Mount Vernon Board of Education 1910–16 and Mount Vernon Municipal Art Commission; member of the board Dio-

cesan Church and Missionary Society, Commission on Social Service, and Diocesan Board of Religious Education, Diocese of New York; chaplain Bronx chapter Daughters of the American Revolution and Masonic order; associate curator of coins, Yale University, with special charge of those in modern and medieval periods, 1931–44; in 1934 elected a founder of the Museum of the City of New York, member Order of Founders and Patriots of America, Society of Colonial Wars, Society of the Sons of the Revolution, Sons of Union Veterans of the Civil War, Sons of Veterans of the United States of America, Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, American Numismatic Association, American Numismatic Society, and Masonic order.

Unmarried.

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, NY Survived by no immediate relatives.

In 1927 the Rev Mr. Owen presented to the Yale University Library his collection of coins from many parts of the world, and since then had made many additions to the numismatic collection.

# Amos Richards Eno Pinchot, B.A. 1897.

Born December 6, 1873, in Paris, France. Died February 18, 1944, in New York City

Father, James Wallace Pinchot (M A. Hon. 1905), a merchant in New York City; one of the founders of the Yale School of Forestry, Yale Summer School of Forestry, Milford, Pa, and Milford Forest Experiment Station; son of Cyril Constantine Desire and Eliza (Cross) Pinchot of Milford Mother, Mary Jane (Eno) Pinchot; daughter of Amos Richards and Lucy Jane (Phelps) Eno of New York City. Yale relatives include: Noah A. Phelps (B A. 1783) (great-great-uncle); Elisha Phelps (B.A. 1800) (great-grandfather); Henry C. Eno (B.A. 1860), John C. Eno (B A. 1869), and William P Eno, '82 (uncles), Henry Lane Eno, '94 (cousin); and Gifford B Pinchot, '38 (nephew)

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; treasurer Class boat club Freshman and Sophomore years; Senior Promenade Committee, member Golf Club (on executive committee Senior year), Dunham Boat Club, University Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Enlisted Troop A, New York Volunteer Cavalry, May 18, 1898; sent to Camp Alger, Va; attached to Army headquarters in Puerto Rico; discharged August 20, 1898, attended Columbia University School of Law 1897–98 and New York Law School 1899–1900; admitted to the bar 1900;

assistant district attorney New York City 1900-01; engaged in working for the Republican Party until 1912, when he aided in forming the Progressive Party; candidate for Congress from 18th Congressional District, New York, on National Progressive ticket 1912 and for Constitutional Convention from 17th Senatorial District 1914, gave up law practice in 1912 and devoted much time to studying economics and writing articles dealing especially with the relation of industrial monopoly to the social and political control of society; chairman Committee on Real Preparedness, and Wilson Volunteers 1916; on executive committee American Union Against Militarism 1916–17; an organizer American Committee on War Finance 1917; a founder in 1917 American Civil Liberties Union, Inc., a director 1917-30, and member national committee until 1944; honorary president League for Municipal Ownership and Operation in New York City, vicepresident Wilson-Seabury League, New York City, 1919, trustee Peoples Institute, New York City, and Committee for Constitutional Government 1942-44; vice-president Westminster School Alumni Association; member board of managers Manhattan State Hospital, Association for Improving the Condition of the Poor, national executive committee of Committee of Forty-eight (1919-24), and America First Committee

Married (1) October, 1900, in New York City, Gertrude, daughter of Robert Bowne and Suzannah (Shaw) Minturn Children. Gifford, 2d, ex-'26, and Rosamond (grad. American Academy of Dramatic Arts 1926, Mrs. William Gaston, 2d; died January 24, 1938). Mr and Mrs. Pinchot were divorced in 1919. Married (2) August 9, 1919, in Saugatuck, Conn, Ruth Pickering (BA Vassar 1914, MA. Columbia 1922), daughter of George and Rebecca (Thomas) Pickering. Children. Mary Eno (BA. Vassar 1942) and Antoinette Eno (BA Vassar 1945 [Dec 1944]).

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by wife, son, two daughters, four grandchildren, and a brother, Gifford Pinchot, '89.

# Dean Sage, B.A. 1897.

Born December 13, 1876, in Brooklyn, N.Y

Died July 1, 1943, at Wyer's Brook, Restigouche County, New Brunswick.

Father, Dean Sage, a lumber merchant in Albany, N.Y., son of Henry Williams and Susan Elizabeth (Linn) Sage of Ithaca, N Y Mother, Sarah Augusta (Manning) Sage, daughter of Richard Henry and Sarah Porter (Swan) Manning of Brooklyn Yale relatives include. William H Sage, '65 (uncle); Henry M. Sage, '90 (brother), Henry W Sage, '95, Andrew G. C. Sage, '96, and DeWitt L. Sage, '97 (cousins); and J Fenimore

ţ

Cooper, '13, Henry S Fenimore Cooper, '17, Linn Fenimore Cooper, '21, Paul Fenimore Cooper, '21, Henry W. Sage, Jr, ex-'25, Henry Sage Goodwin, '27, Edwin O Holter, Jr, '30, and Henry M Sage, Jr., ex-'44 S. (nephews).

Albany Academy First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; substitute University Football Team Sophomore year; assistant treasurer University Club, manager Class baseball club, and on executive committee Yale Union Junior year; Junior Promenade Committee; Class Day Committee Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Skull and Bones

Attended Harvard Law School 1897–1900 (LL.B. 1900; editor Harvard Law Review, member Phi Delta Phi); admitted to the bar 1899; with Simpson, Thacher [Thomas, '71] & Bartlett [Philip G., '81], lawyers, New York City, 1900-05; partner Sage, Kerr [Albert B, '97] & Gray (later Sage, Gray & Todd [William A, '97], and Sage, Gray, Todd & Sims) 1905-43; deputy assistant district attorney New York County 1902; mayor Borough of Mendham, N J, 1917-22; counsel to contract branch, Office General Superintendent, Army Transport Service, New York City, August, 1917—March, 1918; director contract division Office General Superintendent, Army Transport Service, and of Port Utilities Office, Port of New York, March, 1918—January, 1919; director New York office realestate branch, Purchase, Storage, and Traffic Division, Army General Staff, August, 1918—January, 1919; president Military Training Publishing Corporation 1918 and board of managers Columbia-Presbyterian Medical Center 1922-43, chairman board of trustees Atlanta University 1929-43, trustee New York Trust Company 1922-43 and United Hospital Fund of New York 1939, director Josiah Macy, Jr Foundation and Commonwealth Fund; on executive committee Prison Association of New York 1903-43 and Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926 (chairman ways and means committee and associate chairman special gifts committee); governor Yale Publishing Association 1930–34; on Yale committee for Verdun Memorial 1927, author Impressions in Verse (1913); M.A. Hon. Yale 1928, LLD Columbia 1928, member Bar Association of the City of New York, New York County, New York State, and American Bar associations, St Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City, and St. Bernard's Church, Bernardsville, N J.

Married June 9, 1900, in Albany, Anna, daughter of Major General Amasa Junius Parker, LL D (B A. Union Coll. 1863), and Cornelia Kane (Strong) Parker, and sister of Amasa J. Parker, Jr., '91, and Lewis R. Parker, '92 Children. Cornelia Sage Landon, the wife of Staunton Williams, '20, Sarah Sage Stewart, the wife of David Hunter McAlpin (B.A. Princeton 1920, LL.B Harvard 1924); and Dean, Jr., '30. Mrs. Sage died June 3, 1941

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in St. Bernard's Cemetery, Bernardsville. Survived by children, five grandchildren, one of whom is Henry H. Landon, Jr., '45 (degree awarded June, 1944), and two sisters, Elizabeth S Hare, the widow of Meredith Hare, '94, and Sarah S. Holter, the wife of Edwin O. Holter, '94

# John Butler Tytus, B.A. 1897.

Born December 6, 1875, in Middletown, Ohio Died June 2, 1944, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, John Butler Tytus, ex-'70, a paper manufacturer in Milwaukee, Wis; associated with Tytus Paper Mill, Middletown, son of Francis Jefferson and Sarah (Butler) Tytus of Middletown Mother, Minnesota (Ewing) Tytus; daughter of William Griffith and Charlotte (Ewing) Ewing of Fort Wayne, Ind. Yale relatives include: Edward J Tytus (B.A 1868) (uncle); Francis J. Tytus, '98 S., and William E. Tytus, '13 (brothers); Robb deP. Tytus, '97, Colin Gardner, '09 S, and Ewing Webb, '13 (cousins).

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y. University Banjo Club Junior and Senior years; member Alpha Delta Phi

With Tytus-Gardner Paper Mill, Middletown, 1897–1902 and Photographic Advertising Company, Dayton, Ohio, 1902; engaged in construction work with Talbot Construction Company, Dayton, 1902-04, with American Rolling Mill Company, Middletown, 1904-44 (matching and doubling jobs Central Works Sheet Mill 1904–06; assistant to the president Charles R. Hook 1906-08; mill superintendent Zanesville plant 1908-09, helped design East Works and superintendent sheet and jobbing mill department 1909-11, assistant general superintendent in charge of East Works division 1911–22, built Ashland, Ky, plant 1922–27, assistant vice-president of the company 1927, vice-president in charge of operations 1927-43, vice-president in charge technical department 1943-44), instrumental in development of revolutionary process for continuous rolling of wide strip metal, first put in operation in Ashland plant 1923, awarded Armco Distinguished Service Medal 1927, Gary Memorial Medal 1935 (for his contribution to steel industry), and Silver Plaque by National Association of Manufacturers 1940; member Episcopal church

Married June 27, 1907, in Middletown, Marjorie, daughter of Charles Edwin and Augusta (Wampler) Denny. Children Elizabeth, the wife of Clarence M. Jones, '17 S; and twin sons, Francis Jefferson, '32, and John Butler, 3d, '32.

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis. Buried in Woodside Cemetery, Middletown. Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren

## Molton Avery Colton, B.A. 1898.

Born October 23, 1872, in Indian Territory Died September 14, 1943, in Annapolis, Md.

Father, Rev. James Hooper Colton (B.A Univ. North Carolina 1855), a Presbyterian minister; missionary to Choctaws in Indian Territory; president Alexander College, Burkesville, Ky; son of Rev. Simeon Colton (B.A. 1806) and Susan (Chapman) Colton of Summerville and Fayetteville, N C. Mother, Eloise (Avery) Colton; daughter of Clark Molton and Elizabeth T. (Walton) Avery of Morganton, N C. Yale relatives include: Ebenezer Baldwin (B.A. 1763) and Simeon Baldwin (B.A. 1781) (great-great-uncles); Jabez Colton (B.A. 1775) (great-grandfather); Alexander Newton, '84 (cousin), and Henry E. Colton, Jr., '43 S. (nephew).

Prepared privately. Taught in public schools of Moore County, N.C., for three years before entering college. Freshman honor division; Scott Prize in French and high oration appointment Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School and instructor in French Yale University 1898–1900.

Successively inspector of schools, Manila, Philippine Islands, division superintendent of education for Mindanao and Sulu Archipelago, and for Cavite, Tayabas, and Batangas 1900–03; attended universities of Halle 1903–04, Berlin 1905–06, and Paris 1904–05 and 1908–09 (Ph D 1909); teacher of French, German, and Spanish Thacher School, Nordhoff, Calif., 1906–07, professor of romance languages Randolph-Macon Woman's College 1907–08; instructor in modern languages United States Naval Academy 1909–19, associate professor 1919–27, and professor 1927 until retirement 1937, author. La Phonétique Castillane (1909); member Presbyterian church

Married October 23, 1919, in New York City, Andrée, daughter of Gaston Charles Frederick and Yvonne (Boulard) Stockly. Children: Yvonne Hélène and Elizabeth Ann.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Naval Cemetery, Annapolis. Survived by wife, daughters, two sisters, the Misses Suzanne and Clara Colton, and four brothers, James H Colton, Henry E. Colton, '02, W. Francis Colton, '07, and Roger B. Colton, '08 S.

#### Herbert Draper Gallaudet, B.A. 1898.

Born September 12, 1876, in Washington, D.C. Died June 24, 1944, in Pine Orchard, Conn.

Father, Edward Miner Gallaudet (B.S. Trinity Coll. [Conn.] 1856; Ph D. George Washington Univ. 1869; LL D. Yale 1895), president Gal-

laudet College for the Deaf; son of Rev. Thomas Hopkins Gallaudet, LL.D. (B.A. 1805), and Sophia (Fowler) Gallaudet of Hartford, Conn. Mother, Susan (Denison) Gallaudet; daughter of Dr Joseph Adam Denison and Eliza (Skinner) Denison of Royalton, Vt. Yale relatives include William E. Gallaudet (BA 1815) (great-uncle), Henry C Trumbull (M.A. Hon. 1866) (uncle), John W Edgerton (M.A. 1896, LL.B. 1900) (brother-in-law), Lindsay Denison, '95, and Charles G. Trumbull, '93 (cousins), and Edward D. Gallaudet, '24, Francis C Gallaudet, '27, John B. Goss, '28, Alden Young Warner, ex-'29, Milton W. Goss, '32, M Pierpont Warner, '33, and Cruger G Edgerton, ex-'41 (nephews)

Friends' School, Washington. Freshman honor division; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Townsend Premium and one-year honors in English Senior year; Class deacon Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, Sophomore German and Junior Promenade committees, member Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta

Attended New College, Edinburgh, Scotland, 1898–99 and Union Theological Seminary 1899–1900 and 1901–02 (BD magna cum laude 1902), general secretary Y.M.C.A., University of Virginia, 1900-01, private tutor Marquette, Mich., 1902-03, ordained in Presbyterian church 1903; missionary and minister Presbyterian Church, Allanstand, N.C, 1903-06, associate minister Central Congregational Church, Boston, 1907–12; minister First Congregational Church, Bridgeport, Conn, 1912-16, First Lieutenant and Chaplain, 10th Connecticut Field Artillery, 1916, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, March-August, 1917; commissioned Captain August 15, 1917; with Battery F, 303d Field Artillery, Camp Devens, August, 1917—February, 1918, attended School of Fire for Field Artillery, Fort Sill, February-April, 1918, overseas June 28, 1918—April 26, 1919; with Advanced School Detachment, 303d Field Artillery, with Second Army in Briev Offensive November 4–11, 1918, discharged May 2, 1919, Major Connecticut National Guard; superintendent industrial service department, Scovill Manufacturing Company, Waterbury, Conn, 1919-20; minister First Congregational Church, Waterbury, 1919 until retirement 1928; author: We Went to War (1939); contributed to periodicals; chaplain Lake Placid Club and Northwood School, Lake Placid, N.Y., 1933-36, director Missionary Society of Connecticut and Connecticut Society for Mental Hygiene, an organizer and State director air-raid warden 'schools, Connecticut Defense Council, 1941-42, on executive committee Visiting Nurse Association, Anti-Tuberculosis League, American Legion, and American Red Cross, all of Waterbury, and Naugatuck Valley Association of Congregational Churches and Ministers; member Masonic order.

Married August 25, 1909, in Pine Orchard, Elizabeth Kilbourne, daughter of Alden March and Ellen (Shepardson) Young Daughter Ellen Shepardson (Vassar ex-'34), the wife of Richard V Fabian, '31 S

Death due to melanotic sarcoma. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife (died January 1, 1945), daughter, two grandchildren, and a brother, Edson F Gallaudet, '93.

## William Browne Hale, B.A. 1898.

Born December 7, 1875, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 18, 1944, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, William Ellery Hale, a manufacturer in Chicago, partner and part owner Hale Elevator Company; son of Benjamin Ellery and Martha Davis Hale of Massachusetts. Mother, Mary Scranton Browne Hale; daughter of Newton Prudden and Mary Elizabeth Prudden Scranton of Milford, Burlington, and Hartford, Conn.

Attended University of Chicago 1894–96. Entered Yale College Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; University Golf Club two years;

member University Club.

Attended Northwestern University Law School 1898-1901 (LL B. 1901) and Harvard University Law School 1901-02 (MA. 1902); admitted to the bar 1901, lawyer in Chicago 1902-44 (partner Wilson & Mc-Ilvaine 1919–44); lecturer on corporation law Northwestern University Law School 1919-20; honorary legal adviser Chinese Consulate, Chicago, 1936-44; author The Law of Private Corporations (1916) and numerous articles in newspapers and law journals, during World War I member Committee on Classification of Personnel in the Army, in charge occupational distribution of the draft, volunteer assistant to director National Defense Council, Washington, 1917-18; attended Peace Conference at Versailles as correspondent Chicago Evening Post, charter member and president Chicago Council on Foreign Relations 1924-25; president Citizens Civil Service Association of Illinois 1939-43; a vice-president National Civil Service Reform League 1941-44, trustee Beloit College 1902-30, a director Yale Club of Chicago 1928-30; member Illinois State Board of Law Examiners, Chicago, Illinois State, and American Bar associations, and South Congregational Church, Chicago

Married June 27, 1912, in Winnetka, Ill, Eunice Dana Follansbee (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1903), daughter of George Alanson Follansbee (B.A. Lawrence Coll 1865, LL B Harvard 1867) and Susan Dana Davis Follansbee. Children George Ellery, '35, William Browne, Jr. (died March 2, 1918); Mary Scranton, the wife of Howard Frank Gillette (B.A. Harvard 1935); Eunice (B.A. Univ. Chicago 1943), and John Ellery (Univ. Virginia)

1943-44)

Death due to coronary occlusion Survived by wife, two sons, daughters, one grandson, and a sister, Martha Hale Harts (B.S. Smith Coll 1896),

the wife of William Wright Harts (B,S. United States Military Academy 1889) of Madison, Conn.

#### Carleton Coffin Jones, B.A. 1898.

Born September 20, 1876, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa. Died July 7, 1943, in Glen Summit, Pa.

Father, Rev Henry Lawrence Jones, ST.D (BA Columbia 1858, M.A. 1861), rector St. Stephen's Church, Wilkes-Barre; son of Rev Lot Jones, DD. (B.A Bowdoin Coll. 1821, M.A. 1824), and Lucy Ann (Bullard) Jones of New York City. Mother, Sarah Eastman (Coffin) Jones; daughter of Samuel and Harriet (Eastman) Coffin of Concord, NH

Highland Military Academy, Worcester, Mass Second colloquy appointment Junior year; Class football and basketball teams Senior year, member Freshman Glee Club.

Clerk Miners Savings Bank (later Miners Bank of Wilkes-Barre) 1800-1906, trust officer 1906-15, president Haddock Mining Company, mining and selling anthracite coal, 1915–17, engaged in real-estate and insurance business, Wilkes-Barre, 1919–43; enlisted May 4, 1898, Corporal Platoon C, Battery A, Connecticut Light Artillery; discharged October 25, 1808; First Lieutenant and Battalion Adjutant, 9th Regiment Infantry, Pennsylvania National Guard, July, 1900, Captain and Regimental Adjutant 1903, Major and Ordnance Officer, 3d Brigade, April 21, 1906; called into federal service June 16, 1917; attended School of Musketry, Fort Sill, and 7th Infantry Company, RO.T.C, Fort Myer; commissioned First Lieutenant, Air Service, November 17, 1917, and Captain November 6, 1918; overseas December 3, 1917—July 29, 1919; attached to 43d and 69th Corps of Observers, Fifth French Army Corps, January-February, 1918, 12th Field Artillery, 2d U.S. Division, Le Valdehon, March, 3d Balloon Squadron April-June, Balloon Group, Fifth Army Corps, July-November, Balloon Wing, Second Army, Toul, December, 1918—April, 1919, and Third Army, Coblenz, April–July, 1919; took part in engagements at Aisne front between Soissons and Rheims, Toul Sector, St.-Mihiel, and Meuse-Argonne, discharged August 17, 1919; member Yale Alumni Association of the Wyoming Valley, Wilkes-Barre-Wyoming Valley Chamber of Commerce, United Spanish War Veterans, Veteran Corps 9th Infantry Pennsylvania National Guard, American Legion, Concordia Society, Masonic order, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Kingston, Pa

Married October 2, 1906, in Glen Summit, Mabel, daughter of John Courtney and Jennie (De Wolfe) Haddock. Children. Katharine Carleton, the wife of Samuel Thompson Buckman (B.A. Cornell 1926, MD Univ Pennsylvania 1930), and Carleton Haddock.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Oaklawn Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre. Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. James Pryor Williamson of Pinehurst, NC, and a brother, Lawrence B Jones, '94. Another brother, Paul Jones, '02,' died in 1941.

# John Treadwell Norton, Jr., B.A. 1898.

Born July 18, 1878, in London, England. Died October 27, 1943, in Albany, N.Y.

Father, John Treadwell Norton (LL B Union Univ. [Albany] 1872), a lawyer in Albany, commissioner for one of the Paris expositions and for World's Columbian Exposition, Chicago, 1893; son of John Pitkin Norton (MA Hon 1846) and Elizabeth Pepoon (Marvin) Norton of New York City Mother, Mary Louise (De Witt) Norton; daughter of Clinton and Elsie (Van Dyck) De Witt of New York City. Yale relatives include: William L. Learned (B.A. 1841), Edward Norton (B.A. 1844), and Charles L Norton (BA. 1859) (great-uncles).

Albany Academy. Honor division Freshman year; oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment and two-year honors in natural sciences Senior year, member University Club, Zeta Psi, Phi Beta Kappa, and Sigma Xi Attended Yale Graduate School 1898–1900 (Ph.D. 1901, laboratory assistant in chemistry 1898–1900).

Chemist with Booth, Garrett & Blair, analytical and engineering chemists, Philadelphia, 1900–18 (member firm 1905–18), with Ludlum Steel Company (later Allegheny-Ludlum Steel Corporation) Watervliet, NY., 1919–43 (chief chemist 1920–43), in 1926 went to France to investigate a new process of hardening steel and was instrumental in developing its use in United States, commissioned Captain, Ordnance Department, July 26, 1918, assigned to Artillery Ammunition Section, Engineering Division, Washington, transferred to Ford Motor Company, Detroit, August, 1918; in charge light armor plate for tanks until discharge December 21, 1918; on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York 1928–29, member American Chemical Society, American Institute of Chemists, and St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Albany.

Unmarried

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery. Survived by two sisters, Mrs Norton Pettit of Albany and Katharine Norton Holsman, the wife of Gerald Holsman (B.S. Univ Pennsylvania 1886) of Philadelphia, and two nieces, Mary De Witt Pettit (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1928; M.D. Univ Pennsylvania 1932) of Albany, and Miss Mary Markoe Holsman of Philadelphia

# Harold Sylvester Recknagel, B.A. 1898.

Born June 5, 1876, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died November 8, 1943, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, John Hermann Recknagel, senior partner J. H. Recknagel & Son, coffee and spices, New York City; son of Carl L and Elise (Loening) Recknagel of Brooklyn. Mother, Marie (Westermann) Recknagel; daughter of Bernhard and Johanna (Braasch) Westermann of Brooklyn.

Brooklyn Polytechnic Institute and Cornwall Heights (N Y.) School. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; member Yale Union. Attended Columbia University School of Law 1898–1901 (LL.B 1901),

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1898–1901 (LL.B 1901), admitted to the bar 1900; with J. H. Recknagel & Son 1901–02; lawyer in New York City 1902–43 (with Curtis, Mallet-Prevost & Colt 1902–03 and Nadal & Carrère 1903–11; supervising attorney claims department Fidelity & Casualty Company of New York 1911–43), president New York Claim Association 1917–19 and member executive committee 1917–43, secretary Metropolitan Claim Conference 1933–43; on arbitration committee National Bureau of Casualty & Surety Companies 1933–43; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York County Lawyers Association, and Brooklyn Society of the New Church (president 1936–40).

Married April 15, 1909, in Brooklyn, Amy Rea, daughter of Edward Ellery and Alice (Hildebrand) Estes. Children Alice Elizabeth (grad Cambridge School of Architecture and Landscape Architecture 1935), the wife of Henry Tillinghast Ireys, 3d (B S. Virginia Military Inst. 1921), and Catherine Elise (B.A. Smith Coll. 1936), the wife of George Hardcastle Ropes (B S. Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1933).

Death due to uremic poisoning Buried in Prospect Cemetery, Bridgewater, Mass. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, two brothers, Carl Louis Recknagel of Brooklyn and A. Bernard Recknagel, '04, and two half sisters, Mrs. Wiley Evans of Bronxville, N.Y, and Mrs. Henry Stege of Darien, Conn.

#### John Wilson Walsh, B.A. 1898.

Born April 19, 1877, in Chicago, Ill Died May 21, 1944, in Bloomington, Ill.

Father, John Richard Walsh, a banker in Chicago; president Southern Indiana Railway Company; son of Richard and Ellen (Crowley) Walsh of Chicago. Mother, Mary Louise (Wilson) Walsh, daughter of John and

Mary (Thompson) Wilson of Chicago. Yale relatives include: Richard W. Walsh, '01 (brother), and Orville E. Babcock, Jr, ex-'35, and Bruce Babcock, '36 (nephews).

Harvard School, Chicago Honor division Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year; Apollo Banjo Club Sophomore year; University Banjo Club Junior and Senior years; member University Club, University Yacht Club, and Alpha Delta Phi

Associated with Southern Indiana Railway Company, Chicago, 1898–1910 (vice-president 1901–10), president Illinois Southern Railway Company, Chicago, 1901–10, and vice-president in St Louis, 1910 until retirement 1921, member St. Chrysostom's Church (Episcopal), Chicago.

Married October 24, 1900, in Chicago, Ida Belle, daughter of William and Mary Isabella (Phillips) Moseback. Children: Phyllis, the wife of John Arthur Barclay (B A Univ Cambridge 1914); Ann Elizabeth, the wife of Roy Leonard Flannery (B S. Dartmouth Coll 1927); and John Paxton (Class of 1940).

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Oakwoods Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Miss Mary Walsh of Chicago and Ellen Walsh Babcock, the wife of Orville E. Babcock, '94 S.

# Joseph Edmund Bulkley, B.A. 1899.

Born December 4, 1876, in Germantown, Pa Died November 29, 1943, in Old Lyme, Conn.

Father, Justus Lawrence Bulkley, a wholesale leather merchant in New York City, son of Joseph Edmund and Mary Lawrence Bicknell Bulkley of New York City Mother, Laura Emmot (Caldwell) Bulkley.

Private tutor Member Yale Gun Club (captain Senior year), University Club, and Psi Upsilon.

Associated with Cuyler, Morgan & Company, bankers, New York City, 1899–1903; studied law in New York City 1903–06; admitted to the bar 1906, lawyer in New York City 1906 until retirement about 1918; assistant attorney Committee on Grievances Association of the Bar of the City of New York 1909–11, moved to Old Lyme 1918; interested in agriculture and hunting and contributed several articles on shooting to *Forest and Stream*, on Old Lyme Defense Council and chairman Salvage Committee; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, American Bison Society, and Episcopal church

Married November 24, 1916, in New York City, Sarah Jennings Powers Adopted daughter Marjorie Baldwin, the wife of William Irving Patrick (Princeton ex-'41). Mrs. Bulkley died November 29, 1943

Took his own life. Ashes to be interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by daughter.

# Thomas Wells Farnam, B.A. 1899.

Born June 23, 1877, in Litchfield, Conn Died August 3, 1943, in Holderness, NH

Father, George B. Farnam (M.D 1869) Mother, Caroline (Wells) Farnam Yale relatives include. Elnathan Whitman (B A. 1726) and Samuel Whitman (B A. 1735) (great-great-great-great-uncles), Henry Farnam (M A. Hon. 1871) (grandfather); Thomas B. Wells (B A. 1859), William W. Farnam (B A. 1866), Charles H. Farnam (B A. 1868), Eli Whitney (B A. 1869), and Henry W. Farnam (B.A. 1874) (uncles); Elizabeth K. Farnam, '84 Art Cert. (aunt), Henry Farnam, '95, George B. Farnam, '97, and Tracy Farnam, ex-'11 M. (brothers), Thomas W. Stiles, '79, Anne F. Woodward, ex-'89 Art, Frederick B. Wells, ex-'93 S., Charles H. Farnam, '95 S., Thomas B. Wells, '96, Anne W. Debevoise, ex-'97 Art, Louise F. Wilson (Ph. D. 1916, M. D. 1920), and Henry W. Farnam, Jr., ex-'17 (cousins), George Bronson Farnam, '36, and Frederick Z. B. Farnam, '38 (nephews), Malcolm Oakes, '20 S., Eli Whitney Debevoise, '21, and William F. Sanford, '28 (grandnephews).

Milton (Mass) Academy and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Member University Club, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Associated with his classmate, Louis E Stoddard, in manufacture of tile, New York City, 1899–1901; member F. S Butterworth [Frank S., '95] & Company, brokers, New Haven, Conn., 1901-10; vice-president City Bank of New Haven 1910-11 and president 1911-15, first vice-president New Haven Bank, N B.A, 1915-19; vice-president Marlin-Rockwell Corporation, New Haven and Plainville, Conn., assistant Federal food administrator for Connecticut October, 1917—September, 1918, on executive committee New Haven War Bureau, Connecticut State Council of Defense, 1918, associate director American Red Cross supply service, Washington, and director April 1-July 1, 1917, American Red Cross Commissioner to Serbia (assimilated rank of Lieutenant Colonel) in charge of relief and hospitals, with headquarters in Belgrade, September 25, 1918— June 22, 1919, Alumni Fellow Yale Corporation 1919–22; acting secretary -Yale University 1920 and 1921–23, associate treasurer 1921–22, associate treasurer and comptroller 1922-42, associate treasurer and comptroller retired 1942-43, member Committee on Finance, Committee on Architectural Plan, Committee on Buildings and Grounds, and Gymnasium Committee; trustee Sheffield Scientific School 1930–42 (treasurer of the board);

vice-chairman executive committee Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926-28 and New Haven State chairman for New England division; member Incorporators Yale Laboratories of Primate Biology 1935; secretary Yale University Press 1922-38; treasurer Yale Library Associates 1941-43; member executive committee Yale Botanical Gardens 1932-38, president New Haven Community Chest 1924 (a director and chairman executive committee 1920-32 and vice-chairman 1932-38), chairman New Haven chapter American Red Cross 1917–43; member finance committee New Haven Dispensary 1917–43 and executive committee New Haven Hospital 1915-43 (chairman 1929-43); MA Hon. Yale 1919; awarded Order of Saint Sava (second class) by Serbian government 1919 and Order of King Peter by Serbian Red Cross 1919, awarded Class of 1899 Certificate of Service Delivered to War Veterans (1922); an incorporator and first vicepresident Civic Federation of New Haven 1918; Director New Haven Civilian Defense Council 1941–42; director Federal Reserve Bank of Boston 1917-19 and New Haven Chamber of Commerce, on executive committee New Haven Welfare Group and Connecticut Plan for Hospital Care, Inc , member New Haven Board of Finance 1911-19, Committee on New Haven Tercentenary 1937; chairman Class of 1899 Reunion Committee, on board of governors Mory's Association, Inc, 1933-40; member Aero Club of Connecticut and The Aurelian Honor Society (1933); associate fellow Davenport College (Yale University) 1933-43

Unmarried.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Jerome Herman Buck, B.A. 1900.

Born November 29, 1877, in Albany, N.Y. Died October 28, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Herman Bochlowitz, president Riverside Knitting Mills, Cohoes, N.Y. Mother, Harriet (Ehrich) Bochlowitz; daughter of Joseph and Rebecca (Sporborg) Ehrich of Albany. Yale relatives include: Louis R. Ehrich (B.A. 1869) (uncle); and Manfred W. Ehrich, '98, Walter L. Ehrich, '99 S, William J Ehrich, '00 S, and Harold L. Ehrich, ex-'02 (cousins).

Albany High School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, two-year honors in history Senior year; member Freshman Union.

Attended New York Law School 1900–02 (LL.B. cum laude 1902); admitted to the bar 1902; lawyer in New York City 1902 until retirement 1935 (associated with James, Schell & Elkus 1902–03 and Edmund A Alexander 1903–08); vice-president Sixth Avenue–Twenty-Third Street

Corporation; treasurer Rector Chemical Company and Ocean View Development Corporation; secretary Stuyvesant Neighborhood Settlement House; member legal committee United Neighborhood House; established and conducted a free civil service school, New York City; confidential assistant, chemical section, Council of National Defense, 1918, member Community Church, New York City.

Married October 31, 1939, in New York City, Eva Joseph Sarner (B.A.

Vassar 1907), daughter of Charles and Lizzie K Joseph.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Beth Emeth Cemetery, Albany. Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Ada Harriet Buck of Albany, and a stepdaughter, Frances Marie Sarner Zirkin (B.A Wellesley Coll 1934), the wife of Harold Zirkin of Washington, DC

#### William Beck Hills, B.A. 1900.

Born May 4, 1873, in Orange, N.J. Died July 18, 1943, in Orange, N.J.

Parents, John Penn and Martha (Cusack) Hills

Peddie School, Hightstown, N.J. First colloquy appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year Attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1900–02 (certificate 1903).

With his partner, George E Westcott, ex-'02 Art, contributed comic strips to several New York newspapers 1902-04, draftsman Dehli & Howard, architects, New York City, 1904-06 and Mowbray & Uffinger 1906-07, secretary of religious education West Side Young Men's Christian Association, New York City, 1907-10, special clerk Colgate & Company, perfumes and soaps, New York City and Jersey City, N J, 1924 until retirement several years ago; member North Orange (N.J.) Baptist Church

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange. Survived by a sister, Miss Elizabeth H Hills of Orange, and his ward, Rudolph L. Tulloch, '25.

#### Alexander Louis McKenzie, B.A. 1900.

Born August 28, 1872, in Wareham, Mass Died August 25, 1943, in Norwood, Mass

Father, John McKenzie, a worker in wrought iron with Franconia Iron Company, Wareham; son of Kenneth and Annie (MacRae) McKenzie of

Gairloch, Scotland. Mother, Margaret May (McDonald) McKenzie; daughter of Donald and Margaret (Morrison) McDonald of Bras d'Or, Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Second dispute appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year Attended Yale Divinity

School 1900-02 (BD. 1902)

Ordained in Congregational Church Wallingford, Vt., and minister there 1902–06; minister Union Congregational Church, Winthrop, Mass., 1906–11 and United Church, Walpole, Mass., 1911–25; Eastern sales manager and manager Boston bookstore The Pilgrim Press 1925–41 and 1942–43; supply minister 1941–42, president Yale Divinity School Alumni Association of Eastern Massachusetts 1929–30, member Suffolk South Association of Congregational Ministers, Boston Congregational Club, Boston Pilgrim Club, Young Men's Congregational Club of Boston, Masonic order, and United Church, Walpole.

Married July 23, 1902, in Wareham, Sophia Matilda Hammond (Oberlin Coll ex-'97), daughter of Arthur Hathaway and Sophia (Savery) Ham-

mond No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Maple Grove Cemetery, Walpole. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Elizabeth M. McLeod of Bucklaw, Cape Breton Island.

#### William Redfield Proctor Malony, B.A. 1900.

Born August 2, 1873, in Starkey, N.Y. Died May 20, 1944, in Dundee, N.Y.

Father, John Montgomery Malony (M.D. Georgetown Univ. 1870), a physician and surgeon in Dundee; coroner and health officer, son of James and Margaret (Harrington) Malony of Proctorsville, Vt. Mother, Josephine (Huson) Malony, daughter of William Henry and May Emma (Reed) Huson of Burdett, N.Y.

Starkey Seminary, Eddytown, NY Oration appointment Junior and Senior years

Successively clerk United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of the Census, United States Post Office Department, Washington, D.C., and Department of Commerce and Labor, Immigration Service, New York City, 1900–05, attended Georgetown University School of Law 1900–04 (LL B 1903, LL M 1904; member Delta Chi), admitted to New York and Washington bars 1904 and to practice before Supreme Court of United States 1926, lawyer in New York City 1905–25; in office Pratt [Addison S.,

'96] & Koehler [Jerome H, '98] 1905–08; trial attorney Brooklyn Rapid Transit Company 1908–11; with Ocean Accident & Guarantee Corporation, Ltd., 1911–13, assistant attorney Third Avenue Railway System 1911–25; superintendent of licenses New York State Department of Agriculture 1913–16; lawyer in West Palm Beach, Fla, 1925–30 and Dundee 1930–44; member Masonic order and Grace Church (Episcopal), Dundee.

Married (1) August 4, 1908, in Brooklyn, N.Y, Alberta Morgan Reeves (George Washington Univ. ex-'06) daughter of John George and America (Morgan) Reeves. No children. Mrs. Malony died November 1, 1942. Married (2) September 30, 1943, in Watkins Glen, NY, Madeline Fenno Hall, daughter of Zeph and Carrie Ellen (Hopson) Fenno

Death due to coronary embolus Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Dundee. Survived by wife, two sisters, Mrs. Emma M Northrup of Dundee and Laura M. Hazen, the wife of John Livermore Hazen (MD. Univ Buffalo 1898) of Brockport, N.Y, and two brothers, Frederick F. Malony, 'oi M, and Major General Harry J. Malony, ex-'11 (B.S. United States Military Academy 1912). Another brother, John C. Malony, '10 M., died in 1915

# Charlton Brice Thompson, B.A. 1900.

Born March 3, 1879, in Covington, Ky. Died February 25, 1944, in Covington, Ky.

Father, Maurice deKay Thompson, a broker in Covington, son of William von Beverhaut Thompson. Mother, Jennie (Burdsall) Thompson, daughter of Elijah and Lucy (Leathers) Burdsall of Covington

Private tutor, Covington. First dispute appointment and second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; dissertation appointment, David C. De-Forest Prize, and two-year honors in political science and law Senior year, a Class historian; member Freshman Union.

Attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1900–03 (LL B. 1903; member Alpha Delta Phi); admitted to the bar 1903, lawyer in Covington 1903–44; city referee in bankruptcy 1905–07; representative State Legislature 1911; district internal revenue collector 1913–19; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Covington

Married June 25, 1905, in Fort Thomas, Ky, Hallé, daughter of Harry and Katheryn (Carrick) Southgate No children

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Highland Cemetery, Covington Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Jane T. Kennedy of Denver, Colo, and two brothers, Bayard Paul Thompson of South Fort Mitchell, Ky, and Maurice deKay Thompson of Boston, Mass.

#### Frederick Beltz, B.A. 1901.

Born August 3, 1878, in New York City. Died June 16, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Frederick Beltz (LL.B. New York Univ. 1880), a lawyer in New York City; son of William and Christina Beltz of New York City, and Riverside, Conn. Mother, Kazia Louisa (Hall) Beltz; daughter of Joseph and Eliza (Storey) Hall of New York City. Yale relatives include two cousins, J. Willet Hall, '95 S, and Thomas H. Hall, ex-'98 S.

King School, Stamford, Conn. Second colloquy appointment Senior

year; Freshman Glee Club; College Choir Senior year.

Attended New York Law School 1901–03 (LL.B. 1903); admitted to the bar 1903, lawyer in New York City 1903–44; associated with Turner, Rolston & Horan and its successors Geller, Rolston & Horan, Geller, Rolston & Blanc, Taylor, Blanc, Capron & Marsh, Mitchell [William D, '94 S], Taylor, Capron & Marsh, and Mitchell, Capron, Marsh, Angulo & Cooney, Second Lieutenant Squadron A, 51st Machine Gun Squadron, and 101st Cavalry, New York National Guard, 1918–33, Supply Officer 2d Battalion 1942–44; member Church of the Transfiguration (Episcopal), New York City.

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Putnam Cemetery, Greenwich, Conn Survived by a sister, Elise Beltz Brown, the widow of George L. Brown, '98 S, of Sarasota, Fla.

# James Leonard Boyce, B.A. 1901.

Born June 3, 1879, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 9, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, S Leonard Boyce, '73. Mother, Helen Isabel (Adams) Boyce Harvard School, Chicago, and Phillips-Andover Freshman Baseball Team; Class cup committee Senior year; member University Club and Psi Upsilon

Attended Harvard Law School 1901–04; owner of a fruit farm in Hamilton, Mont, 1909–16; due to ill-health had not been occupied for many years before his death

Married December 17, 1915, in Chicago, Bertha, daughter of John Wurts, '78, and Florence (La Tourette) Wurts, great-great-great-granddaughter of William Livingston (BA. 1741), great-great-granddaughter of Peter A. Jay (MA. Hon. 1798), and sister of John C. Wurts, ex-'00 S, and Eleanor W Wallace, ex-'07 Art. No children.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife and a sister, Elisabeth Boyce Gilbert (BA Vassar Coll. 1914) of Kenilworth, Ill.

## Lacey Davis Caskey, B.A. 1901.

Born October 22, 1880, in Honesdale, Pa Died May 20, 1944, in Boston, Mass

Father, Rev. Taliaferro F. Caskey, D.D (BA 1865) Mother, Phoebe

(Lacey) Caskey

Franklin College, Dresden, Germany First Berkeley Premium for Latin Composition Freshman year, third Freshman scholar and first Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; one-year honors in ancient languages Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1901–02 (Ph D. 1912) and American School of Classical Studies at Athens 1902–04 (fellow of the school 1902–03).

Instructor in Greek and Latin Yale University 1904–05, secretary American School of Classical Studies at Athens 1905–08; assistant curator classical antiquities Museum of Fine Arts, Boston, 1908–12 and curator 1912–44, instructor in Greek sculpture Wellesley College 1910–11, assistant in history Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1914–18, author Geometry of Greek Vases (1922), A Catalogue of Greek and Roman Sculpture (1925), and a volume on Attic vase paintings in the Boston Museum of Fine Arts (1931); contributed numerous articles on archeological subjects to American and foreign periodicals, corresponding member Archaologisches Institut des Deutschen Reichs, member Archeological Institute of America, Classical Association of New England, and Episcopal church.

Survived by wife and a son, John Langdon Caskey, '31

## Eugene Newton Curtis, B.A. 1901.

Born June 23, 1880, in White Plains, NY. Died April 20, 1944, in Baltimore, Md

Father, Newton Freeman Curtis (B A. Bowdoin 1871, M D Columbia 1874), a physician in White Plains; son of Jacob and Rebecca Sears (Freeman) Curtis of Hampden, Maine. Mother, Gertrude Isadora (Preudhomme) Curtis; daughter of Eugene Theodore and Pernetta (Bennett) Preudhomme of White Plains.

Halsey School, New York City, and Phillips-Andover. Honors in English composition Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior year, high

oration appointment Senior year; secretary and treasurer Berkeley Associa-

tion Junior year, president Senior year.

Attended Episcopal Theological School 1901-04 (B.D. 1904), Harvard Graduate School 1902-04 (M.A. 1904), University of Paris 1912-14, University of Munich 1914, and Columbia University 1914–15 (Ph.D. 1917); ordained deacon in Episcopal church, White Plains, May 29, 1904, and priest in Cathedral of St John the Divine, New York City, June 18, 1905; curate Church of the Holy Trinity, New York City, 1904-06 and Calvary Church, Summit, N J, 1906-10, rector St Thomas' Church, Newark, N J, 1910–12, instructor in history University of Wisconsin 1915–17; assistant professor of history Goucher College 1917-19, associate professor 1919-20, professor 1920-44, acting dean 1919-21, and chairman history department 1921-29, 1935-37, 1943-44; professor of history, evening classes, College for Teachers, Johns Hopkins University, 1930–43, author The French Assembly of 1848 and American Constitutional Doctrines (1918) and Saint-Just Colleague of Robespierre (1935); reviewer of French, German, and Italian historical journals for American Historical Review about 1921-33; contributed articles and reviews to Journal of Modern History and Historical Outlook, executive secretary Maryland committee American Historical Association Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; member Maryland History Teachers Association (on board of governors 1921-25) and Société d'Histoire de la Révolution de 1848.

Married September 16, 1913, in Paris, France, Blanche O'Neill Green, daughter of William Franklin and Ellen Louise (Hunt) O'Neill. No children

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Druid Ridge Cemetery, Baltimore Survived by wife, a stepson, Franklin O'Neill Curtis (B.S. Haverford Coll. 1926), three step-grandchildren, and a sister, Gertrude C. Billings (B A Smith Coll 1903), the wife of Franklin Swift Billings, LL D (B A Harvard 1885), of Woodstock, Vt.

## Clifford Greene, B.A. 1901.

Born October 28, 1877, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died April 7, 1944, in Santa Barbara, Calif.

Father, Lewis Henry Greene of Cincinnati; a merchant; son of Caleb Barton and Sarah Elma (James) Greene of Cincinnati. Mother, Nellie Washington (Peel) Greene; daughter of Samuel and Damaris (Baker) Peel of Cincinnati.

Franklın School, Cıncınnatı.

Engaged in business in Los Angeles and Ojai, Calif, 1901-02, with Walter L Haldy Company, wholesale leather dealers, Cincinnati, 1902-05;

president and treasurer Cincinnati Ball Crank Company, manufacturers of automobile and machine tool parts, 1905 until retirement 1929; since retirement had resided in Santa Barbara; member All Saints-by-the-Sea Church (Episcopal), Santa Barbara.

Married September 26, 1914, in New York City, Elaine, daughter of Frank Augustus and Lillian (Blinn) Lee. Children. Peter Stetson, '38, and Clifford Lee, '12, Mar. Canada La David Lee, Children and La David Lee, Children and La David Lee, Children and Lee, '12, Mar. Canada La David Lee, Children and La David Lee, Children and La David Lee, '12, Mar. Canada La David Lee, Children and La David Lee, '12, Mar. Canada La David Lee, Children and La Lee, '13, Mar. Canada La David Lee, '14, Mar. Canada La David Lee, '15, Mar. Can

Clifford, Jr., '41. Mrs. Greene died December 29, 1943.

Death due to acute cardiac failure. Buried in Santa Barbara Cemetery Survived by sons.

#### Warren Jacob Hoysradt, B.A. 1901.

Born December 7, 1878, in Hudson, NY Died February 1, 1944, in Bronxville, NY.

Father, Jacob Warren Hoysradt, president Hudson Iron Company; member New York Senate. Mother, Caroline Lucinda (McArthur) Hoysradt; daughter of Charles and Lucinda McArthur of Hudson. Yale relatives include a brother, Albert Hoysradt, '77.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Manager University Hockey Team Senior year, on board Yale Daily News Junior and Senior years; Senior Promenade Committee, member Eta Phi, Alpha Delta Phi, and Skull and Bones.

Employed in New York City 1901–44; with W. & J Sloane, carpets and rugs, 1901–12; in charge bond department Guaranty Trust Company of New York 1912–15 and White, Weld & Company 1915–16, in charge New York office Stacy & Braun, investment bonds, 1916–23, and partner 1920–23; a vice-president and office manager The Detroit Company, Inc. (bond department Detroit Trust Company), 1923 to 1930 when it consolidated with First Detroit Company, Inc., and later became First of Michigan Corporation, investment bankers, 1930–43; salesman F. S Moseley & Company, investment bankers, 1943–44; trustee Village of Bronxville; vice-president Holland Society of New York 1941–44 (trustee 1942–44), member alumni advisory board and later alumni trustee The Hotchkiss School 1923–29; became president Municipal Bond Club of New York in 1932, member Bankers Club of New York and Christ Church (Episcopal), Bronxville.

Married September 23, 1903, in Gettysburg, Pa., Ethel Swope, daughter of Rev. Edmund Jacob Wolf, D D (B.A. Gettysburg Coll 1863), and Ella (Kemp) Wolf. Children: John McArthur, '26, Eleanor Kemp (Mrs. Hoysradt Davenport), and Caroline Lucinda (B A. Vassar 1934), the wife of T. Edward Hambleton, '34

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Hudson City Cemetery Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and a sister, Florence H. Ross-

man, the wife of Clark Green Rossman (C.E. Cornell 1893; M.D. Columbia 1896) of Hudson.

#### Edward Easton, B.A. 1902.

Born April 1, 1880, in Albany, N.Y. Died September 29, 1943, in Albany, N.Y.

Father, Edward Easton, a wholesale lumber merchant in Albany; son of Charles Patterson and Mary (Boyd) Easton of Albany. Mother, Sarah Frances (Jones) Easton; daughter of Isaac and Elizabeth (Poincer) Jones of Albany.

Albany Academy. Substitute Freshman Hockey Team, captain Class baseball team Senior year, Ivy Committee; member Alpha Delta Phi.

Attended Albany Law School, Union University, 1902–04 (LL.B. 1904; member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to the bar 1904; lawyer in Albany 1904–43 (member Easton & Staley 1909–12), clerk Albany Municipal Civil Service Commission 1906–07 and secretary 1912–15; second assistant corporation counsel of Albany 1908; assistant director U.S. Employment Service, Boys' Working Reserve, Labor Department, Washington, 1917–19; judge Recorder's Court, Albany, 1919–21; president Young Men's Republican Club 1911–15, chairman Albany County Republican Committee 1924–28; on board of commissioners Albany Water Supply 1926–35 and committee for acquisition of land for additional water supply for New York City 1939–40; member advisory board No. 347 Albany County Selective Service, World War II, on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Northeastern New York (vice-president 1925, president 1926, 1936–38); charter member Dutch Settlers Society of Albany; member Sons of the Revolution, Masonic order, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Albany

Married June 8, 1904, in Albany, Martha Van Antwerp, daughter of Josiah Rumball and Kate (Van Antwerp) Stanton Children: Kate Van Antwerp (B A Wellesley Coll 1925), the wife of Ten Eyck Bronk Powell (Cornell ex-'25), Edward, Jr, '29 S; John Van Antwerp, ex-'31; Mary Boyd, the wife of Giles Van der Bogert (B A. Williams Coll. 1930; B.Arch. Univ. Pennsylvania 1934); Elcy Noble, the wife of George Dietz Garrett, Jr (B A Dartmouth Coll. 1930), Edith (Wellesley Coll. ex-'34), the wife of Artemas Lawrance Holmes (Princeton ex-'36); and Rufus, '37 S.

Death due to peritonitis Survived by wife, children, fifteen grandchildren, mother, three sisters, Mrs. Edith E. Miller of Albany, Mrs. Mary E. Thompson of Buffalo, and Miss Lillian Easton of Niagara Falls, and five brothers, Roland Jones Easton of Albany, Arthur Boyd Easton (Dartmouth ex-'13) and Robert Poineer Easton, both of Niagara Falls, and William Easton, '16 S, and Conde P. Easton, ex-'18.

## James Lester Goodwin, B.A. 1902.

Born January 12, 1880, in Hartford, Conn Died January 28, 1944, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Lester Henry Goodwin, a druggist in Hartford; associated with Goodwin Drug Company; son of Henry Augustus and Louisa (Hubbard) Goodwin of Hartford. Mother, Esther (Campbell) Goodwin, daughter of James and Esther (Griswold) Campbell of North Manchester, Conn Yale relatives include: James Campbell (M.A. Hon 1891) (uncle), and Ernest Campbell, '93 L., Frederic W. Campbell, '02, and James N H Campbell, '03 (cousins).

Hartford Public High School. Dissertation appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year; Ivy Committee, member Eta Phi and Alpha Delta Phi.

Salesman in Providence, R.I., office American Brass Company 1902-04, engaged in settling his father's estate and secretary Goodwin Drug Company 1904-05; with Whitlock Coil Pipe Company (later Whitlock Manufacturing Company), manufacturers and engineers of boiler room equipment, Hartford, 1906-44 (assistant treasurer 1908-11, general manager 1911-21, vice-president and treasurer 1921-25, and president 1925-44); president Manufacturers Association of Hartford County 1923-26, Newington Home for Crippled Children 1926-34, and Hartford Community Chest 1927 (vice-president in charge campaign committees, director 1935, director at large 1939); director Hartford Hospital (chairman executive committee 1931-42), American School for the Deaf at Hartford, North Street Settlement, and Association of Community Chests and Councils, New York City; member Yale Alumni Association of Hartford, Manufacturers Association of Connecticut (chairman budget committee), American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Asylum Hill Congregational Church, Hartford.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Cleaveland Floyd of Boston, Mass., and a brother, Howard Goodwin, 'o6

# William Alvin Higgins, B.A. 1902.

Born January 30, 1876, in Flemington, N.J. Died January 8, 1944, in Atlanta, Ga

Father, Vandevere Higgins, a farmer in Flemington Mother, Mary (Merrell) Higgins. Yale relatives include a cousin, Asa S Merrell, '10 S

Peddie School, Hightstown, N.J First colloquy appointment Junior

year, second dispute appointment Senior year.

In actuarial department New York Life Insurance Company, New York City, 1902–06, actuary American Life Insurance Company, Lynchburg, Va, 1906–10 and Southern Life & Trust Company, Greensboro, SC, 1910–14, resided in Atlanta 1914–44; deputy insurance commissioner State of Georgia 1914–18; independently engaged as consulting actuary, Atlanta, 1918–23, an organizer in 1923 and partner Atlanta Home Company, real estate and mortgage loans, member Actuarial Society of America.

Married November 26, 1907, in Lynchburg, Louise Page, daughter of Charles Camm (Coll of William and Mary ex-1869). Children. William

Waller and Louise Page

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Ashes interred in Macon, Ga. Survived by wife and children.

#### George Washington Hitner, B.A. 1902.

Born December 25, 1879, in Pottstown, Pa. Died March 11, 1944, in Asheboro, N.C.

Father, Henry Clay Hitner (Dickinson Coll. ex-1861), treasurer Potts Brothers Iron Company, Pottstown; son of George Washington and Eliza (Kennedy) Hitner of Carlisle, Pa. Mother, Anna Gould (Meigs) Hitner; daughter of Rev Matthew Kughler Meigs, D.D., LL.D. (B.A Union Coll. [N.Y] 1836, Union Theological Seminary 1837–39; Ph D. Hon. Lafayette Coll 1868), and Mary Moulton (Gould) Meigs of Pottstown. Yale relatives include John Meigs (M.A. Hon. 1908) (uncle); and Dwight R. Meigs, '07 (cousin).

The Hill School, Pottstown. High oration appointment Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; chairman deputation committee Y M C A. Junior year, member University Club, Phi Gamma Delta, and

Phi Beta Kappa

Instructor in Greek Castle School, Syracuse, N.Y, 1902–03 and in mathematics and German The Hill School 1903 until retirement 1942 because of ill-health (member executive committee 1911–30, registrar 1916–30, on medical and curriculum committees 1923–35 and scholarships committee 1923–36), studied German at Harvard summer 1903 and in Germany summer 1904, member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Pottstown

Married June 28, 1906, in Titusville, Pa, Grace Deborah, daughter of Burton Fisher and Helen Maria (Bartlett) Edwards. Son: John Meigs, '34.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Ashes interred in Edgewood Cemetery, Pottstown. Survived by wife, son, a granddaughter, and a sister, Miss Eunice York Hitner of New York City

## Howard Donald Humiston, B.A. 1902.

Born April 12, 1878, in Chicago, Ill. Died July 21, 1943, in Provincetown, Mass.

Father, Ransom Franklin Humiston (B.A Western Reserve Univ 1857), professor of chemistry Western Reserve University. Mother, Harriet Anne (Sheumacker) Humiston

Minneapolis (Minn) High School. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club; Sophomore Choir; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore and Junior years Attended Yale School of Law 1902–04 (LL B

1904; member Corbey Court).

Associated with an abstract company in Pittsburgh 1904–05, admitted to the bar 1906; managing clerk Brooks & Eckley, lawyers, New York City, 1906; member Humiston & Hincks 1906–08 and Humiston, Olcott [Herman P., '01] & Hincks and its successor, Humiston & Olcott, 1908–16, practiced independently in New York City 1917–27; due to ill-health had spent much time at Mt. Dora, Fla, in recent years

Married June 8, 1911, in Lima, Peru, Mary Grace Winterton Quackenbos, daughter of Adoniram Judson and Isabel L. Winterton. No children

Death due to capillary bronchitis. Ashes interred in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston. Survived by wife.

#### Robert Elias Bond, B.A. 1903.

Born February 15, 1880, in Kohala, Hawaii. Died October 19, 1943, in Berkeley, Calif.

Father, Elias Cornelius Bond, a sugar planter and manufacturer in Kohala; son of Rev. Elias Bond, D.D. (B.A. Bowdoin 1837, grad. Bangor Theological Seminary 1840), and Ellen Mariner (Howell) Bond of Kohala. Mother, Alice Roll (Moyle) Bond; daughter of James William and Angeline Stevenson (Hughes) Moyle. Yale relatives include an uncle, William L. Bond, '75.

Sedgewick School, Great Barrington, Mass, and Lawrenceville (N J) School Substitute coxswain Freshman Crew; College Choir Freshman year; chairman Yale Courant Senior year

Successively bookkeeper, cashier, treasurer, and general manager Cardinal Company, manufacturers of stationery, New York City, 1903–05, part owner Essex Paper Company, Holyoke, Mass., 1905–07, traveled 1907–08 and 1910–11; bond broker Trent Trust Company, Honolulu, secretary Kohala Sugar Company, and treasurer Hawaiian Securities Company, Ltd, 1908–10, president and managing director Island Electric Company, Ltd, 1908–10, president and managing director Island Electric Company.

pany, Ltd., Wailuku, Maui, and Island Investment Company, Ltd., Honolulu, 1911–21, manager bond delivery department, fiscal agent department, Federal Reserve Bank, San Francisco, and secretary Baker-Joslyn Company, distributors of electrical materials, San Francisco and Los Angeles, Calif., and Seattle, Wash., 1918–20; treasurer Armstrong College, Berkeley, 1920–25, manager Bond Agency, magazine subscription service, Berkeley, 1925–37, due to loss of eyesight was unoccupied for several years; president Hawaiian Stock Exchange, secretary and treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Hawaii; member Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Married July 30, 1910, in Berkeley, Rowena Katherine Elston (Univ. California ex-'09), daughter of Rev. Allan Mandeville Elston (B.A. Univ. Missouri 1867, M.A. 1870) and Ada Florence (Elliott) Elston. Children: Madeleine Elliott (B.A. Univ. California 1936), Robert Elston, '40, Gloria Coolidge (B.A. Univ. California 1940), and Suzanne (Univ. California

1947)

Death due to coronary sclerosis. Ashes interred in Oakland (Calif.) Columbarium. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Edith Bond Howard (BL Smith Coll. 1904), the wife of Lawrence A. Howard, '03.

#### William White Gleason, B.A. 1903.

Born December 29 1882, in Delhi, N.Y. Died January 29, 1944, in Port Chester, NY.

Father, John Blanchard Gleason, '76. Mother, Annie Elizabeth (White) Gleason. Yale relatives include: Lafayette B. Gleason, '85 (uncle); and John G. Escher, '33, Franklin Escher, Jr, '38, and Hugh W. Escher, ex-'45 (nephews).

Rugby Military Academy, New York City. Second dispute appoint-

ment Junior and Senior years

With Acker, Merrall & Condit Company, wholesale and retail grocers, New York City, 1903–14 (successively bookkeeper, assistant to general manager, assistant buyer, and manager wine department); vice-president Luyties Brothers, importers and distillers, New York City, 1914–16 and Athos Tobacco Company 1916–18; commissioned First Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, U S Army, September 19, 1918; stationed at Camp Meigs September 19–October 2, 1918; assigned to Washington Depot Quartermaster October 2, 1918, until discharge March 29, 1919; district manager for Piggly Wiggly Stores, Inc., New Haven, Conn, 1919, Washington 1920, and Milwaukee, Wis, 1921–22; member Pentecost & Gleason, land-scape architects, New York City, 1922–32; sales manager Potash-Marl, Inc., gardening supplies, New York City, 1922–23 and secretary-treasurer 1923–

28; bond salesman and investment counselor Dresser & Escher [Franklin, ex-'02], New York City, 1932-44, member Church of the Ascension

(Episcopal), New York City

Married (1) October 12, 1907, in Hillburn, N.Y, Marguerite, daughter of Frederick William and Eugenie (Hasbrouck) Snow Children Mildred Snow, the wife of Howard MacPherson (BA. Hampden-Sydney Coll 1925, MA. Princeton 1926), and Margaret Hasbrouck, the wife of Gaston Mieg. Mr and Mrs Gleason were divorced in 1918 Married (2) November 23, 1935, in New York City, Elsie Louise, daughter of Charles F. C. and Louise Anne C. (Hartman) Smith.

Death due to carcinomatosis Buried in Delhi Survived by wife, daughters, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mildred G. Escher (Mrs Franklin

Escher)

Mrs. Gleason has provided for the establishment at Yale of a collection of books in American history or literature as a memorial to her husband

## John Barrow Motter, B.A. 1903.

Born September 7, 1881, in St. Joseph, Mo Died March 21, 1944, in St Joseph, Mo

Father, Joshua Motter (Pennsylvania State Coll ex-1864), vice-president Wheeler & Motter Mercantile Company, wholesale dry goods manufacturers, St Joseph; son of Isaac and Mary (Snively) Motter of Williamsport, Md Mother, Katherine Augusta (Barrow) Motter, daughter of John Everitt and Katherine (Gringery) Barrow of New York City. Yale relatives include a brother, Samuel I. Motter, '96.

St Joseph High School Second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, captain Yale Gun Team Senior year

Associated with National Bank of St Joseph 1903-05 and Wheeler & Motter Mercantile Company 1905 until retirement 1929 (department manager 1910-29, vice-president 1925-29, and a director 1917-29); vestryman Christ Church (Episcopal), St Joseph

Married October 10, 1914, in St Joseph, Margaret Bruce, daughter of William Henry and Euphemia (Nimmo) Bartlett and sister of William N Bartlett, '12. Children: Margaret Augusta, the wife of John Bernard Fallon (B.A. Harvard 1939); John Barrow, Jr. (Univ Missouri ex-'41), Mary Katherine, the wife of Harry T Greene, '42, and Virginia Bruce

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Mount Mora Cemetery, St Joseph Survived by wife, children, one grandchild, and a sister, Mary Katherine Motter Hall, the wife of Darwin Walton Hall (MD University Medical Coll. [Kansas City] 1896) of Kansas City, Mo

#### Ernest Shelton Van Tassel, B.A. 1903.

Born July 21, 1881, in Wellesley, Mass. Died July 1, 1943, in Honolulu, T.H.

Father, Charles J Van Tassel, partner Van Tassel & Toy, insurance, San Francisco, Calif.; son of Dr. James Van Tassel. Mother, Julia Ely (Shelton) Van Tassel; daughter of Charles S. Shelton (BA 1840) and Henrietta Mills (Hyde) Shelton. Yale relatives include: William A. Shelton, ex-'76 S., Charles H. Shelton, '77, and Charles W. Shelton, '81 D. (uncles), and Arthur H Bissell, '97, Shelton Bissell, '97, Henry W. Shelton, '04, William B. Shelton, '06, and W. H. P. Shelton, ex-'12 (cousins).

Lawrenceville (N J ) School. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Yale Cross Country Team Junior and Senior years; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year; member Yale University Dramatic Association and Yale Corinthian Yacht Club.

With Union Pacific Railroad Company 1903–09 (successively chainman engineering crew in Kansas, yard and bill clerk, cashier and assistant in ticket department, and in superintendent's office Omaha, Nebr., 1903–07, assistant trainmaster 1907, trainmaster Cheyenne Falls and later Denver, Colo, 1907–09), associated with Manning, Maxwell & Moore, railway and machinists tools, New York City, 1909–11; due to ill-health resided in Bermuda and became correspondent for several eastern newspapers; in 1916 began a new industry in Hawaii, growing, processing, and marketing macadamia nuts; president and manager Hawaiian Macadamia Nut Company, Ltd, 1922–43.

Unmarried

Death due to ruptured aneurysm of abdominal aorta. Ashes to be interred in the columbarium of Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif Survived by no immediate relatives

## Axel Ebenezer Vestling, B.A. 1903.

Born June 22, 1879, in Osage City, Kans Died April 29, 1944, in Northfield, Minn.

Father, Rev Claus Victor Vestling (grad Augustana Theological Seminary 1872), a Lutheran minister in Ludington, Mich.; son of Anders and Maria (Vestling) Anderson of Linkoping, Ostergotland, Sweden. Mother, Sofia Mathilda (Swensson) Vestling; daughter of Sven and Maria (Johnson) Swensson of Jonkoping, Ostergotland

Ludington High School; B A Bethany College (Kans.) 1900 Entered Yale College Senior year, philosophical oration appointment; member Phi

Beta Kappa. Attended Yale Graduate School 1904-07 (M.A. 1905, Ph.D. 1907).

Superintendent of schools Marquette, Kans., 1900–02; instructor in German Dartmouth College 1903–04 and Yale University 1904–12 (lecturer in German 1920–21); professor of German Carleton College 1912–26 and 1930–44 (head of department 1912–26, dean of men and later dean of the College 1919–26); president Olivet College 1926–30; studied at universities of Berlin and Marburg 1910–11; ordained minister by Saint Paul Association of Congregational Churches June, 1918; editor: Wildenbruch's Kindertranen (1911), member Minnesota Educational Association, Der Deutsche Padagogische Verein von Minnesota, Modern Language Association of America, American-Scandinavian Society, and Congregational-Baptist Church, Northfield

Married June 27, 1907, in Lindsborg, Kans, Bertha Swensson (B A. Bethany Coll. 1900, Mus.B 1902), daughter of Rev. Carl Aaron Swensson (grad Augustana Coll. 1877 and Augustana Theological Seminary 1879; M.A. Univ Uppsala [Sweden] 1889, Ph D 1893) and Alma (Lind) Swensson. Twin children Carl Swensson (B.A. Carleton Coll 1934; Ph.D. Johns Hopkins 1938) and Bertha Louise (B A Carleton Coll 1934).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Oaklawn Cemetery, North-field. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs Martin Forslind of South Pasadena, Calif, and Esther V. Grundmark (B.A. Michigan State Normal Coll. 1900), the wife of Axel Grundmark of Ludington, and two brothers, Rev Victor Immanuel Vestling (B A Augustana Coll. 1895; M D Coll Physicians and Surgeons [Chicago] 1901; B D. Augustana Theological Seminary 1913) of Marinette, Wis, and Albin Rudolph Vestling of Ludington

#### Freeman Ward, B.A. 1903.

Born August 9, 1879, in Yankton, S Dak. Died September 14, 1943, in Easton, Pa

Father, Rev Joseph Ward, D.D. (B.A. Brown Univ. 1865, grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1868), a Congregational minister, founder and president Yankton College 1881–89; son of Dr. Jabez Ward and Aurilla (Tufts) Ward of Perry, N.Y. Mother, Sarah Frances (Wood) Ward, daughter of Joseph and Phila Thayer (Freeman) Wood of Central Falls, R.I

Yankton Academy; attended Yankton College 1898–1901 Transferred to Yale College Junior year; oration appointment Senior year, member Sigma Xi. Attended Yale Graduate School 1903–08 (Ph.D 1908).

Member faculty Yale University 1903-15 (assistant in geology 1903-05

and mineralogy 1905–07; instructor in geology and mineralogy 1907–12; assistant professor of geology 1912–15), State geologist of South Dakota, professor of geology University of South Dakota, and departmental head 1915–26, professor of geology and head department of geology and geography Lafayette College 1926–43, engaged in summer field work with Connecticut State Geological Survey 1905, 1908, and 1909, U.S. Geological Survey 1906 and 1907, Yale Summer School of Geology 1911–14 (in charge school in Black Hills 1913 and 1914), and Pennsylvania Geological Survey 1926–43, did scientific work for United States Bureau of Soils; investigated war minerals for the Government during World War I, contributed numerous articles on geology to scientific journals, Sc.D. Yankton College 1934, member Geological Society of America, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Association of American State Geologists, American Association of Petroleum Geologists, and American Association of University Professors, elder First Presbyterian Church, Easton.

Married September 12, 1906, in Hagerstown, Md., Daisy Lee, daughter of George Washington and Susan Melinda (Kendall) Eyerly Daughter Sarah Wood (B A. Pembroke Coll. 1932), the wife of John Moore Hills

(BS Lafayette Coll 1931; Ph D. Univ Chicago 1934).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Yankton. Survived by wife, daughter, three grandchildren, a sister, Margaret H Ward (M A. Hon Yankton Coll. 1938) of Yankton, and two brothers, Donald Butler Ward, LL D (B A. Yankton Coll. 1900; J.B. Boston Univ. 1903), of Chicago, and Sheldon Ward, ex-'06.

# Wilson Gordon Wing, B.A. 1903.

Born August 1, 1881, in Valparaiso, Chile. Died February 3, 1944, at Hobe Sound, Fla

Father, Wilson Dorr Wing, who had lumber interests in Valparaiso, and Bangor, Maine, son of David and Lydia (Pitts) Wing of Somerset Mills, Maine Mother, Sarah (Flint) Wing; daughter of Ambrose Cushing and Caroline (Farnsworth) Flint of Bangor.

Bangor High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Second colloquy appointment and honors in the social sciences Senior year; Apollo Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Sophomore year, University Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Junior and Senior years, member Alpha Delta Phi.

Traveled around the world 1903, engaged in farming in California 1904-06 and attended Stanford University Law School for a short time 1906, associated with Ostby & Barton, manufacturing jewelers, Providence, R I, 1906-08, president Federal Screw Company, Providence, 1908-10;

manager of rice, lumber, oil, and cotton interests in Houston, Texas, 1910-14; financial secretary to Senator Jesse H. Metcalf 1914-22, secretary Penal and Charitable Commission, State of Rhode Island, 1914–19, president and trustee Providence Institution for Savings and Old Stone Safe Deposit & Trust Company 1922–44; vice-president National Association of Mutual Savings Banks 1931 and president 1932-33 (chairman committee on federal legislation); treasurer Roosevelt Memorial Association for Rhode Island 1919 and Providence District Nursing Association 1920; trustee Providence Public Library 1923-42 (treasurer 1924-34) and Rhode Island Hospital 1924-44 (member committee on organization of the hospital 1933-44); trustee in charge Jane Brown Hospital 1941-44, trustee and member executive committee Rhode Island Public Expenditure Council 1943-44; chairman Providence Community Fund 1935-36 and Rezoning Committee 1943-44; on Rhode Island Board of Parole 1935-36, member Rhode Island Historical Association and First Unitarian Church, Providence.

Married May 10, 1919, in New York City, Marjorie Webster Pierson, daughter of Adelbert Ashley and Anna (Hore) Webster and sister of Henry G. Webster, '92 Children Sally-Ann, the wife of Lewis Neilson Madeira (Univ. Pennsylvania ex-'43), and Wilson Gordon, Jr

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Mt Hope Cemetery, Bangor Survived by wife, children, one grandson, and two sisters, Caroline Roberta Wing (B A Smith Coll. 1896) and Adeline Flint Wing (B L Smith Coll 1898), both of Bangor.

## Harry Thomas Hamilton, B.A. 1904.

Born October 24, 1880, in Groton, Conn Died February 5, 1944, in Summit, N.J.

Father, Captain Thomas Hamilton, a merchant in Groton, son of Alexander and Ann (Pillman) Hamilton of New London, Conn., and Prince Edward Island, Canada Mother, Eunice Ellen (Watrous) Hamilton, daughter of William and Eunice Aseneth (Latham) Watrous of Groton Yale relatives include. Frederick P Latimer, '97 (brother-in-law), and Frederick P. Latimer, Jr., '25, Frank W. Hamilton, Jr, '40 S, and John H Hamilton, '43 (nephews).

Bulkeley School, New London Freshman Baseball Team, second baseball team Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; chairman Senior supper committee; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Elihu.

With Joseph Horne Company, merchants in Pittsburgh, Pa, 1904-05, sampler Saddle Mountain Mining Company, Christmas, Ariz, 1905-07,

banker Cananea (Mexico) Consolidated Copper Company 1907; assayer Shannon Copper Company, Metcalf, Arız., 1908; ın geological and accounting departments Calumet and Arizona Mining Company, Bisbee, Ariz., and Superior and Pittsburgh Copper Company, Warren, Ariz., 1908-11, chief clerk Copper Queen-Consolidated Mining Company, Bisbee, 1911-14, assistant manager Moctezuma Copper Company, Nacozari, Sonora, Mexico, 1914-20 and general manager 1920-24; consulting mining engineer in San Francisco, Calif., 1924-28; with New York Trust Company, New York City, 1928-44 (assistant to the president 1930-44; councilman and chairman finance committee Summit Common Council 1928-33, president Republican Club of Summit 1930-35 and Playhouse Association 1937-39, member finance committee Summit chapter American Red Cross 1943 and vice-chairman 1943 drive; adviser to Metals Reserve Company, Reconstruction Finance Corporation, Washington, January-July, 1942; president Mining and Metallurgical Society of America 1938; director American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers 1936-44 (treasurer 1941-44, chairman endowment committee 1938-44); on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Arizona 1914; member 1904 Class Council many years (elected chairman January, 1944), member Bankers Club of America and Mining Club of New York; attended Congregational church.

Married October 9, 1915, in Summit, Dorothy Crawford (B A. Vassar Coll. 1911), daughter of Frank Lindsay Crawford (B.A. Harvard Univ. 1879, LL B. Columbia Univ. 1882) and Emily Genevieve (Buckland) Crawford (B A Vassar Coll 1882). Children: Ruth Eunice, the wife of Trevor Fred Moore (B A Univ. California 1935; LL.B. Hastings Coll. of the Law 1940), Harry Thomas, Jr., '38, Lindsay Crawford, ex-'43; Crawford Buckland (Class of 1947); and Richard.

Death due to embolism of the pulmonary artery. Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Chatham, N J Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Miss Clara Hamilton of New London, and Ruth Eunice Hamilton (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1912) of Jamaica, N Y, and a brother, Frank W. Hamilton, '08 S.

## Walter Irving King, B.A. 1904.

Born July 9, 1881, in Thompsonville, Conn. Died March 16, 1944, in Ashland, Mass.

Father, Henry Wolcott King, a merchant in Thompsonville; son of Elizur Wolcott and Cecelia (Pease) King of Thompsonville. Mother, Almyra Esther (Willis) King; daughter of Philo Dickinson and Esther (Snow) Willis of Thompsonville.

Enfield (Conn.) High School. Member Beta Theta Pi.

Associated with The Travelers Insurance Company, Hartford, Conn., 1904–12; actuary The Columbian National Life Insurance Company, Boston, 1912–20; with Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1920–32 (secretary group insurance department 1924–27, secretary of the company 1927, and a vice-president 1927–32); member Ganse-King Estate Service, inheritance tax and estate protection work, Boston, 1932–44; police commissioner West Hartford 1925–28; chartered life underwriter American College of Life Underwriters, fellow American Institute of Actuaries and Actuarial Society of America, member Boston chapter College of Life Underwriters, Boston Life Insurance and Trust Council, Boston Life Underwriters Association, Insurance Institute of Hartford, American Statistical Association, Casualty Actuarial Society (a founder 1915), Society on National Health, and First Church of Christ (Congregational), West Hartford (on prudential and building committees)

Married (1) October 15, 1910, in Norwich, Conn., Edith Maxson, daughter of Thomas and Henrietta (Lewis) Potter No children Mr. and Mrs. King were divorced in 1936. Married (2) April 14, 1936, in Providence, RI, Katharine Vaughan, daughter of Franklin Wile Ganse (St. Louis Law School 1882–83) and Helen Seymour (Woodbridge) Ganse

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Newton (Mass) Cemetery. Survived by wife and a brother, Henry W. King, '01

# [George] Elton Parks, B.A. 1904.

Born April 1, 1882, in Brooklyn, NY. Died December 21, 1943, in New York City

Father, George Winant Parks, member Parks Brothers & Rogers, manufacturing jewelers, Providence, R I.; son of James William and Elizabeth Anne (Barkeloo) Parks of Brooklyn Mother, Helen (Roberts) Parks; daughter of Morris Hughes and Sarah Anne (Pelletreau) Roberts of Brooklyn.

Phillips-Andover Secretary and treasurer Freshman Baseball Association; Class crew Sophomore and Junior years, president University Track Athletic Association Senior year; secretary University Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Junior year and president Senior year, vice-president Yale Glee, Banjo, and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and Scroll and Key Attended Yale School of Law 1904–07 (LL B magna cum laude 1907; second-year honors; an editor Yale Law Journal 1906–07; registrar of the Law School 1906–07, Class president, member Corbey Court).

Admitted to the bar 1907; with Rush & Hare, lawyers, New York City, 1907-08 and managing clerk of succeeding firm, Barbour, Rush, Hare & Holter, 1908-09; counsel for August Heckscher 1909-11; partner Parks & McKinstry [Arthur P, '05] and Parks, McKinstry & Taft [Walbridge S., '07] 1911-17, associated with Nicholas F. Brady, '99, and James Cox Brady, '04, in management of properties and corporations 1917-25; partner Dominick [Bayard, '94] & Dominick [Gayer G., '09], investment bankers, New York City, 1925-43, chairman of the board Purolater Products Company and Motor Improvements, Inc.; vice-president National Bond & Share Corporation 1929-39; third vice-president The Oil Fields of Mexico Company; secretary Vermont Copper Company; on executive committee Public National Bank and Trust Company, Cuba Company, and International Rubber Company and finance committee North British & Mercantile Insurance Company, Ltd, and Mercantile Insurance Company, member nominating committee New York Stock Exchange, volunteer driver Anglo-Belgian Ambulance Corps 1914, chairman Legal Advisory Board, division 154, New York City, 1917-18; president Heckscher Foundation for Children 1925–28; assistant treasurer Travelers Aid Society 1938-39, president 1939-40; on board of managers and chairman finance committee Inwood House, New York City; trustee Indian Mountain School, Lakeville, Conn.; member board of governors Yale University Press 1939; secretary Class of 1904 from 1909 to 1927, secretary-treasurer Class council 1923-25 and chairman 1925-29; editor: Sexennial Record (1911), Memoirs of 1904 at Yale (1913), and Vicennial Record (1924); Alumni Fund agent Class of 1904 from 1938 to 1941 and for 1907 L from 1922 to 1937, vice-president Yale Law School Association 1920-23 and 1927-30, president 1923-26, and on executive committee 1930-33; member executive committee Yale Alumni Board 1928-31, chairman standing committee on reunions 1929-30, member-at-large 1931-34; on Yale Corporation Committee on Honorary Degrees 1931-32 and 1933-41, member Huguenot Society of America, St. Nicholas Society, Sons of the American Revolution, Squadron A, New York National Guard, Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, Bar Association of the City of New York, New York County, New York State, and American Bar associations, and St Matthew's Church (Episcopal), Bedford Village, NY.

Married October 26, 1915, in New York City, Helen York, daughter of Henry Isaac and Frances Eugenia (Williams) Judson Children Jane Frances, the wife of DeWitt H. Peterkin, Jr, '37, Elton, Jr., ex-'42, and Nancy, the wife of Peter H. Dominick, '37.

Death due to heart failure Buried in St Matthew's Churchyard, Bedford Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Ethel Parks Barlow, the wife of Elbert Spicer Barlow (Columbia Univ. ex-'00) of New York City.

## Carleton Shaw, B.A. 1904.

Born July 6, 1880, in Toledo, Ohio Died November 15, 1943, in Winter Haven, Fla

Father, Edwin Clinton Shaw, president Shaw & Sassaman Company, wholesale dry goods, Toledo, son of David and Nancy Speer (Andrews) Shaw of Madison, Ind Mother, Alice (Winters) Shaw, daughter of Valentine and Katherine (Harshman) Winters of Dayton, Ohio Yale relatives include. Howard V. D Shaw, '90 (cousin), and George W Shaw, '95 S (brother).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Class baseball team Sophomore year; University Crew and Football squads; Apollo Banjo and Glee clubs Junior and Senior years; member Psi Upsilon and Elihu

Employed in Toledo 1904-43; secretary-treasurer Shaw & Kilduff, wholesale dry goods, 1904-06; manager of his father's estate, in real-estate and investment business with his brother, George, and with McKesson-Cone Company, real estate and insurance; president Shaw, Inc., real estate, 1934-43; Red Cross ambulance driver with unofficial rank of lieutenant in the Italian Army in World War I; author *Recreation* (1916), contributed articles to sports magazines.

Unmarried.

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Toledo Survived by a sister, Mrs Kathryn S Coldham of Pasadena, Calif

#### Walter Bunce Spencer, B.A. 1904.

Born November 2, 1878, in South Manchester, Conn Died May 31, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Albert James Spencer, associated with Cheney Brothers, silk manufacturers, South Manchester; postmaster of South Manchester, son of Russell and Prudence (Jones) Spencer Mother, Antoinette (Bunce) Spencer; daughter of Walter and Katherine (Kennedy) Bunce of South Manchester Yale relatives include: Robert M Spencer, ex-'95 S (brother), and Elliott Marshall, '92 (cousin)

South Manchester High School. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year; College Choir Junior and Senior years

Principal Bacon Academy, Colchester, Conn, 1904–07, West Hartford High School 1907–17, and Commercial High School, New Haven, 1920–44; established extension courses for employees of The Travelers Insurance Company, Hartford, 1919–20; president Connecticut Interscholastic Ath-

letic Conference 1923-37, executive secretary 1937-44, and for many years editor of its monthly Bulletin; general chairman New Haven Community Sings 1942-43; on board of managers New Haven division Friends of Boys 1929 (vice-president 1935-36, president 1937-43, and a director 1943-44), National Federation of State High School Athletic Associations 1934-44 (vice-president 1944), and Children's Center, New Haven, 1937-39; awarded gold medal by Massachusetts State College for contribution to cause of high-school athletics 1944; attended Second Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, N.Y., August 27-November, 1917; commissioned Captain, Infantry, November 27, 1917; sent to Leon Springs, Texas, and Camp Hancock, Ga, November, 1917—February, 1918; transferred to Signal Corps; overseas March 4, 1918—July 2, 1919; stationed at Second Aviation Instruction Center March 27, 1918—February 11, 1919; at A.E.F. University Beaune, March-June, 1919; discharged July 21, 1919; member Horatio Parker Choir (president 1924-26), University Glee Club (secretary 1930-35, president 1935), New Haven Congregational Association (chairman laymen's committee 1941–43), Rotary Club (a director 1928– 34, president 1933–34, delegate Rotary International at Seattle 1932), American Legion, Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States, National Aeronautic Association of the United States of America (New Haven delegate to national convention 1930), Secondary School Principals Association (chairman New England council 1933-35), Masonic order, and Plymouth Church (Congregational), New Haven (president Men's Club 1926-27, deacon 1941-44)

Married June 29, 1921, in Somerville, Mass, Marion Corliss (BA. Wellesley Coll 1913), daughter of Charles Howard and Violetta (Lord) Corliss. Children Walter Bunce, Jr., '43 S., Katherine (Wellesley Coll. 1945), Charles Corliss, Antoinette, and James Albert.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in West Cemetery, South Manchester Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Miss Katherine

Bunce Spencer of New York City.

## Walcott Duryea Bartlett, B.A. 1905.

Born April 22, 1882, in Indianapolis, Ind Died November 30, 1943, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Rev William Alvin Bartlett, D.D., LL.D. (B.A. Hamilton Coll. 1852, M.A. 1858, Union Theological Seminary 1854–56), of New York Mills, N.Y., a Presbyterian minister; son of Joseph and Deborah (Mac-Cafferty) Bartlett of Binghamton, N.Y. Mother, Annah Louise (Walcott) Bartlett, daughter of William Dexter and Hannah Coe (Hubbard) Walcott of New York Mills

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School and private tutor. Member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Yale Gun Club, and Zeta Psi.

Superintendent of traffic in Syracuse for Central New York Telephone & Telegraph Company 1905-07; vice-president and treasurer Crist Valve Manufacturing Company, Chittenango, N.Y., 1907-08; president and treasurer Oneida (N.Y.) Crockery Company 1908-17; enlisted May 6, 1917; attended First Officers Training Camp, Madison Barracks; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Ordnance, July 12, 1917, discharged November, 1917, to act as fuel and food administrator for Madison County under New York State Fuel Administration 1917-19; engaged in settling his father's estate 1919–21; independent bond salesman and partner Douglas M. Ross, Oneida, 1919-29; secretary to State Senator Walter W Stokes 1930-43; clerk New York State Senate Conservation Committee 1932-43, Commissioner of Public Safety, Oneida, 1912–16; president Madison County Child Welfare Association and chairman Madison County Red Cross 1920-29, treasurer Associated Charities of Oneida 1922-25 and Republican County Commission; member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Oneida.

Married (1) June 19, 1907, in Oneida, Gwendolyn Sophia, daughter of Orrin Derbyshire and Ellen Baker (Nash) Wright. Son William Alvin Bartlett, 2d (died at birth). Mrs. Bartlett died August 25, 1908 Married (2) October 4, 1912, in Oneida, Maude May Miller (Syracuse Univ. 1899–1901), daughter of Hugh H. and Mary Jane (Claus) Miller No children Mr. and Mrs. Bartlett were divorced in 1927. Married (3) August 27, 1929, in Higganum, Conn., Jane Sumter, daughter of James Garland Lafayette and Janie (Hood) White.

Death due to chronic ulcerated colitis Buried in Glenside Cemetery, New York Mills. Survived by wife.

# Harry Ellsworth Fowler, B.A. 1905.

Born May 5, 1878, in Plantsville, Conn Died October 20, 1943, in Shelton, Conn.

Father, Asa Lafayette Fowler, a shipping clerk with H D Smith & Company, hardware manufacturers, Plantsville; member Company A, 24th Regiment, Connecticut Volunteers in Civil War; son of Nathan Sherman and Prudence Spencer (Douglas) Fowler of Haddam, Conn' Mother, Emily Elizabeth (Wilcox) Fowler; daughter of John Leander and Emily Eliza (Wellman) Wilcox of Haddam.

Lewis High School, Southington, Conn., and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven. First division stand Freshman year, second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year.

Principal Whitneyville (Conn) School 1897–99, Morris Cove School 1899–1901, Chester High and Grammar schools 1905–07, and Shelton High School 1907–10, superintendent of schools Shelton 1910–43; enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1912–14; life member Masonic Charity Foundation of Connecticut; member Masonic order and Plantsville Congregational Church.

Married July 12, 1905, in Malden, Mass, Grace Mae, daughter of Jed Stanley and Louise Catherine (Connore) Backman Children Grace Louise (B S Univ Connecticut 1929; M A. Cornell 1944), the wife of Bertrand Abbott Harrison (B S. Univ. Connecticut 1928), and Harry Ellsworth, Jr

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Quinnipiac Cemetery, Plantsville. Survived by wife and children.

## Walter Edward Lagerquist, B.A. 1905.

Born February 6, 1881, in Essex, Iowa. Died February 22, 1944, in Boston, Mass.

Father, John Lagerquist of Clarinda, Iowa, recorder Page County, Iowa, son of Augustus and Madelaine (Deuberg) Lagerquist of Macon, Ga Mother, Clara Caroline (Anderson) Lagerquist; daughter of Nels Peter and Maria Gertrude (Olson) Anderson of Galesburg, Ill.

Essex High School, B A Simpson College 1903 Entered Yale College Senior year, dispute appointment and special honors in the social sciences Attended Yale Graduate School 1905-07, 1908-09 (M.A. 1906, Ph.D. 1911)

Taught economics Beloit College 1907-08; instructor in economics Cornell University 1909–13; assistant professor of economics and commerce Northwestern University 1913-19, professor of finance and commerce and director graduate division Northwestern University School of Commerce 1919-25, investment counselor in New York City 1925-41; with Irving Bank-Columbia Trust Company (later Irving Trust Company) 1925–29, vice-president Irving Investors Management Company, Inc., 1929-30 and Brookmire Economic Service, Inc, 1931-32; member Vance-Lagerquist Associates 1933-35, vice-president Johnston [Douglas T., '07 S.] & Lagerquist, Inc, 1935-41, private investment consultant and president Franklin Management Company, Boston, 1941-44; trustee New England Fund, an investment trust, Boston, 1937-44; on financial commission to the government of Colombia 1930, lecturer on finance New York University 1927-28, author "Causes and Effects of Immigration from 1815-1860" (1909), Investment Analysis (1921), Public Utility Finance (1927), and Balancing and Hedging an Investment Problem (1941); contributed to

financial publications; member American Economic Association, Investment Council Association of America, Beta Gamma Sigma, Alpha Kappa Psi, and Unitarian church.

Married August 5, 1911, in New York City, Catherine Caecile, daughter of Joseph and Louise (Menig) Schwartz Children: Philip DeBold, '41, and Walter Waldraff.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Mount Auburn Cemetery, Boston. Survived by wife, sons, a sister, Mabel Lagerquist McMillan (Simpson Coll. ex-'14) of Puyallup, Wash., and a brother, Warren Lagerquist of Tacoma, Wash.

# Aaron Riley Merritt, B.A. 1905.

Born March 14, 1883, in East Aurora, NY Died December 18, 1943, in East Aurora, NY

Father, Charles Wesley Merritt (B.A. Hamilton Coll. 1866, M A 1872, LL.B 1875), a lawyer in East Aurora, principal East Aurora Academy, son of Wilson and Jane Merritt of King Ferry, N Y Mother, Anna Mary (Riley) Merritt; daughter of Aaron and Margaret Riley of East Aurora Yale relatives include a nephew, Haines R. Merritt, Jr, '39

East Aurora High School and private tutor. First-rank stand Freshman year; declamation prize Sophomore year; dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year, editor Yale Record Senior year

Studied architecture Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1905–06, with Green & Wicks, architects, Buffalo, NY, 1906–08; vice-president and treasurer Harris & Merritt, architects, Buffalo, and Toronto, Canada, 1908–22; independently engaged as an architect in Buffalo and East Aurora 1922 until retirement 1942; with Y.M.C.A. in France August, 1918—June, 1919, attached to 314th Machine Gun Battalion, 80th Division; trustee Village of East Aurora about 1912–18, vice-president Buffalo chapter American Institute of Architects, member Masonic order, trustee First Presbyterian Church, East Aurora

Unmarried.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in East Aurora Cemetery Survived by a brother, Haines R. Merritt, '09 S.

## Edward Elbridge Spalding, B.A. 1905.

Born December 6, 1881, in Lynn, Mass. Died September 4, 1943, in New York City

Father, Rollin Aaron Spalding of Lynn; owner J V. Spalding Company, dry goods; vice-president National City Bank of Lynn; son of Aaron and

Eliza (Pickett) Spalding of Greenfield, Mass. Mother, Georgianna Francena (Floyd) Spalding; daughter of Daniel and Catharine (Poor) Floyd of Charlestown, Mass. Yale relatives include a brother, Rollin A. Spalding, '00

Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Senior year; secretary-treasurer Freshman Football Club; assistant manager University Football Association Junior year, president and manager Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, leader Apollo Glee Club Junior year; University Glee Club Senior year, on governing board Yale Corinthian Yacht Club Junior year and chairman Senior year; Class Day Committee; member University Club, Alpha Delta Phi, and Scroll and Key.

Bond salesman William Salomon & Company, New York City, 1905–08, manager bond department Farson, Son & Company 1908–13; partner Spalding & Close (later Spalding, Close & Company), investment securities, 1913–31; gentleman farmer in Millbrook, N.Y., 1932–35; associated with George B Gibbons & Company, municipal bonds, New York City, 1935–37 and Robinson, Miller & Company, investment securities, 1937–38; assistant to executive secretary United States Golf Association 1938–43; enlisted as private United States Army October 1, 1918; officer candidate, Infantry, Central Officers Training School, Camp Lee; discharged November 23, 1918, member Class dinner committees and St. Agnes' Chapel (Episcopal), New York City.

Married January 9, 1925, in New York City, Winifred, daughter of Francis and Jessie Dunbar (MacWhinnie) Bale No children.

Buried in The Moravian Cemetery, New Dorp, Staten Island, N.Y. Survived by wife

#### Towner Kent, B.A. 1906.

Born October 15, 1880, in Patterson, N.Y. Died April 30, 1944, in Patterson, N.Y.

Father, James Elihu Kent, a farmer in Patterson; son of David and Emeline (Baldwin) Kent of Ludingtonville, N.Y Mother, Mary Alice (Towner) Kent, daughter of Samuel and Huldah Towner of Patterson.

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn., and private tutors. First colloquy appointment Senior year; member Beta Theta Pi.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1906-09; studied law in office of Dulon & Roe, New York City, about 1909-10; admitted to the bar 1911, practiced independently in New York City and White Plains, NY; proprietor Hedgelawn Farm, Patterson, 1916-24; examiner of titles

The Lawyers Title and Guarantee Company, White Plains, 1924–28 and reader of titles 1928–32; with Hudson Harlem Valley Title & Mortgage Company, White Plains, 1937–41; founder Dairymen's League of Patterson; member Holstein-Friesian Association and Masonic order, an elder Patterson Presbyterian Church (Sunday-school superintendent; represented Westchester Presbytery at New York Synod and General Assembly, St Louis, Mo, 1941)

Married June 24, 1916, in Patterson, Josephine Barnum, daughter of Lewis Gregory and Josephine (Barnum) Pugsley No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Four Corners Cemetery, Towners, NY. Survived by wife and a niece, Barbara Barnum Pugsley Ward, the wife of Ronald Leslie Ward.

#### Eugene Leavens Mersereau, B.A. 1906.

Born August 17, 1884, in Portville, NY Died August 24, 1943, in Portland, Ore

Father, William Bradford Mersereau, head of Mersereau & Company, lumber manufacturers, Portville; son of Samuel John Mills and Esther Caroline (Butts) Mersereau of Portville. Mother, Helen Emily (Leavens) Mersereau; daughter of Eugene and Charlotte (Davis) Leavens of Glens Falls and Portville, N.Y. Yale relatives include: William E. Wheeler, '66, and John D Mersereau, ex-'75 S. (uncles); William M. Wheeler, '99, John E. Wheeler, '00 S, and Lawrence R. Wheeler, '11 (cousins), and Eugene M Waith, '35, Charles P. Mersereau, ex-'39, and David M. Mersereau, '40 (nephews).

Portville and Olean (NY) High schools and Phillips-Andover

In timber and logging business, Portland, 1907-09, secretary, vice-president, and sales manager Doty (Wash.) Lumber & Shingle Company 1909-39; vice-president and manager Nelson Lumber Company 1935-43, member Presbyterian church, Portville

Married November 12, 1913, in Portland, Lucile, daughter of Charles La Fayette and Catherine (McGregor) Parker. Children John Garrison, '39, Roland William (B.A. Pomona Coll. 1940), and June (Smith Coll 1948)

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Portland Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. Edith Mersereau Waith of New York City, and three brothers, Roland W. Mersereau, '05, Egbert W Mersereau, '11, and Harrison Irving Mersereau of Portland

#### Carleton Hickox Stevens, B.A. 1906.

Born April 30, 1884, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 28, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Robert Merwin Stevens, a grocer in New Haven; son of Robert and Adelia (Youngs) Stevens of New Haven Mother, Emma Jennie (Hickox) Stevens, daughter of James Benjamin and Emily Grace (Hine) Hickox of Waterbury and New Haven, Conn.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Freshman Glee Club. Attended Yale School of Law 1906-08 (LL B. 1908; an editor Yale Law Journal; member Cap and Gown Committee).

Admitted to the bar 1908; associated with Walsh & Wright, lawyers, Greenwich, Conn., 1908-09 and Clark, Hall & Peck, New Haven, 1909-38 (member firm 1914-38); vice-president and trustee Connecticut Savings Bank, New Haven, 1938-43; vice-president Masonic Publications Corporation 1923-28, secretary New Haven Real Estate Title Company; trustee New Haven Savings Bank 1924–38 and The Anna Fuller Fund 1931–43; director Family Society of New Haven (vice-president 1927-29), Dental Clinic Society of New Haven, and Grace Hospital Society; on advisory board Y W C A 1925-43 and board of managers Children's Center 1937-40, chairman Traffic Commission, City of New Haven, 1932-40; member City Hall Building Commission 1932 and Corporation Counsel Committee 1933, captain Company D, Connecticut State Guard, 1917–18, a worker in Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; director Yale Alumni Association of New Haven 1934-41, president 1941-42, and vice-president 1942-43, member-at-large Alumni Board 1934-35 and representative on the board 1937-41; on Class reunion committees; member Connecticut Title Association (president 1932), Savings Bank Association of Connecticut, New Haven, New Haven County, and American Bar associations, Sons of the American Revolution, and Masonic order, chairman board of trustees Church of the Redeemer (Congregational), New Haven.

Married June 1, 1912, in New Haven, Ruth Palmer, daughter of Rev. Watson Lyman Phillips, DD (BA Wesleyan Univ. 1872), and Ella Vernon (Stetson) Phillips and sister of Arthur V. Phillips, ex-'00 L, and Dr Frank L Phillips, '02 S Children. Phillips (B.A. Williams Coll. 1936), Carleton, Jr (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1940), and David Stetson (Bard Coll. Class of 1944).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, sons, two grandchildren, and three sisters, Mrs. Arthur Clinton Treat Beers of New Haven, Mrs. Frann Ernest Hall of West Haven, Conn, and Clara S Morey, the wife of Ernest Morey (D D S Philadelphia Dental Coll. 1909) of Stratford, Conn.

P

## Alfred Pembroke Thom, Jr., B.A. 1906.

Born December 3, 1883, in Norfolk, Va. Died February 22, 1944, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Alfred Pembroke Thom (Univ. Virginia 1872–75), a lawyer in Washington; general counsel Southern Railway Company and Association of Railway Executives; president Virginia Bar Association 1904–05, son of William Alexander Thom (M.D. Medical Coll. Virginia 1841) and Anne (Parker) Thom of Eastville, Va. Mother, Virginia Tunstall Baylor Thom, daughter of Robert B. and Elizabeth Walke (Williamson) Tunstall of Norfolk.

Norfolk Academy and Lawrenceville (N J.) School. Freshman Baseball Team; substitute University Baseball Team Freshman and Sophomore

years; member University Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended University of Virginia Law School 1906–09 (LL B 1909); admitted to the bar; an assistant to general solicitor Southern Railway Company, Washington, 1909–10; associated with Williams & Tunstall, lawyers, Norfolk, 1910–15 and junior member Tunstall & Thom 1915–18, attorney and examiner in charge New York office Federal Trade Commission 1918–20; general solicitor Association of Railway Executives, Washington, 1920–43; assistant to general counsel Association of American Railroads 1935–40 and assistant general solicitor 1940–44, trustee University of Virginia Endowment Fund 1919, member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), Washington.

Married December 1, 1909, in Staunton, Va, Rosalie Beirne, daughter of Conway McNeece and Rosalie (Beirne) Whittle Children. Alfred Pembroke, 3d (B.A. George Washington Univ. 1934, MD 1935), and

Conway Whittle (George Washington Univ. ex-'35)

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Washington Survived by wife, sons, and two granddaughters

#### Edward Perry Tice, B.A. 1906.

Born July 18, 1874, in Highland County, Ohio Died December 1, 1943, in Columbus, Ohio

Father, Daniel Long Tice, a farmer in Mowrystown, Ohio Mother, Mahala Jane (Dunham) Tice.

B A Ohio Northern University 1901, principal Leesburg (Ohio) High School 1899–1901; superintendent of schools New Vienna, Ohio, 1901–05. Entered Yale College in Senior year; high oration appointment

Assisted in establishing Midland Mutual Life Insurance Company of Columbus and associated with the company 1906-43 (assistant super-

intendent of agents 1908–09, member Tice & Jeffers, general managers for southeastern Ohio, 1909–43); a founder Community Fund of Columbus 1923 (president 1938, 1939) and War Chest of Columbus 1942; organized Columbus Life Managers Association 1931 and president 1931–33; secretary Yale Club of Columbus 1927–34; a director Ohio Chamber of Commerce; member Columbus Chamber of Commerce (president 1920, 1921) and Columbus Life Underwriters Association; trustee and elder Broad Street Presbyterian Church, Columbus.

Married June 15, 1907, in Columbus, Kathryn Lavina, daughter of James and Sarah Elizabeth (Stannert) Boring. Children: Ruth Elinor (B A Ohio State Univ 1933), the wife of Lawrence Medbery Walters (B A Ohio State Univ. 1932, M.A 1933); Virginia (B.A. Ohio State Univ. 1935), the wife of David Harris Thomas, Jr (Univ Virginia 1923–26, LL B. Ohio State Univ. 1929), and Edward Perry, Jr. (B A. Williams Coll. 1936, M.B.A. Univ. Pennsylvania 1938).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Green Lawn Cemetery, Columbus Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

## Winthrop Lakey Carter, B.A. 1907.

Born February 19, 1885, in West Newton, Mass. Died February 22, 1944, in Chestnut Hill, Mass.

Father, James Richard Carter, president Nashua (NH.) Gummed & Coated Paper Company; son of Richard Bridge and Lucy Lazell (Hobart) Carter of Bøston. Mother, Carrie (Giles) Carter, daughter of Chauncey and Eunice (Lakey) Giles of Pomeroy, Ohio. Yale relatives include a nephew, John A Carter, '45W E.

Newton High School Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club (leader); University Glee Club Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years (president Senior year), Chapel Choir Junior and Senior years; president Yale Glee, Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year; coach 1908 Glee Club Sophomore year and Apollo Glee Club Junior year; on Honor System Committee Junior year; Class historian, Fence orator; member Alpha Delta Phi and Elihu

Clerk Nashua Gummed & Coated Paper Company 1907–09, manager 1909–10, general manager and treasurer 1910–23, and president 1923–44; president Canadian Nashua Paper Company, Ltd., Peterborough, Ontario, 1920–44, Nashua Package Sealing Company 1924–44, Canadian Sealright Company, Ltd., 1926–44, and Nashua Sure-Hold Company 1927–36; vice-president Berwin Paper Company 1925–44 and Carter, Rice & Company, Boston, 1928–33 (treasurer 1929–33); member executive com-

mittee Public Safety Commission State of New Hampshire 1917; chairman Nashua chapter American Red Cross 1917–18; assistant food administrator for New Hampshire 1917–18; commissioned Lieutenant (s.g.) US Naval Reserve October 27, 1918, assigned to labor division Emergency Fleet Corporation, Boston; discharged January 3, 1919, president Nashua Board of Trade 1911, New Hampshire Manufacturers Association 1915-17, Nashua Memorial Hospital 1923-29, American Waxed Paper Association 1924-25, and Beacon Society of Boston 1944; chairman industrial committee New England Council 1933-34, president 1934-36 and 1940 (chairman executive committee), first chairman New Hampshire Committee, Newcomen Society, 1935-44; vice-president American Paper & Pulp Association 1931-32 (member advisory council and executive committee); trustee Massachusetts Horticultural Society 1935-44, Northeastern University 1939-44, Tax Foundation, Inc., New York City, 1940-44, and New Hampshire Historical Society 1942-44; member industrial committee Federal Reserve Bank, First District; chairman "Share-the-Work" movement which presented to President Hoover the Davis plan for combating decline in industrial activity 1932; chairman War Bond Committee for New Hampshire and New Hampshire War Finance Committee 1942, industrial member Regional War Labor Board of New England and advisory member War Production Board, vice-president Yale Club of Boston 1919-20 and 1937 (member executive committee 1936); New Hampshire State chairman Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; attended First Church (Unitarian), Chestnut Hill

Married September 14, 1909, in Framingham, Mass, Elizabeth Conant, daughter of Charles Clarence and Emma (Drew) Barton Children Katharine (Smith Coll. ex-'33), the wife of John Barnett Smith, Sydney Hobart, ex-'34 S.; Barton (Williams Coll. ex-'36, missing in action in Spanish Civil War since April, 1938); and Winthrop Lakey, Jr (BA. Harvard 1942).

Death due to rheumatic heart disease. Ashes interred in South Cemetery, Hollis, N H Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Howard Giles of South Woodstock, Vt., and two brothers, Hubert Lazell Carter (B.A. Harvard 1898) of Newton, and Eliot A Carter, '09. Another brother, Sidney H. Carter, ex-'05 S., died in 1903.

## Seth Turner Crawford, B.A. 1907.

Born June 30, 1886, in Randolph, Mass. Died September 16, 1943, in Boston, Mass.

Father, John Jennings Crawford, a banker in Boston, son of Jefferson and Catherine Allen (Harper) Crawford Mother, Ellen Josephine (Tur-

ner) Crawford; daughter of Seth and Ellen Montgomery (Manahan) Turner Yale relatives include: John D. Crawford, '11 (brother); and Dale C. Jennings, '00 (cousin).

Thayer Academy, Braintree, Mass, and Phillips-Andover. Freshman honors; philosophical oration appointment and honors in general studies Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; on third crew Junior

year (crew won cup in spring regatta); member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Harvard Law School 1907–10 (LL.B. 1910); admitted to the bar 1910; lawyer in Boston 1910–43; associated with Whipple, Sears & Ogden 1910–15; practiced independently 1915–17 and 1920–43; partner Ruby & Crawford 1917–20; trustee Turner Free Library, Randolph, 1911–43 (president 1927–43) and Randolph Savings Bank 1913–43 (president 1930–43); on executive committee Yale Club of Boston and council of Associated New England Yale Clubs; associate member Legal Advisory Board, Brookline, Mass., member First Corps Cadets, Massachusetts Volunteer Militia, 1910–16 and instructor in business and professional men's training school conducted by First Corps Cadets 1916; registrar for second draft, Town of Randolph, during World War I; member Massachusetts Charitable Society and Episcopal church.

Married April 7, 1915, in New Orleans, La., Sallie Ward, daughter of Wesley Eaton and Sarah Davis (Gustine) Lawrence. Children: Alice Montgomery Turner (B A. Radcliffe Coll 1940), John Douglas, 2d (Harvard Univ Class of 1942, Harvard Medical School 1941–); and Seth Tur-

ner, Jr (Harvard Univ. Class of 1945).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Central Cemetery, Randolph Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Miss Judith Crawford of Pasadena, Calif.

#### James Lanman Hubbard, B.A. 1907.

Born September 12, 1888, in Norwich, Conn. Died December 4, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Charles Learned Hubbard of Norwich; member A. H. Hubbard Company, paper manufacturers, Greenville, Conn.; president Thames National Bank of Norwich, son of James Lanman and Charlotte Peck (Learned) Hubbard of Norwich. Mother, Katherine (Mather) Hubbard, daughter of Samuel and Frances A. (Shailer) Mather of Norwich.

Norwich Free Academy. Second dispute appointment and third-rank honors Junior year, dissertation appointment and honors in physical sciences Senior year, on scrub Freshman Football Team; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Golf Club, and University Club.

Secretary A. H. Hubbard Company 1907-17 and W. W. Gale & Com-

pany, Norwich, for a few months 1919, resided in Los Angeles, Calif., 1920–21; owned and operated Uplands Orchards, Norwich, 1922–33; power engineer with State of Connecticut 1932–33 and United States Finishing Company 1933–36; marine engineer National Bulk Carriers 1942–43; enrolled as warrant machinist, U.S. Naval Reserve, April 11, 1917; assistant repair officer Newport, R.I., until November 6, 1917, and New London, Conn, until June, 1918; commissioned Ensign (Engineer Corps) June 6, 1918; in charge of all repair and machine shops in New London, Nantucket, Block Island, Woods Hole, and New Bedford, and assistant repair officer matériel section Newport; discharged April 11, 1921; subsequently enrolled as Ensign, Connecticut Volunteer Reserve, 1932; chief engineer with unlimited license, American Merchant Marine, World War II, member International Association of Fire Engineers, American Legion, Masonic order, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Yantic, Conn.

Married November 20, 1917, in New York City, Louise Elliot, daughter of George Elliot and Eugenie (Cohn) Flint Sons Charles Lanman (Univ. Connecticut ex-'46), Austin Flint (Univ. Connecticut ex-'42; BS United

States Coast Guard Academy 1943), and Robert Agnew

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife, sons, and one grandson.

## Horace Lyman Huson, B.A. 1907.

Born February 18, 1884, in Taunton, Mass. Died September 5, 1943, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Winfield Scott Huson, mechanical engineer Whitlock Printing Press Manufacturing Company, Derby, Conn; son of William and Maria (Lewis) Huson of New York City Mother, Mary Frances (van Ranst) Huson; daughter of Horace E. and Amelia (Wood) van Ranst of New York City.

Derby High School.

Associated with his father 1907–08; commercial salesman Aluminum Company of America, New Kensington and Pittsburgh, Pa., and Rochester, N.Y., 1908–12; salesman in Middle West for Kolynos Company, Chicago, 1912–13; sales manager Brazil Stamping & Manufacturing Company, metal goods, Cleveland, 1913–15, sales representative Cleveland Metal Products Company 1915–19, detailed to industrial field research on essential use of hydro-carbon fuel-burning devices for Priorities Committee War Industries Board 1918; sales agent in Middle West for Kirk-Latty Manufacturing Company, bolts, nuts, and metal products, Cleveland, 1919–22; director of advertising and endowment promotion Ohio Wesleyan University 1922–23; secretary-manager Tennessee-Kentucky Brick Manufac-

turing Association, Nashville, 1924–25; advertising manager Pennzoil Company, Oil City, Pa., 1925–26; branch sales manager Columbus (Ohio) office Barron G. Collier, Inc., of New York City, advertising, 1926–29; independent consulting distribution economist, Pittsburgh and Cleveland, 1929–42; technical analyst, materials redistribution branch, War Production Board, Pittsburgh, 1943

Married November 21, 1911, in Sharon, Pa., Mary Ruth Dorothea, daughter of Thomas and Zita Penelope (Coughlin) Hannon. Children: Winfield Scott, 2d (died February 7, 1937), and Cornelia van Ranst.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Knollwood Cemetery, Mayfield Heights, Ohio Survived by wife, daughter, father, and a sister, Edith Huson Anderson (Wheaton Coll. [Mass.] ex-'13) of Bridgeport, Conn.

# Edward Elliott Lattin, B.A. 1907.

Born August 19, 1884, in Shelton, Conn. Died August 17, 1943, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, Elliott Olin Lattin, a carpenter with Beardsley Building Company, Shelton; son of Nathan Birdsey and Nancy (Lewis) Lattin of East Village, Conn Mother, Emily Ellis (Butler) Lattin. Yale relatives include two cousins, Robert B Lattin, '07 S., and Clarence L Lattin, '20 S.

Shelton High School. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second

colloquy appointment Senior year.

District traffic manager New York Telephone Company, White Plains, Nyack, and Mount Vernon 1907–17; traffic engineer Chesapeake & Potomac Telephone Company, Atlanta, 1917–18, Richmond 1918–27, Washington 1927–28, and Baltimore 1928–43; engaged in operating and engineering work in connection with telephone service in army areas in Virginia during World War I, member Masonic order and Baptist church.

Married in May, 1943, Mary G. Harding Deibert, daughter of Edward

Stoll and Mary Elizabeth (Wolff) Harding.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Druid Ridge Cemetery, Pikesville, Md. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs. Helen L. Smith.

## Karlton Goodsell Percy, B.A. 1907.

Born November 11, 1886, in Brookline, Mass. Died November 15, 1943, in Newton, Mass.

Father, Frederick B. Percy, '77. Mother, Ada Lieber Livingston (Goodsell) Percy

Brookline High School and Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; second Class crew Sophomore and Junior years; fourth University Crew fall of Senior year; winner second regatta cup spring of 1906; member Psi Upsilon

Attended Harvard Medical School 1907–11 (M.D. 1911), interne Boston Floating Hospital 1911, Massachusetts General Hospital 1911-12, and Children's Hospital, Boston, 1913; pediatrician in Boston 1913-17 and 1919-43; fellow in pediatrics Harvard Medical School 1914-16 and assistant 1919-21; visiting pediatrician Children's Hospital and Infant's Hospital; overseas with American Red Cross November 1, 1917—February 1, 1919; assistant director children's reconstruction work Toul, Meurthe, Moselle, and in charge of prisoners at Lunéville, assimilated rank of Captain; discharged February 1, 1919; represented American Red Cross at English Infant Welfare Conference, London, July, 1918; medical examiner Brookline Civilian Defense Council and Massachusetts State Police 1941; director Mobile Medical Ambulances, Brookline, 1942; chief medical officer Brookline Civilian Defense Council 1943; member Massachusetts Medical Society, New England Pediatric Association, American Medical Association, American Academy of Pediatrics, Société Académique d'Histoire Internationale, and First Unitarian Church, Chestnut Hill, Mass.

Married September 10, 1914, in Simsbury, Margret Eno (B.A. Smith Coll. 1913), daughter of George Chester and Nellie (Goodrich) Eno. Children: George Eno, '37, and Elinor (B.A. Smith Coll. 1939), the wife of Charles Albert Pingree (B A Dartmouth 1937, M C S 1938).

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound Ashes interred in Simsbury Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Ada Lieber Percy Duffett (Smith Coll. ex-'05), the wife of Walter W. Duffett of Brookline, stepmother, and a half brother, Donald B Percy, ex-'19

#### Cyril Sumner, B.A. 1907.

Born August 29, 1882, in Rochester, N.Y Died February 7, 1944, in Rochester, NY.

Father, Charles Ralsey Sumner (M.D. New York Homeopathic Medical College and Hospital 1877), a physician in Rochester; son of Charles Sumner (M.D. Homeopathic Medical Coll [Philadelphia] 1856) and Mary Jane (White) Sumner of Gilbertsville and Rochester, N.Y. Mother, Julia Louise (Parsons) Sumner; daughter of Thomas and Julia (Gorsline) Parsons of Rochester.

Phillips-Andover First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; captain Freshman Football Association and

Freshman Football Team; assistant manager University Track Athletic Association Junior year and president Senior year; chairman Sophomore German Committee; cup man; member Psi Upsilon and Scroll and Key.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1907-11 (M.D 1911; member Alpha Omega Alpha); interne Roosevelt Hospital, New York City, 1911-12 and Sloane Hospital for Women 1912-13; physician and surgeon in Rochester 1913-44; instructor in surgery University of Rochester 1927–33 and part-time consultant in general surgery 1933-44, assistant surgeon Strong Memorial Hospital 1926-33 and consulting surgeon 1933-44; attending surgeon Monroe County Hospital and Frederick Ferris Thompson Hospital (Canandaigua, N.Y.); director surgical staff Genesee Hospital, Rochester, 1922-42; commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, September 13, 1918; assigned to Debarkation Hospital No. 4; discharged January 23, 1919; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Rochester 1916-18, president 1919-20 and 1936-37, member executive committee 1935-36, and a director; trustee Medical Society of the County of Monroe 1927 until about 1938 (vice-president 1927-28, president 1928-29) and Rochester Academy of Medicine 1928 until about 1938 (vice-president 1929–30, president 1930–31); director Frontier Nursing Association (Rochester branch); on board of managers State Industrial School, Industry, N.Y., 1924 until about 1934; fellow American College of Surgeons; member Therapeutic Workshop of Rochester Tuberculosis and Public Health Association, Medical Society of the State of New York, American Board of Surgery (founder's group), American Medical Association, and Third Presbyterian Church, Rochester

Married June 10, 1909, in Orange, N.J., Emilie Kingsley, daughter of Charles Kingsley and Matilda VanSinderen (Wickes) Ensign. Children Cynthia (died April 26, 1919), Cyril, Jr., '36, Kingsley Ensign, Jacquelin

Cynthia, and Charles, 3d.

Death due to diverticulitis of colon. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester. Survived by wife, one daughter, three sons, one granddaughter, and a sister, Miss Estelle Sumner of New York City.

#### George Wilshire, B.A. 1907.

Born August 19, 1884, in Newport, Ky. Died June 22, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, George P Wilshire, '71. Mother, Anna (Marshall) Wilshire. University School, Cleveland, Ohio. University Swimming Team (on racing team Junior year and water-polo team Senior year); secretary University Swimming Association Senior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club.

Traveled in Europe 1907; secretary Motor Mart of New York, real estate, New York City, 1908–16; with Kimberly-Clark, paper manufacturers, Neenah, Wis., 1917 and 1919, employed in New Haven 1919-22, 1924-44; in central planning department United States Rubber Company, 1919–22; with Connecticut Mortgage-Title Guaranty Company 1924-27; in trust department First National Bank 1927-29 and advertising manager 1929-44; unoccupied 1922-24; attended Southern Military Training Camp, Fort Oglethorpe, and on naval training cruise for civilians U.S S. Kentucky 1916; commissioned Ensign, Connecticut Naval Militia, April 5, 1917, mustered into federal service April 6, 1917; aide to Captain of Port and Outer Harbor of Boston, and Division and Watch Officer aboard U.S.S. Covington April 8-October 1, 1917, assistant Fire Control Officer U.S.S. Salem in European and Mexican waters October, 1917—August, 1918; promoted Lieutenant (1.g.) July 1, 1918; instructor in seamanship and naval administration Yale Naval Training Unit October, 1918—January, 1919; released from active duty January 11, 1919; member Connecticut Bankers Association, Financial Advertisers Association, and Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States; vestryman and treasurer Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven, 1923

Married June 28, 1919, in New York City, Florence Conrad, daughter of Arthur and Emma (Clementi-Smith) Lacey-Baker. Twin daughters Renze (B A Vassar Coll 1941), the wife of Reed A Weyburn, '40, and Marjory (B A. Vassar Coll 1941), the wife of David Sigbjorn Nelson (B A. Stanford Univ. 1935).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs James Erwin of Pasadena, Calif, and Mrs. James Leonard Graham of Camden, S.C.

## Simeon Baldwin, B.A. 1908.

Born November 19, 1884, in Bethlehem, Pa Died November 2, 1943, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, Henry Baldwin, secretary New York Exchange Company and Gallatin Fire Insurance Company, New York City; served in Civil War, selected at convention of patriotic organizations 1891 to collect a Library of Americana now in New York Public Library, son of Simeon and Ann Mehetable (De Forest) Baldwin of New Haven, Conn. Mother, Cornelia Estelle (Hoskins) Baldwin; daughter of Francis and Anne Estelle (Higginbotham) Hoskins of Philadelphia, Pa. Yale relatives include Roger Sherman (M.A. Hon. 1768) (great-great-grandfather), Ebenezer Baldwin (B.A. 1763) (great-great-uncle); Simeon Baldwin (B.A. 1781) (great-great-uncle)

grandfather); Ebenezer Baldwin (B.A. 1808), Roger S. Baldwin (B.A. 1811), and Henry G. De Forest (ex-1841 L) (great-uncles); Simeon E. Baldwin, '61 (uncle), and Henry deF. Baldwin, '85, and Roger S. Baldwin, '95 (cousins)

New Haven High School, Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, and

Taft School, Watertown, Conn. Member Alpha Delta Phi.

Engaged in real-estate business Brooklyn, N.Y., 1908–09; associated with Charles H. Tenney & Company, public utilities, Boston, 1909–11 (meter repairing Malden & Melrose Gas Light Company, Malden, Mass, 1909–10, cashier Peoples Gas & Electric Company, Oswego, N.Y., 1910, manager Peoples Gas & Electric Company, Stoneham, Mass., and Reading [Mass.] Gas Company 1911); cashier Southern California Gas Company, Riverside, 1911–12; treasurer Rule & Sons, Inc., general insurance, Los Angeles, 1912–13; assistant manager insurance department Robert Morse & Company, Los Angeles, 1913–14; independently engaged in general insurance and real-estate business, Los Angeles, 1914–43; secretary and treasurer Yale Alumni Association of Southern California 1916–18 and first vice-president 1919–20; a governor Yale Publishing Association; member St. James' Church (Episcopal), South Pasadena, Calif.

Married October 28, 1911, in Los Angeles, Helen Douglas, daughter of Archibald Lyle Macleish (M.D. Univ. Edinburgh 1881) and Grace Helen (Peffers) Macleish. Children: Simeon, Jr. (B.S. Univ. Southern California 1936), De Forest (B.S. Univ. California at Los Angeles 1939), and Virginia Sherman, the wife of Richard R. Brimer (B.S. Univ. California at

Los Angeles 1939).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Los Angeles Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Carroll Breed Abbott of Berkeley, Calif, and two brothers, Francis Hoskins Baldwin of Bethlehem, and David Higginbotham Baldwin of Redlands, Calif. Another brother, De Forest Baldwin, '99, died in 1900.

#### Caleb Smith Bragg, B.A. 1908.

Born November 23, 1885, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died October 24, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Gaius Cobb Bragg, ex-'79; son of Caleb Smith and Mary A. (Mills) Bragg of Cincinnati. Mother, Eugenia (Hofer) Bragg; daughter of Charles Fredrick and Sarah (Smith) Hofer of Cincinnati.

Asheville (N C.) School for Boys. Member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Zeta Psi.

Studied mechanical engineering at Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1908-09, amateur automobile and motorboat racer; winner Auto-

mobile Club of America International Grand Prix, Wauwatosa, Wis, 1912 and National Power Boat Association Gold Cup Race 1925, 1926, 1927, attaché United States Embassy in Paris 1914; vice-president Glenn L. Martin Company, manufacturers of airplanes, 1915; co-organizer Wright-Martin Company 1916 (later Wright Aeronautical Corporation), flying instructor First Yale Naval Aviation Reserve Unit, Miami, Fla., 1917-18; commissioned Captain, Air Service (Aircraft Production), October 17, 1918; experimental flyer for engineering division, Bureau of Aircraft Production, Mitchel Field, NY., and director of flying McCook Field, Dayton, Ohio; discharged December 10, 1918, winner of Curtis Marine Flying Trophy 1917 and champion altitude flyer 1919, associated with Carl Fisher in development of Montauk Point, N.Y, 1920, coinventor of booster vacuum brake; president Bragg-Kliesrath Corporation, makers of automobile accessories, Long Island City, NY, 1927 until 1929 when company became a subsidiary of Bendix Aviation Corporation, vicepresident Bendix Marine Products Company, South Bend, Ind (later Bendix Marine Products Division, Brooklyn, NY), 1935-41, president Langley Aviation Corporation 1941-42; vice-president C. M Keys Aircraft Service, Inc., New York City, 1942 until retirement March, 1943, author. Rule Book of the Aero Club of America (1922); president Wings Club (New York City) 1942-43; a governor Aero Club of America 1920-24; commodore Montauk Yacht Club 1930-38; member Institute of Aeronautical Sciences, Society of Automotive Engineers, and Episcopal church Unmarried.

Death'due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by a sister, Mrs Marion Bragg Aubert of Syosset, N.Y.

## Leonard Jacob Crawford, B.A. 1908.

Born November 7, 1886, in Newport, Ky. Died March 11, 1944, in Fort Thomas, Ky

Father, Leonard Jacob Crawford (LL B Univ. Cincinnati Coll. of Law 1882), a lawyer in Fort Thomas and Newport; chief counsel South Covington & Cincinnati Street Railways Company, son of Jacob Howard and Mary Elizabeth (Eckert) Crawford. Mother, Ella Jane (Homer) Crawford.

Franklin School, Cincinnati, Ohio Yale University Tennis Courts Freshman year; College Choir Senior year

Attended University of Cincinnati College of Law 1908–10 (LL.B. 1910); admitted to the bar 1910; lawyer in Newport 1910–44 (associated with his father in Crawford & Crawford 1910–25; partner Meadows & Crawford, and Galvin, Tracy, Crawford, Geoghegan & Levy 1941–44),

executive secretary Campbell (Ky.) Council of Defense 1917–18; president Campbell County Bar Association; member Episcopal church.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Southgate, Ky Survived by a brother, Clay Crawford, '09

#### Lewis Charles Everard, B.A. 1908.

Born November 7, 1884, in Corsicana, Texas. Died August 27, 1943, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Richard Everard, bookkeeper Roberts & Company, lumber merchants, New Orleans, La.; son of Richard and Caroline (Gow) Everard of New Orleans. Mother, Carrie Louise (Cantine) Everard, daughter of Lewis Henry and Ettie (Nye) Cantine of Michigan.

Prepared privately; graduate Soule's Commercial College, New Orleans Honors in studies of Freshman and Junior years, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; honors in English language and literature, John Addison Porter Prize in American History, and John H. Curtis Prize Senior year; Yale University Gymnastic Association four years (captain Senior year); member Freshman Union, Beta Theta Pi, and Phi Beta Kappa (president Senior year); secretary to William Lyon Phelps and Alfred K Merritt 1904–08. Attended Sorbonne and Collège de France (Phi Beta Kappa scholar) 1908–09 and Yale Graduate School 1909–11 (M.A. 1910).

Instructor in English Yale University 1911–15; assistant editor U.S. Forest Service publications, Washington, 1915–18, chief of publications 1918–20, editor, chief of educational cooperation, and assistant chief division of information 1925–29, chief editor Department of Agriculture 1920–21; economist and statistician (assistant to managing director) War Finance Corporation 1921–23; vice-president and a director Medical Standard Book Company, Baltimore, 1923–25, editor in charge of all publications, including Museum News, American Association of Museums, Smithsonian Institution, 1929–43; author: Zoological Parks, Aquariums, and Botanical Gardens (New Series, No. 12; 1932), editor: Year Book of U.S. Department of Agriculture (1929) and Handbook of American Museums (1932), contributed numerous articles on forestry and other subjects to various magazines, volunteer coach of gymnastics Washington Central Y M C A 1924–43.

Married September 16, 1908, in New Haven, Conn., Juanita Maginnis, daughter of Frank Moore and Anna (Noelle) Norman. Children: Nathaniel, '32 (died January 29, 1938); William Phelps, '32, '34 F., Howard

(died October 18, 1919); Marion (died March 2, 1916); and Frank Norman, ex-'41 S.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Rock Creek Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife, two sons, two grandchildren, and mother.

## Karl Wendell Kirchwey, B.A. 1908.

Born April 10, 1885, in Albany, NY Died October 29, 1943, in Rye, N.Y.

Father, George W. Kırchwey, '79 Mother, Dora Child (Wendell) Kırchwey.

Horace Mann School, New York City, attended Columbia University 1902–03. Entered Yale College with the Class of 1908, honors in general studies Junior year, philosophical oration appointment Senior year, contributed to Yale Literary Magazine and Yale Courant, member The Pundits (won prize Junior year), Zeta Psi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1908–11 (LL.B 1911, Ordnoraux Prize, an editor Columbia Law Review, member Phi Delta Phi); admitted to the bar 1911; clerk Simpson, Thacher [Thomas, '71] & Bartlett [Philip G, '81], lawyers, New York City, 1911–12, assistant attorney and later attorney Department of Justice, Washington, 1912–15, with Cadwalader, Wickersham & Taft [Henry W, '80], New York City, 1915; partner Konta [Geoffrey, '08] & Kirchwey 1915–18, Konta, Kirchwey, France & Michael 1919–21, Konta, Kirchwey & Michael 1922–26, and Konta, Kirchwey & Engel 1926–43, legal expert, advisory branch, Clothing and Equipage Division, Quartermaster Corps, United States Army, New York City and Washington, 1918, member 9th Coast Artillery, New York State Guard, 1918–19; member Bar Association of the City of New York and New York County Lawyers Association

Married (1) June 22, 1918, in Brooklyn, N.Y., Helen Hutchinson, daughter of Perlee Voorhees and Helen (Hutchinson) Jervis Children George Washington, 3d, '42, and Karl Wendell, Jr (BA Harvard 1942) Mr. and Mrs. Kirchwey were divorced in 1930 Married (2) August 20, 1930, in Stamford, Conn., Prunella Marjorie, daughter of Ernest Frank and Kathryn (Stocks) Bodkin Children Christopher Bodkin and Diana Bodkin.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Kensico, NY. Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Dorothy Kirchwey Brown (B.A. Barnard Coll. 1910), the wife of LaRue Brown (BA Harvard 1904, LL.B. 1906) of Boston, Mass., and Freda Kirchwey Clark (BA Barnard Coll. 1915), the wife of Evans Clark (BA. Amherst Coll. 1910; M.A. Columbia Univ. 1913) of New York City.

#### George Albert Peirce, B.A. 1908.

Born January 21, 1885, in Frankfort, Maine Died June 16, 1944, in Concord, N.H

Father, George Peirce of Frankfort; a retired business man; son of George Albert and Louisa (Pike) Peirce of Frankfort Mother, Emma (Patten) Peirce, daughter of John and Emeline (Young) Patten of Wiscasset, Maine

Peekskill (NY) Military Academy and Phillips-Andover. First colloquy appointment Junior year; second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi

Attended Harvard Law School 1908–11 (LL B. 1911); admitted to the bar 1912, with Bausman & Kellehar, attorneys, Seattle, 1912; bond clerk State Bank of Seattle 1913–16, in legal department Stone & Webster, engineers, Boston, 1916–24 (secretary of the company 1920–24); owner and manager Moosilauke Sheep Farm, Orford, NH, 1924 until retirement 1937, since retirement had resided in Wolfeboro, Concord, and Boscawen, NH; in Office of Price Administration and later State rationing attorney 1943–44, on board Boscawen Water Works; member Orford School Board and Farm Bureau and Congregational Church, Frankfort.

Married January 13, 1917, in Boston, Clara May Baker, ex-'15 Art, daughter of Rev. Frank Woods Baker, DD (BA Harvard 1881; B.D. Episcopal Theological School 1883), and Jennie Porter (Mills) Baker, and sister of Leonard W. Baker, '08 L., Dudley M. Baker, ex-'10 S, and Richard W Baker, '13 Children' George Albert, Jr., Jean (Middlebury Coll. for Women ex-'45), and Leonard Woods.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Blossom Hill Cemetery, Concord. Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Christine Peirce Douglas (B A Vassar Coll 1907; M A. Columbia Univ. 1910), the wife of Lionel Dale Douglas of Vancouver, British Columbia, and a brother, Earl S Peirce, '09 S.

## Joseph Lionel Seligman, B.A. 1908.

Born April 18, 1887, in New York City Died April 7, 1944, in Pensacola, Fla.

Father, Isaac Newton Seligman (B.A. Columbia Univ. 1876), member J & W Seligman & Company, bankers in New York City; son of Joseph

and Babette (Steinhardt) Seligman of New York City. Mother, Guta (Loeb) Seligman; daughter of Solomon and Betty (Gallenberg) Loeb of New York City. Yale relatives include a cousin, Walter Seligman, '13 S.

Columbia Grammar School, New York City, and Morristown (N J) School. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; coxswain Class crew three years; Freshman Glee Club; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year, University Glee, Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year, member Vala Carrella, National Research

ber Yale Corinthian Yacht Club and Psi Upsilon.

Studied banking in Europe 1908-11 (with Siegmund Robinow & Sohn, exporters, Hamburg, Dresden Bank, Hamburg, Banque de Bruxelles; Swiss Bankverein and Seligman Brothers, London); member J. & W. Seligman & Company 1911–20, vice-president Bond & Goodwin, bankers, New York City, 1921 until retirement from active business 1925; attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, June-July, 1916, commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance Officers Reserve Corps, June 1, 1917; appointed assistant to Chief of Field Artillery Section Carriage, June 13, 1917, transferred to Finance Department, Ordnance, and appointed assistant to Chief Disbursing Officer August 1, 1917; aide-de-camp to Brigadier General R. E. L. Michie, 53d Brigade, 27th Division, August 23, 1917—June 28, 1918; overseas May 17, 1918—December 19, 1918, assistant to financial requisition officer, Major Raymond Ives, '08, June 28, 1918— October 25, 1918; in office of Provost Marshal General October 25, 1918, until discharge December 20, 1918, promoted Captain, Military Police Corps, November 8, 1918, commissioned Major, Military Police Reserve Corps, November 10, 1921; commissioned Lieutenant Commander, United States Naval Reserve, March 7, 1932; attended Army Industrial College 1932-33; called to active duty November 26, 1941; ordered to Navy Pier, Chicago, as Security Officer; made Executive Officer September 25, 1942, transferred to Cape May, N.J, January 9, 1943, as controller at joint operating office, US Naval Base; ordered to Naval Air Technical Training Center, Norman, Okla., October, 1943; discharged because of ill-health January 27, 1944; trustee St. John's Guild, treasurer New York State American Legion; on unemployment committee appointed by President Hoover 1931, member Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States and American Academy of Political and Social Science

Married June 29, 1911, in North Hatley, Quebec, Josephine, daughter of William Hyer and Mary (Ellis) Knowles. Children. Joseph Lionel, Jr, '38 L., and Muriel Greta (died in infancy).

Death due to a gunshot wound Ashes interred in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife, son, a grandson, mother, and a sister, Margaret S Lewisohn, the wife of Samuel Adolph Lewisohn (B A Princeton 1904; LL.B. Columbia Univ. 1907) of Harrison, N.Y.

ł

#### Roswell Hiram Steele, B.A. 1908.

Born October 2, 1884, in Natchez, Miss. Died October 21, 1943, in South Plainfield, N.J.

Father, Major Hiram Roswell Steele, a lawyer in St. Joseph, La, and Brooklyn, NY., served with Company K, 10th Vermont Infantry, and U.S Volunteers during Civil War; son of Sanford and Mary (Hinman) Steele of Stanstead, Quebec, Canada. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Porter) Steele; daughter of Martin Reed and Elizabeth F. (Bacon) Porter of Brooklyn.

Brooklyn Polytechnic Preparatory School. Member Berkeley Associa-

tion.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1908–11 (LLiB. 1912); admitted to the bar 1913; associated with Squiers & Lee, lawyers, New York City, 1912–15; title examiner New York Title & Mortgage Company 1915–18, practiced with Edward F. Clark 1919; statistician Standard Statistics Company, Inc., New York City, 1919–31, 1936–39, and 1942 until retirement May, 1943; due to ill-health was unoccupied at various periods, member University Glee Club of Brooklyn (secretary 1922–23 and librarian) and Mendelssohn Glee Club of Plainfield, vestryman Christ Church (Episcopal), Clinton Street, Brooklyn, 1930–43,

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis and arteriosclerosis. Buried in Hill-side Cemetery, Scotch Plains Township, N J. Survived by a brother, Porter Steele, '02 Another brother, Charles M. Steele, '10, died July 18, 1943

# Miles Gordon Thompson, B.A. 1908.

Born April 2, 1881, in Lebanon, Ohio. Died August 8, 1943, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, David Edwin Thompson, a farmer in Lebanon; son of John Spinning and Jeanette (Colbert) Thompson of Lebanon. Mother, Margaret Elizabeth (Miller) Thompson; daughter of Peter and Margaret Elizabeth (Keogle) Miller of Lebanon.

Lebanon High School; teacher Bethel School, Warren County, Ohio, 1900–06, BA Lebanon University 1907. Entered Yale College Senior year, oration appointment.

Instructor in English University School, Bridgeport, Conn., 1908–11 and Hamilton Institute for Boys, New York City, 1911–13; instructor in Latin Princeton (N J.) High School 1913–19, acting principal 1919–20, principal 1920–29, and head Latin department 1929–43; attended summer

sessions Teachers College, Columbia University, 1917, 1919, 1920, 1922 (M.A. 1922) and studied at University of Oxford and in Rome and Paris, a director County Young Men's Christian Association, Princeton, member Council Boy Scouts of America and First Presbyterian Church, Princeton.

Unmarried.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Lebanon Cemetery. Survived by no immediate relatives

Mr. Thompson bequeathed a trust fund to Yale, to be known as the Miles Gordon Thompson Scholarship.

## [George] Clinton Merrick, B.A. 1909.

Born January 18, 1886, in Chicago, Ill. Died June 27, 1944, in Newberry, Mich

Father, George Peck Merrick (LL B Northwestern Univ. 1884), member Bayley, Merrick, Webster & Gregory, lawyers, Chicago, son of George Clinton Merrick (M.D. Rush Medical Coll 1851) and Mary (Peck) Merrick of Kankakee, Ill. Mother, Grace (Thompson) Merrick, daughter of James S and Nancy Shannon (Willets) Thompson of New Boston, Ill.

Northwestern Academy and Evanston Township (Ill) High School First colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; secretary University Football Association Junior year, assignment editor Yale Daily News Senior year, Apollo Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Sophomore and Junior years; University Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Senior year, member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Northwestern University School of Law 1909–12 (LL B. 1912), admitted to the bar 1912; lawyer in Chicago 1912–44, member Merrick & Merrick 1917–21, Bayley, Merrick, Webster & Gregory [Tappan, '10] 1921–32, Gardner, Foote, Morrow & Merrick 1932–41, and Gardner, Morrow, Fowler & Merrick 1941–44, alderman City of Evanston 1925–44, master in chancery, Circuit Court of Cook County, Ill., 1940–44, president Standard Motor Securities Corporation 1923–44, trustee Evanston Hospital Association 1922–44; enlisted in Tank Corps, United States Army, October 28, 1918, promoted sergeant December 5, 1918, at Camp Polk and Camp Greene with Headquarters Company, 307th Battalion, Tank Corps; discharged December 31, 1918, member Yale Club of Chicago (president 1923), Chicago and American Bar associations, and First Presbyterian Church, Evanston.

Married November 27, 1913, in Evanston, Gertrude Randolph Lake (B.A. Smith Coll. 1912), daughter of Richard Conover and Mary (Randolph) Lake. Children Nancy Thompson (B.A. Smith Coll. 1937), the

wife of Phil Edward Gilbert, Jr (B.A Dartmouth Coll. 1936; LL.B. Harvard 1939), George Clinton, '40, Richard Lake, '40, Jane Tappan, and Margaret Randolph (Smith Coll 1947).

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. John Breytspraak of Evanston, and a brother, Thompson Merrick, ex-'23.

Merrick Park in Evanston has been named to honor him.

### Clarence Eugene Secor, B.A. 1909.

Born October 2, 1885, in St. Paul, Minn. Died May 20, 1944, in Milwaukee, Wis.

Father, Clarence Eugene Secor, representative Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company in St. Paul, and Yonkers, N.Y.; son of Horace and Hannah (Fuller) Secor Mother, Florence (Van Deventer) Secor; daughter of David Provost and Maria Louise (Shea) Van Deventer.

St. Paul Academy and Phillips-Andover.

Clerk A. A Clarke, Oakes Company, accountants and auditors, New York City, 1909–11, examiner bonding department Fidelity & Casualty Company, New York City, 1911–12; employed in Milwaukee 1912–44, clerk Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company 1912–15; book-keeper National Knitting Company 1915–34; in sales department Chain Belt Company 1934–38; painter in oils and water colors Federal Art Project 1938–42; specialized in painting children and had exhibited his work throughout the country, employed by Cutter Hammer Manufacturing Company, electric controls, and Allis-Chalmers Manufacturing Company; member Seven Arts Society and Milwaukee Art Institute.

Married in April, 1917, in Waukegan, Ill, Elizabeth Hall Daughter: Betty-Jo

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee Survived by wife, daughter, two sisters, the Misses Josephine and Louise Secor of New York City, and a brother, H. Douglas Secor, '12 S

## Mortimer Clark Terrill, B.A. 1909.

Born November 4, 1888, in Newtown, Conn Died March 25, 1944, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Mortimer Beach Terrill, clerk Ansonia (Conn.) Savings Bank; son of Henry Botsford and Delia (Fairchild) Terrill Mother, Ellen Lucy

(Clark) Terrill; daughter of Robert Adams and Emeline (Blackman) Clark.

Ansonia High School Oration appointment and special honors in social sciences Senior year; member Freshman Basketball Squad

Associated with Phoenix Mutual Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1909–44 (assistant to editor publicity and educational departments 1909–11, field correspondent and in charge publicity branch of company's work 1911–18, agency secretary 1918–24, assistant secretary 1924–29, secretary 1929–30, second vice-president 1930–35, vice-president 1935–44, executive vice-president from January, 1944, and a director 1935–44), author of several articles on life insurance; trustee Society for Savings 1938–44, director American School for the Deaf, Connecticut Institute for the Blind, Hartford Hospital, Kingswood School (West Hartford), and Neuro-Psychiatric Institute of the Hartford Retreat; on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Hartford 1936 and Hartford Community Chest 1939–42, member Boy Scout Council, South Manchester, Conn, and St. Mary's Church (Episcopal), Manchester

Married June 21, 1913, in South Manchester, Ellen Helene, daughter of Richard Joseph and Mathilde (Janssen) Mommers Sons: Robert Clark, ex-'43, and Richard Mommers. Mrs. Terrill died in October, 1925

Death due to arterial hypertension. Buried in East Cemetery, Manchester Survived by sons, parents, three sisters, Miss Grace F. Terrill of Ansonia, Helen T. Vidal, the wife of Howard A Vidal, '06 S, and Miss Edna C. Terrill of Manchester, and a brother, Herbert W. Terrill of Ansonia Another brother, Robert L. Terrill, '19, died in 1927

## Nathan Flower George, B.A. 1910

Born July 14, 1888, in Danbury, Conn Died March 27, 1944, in New York City

Father, Nathan Monroe Flower George, son of Silas Leviticus and Caroline (Flower) George of Theresa, NY Mother, Flora Grace (Downs) George; daughter of George and Grace Drew (Crofut) Downs of Danbury. Yale relatives include two cousins, Charles H George, '94, and John G. George, '07 S.

Danbury High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Honors in studies of Freshman and Junior years, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Crew Squad; Freshman Glee Club; member Freshman Union, Berkeley Association, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Elihu, and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1910-12 (LL B. 1912),

admitted to the bar 1912; lawyer in New York City 1912–44; with Burlingham, Montgomery & Beecher 1912–15; member Ferris [Gilbert B., '10] & George 1915–17 and Wickes [Forsyth, '98] & Neilson (later Wickes, Neilson & Riddell, and Wickes, Riddell, Bloomer, Jacobi & McGuire) 1922–44, enlisted in United States Army May 15, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 27, 1917; promoted First Lieutenant November 18, 1917; overseas June 18, 1918—July 1, 1919, with 105th and 106th Field Artillery, and at United States Army Student Detachment, Sydney Sussex College, University of Cambridge; discharged July 15, 1919; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State and American Bar associations, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Stamford, Conn.

Married September 22, 1921, in Danbury, Theodora, daughter of Edward J and Theodora Crosby (Bloomer) von Gal. Children: John Downs (died September, 1938), Joan (Vassar Coll. 1945), Theodora von Gal, and Nathalia Flower.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Wooster Cemetery, Danbury. Survived by wife, daughters, and two sisters, Grace George Conde, the wife of Harold W Conde, '06, and Sara George Lansing, the wife of Edward S Lansing, ex-'17 S.

### Charles Messinger Steele, B.A. 1910.

Born December 27, 1887, in Natchez, Miss. Died July 18, 1943, in South Plainfield, N.J.

For family history see biography of his brother, Roswell H. Steele, '08. Brooklyn (NY.) Polytechnic Preparatory School and Lawrenceville (NJ) School Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, University Orchestra Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; member Dwight Hall and Delta Kappa Epsilon

With New York Life Insurance Company 1910–17 (assistant cashier, Seattle, Wash, 1910–12, cashier, Portland, Ore, 1912–13 and Cleveland, Ohio, 1914, agency organizer Toledo, Ohio, 1914–17, in business in New York City 1920 until retirement 1932; associated with H. A. Robinson & Company, importers, exporters, and commission merchants, 1920–21; in bond department Banker's Trust Company 1921–22; with States History Company, publishers, 1922–32 (treasurer 1923–24, vice-president 1924–32), president South Plainfield Chamber of Commerce 1934; municipal director Federal Emergency Relief Administration, South Plainfield; enlisted as machinist's mate (1st class) U.S. Naval Reserve May, 1917; engi-

neer U.S. Scout Patrol, assigned to the USS Anado, May, 1917—January, 1918; promoted chief machinist's mate March, 1918, and engineer ensign June 15, 1918; inspector of engine trials of submarine chasers January—September, 1918, entered Engineer's School, U.S. Naval Academy, October, 1918, commissioned Ensign January 31, 1919; assistant engineer U.S. New Mexico until discharge June 21, 1919; member American Legion, The Players (New York City), and Christ Church (Episcopal), Brooklyn.

Married August 24, 1926, in Brewster, Mass., Pauline Hartshorn, daughter of Mark Lorenzo and Katherine Emeline (Hartshorn) Miner Children Elizabeth Hinman and Polly Hartshorn.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Scotch Plains Township, N.J. Survived by wife, daughters, and two brothers, Porter Steele, '02, and Roswell H. Steele, '08 (died October 21, 1943).

## Albert Presby Colburn, B.A. 1911.

Born August 6, 1888, in Sharon, Conn. Died May 25, 1944, in Scarsdale, NY.

Father, Arthur Dwight Colburn, member Pettee & Colburn, groceries and general merchandise, Sharon Mother, Lura Violet (Hewins) Colburn.

Mt. Hermon (Mass) School and Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year, Freshman Navy; University Crew Junior year; Triennial Reunion Committee; member Beta Theta Pi.

Partner Pettee & Colburn 1911–17, in price and distribution section, fruits and vegetables, Massachusetts Food Administration, and later in charge Boston district retail market reports, Bureau of Markets, U S Department of Agriculture, 1917–19; with National Drug Stores Corporation, New York City, 1919; associated with George J. Ryan, Inc., real estate, insurance, and mortgages, Long Island City, N Y, 1920–44 (salesman 1920–32, became secretary and real-estate manager 1932, and was president at time of death); on Republican town committee, Sharon, and Westchester County Republican Committee; delegate to Massachusetts State Republican Convention; member Church of St James the Less (Episcopal), Scarsdale (secretary parish board)

Married June 28, 1917, in Brooklyn, NY., Lillian Balch Penchoen (BA Adelphi Coll. 1916), daughter of John H and Lillian Duncan (Nairne) Penchoen Son. Arthur Presby (Hamilton Coll. ex-'41)

Death due to uremia. Buried in churchyard of Church of St James the Less Survived by wife, son, and a half brother, Dwight P Colburn, '23

### Clarke Fox Hunn, B.A. 1911.

Born May 3, 1888, in Rochester, N.Y. Died November 3, 1943, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Joseph S. Hunn, '76 Mother, Mary Kempshall (Fox) Hunn. Yale relatives include. David L. Hunn (B.A. 1813) (great-great-grand-father), and Francis S. Hunn, '99 S, and H. Dean Hunn, ex-'99 Art (cousins).

East High School, Rochester. Second dispute appointment Junior year; first colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club; chairman Yale Courant Senior year; member Psi Upsilon.

Assistant in English Yale University 1911–12; traveled in Europe 1912–13; associated with Emerson Institute of Efficiency, Review of Reviews, New York City, 1913–14, assistant editor Literary Digest 1914–16; assistant editor Advocate of Peace, Washington, and acting office secretary American Peace Society 1916–18; with Christian Science Publishing Society, Boston, 1918–22 and International Bureau of Trade Extension, Washington, 1922–24; editor research publications, US Forest Service, 1924–43, member American Forestry Association and Third Church of Christ Scientist, Washington (reader 1929–33, member board of trustees, and chairman of the board)

Married March 17, 1917, in Washington, Anais Marguerite Suzanne, daughter of Emile de Girardin and Wilhelmina, Countess Tieffenbach. Son Robert Joseph (BA Haverford Coll. 1940; M.S. Univ. Michigan 1942).

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in Buffalo (N.Y.) City Cemetery Survived by wife and son.

## Theodore Willard Case, B.A. 1912.

Born December 12, 1888, in Auburn, N.Y. Died May 13, 1944, in Auburn, N.Y.

Father, Willard Erastus Case, LL D, a scientist in Auburn; son of Theodore Pettibone and Frances (Fitch) Case of Auburn Mother, Eva (Caldwell) Case; daughter of George Sage and Arabella Theodosia (Corwin) Caldwell of Auburn

St Paul's School, Concord, NH University Soccer Team Freshman year, member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon. Attended Yale School of Law for a few months.

Traveled and studied law 1912-15; engaged in physical research Case

Research Laboratory, Auburn, 1915-44; discovered several new photoelectric substances and developed infra-red telegraphy and telephony which led to sound on film; held patents on thalofide cell (1919), barium hydrogen photo-electric cell (1921), aeo light (1930, 1936), phono-film apparatus (1926, 1927, 1928, 1929, 1930, 1931); author of many papers on the results of his research; during World War I engaged in Government work on Special Board on Anti-Submarine Devices, and at Naval Experiment Station, New London, Conn. (in collaboration with Dr. R W Wood developed infra-red signaling system, providing ships with secret communication); was commended by Secretary of the Navy, M.S. George Washington University 1918; associated with Fox-Case Movietone Corporation 1926-29; engaged in production of cells for talking movies until 1934; president Pan American Trade Committee, New York City, 1939-41; trustee Seymour Library, Auburn, 1919-39 (vice-president 1926-38 and member Library Association 1917-44) and Cayuga Museum of History and Art 1936-44; member New York Electrical Society, American Chemical Society, American Physical Society, Electro Chemical Society, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Academy of Arts and Sciences, Optical Society of America, Royal Society of Arts (London), and St Peter's Church (Episcopal), Auburn

Married November 26, 1918, in Auburn, Alice Gertrude, daughter of George Field and Agnes Louise (Parsons) Eldred Children Theodore Willard, Jr, '42, Barbara Eldred (Vassar Coll. ex-'44), the wife of William Thorn Kissel, Jr. (Harvard ex-'44), Jane Frances Fitch, and John Pettibone (Class of 1947).

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Fort Hill Cemetery, Auburn. Survived by wife, children, a grandson, mother, and a sister, Dorothy C. Whitehouse, the wife of William Penn Whitehouse (B.A. Harvard 1917, LL.B. 1921) of New York City

### Peter Henderson, B.A. 1912.

Born May 2, 1887, in Jersey City, N J Died January 14, 1944, in Greenwich, Conn.

Father, Alfred Henderson, president Peter Henderson & Company, seed growers and distributors, New York City; son of Peter and Emily (Gibbons) Henderson of Jersey City. Mother, Mary Belle (Davis) Henderson; daughter of Joseph and Martha (Watson) Davis of Richmond, Va

Collegiate and Groff schools, New York City, and St. Paul's School, Concord, NH. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years;

member Freshman Navy Sophomore year (manager Junior year, president Senior year); on Class hockey team and championship Class crews Sophomore and Junior years, captain Dunham Boat Club Senior year, Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year; chairman Senior Promenade and Class Day committees; member Whiffenpoofs, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Associated with Peter Henderson & Company 1912–44 (vice-president 1914–19, president 1919–39, chairman of the board 1939–44); enlisted as private (1st class), United States Army, October 24, 1917, attended School of Military Aeronautics, Kelly Field No 1, San Antonio, Texas, October–December, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant December 29, 1917; in organization office, Signal Corps, Kelly Field, January–July, 1918; adjutant Squadron B, Air Service Military Aeronautics, Rockwell Field, San Diego, Calif, July, 1918, until discharge January 6, 1919; on fifteenth and thirtieth Class reunion committees, member Railroad Machinery Club, St Andrew's Society of the State of New York, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich.

Married August 2, 1918, in San Antonio, Aline, daughter of William Reid and Julie (Edson) Manierre Children Peter, Jr., ex-'42, and William Manierre, ex-'45.

Death due to uremia. Buried in Putnam Cemetery, Greenwich. Survived by wife, sons, and a sister, Mrs. Walter Barnard Cowperthwaite of New York City.

### Paul Leon Houston, B.A. 1913.

Born October 28, 1890, in Holyoke, Mass Died April 14, 1944, in Springfield, Mass.

Father, Joseph Edgar Houston, a farmer and lumber dealer in Holyoke; son of William E. and Sarah (Kimball) Houston of Haverhill, N H, and Holyoke. Mother, Harriet Adeline (Street) Houston; daughter of Alpheus and Sally Ann (Thorpe) Street of Northampton, Mass

Holyoke High School and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club Junior year, member Beta Theta Pi

With Millers Falls (Mass.) Paper Company 1913 and George C Gill division American Writing Paper Company, Holyoke, 1914–17; superintendent Nonotuck Paper Company, Holyoke, 1917–18; engaged in experimental work with gas mask and airplane paper, and editor technological papers, Paper Section, Bureau of Standards, Washington, 1918–23; president and treasurer Centennial Mills, Inc., manufacturers of straw wrapping, Valatie, N.Y, 1923–28; vice-president and assistant general

manager Marvellum Company, decorative papers, and manager box paper department Plastic Coating Corporation, Holyoke, 1928-44; member Colony Club of Springfield, Holyoke Rotary Club, Masonic order, and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Longmeadow, Mass.

Married October 1, 1917, in Holyoke, Margaret Grace Lyon (Wellesley Coll. ex-'18), daughter of Rev John Stanley Lyon, D.D. (B A New York Univ. 1886), and Ella Grace (White) Lyon. Children Whiting Street

and Stanley Lyon.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Forestdale Cemetery, Holyoke. Survived by wife, sons, and two sisters, Mrs. William R Chase and Mrs. Joseph H. Ely, both of Holyoke.

## Wallace Dale Holden, B.A. 1914.

Born April 3, 1891, in Danville, Ill. Died May 16, 1944, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Nathan Eells Holden (Univ. Illinois ex-'84), a lumber merchant in Danville, son of John Glidden and Edna (Van Buren) Holden of Danville. Mother, Lillian (Russell) Holden, daughter of George B and Nelle (Paget) Russell of Danville.

Phillips-Andover. Freshman Glee Club; on work committee Lowell

House and Dwight Hall; member Alpha Delta Phi

Instructor in French Montclair (N J.) Academy 1914–15, employed in New York City 1915–29 and 1931–42; in editorial and sales promotion departments American Book Company 1915–16; staff secretary Alexander Hamilton Institute 1916–18; engaged in analytical work United States Rubber Company 1918–24; assistant general manager James McCreery & Company 1924–29 and Hahne & Company, department store, Newark, N J, 1929–31; employed by U.S. Department of Labor 1931–42 and Social Security Board, Boston, 1942–44, New England representative War Manpower Commission 1944; house manager Boston's Stage Door Canteen; private (1st class) Aviation Section, Signal Corps, January 22, 1918, attended School of Military Aeronautics, Urbana, Ill; received flying instruction at Camp Dick and attended officers course Camp John Wise, discharged as cadet, Air Service, December 5, 1918.

Married June 30, 1920, in Cincinnati, Ohio, Virginia Miller (B A Univ Texas 1919), daughter of Clarence Heath and Anita (MacClendon)

Miller. Son: Richard Crosby (Tufts Coll Class of 1947).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Survived by wife, son, and two brothers, Timothy English Holden of Middletown, NY, and Russell J Holden, '11 S.

### William Studebaker Innis, B.A. 1914.

Born March 10, 1892, in Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Died December 2, 1943, in Providence, R.I.

Father, William R. Innis, '80. Mother, Dora Luetta (Studebaker) Innis. Yale relatives include Innis O'Rourke, '11 S., and John F. O'Rourke, '15 S. (cousins); and William W. White, '32, Innis S. Bromfield, '34, Arthur W Bromfield, '37, and Richard S. Aldrich, Jr., ex-'45 (nephews).

Cutler and Black schools, New York City, and Taft School, Watertown, Conn. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, University Glee Club (leader Senior year) and College Choir four years, University Quartet two years; coach Apollo Glee Club Junior year; president Yale Glee, Banjo and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year; member Whiffenpoofs, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club,

Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Bond salesman W. W. White [William W., '05] & Company, investment securities, Providence, 1914-20, clerk Rhode Island Hospital Trust Company and Rhode Island Hospital National Bank 1920, assistant secretary 1920-23, vice-president 1923-36, and first vice-president 1936-43; aide to Major Murphy, American Red Cross War Council, Paris, France, August, 1917—February, 1918, assistant director Bureau of Communications, American Red Cross Headquarters, Washington, May, 1918— March, 1919, president and a director Providence Community Fund 1935 and 1936 (chairman 1931 and 1932 campaigns and general campaign chairman several years); vice-president Providence Community Concerts Association 1931-43, trustee Lying-In Hospital 1929-43 and Rhode Island School of Design 1934–43 (member executive committee 1935–43, building committee 1935-36 and 1939-41, and finance committee 1936-43; director Providence Athenaeum Library 1929-32 (member finance committee 1929, 1930, 1931, 1933, 1934) and Providence Chamber of Commerce; on governing council Providence Y M C A. 1937-43; member Rhode Island Bankers Association (president 1936) and Yale Association of Rhode Island (president 1936 and 1939, vice-president 1938, secretary and treasurer), vestryman Grace Church (Episcopal), Providence.

Married October 2, 1915, in New Haven, Conn., Elizabeth Cruttenden, daughter of Alfred N. Wheeler, '75 S., and Lillian Edith (Wilson) Wheeler, granddaughter of Elisha Wilson, ex-1847, and sister of Richard E Wheeler, '15, and Alfred N Wheeler, '23. Children. William Reynolds, '38; Elizabeth Wheeler, the wife of Frederic Bliss Read, Jr.; and Peter

Studebaker

Death due to coronary heart disease. Buried in Swan Point Cemetery,

Providence. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Davenport Gordon Bromfield of Santa Barbara, Calif., and Janet Innis White Aldrich, the widow of Richard S. Aldrich, '06, and a step-brother, Donaldson Clark, '14.

## Henry Adam Marting, B.A. 1914.

Born October 28, 1892, in Portsmouth, Ohio Died November 25, 1943, in Cleveland Heights, Ohio.

Father, Frank Lewis Marting, president Marting Brothers Company, department store, Portsmouth; son of Henry and Mary (Knaper) Marting of Portsmouth. Mother, Emma (Sherman) Marting; daughter of George and Mary (Erb) Sherman of Portsmouth.

Portsmouth High School. First dispute appointment Senior year, Freshman Glee Club, University Football Team Senior year and named center on Walter Camp's second All-American football eleven, Class supper committee Senior year; chairman Senior Promenade Committee; member Alpha Delta Phi and Elihu.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1914–16 (LL B. 1916); admitted to the bar 1917; lawyer in Portsmouth 1917 and Cleveland 1919–43; in law office Garfield, MacGregor & Baldwin 1919, partner Tolles [King, '14], Hogsett, Ginn & Morley 1919–24, Tolles, Hogsett & Ginn 1924–39, and senior partner Jones, Day, Cockley & Reavis 1939–43; entered military service May 10, 1917, attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison, May 11–August 15, 1917; commissioned Captain, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917; commanding officer Company A, 1st Battalion, 322d Field Artillery, Camp Sherman and in France; overseas June 11, 1918—May 17, 1919; saw action in Meuse-Argonne sector September–November, 1918, with 32d Division, Army of Occupation; promoted Major March 9, 1919, discharged May 26, 1919, on board of governors Yale Club of Miami (Fla.); member Cleveland, Ohio State, and American Bar associations, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Cleveland

Married December 29, 1917, in Portsmouth, Nell, daughter of Leslie Charles and Retta (Reed) Turley Children. Janet Turley (B.A. Smith Coll. 1943), the wife of Armstrong Stambaugh, Jr. (B.A. Dartmouth Coll. 1942; Harvard School of Business Administration 1942–43), and Henry Alexander.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. Raffaelo Montuori of Rome, Italy, and four brothers, George Marting of Cleveland, and Albert, Ralph, and Royal Marting, all of Portsmouth.

## Sidney Albert Cook, B.A. 1915.

Born July 2, 1892, in New Haven, Conn. Died February 4, 1944, in Bridgewater Township, N J.

Father, Albert Stanburrough Cook, L H D, LL D., Litt.D (B.S. Rutgers Univ 1872, M.S. 1875, M A 1882; Dr Phil. Univ. Jena 1882; M A. Hon. Yale 1889), professor of English language and literature Yale University 1889–1921, professor emeritus 1921–27; son of Frederick Weissenfels and Sarah (Barmore) Cook of Montville, N.J. Mother, Emily (Chamberlain) Cook; daughter of Oscar Lafayette and Mary Zayde (Farrill) Chamberlain of Berkeley, Calif Yale relatives include an uncle, Frederick O Chamberlain, '91 M.

New Haven High School and Phillips-Andover. Freshman Fencing Team; assistant manager University Fencing Team Senior year.

Studied psychology Cornell University 1915–16; volunteer American Field Service, Section 2, and attached to French Army at Verdun September, 1916-March, 1917, entered military service May 15, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, NY.; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, August 13, 1917; commanding officer Company 317, Motor Supply Transport 402; on detached service 100th Aero Squadron, 2d Bombardment Group, overseas November 13, 1917—January 17, 1919, promoted First Lieutenant, Motor Transport Command, October 7, 1918, discharged January 28, 1919, studied philosophy, psychology, and education Yale Graduate School 1919-21 (M A. 1921; reader in psychology 1920-21), registered at Columbia University Graduate School 1923-28 (Ph D 1928, member Sigma Xi); instructor in psychology Rutgers University 1922-26, assistant professor 1926-28, associate professor 1928-31, head department of psychology and philosophy New Jersey College for Women 1929-44 and chairman supervising committee School for Child Study, psychologist New Brunswick, N J, school system 1922-32; lecturer in psychology Middlesex General Hospital, New Brunswick, 1925-30, psychological tester United States Army Induction Center, Newark, N J, and Governors Island, NY., 1942, on Bridgewater Township Board of Education 1937, contributed to *Journal of Educational Research* and Archives of Psychology, president mental hygiene department New Jersey State Teachers Association 1933, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science; member New York Academy of Sciences, American Genetic Association, American Academy of Political and Social Science, American Psychological Association, Phi Delta Kappa, Pi Gamma Mu, Psi Chi, Lambda Chi Alpha, and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married September 4, 1920, in Lansingburg, N.Y., Alison Loomis Cook (B.A. Smith Coll. 1918), daughter of Paul Cook (B.A. Rutgers Univ 1866, M.A. 1869) and Anna Sarah (Beveridge) Cook. Children Paul, 2d (Wesleyan Univ. ex-'43), James Carey, ex-'45 S., Andrew Beveridge, and Philip Sidney.

Death due to an automobile accident Ashes interred in Greensboro, Vt Survived by wife, sons, stepmother, and a sister, Mildred Emily Cook

(Vassar Coll. ex-'17) of Milton, Mass

## Herbert Godcho Mayer, B.A. 1915.

Born November 14, 1894, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 25, 1944, in Glencoe, Ill

Father, David Mayer, founder Schlesinger & Mayer (later Carson, Pirie & Scott), dry-goods merchants, Chicago, son of Henry David and Clara (Goldsmith) Mayer of Chicago Mother, Florence (Blum) Mayer, daughter of Godcho and Nettie (Schiffer) Blum of New York City. Yale relatives include. Levy Mayer, '76 L, and Isaac H. Mayer, '84 (uncles), and Robert H Mayer, '13 (cousin).

University High School, Chicago, and Phillips-Andover. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; Water Polo Team Junior year; manager University Swimming Team and president Yale Swimming Association

Senior year.

Attended University of Chicago Law School 1915–17 (J D 1917), admitted to the bar 1917, associated with Mayer, Meyer, Austrian & Platt, lawyers, Chicago, 1917 and 1919–30, secretary to Hon. Charles Vopicka, American minister to Rumania, at Jassy, 1917–18, enlisted U S Naval Reserve in Paris as cadet flyer July 9, 1918; stationed at Mouchic, France, and Bolsena, Italy, as student officer, discharged February 25, 1919, president Reliance Manufacturing Company, clothing, Chicago, 1930–44 (during World War II manufactured parachutes and clothing for the armed forces); director Michael Reese Hospital, Chicago, member North Shore Congregation Israel, Glencoe

Married October 4, 1922, in Highland Park, Ill., Marian, daughter of Milton F and Sadie (Benjamin) Goodman Children. Shirley and Ann.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, children, a sister, Marjorie Mayer Davis (Northwestern Univ ex-'24), the wife of General Abel Davis of Glencoe, and two brothers, David Mayer, Jr., '14 S., and Richard Mayer, '18 S

## Henry Black Rigby, B.A. 1915.

Born June 4, 1893, in Mansfield, Ohio. Died October 21, 1943, in Detroit, Mich.

Father, James Arthur Rigby, president The J. A. Rigby Cigar Company, Mansfield Telephone Company, Richland Mutual Insurance Company, and Citizens National Bank and Trust Company, Mansfield; son of William Henry and Ann Maria (Brown) Rigby of Fredericktown, Ohio. Mother, Mary (Black) Rigby; daughter of Joseph Hood and Alice (Graham) Black of Mansfield Yale relatives include: Joseph C. Black, '08, Charles H. Black, ex-'13, Frederic J. Grant, '17, and Leo S. Black, '18 (cousins).

Mansfield High School and Phillips-Andover. Dissertation appointment and honors of the second grade Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year.

Accountant, sales manager, and later secretary The J. A. Rigby Cigar Company 1915–17, enlisted as private, American Field Service, May, 1917; overseas June–December, 1917; made sous-chef, Section Sanitaire, Unit 69, July 14, 1917, and in active service in Verdun sector and in the advance of Côté de Poirre, discharged because of physical disability November, 1917; assistant disbursing officer war registration and draft for State of Ohio at Columbus 1918–19, treasurer and general manager De Klyn Candy Company, Cleveland, 1919–25; manager sales and service Abbotts Dairies, Inc., Philadelphia, 1925–28; an organizer, and president and treasurer Quaker Dairies, Inc., manufacturers and distributors of frosted food products, Detroit, 1929–43, chiefly credited with introduction and successful market development of modern frozen foods in Michigan 1933–43; member Masonic order and Park Avenue Baptist Church, Mansfield.

Married June 10, 1924, in Paris, France, Eleanor, daughter of Edward and Louise (Johnston) Grant. No children Mr. and Mrs Rigby were divorced in 1927.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mansfield Cemetery. Survived by mother and a sister, Hortense Rigby Tucker, the wife of John Hellums Tucker (B A Washington and Lee Univ. 1910; LL B. Louisiana State Univ 1920) of Shreveport, La

### John Richmond Gibb, B.A. 1916.

Born February 10, 1891, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died June 19, 1944, in Glen Cove, N.Y.

Father, John Richmond Gibb, president Mills & Gibb, lace dealers, Brooklyn and Islip, NY; son of John and Harriet (Balsdon) Gibb of

Brooklyn. Mother, Emily Josephine (Matthews) Gibb. Yale relatives include: William V. Hester, ex-'24 S. (cousin); and Harold W. Carhart, Jr., '37, and John G. Carhart, ex-'42 (nephews).

Pomfret (Conn.) School and Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn Member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, and Alpha Delta Phi

Volunteer American Field Service and served with French Army July-October, 1917; private (1st class) U.S. Army Field Service, Section Sanitaire, Unit 624, October, 1917—February, 1919, in Somme and Montdidier-Noyon defensives; wounded north of Compiègne June 9, 1918 and sent to Orleans Base Hospital 202; discharged February 1, 1919, awarded Croix de Guerre with citation from Marshal Pétain; honorary member Class of 1894, Columbia University, in recognition of his services in driving one of their ambulances; president John R. Gibb & Company, Inc, signs, and president and treasurer Gibb Holding Corporation until retirement from active business; chief boatswain's mate, U.S. Coast Guard Reserve, operating his own boat in Flotilla 1206, patrolling waters of Long Island Sound; instructor in piloting seamanship Oyster Bay (NY.) High School, exhibited at First Amateur Photographers Show, New York Yale Club, 1941.

Married (1) December 10, 1921, in New York City, Lois Cate Children: John Richmond, Jr. (Massachusetts Inst Technology ex-'44) and Phillip James. Mr. and Mrs. Gibb were divorced in 1927. Married (2) May 9, 1928, in Glen Cove, Priscilla Alden, daughter of Harvey Murdock Children: Scott Fickett and Priscilla Alden.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Locust Valley (NY) Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Ruth G. Carhart, the wife of Harold W. Carhart, '12, and Dorothy G. Whitlock, the wife of Bache McE. Whitlock.

## William Ephraim Mikell, Jr., B.A. 1916.

Born December 20, 1894, in Lincolnton, N C Died June 29, 1944, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, William Ephraim Mikell, LL.M., JUD, D.CL, LLD. (B.S. South Carolina Military Coll 1890; LLB. Univ. Virginia 1894), a lawyer in Sumter, S.C.; professor of law University of Pennsylvania 1898–1938, professor emeritus 1938–44, dean 1914–29; son of Thomas Price and Rebecca (Moses) Mikell of Sumter. Mother, Martha Turner (McBee) Mikell; daughter of Vardry Alexander and Mary Elizabeth (Sumner) McBee of Lincolnton.

William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; high oration appointment and second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; philosophical oration appointment Senior year; member Zeta Psi and Phi Beta Kappa

Entered service May 15, 1917; attended Officers Training Camp, Fort Niagara; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, attached to 312th Field Artillery, 79th Division, Camp Meade; overseas July 1, 1918—July 1, 1919, discharged August 7, 1919; attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1916–17 and 1919–21 (LL B. 1921), admitted to the bar 1921, partner Saul, Ewing, Remick & Saul, lawyers, Philadelphia, 1921–27 and 1930–44, assistant professor of law University of Pennsylvania 1927–30; vice-president Yale Club of Philadelphia 1933; member St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Germantown, Pa. Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in the churchyard of St Luke's Church. Survived by mother, a sister, Mary M. Hart, the wife of Rt Rev Oliver James Hart, 3d, D D, LL D. (B.A. Hobart Coll 1913; S.T.B General Theological Seminary 1916; B D. Union Theological Seminary 1917) of Philadelphia, and a brother, Thomas Price Mikell (B.A. Univ Pennsylvania 1925, LL.B. 1927) of Philadelphia.

### Carl Humphrey Strong, B.A. 1916.

Born June 27, 1893, in West Suffield, Conn Died April 4, 1944, in Quito, Ecuador.

Father, Rev Charles Bentley Strong (B.A Amherst Coll. 1873; B D. Hartford Theological Seminary 1877), a Congregational minister; son of Rev David Almerin Strong (B A. Williams Coll. 1845; grad. Connecticut Theological Inst 1848) and Sarah Ellen (Humphrey) Strong of Colrain, Mass, and East Granby, Conn Mother, Mary Ella (Beach) Strong (Mount Holyoke Coll ex-'81), daughter of Zophar and Mary (Hazard) Beach of Goshen, Conn Yale relatives include a great-uncle, Edward W. Bentley (B A 1850).

Torrington (Conn ) High School and Mt Hermon (Mass.) School.

Private, Battery A, 10th Field Artillery, Connecticut National Guard, June 20 until mustered out September 20, 1916, entered regular Army September 20, 1916; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Cavalry, November 30, 1916, promoted First Lieutenant January 30, 1917, Captain (temporary rank August 5, 1917) September 25, 1919, Major March 13, 1929, Lieutenant Colonel December 1, 1938, and Colonel January 9, 1941, attended Army Service Schools, Fort Leavenworth, September, 1916—January, 1917, graduate Cavalry School Advanced Course 1927 and Command and General Staff School 1928; commanding officer Troop H, 14th Cavalry, Eagle Pass, Texas, and on Mexican border January 31, 1917—May 1,

1918 (took part in Battle of San José, Mexico, December 29, 1917), stationed at Fort Sam Houston, Texas, 1919–20, Fort Des Moines and Camp Dodge, Iowa, 1919–21, Fort Stotsenburg and Fort Mills, Philippine Islands, 1922–23; with Troop A, 8th Cavalry, Fort Bliss, Texas, 1924–28, Brooks Field 1928, and Fort Brown 1929; detailed as senior inspector instructor 112th Cavalry, National Guard, Dallas, Texas, 1930–34, assistant to assistant chief of staff for Military Intelligence Headquarters, Second Corps Area, Governors Island, N.Y., 1934–39, assigned to historical section, Army War College, Washington, 1939–40, military attaché American Embassy, Bogotá, Colombia, 1940–42; plans and training officer Cavalry School, Fort Riley, 1942; on general staff duty Miami Beach, Fla, and Caribbean Command Headquarters, Panama, Canal Zone, 1942–44, member Military Order of the World War, New York Society of Military and Naval Officers of the World War, and Congregational Church, Harwinton, Conn.

Married May 4, 1918, in New Haven, Conn., Margaret Louise Boyer (Univ. Chicago ex-'13; New York Univ. 1935–36), daughter of Frederick Nathan and Sarah Ann (Wiley) Boyer.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in The Military Cemetery, Corozal, Canal Zone. Survived by wife and a sister, Doris Mabel Strong (Mus B. Yale 1928).

### Oliver Wade Spencer, B.A. 1917.

Born December 19, 1891, in St. Louis, Mo. Died June 18, 1944, in White Plains, N.Y.

Father, Selden P. Spencer, '84. Mother, Susan Mary (Brookes) Spencer Yale relatives include a great-grandfather, Samuel S. Spencer (B.A 1848). Central High and University schools, St. Louis. Apollo Glee Club Junior year; member Beta Theta Pi.

Enlisted as private, Infantry, June 14, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant direct, 5th Missouri Infantry National Guard (later federalized as 138th Infantry, 35th Division), Camp Doniphan, Fort Sill, June 20, 1917; promoted First Lieutenant January 12, 1918, and Captain October 30, 1918; grenade instructor Company I; transferred to Company H, 138th Infantry, Camp Doniphan, February 1, 1918, overseas May 2, 1918—February 24, 1919; in action in Vosges and Verdun sectors, attended Army Line School at Langres; in charge battalion in Argonne, made Regimental Operations Officer October 25, 1918; slightly gassed at Verdun November 5; received citation from General Pershing, awarded Croix de Guerre with silver star July 6, 1918; in Casualty Division, Adjutant General's Office, Washington, March–May, 1919; discharged May 10, 1919, associ-

ated with Standard Oil Company of New Jersey in New York City and Buenos Aires, Argentina, 1919–20, represented West India Oil Company in Valparaiso and Santiago, Chile, and Buenos Aires 1920–23; with American Brake Shoe and Foundry Company, New York City, in Mahwah, N.J., and Chicago 1923–24 and its subsidiary Southern Wheel Company, St Louis, 1924–44 (sales representative 1924–39, vice-president 1939–44); transferred to New York office in 1942; member St Louis Railway Club, Southwestern Master Car Builders & Supervisors Association, Railway Supply Men's Association, Sons of the American Revolution, and Second Presbyterian Church, St Louis.

Married March 4, 1933, in Louisville, Ky., Susan Moore, daughter of John Helm and Eliza Churchill (Payne) Marriott. Son: Oliver Wade, Jr.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, J. Brookes Spencer, '10. Another brother, Selden P Spencer, '12, died in 1930

### William Harold Chain, B.A. 1918.

Born December 1, 1894, in Kovno, Russia. Died August 29, 1943, near Camp Fannin, Tyler City, Texas.

Father, Max Chain, a clothing merchant in New Haven, Conn; son of Phillip Chain of Kovno. Mother, Sarah (Obus) Chain; daughter of Lewis E and Libbie (Kamscholl) Obus of Kovno Yale relatives include: Bennett E. Glazer, '10 S, Michael H Glazer, '13, and Edward Glazer, '20 S. (cousins)

New Haven High School First colloquy appointment Senior year.

Attended Yale University School of Medicine 1917–18 and Long Island College of Medicine 1919–23 (M D 1923); interne Buffalo (N Y.) General Hospital 1923–24; physician in New Haven 1924–42; enlisted as private, Medical Enlisted Reserve Corps, June 15, 1918; served overseas with Mobile Hospital 100 and at hospital in Brest November 11, 1918—March 22, 1919, discharged April 4, 1919; called to active duty June 1, 1942; medical officer Station Hospital, Camp Joseph T. Robinson, June 1–July 4, 1942, commanding officer Infirmary I, 22d Regiment, July 4–November 1, 1942, and Infirmary D, 13th Regiment, November 1, 1942—July 19, 1943; commanding officer Infirmary D, 13th Regiment, Camp Fannin, July 20–August 29, 1943, member Grace Hospital Relief Association of New Haven and Congregation Sheves Achim, New Haven.

Married May 16, 1942, in Oklahoma City, Okla., Lynn, daughter of Jacob and Risa (Rosmarine) Berman.

Death due to injuries received in a motor vehicle accident. Buried in Sheves Achim Cemetery, East Haven, Conn. Survived by wife, mother,

and two brothers, Michael L. Chain, '18S, and Benjamin E Chain of New Haven.

### Gerard Fruin Hubbard, B.A. 1918.

Born April 6, 1897, in Verona, N.Y. Died October 1, 1943, in Silver Spring, Md

Father, Howard Fruin Hubbard (M.D. New York Univ 1887), a physician and surgeon in Rome, N.Y; son of Asher Wilcox and Jane (Fruin) Hubbard of Cazenovia, N.Y. Mother, Edith Louise (Nourse) Hubbard, daughter of Irving Johnson and Elizabeth (Putnam) Nourse of Rome

Rome Free Academy; attended Hamilton College 1914–15 (member Psi Upsilon) and Cornell University 1915–16 Entered Yale College Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year; University Glee Club Senior year.

Engaged in sales promotion work with United States Rubber Company, New York City, and Richmond, Va., 1918–20; reporter Rome Daily Sentinel 1920–28; in illustrations division National Geographic Magazine 1928–43; contributed to periodicals; trustee Silver Spring Library 1938–41; member National Press Club and First Presbyterian Church, Rome.

Married June 15, 1928, in Princeton, N J., Joanna Woolverton Beyer (B.A. Smith Coll. 1922), daughter of John Woolverton and Mabel Julia (Rosenstock) Beyer. No children.

Took his own life. Buried in Union Cemetery, Rockville, Md Survived by wife, mother (Mrs Kenneth Douglas Copeland), and a half brother, William Howard Hubbard.

### Alfred Merrill Kreutz, B.A. 1918.

Born June 30, 1897, in Boston, Mass. Died December 13, 1943, in Scarsdale, NY.

Father, Max Paul Woldemar Kreutz, member Kreutz and Mitchell, wholesale furniture brokers, Boston, son of Moritz and Pauline (Kunze) Kreutz of Leipzig, Germany. Mother, Henrietta Jane (Ellingwood) Kreutz; daughter of Joseph and Jane (Gaskill) Ellingwood of Grand Manan Island, New Brunswick, Canada.

Sharon (Mass.) High School. Third grade honors Freshman year; oration appointment Junior year, University Lacrosse Team Senior year, Freshman Debating Team; University Debating Association Junior year, business manager Yale Courant Senior year; member Zeta Psi and

RO.T.C. at Yale (mess sergeant Battery B, 10th Field Artillery, 1916,

captain Battery I 1917–18)

Entered active service as private June 19, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant direct August 6, 1918, and First Lieutenant October 23, 1918; stationed at Camp Jackson with 22d Battalion, Field Artillery Replacement Depot, and later adjutant Military Police there, discharged March 17, 1919; New England salesman, chemical products division, E. I. duPont de Nemours & Company, Wilmington, Del., 1919–23; in partnership with his father in firm Kreutz and Son, wholesale furniture, Boston, 1923–26, eastern manager Grand Rapids Furniture Company, with offices in New York City, 1926–28, with Berkey & Gay Furniture Company (division of Simmons Company), Boston, 1928–31, in advertising department The Pictorial Review Company, New York City, 1931–35; associated with Time, Inc., 1935–43 (on advertising staff Fortune 1935–36 and Life 1936–43; manager Chicago office 1939–41 and New York office 1941–43); Alumni Fund agent for Class of 1918 from 1942 to 1943; member American Legion and Congregational Church, Sharon.

Married June 19, 1933, in New York City, Helen Louise, daughter of John Gordon and Mary Jane (Quinn) Slauson Children Merrill Anne,

Peter, and Paul.

Death due to pulmonary edema. Ashes interred in Ferncliff Mausoleum, Ardsley, N.Y Survived by wife, children, father, and a sister, Pauline K. Martin (B.A. Wheaton Coll [Mass.] 1922), the wife of Harold Martin of Miami, Fla

### Noel Erskine Hanf, B.A. 1921.

Born July 31, 1898, in Ossining, N.Y. Died December 31, 1943, in Ossining, NY.

Father, George Valentine Hanf, owner George Hanf's Jewelry Store, Ossining Mother, Catherine (Croft) Hanf.

Ossining High School Apprentice seaman, Yale Naval Training Unit, September, 1917—June, 1918, released from active service December 21, 1918, member Berkeley Association.

Associated with Farmers Loan and Trust Company (later City Bank Farmers Trust Company), New York City, 1921–43 (assistant trust officer 1931–43).

Married July 8, 1936, in Port Washington, N.Y., Phyllis Norman Son: Noel Erskine, Jr

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Dale Cemetery, Ossining. Survived by wife, son, and mother.

# Raymond Barnard Miles, B.A. 1921.

Born November 25, 1898, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died February 2, 1944, in the European Theater of War.

Father, William Oris Miles (LL B Columbia Univ. 1885), a lawyer in Brooklyn; son of Daniel De Bras Miles (M.D Hahnemann Medical Coll and Hospital 1866) and Mary (Jones) Miles of Indiana Mother, Laura Marie (Petipas) Miles; daughter of Benjamin and Marion (Bell) Petipas of Medford, Mass.

Friends' School, Brooklyn, and Phillips-Andover. Apollo Banjo-Mandolin Club Junior year; member R O.T.C. at Yale, enlisted Aviation Section, Signal Reserve Corps, February 11, 1918, called into active service June, 1918; cadet School of Military Aeronautics, Princeton, N.J., June–September, 1918; stationed at Camp Dick September–November, 1918, Eberts Field November, 1918—January, 1919, and Love Field January, 1919, until discharge March 15, 1919; commissioned Second Lieutenant March 14, 1919, awarded B.A in 1924 with enrollment in Class of 1921. Attended Yale School of Medicine 1920–24 (MD 1924; member Alpha Omega Alpha).

Interne Brooklyn Hospital 1924–26, clinical assistant in surgery 1927–33, and associate 1933–42; resident pathologist Bellevue Hospital, New York City, 1926–27; physician and surgeon in Brooklyn 1927–33 and surgeon 1933–42; medical examiner in office of Chief Medical Examiner, New York City, and assistant surgeon Kings County Hospital, Brooklyn, 1927–42; instructor in surgery Long Island College of Medicine 1933–38 and assistant clinical professor 1938–44; commissioned Major, Army Medical Corps, November 3, 1942; with Long Island Hospital and Medical College Unit; went overseas October, 1943, fellow American College of Surgeons; member Brooklyn Surgical Society, medical societies of the County of Kings, of the County of New York, and of the State of New York, American Medical Association, and Church of the Pilgrims, Brooklyn.

Married August 25, 1933, in New York City, Cathryn Cole (Colby Coll. ex-'24), daughter of John Burke and Jennie Moore (Hamilton) Cole. Children: Vivian, Raymond Barnard, Jr., and William David.

Death due to accidental asphyxia from anesthetization Buried in American Military Cemetery, Brookwood, England Survived by wife, children, mother, two sisters, Mildred Miles (Pratt Inst. 1916–17, Columbia Univ. 1922–24) and Irene Miles Downes (B A. Vassar Coll 1910, M A Columbia Univ 1921), the wife of Olin Downes of New York City, and a brother, Mark Robin Miles of Dover, N J.

### Theodore Carswell Hume, B.A. 1925.

Born July 10, 1904, in Miraj, India. Died October 22, 1943, near Goteborg, Sweden.

Father, Edward Hicks Hume, LL.D. (B.A. 1897, M.A. Hon. 1912; M D Johns Hopkins Univ. 1901), secretary Christian Medical Council for Overseas Work; former president Yale-in-China; son of Rev. Edward Sackett Hume (B.A. 1870, M A. Hon 1892) and Charlotte Elizabeth (Chandler) Hume Mother, Lotta (Carswell) Hume; daughter of Lockhart Scott and Annie (Buckley) Carswell. Yale relatives include: John Chandler (B A 1759) (great-great-great-great-uncle); Joseph Chandler (B.A 1842) (great-great-uncle), John Eddy Chandler (B.A 1844) (great-grandfather), Robert A. Hume, '68, John S. Chandler, '70, and Edward H Chandler, '85 (great-uncles); John Chandler Hume, ex-'05, and Robert Woolsey Hume, ex-'07 (uncles), and David M. Hume (Class of 1945W S) (cousin)

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and first rank Sophomore year; Junior Exhibition speaker; preliminary honors in English, scholar of the first rank, and second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year; philosophical oration appointment and second Thacher Memorial Fund Prize Junior year and first prize Senior year; honors in English, Alpheus Henry Snow Prize for Scholarship and Character, and Townsend Premium Senior year, member Freshman and Sophomore Crew squads, University Swimming Squad Junior year; Freshman Quartet, University Quartet Senior year; member University Glee Club and Chapel Choir four years; an editor Yale Daily News, campus editor Yale Alumni Weekly, president Yale Union and Class deacon Sen-10r year; member University Debating Association (manager Junior year and vice-president Senior year), Yale College Christian Association (cabinet Sophomore year, chairman Foreign Missions Junior year, and chairman deputations committee Senior year), University Club, Psi Upsilon, Elihu, Delta Sigma Rho, and Phi Beta Kappa

French Government scholar in history at the Sorbonne, Paris, 1925–26; Rhodes Scholar at large, New College, University of Oxford, 1926–28 (BA 1928, first-class honors) and Mansfield College, Oxford, 1928–29; attended annual conference of Confédération International des Étudiants, Prague, Czechoslovakia, summer 1925, delegate and publicity representative Nineteenth World's Conference, World Alliance of Young Men's Christian Associations, Helsinki, Finland, 1926; special Geneva correspondent for several American newspapers at League of Nations Assembly summers 1925, 1926, 1927; attended Union Theological Seminary, New York City, 1929–30 (B.D magna cum laude 1930); student assistant Madi-

son Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City, 1929–30; ordained in Summerdale Congregational Church, Chicago, December 1, 1930, and minister there 1930–32; minister New England Congregational Church, Chicago, 1932–39 and Claremont (Calif.) Congregational Church 1940–43; appointed secretary Department of Postwar Reconstruction, World Council of Churches, 1943; translator The Immediate Origins of the War by Pierre Renouvin (1928); member American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions of the Congregational and Christian Churches (vice-president prudential committee 1938–40; member China and candidate committees)

Married June 22, 1929, in Oxford, England, Gertrude, daughter of Elbert Francis Baldwin, L.H D. (B.A. Williams Coll 1884, M.A 1887; Univ. Berlin 1884–86), and Mary (Washburn) Baldwin Children Jean

Sterling, Frances Baldwin, Edward, Marian, and Martha.

The Rev. Mr. Hume lost his life when the Swedish plane *Gripen* in which he was traveling from England to Sweden was shot down by a German pursuit plane. Survived by wife, children, parents, and two sisters, Charlotte Elizabeth Hume Freeman (B A. Vassar Coll 1927; M A. Columbia Univ 1928), the wife of Dr. Norman E. Freeman, '24, and Kathrina Joy Hume Falk (B.A. Vassar Coll 1938), the wife of Leslie Alan Falk (B.A. Univ. Illinois 1935; Washington Univ School of Medicine 1935–37; Ph D Univ. Oxford 1940; M D Johns Hopkins Univ. 1942).

## Jules Coulter Randal, B.A. 1926.

Born November 17, 1903, in Kansas City, Mo Died March 6, 1944, in Troy, NY.

Father, Jules Coulter Rosenberger (Univ. Michigan ex-'95), member Rosenberger & Reed, lawyers, Kansas City, son of Gabriel and Minchen (Cohen) Rosenberger of Kansas City Mother, Blanche Janet (Hess) Randal; daughter of Jonah Hess of New York City.

Westport High School, Kansas City, and Taft School, Watertown,

Conn Freshman Crew Squad.

Attended Harvard Law School 1926–29 (LL B. 1929); admitted to the bar 1929, lawyer in Buffalo, NY, 1929–42 (member Donovan, Raichle & Randal 1929–34); associated with Guggenheimer & Untermyer, lawyers, New York City, 1942–44.

Married May 11, 1928, in Kansas City, Judith Claire Stern (B A Wellesley Coll. 1927), daughter of Sigmund Stern and F. Sybil (Cohen) Stern (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1901). Children: Judith Ellen and Jonathan Coulter.

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Kansas City Survived by wife, children, and mother.

### Charles Francis Cotter, Jr., B.A. 1927.

Born April 10, 1904, in Lynn, Mass. Died May 2, 1944, in Lynn, Mass.

Father, Charles Francis Cotter, president and treasurer Cotter Shoe Company, Lynn; son of John and Anne (Harney) Cotter of Lynn. Mother, Agnes Helena (Sheehan) Cotter; daughter of Dennis M. and Mary A. (Harrington) Sheehan of Lynn.

St John's Preparatory School, Danvers, Mass, Moses Brown School, Providence, R.I., Clark School, Hanover, N.H., and Milford (Conn.) School

Attended Harvard Law School 1927–28; employed in Boston 1928–44, statistician Gurnett & Company 1928–30 and other New York Stock Exchange firms until 1933; senior accountant for a C.P.A. firm 1934, bank examiner Commonwealth of Massachusetts 1935; assistant liquidating agent for a closed bank in Cambridge, Mass., 1936; since 1936 had assisted his father with his investments; member St. Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), Lynn.

Unmarried

Death due to probable coronary thrombosis. Buried in St. Joseph's Cemetery, Lynn. Survived by parents, two sisters, Miriam Cotter O'Neil (Wheaton Coll [Mass] ex-'31), the wife of William Michael O'Neil, Jr (B.A. Coll of the Holy Cross 1934), of Cleveland, Ohio, and Anne Cotter Todd, the wife of Carlos José Todd (Columbia Univ. ex-'40) of Havana, Cuba, and five brothers, John Cotter, '24, Paul Jerome Cotter (Brown Univ ex-'29) of Lynn, Philip Lawrence Cotter of Lynn, Joseph S. Cotter, '33, and Robert William Cotter (B.S. Northeastern Univ. 1939) of Wabash, Ind

### John Beegan Byrne, B.A. 1928.

Born October 24, 1906, in New Haven, Conn.

Died August 10, 1943, at Fort McAndrew, Argentia, Newfoundland.

Father, James Joseph Byrne of New Haven; a railway mail clerk; son of Thomas Henry and Ann (Killion) Byrne of New Haven. Mother, Ellen Elizabeth (Beegan) Byrne; daughter of Michael and Ellen (Moakley) Beegan of New Haven.

New Haven High School; attended College of the Holy Cross 1923–24. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year and third rank Sophomore year; oration appointment Junior year; member University Football Squad Junior year.

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1929–33 (M.D. 1933); interne St. Joseph's Hospital, Yonkers, N.Y., July–September, 1933, St. Mary's Hospital, Brooklyn, N Y., October–December, 1933, and St. Vincent's Hospital, New York City, January, 1934—December, 1935; resident surgeon Rockland State Hospital 1936 and New York State Reconstruction Home for Crippled Children, West Haverstraw, 1937; physician and surgeon in Nyack, N.Y, 1937–42; commissioned Captain, Army Medical Corps, March 17, 1942; surgeon Station Hospital, Fort du Pont, Del., April, 1942; chief of surgical staff 309th Station Hospital, Fort McAndrew, April, 1942—August 10, 1943, and commanding officer of medical detachment on the post February–August 10, 1943, designed a brace for correction of infantile paralysis victims' limbs, which was accepted by the Government in 1938, member St. Ann's Church (Catholic), Nyack.

Unmarried.

Death due to meningitis Buried in Soldiers Cemetery, Fort McAndrew. Survived by mother and a sister, Helen Moakley Byrne (New Haven State Teachers Coll. 1924) of New Haven

## Benjamin Howard Larrabee, Ph.B. 1928.

Born February 25, 1906, in South Bellingham, Wash. Died January 29, 1944, in Chicago, Ill

Father, Charles Xavier Larrabee, president Pacific Realty Company, South Bellingham; son of William and Mary Ann (Johnson) Larrabee of Omro, Wis Mother, Frances (Payne) Larrabee; daughter of Benjamin Howard and Adelia (Grey) Payne of St. Charles, Mo

Fairhaven High School, South Bellingham, and Thacher School, Ojai, Calif. Scholar of the second rank Sophomore year and of the third rank Junior year; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Wrestling Squad; University Wrestling Squad Junior year; Class baseball team Freshman and Junior years; Freshman Choir; member Zeta Psi

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1928–30 (M.B A. 1930) and research assistant there 1930–32; in comptroller's department The Northern Trust Company, Chicago, 1932–44 (manager trust analysis division 1935–42, assistant comptroller 1942–44), treasurer Harvard School of Business Administration Alumni, Chicago, 1943–44, member Chicago branch American Institute of Banking, Corporate Fiduciary Society, and St. Elizabeth's Church (Episcopal), Glencoe, Ill.

Married September 19, 1932, in Boston, Mass., Geraldine Loveland, daughter of Maurice Morrell and Laura Boyton (Adams) Berg Children Geraldine Morrell and Jefferson Payne.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Memorial Park Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. Mary Larrabee Bourque of Pasadena, Calif, and two brothers, Charles Francis Larrabee (B.A. Reed Coll 1917; M B.A. Harvard 1925) of Bellingham, and Edward Conyers Payne Larrabee (B.A. Reed Coll. 1923; B.A. Univ. Oxford 1926, M.A. 1930) of Spokane, Wash

### Damon deBlois Wack, B.A. 1929.

Born April 23, 1907, in New York City. Died February 1, 1944, in St Louis, Mo.

Father, Henry Wellington Wack of Lakeville, Conn., and Buena Vista, Colo, lawyer, author, artist, and lecturer; member Dunne, Rutherford & Wack, lawyers, New York City; cofounder Field & Stream 1896; son of Charles George Augustus and Elizabeth W. (Noss) Wack of Baltimore. Mother, Lilian Tremere (deBlois) Wack; daughter of John Tremere and Julia Fuller (Damon) deBlois of Boston and New York City.

Peddie School, Hightstown, N.J. Scholar of the second rank Sophomore year and of the third rank Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Crew Squad and Boxing Team; leader Freshman Glee Club, member University Glee Club (president and leader Senior year) and University Quartet four years; on business board Yale Literary Magazine Sophomore year, advertising manager Senior year; Junior Promenade and Senior Class Book committees, member University Club, Whiffen-

poofs, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

With Laird, Bissell [George Perkins, '90 S.] & Meeds, investment securities, Wilmington, Del, and New York City, 1929, Zapon Company, Stamford, Conn, 1929–30, and Atlas Powder Company, Wilmington, 1930–32, vice-president Richards [Eugene Lamb, 3d, ex-'29] and Wack, Inc., New York City, publishers of Railroad Security Analysis—Visual Method and Public Utility Security Analysis—Visual Method, 1932–35, in South San Francisco office American Brake Shoe and Foundry Company of New York 1935–41 (vice-president 1939–41) and assistant to the president of its subsidiary, National Bearing Metals Corporation, St. Louis, 1941–42, executive vice-president 1942–44; became treasurer Lenzart, Inc., printing process, San Francisco, 1937; chairman St. Louis committee of War Production Fund to Conserve Manpower; on War Production Board Industry Advisory Committee, member Engineers Club of San Francisco and Church of St. Michael and St. George (Episcopal), Clayton, Mo.

Married (1) December 28, 1929, in Salisbury, Conn, Virginia Moore, daughter of Ward Crawford and Ellen (Moore) Belcher. Children: Ward

Belcher and Virginia deBlois. Married (2) April 23, 1942, in St. Louis, Janet Gardner Hawes, daughter of Frederick Dozier and Jeannette (Vosburgh) Gardner.

Death due to pneumonitis. Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St Louis Survived by wife, children, parents, a sister, Mrs. Eugene François Suter of New York City, and a brother, John Tremere deBlois Wack of Washington.

## Warner Marshall, Jr., B.A. 1930.

Born April 4, 1909, in Newton, Mass Died December 12, 1943, in the Assam Valley, India

Father, Warner Marshall (Western Reserve Univ. ex-'00; LL B Yale 1902), of Claremont, Calif., son of Henry Clay Marshall (Oberlin Coll 1866-68) and Mary Adelia (Frack) Marshall of Girard, Ohio Mother, May Belle (Tupper) Marshall (B.A. Vassar Coll 1901), daughter of Rev. Kerr Boyce Tupper, D.D, LL D (B.A. Mercer Univ 1871), and Lucilla (Sloan) Tupper of Greenville, S.C.

Fessenden School, West Newton, Mass, and Phillips-Andover Scholar of the third rank Junior year; honors in economics Senior year, Freshman Wrestling Team; University Wrestling Squad Sophomore year.

In investment business in New York City 1930-42, in corporation buying department Halsey, Stuart & Company, Inc , 1930-34; with Howard & Robbins, Inc., 1934-35; partner Marshall & Greenwood 1935-36 and Marshall & Company 1936-39; president and treasurer Warner Marshall & Company, Inc., 1939–42; commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Army Air Forces, June 20, 1942; attended Officers Training School, Miami Beach, Fla., June-August 8, 1942, promoted First Lieutenant November 20, 1942, and Captain March 4, 1943; assigned to Office of Assistant Chief of Air Staff, Plans, Headquarters Army Air Forces, Washington, August, 1942; member planning staff of Army Air Forces at inter-allied conferences at Quebec, Cairo, and Teheran, co-author An Outline of Norwegian Post War Reconstruction (1942); contributed articles to North American Review and financial periodicals; director Grace Church Workshop and Bureau of Men and Boys, Community Service Society of New York City, member American Academy of Political and Social Science and Larchmont Avenue Church (Presbyterian), Larchmont, N.Y.

Married December 30, 1940, in Brooklyn, NY., Nina, daughter of Jorgen Johan and Karen Tandberg No children

Captain Marshall was killed in the crash of a troop-carrier transport plane while on an official tour of the China-Burma-India theater of war. Posthumously awarded Legion of Merit Survived by wife, parents, and two brothers, Rev. Malcolm Marshall (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1934; M.A. Columbia Univ 1936; B.D. Union Theological Seminary 1938, S.T.M. 1939) of Washington, and Gordon Marshall, A.U.S. (Univ. Arizona ex-'45).

# Frank Norris Conner, Ph.B. 1931.

Born October 6, 1908, in Exeter, N.H. Died June 22, 1944, in Stockton, Calif.

Father, Arthur Jewett Conner (B.S Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1888), president Improved Paper Machinery Company, Nashua, N.H.; son of William Norris and Emily Williams (Hart) Conner of Boston.

Mother, Maude Ethel (Monroe) Conner.

La Villa, Ouchy-Lausanne, Switzerland, Phillips-Exeter, and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Freshman Football Squad and Track Association (awarded Willisbrook Cup for 35-pound weight); University Football Squad Sophomore and Senior years; University Track Team three years; winner of fourth place in hammer throw, Olympic Games, Amsterdam, 1928; member Beta Theta Pi

Associated with New York Athletic Club, New York City, 1931–32; secretary and treasurer Sherbrooke (Canada) Machineries, Ltd., 1933–36; engaged in farming and ranching in Stockton 1937–44.

Married January 3, 1935, in San Francisco, Alice Rutledge Haas, daugh-

ter of Edward Haas. Son: Edward Jewett.

Death due to chemical poisoning. Buried in Exeter. Survived by wife, son, parents, and two sisters, the Misses Mona and Lois Conner of Nashua.

### Gilbert Hoffman Sidenberg, B.A. 1931.

Born January 22, 1910, in New York City. Died March 13, 1944, at Bougainville, Solomon Islands.

Father, William R Sidenberg, '02, retired commission merchant in New York City, son of Richard and Matilda (Schafer) Sidenberg of New York City Mother, May Isabelle (Hoffman) Sidenberg; daughter of Joseph Emanuel and Belle (Bookman) Hoffman of New York City. Yale relatives include Arthur M. Sidenberg, '11 (uncle); and George E. Blun, '28, Richard O Innes, '29, and James W Innes, '34 (cousins).

Berkeley-Irving School, New York City, and Taft School, Watertown, Conn Freshman Wrestling Team and Track Squad; Class football team

Sophomore year; University Wrestling Team Sophomore, Junior, and

Senior years; member Yale Aeronautical Society.

With B. Altman & Company, department store, New York City, 1931–32; secretary and director Nash Engineering Company, manufacturers of refrigerating machinery, Newark, N.J., 1932–37; unoccupied 1938, treasurer Rural Surveys, Inc., publishers of rural directories, Ithaca, N.Y., 1939–41; junior accountant Byrnes & Baker, public accountants, New York City, 1941–42; member Congregation Emanu-El Temple, New York City

Enlisted as private, Infantry, February 7, 1942, with Company I, 143d Infantry, 36th Division, Camp Blanding, February 18–June 4, 1942, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, June 4–October 2, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, October 2, 1942, and First Lieutenant January 18, 1943; platoon leader, rifle training battalion, Infantry Replacement Training Center, Camp Wolters, October 13, 1942—February 15, 1943; appointed commanding and operations officer 386th Infantry, Camp Swift, February 25, 1943; transferred to Army Ground Forces Replacement Depot 2, Fort Ord, about September 1, 1943; went overseas November 11, 1943; commanding officer Company——, ——Infantry, at Bougainville.

Lieutenant Sidenberg lost his life in the Battle of Bougainville Survived by father, a sister, Marjorie May Sidenberg (B.A. Smith Coll. 1928), the wife of Peter Abraham Cohn (B.A. Princeton 1927) of New York City, and a brother, Richard William Sidenberg, 2d, '29.

## Frederic Charles Lowinger, B.A. 1933.

Born March 29, 1911, in New York City Died June 30, 1944, in Normandy.

Father, Richard Frederic Lowinger; son of Frederic Lowinger of Vienna, Austria. Mother, Sally (Bondy) Lowinger; daughter of Charles and Henrietta (Lederer) Bondy of New York City Yale relatives include Richard C. Bondy, Jr., ex-'26, and Charles G. Bondy, '28 (cousins)

Storm King School, Cornwall-on-Hudson, N.Y. Scholar of the third rank Sophomore and Junior years, oration appointment Senior year, Class

football squad Sophomore year; Class football team Junior year.

Resided in England since 1935; enlisted as trooper, — Armoured Car Company, Royal Tank Corps, February 11, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant, 2d Northamptonshire Yeomanry, at Royal Military College, Sandhurst, February, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant.

Unmarried.

Lieutenant Lowinger was killed in action in Normandy. Survived by mother.

## William Gillespie Pearson, B.A. 1933.

Born October 14, 1910, in Greensboro, N.C. Died June 8, 1944, off the coast of Normandy.

Father, Thomas Gilbert Pearson, LLD (B.S Guilford Coll. 1897 and Univ North Carolina 1899), author, and lecturer on ornithology and wild-life conservation, founder National Association of Audubon Societies for the Protection of Wild Birds and Animals (later National Audubon Society) 1901 and officer 1905–43; founder International Committee for Bird Preservation 1922 and National Committee on Wild-Life Legislation 1928, son of Thomas Barnard and Mary (Elliott) Pearson of Archer, Fla. Mother, Elsie (Weatherly) Pearson (grad. State Normal and Industrial Coll [now Woman's Coll North Carolina] 1896); daughter of William and Nancy (Gillespie) Weatherly of Greensboro.

Columbia Grammar School, New York City, Collège de Normandie, France, and Riverdale Country School, New York City. Freshman Soccer Squad, manager Freshman Soccer Team Junior year and University Soccer Team Senior year, member N.R O T C. at Yale (commissioned Ensign, U S Naval Reserve, June 20, 1933) and Alpha Sigma Phi.

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1933–34, assistant to staff photographer Crowell-Collier Publishing Company, New York City, 1934–36; copywriter and salesman *Toledo* (Ohio) *Blade* 1936–37, national advertising salesman *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette* 1937–38; with American Express Company, New York City, summer 1939; attended University Heights Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married March 3, 1943, in Miami Beach, Fla., Harriet, daughter of James and Mary Agnes (Totten) Hunter.

Called to active duty October 29, 1939; assigned to U.S.S. —— as signal officer and assistant communications officer October 29, 1939—April 24, 1942 (his ship was an escort at meeting of President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill at sea); promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) August 2, 1940, Lieutenant June 17, 1942, and Lieutenant Commander July 1, 1943; took part in occupation of Iceland; instructor Submarine Chaser Center, Miami, Fla, April 24, 1942, until assignment to Naval Training Station, Norfolk, Va, August 5, 1943, executive officer USS. ——; received American Defense Service Medal

Lieutenant Commander Pearson was seriously wounded and died in action off the coast of Normandy. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife, mother, a sister, Elizabeth Pearson Jackson (Vassar Coll ex-'25), the wife of Charles Tramaine Jackson (B A Princeton 1923) of New York City, and a brother, Capt. Thomas Gilbert Pearson, Jr, A.U S (Univ North Carolina ex-'32) of New York City

¢

## Judson Bradway, Jr., B.A. 1935.

Born May 1, 1913, in Detroit, Mich. Died August 27, 1943, in Kansas City, Kans

Father, Judson Bradway (Univ. Michigan ex-'04, LL B. Detroit Coll of Law 1906), president Judson Bradway Company, real estate and insurance, Detroit; son of Albert and Mary Jane (Render) Bradway of Birmingham, Mich. Mother, Florence (Michell) Bradway; daughter of Carl H Michell

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Member Branford College (on

relay team and track squad Senior year) and Alpha Chi Rho.

In collection department Ohio Finance Company, Detroit, 1935–38, production manager 1938–41; group insurance supervisor the Great West Life Insurance Company, Detroit, 1941–42; special agent Federal Bureau of Investigation, Washington, 1942–43; on executive committee Michigan Yale Alumni Association 1937; member Episcopal church, Grosse Pointe, Mich.

Married October 19, 1940, in Toronto, Ontario, Dawn, daughter of Norman and Hilda (Cooke) Wainwright Son Roy Michell

Death due to infantile paralysis Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Detroit. Survived by wife, son, parents, a sister, Mrs. Henry A Braun of Pasadena, Calif., and a brother, Douglas Bradway of Detroit

## William Martin Degnan, B.A. 1935.

Born December 1, 1914, in Southington, Conn. Died September 30, 1943, in Shelton, Conn

Father, William Moylan Degnan (D D S. Univ Maryland 1905), a dentist in Southington, son of James and Lucy (Lambert) Degnan of Southington. Mother, Anna Aldine (Martin) Degnan, daughter of Joseph and Mary (Savage) Martin of Southington.

Lewis High School, Southington Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Junior years and of the third rank Sophomore year, oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Saybrook College, Book and Bond and Phi Kappa Epsilon. Attended Yale Graduate School 1935–38 (Ph D 1938; member Sigma Xi; laboratory assistant in chemistry 1935–36, 1937–38)

Instructor in chemistry Indiana University 1938–43 (on leave of absence 1941–43); co-author A Synthesis of Dialkylacetyl Biurets (1940); member St Thomas' Church (Roman Catholic), Southington

Married June 6, 1940, in Bloomington, Ind, Jane Vandevander Gehrett

(BS Juniata Coll. 1935; Ph D Yale 1938), daughter of Samuel Martin and Ada C. (Householder) Gehrett. Son John Householder

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in St. Thomas' Cemetery, Southington Survived by wife, son, mother, and a sister, Mary Lucille Degnan (B.S. Connecticut Coll for Women 1937) of Southington.

## Webster Merrifield Bull, B.A. 1936.

Born December 30, 1914, in St Paul, Minn. Died December 22, 1943, in Holland

Father, Daniel Frank Bull (M E. Univ. North Dakota 1906), president the Cream of Wheat Corporation, Minneapolis; son of George and Elizabeth Hulse (McBride) Bull of Pasadena Mother, Rosamond (Leland) Bull (B A Univ. Minnesota 1907); daughter of Muret Napoleon and Libby Eloise (Townsend) Leland of Minneapolis.

Blake School for Boys, Minneapolis. Freshman Football and Boxing teams, University Boxing Squad three years; University Football Squad Sophomore and Junior years, University Football Team Senior year; member Elihu, Chi Psi, and Davenport College (hockey team Junior and Senior years).

Associated with General Foods Corporation 1936–42 (salesman in Ames, Iowa, 1936, Oshkosh, Wis., 1937, and Mankato, Minn, 1938; retail assistant to district manager Omaha, Nebr., 1939; in executive offices in New York City 1940; district representative for Omaha 1941–42); member Hennepin Avenue Methodist Episcopal Church, Minneapolis.

Married March 31, 1937, in Minneapolis, Mary Katharine, daughter of Eben Richmond and Eliza Rothwell (Gibbs) Price. Son. Daniel Frank, 4th

Enlisted as aviation cadet August 8, 1942; preflight training at Santa Ana, Calif, primary training at Ryan Field, basic training at Marana Field, and advanced training at Marfa, Texas; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant May 20, 1943; heavy bomber training at Dalhart, Texas, June–July, 1943, overseas from August, 1943, with —— Bomber Group, —— Squadron, based in England.

Lieutenant Bull was killed when his plane, a B-17 (flying fortress), of which he was pilot, went down over Holland; he was returning from his eighteenth bombing mission over Germany. Posthumously awarded Air Medal with two Oak Leaf Clusters and the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by wife, son, parents, a sister, Rosamond Elizabeth Bull Howe (B.A. Southern Methodist Univ. 1944), the wife of Robert Howe (B.B.A. Southern Methodist Univ. 1942) of Minneapolis, and a brother, David F. Bull, '45W.

## Robert Dumont Case, B.A. 1936.

Born March 17, 1912, in Englewood, N J Died May 30, 1944, in New York City

Father, George Bowen Case, '94 (LL.B. Columbia Univ 1897), of Englewood, and Norfolk, Conn., partner White & Case, attorneys, New York City, son of Ermine Case (BA Marietta Coll 1863) and Mary (Bowen) Case of Kansas City, Mo Mother, Mary (Clarke) Case, daughter of Dumont and Cornelia (Ellery) Clarke of New York City

Phillips-Andover. Class golf team Freshman year; University Golf Team Junior and Senior years, manager Rugby Team Senior year, columnist Yale Daily News and on Class Book Committee Senior year, member Whiffenpoofs, Fence Club, Scroll and Key, and Jonathan Edwards College

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1936–38 and New York Law School 1939–42; admitted to the bar 1943; associated with White & Case 1941–44; agent Yale Alumni University Fund for Class of 1936 Jonathan Edwards College 1942–44, member First Presbyterian Church, Englewood.

Married June 15, 1940, in Norfolk, Anne Hamilton Ford (B A. Smith Coll 1938), daughter of Sumner and Helen Bromell (Jourdan) Ford Twin sons: George Sumner and Robert Dumont, Jr

Buried in Norfolk Survived by wife, sons, parents, and a sister, Mary Ermine Case Bench, the wife of Edward C. Bench, '25

## Glenn Stafford Knapp, B.A. 1936.

Born September 8, 1914, in New York City. Died June 24, 1944, on Saipan, Marianas Islands

Father, Glenn Stafford Knapp of Mount Vernon, NY, president and general manager Empire Personal Loan Company, New York City, president Medical Management Company, Mount Vernon; son of Samuel Carpenter and Carrie May (Tunison) Knapp of Madison, Wis Mother, Grace Ware (Fetter) Knapp; daughter of Joseph Harding and Mary Malinda (Ware) Fetter of New York City

Mount Vernon High School. Scholar of the third rank Junior year, oration appointment Senior year, member Yale ROT.C, Pierson College, and Alpha Sigma Phi. Commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, U.S. Reserve, June, 1936

Instructor in history Manlius (N.Y.) School and assistant to professor of

military science and tactics 1936-40, member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Syracuse, NY.

Married December 27, 1940, in Syracuse, Peggy Lucille, daughter of John Joseph and Esther Lucille (Burdett) McCormick Daughter Diane

Burdett

Second Lieutenant, 104th Field Artillery Regiment, New York National Guard, called to active service October 15, 1940; in charge communications, 104th Field Artillery, 1st Battalion, Headquarters Battery, Fort McClellan, October, 1940—April, 1941, attended Field Artillery School, Fort Sill, May-August, 1941, promoted First Lieutenant February 27, 1941, and Captain July 7, 1942; on maneuvers in Louisiana August-October, 1941, stationed at Fort McClellan October-December, 1941, and Camp Haar and Fort Ord December, 1941—March, 1942; communications officer — Battalion, — Field Artillery, — Division, and trial judge advocate and Captain Headquarters Battery, Hilo, March, 1942—October, 1943, and in vicinity of Honolulu October, 1943—May, 1944.

Captain Knapp was killed by enemy fire when leading a party to the rescue of wounded men on Saipan Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and the Silver Star Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Miss Grace Marilyn Knapp of Lynn, Mass, a brother, Kingdon Rodger

Knapp, and maternal grandmother

# John Eugene O'Keefe, Jr., B.A. 1936.

Born November 23, 1912, in Carthage, Mo. Died September 18, 1943, in Trinidad, British West Indies.

Father, John Eugene O'Keefe (ME in EE Cornell Univ. 1898), a retired banker in Carthage; son of Eugene and Mahala (Farmer) O'Keefe of Carthage Mother, Cora (Beneke) O'Keefe, daughter of August Frederick and Elizabeth (McDowell) Beneke of Carthage.

Carthage High School and Mercersburg (Pa) Academy Vanderbilt football and baseball teams Sophomore year; 150-pound football squad Junior year, Freshman Glee Club, member Yale Political Union, Beta Theta Pi, and Branford College (football and baseball teams Junior year)

Attended Harvard Law School 1936–39 (LL B 1939), admitted to the bar 1940, with Larkin, Rathbone & Perry, lawyers, New York City, 1939–42, member Rathbone, Perry, Kelley & Drye 1942, commissioned Lieutenant (1g), US Naval Reserve, February 5, 1942; promoted Lieutenant October 1, 1942, attended Indoctrination School, Quonset Point, R I., until April 11, 1942, stationed at Naval Air Station, Corpus Christi, Texas, April 26, 1942—March 15, 1943, assigned to Transport Squadron 1 March 30–May 30, 1943, at Advanced Navigation School at American Export

Lines June 25-September 15, 1943, attached to Squadron VR-1 as navigator July 1, 1943; member Grace Church (Episcopal), Carthage.

Married September 11, 1937, in East Hampton, N.Y., Sara Adeline, daughter of W. Ledyard Mitchell, '04, and Sara Moulton (Sherman) Mitchell, and sister of Ledyard Mitchell, Jr, '35, and Sherman Mitchell, '38. Children: John Eugene, 3d, and Sheila Mitchell.

Lieutenant O'Keefe died while swimming in Trinidad. Survived by wife, children, parents, and a sister, Elizabeth O'Keefe Phelps (B A. Univ Missouri 1932), the wife of George Phelps (Georgetown Univ ex-'30; LL B. Univ. Missouri 1932) of Carthage

## Alan Gustave Overton, B.A. 1936.

Born April 15, 1914, in New York City. Died October 18, 1943, off Puerta Castilla, Honduras.

Father, Marion Lee Overton, owner and president M L Overton & Company, interior decorators and furniture dealers, New York City. Mother, Constance (Jacobsen) Overton

Lincoln School and Horace Mann School for Boys, New York City, attended Cornell University 1932–33 (on Freshman Crew Squad). Entered Yale College Sophomore year, University Water Polo Squad Junior year and University Track Squad Senior year; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year; University Glee Club Junior and Senior years (publicity manager Senior year); on University Budget Drive Committee Senior year; member Branford College.

In sales department Container Corporation of America, manufacturers of paper packaging, in New York City, Philadelphia, Rochester, and Chicago, 1936–40; member Riverside Church, New York City

Unmarried.

Enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve as apprentice seaman July, 1940, taking V-7 cruise to Cuba; appointed midshipman December 10, 1940, and seaman (2d class) January 15, 1941; transferred to V-5 January, 1941, received primary flight training U.S. Naval Reserve Air Base, Floyd Bennett Field, January 15–March 21, 1941 (platoon leader); appointed aviation cadet March 21, 1941; advanced training at Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, March–November, 1941 (cadet regimental commander), received wings and commissioned Ensign (A-VN) November 14, 1941, promoted Lieutenant (1g) fall of 1942, and Lieutenant October 1, 1943, first pilot, Patrol Squadron—, on duty in Panama Canal and Caribbean areas, December, 1941—December, 1942; received training for flying four-engine bombers at Naval Air Base, San Diego, in command of a plane of Patrol Squadron—, Air Force Atlantic Fleet.

Lieutenant Overton landed his plane in the bay at Puerta Castilla in an extremely rough sea. He moored his ship twice but the force of the winds and the sea caused the buoy pendants as well as the plane mooring pendant to break from the buoy. The engines were immediately started in an attempt to keep control of the plane. After the gasoline supply was exhausted the plane drifted thirty-five miles out to sea, one engine being torn away and one wing lost. Lieutenant Overton kept his plane afloat for thirty-one hours and during this time was in constant communication with his radio station. He then gave the order for his men to take to the life raft and went down with his ship.

Survived by mother and a sister, Mrs. Richard S. Cullen of Reno, Nev

### John Harold Richardson, B.A. 1936.

Born June 5, 1915, in St Paul, Minn. Died December 3, 1943, near Mount La Difensa, Italy.

Father, Harold James Richardson (LLB Univ. Minnesota 1900), a lawyer in St. Paul; son of Henry Macauley and Sarah Jane (McCrillis) Richardson of Rochester, Minn Mother, Anna Catherine (Reimers) Richardson (Ph B Northwestern Univ 1897); daughter of John Jacob and Marietta (Denkmann) Reimers of Davenport, Iowa

St Paul Academy and Phillips-Andover. Scholar of the second rank Freshman year, oration appointment Junior year; lacrosse team and 150pound crew squad Freshman year; member Calhoun College and Alpha Chi Rho.

Attended Stanford University fall 1936 and University of Minnesota Law School winter 1936 when he left because of illness; attended Harvard Law School 1938–41 (LL B 1941, member Lincoln's Inn Society and Harvard Legal Aid Bureau 1940; leader of court team of two students representing Scott Club which won Ames Competition before a bench of distinguished jurists 1941); admitted to Minnesota bar 1941; did legal work with Office of Price Administration, Washington, September–December, 1941; member Minnesota State Bar Association and House of Hope Church (Presbyterian), St. Paul

Enlisted in the Army of the United States January 5, 1942, assigned to — Battalion, Engineer Replacement Training Center, Fort Leonard Wood, entered Engineer Officer Candidate School, Fort Belvoir, April 26, 1942, commissioned Second Lieutenant July 17, 1942; volunteered for training with First Special Service Force, Fort William Henry Harrison, July 17, 1942—April 16, 1943, stationed at Camp Bradford and Fort Ethan Allen April–June, 1943; commissioned First Lieutenant June, 1943; on

active duty at Kiska in the Aleutians July-September, 1943, transferred to European theater of war October 26, 1943.

Unmarried.

Lieutenant Richardson was killed in action while giving first aid under shell fire to one of his men. Posthumously awarded the Silver Star and the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by parents and two sisters, Catherine Richardson Cook (Vassar Coll 1923–24, Northwestern Univ. 1924–26), the wife of Lieut. Comdr. Charles Carpenter Cook, U.S N.R. (Carleton Coll 1921–23), of St Paul, and Susanne Richardson Murray, the wife of Locke Lamprey Murray of Winnetka, Ill

### Norris Rathbun Higgins, B.A. 1937.

Born November 17, 1914, in Norwich, Conn Died October 20, 1943, in Orange, N J.

Father, Harry Eugene Higgins (MD New York Univ. 1896), chief obstetrician William W. Backus Hospital, Norwich; son of Martin Luther and Elizabeth (Hayden) Higgins of Chesterfield, Mass Mother, Louise Brown (Rathbun) Higgins; daughter of Thomas Swan and Della (Brown) Rathbun of Colchester, Conn.

Norwich Free Academy. Freshman Swimming Squad, scholar of the second rank Junior year, member Undergraduate Medical Association and Saybrook College (football and tennis teams three years, baseball team Sophomore and Junior years; squash team Senior year) Attended Yale School of Medicine 1937–41 (M.D. 1941)

Interne Orange Memorial Hospital July 1, 1941—June 30, 1942, and resident physician July 1, 1942—June 30, 1943, engaged in general practice in Orange July 1–October 20, 1943, while waiting call to military service; member Emergency Medical Service of Defense Council of Orange and Park Congregational Church, Norwich

Married July 8, 1939, in Grand Haven, Mich, Jane Peter (B A Univ Michigan 1936), daughter of Bruno and Clara (Conrad) Peter. Daughter Nancy Claire

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Norwich Survived by wife, daughter, parents, one brother, Harry Eugene Higgins, Jr. (Brown Univ ex-'41), of Norwichtown, one sister, Mrs. Lester Crowell of Madison, Conn, three half brothers, Paul Martin Higgins (Middlebury Coll. ex-'26) of Norwich, Harold W. Higgins, ex-'31 M (B.A Middlebury Coll 1927; M.D Tufts Coll. 1932), and Clarence Rathbun Hoxie of Groton, Conn., and an adopted sister, Helen Elizabeth West Higgins Bunyan (B.A. Connecticut Coll for Women 1926), the wife of George Bunyan of New Rochelle, N Y.

# Norman Stanley Woods, B.A. 1937.

Born November 4, 1915, in Lincoln, Ill. Died April 25, 1944, in Membury, England.

Father, Charles Herbert Woods (B.A. Blackburn Coll. 1904; LL.B. Yale 1907), a lawyer in Lincoln; member Woods & Woods, representing Illinois Central and Chicago & Alton Railroad companies, son of William McKim Woods (M.D. Hospital Coll. of Medicine [Louisville] 1882) and Lolah (Walker) Woods of Carlinville, Ill. Mother, Norma Abigail Hoblit (B.A. Smith Coll. 1910), daughter of Abraham Lincoln Hoblit (B.A. Shurtleff Coll. 1881) and Josie (Stanley) Hoblit (B.A. Shurtleff Coll. 1881, M.A. 1885) of Carlinville

Lincoln Community High School; attended Northwestern University 1933–34 (on staff Northwestern Daily News, member Alpha Delta Phi). Entered Yale College Sophomore year; oration appointment Senior year; member Branford College. Attended Yale School of Law 1937–40 (LL.B. 1940, director student employment 1938–40)

Admitted to the bar 1940, in partnership with his father 1940-41; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Lincoln.

Unmarried

Enlisted as private, Infantry, April 28, 1941; assigned to Company -Camp Grant, until May 7, 1941; transferred to Company —, — Infantry, Camp Forrest, May 7, 1941—January 15, 1942; promoted Sergeant August 5, 1941; placed in Company —, —— Infantry, Camp Forrest, January 15-March 14, 1942, special duty —— Division Replacement Center September 15-October 10, 1941, --- Infantry Regimental Headquarters November 27, 1941—January 15, 1942, and — Division Headquarters, Adjutant General's Office, February-March 14, 1942, transferred to Army Air Forces March 14, 1942, and sent to Craig Field, June 21, 1942; appointed aviation cadet and sent to Army Air Forces Classification Center, Nashville, Tenn., September 1, 1942; transferred to Maxwell Field and assigned to preflight (pilot) school September 16-November 24, 1942 (graduated with one of the highest grades ever attained in the school); primary flight training at Southern Aviation School, Camden, S.C., November 24, 1942---March, 1943, Basic Flying School, Shaw Field, April 3 until about June 1, 1943 (cadet lieutenant), advanced flight training Freeman Field, Camp Seymour (squadron lieutenant), received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant July 28, 1943; sent to Smyrna Air Field for further training in flying four-motored bombers August-September, 1943, assigned to Troop Carrier Command and received operational training at Bergstrom Field September-November, 1943, and Sedalia, Mo., in December; training in towing gliders Alliance, Nebr., January, 1944, and

in dropping parachute troopers Pope Field February, 1944, transferred to Baer Field, flew to England as chief pilot of a troop carrier plane March, 1944; assigned to —— Troop Carrier Squadron, —— Troop Carrier Group.

Lieutenant Woods was killed in an airplane crash in Membury, England. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Brookwood, England. Survived by parents and two brothers, Lieut. Dick H. Woods, US M.C. (BA. Univ. Illinois 1935; LL.B. Yale 1938), and Sergeant Robert J. Woods, '42, A.US.

# George Eustis Cookman, B.A. 1938.

Born March 22, 1916, in Englewood, N J. Died August 3-4, 1943, in the South Pacific

Father, Arthur Shirley Cookman (B.A Haverford Coll 1902), president A. S. Cookman & Company, importers and exporters, New York City; son of John Emory and Margaret (Howland) Cookman of New York City. Mother, Martha (Stephenson) Cookman; daughter of Walter Briant and Martha (Eustis) Stephenson of Philadelphia Yale relatives include a cousin, Henry H. Silliman, '29

Englewood High School and Phillips-Exeter On football, squash, and lacrosse teams Freshman year; University Squash Team three years (captain Senior year), 150-pound football team Junior and Senior years, member Elihu and Berkeley College (football team Sophomore year).

With L Bamberger and Company, department store, Newark, N.J, 1938-39; associated with Federal Advertising Agency, New York City,

1939-40; member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Englewood

Married May 31, 1941, in Englewood, Elizabeth Ann, daughter of Allen Ledyard Lindley (Lehigh Univ ex-'02) and Elizabeth (Ellsworth) Lindley, and sister of Daniel A. Lindley, '26, and Allen L. Lindley, Jr, '32. Son Allen Eustis

Enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve September, 1940, commissioned Ensign February 28, 1941, after completing midshipman training aboard the U.S.S. *Prairie State*, stationed at Newport, R.I., summer 1941, overseas with Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron — December, 1941—July, 1942; promoted Lieutenant (1g) June 1, 1942, and Lieutenant December 1, 1942; executive officer Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron —, on duty in the South Pacific, October, 1942—August, 1943.

Lieutenant Cookman was killed during a naval engagement Posthumously awarded Silver Star and citation Survived by wife (Mrs. William Goadby Post), son, parents, and three brothers, Briant S Cookman, '29, John E Cookman, '31, and Arthur S Cookman, Jr, '33

#### David Fletcher Currier, B.A. 1938.

Born August 9, 1914, in Tarrytown, N.Y Died August 5, 1943, off the coast of North Carolina.

Father, Edward Putnam Currier (B A. Harvard 1909), retired member Field, Glore & Company, investment securities, New York City, son of Henry Malcolm and Alice (Taylor) Currier of Wellesley Hills, Mass. Mother, Dorothy (Fletcher) Currier, daughter of Charles and Anna May (Jones) Fletcher of Melrose, Mass Yale relatives include a cousin, Holbrook Bradley, '40.

Milton (Mass.) Academy and Westminster School, London, England. Freshman Baseball and Basketball teams; University Baseball Squad Sophomore year; member N.R O T C. at Yale, Fence Club, Scroll and Key, Torch Honor Society, and Calhoun College (Vanderbilt touch football team Sophomore year; basketball, baseball, and touch football teams Junior and Senior years)

In sports department *Pic Magazine* December, 1938—April, 1939; associated with American Airlines April, 1939—July, 1940; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich, Conn

Married March 8, 1941, in Greenwich, Margaret Pitkin Brown (B.A Vassar Coll 1940), daughter of Richmond L. Brown, '07, and Helen (Pitkin) Brown Children Barbara and David, Jr

Took V-7 training course on USS Prairie State November, 1940—February, 1941, called to active duty as Ensign and sent to Naval Reserve Officers Training School, Staten Island, August 18, 1941; assigned to inshore patrol duty, Staten Island, August 18—November 12, 1941, and Port Director's Office, New York City, November 12, 1941—February 23, 1942; instructor Training School, Fort Schuyler, February 23—April 5, 1942, and Naval Training School (local defense), Boston, April 5—September, 1942; promoted Lieutenant (1 g) June 17, 1942, and Lieutenant July 1, 1943; sent to Sound School, Key West, Fla, September 2—16, 1942, and Sub Chaser Training Center, Miami, September 16—October 29, 1942; executive officer —— October 31, 1942, and commanding officer February 8—June 18, 1943, navigator on USS —— (gunboat) June 18—August 5, 1943

Lieutenant Currier lost his life when his ship was torpedoed and sunk off the coast of North Carolina Posthumously awarded a citation by Secretary of the Navy Survived by wife (Mrs. H Everton Hosley, Jr.), children, parents, and a brother, Edward Putnam Currier, Jr. (B.A. Harvard 1936), of County Real, Texas

# Robert Phelps Saunders, B.A. 1938.

Born August 10, 1917, in Washington, D C Died June 4, 1944, in Italy.

Father, Joseph Nelson Saunders (LL B Georgetown Univ. 1891, LL.M 1892), vice-president The District, The Lawyers, and The Washington Title Insurance companies, Washington, son of James Stevenson and Mary Amanda (Phelps) Saunders of Howard County, Md, and the District of Columbia Mother, Harriet Bray (Ferguson) Saunders, daughter of Robert Benedict and Alice Virginia (Lighter) Ferguson of the District of Columbia.

St. Albans School, Washington Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year, Freshman Baseball Squad, member Jonathan Edwards College (football team Sophomore year, baseball team Sophomore and Junior years)

Attended Harvard Graduate School of Business Administration 1938–40 (MB.A. 1940); junior accountant Price, Waterhouse & Company, public accountants, New York City, 1940–41, chief cost accountant Union Bag & Paper Corporation, manufacturers of kraft products, New York City, 1941 and Hudson Falls, NY, 1941–43, member St Albans Church (Episcopal), Washington.

Married July 20, 1940, in Charlottesville, Va, Nancy, daughter of James Kerr and Anna Elizabeth (Williams) Barr

Inducted into Army of the United States September 21, 1943, received infantry training at Fort McClellan and Fort George G. Meade September, 1943—February, 1944; overseas since February 21, 1944.

Death due to wounds received in action at the Anzio beachhead in Italy Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife, father, a sister, Marian S Louden (diploma Pratt Inst 1924), the wife of Orren Rodenberg Louden of Washington, and a brother, Richard Edward Saunders (Univ. Wisconsin ex-'25) of Chevy Chase, Md

# Frederick Wilder White, B.A. 1938.

Born October 9, 1916, in Winchendon Springs, Mass. Died July 31, 1943, on New Georgia Island.

Father, Joseph Nelson White, Jr (Brown Univ ex-'03), a cotton manufacturer in Winchendon Springs; son of Joseph Nelson and Annie (Evans) White of Winchendon Springs Mother, Rebecca Lucy (Wilder) White, daughter of Frederick Woods and Lucy Jane (Chapman) Wilder of

Woodstock, Vt. Yale relatives include a cousin, Charles N. Höyt, '39. Descendant of Dr Josiah Abbott (B.A. 1835) and Edward J. Phelps (M.A. Hon. 1881)

Fay School, Southboro, Mass, and The Choate School, Wallingford, Conn Freshman Golf Squad; member Delta Kappa Epsilon and Davenport College (hockey and golf teams Junior year).

Attended Harvard Law School 1938-39; in engineering department Chrysler Corporation, Detroit, 1939-41; member Christ Church (Episco-

pal), Cambridge, Mass.

Unmarried

Inducted into Army of the United States at Fort Custer June 27, 1941; received basic training at Camp Wolters; attached to — Infantry, — Division, during maneuvers in Louisiana; with Headquarters Intelligence, — Infantry, Camp Livingston, September 21, 1941—March 3, 1942; promoted corporal January, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, March 4–June 2, 1942, stationed at Infantry Replacement Center, Camp Roberts, with — Training Battalion June 17–July 28, 1942; with Headquarters Company, — Battalion, — Infantry, stationed in Hawaiian Islands August 31–November 25, 1942; commissioned First Lieutenant October 29, 1942, left Honolulu November 25, 1942, arrived New Caledonia December 9 and Guadalcanal December 17 as member advance party of — Infantry; transferred to Company — as executive officer February 21, 1943, left Guadalcanal to join attacking forces on New Georgia Island about June 19, 1943

Lieutenant White lost his life while leading his company in combat with Japanese ground forces in the Battle of Munda. Buried in the Army Cemetery, New Georgia Island Survived by mother, three sisters, Miss Rebecca White, Priscilla White (BA Vassar Coll. 1941; Simmons Coll. 1941–42, Radcliffe and Harvard Medical School 1942–43), and Elaine White Beals (BA Wellesley Coll. 1940), the wife of Philip Charles Beals (BS Harvard 1942 [1943]), all of Cambridge, Mass., and a brother, Joseph N. White, 3d, ex-'36.

### Murray Charles Freedman, B.A. 1939.

Born April 23, 1918, in Springfield, Mass Died June 25, 1944, in France

Father, William Freedman, president Joseph Freedman, Inc., salvage engineers, Springfield; son of Joseph and Lena (Zimmerman) Freedman of Springfield Mother, Nina Virginia (Goldstein) Freedman, daughter of Morris and Julia (Levine) Goldstein of Pittsfield, Mass.

Classical High School, Springfield Member Berkeley College (bowling

team three years, hockey and squash teams Sophomore year, and Vander-bilt touch football team Sophomore and Junior years), member ROTC. at Yale; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Field Artillery, U.S. Reserve, June 20, 1939.

Attended Harvard Law School 1939-41 and fall term 1941-42, member

Beth-El Temple, Springfield.

Unmarried.

Called to active duty February 26, 1942; sent to Field Artillery Replacement Center, Fort Bragg, March-April, 1942; took Officers Specialist Course, Fort Sill, April-July, 1942; assistant executive Headquarters Battery, 358th Field Artillery Battalion, 95th Infantry Division, Camp Swift, July-December, 1942; attended Battery Officers Course, Fort Sill, December, 1942—March, 1943; assistant reconnaissance officer (later reconnaissance officer) Battery —, — Field Artillery Battalion, — Infantry Division, Fort Sam Houston, March-June, 1943, received further training at Camp Reynolds June 14-October 2, 1943, and overseas, stationed in England November, 1943—June, 1944.

Lieutenant Freedman was killed in action in France At the time of his death he was a reconnaissance officer attached to a howitzer battery Buried in La Cambe, Normandy. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart August 18, 1944. Survived by parents and a brother, Robert J

Freedman, '41.

### William John Loveday, B.A. 1939.

Born January 18, 1917, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 15, 1943, in France

Father, Edward William Loveday, district manager Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, Lynn, Mass; son of Robert and Julia (Shanahan) Loveday of New Haven. Mother, Marie Isabelle (Dudley) Loveday; daughter of Charles Henry and Margaret (Lee) Dudley of Madison, Conn

Marblehead (Mass) High School Freshman Football and Baseball teams; University Baseball Team and University Football Squad three years; member Delta Kappa Epsilon, The Cloister and Book and Snake, and Pierson College (on hockey team Junior year and captain Senior year).

Salesman The Linde Air Products Company, Philadelphia, 1939–42, member Our Lady Star of the Sea Church (Roman Catholic), Marblehead. Unmarried.

Enlisted as aviation cadet, U.S. Army Air Forces, February 1, 1942, received training at Maxwell Field, and at Macon, Ga, Bennettsville, SC, Smyrna, Tenn., Tucson, Ariz., Columbus, Miss, and Biggs Field, commis-

sioned Second Lieutenant January 14, 1943, went overseas July 5, 1943; as pilot of a B-24 Liberator bomber took part in African campaign, Sicilian and Italian invasions, and later in bombing raids over Europe from a base in England

Lieutenant Loveday lost his life when his plane crashed near Yvetot, France Survived by parents, a brother, Edward Dudley Loveday (B.A. Dartmouth Coll. 1937) of Swampscott, Mass, and maternal grandmother

### Paul Bradford Badger, Jr., B.A. 1940.

Born August 15, 1917, in Winchester, Mass. Died December 12, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Paul B Badger, '11, of Greenwich, Conn.; vice-chairman Foreign Trade Committee, Socony Vacuum Oil Company, Inc, New York City, administrative vice-president United Service Organizations; son of Daniel Bradford and Lizzie (Pearson) Badger of Winchester. Mother, Margaret (Mills) Badger (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1908); daughter of Rev. Carlton Putnam Mills (B A Williams Coll. 1878, B.D Episcopal Theological School 1885) and Abbie (Davis) Mills of Winchester. Yale relatives include Walter I. Badger, '82, and George S C. Badger, '92 (great-uncles)

Fessenden School, West Newton, Mass., and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Freshman Hockey Team; Junior University Hockey Team Sophomore and Junior years; member Delta Kappa Epsilon, The Cloister and Book and Snake, and Berkeley College (baseball team three years, captain Senior year, tennis team two years; touch football team Junior and Senior years and captain Senior year).

Attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1940–43 (awarded M D. posthumously); enlisted Medical Reserve Corps May 8, 1942, and commissioned Second Lieutenant December, 1942; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Greenwich

Unmarried

Buried in Putnam Cemetery, Greenwich. Survived by parents, two brothers, Daniel B Badger, '37, and Carlton M Badger, Class of 1945W, and maternal grandfather

#### Norman Eli Botwinik, B.A. 1940.

Born June 3, 1917, in New Haven, Conn. Died November 28, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Harris Botwinik, president Botwinik Bros., Inc., machine tool dealers and rebuilders, and Harris Iron & Metal Company, Inc., New Ha-

ven; son of Norman and Sylvia (Curzon) Botwinik of Racow, Russia. Mother, Fannie (Koonin) Botwinik; daughter of Samuel Koonin of Orsha, Russia. Yale relatives include William Mendelsohn, '24 S, William Horowitz, '29, Solomon J Stein, '29, Irving Levine, '30, Norton M Levine, '37, Norman I. Botwinik, '37, and Norman P Levine, '39 (cousins).

New Haven High School. Scholar of the third rank Sophomore year; Freshman Track Squad; member Jonathan Edwards College (touch football team; member Gilbert and Sullivan Club).

Assistant purchasing agent Botwinik Bros, Inc., 1940–42 and assistant secretary 1942–43, member Mu Sigma and B'nai Jacob Congregation, New Haven

Married October 19, 1941, in Hartford, Conn, Merle Lynette Gordon (B.A. Goucher Coll 1940), daughter of George and Ann (Fish) Gordon

Death due to pulmonary edema Buried in B'nai Jacob Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs. Herman Yasmer Stone of New Haven, and three brothers, Louis Botwinik, '19, Samuel Botwinik, and Meyer Botwinik, all of New Haven

# Richard Louis Ott, B.A. 1940.

Born January 17, 1918, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died January 30, 1944, over Germany.

Father, Louis Ott, member M. & L. Hess, Inc., real estate, New York City; son of Louis and Margaret Ott of New York City Mother, Lulu (Keller) Ott, daughter of James Michael and Louise (Schreiber) Keller of Brooklyn and New York City

Lenox (Mass.) School. Freshman Lacrosse Team; University Lacrosse Squad Sophomore and Junior years; 150-pound football team three years, member Davenport College (hockey team Sophomore year)

Member St Anne's Church (Episcopal), Brooklyn. Unmarried

Enlisted as flying cadet, US Army Air Forces, October 16, 1940, commissioned Second Lieutenant May 29, 1941; promoted First Lieutenant February 1, 1942, Captain May, 1943, and Major October, 1943, with ——Pursuit Squadron in Panama; instructor and ferry pilot at March Field and in Nevada, operations and squadron flight officer, March Field, about December, 1942—July, 1943; stationed in England with ——Pursuit Group, ——Fighter Squadron, made Squadron Commander November 14, 1943, awarded Air Medal with Oak Leaf Cluster December 31, 1943

Major Ott was shot down returning from an escort mission over Germany. Posthumously awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross March 18,

1944 Survived by a sister, Helen Louise Ott (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1936) of New York City.

#### Carl Underwood Sautter, B.A. 1940.

Born April 7, 1918, in Mount Vernon, N.Y. Died January 20, 1944, in Italy.

Father, Carl Marion Sautter (M.D. Indiana Univ. 1911), of Bronxville, N.Y; a physician in New York City; son of Christian and Louise (Ruhmkorf) Sautter of North Judson, Ind Mother, Hazel (Underwood) Sautter (DePauw Univ. 1911–12); daughter of Othello Underwood of Noblesville, Ind.

Phillips-Exeter. Member Yale N R.O.T.C., Alpha Sigma Phi, and Trumbull College

Engaged in public relations and personnel work for American Airlines, Inc., New York City, 1940–41; member Dutch Reformed Church, Bronzville. Unmarried.

Enlisted in Royal Canadian Air Forces, Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, September 15, 1941; at Manning Depot No. 5A, Valcartier, Quebec, September 17-November 7, 1941; guard duty Repair Depot No. 4, Scoudouc, New Brunswick, November 8, 1941—January 19, 1942; attended Initial Training School No 3 January 20-March 20, 1942, and Elementary Flying Training School No. 17 April 3-24, 1942; transferred to U.S. Army Air Forces June, 1942; received training at Maxwell Field May 17-June 1, 1942, Tuscaloosa, Ala., June 2-August 6, 1942, Macon, Ga., August 6-October 10, 1942, Valdosta, Ga, October 10-November 25, 1942, Columbia (SC) Army Air Base December 24, 1942—April 1, 1943, Hunter Field April 1-3, 1943, Eglin Field April 3-15, 1943, Columbia Army Air Base April 15-May 3, 1943, Hunter Field May 3-5, 1943, and Homestead, Fla, May 5-7, 1943, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant December 10, 1942; assigned as pilot to —— Bomber Group, - Squadron, Columbia Army Air Base, January 10, 1943, and to -Bomber Group, —— Squadron June 24, 1943; sent overseas in March, 1943, as first pilot flying his plane and crew to Africa, some of his missions included Sicily and Rome and the troop landings at Salerno; credited with about forty missions when he was transferred to the —— Reconnaissance Group based in southern Italy November, 1943—January, 1944

Lieutenant Sautter was killed in action Buried in Bari, Italy Survived by parents, a sister, Sue Sautter (Bennington Coll ex-'37) of Bronxville, a brother, Robert Sautter, U.S.N.R. (B.S. in M.E. Purdue Univ. 1944), of Bronxville, and paternal grandfather.

# John Hill Spalding, Class of 1940.

Born February 28, 1917, in Chicago, Ill. Died January 4, 1944, in Augusta, Ga.

Father, Jesse Spalding, '13. Mother, Jean Fredericka (Whiting) Spalding. Yale relatives include: Robert L. Spalding, ex-'95 S. (great-uncle), and Vaughan C. Spalding, '14 (uncle).

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa, and Roxbury Latin School, Boston, entered Yale September, 1936; withdrew June, 1938; Freshman Football

Squad; member Chi Psi.

ŧ,

Attended University of Texas 1938-39; employed in Texas oil fields for a short time and with Whiting Corporation, Harvey, Ill., 1940; member St. Philomena's Church (Roman Catholic), East Hampton, N Y

Joined Squadron A, Cavalry, New York National Guard, June, 1940; inducted into Army of the United States February, 1941; with 101st Cavalry at Fort Devens until it was mechanized and Squadron A disbanded, received training at Bangor, Maine, July-November, 1942, tail gunner on bomber; put on cadre with rank of staff sergeant 958th Air Base Security Battalion, Camp Campbell, December, 1942; due to knee operation placed on inactive service and sent to Camp Mackall for medical discharge when stricken with pneumonia; moved to Oliver General Hospital, Augusta, December, 1943.

Married May 30, 1942, in West Newton, Mass., Elisabeth, daughter of

Ernest R. and Esther (Taggart) Cooper.

Death due to empyema. Buried in Roman Catholic Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, mother (Mrs. R. Elliott Maxwell), two sisters, Jane Clarke Maxwell, the wife of Lieut. Allison Ripley Maxwell, Jr, USN.R (Princeton ex-'36), and Miss Joyce Bertrande Spalding, a brother, Jesse Spalding, 3d, ex-'39, stepfather, and paternal grandmother.

### Cyrus Robinson Taylor, B.A. 1940.

Born February 8, 1917, in Mount Vernon, N.Y Died June 25, 1944, in the South Pacific

Father, Clinton Tallmadge Taylor (B A. Coll. City of New York 1903, LL.B. New York Univ 1905), senior partner Strang & Taylor, lawyers, White Plains, N.Y., president Jefferson Title & Mortgage Company, Mount Vernon; former corporation counsel Mount Vernon, former president Mount Vernon Board of Education; son of Sutherland Gazzam and Elizabeth Regina (Board) Taylor of Mount Vernon. Mother, Leah Brooks

(Robinson) Taylor, daughter of Cyrus and Harriet N. (Brooks) Robinson of Mount Vernon.

Cheshire (Conn) Academy and Phillips-Andover. Freshman Football and Basketball teams, Yale Rugby Team four years; University Football Team three years, Yale University Christian Association Junior and Senior years, member Fence Club, Wolf's Head, and Timothy Dwight College (swimming team Sophomore year; basketball team three years and captain Senior year; University Christian Conference Committee Junior year).

Attended Harvard Law School 1940–41 and part of 1941–42; drafted July 1, 1941, called to active duty as Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, January 3, 1942, attached to Third Naval District Communications Office, New York City; attended Naval Reserve Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University, May 20–July 20, 1942, and Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron Training Center, Portsmouth, R.I., August 1–September 1, 1942, assigned to sea duty with Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron —, September 1, 1942—February 5, 1943, on foreign duty in command of a boat of Motor Torpedo Boat Squadron —, February 5, 1943—June 25, 1944; promoted Lieutenant (1 g) March 1, 1943, and Lieutenant April 1, 1944; in line for assignment as a squadron commander; member Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), Mount Vernon

Unmarried.

Lieutenant Taylor died as a result of severe burns following an engagement with the enemy Buried in a United States Army cemetery. Post-humously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and the Silver Star Medal A PT base in the Pacific has been named Camp Taylor to honor him

Survived by father, a sister, Harriet Robinson Taylor Wellman (B.S. Syracuse Univ 1935), the wife of Daniel Thomas Wellman, Jr. (B.S. Colgate Univ 1934), of Cleveland, Ohio, a brother, Clinton Tallmadge Taylor, Jr. (Brown Univ. ex-'39), of Mount Vernon, and paternal grandmother.

# Theodore Claude Weber, B.A. 1940.

Born September 23, 1918, in Rochester, N.Y. Died March 30, 1944, in Washington, D C

Father, Frederick Weber (BPE International Young Men's Christian Association Coll [Springfield, Mass] 1920, Yale Divinity School 1920–21, MA. Columbia Univ 1928), director physical education for Indian Government, Begampet, Deccan Mother, Matilda Carolina (Schultz) Weber

Kodaikanal School, South India, Herbert Hoover High School, Glen-

dale, Calif., and Mount Hermon (Mass.) School. Scholar of the second fank Freshman and Sophomore years; oration appointment Junior and Senior years; Yale String Orchestra Freshman year, Apollo Glee Club Junior year; Dwight Hall cabinet four years; member Yale Political Union and Calhoun College (on committee for 1939 University Christian Conference; swimming and tennis teams three years; library staff three years and head librarian Senior year).

Attended Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy, Tufts College, 1940–41 (M.A. 1941); in foreign property control department Hanover Bank & Trust Company, New York City, August, 1941—January, 1942; successfully passed United States foreign service examinations January 15, 1942; employed in visa division, State Department, January–April, 1942; vice-consul American Embassy, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, April, 1942—October, 1943; third secretary American Embassy, Ciudad Trujillo, Dominican Republic, October, 1943—March, 1944.

Married June 26, 1941, in New York City, Elizabeth Sutton (B.A. Duke Univ. 1936), daughter of William and Lucy (Kendall) Sutton Son-Frederick Theodore.

Death due to complications resulting from a tropical disease Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington, Va. Survived by wife, son, parents, two sisters, Myrtle Ann Weber (Whittier Coll. ex-'44) of Des Moines, Iowa, and Matilda Carolina Weber (Whittier Coll Class of 1946), and a brother, James Gordon Weber of Begampet.

### Wendell Ross Wheelock, B.A. 1940.

Born September 17, 1918, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died December 15, 1943, in Ardmore, Okla

Father, Carl Williams Wheelock (BS Worcester Polytechnic Inst. 1909), secretary-manager and treasurer Association of Fire Underwriters of Baltimore City, Md.; son of John C. F. Wheelock, ex-'83, and Myrtie (Williams) Wheelock of Southbridge, Mass. Mother, Margaret (Wilson) Wheelock (Swarthmore Coll. ex-'19), daughter of William Ross and Sarah (Feast) Wilson of Philadelphia. Direct descendant of Ralph Wheelock (BA. Univ. Cambridge 1626), the great-grandfather of Eleazar Wheelock (BA. 1733).

Baltimore City College High School. Freshman Football and Tennis squads and Freshman Squash Team; runner-up Freshman Squash Tournament; University Squash Squad Sophomore year, University Squash Team Junior year; on national intercollegiate championship squash team Senior year; winner of two intercollege squash charms (singles cham-

pion) Sophomore and Junior years, and an intercollegiate championship squash charm Junior year; University Cross-Country Team Senior year; member American Student and Yale Political unions and Jonathan Edwards College (football, squash, and tennis teams Sophomore and Junior years, touch football team Senior year).

Executive trainee Sears, Roebuck & Company, Washington, 1940-41;

member Chapel of the Nativity (Episcopal), Baltimore

Married October 31, 1943, in Ardmore, Alice Hansberry (Univ. Arizona ex-'44), daughter of Thomas William Hansberry (Massachusetts Inst Technology ex-'18, B A. George Washington Univ. 1923) and Hilja (Raisenen) Hansberry

Inducted into Army of the United States November 14, 1941; assigned to — Coast Artillery Regiment (anti-aircraft) January, 1942, accepted as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces, April, 1942; received preflight training at Santa Ana, Calif (cadet captain Squadron —), September—December, 1942, primary training at Ryan Field (battalion adjutant), December, 1942—February, 1943, basic training at Marana Field February—April, 1943, and advanced training at Douglas, Ariz. (cadet captain, adjutant Class 43F, and associate editor class publication), April—June, 1943; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant June 23, 1943; received further pilot training for B-17's at Hobbs, N.Mex., July—September, 1943, Gowan Field about September 14–23, 1943, and Ephrata, Wash., September—October, 1943, combat training with —— Squadron, Ardmore, October—December, 1943

Lieutenant Wheelock and the entire crew were killed when their plane developed engine trouble at the take-off on a mission to the Gulf of Mexico, caught fire, crashed, and exploded Buried in Druid Ridge Cemetery, Baltimore Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Miss Margaret Wheelock of Baltimore, a brother, Douglas Fremont Wheelock, USMC., and paternal and maternal grandmothers.

### Howard Helms Knight, B.A. 1941.

Born January 14, 1920, at Oyster Bay, N.Y. Died January 18, 1944, in Oakland, Calif.

Father, Howard Roscoe Knight (B.A. Boston Univ. 1912), general secretary National Conference of Social Work, Columbus, Ohio; son of Frederick Harrison and Marion (Butterfield) Knight of Boston, Mass. Mother, Pauline (Helms) Knight (B.A. Middlebury Coll 1915); daughter of Edgar James and Eugenia (Preston) Helms of Boston.

University School, Columbus. Freshman Swimming Squad; 150-pound

football squad Sophomore year; Dwight Hall work Freshman and Sophomore years; member Yale Political Union and Trumbull College (football team Sophomore and Senior years; swimming team three years and winner college championship swimming medal, glee club, assistant business manager *The Trumbullian*, on committee for 1939 University Christian Conference; college representative on Senior Promenade Committee)

Attended Graduate School of Social Administration, Ohio State University, October–December, 1941; member North Broadway Church (Methodist Episcopal), Columbus

Married January 23, 1943, in Montclair, N J, Frances Wells Hutchison (B A. Connecticut Coll. for Women 1942), daughter of Malcolm Clark and Elizabeth (Kurtz) Hutchison.

Enlisted as yeoman (3d class) U.S. Coast Guard Reserve, January 2, 1942; assigned to Detroit, Mich, base January 2–October, 1942, at Coast Guard Academy, New London, Conn., October, 1942—January, 1943; commissioned Ensign January 19, 1943, promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) November 1, 1943; served in Atlantic submarine patrol until about May 1, 1943; transferred to Landing Ship Tank —— (third in command) and sent to Pacific area; took part in Kiska invasion and later saw action in the Gilbert Islands and at Tarawa; ordered home for transfer to Naval Air Corps December, 1943.

Lieutenant Knight died as the result of multiple fractures and burns received when his plane crashed shortly after taking off. Ashes interred in Union Cemetery, Meredith, N H Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Jean Marion Knight Isackes (B A. Ohio State Univ 1939), the wife of Charles French Isackes (B A. Oberlin 1939; M.A. Ohio State Univ 1940) of Lexington, Ky., and a brother, Pfc Philip Allerton Knight, A U S (died August 19, 1944).

# Kenneth Coe Bristol, Class of 1942.

Born February 22, 1918, in Waterbury, Conn. Died September 21, 1943, off Boca Chica, Fla

Father, Kenneth H. Bristol, '14 S, Major, Chemical Warfare Service, A.U.S, chief of administration Deseret Chemical Warfare Depot, Tooele, Utah; son of Warren H Bristol, '90 L., and Anne (Winship) Bristol of Brooklyn. Mother, Margaret Hoadley (Coe) Bristol, daughter of Benjamin L and Katherine (Steele) Coe of Waterbury. Yale relatives include Raymond Winship Bristol, '11 S (uncle); and Beverly Ward Bristol, Class of 1942 E. (cousin).

Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn. Entered Yale September, 1938;

Freshman Crew and Football squads, University Crew Squad and Junior University Crew Sophomore year; member Davenport College (basket-

ball team) and Second Congregational Church, Waterbury.

Withdrew from college September, 1940; entered active service in V-7 program as midshipman aboard U.S.S. Prairie State March, 1941, commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, June 10, 1941; promoted Lieutenant (1 g) June 17, 1942, and Lieutenant March 1, 1943; received further training at Quonset Point June-August, 1941; attached to Patrol Squadron 73 in Newfoundland September-December, 1941, and Iceland December, 1941—September, 1942; returned to United States for pilot training at Pensacola October, 1942—May, 1943; received wings May 11, 1943; advanced training in patrol bombing, Lake City, Fla., May 22-September, 1943

Lieutenant Bristol lost his life in an airplane accident on training mission about thirty miles off Boca Chica. Survived by parents and two brothers, Capt. John W Bristol, A.U.S, and Craig W. Bristol of Brooklyn

# John McDevitt Cronan, Class of 1943.

Born October 2, 1918, in Bryn Mawr, Pa Died June 27, 1944, in Eaton Socon, England.

Father, James P Cronan, '03, of Middletown, Pa.; retired city sales manager Chevrolet Motor Company, Philadelphia; son of Patrick James and Ellen (Pigott) Cronan of New Haven, Conn. Mother, Gertrude (McDevitt) Cronan (Trinity Coll. ex-'03), daughter of James A. McDevitt of Lancaster, Pa Yale relatives include: James P Pigott, '78 (great-uncle); Urban Cronan, '06 (uncle); and John G. Haas, 3d, '30, and Frederick P. Haas, '35 (cousins)

West Philadelphia Catholic High School; attended Pennsylvania State College 1937–38 and New York University 1938–40 Entered Yale September, 1940; member Pierson College and Roman Catholic church

Withdrew from college September, 1941; entered active duty as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces, January 19, 1942; received preliminary preflight training Maxwell Field January–February, 1942, primary training Floyd Bennett Field March–April, basic training Eglin Field May–June, and advanced training Spence Field July–October; received pilot's wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant October 8, 1942; attended Instructors' School, Maxwell Field, October–December, 1942; instructor Army Air Force Basic Flying School, Walnut Ridge, Ark., December, 1942—March, 1943, received training in B-24 Liberator bombers at Davis Monthan Field March, 1943—January, 1944, and at Mountain Home, Idaho, January–

April, and Lincoln, Nebr., April-May; member - Bombardment

Squadron, —— Bombardment Group, overseas from May, 1944.

Lieutenant Cronan was killed in an airplane crash. Buried in an American military cemetery in England. Survived by father, three sisters, Mrs. George W. Bottoms of Bala-Cynwyd, Pa, Mrs. A R Kieffer, Jr, of St Louis, and Gertrude C. Simpson (B S. Pennsylvania State Coll. 1938, M.S. 1944), the wife of A. G. Simpson of State College, Pa, and three brothers, Lieut. James P Cronan, Jr., '34, U S N R., Corporal Robert W. H Cronan, A.U.S., and William Pigott Cronan, 2d

# Richard David Dugan, B.A. 1943.

Born July 18, 1921, in Shanghai, China Missing in action February 7, 1943, in mid-Atlantic. Presumptive date of death February 8, 1944.

Father, Howard Francis Dugan (Lake Erie Law School 1924–25), vice-president Hotels Statler Company, Inc, New York City, son of Samuel and Gertrude (Yeager) Dugan of Ellwood, Pa Mother, Therese Madeleine (O'Connell) Dugan (Portia Law School 1927–28), daughter of Michael and Catherine (Hurley) O'Connell of Boston, Mass

Phillips-Exeter. Freshman Soccer Team, captain Freshman Squash Team; University Squash Team three years (captain Senior year), on board Undergraduate Athletic Association Senior year; member Yale Key, Yale Political Union, Timothy Dwight College (tennis team Junior year), N.R.O.T.C. (cadet officer with rank of 4th class petty officer), and Zeta Psi; awarded B.A. December 19, 1942

Member St. Joseph's Church (Roman Catholic), Bronxville, NY Unmarried.

Commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, December 19, 1942, reported for temporary duty U.S. Atlantic Fleet, Service Force, Subordinate Command, Naval Operating Base, Norfolk, Va, January 3, 1943; assigned to duty aboard the destroyer U.S.S.——.

Ensign Dugan left New York City on January 23, 1943, and was reported missing as of February 7, 1943, when the merchant vessel, the SS—, on which he was traveling to his station of duty in the North Atlantic, was torpedoed and sunk by enemy action in mid-Atlantic. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as February 8, 1944) Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart.

Survived by parents, a sister, Cathleen Patricia Dugan (B A Smith Coll. 1943; M A Columbia Univ. 1944) of Bronxville, N Y, and a brother, Lieut. Daniel C. Dugan, '42, U.S.N R

#### John Hislop Hamilton, B.A. 1943.

Born October 6, 1920, in Dover, N.J. Died September 11, 1943, off Salerno, Italy.

Father, Frank W. Hamilton, '08 S., president Ulster Iron Works, Dover; son of Capt Thomas Hamilton and Eunice Ellen (Watrous) Hamilton of Groton, Conn. Mother, Evelyn (Hislop) Hamilton, daughter of John Adamson and Nellie (Barry) Hislop of New London, Conn. Yale relatives include: Frederick P Latimer, '97, and Harry T Hamilton, '04 (uncles), and Frederick P Latimer, Jr, '25, Harry T. Hamilton, Jr., '38, and Lindsay C Hamilton, ex-'43 (cousins).

Phillips-Exeter 135-pound Class wrestling champion and on Class lacrosse squad Freshman year; on board Yale Daily News Sophomore year, associate editor Junior year, and radio advertising manager Senior year; member N R O.T.C. at Yale (cadet officer with rank of Ensign and commander second platoon August-December, 1942), Timothy Dwight College (coxswain of crew), Yale Political Union, Zeta Psi, and The Cloister and Book and Snake, awarded B.A. December 19, 1942.

Member Phillips-Exeter Academy Church.

Married December 19, 1942, in New Haven, Conn., Grace Elizabeth, daughter of William James and Jeannette (Searing) Thorndycraft.

Commissioned Ensign, U.S Naval Reserve, December 19, 1942; reported for active duty January 4, 1943; temporarily stationed at Recife, Brazil, in communications work; Junior Officer, in six-inch gun turret, cruiser U.S.S.—, on convoy work in the South Atlantic; assigned as Junior Officer in Fire Control Center April, 1943; took part in Sicilian and Italian invasions.

Ensign Hamilton lost his life on his cruiser while covering the Allied landing at Salerno. Buried at sea off Malta. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by wife, parents, and a brother, Lieut. Frank W. Hamilton, Jr, '40 S., US.N.R.

### Cyrus LaRue Munson, Class of 1943.

Born November 12, 1920, in Merion, Pa. Died September 16, 1943, in New Salem, Ore.

Father, George S Munson, '04, member Townsend, Elliott & Munson, lawyers, Philadelphia; son of C LaRue Munson, '75 L., and Josephine Anthony (White) Munson of Williamsport, Pa. Mother, Katharine Ade-

line (Townsend) Munson; daughter of Joseph B. and Mary B. Townsend of Overbrook, Pa Yale relatives include: Robert H. Munson, '79 (great-uncle); Edgar Munson, '04, and Curtis B. Munson, '16 (uncles); and George Munson, ex-'32, and N. Van Vranken F. Munson, '33 (cousins).

Montgomery School, Wynnewood, Pa., Episcopal Academy, Overbrook, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Entered Yale September, 1939; withdrew June 15, 1940, member St. Asaph's Church (Episcopal), Bala-

Cynwyd, Pa.

Enlisted as private Troop A, 104th Cavalry, January, 1941; received basic training at Indiantown Gap Military Reservation during 1941; on maneuvers in Williamsport and South Carolina during 1942; private (1st class) with mechanized cavalry on patrol duty at Camp Clatsop December, 1942—September, 1943.

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound Buried in Churchyard of St Asaph's Church. Survived by parents, three sisters, Mrs Morris L Clothier Maxwell of Ardmore, Pa, and Mrs. J. F. Ducey, Jr, and Miss Nathalie Munson, both of Merion, and a brother, Lieut (1 g.) Townsend

Munson, '33, U.S.N.R.

### Charles Morgan Perry, Class of 1943.

Born August 28, 1921, in New Haven, Conn Died October 25, 1943, off Quonset Point, RI

Father, Walter Perry (B.A. Williams Coll. 1887) of New Haven, former bank commissioner State of Connecticut, son of Rev Arthur Latham Perry, LL.D, D.D (B.A. Williams Coll 1852), and Mary Brown (Smedley) Perry of Williamstown, Mass Mother, Elizabeth Merrick (Morgan) Perry. Yale relatives include an uncle, Carroll Perry, '94 D.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Entered Yale September, 1939; Freshman Glee Club; Yale Glee Club two years; Yale Quartet Junior year, member Silliman College, Beta Theta Pi, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married February 27, 1943, in Jacksonville, Fla, Cecilia Ann, daughter of William J. Horner.

Withdrew from college January, 1942; enlisted in U.S Naval Reserve February 26, 1942, and member Third Yale Naval Aviation Unit, preliminary flight training Naval Reserve Air Base, Floyd Bennett Field, February-April, 1942, aviation cadet U.S. Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, April, 1942—March, 1943; received wings and commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, January 5, 1943; member carrier qualification training unit,

Ensign Perry was killed in an airplane crash in the performance of his duty. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Elizabeth Perry Marsh (B A. Vassar Coll. 1937), the wife of Capt James Bailey Marsh, U S M C.R., a brother, Capt. Walter Perry, Jr., '36, U S M C R, a half sister, Grace Perry Davidson (B.A Wellesley Coll. 1913), the wife of Robert J. Davidson, Jr., '14, and a half brother, Rogers Perry, ex-'23

# Worthington Webster Phillips, Class of 1943.

Born June 21, 1921, in Ann Arbor, Mich Died March 27, 1944, in England

Father, Ulrich Bonnell Phillips, Litt D (B A Univ. Georgia 1897, M A. 1899, Ph D Columbia Univ. 1902; M.A. Hon. Yale 1929), professor of American history at Yale University 1929–34; associate fellow Jonathan Edwards College 1933–34, son of Alonzo Rabun and Jessie Elizabeth (Young) Phillips of La Grange, Ga. Mother, Lucie (Mayo-Smith) Phillips (B A. Barnard Coll 1906), daughter of Richmond Mayo-Smith (B.A. Amherst Coll. 1875, Ph D 1890) and Mabel Percy (Ford) Mayo-Smith of New York City

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn Entered Yale September, 1939, on championship Freshman Fencing Team; member Jonathan Edwards College and Episcopal church.

Volunteered and accepted as aviation cadet by Army Air Forces January, 1942, withdrew from college to enter active service at Santa Ana Army Air Base August, 1942; preliminary flight training Thunderbird Field January–March, 1943, basic flight training Army Air Field, Pecos, Texas, March–May, 1943, and advanced training Army Air Field, Marfa, May–July, 1943, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant July 28, 1943; received further training as pilot of a Liberator bomber at Roswell, N.Mex, August–November, Clovis November–December, and Alamogordo December, 1943—February, 1944; sent overseas March 1, 1944.

Lieutenant Phillips was killed in action in England Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart April 25, 1944. Survived by mother, a sister, Mabel Elizabeth Phillips (Vassar Coll. ex-'39) of New Haven, and a brother, Ulric B Phillips, '34, '37 L.

# William Scott Snead, Jr., Class of 1943.

Born September 30, 1920, in Montclair, N J. Died December 25, 1943, on Guadalcanal, Solomon Islands.

Father, William S. Snead, '15 S, of Clayton, Mo; vice-president and treasurer Emerson Electric Manufacturing Company, St Louis; son of Charles Scott and Anna (Hasenbalg) Snead of Montclair. Mother, Katherine Amanda (Parker) Snead; daughter of Herbert Lawrence and Emily Lizzett (King) Parker of St. Louis Yale relatives include Herbert S Snead, '09 S., Ira S. Snead, '13 S., King L. Parker, '16 S, and Charles S Snead, '32 (uncles).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn., and Cheshire (Conn) Academy. Entered Yale September, 1939; Freshman Hockey and Lacrosse squads; on Yale Community Council; member NROTC at Yale, Silliman College (hockey, touch football, and softball teams), Beta Theta Pi, and St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Montclair.

Withdrew from college January, 1942; enlisted as seaman (2d class), U.S. Naval Reserve, February 26, 1942, and member Third Yale Naval Aviation Unit; preliminary flight training Naval Reserve Air Base, Floyd Bennett Field, until May 26, 1942, aviation cadet U.S Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, May-November, 1942; received wings and commissioned Ensign November 20, 1942; transferred to Naval Air Base, San Diego, for transitional training and assigned to land-based bombers, first with a photographic reconnaissance squadron and later with a bombing squadron, made bombing plane commander May, 1943, and at that time was the only Ensign commanding a heavy bomber on the Pacific coast; sent overseas August, 1943; participated in first air raids on Marshall and Gilbert islands, and in many combat missions in the Guadalcanal area; awarded Air Medal and citation "for meritorious achievement while participating in aerial flight as Patrol Plane Commander during the period from November 13 to December 21, 1943. Flying over enemy held waters, often under most hazardous weather conditions, Ensign Snead engaged in reconnaissance missions over territory at great range from his home base, gaining valuable information on enemy units and inflicting damage on hostile installations. The superb airmanship and complete devotion to duty displayed by Ensign Snead throughout these dangerous patrols were in keeping with the highest traditions of the United States Naval Service."

Ensign Snead lost his life as the result of a crash landing in the water shortly after take-off on a regular search patrol. His squadron commander said: "He was my youngest Bombing Plane Commander and had done an excellent job... The accident could have happened to anyone and he

stuck to the last and saved most of his crew. The basic cause of the crash was a runaway propeller and a terribly overloaded airplane. . . ."

Survived by parents, a brother, Lieut. Parker Snead, ex-'43, A U.S, and maternal grandmother.

# David Greenough Souther, Class of 1943.

Born June 17, 1921, in St. Louis, Mo. Died September 3, 1943, in the South Pacific area.

Father, Richard Greenough Souther (BS. in M.E. Washington Univ. [Mo] 1914) of Pelham, N.Y.; in advertising department Curtis Publishing Company, New York City Mother, Frances (Jones) Souther.

Pelham High School Entered Yale September, 1939, passed four Civilian Pilot Training courses, given in cooperation with Civil Aeronautics Administration, during college year 1940–41; member Silliman College

(football team Sophomore year).

Withdrew from college June, 1941, to enlist in U.S. Naval Reserve as member Second Yale Naval Aviation Unit; preliminary flight training Naval Reserve Air Base, Floyd Bennett Field, October–December, 1941; aviation cadet U.S. Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, December, 1941—May 16, 1942, and Miami May 22–July; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, June 25, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant April 10, 1943, sent overseas February, 1943.

Lieutenant Souther lost his life in an airplane crash due to a defective plane Survived by parents, a brother, John W. Souther, and a grand-

mother.

# Joseph Neibert Carpenter, 3d, Class of 1944.

Born December 13, 1920, in New York City. Died February 25, 1944, near Great Falls, S C

Father, Joseph Neibert Carpenter (Cornell Univ ex-'16), associated with Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Beane, brokers, New York City. Mother, Esther Kinnecut (Thompson) Carpenter

St Paul's School, Concord, NH, and Milton (Mass.) Academy. Entered Yale September, 1940; member Fence Club, Davenport College, and St James' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Withdrew from college January, 1942, to enter active service as aviation cadet (pilot) Army Air Forces; received preliminary preflight training at King City and Merced, Calif, and further training at Phoenix, Ariz, August, 1942; reclassified as a bombardier and sent to Kirtland Field December, 1942; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant February 19, 1943; selected for training in advanced navigation and sent to Hondo, Texas, February 22, 1943; instructor in navigation Kirtland Field August 1–November 15, 1943, then volunteered for immediate combat duty, reported for combat training in Mitchell medium bombers, Greenville (SC) Army Air Base December 1, 1943, acted as both bombardier and navigator of his crew.

Lieutenant Carpenter was killed in an airplane crash near Great Falls. Buried in Natchez (Miss.) Cemetery. Survived by parents, a brother, Nathaniel Leslie Carpenter of Natchez, and paternal grandmother

# Willis Clyde Locker, Jr., Class of 1944.

Born May 16, 1921, in Richmond, Va. Died December 7, 1943, in Italy.

Father, Willis Clyde Locker, author and publisher; director of Handwriting and Adult Education, Richmond public schools. Mother, Mary Augusta (Bowles) Locker (B A. Hollins Coll 1905).

St Christopher's School, Richmond, and Gilman Country School, Baltimore; entered Yale September, 1940; withdrew June 14, 1941; registered in department of Architecture Yale School of the Fine Arts November,

1941; member St Stephen's Church (Episcopal), Richmond

Withdrew from School of the Fine Arts June, 1942, and enlisted 1303d Service Unit, Army of the United States, Camp Lee, July 2, 1942; lance corporal Company B, 10th Training Battalion, Fort McClellan, July 8-September 14, 1942; with Company —, — Infantry, — Division, Camp Edwards, September 14, 1942—February, 1943; promoted private (1st class) November 1, 1942; on maneuvers in Blue Ridge Mountains during February, 1943; went overseas April 2, 1943, and was stationed in North Africa; his division led the invasion at Salerno September 9, 1943, he was the first man ashore from his battalion; promoted corporal September 24, 1943; volunteer scout patrol leader with 5th Army in Italy

Corporal Locker was killed in action. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and the Silver Star Survived by parents and a sister, Em Bowles Locker (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1937)

# Walter Roy Manny, Jr., Class of 1944.

Born February 3, 1921, in Paris, France. Died October 18, 1943, at Bogue Field, N.C.

Father, W Roy Manny, '11 S (ME Cornell Univ. 1913), president Atlantic Zinc Works, Inc., Brooklyn; son of Walter Bishop and Ella (Tatum) Manny of St Louis Mother, Lorraine (Craven) Manny; daughter of James Braddock and May (Field) Craven of Larchmont, N.Y. Yale relatives include. Edward H. Tatum, '00 (great-uncle), and Ralph P. Manny, '19 S. (uncle)

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH, and Taft School for Boys, Watertown, Conn. Entered Yale September, 1940. Freshman Hockey and Rowing squads; University Hockey Team Sophomore year; member Berkeley College, Fence Club, and St. John's Church (Episcopal), Larchmont.

Withdrew from college July, 1942; aviation cadet preliminary flight training University of North Carolina July-October, 1942; transferred to Naval Aviation Base, Grosse Isle, Mich., October, 1942—February, 1943, received advanced training at Naval Air Training Center, Pensacola, March-June, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, US Marine Corps Reserve, June 30, 1943; special training in dive bombing at Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, July-September, 1943, and Bogue Field September-October, 1943.

Married September 25, 1943, in Greenwich, Conn, Constance Lorenza Lazo (B A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1943), daughter of Antonio Lazo.

Lieutenant Manny was killed in the collision of two planes while in formation Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown, N Y. Survived by wife, parents, four sisters, Mrs. John Evan Rees, Mrs. Blanchard Randall, 3d, Miss May Field Manny and Miss Virginia Manny, a brother, James Craven Manny, and maternal grandmother.

#### SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

# Russell Henry Chittenden, Ph.B. 1875.

Born February 18, 1856, in New Haven, Conn Died December 26, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Horace Horatio Chittenden, member Foy & Harmon, shirt manufacturers, New Haven; son of Alfred and Anne (Platt) Chittenden of Westbrook, Conn. Mother, Emily Eliza (Doane) Chittenden; daughter of Russell E. Doane of Clinton, Conn.

French's Preparatory School, New Haven. Enrolled as special student Sheffield Scientific School 1872–75; chemistry and biology courses; discoverer of glycocoll and glycogen in the free amino acids of living tissue and wrote Senior fhesis on this subject. Attended Yale Graduate School 1875–78 (Ph.D. 1880; honorary member The Colony and Berzelius) Studied at University of Heidelberg 1878–79.

Member faculty Yale University 1874-1943 (assistant 1874-77, instructor 1877-78 and 1879-82, professor 1882-1922, and professor emeritus 1922-43; professor of physiology 1900-05; chairman department of physiology, physiological chemistry, and bacteriology for several years); Director Sheffield Scientific School 1898–1922, Director emeritus 1922–43, a trustee 1900-30, and treasurer of the board 1904-30; member Board of Control Yale University Athletic Association 1916–22, associate fellow Berkeley College (Yale University) 1936-43; Alumni Fund agent for Class of 1875 S. from 1937 to 1943 and Class of 1876 S from 1941 to 1943; lecturer and director department of physiological chemistry Columbia University 1898–1903; LL.D. University of Toronto 1903, University of Birmingham 1911, Washington University 1915, and Yale University 1922; Sc.D. University of Pennsylvania 1904; MD (Hon) Connecticut State Medical Society 1934, author. Studies in Physiological Chemistry (4 vols., 1884–1901), Digestive Proteolysis (1895), Physiological Economy in Nutrition (1904), The Nutrition of Man (1907), History of the Sheffield Scientific School 1846-1922 (2 vols., 1928), The Development of Physiological Chemistry in the United States (1930), and numerous scientific papers; editor: Collected Papers, Sheffield Scientific School, Laboratory of Physiological Chemistry, Yale University, 1884-1921; associate editor: Journal of Physiology 1890–1902, American Journal of Physiology 1898-1909, and Journal of Experimental Medicine, on referee board of consulting scientific experts to Secretary of Agriculture 1908–14, a commissioner international hygiene exhibition, Dresden, 1911, on executive committee National Research Council 1917-18 and advisory committee

on food utilization 1917; a director and on finance committee National Committee for Mental Hygiene 1918, and committee on organization First International Congress on Mental Hygiene 1930, represented United States at Inter-Allied Scientific Commission on Alimentation in Paris, London, and Rome 1918; honorary fellow New York Academy of Medicine; fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and American Academy of Arts and Sciences; corresponding member Société de Biologie (Paris), associate member Société Royale des Sciences Médicales et Naturelles de Bruxelles; member Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, National Academy of Sciences, American Philosophical Society, American Institute of Nutrition, American Chemical Society, National Institute of Social Sciences, Sigma Xi, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married June 20, 1877, in Litchfield, Conn., Gertrude Louise, daughter of Charles Frederick and Hannah Maria (Bradbury) Baldwin. Children Edith Russell (B A. Smith Coll. 1899); Alfred Knight, '00 S., '02 F. (died November 1, 1930), and Lilla Millard (Mrs Henry Gray Barbour; died September 16, 1943). Mrs Chittenden died July 22, 1922.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Évergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by one daughter (died March 10, 1945) and three grand-children, two of whom are Henry C. Barbour, '34 S., and Russell C. Barbour, '43 E.

Professor Chittenden is regarded as the founder of physiological chemistry in the United States; he was the first man to hold such a professorship in this country and the laboratory he established was the first of its kind wholly devoted to this branch of science. His period as director of the Sheffield Scientific School was characterized by its noteworthy effect on the teaching of science, both at Yale and elsewhere Graham Lusk has said, "He built up the first true school of scientific endeavor concerned with premedical education in this country; that is to say, he formed a group consisting of the master himself surrounded with pupils who in their turn became masters."

The Russell H Chittenden Research Fund was established June 21, 1915, by gifts from his pupils. In 1926 Professor Chittenden established the Russell H Chittenden Prize, and in his will bequeathed his scientific library to the University.

### Stanly Forbes, Ph.B. 1876.

Born September 23, 1855, in San Francisco, Calif Died March 31, 1944, in Ross, Calif.

Father, Andrew Bell Forbes of San Francisco; manager Pacific Mail Steamship Company, general agent Mutual Life Insurance Company of

New York; son of Cleaveland Alexander and Susan (Foster) Forbes of Perth Amboy, N J. Mother, Katharine Kester (Thompson) Forbes; daughter of John M. and Ann (Kester) Thompson of Bordentown, N.J. Yale relatives include a nephew, Stanly H. Jones, '08 S

Urban School, San Francisco Civil engineering course; Commencement speaker; member Alpha Chi. Attended Yale Graduate School 1876-77.

Associated with Spring Valley Water Works Company, San Francisco, 1877–78; in charge construction irrigation works on sugar plantation of Claus Spreckles, Maui Island, Hawaii, 1878–83 and various lumber railroads near Eureka, Calif., 1884–86; engaged in insurance business with his father in San Francisco 1886–1902; Pacific coast manager Mutual Life Insurance Company of New York 1902–05, with his brother Cleaveland managed family estate 1905–42; a framer Palo Alto, Calif., charter 1905, trustee Palo Alto schools 1909–11; chairman Committee on Schools and Libraries, Palo Alto; winner international fly-casting trophy Panama-Pacific Exposition 1915; member Iris Society of America and American Rose Society

Married May 5, 1886, in Sacramento, Calif., Kate Lane, daughter of Orange Nelson and Laura (Lane) Skeels Children. Florence Hazel (B A Stanford Univ. 1909), the wife of Levant Brown, 2d (B S Purdue Univ. 1908, C.E. 1913), and Helen Katharine Mrs. Forbes died November 4, 1943.

Death due to chronic myocarditis with acute dilatation Buried in Santa Barbara (Calif.) Cemetery Survived by daughters, two grandchildren, a sister, Angela Forbes Jackson, the widow of Schuyler B Jackson, '71, of Kent, England, and a brother, Cleaveland Forbes, '77.

# William Grover Chapin, Ph.B. 1878.

Born May 18, 1858, in South Hadley, Mass. Died February 25, 1944, in Rockville Centre, NY.

Father, John Hart Pierce Chapin of Somers, Conn; superintendent of buildings and grounds Mount Holyoke College, son of Oliver and Anne (Pierce) Chapin of South Hadley. Mother, Charlotte Louise (Grover) Chapin; daughter of Lester Kibbe and Hannah (Alden) Grover of Somers

Giles Private School, Springfield, Mass. Civil engineering course, president Sheff Telegraph Company Senior year; Commencement speaker; member Alpha Chi, and Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Engaged in experimental work with New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company in New Haven, Hartford, and Somers 1878-80, draftsman Wells Engine Company, high-speed engines, New York City, 1880-82, Weeks & Halsey 1882-85, and Joseph Edwards & Company,

hydraulic dredging, New York City, 1885–87, with Thompson & Norris Company, paper manufacturers, Brooklyn, 1887 until retirement 1928 (superintendent 1887–1918, secretary 1911–28); president Pynetree Paper Company 1917–26; vice-president National Association of Corrugated and Fibre Box Manufacturers 1916–18; pioneer designer of machinery for manufacture of corrugated paper; member Fifty-year Class Reunion Committee, deacon Tompkins Avenue Congregational Church, Brooklyn.

Married August 16, 1882, in Springfield, Mary Janette Alexander (grad. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1879), daughter of George and Mary (Laflin) Alexander Children: William Alexander (died March 12, 1888), Lester Grover (B Arch Cornell 1908), Stanley Wallace, and Harry Alexander (M.E.

Cornell 1915).

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Survived by wife, three sons, five grandchildren, and one great-grandchild

# Frank McAlpine Collin, Ph.B. 1880.

Born September 17, 1859, in Benton Center, N.Y. Died January 1, 1944, in Penn Yan, N.Y.

Father, Henry Clark Collin, a farmer in Benton; son of Henry and Nancy (McAlpine) Collin of Benton. Mother, Maria Louise (Park) Collin, daughter of Avery and Betsey (Meech) Park of Preston, Conn., and Burlington, N Y. Yale relatives include: Henry P. Collin, '65, Charles A Collin, '66, Frederick Collin, '71, George Collin, '75, and William W. Collin, '77 (brothers); William H. Welch, '70, and Roswell Park (LL D. 1902) (cousins), William W. Collin, Jr., '07, and Frederick C. Crosby, '12 S (nephews); and William Welch Collin, 3d (Class of 1945) (grand-nephew).

Geneva (NY) High School. Select course; German prize Senior year and Commencement speaker, Class supper committee Freshman year; Class Triennial Committee; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi

Manager of a farm of about 900 acres in the Town of Benton, Yates County, NY., 1885–1904 and owner 1905–43, supervisor Town of Benton 1905–11; represented Yates County in New York Assembly 1911; member Benton Cooperative and Board of Visitors Willard State Hos-

pital, elder First Presbyterian Church, Penn Yan, 1900-43.

Married June 25, 1884, in Jerusalem, NY, Margaret Elizabeth, daughter of John Johnson and Sarah (Beaumont) Durry. Children: Henry Beaumont (BA Cornell 1907; Cornell Law School 1907–08); Marie Louise, the widow of Hiram Albert Gardner (Syracuse Univ. ex-'11); George Franklin, Margaret Elizabeth, the wife of Arthur King Bennett (MD. Univ Michigan 1904); Charles Frederick; and Frank McAlpine, Jr (died in infancy). Mrs Collin died February 25, 1940.

Death due to cardiac dilatation. Buried in Benton Center Cemetery Survived by two daughters, three sons, nine grandchildren, and five great-grandchildren.

### George Goodwin Williams, Ph B. 1880.

Born February 25, 1858, in Glastonbury, Conn. Died May 17, 1944, in Millinocket, Maine.

Father, William Stuart Williams, partner J. B. Williams Company, soap manufacturers, Glastonbury; member Connecticut House of Representatives 1884–85, son of Solomon Williams, ex-1803, and Martha (Baker) Williams of Brooklyn, Conn. Mother, Mary Edwards (Goodwin) Williams, daughter of George Goodwin (BA 1806) and Maria (Kingsbury) Goodwin. Yale relatives include: Thomas Williams (BA. 1748) (great-grandfather); Richard E. Goodwin (B.A. 1807) and Edward Goodwin (B.A. 1823) (great-uncles); Lewis S. Welch, '89 (brother-inlaw); Franklin D. W. Glazier, '04, W. Stuart Glazier, '06, and Philip A. Glazier, ex-'07 S. (nephews); Emily Welch Greil (Graduate School 1922–23) (niece); and Richard B. Bulkeley, Jr, '34 (grandnephew)

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Select course, Class supper committee Freshman and Senior years; vice-president Christian Union Senior year; member Dunham Boat Club (lieutenant Junior year) and The Colony and Berzelius.

Associated with J. B. Williams Company 1880 until retirement 1930 (treasurer 1885–1910, president 1910–30); vice-president Williams Brothers Manufacturing Company, silver and nickel ware, Glastonbury, member corporation Farmington (Conn.) Savings Bank 1915–44 (vice-president 1919–40); director Grenfell Association of America, member Yale Engineering Association, Society of Colonial Wars, and Sons of the American Revolution; deacon Congregational Church, Farmington

Married March 3, 1890, in Hartford, Conn., Jeannette Crosby, daughter of Ebenezer K. Hunt (B.A. 1833) and Mary (Crosby) Hunt No children. Mrs. Williams died June 19, 1933

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by no immediate relatives.

# Charles Francis Adams, Ph.B. 1881.

Born March 8, 1862, in Baltimore, Md. Died July 15, 1943, in Portland, Ore.

Father, Orson Adams, a farmer in Howard County, Md, and a national bank examiner, son of John Thomas and Mary (Broughton)

Adams of Baltimore Mother, Annie Louiza (Fisher) Adams; daughter of Thomas Nathaniel and Louiza Turner (Phillips) Fisher of Baltimore.

Phillips-Exeter. Dynamic engineering course; vice-president of the Class Junior year, on graduating committee Senior year; member Alpha Chi, and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

With Winslow, Lanier & Company, bankers, New York City, 1882 and United States Land Office, Walla Walla, Wash., 1883; cashier First National Bank, Colfax, Wash, 1883–90; co-organizer Security Savings and Trust Company, Portland, 1890 (secretary 1890–1903, president 1903–13) which merged with First National Bank in 1914 (vice-president 1914–27, president 1927–32, chairman of the board 1932–43); president Portland Gas Company 1892–1910 and Pacific Coast Gas Company 1899; treasurer Oregon Mutual Life Insurance Company 1909–27 and president 1927–43; chairman of the board Portland Gas and Coke Company 1910–33; trustee Riverview Cemetery Association of Portland 1925–43 (treasurer 1927–43); on board Portland Art Museum; member Port of Portland Commission, Yale Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Portland

Married (1) October 9, 1901, in San Francisco, Mary Cecilia Hershal Eichbaum Cummins, daughter of Frederick and Josephine (Prichard) Eichbaum Children Anne Josephine, the wife of Holt W. Berni, and Charles Francis, Jr., '30 Mrs Adams died March 29, 1941. Married (2) November 22, 1941, in Vancouver, Wash, Frances T. Stockwell (Vassar 1881–83), daughter of William Hamilton and Mary (Strange) Stockwell and sister of William H. Stockwell, '83.

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Riverview Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Henry Atterbury and Mrs Silas Marland Hamilton, and three brothers, Howard, Alvin Phillips, and Irving Adams, all of Baltimore.

# George Lewis Sargent, Ph B. 1881.

Born July 26, 1862, in New Britain, Conn Died February 5, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Joseph Bradford Sargent, founder and president Sargent & Company, hardware manufacturers, New Haven; mayor of New Haven 1891–95, son of Joseph Denny and Mindwell (Jones) Sargent of Leicester, Mass. Mother, Elizabeth Collier (Lewis) Sargent, daughter of Curtis and Jane Gardner (Collier) Lewis of Greensboro, Ga Yale relatives, other than those listed in the biography of his brother, Edward R Sargent, published in the 1939–40 Obituary Record, include Lawton G. Sargent, '12 S. (nephew)

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven Dynamic engineering course; coxswain Class crew Freshman year, tennis singles champion and represented Yale in first intercollegiate tennis tournament; Class supper committee Freshman and Senior years, member The Cloister and Book and Snake. Attended Yale School of Law 1881–83 (LL B. 1883).

Associated with Sargent & Company 1883 until retirement 1928 (treasurer 1887–1917, vice-president 1917–27, president 1927–28, a director 1895–1940); trustee and corporator National Savings Bank of New Haven 1911–40; member Class reunion committees and National Aeronautic Association of the United States of America.

Married (1) April 28, 1886, in New York City, Alice Bessie, daughter of Charles Forbes. Children: Eleanor Strong (died May 30, 1892); Richard Collier, '11, Sydney Forbes, ex-'11 S; Dorothy, the wife of Henry J. Wiser, '15; Hilda, the wife of Roswell G. Ham, LL D (B L Univ California 1914; Ph.D. Yale 1925); Mary Denny, the wife of Rev William H. McCance, '18; Howard Lewis, ex-'18 S., and Charles Forbes, '20. Mrs Sargent died May 5, 1902. Married (2) October 25, 1911, in Concord, Mass., Margaret Berrien Motte Sargent, daughter of Ellis Loring and Annie Louise (Lobdell) Motte and widow of Russell Sargent, '84 S

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, three daughters, sons, one stepdaughter, Barbara Louise Sargent Grove Moorehead, the wife of Ludwig King Moorehead (B.A Harvard 1918), seventeen grandchildren, among whom are Anne Loring Grove Turner, ex-'45 Mus., the wife of Arthur N. Turner (Class of 1943), and Frederick K. Sargent, '39, three great-grandchildren, two sisters, Miss Laura Sargent of New Haven and Margaret S Fisher, the wife of Samuel H. Fisher, '89, and a brother, John Sargent, '94 S Four other brothers, Henry B Sargent, '71 S, Edward R. Sargent, '80 S., Joseph D Sargent, '81 S., and Russell Sargent, '84 S, died in 1927, 1940, 1936, and 1904 respectively.

# Cassius Samuel Lyman, Ph.B. 1882.

Born March 2, 1860, in Huntington, Mass Died April 1, 1944, in Unity, Maine

Father, Samuel Tinker Lyman, postmaster of Huntington; member S. T. Lyman & Son, merchants, Holyoke, Mass; son of Samuel and Miriam S. (Tinker) Lyman of Chester and Southampton, Mass Mother, Augusta Hayden (Kirkland) Lyman; daughter of Thomas and Polly (Manley) Kirkland of Agawam, Mass. Yale relatives include. Daniel Kirtland (B.A. 1720) (great-great-grandfather), and Robert H Lyman, '84 (brother).

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass. Civil engineering course; Commencement speaker; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta

Surveyor New York, West Shore and Buffalo Railroad, Newburgh, N.Y, 1882; principal Nonotuck Grammar School, Holyoke, 1883–84, Thompsonville (Conn) High School 1884–89, and Manchester (Conn) Grammar School 1889–93; superintendent of schools Oxford, Mass., 1893–1902, Amesbury 1902–06, and Hudson 1906–18; teacher and supervisor of practice teaching State Teachers College, Framingham, 1918 until retirement 1930, contributed articles on geography to *Popular Education*, member Framingham Group School Superintendents (secretary and president), Massachusetts Association of School Superintendents (secretary), New England Association of School Superintendents, and National Education Association, attended Unitarian church.

Married December 25, 1883, in Holyoke, Maria Louise, daughter of James William and Mary Ann (Perry) Burr. Children: Faith Elderkin (B A Mount Holyoke Coll. 1906), the wife of George Otis Rhodes; Warren Burr, '06 S; Rachel (died November 11, 1887); and Helen, the wife of George Stetson Patterson. Mrs. Lyman died January 6, 1930.

Death due to senility. Buried in Forest Dale Cemetery, Holyoke. Sur-

vived by two daughters, son, and one grandson.

### Edward Wells Penfield, Ph.B. 1883.

Born June 27, 1863, in New York City Died March 29, 1944, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Henry Day Penfield, president H D. & L C Penfield, general insurance agency, Chicago, son of Samuel Lewis and Ximena (Taylor) Penfield of Catskill-on-Hudson, N.Y. Mother, Martha Estelle (Wells) Penfield; daughter of Moses and Love (Chapin) Wells of Wheaton, Ill. Yale relatives include Arthur B Wells, '84, and Bradford Wells, '01 S. (cousins)

Barnes' School for Boys and Allen's Academy, Chicago Dynamic engineering course, member Yale University Yacht Club

Machinist's apprentice Southwark Foundry and Machine Company, Philadelphia, assistant foreman in rail mill Illinois Steel Company, South Chicago, in track and motive power departments Chicago to Denver route of Chicago, Burlington & Quincy Railroad, with Weber Railway Joint & Manufacturing Company, Chicago, eastern sales representative Rodger Ballast Car Company and National Dump Car Company, Chicago, engineer and foreign representative Rodger Ballast Car Company at time of

retirement in 1935; traveled widely and had lived in England, India, Japan, and China, contributed articles on railroad and mechanical subjects to *Technical Press*, member American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, Travelers Club (Paris), and Union Interalliée (Paris) Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by a sister, Mrs. Walter Frazer Brown of Glen Ellyn, Ill

### William Todd Ross, Ph.B. 1885.

Born January 19, 1864, in New Gloucester, Maine. Died May 3, 1944, in Exeter, N H.

Father, Rev. John Alexander Ross (Dalhousie Univ 1851, resident licentiate Andover Theological Seminary 1860), minister Congregational church, Hampton, N.H.; son of William and Rosina (Selig) Ross Mother, Louise (Todd) Ross.

Belfast (Maine) High School. Civil engineering course, Class Crew Freshman year, president of the Class Senior year, member Dunham Boat Club and Sheff Gun Club

Engaged in constructing an aqueduct in New York City 1885–93, general contractor 1893–99; with Boston & Maine Railroad 1899–1902; engineer in Hampton and in charge construction of sewer at Hampton Beach and grade crossings at Malden, Mass.; superintendent Hampton Cemetery; chairman Board of Selectmen, Hampton.

Married July 17, 1892, Anna Shepard Woodhull. No children Mrs Ross is deceased.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Hampton Cemetery Survived by no immediate relatives.

### James Eugene Greenebaum, Ph.B. 1886.

Born April 3, 1866, in Chicago, Ill. Died July 30, 1943, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Elias Greenebaum, senior partner Greenebaum Sons, bankers, Chicago; son of Jacob and Esther Greenebaum of Eppelsheim, Germany. Mother, Rosine (Straus) Greenebaum; daughter of Simeon and Caroline Straus of Chicago. Yale relatives include a nephew, John Greenebaum, ex-'11.

Chicago High School and private tutor. Chemistry course; Senior ap-

pointment, member Alpha Chi.

Partner Greenebaum Sons 1886-1911 and vice-president of its successors, Greenebaum Sons Bank and Trust Company 1911–27, The Bank of America 1927–28, Central Trust Company of Illinois 1928–30, and Central Republic Bank and Trust Company 1930-32; director Greenebaum Investment Company 1915-43 and active in the firm 1932-43; treasurer Chicago Home for Jewish Orphans 1903-33; trustee Harvard School for Boys, Chicago, 1917–23 and secretary and treasurer Harvard School Building Company 1917–23; treasurer Chicago Home for Jewish Orphans 1903– 33, member Yale Engineering Association and Sinai Congregation of Chicago (Jewish Reform Church).

Married September 7, 1893, in Chicago, Amy Beatrice, daughter of Ferdinand and Bertha (Stein) Kramer Children: Frederic James, '16 S., Charles Jay, '18 S., and Edith Jeanne, the wife of Philip Albert Lieber (Univ Chicago ex-'22). Mrs. Greenebaum died December 11, 1939.

Death due to uremia. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived

by children, five grandchildren, and one great-grandchild.

#### William Sanders Tevis, Ph.B. 1886.

Born August 21, 1864, in San Francisco, Calif. Died August 3, 1943, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Lloyd Tevis, a pioneer in development of California; member original firm Hearst, Haggin & Tevis of San Francisco; president Southern Pacific Railroad Company and Wells-Fargo Express Company; son of Samuel and Sarah (Greathouse) Tevis of Shelbyville, Ky. Mother, Susan G. (Saunders) Tevis, daughter of Col Lewis Saunders, Jr, of Sacramento. Yale relatives include a cousin, Ludwig O. Kellogg, ex-'86 Spec. S.

Urban School, San Francisco Civil engineering course; honors for excellence in all studies of the Freshman year and honors in chemistry and in mathematics; member Sheff Gun Club, University Chess Club, Alpha

Chi, and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Engaged in cattle raising and irrigation development in California; president Kern County Land Company, Bakersfield, and First National Bank.

Married June 27, 1889, in San Francisco, Mabel, daughter of Romualdo and Mary (McIntire) Pacheco. Children. Lloyd, William Sanders, Jr., Gordon Blanding, '17 S, and Lansing K.

Survived by wife and sons.

# George Conrad Ham, Ph.B. 1887.

Born April 11, 1867, in Washington, N.Y. Died June 21, 1944, in Naugatuck, Conn.

Father, Milton Ham, a farmer in Washington; son of Conrad and Elizabeth (Haight) Ham of Washington. Mother, Phoebe (Ferris) Ham, daughter of Peleg and Sarah (Sweet) Ferris of Pawling, N.Y. Yale relatives include a nephew, Donald S Tuttle, '12 S.

Seymour Smith's Academy, Pine Plains, NY., and Phillips-Andover.

Civil engineering course, Class historian Senior year

Engaged in engineering in Connecticut and New York 1887–92 and in southern and western United States and Mexico 1892–93; member Ham & Tuttle [Howard B., '87 S.], civil engineers, Naugatuck, 1893–1903; practiced independently 1903–24; secretary and general manager Naugatuck Water Company 1924–32, president and treasurer 1932–44; engineer Borough of Naugatuck 1893–1912 and tree warden 1904–12; inspector summer resorts, Connecticut State Board of Health, 1902–04 and sanitary inspector State of Connecticut 1904–12; secretary Class of '87 S. from 1937 to 1940; member Collectors Club of New York, Yale Engineering Association, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, and Congregational church, Naugatuck.

Married June 9, 1892, in Naugatuck, Grace, daughter of Samuel Zera and Minerva A. (Manchester) Seymour. Children Conrad Seymour, '17 S, and Margaret Seymour (died in infancy) Mrs. Ham died November 15, 1933.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Grove Cemetery, Naugatuck Survived by son.

### Charles Eugene Phillips, Ph.B. 1887.

Born July 21, 1865, in Yonkers, NY. Died September 29, 1943, in Columbus, Ohio.

Father, James G. Phillips of Southington, Conn. Prepared at Lewis High School, Yonkers. Mechanical engineering course.

Engaged in business in Indianapolis, Cincinnati, and Columbus until retirement about 1929. Unmarried.

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Quinnipiac Cemetery, Plants-ville, Conn. Survived by no immediate relatives.

# George Tyler Burroughs, Jr., Ph.B. 1889.

Born August 29, 1866, in Portland, Maine. Died June 8, 1944, in San Bernardino, Calif.

Father, George Tyler Burroughs, a distiller in Chicago; son of Abner and Mary (Rice) Burroughs of Warren, Mass. Mother, Mary Evaline (Zieger) Burroughs; daughter of Josiah and Mary (Coleman) Zieger of Nevada, Iowa.

Public school and private tutor in Chicago Dynamic engineering course; Class crew three years (captain Junior year); member York Hall and Chi Phi

Engaged in ranching, cattle raising, and operating placer gold dredges on Snake River, Cassia County, Idaho, 1889–1904 (associated with his brother Henry and his classmate Lewis H. Sweetser), president American Battery Company, Chicago, 1904–10 and Burley (Idaho) Hardware Company 1910–36, engaged in walnut farming and poultry raising, Fontana, Calif, 1936–44, on Burley school board and city council; attended Christian Science church, Burley.

Married January 10, 1900, in Pocatello, Idaho, Edna, daughter of John Bunion and Harriet (Hald) McCoy. Son: George Tyler, 3d (BS. Univ Idaho 1927) Mrs. Burroughs died October 10, 1941.

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia. Buried in Mountain View Mausoleum, Oakland, Calif Survived by son, a granddaughter, and a brother, Edgar Rice Burroughs of Honolulu. Another brother, Henry S Burroughs, '89 S, died in 1940

### William Henry Pierce, Ph.B. 1889.

Born April 1, 1868, in South Britain, Conn. Died February 24, 1944, in Detroit, Mich.

Father, John Pierce, a farmer in South Britain, son of John and Olive (Platt) Pierce of South Britain Mother, Caroline E. (Garlick) Pierce; daughter of Samuel and Sarah (Hineson) Garlick of Brooklyn, N.Y.

Woodbury (Conn ) School Dynamic engineering course.

Attended Cornell University Graduate School summer 1895; worked in a brass factory in Waterbury, Conn., for a short time; taught school in Atlanta, Idaho, Tacoma, Wash., Brainerd, Minn., Minooka, Ill., Indianapolis and Chicago, secretary Field Museum of Natural History, Chicago, several years; court reporter in Chicago 1910 until retirement 1940; member Congregational Church, Winnetka, Ill

Married September 23, 1913, in Grass Lake, Mich., Erma Ethel, daugh-

ter of Edmond Lorraine and Ada Ann (Clark) Cooper. Daughter. Ethel Cooper (B S. Northwestern Univ. 1935). Mrs. Pierce died June 16, 1914 Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, South Britain. Survived by daughter.

#### Lewis Hobart Sweetser, Ph.B. 1889.

Born January 13, 1868, in San Francisco, Calif. Died June 5, 1944, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Andrew Ingalls Sweetser, farmer, stock raiser, and orchardist in California; son of Joseph B. Sweetser. Mother, Lisbeth (Hitchings) Sweetser; daughter of Edward Wade Hitchings.

Urban School, San Francisco, attended University of California at Berkeley 1885–86 (member Chi Phi). Dynamic engineering course, winner middle weight sparring and wrestling events winter athletic games Freshman year, Class crew and Dunham Boat Club Junior and Senior years, Yale Assembly Senior year.

Engaged in cattle raising Raft River Valley, Idaho; with his classmates Henry S. Burroughs and George T. Burroughs, Jr., operated placer gold dredges on Snake River, Cassia County, Idaho, 1889–1904; farmer in Yale, Idaho, 1904–12; successively field man for a sugar company in Billings, Mont, president Frye-Sweetser Oil Company, Louisville, Ky, and president Columbus (Ohio) Loan & Mortgage Company 1912–35; engaged in commercial writing, county and state fair management, and lecturing, North Hollywood, Calif, 1935–44; author. The Alexandrian Talisman and The Inner Voice Reveals (1943), member Idaho State Legislature, lieutenant governor of Idaho 1908–10; trustee Albion (Idaho) State Normal School 1898; member American Society for Psychical Research and Methodist church

Married in 1902 in Salt Lake City, Utah, Clara, daughter of Crayton L and Amelia (Stallings) Hawkins. No children Mrs. Sweetser died March 13, 1936.

Death due to uremia Buried in Ontario (Calif ) Mausoleum. Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Charles Newton Gunn, Ph.B. 1890.

Born June 14, 1866, in New Haven, Conn Died April 18, 1944, in Norwalk, Conn.

Father, Newton James Gunn, a contractor with Mallory, Wheeler Company, lock manufacturers, New Haven, son of John and Charlotte

(Adams) Gunn of Suffield, Conn. Mother, Susann (Browne) Gunn; daughter of Moody H. and Ellen (Tucker) Browne of Oxford, Conn.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course; honorable mention for excellence in civil engineering Senior year; Senior ap-

pointment, Commencement speaker, member Theta Delta Chi.

In civil engineering department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, New Haven, 1890–1901; manager Litchfield (Conn.) Hotel summer 1901, Castle Hotel and Endicott Hotel, New York City, 1901–04, and Carlyon Arms, White Plains, N.Y, 1904–06; in restaurant business in Stamford, Conn., 1906–30; retired in 1935; member Episcopal church.

Married November 15, 1900, in New York City, Henrietta, daughter of Henderson and Hester (Tuett) MacIntyre. Children. a daughter (died at birth) and Richard MacIntyre

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife and son.

#### Albert Milford Turner, Ph.B. 1890.

Born February 26, 1868, in Northfield, Conn. Died June 28, 1944, in Northfield, Conn.

Father, Abraham Manning Turner, a farmer in Northfield; son of Eber and Malitta (Wilmot) Turner of Northfield Mother, Elizabeth (Filley) Turner; daughter of Gurdon Filley, 2d, and Polly (Crampton) Filley of Litchfield, Conn.

Wilbraham (Mass) Academy. Civil engineering course; prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year, Senior appointment, Class statistician Senior year.

Engaged in dock construction New York, Lake Erie & Western Railroad Company, Hoboken, N J, 1890; civil engineer, associated with Albert B Hill, '69 S, New Haven, Conn., 1892–1905, in charge construction of plant Connecticut White Lime Company, Canaan, 1905–12; president and manager Massachusetts Lime Company, Sheffield, 1912–14; field secretary and secretary Connecticut State Park and Forest Commission 1914 until retirement 1942, chairman New England Trail Conference 1921–23; in charge department of natural, state, and provincial parks, Parks and Recreation, publication of American Institute of Park Executives, 1921–29; M S Hon Trinity College [Conn] 1933; member New Haven Colony Historical Society, Connecticut and Litchfield County Historical societies, Sleeping Giant Park Association, Society for the Appalachian Mountain Club, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, American Game Protective and Propagation Association, American Scenic and Historic Preservation

Society, American Museum of Natural History, American Geographical Society, National Art Society, and Institute of American Genealogy.

Married (1) October 3, 1894, in New Haven, Mary McAllister, daughter of John Seaton. No children Mr and Mrs Turner were divorced in 1921. Married (2) July 14, 1923, in Northfield, Helen, daughter of John Howard and Josephine Aurilla (Wooster) Catlin No children

Death due to Hodgkin's disease. Ashes interred in Northfield. Survived

by wife and a sister, Mrs. Phebe T. Bumstead of Northfield.

# George Chandler Forrest, Ph.B. 1891.

Born August 11, 1869, in Brooklyn, NY. Died March 5, 1944, in Belmont, Mass.

Father, Charles R. Forrest, '65 Mother, Harriet Tisdale (Chandler) Forrest. Yale relatives include: Rufus Chandler (B.A. 1806) (great-great-uncle); William H. Chandler (B.A. 1839) (grandfather), Molton H. Forrest, ex-'68 (uncle); George Z. Gray, ex-'96 and Richard E Forrest, '99 (cousins).

Dr. Charles Stearn's and Bowen's private schools, Hartford, Conn Mechanical engineering course; won several first prizes as a canoeist and held championship for canoe athletics; member University Club and St Elmo and Delta Phi.

Resided at family home in Hartford, continuing his interest in sports; enlisted as seaman, Connecticut Naval Battalion, April 27, 1898; at Camp Haven, Niantic, June 5–15; on U.S.S. *Minnesota* and U.S.S. *Wyandotte*, discharged as quartermaster (3d class) September 10, 1898; due to illhealth had been unoccupied since 1899, member American Canoe Association and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford.

Unmarried.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by four sisters, the Misses Helen, Elsie, and Virginia Forrest, all of Hartford, and Countess Madeleine Apponyi of Washington

#### Miles Albion Pond, Ph.B. 1892.

Born December 8, 1866, in Torrington, Conn Died January 3, 1944, in Ithaca, NY.

Father, Lyman Russel Pond, a farmer in Torrington; son of Lyman and Lucy (Spencer) Pond of Harwinton, Conn. Mother, Frances Irene (Rouse) Pond, daughter of Norman B. and Mary E. (Brownson) Rouse. Prepared privately. Civil engineering course; Class crew three years.

Attended Yale Graduate School and assistant in drawing Sheffield Scientific School 1893-99

In business with his brother in Torrington 1899–1901, mathematics teacher Pennsylvania State College 1901–02; instructor in civil engineering Cornell University 1902–07 and assistant professor 1907 until retirement 1935; attended Congregational church.

Married December 26, 1903, in New Haven, Conn, Fanny, daughter of Philip and Sally Maria (Palmer) Pond. Children: Chester Baldwin (B.A. Cornell 1927, M A 1928, Ph D. 1930) and Margaret (died in infancy)

Death due to endocarditis Buried in East Lawn Cemetery, Ithaca Survived by wife, son, and one granddaughter.

# George Clifford Clark, Ph.B. 1893.

Born August 21, 1872, in Terryville, Conn. Died March 4, 1944, in Terryville, Conn.

Father, Judah Winslow Clark, member Andrew Terry Company, malleable iron castings, Terryville; son of Winslow and Betsy L. (Bardwell) Clark of Shelburne, Mass. Mother, Eliza Augusta (Pond) Clark; daughter of Alexander and Lydia (Gaylord) Pond of Terryville.

Hartford (Conn ) Public High School. Chemistry course.

Associated with Andrew Terry Company 1893–1944 (secretary-treasurer 1898–1941, president 1941–44), director and metallurgist North & Judd Manufacturing Company, New Britain, Conn, 1911–44 and W. & E. T. Fitch Company, New Haven, Conn.; president Terryville Savings Bank, Baldwin Park Association 1903–44, and Music Club of Terryville 1912–44; represented Yale Club of Bristol on Alumni Board 1912–25, member Terryville Congregational Church.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary disease. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Terryville. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Mr Clark's will provided for a bequest to the University.

#### Edward Levi Fox, Ph.B. 1893.

Born December 26, 1872, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 13, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Simeon Joseph Fox, president National Pipe Bending Company, metal pipe coils and water heaters, New Haven; son of Levi G. and Elizabeth H. (Bodfish) Fox of New Haven Mother, Margaret Artemisia (Farnham) Fox, daughter of John Redfield and Artemisia Hand (Chit-

tenden) Farnham of Clinton, Conn Yale relatives include Charles C Farnham, ex-'67 M., and George L. Fox, '74 (uncles), and Alfred H Stevens, '93 S. (cousin).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Mechanical engineering course.

Secretary and treasurer National Pipe Bending Company 1893 until retirement 1933; resided in Clinton 1933–43; financial secretary Young Men's Christian Association, Bar-le-Duc, France, September 8, 1918—September 4, 1919, Captain, Company F, 2d Regiment, Connecticut National Guard (awarded 25-year service bar March 2, 1942), member Army and Navy Club of New York, Sons of the American Revolution, Sons of Union Veterans of the Civil War, Clinton Historical Society, Masonic order, and Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven.

Unmarried.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a brother, Farnham Fox of Clearwater, Fla.

## Harry Churchill January, Ph.B. 1893.

Born October 11, 1872, in St. Louis, Mo. Died August 29, 1943, in Frederick, Md

Father, Derick Algernon January, president D. A. January & Company, wholesale grocers, St. Louis; son of Thomas and Mary B. (Thruston) January. Mother, Julia (Churchill) January; daughter of Alexander and Mary (McKinley) Churchill. Yale relatives include a daughter-in-law, Mildred Hartshorn January, '35 M.

Smith Academy, St Louis, and Phillips-Andover. Select course; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Attended a law school in St. Louis 1893–94, employed in St. Louis 1894 until retirement about 1930; president January Shoe Company, wholesale dealers; in brokerage business with Charles McL. Clark, '94 S, under firm name Charles McL. Clark & Company, for a time, St. Louis manager and later vice-president Parker-Wise Investment Company, farm loans and insurance, 1913–30; St. Louis representative Lee Higginson & Company, investment securities, 1920–30; engaged in farming in Rockville, Md, since retirement, author of numerous poems and contributed to St. Louis dailies.

Married October 7, 1896, in Baltimore, Md, Josephine Emily, daughter of Robert M. and Sarah (Wingate) Poe Children. Josephine Poe, the wife of Worth Bagley Daniels (M.D. Johns Hopkins Univ. 1924) and Derick Algernon, '25.

Death due to drowning Buried in St. Louis Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

## John Henry Vought, Ph.B. 1893.

Born April 29, 1870, in Buffalo, NY. Died December 4, 1943, in Buffalo, N.Y.

Father, John Henry Vought, a grain and commission merchant in Buffalo, son of Abraham and Ruth (Voorhees) Vought of Pittsford, N.Y. Mother, Anna Maria (Webster) Vought; daughter of Hosea and Maria (Buell) Webster of Brooklyn, N Y Yale relatives include two brothers, William G Vought, '82, and Walter J. Vought, '82 S.

Buffalo State Normal School and Buffalo Classical School. Mechanical

engineering course, member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Associated with Lehigh Valley Railroad Company 1893–1904 (successively machinist apprentice, road foreman of engines, and general foreman of shops at Wilkes-Barre, Pa, 1893–1901; master mechanic, assistant superintendent, and superintendent motive power, Mahanoy and Hazleton division 1901–04); special agent New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1904–05; employed in Buffalo 1905–38; general manager Buffalo Coated Paper Company 1905–06; president Cyclone Grate-Bar Company 1906–43, and Betson-Plastic Fire Brick Company, Inc, 1929–43, attended Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, N Y., July, 1916, manager tanks, tractors, and trailers Rochester district Ordnance Office April, 1918, until discharge April, 1919; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Buffalo

Married October 8, 1895, in Buffalo, Mary, daughter of James D. and Mary (Mills) Warren Children Katharine Warren, the wife of George Root Duryea (BS Massachusetts Inst Technology 1917), and Anne Web-

ster, the wife of Byron Speirs.

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by wife, daughters, and three grandchildren

## Henry Warner Farnum, Ph.B. 1894.

Born February 24, 1875, in Boston, Mass. Died September 25, 1943, in Norwalk, Conn.

Father, Albert Henry Farnum, member Dupee, Farnum & Company, commission merchants, Boston, son of Henry and Lucia (Hager) Farnum Mother, Lillian Sturgess (Tombs) Farnum.

Harvard School for Boys, Chicago Select course; member University Club and The Colony and Berzelius

Associated with Armour & Company, meat packers, Chicago, 1894–1901, member Farnum & Sickel Company, grain merchants, Chicago, 1901–04, broker in Chicago 1902–32 and in New York City 1934–41; mem-

ber Coleman & Farnum and King [Charles G, '94], Farnum & Company 1902–25, Farnum, Winter [Wallace C., '93 S.] & Company 1925–32, and Butler, Wick & Company 1934–41; not actively engaged in business 1932–34; Eastern representative Spring Packing Company of Chicago since May, 1943; first vice-president Yale Club of Chicago 1915; member Chicago Board of Trade and Grace and Trinity churches (Episcopal), Chicago.

Married October 27, 1898, in Chicago, Lillian Carver, daughter of John Burroughs and Josephine (Corey) Drake. Children Henry Warner, Jr., and Helen (Smith Coll. ex-'29), the wife of Capt. John Ripley Bigelow,

A.U S. (B A. Princeton 1927).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston. Survived by wife, children, and one grandson.

# Alois John Joseph Fifer, Ph.B. 1894.

(formerly Alois John Joseph Pfeisfer)

Born February 15, 1873, in Karlsruhé, Germany.

Died January 16, 1944, in London, England.

Parents, Aloysius and Elise Pfeiffer Hillhouse High School, New Haven, Conn, and Ansonia (Conn.) High School. Electrical engineering

course; Senior appointment.

With General Electric Company 1894–1903 (in Schenectady 1894–96; resident engineer in Buffalo and Niagara Falls, NY, 1898, chief engineer of an affiliated company in Paris, Rome, Milan, and London, 1898), general manager Calcutta (India) Tramways 1903–08, assistant European manager Brazilian Railways Company, Paris and Brazil, 1908–13; consulting engineer in London 1913 until retirement 1935, member Episcopal church.

Married April 17, 1907, in London, Jean Caverhill, daughter of Francis William and Emily Louise (Taaffe) Newman Children. Frances Dorothy, the wife of John Francis Benson, and Eileen Taaffe.

Death due to heart disease Buried in Mortlake Cemetery, London

Survived by wife, daughters, and one granddaughter

# Herbert Crary Hıll, Ph.B. 1894.

Born February 9, 1871, in Mystic, Conn. Died April 11, 1944, in Flushing, N.Y.

Father, Mason Crary Hill, a shipbuilder in Mystic; son of Mason Crary and Mary (Mitchell) Hill of Stonington, Conn. Mother, Margaret

(Wheeler) Hill; daughter of Stephen Avery and Lucy (Bailey) Wheeler of North Burlington, Conn Yale relatives include a brother, John E. Hill, '85 S

Mystic Valley Institute. Civil engineering course; Senior appointment. Successively engineer City of Worcester, Mass., assistant engineer Sea View Railroad, Narragansett Pier, and J. F. Shaw & Company, Boston; engineer United Fruit Company in Cuba and Central America; superintendent Warner Madigan Company, Mechanicville, N.Y.; locating engineer Mexican Central Railway, Mexico, and Choctaw, Oklahoma and Gulf Railroad, Arkansas and Oklahoma, assistant chief engineer Nipe Bay (Cuba) Company; unoccupied 1907–08, civil engineer, Office of Comptroller, Department of Finance, City of New York, 1908–44, member First Methodist Church, Flushing.

Married July 2, 1909, in New York City, Edith Atlanta, daughter of Joseph Whitworth and Frances Ann (Cribb) Curry Daughter Joy Ann. Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Elm Grove Cemetery,

Mystic. Survived by wife and daughter.

# Edward Taylor Wright, Ph.B. 1894.

Born June 1, 1872, in Springfield, Mo. Died June 24, 1944, in Evanston, Ill.

Father, Edward Lockwood Wright, engaged in insurance business in Hancock, Mich, son of Rev. James L. Wright (B.A. 1832) and Lucy Ann (North) Wright of Oberlin, Ohio Mother, Ada Marietta (Taylor) Wright, daughter of Barton Stout and Marietta (Rowland) Taylor of Albion, Mich. Yale relatives include Jonathan Dickinson (B.A. 1706) (great-great-great-great-great-uncle), Moses Dickinson (B.A. 1717) and Samuel Sturges (B.A. 1732) (great-grea

Oberlin College preparatory department and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course; member Franklin Hall and Theta XI.

Draftsman Great Falls (Mont.) Iron Works 1894–95, superintendent 1900–03, general manager 1905–07, and president 1907–18, draftsman Boston & Montana Smelter Company 1895; with Wright Fortune Agency, insurance, Great Falls, 1896–99; manager Columbian Gold Mining Com-

pany, York, Mont., 1899; sales manager Milwaukee (Wis.) Coke & Gas Company 1903–05; president National Ore Concentration Company, Milwaukee and Chicago, 1907–18; member United States Shipping Board 1918–23 (on claims board 1920–23); assistant engineer on valuation of metal and coal mines, U.S. Senate Select Committee on Investigation of the Internal Revenue Bureau, Washington, 1925, executive assistant, research and experimental work in concrete products, International Concrete Industries Corporation and allied interests, Chicago, 1926–27; personnel manager Oxford Radio Company, Chicago, 1927–29, independently engaged as paint consultant 1930–34; engineer examiner Public Works Administration, Fort Worth, Texas, 1934–37 and Washington 1937 until retirement 1939; member Art Institute (Chicago) and Church of the Holy Comforter (Episcopal), Kenilworth, Ill.

Married (1) April 19, 1897, in Great Falls, Harriet Florentine Woodbury (Oberlin Conservatory of Music 1888–90), daughter of Leander Seth and Emma Esther (Wayne) Woodbury Children Florentine Cerula, the wife of Howard Daniel Lies, and Edward Elwell Mrs Wright died April 7, 1908. Married (2) October 26, 1912, in Chicago, Ann, daughter of Thomas James and Mary Jane (O'Connor) Longway Children Alan Barton (E.E. Purdue Univ. 1939), Harriet Ann, Chapin North (Iowa Wesleyan Univ 1934–35, 1936–37), Paul Lockwood, '39 S., Robert Ham-

ilton (died in infancy), and Thomas Gregory.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, two daughters, five sons, three grandchildren, three sisters, Lucy Marietta Wright (Oberlin Conservatory of Music 1896–98, 1899–1900, 1905–06) of Houghton, Mich., Helen W Pascoe (Oberlin Conservatory of Music 1899–1900, 1905–07; Oberlin Coll. 1906–07), the wife of William Weldon Pascoe (M.D. Univ. Michigan 1908) of Tacoma, Wash., and Bertha Wright (B.A. Oberlin 1903, M.A. 1915) of Chicago, and a brother, Howard Gregory Wright (Olivet Coll. 1898–99, Oberlin 1899–1900; Michigan Coll. Mines 1900–01, 1903–05) of Mission, Kans

# Allan Everett Hall, Ph.B. 1895.

Born December 13, 1873, in Parker, Pa Died January 17, 1944, in Milwaukee, Wis

Father, Joseph Everett Hall (MD Jefferson Medical Coll. 1869), a physician in Brookville, Pa.; son of Enoch and Martha Ann (Clarke) Hall Mother, Frances Irene (Jenks) Hall, daughter of William Palmer Jenks (Washington and Jefferson Coll. 1841–42) and Sara Catherine (Corbet) Jenks of Brookville. Yale relatives include. William H Jenks, '73 S. (uncle); Francis J. Hall, '99 (brother); William W Corbet, '00 S.,

and Darrah Corbet, '05 S. (cousins), and Virginia Hall, ex-'38 N (niece).

Preparatory department Pennsylvania State College Mechanical engineering course, honorable mention in German Freshman year, prize for excellence in German Junior year, general honors Senior year and Senior

appointment, member Sigma Xi.

Associated with his uncle in firm of William H Jenks, machinery and foundry business, Brookville, 1895–1906; read law in Brookville 1895–1900, admitted to the bar but never practiced, draftsman, engineer, and salesman Puget Sound Machinery Depot, Seattle, Wash, 1906–09; with Allis-Chalmers Manufacturing Company, Seattle, 1909–10 and Milwaukee 1910–44 (assistant manager 1910–20, manager milling machinery department 1920–44), president Cereal Machinery Association 1934–36 and Multiple V-Belt Drive Association 1935–37, secretary Saw Mill Machinery Manufacturers Association 1934–36; author of many technical engineering papers, appointed by Herbert Hoover as representative of American Society of Mechanical Engineers to serve on national committee for wood utilization 1921–28, member American Standards Association and First Congregational Church, Wauwatosa, Wis

Married November 11, 1917, in Minneapolis, Minn, Ruth Westlake Adams (BA Goucher Coll 1905), daughter of Frank Olin and Clara (Kelsey) Adams. Children Mary Adams (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1942), the wife of Thomas C. Schuller, '41, Jenks (died November 6, 1922), and

Allan Jenks (Class of 1947 Nov.).

Death due to rheumatic aortic and mitral stenosis. Buried in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee Survived by wife, daughter, and one son.

# Henry Warner Merwin, Ph.B. 1895.

Boin July 24, 1875, in New Haven, Conn. Died October 6, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Thomas Painter Merwin, a drygoods merchant in New Haven; son of Smith and Amelia Painter (Rich) Merwin of New Haven. Mother, Harriet Annis (Warner) Merwin, daughter of Gaius Fenn and Harriet (Jackson) Warner of New Haven.

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Mechanical engineering course, Senior honors Attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (LL B. cum laude 1897, Wayland Prize Senior year, editor Yale Law Journal Senior year; member Kent Club and Book and Gavel).

Admitted to the New York bar, and Connecticut bar 1897; lawyer in New York City 1897–1900 (with Cravath & Houston and Seward, Guthrie & Steele) and New Haven 1901 until retirement about 1923 (member Morris [Charles G, '95] & Merwin 1901–12); president Bradwood Manu-

facturing Company, makers of veterinary instruments, 1906, New Haven representative and attorney Springfield (Mass) Breweries about 1919–20; justice of the peace, New Haven, 1903–04, treasurer Children's Aid Society, Hartford, secretary and treasurer Class of 1897 L. from 1922 to 1932, member Church of the Redeemer (Congregational), New Haven

Unmarried.

Death due to congestive heart failure. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by a sister, Miss Florence Eveline Merwin of New Haven.

## George Berry Bughman, Ph.B. 1896.

Born October 28, 1872, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died December 10, 1943, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Henry Clay Bughman, a banker in Pittsburgh; son of Reuben and Annie (Hays) Bughman of Pittsburgh. Mother, Maria McClurg (Berry) Bughman; daughter of George Anchutz Berry of Pittsburgh Yale relatives include a cousin, William Frew, '03.

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh. Member York Hall and Chi Phi

Worked on Eaton's Ranch in South Dakota 1896–98, cattle rancher, Yule, N.Dak., 1898–1906; engaged in orange growing in Lindsay, Calif., 1906–12; in real-estate business Westbank, Okanagan Lake, British Columbia, 1912–22; in Palm City, Calif, 1922–27; cotton rancher in Chowchilla, Calif, 1927–32, retired in 1933 and had since resided in Chino, Pomona, Camptonville, and Los Angeles; member Shady Side Presbyterian Church, Pittsburgh.

Married December 5, 1904, in Glendive, Mont, Mary, daughter of Peter Kimmey. No children Mr. and Mrs. Bughman were divorced about 1935

Death due to uremic poisoning Buried in Los Angeles Cemetery Survived by a sister, Genevieve B. Pancoast, the wife of Albert Pancoast (B S. Univ. Pennsylvania 1895, M.E. 1898) of Pittsburgh, and two brothers, Henry C. Bughman, Jr, ex-'10 S., and Reuben Bughman of Lakeland, Fla.

# Charles Henry Booth Chapin, Ph.B. 1896.

Born June 19, 1876, in New York City. Died August 14, 1943, in Winsted, Conn

Father, Edward Colton Chapin, a business man in Hartford, Conn, and New York City; associated with Oswego Starch Company, son of Laertes and Laura (Colton) Chapin of Hartford. Mother, Caroline Wright (Booth) Chapin; daughter of Charles Henry and Elizabeth B. (Pratt)

Booth of Stratford, Conn, New York City, and Englewood, N.J. Yale relatives include an uncle, Charles E. Booth, '64

Englewood School for Boys Civil engineering course; member Franklin Hall and Theta X1.

Draftsman J. B. & J. M. Cornell Iron Works, New York City, 1896–98; with New York Edison Company 1898–1905 (inspector 1898–1900, assistant manager and later manager complaint department 1900–05); independently engaged as consulting engineer 1905–06; secretary Empire State Gas and Electric Association of New York City 1906 until retirement 1936, an organizer in 1914 and secretary Utilities Mutual Insurance Company (workmen's compensation) 1914–43, trustee Social Service Federation of Englewood 1922–24, chairman scholarship committee Yale Alumni Association of the Northern Valley of New Jersey 1924; on Class dinner committees; treasurer Civic Association of Englewood 1911–20; associate member American Institute of Electrical Engineers; member National Electric Light Association, Illuminating Engineering Society, and Engineers Club of New York City; trustee First Presbyterian Church, Englewood.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary sclerosis. Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Hartford Survived by a sister, Miss Caroline Booth Chapin of Englewood, and Tolland, Mass.

## William King, Ph.B. 1896.

Born April 4, 1875, in Chicago, Ill. Died July 29, 1943, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Philo Rockwell King, a merchant in Chicago; son of William and Christina (Rockwell) King of Martinsburg, N Y. Mother, Mary Adeline (Shaw) King, daughter of Peter H Shaw of Toledo, Ohio

University School, Chicago Select course; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Engaged in cold storage business, Chicago, 1896–1900 and 1901–03, and Cedar Rapids, Iowa, 1900–01, with Standard Oil Company 1903 until retirement 1932 (in Beaumont, Texas, Neodesha, Kans., and Sugar Creek, Mo, 1903–05 and Chicago 1905–32), member Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago

Married October 8, 1901, in Chicago, Marjorie Mills, daughter of George Washington and Rebecca (Mills) Stahl. Children. Marianna (Mrs. King Burns) and John Archbold (Univ. Virginia ex-'26). Mr. and Mrs. King were divorced in 1937

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Graceland Ceme-

tery, Chicago. Survived by children, two grandchildren, and a brother, Philo R. King, '98 S

# William Clardy Lusk, Ph.B. 1896.

Born September 10, 1875, in Nashville, Tenn Died February 25, 1944, in London, England.

Father, Alfred Hume Lusk (B A Kentucky Military Inst 1870), a lawyer in Nashville; son of Robert and Matilda (Fairfax) Lusk of Nashville Mother, Elizabeth (Clardy) Lusk; daughter of William Duncan and Louise (Oldham) Clardy of Montgomery County, Tenn.

Wallace University School, Nashville, and Southern Presbyterian University, Memphis, Tenn. Electrical engineering course; Class treasurer Sen-

10r year.

Associated with General Electric Company 1897–1922 (in Schenectady 1897–1901, India, Burma, and The Straits Settlements 1901–04, assistant manager London office 1904–10 and manager 1910–22), managing director The British Thomson-Houston Company, Ltd (British affiliate of General Electric Company), London, 1922–44, managing director and deputy chairman Associated Electrical Industries, Ltd., 1929–44, deputy chairman Metropolitan-Vickers Electrical Company, Ltd., vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Great Britain and on executive committee, represented Yale University at opening of New Museum of Practical Geology and at celebration of centenary of Geological Survey of Great Britain 1935; member London committee, British War Relief Society, and First Presbyterian Church, Nashville.

Married April 22, 1926, in London, Louise Maynard Millhiser Casler, daughter of Peter William and Abby (Dine) Millhiser No children

Death due to peritonitis. Ashes in chapel of Golders Green Crematorium, London, for duration of the war Survived by wife and a brother, Robert Lusk, '96.

#### Walter Murray, Ph.B. 1896.

Born April 2, 1874, in Norwich, Conn. Died February 24, 1944, in Vancouver, British Columbia

Father, James Murray, engaged in paper business in Norwich Mother, Mary (Davidson) Murray

Norwich Free Academy. Biology course, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Salesman of oil and chemicals and engaged in manufacture and sale of

hospital furniture; engineer Chicago Telephone Company and electrical salesman in Chicago, had lived in British Columbia since about 1906; engaged in railroad construction work in Vancouver until 1922, associated with various logging companies, chiefly as accountant and assistant to manager, since about 1922, including James Logging Company, Ltd., Cowichan Lake, Vancouver Island, and Scottish Logging Company, Ltd. (later Scottish Palmer Logging Company, Ltd., and G. D. Parker Logging Company), Shatlam District and Blind Channel, Vancouver Island; overseas with 11th Mounted Rifles and 7th Battalion Canadian Expeditionary Forces during World War I; member Masonic order.

Unmarried

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Vancouver. Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Ernest Wılliam Sniffen, Ph.B. 1896.

Born October 4, 1873, in Stratford, Conn. Died February 29, 1944, in Hampton, Va.

Father, William Bigelow Sniffen, a watchmaker and jeweler in Sandy Hook, Conn, son of Isaac and Sara Clarissa (Birdsey) Sniffen of Stratford Mother, Harriet Rebecca (Barnum) Sniffen; daughter of Samuel and Harriet (Curtiss) Barnum of Stratford. Yale relatives include a cousin, Charles J Sniffen, '94.

Middlebury (Vt ) High School, attended Middlebury College 1892–93 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon). Mechanical engineering course; member Sigma Xi.

In office New York Belting & Packing Company, Sandy Hook, 1896–97; with Morse Twist Drill & Machine Company, New Bedford, Mass, 1897; draftsman motive power department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, New Haven, Conn, 1897–98 and New York Air Brake Company, Watertown, Conn, 1898–1900; with Newport News (Va) Shipbuilding and Dry Dock Company 1900 until retirement 1932 (draftsman 1900–12, chief draftsman machinery division 1912–14, engineer 1918–32, and in charge technical correspondence division 1922–32); since retirement engaged in collecting minerals and geological specimens; contributed to scientific periodicals, member Virginia Academy of Science (chairman geological section 1940–41), vestryman and assistant Sunday-school secretary St John's Church (Episcopal), Hampton

Married (1) November 23, 1899, in Saratoga Springs, N.Y., Anne Louise, daughter of Hiram Walter and Alice Jane (Butler) Hays. Children Alice Curtis (B A Wellesley Coll 1923), the wife of Willis Herbert Bowen (B A Wesleyan 1926; Ph.D Harvard 1936), Birdsey Hays, '25,

and Harold Scott (B.S. Middlebury Coll. 1931). Mrs Sniffen died August 9, 1931. Married (2) July 25, 1933, in Hampton, Mary Louise Sugden (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1912), daughter of John and Emma (Greenwood) Sugden.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Cemetery of St. John's Church, Hampton. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a brother, Henry Birdsey Sniffen of Fairfield, Conn.

## Josiah Copley Thaw, Ph.B. 1896.

Born June 13, 1874, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died March 15, 1944, in New York City

Father, William Thaw, vice-president Pennsylvania Railroad Company Lines West of Pittsburgh; owner Red Star and American Steamship lines, son of John and Eliza (Thomas) Thaw of Philadelphia and Pittsburgh Mother, Mary Sibbett (Copley) Thaw, daughter of Josiah and Margaret (Weldin) Copley of Armstrong County, Pa Yale relatives include William Thaw, ex-'00 S, Stephen D Thaw, '07, Benjamin Thaw, Jr, '09 S, and William Thaw, 2d, ex-'15 (nephews).

Shady Side Academy, Pittsburgh Mechanical engineering course, Freshman Baseball Team; member University Club and The Colony and Berzelius.

President Stoner, Thaw and Company, Ltd, Pittsburgh, 1907 until retirement about 1926; engaged in government postal censorship work in New York City during World War I; resided in New York City, member Presbyterian church.

Married November 18, 1903, in Port Huron, Mich, Mary Harrington, daughter of John Webster and Ida (Harrington) Thomson Daughter Margaret Copley, ex-'30 Art (Mrs M Thaw Morris)

Death due to a heart ailment Survived by wife, daughter, two grandsons, a brother, Harry Kendall Thaw (Harvard ex-'94), and a half sister, Mrs William Reed Thompson (died September 9, 1944) His half brother, Benjamin Thaw (B.A. Univ Pittsburgh 1878, Yale Graduate School 1878–79), died in 1933.

#### Clifford Whittingham Beers, Ph.B. 1897

Born March 30, 1876, in New Haven, Conn Died July 9, 1943, in Providence, RI

Father, Robert Anthony Beers, member S. E. Merwin & Company, wholesale provision merchants, New Haven, son of Anthony and Betsey

(Ruggles) Beers of Buffalo, N Y. Mother, Ida (Cooke) Beers; daughter of Nathaniel Minturn and Harriet (Schroeder) Cooke of Marietta, Ga. Yale relatives include Samuel E. Merwin (M.A. Hon. 1904) (uncle), Caroline E Dudley, ex-'79 Art (cousin); and William C. Beers, '95 S. (brother).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Select course; business manager Yale Record Senior year; chairman Class Book historians; on Triennial Committee, member The Colony and Berzelius.

Clerk in office of collector of taxes, New Haven, 1897-98 and Bankers Life Insurance Company, New York City, 1899-1900; associated with N. F Hoggson [Noble Foster, '88 S.] & Company, Inc, contractors and interior decorators, New York City, 1904-07, suffered a mental breakdown in 1900 and from 1900 to 1903 was under treatment in various public and private hospitals; in 1908 wrote A Mind That Found Itself An Autobiography, describing his experiences in institutions for mental cases; founder Connecticut Society for Mental Hygiene 1908, the first organization of its kind for combating mental diseases and promoting mental health (executive secretary 1908–14, vice-president 1939–43, honorary member 1934-43), founder The National Committee for Mental Hygiene, Inc., 1909 (secretary 1909-39, honorary secretary 1939-43), The American Foundation for Mental Hygiene 1928 (secretary 1928-43), International Committee for Mental Hygiene 1930 (general secretary 1930-43), and International Foundation for Mental Hygiene 1931 (secretary 1931-43); an organizer Canadian Mental Hygiene movement 1918 and Advisory Council on Mental Hygiene, Territory of Hawaii, 1931; on executive committee of Committee on Organization, First International Congress on Mental Hygiene, Washington, 1930, and secretary-general of the Congress, general secretary Second International Congress on Mental Hygiene, Paris, 1935, visited Great Britain, France, and Belgium in interests of international mental hygiene movement 1923, 1927, 1932, 1937; on national advisory committee Institute of Human Relations, Yale; an amateur artist, he won second prize for his oil painting, A Meadow in Maine, at Amateur Art Show, New York Yale Club, 1936; M.A. Hon. Yale 1922; Chevalier Legion d'Honneur (France) 1933; honored by publication of Twenty-five Years After—Sidelights on the Mental Hygiene Movement and Its Founder (1933), honorary member British National Council for Mental Hygiene, American Psychiatric Association, and American Orthopsychiatric Association, member National Institute of Social Sciences (awarded gold medal for "distinguished services rendered to humanity" 1933) and St John's Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married June 27, 1912, in New Haven, Clara Louise Jepson (Smith Coll ex-'98, Yale School of Music ex-'06), daughter of Benjamin Jepson (M.A Hon 1912) and Mary Louise (Wiswell) Jepson, and sister of Arthur W. Jepson, '89 S, and Harry B Jepson, '93. No children

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife.

## Julian Monroe Gerard, Ph.B. 1897.

Born May 21, 1875, in New York City Died February 26, 1944, in New York City.

Father, James Watson Gerard, Jr, LLD (BA. Columbia 1843, M.A. 1846), a lawyer in New York City, son of James Watson Gerard, LLD (B.A. Columbia 1811, M.A. 1816), and Elizabeth (Sumner) Gerard of New York City. Mother, Jenny J. (Angel) Gerard; daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Julia (Jones) Angel of Geneseo, NY

Groton (Mass.) School. Mineralogy course; Freshman Football Team, Class Day committee Senior year; on board of managers Yale Co-operative Society Junior and Senior years; member University Club and St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

In business in New York City 1897–1944; associated with Knickerbocker Trust Company and its successor, Columbia Knickerbocker Trust Company, 1897-1906 and 1910-20 (clerk 1897-1900, assistant cashier and secretary 1900-04, vice-president 1904-06, 1910-20); with H C Brown & Company and vice-president and director Barnes-King Development Company 1906; became president Globe Lithographing Company 1907, an organizer National American Bank 1920, president 1920-26, and chairman board of trustees of its successor Central Mercantile Bank and Trust Company 1926–28; an organizer International Germanic Trust Company 1928 and president 1928-29; director and stockholder A M Foster Company, Inc, 1926–44; became associated with Gilbert Eliott & Company, brokers, in 1932; regional director U.S Federal Housing Administration for New York State 1934–35 and director Region I (New York, Connecticut, and Rhode Island) 1935–37; assistant publisher and advertising manager New York Journal American and treasurer International Magazine Company 1914–17; member St. Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married October 27, 1909, in West New York, N J, Elizabeth, daughter of Charles and Louisa (Fowl) Schedel Children. Elizabeth Jane, the wife of Walter B Levering, ex-'33, and Julian Monroe, Jr, ex-'40

Death due to an intestinal obstruction. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N Y Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two brothers, James Watson Gerard, LL D (B A. Columbia 1890, M A 1891, LL B. New York Law School 1892), of New York City, and Sumner Gerard, '97.

# Ross Anderson Hickok, Ph.B. 1897.

Born May 25, 1876, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died November 3, 1943, in Harrisburg, Pa.

Father, William Orville Hickok, Jr., secretary and manager The Eagle Works (later W O. Hickok Manufacturing Company), bookbinding and ruling equipment machinery, Harrisburg; son of William Orville and Caroline Louisa (Hutter) Hickok of Harrisburg Mother, Louisa Harrison (Anderson) Hickok; daughter of Espy Lyon and Louisa Harrison (Watson) Anderson of Bedford, Pa. Yale relatives include. John Anderson, ex-'59 S (great-uncle), Frank R. Schell, '70 (uncle); Ross Johnston, '70, William O Hickok, 4th, ex-'98 S, and Orville H. Schell, '00 S (cousins), and William O. Hickok, 4th, '27 S. (nephew).

Harrisburg Academy and St Paul's School, Concord, N.H. Mechanical engineering course, Freshman Football Team and substitute University Football Team Freshman year, University Athletic Team Junior and Senior years, Yale Consolidated Baseball Team and vice-president Yale Athletic Association Senior year; vice-president of the Class Freshman year; Class deacon, chairman Sheff membership committee University Y M.C.A. Junior year, chairman Class Day committee; member Class supper and

Class picture committees and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

With W O Hickok Manufacturing Company 1898-1943 (secretary 1906–18, secretary and treasurer 1918–24, vice-president, secretary and treasurer 1924-33, and president 1933-43), administrator Daniel H. Hastings estate 1903-06; president Blubaker Coal Company 1903-43; vicepresident Bellefonte (Pa) Trust Company 1910-25; member Harrisburg Common Council 1906–10, on executive committee Harrisburg Municipal League 1902-05 and board of managers Harrisburg Chamber of Commerce 1921-24, member Governor Pinchot's committee to assist Pennsylvania Banking Department to liquidate closed banks 1931; trustee Harrisburg Hospital 1908-43; on executive committee Harrisburg Welfare Association, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Central Pennsylvania 1915-16 and president 1923-24; enlisted May 5, 1898, Battery A, Light Artillery, Pennsylvania Volunteers at Mt. Gretna; promoted Corporal July 10; commissioned First Lieutenant August 8; assigned to Company M, Infantry, 5th Regiment, Camp Thomas; sent to Camp Hamilton, August 28, discharged November 7, 1898; federal fuel administrator Dauphin County, Pa, 1917–18, Captain Harrisburg Reserves 1917, entered federal service October 23, 1918, and sent to Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, discharged November 29, 1918; member Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States, Naval and Military Order of the Spanish-American War, and Masonic order, trustee Market Square Presbyterian Church, Harrisburg (deacon 1903–19)

Married October 10, 1900, in Bellefonte, Helen Rankin, daughter of Daniel Hartman and Jane (Rankin) Hastings Children Jane Hastings, the wife of Denver Lindley (B A. Princeton 1926), Louise Anderson (B A. Vassar Coll 1926), the wife of Camden Hogg McVey (B.A. Harvard 1921, LL.B. 1924), and Daniel Hastings, '30.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Harrisburg Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a brother, Charles N. Hickok, 'oo S. Another brother, William O Hickok, 3d, '95 S, died in

1933.

## Lester Walton Hall, Ph.B. 1898.

Born August 9, 1876, in Kansas City, Mo. Died January 1, 1944, in Kansas City, Mo

Father, William Ewing Hall (LL B. Washington Univ. 1869), a lawyer in Kansas City, son of Matthew Walton and Agnes (Lester) Hall of Arrow Rock and Marshall, Mo. Mother, Emily Jane (Porter) Hall, daughter of Jesse LeGrande and Lucy Amanda (Stark) Porter of Kansas City.

Central High School, Kansas City, and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn Select course, member The Cloister and Book and Snake

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1898–1901 (LL B 1901), admitted to New York bar 1901 and Missouri bar 1902; lawyer and banker in Kansas City 1901–44; associated with Ball & Ryland 1901–03, Flower, Peters & Bowersock and Peters & Bowersock 1903–06, partner Peters, Bowersock & Hall 1906–07, Bowersock & Hall 1907–11, and Bowersock, Hall & Hook 1911–16; vice-president Fidelity Trust Company 1916–24, president Fidelity National Bank & Trust Company 1924–33, and agent for liquidating trustees of the bank 1933–44, vice-president Pickering Lumber Corporation and Central Coal & Coke Company; president Kansas City Clearing House Association 1928–30, and Yale Alumni Association of Kansas City, vice-president Jacob L Loose Million Dollar Charity Fund Association 1925–44, vice-chairman board of trustees University of Kansas City 1930–44; member Kansas City Chamber of Commerce

Married December 31, 1901, in Kansas City, Ruth, daughter of James Hannah and Frances Jeannette (Smith) Austin. Children Ruth Austin (B.A Vassar Coll 1925; LL B Yale 1929), Lucy (B A Vassar Coll 1926), Jean (B.A Vassar Coll. 1928; Mrs. Alano E Pierce), Lester Walton, Jr. (Univ. Missouri 1926–30), and Porter Thomas, 2d (Univ Missouri 1929–

31).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Kansas City. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Jessie Hall Redfield of Kansas City, and a brother, Porter T. Hall, '02 S.

# Allen Merrill Rogers, Ph.B. 1898.

Born June 29, 1876, in New York City. Died December 16, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Henry Allen Rogers, founder H. A. Rogers Company, railway, mill, and mining supplies, New York City; Commissioner of Jurors and president Board of Education, New York City; son of Nathan and Amelia (de Blin) Rogers of New York City Mother, Rachel Augusta (Merrill) Rogers, daughter of William Henry and Rachel (Tallman) Merrill of New York City. Yale relatives include a nephew, Richard M. Foster, ex-'23

Condon School, New York City. Mechanical engineering course; member University Club

Associated with H A Rogers Company 1898–1925 (president 1915–25), unoccupied 1925–31, clerk in mortgage department Corn Exchange Bank Trust Company, New York City, 1931 until retirement 1937 because of ill-health; member Sons of the Revolution, Sons of the American Revolution, Yale Engineering Association, and St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married April 30, 1910, in New York City, Marie Knecht, daughter of Frank Hurd and Katherine (Knecht) Tobey Daughter Katherine Marie, the wife of Nicholas Guyot Cameron, '26.

Death due to a heart ailment Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, NY Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. May Rogers Foster of New York City.

# Henry Skyrin Clark, Ph.B. 1899.

Born October 27, 1877, in Wyoming, Ohio Died January 21, 1944, in Mobile, Ala

Father, Albert G Clark, '68 S. Mother, Jeannette (Wilson) Clark Franklin School, Cincinnati, Ohio Electrical engineering course; member The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Engaged in zinc mining 1899–1909 (with International Metallurgical Company of Montana, Denver, Colo; manager Midland Smelting Company, Iola, Kans, general agent Cherokee-Lanyon Spelter Company, Gas, Kans, engineer Empire Zinc Company, Canon City, Colo., and Butte, Mont), due to ill-health had not been actively engaged since 1909; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Mobile

Unmarried

Death due to myocardial degeneration Buried in Spring Grove Ceme-

tery, Cincinnati. Survived by a sister, Mrs. John McDuffie, and a brother, Albert Gardiner Clark, Jr., both of Mobile.

# Guy King Dustin, Ph.B. 1899.

Born August 26, 1877, in Hartford, Conn Died June 2, 1944, in Northampton, Mass.

Father, Charles Edward Dustin, president Hartford Foundry Corporation; son of Benjamin Franklin and Lucy Ann (Farnsworth) Dustin of Providence, R I. Mother, Loraine (King) Dustin; daughter of James and Adaline C. (Wright) King of Vernon, Conn

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Chemistry course, honorable mention in mechanical drawing Freshman year, honors in chemistry Senior year; Freshman Glee Club. Attended Yale Graduate School 1899–1900

With Binghamton (N.Y) Gas Works 1900–01; chemist People's Gaslight & Coke Company, Chicago, 1901–04; superintendent Hartford City Gas Light Company 1904–08, gas engineer Susquehanna Railway Light and Power Company, New York City, 1908–10; associated with Columbia (S.C.) Gas and Electric Company 1910–14 and Massachusetts Lighting Company, Boston, 1914 until its merger with New England Power Association in Western Massachusetts 1931; district manager of the latter company, Northampton, 1931–44; president Northampton Electric Lighting Company, Northampton Gas Light Company, Central Massachusetts Electric Company (Palmer), and Southern Berkshire Power and Electric Company (Great Barrington); vice-president Northern Berkshire Gas Company, North Adams, Mass; chairman Northampton Community Chest 1942; attended Episcopal church

Married September 15, 1910, in Brooklyn, Marguerite, daughter of Andrew Kurzler and Margaret Eliza (Baldwin) Marsh No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife and a brother, Edward F. Dustin, '06.

#### Louis Allston Gillet, Ph.B. 1899.

Born March 13, 1879, in New York City Died December 26, 1943, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Parents, Lawrence Warrington and Grace (Irving) Gillet

North Division High School, Chicago, Ill. Mechanical engineering course; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Studied at Columbia University School of Mines 1899–1902 (ME 1902); draftsman Crocker-Wheeler Electric Company, electrical engineers, Ampere, N.J., 1901–02; associated with Manning, Maxwell & Moore, ma-

chinery, New York City, 1902–03, assistant secretary American Society of Mechanical Engineers, New York City, 1904–07; with Alberger Condenser Company, New York City, 1908–09; New York representative Martin Gillet and Company, tea importers, 1909–43; member Joseph Allston Gillet & Brother 1909–19, Macy Brothers & Gillet, Inc., 1919–21, and Louis A. Gillet Company 1922–43.

Married June 8, 1904, in Fishkill-on-Hudson (now Beacon), NY., Helen VanCortland LeRoy, daughter of James and Louisa Morris (Stew-

art) Kent. No children.

Buried in St Luke's Cemetery, Beacon. Survived by wife.

# Joseph Palmer Wadhams, Ph.B. 1899.

Born April 22, 1878, in Goshen, Conn Died January 17, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Francis Morris Wadhams, salesman Holley Manufacturing Company, makers of cutlery, Lakeville, Conn; son of Noah Samuel and Lucy Mary (Ray) Wadhams of Goshen, Danbury, and Salisbury, Conn. Mother, Frances Miner (Palmer) Wadhams; daughter of Joseph and Ann Jeanette (Miner) Palmer of Goshen and New Haven. Yale relatives include Solomon Wadhams (BA 1762) and Noah Wadhams (MA Hon. 1764) (great-great-great-uncles), and Clifford F Thompson, '19 S, and Gordon B Wadhams, '26 (nephews).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course.

Civil engineer in Goshen and Torrington, Conn., 1899 and 1900-05; in office of A William Sperry, civil engineer and surveyor, New Haven, 1900, resident engineer Torrington and Winchester Street Railway Company, and engineer for Town of Torrington and Borough of Litchfield 1900-05, assistant engineer of electric traction New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, engaged in electrification of New York division, Harlem River branch, and Providence Tunnel 1905-12 and 1915-16, with McHenry and Murray, engineers, New Haven, engaged on survey and plans for proposed electrification of Boston Terminal 1913-14, street commissioner and city engineer Norwalk, Conn., 1917; secretary to executive committee Norwalk Hospital 1918-19; assistant engineer Connecticut Public Utilities Commission 1919–26, transportation engineer 1926-40, and associate utilities engineer 1940-44; president Connecticut section American Society of Civil Engineers 1929 and secretary-treasurer 1932-41, first vice-president Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers 1925, president 1926, and honorary member 1942; vice-president New Haven Congregational Club 1935; member New England Water Ways Association, National Society of Public Utilities Engineers, Masonic order, and

Plymouth Church (Congregational), New Haven (on prudential com-

mittee and board of deacons, president finance committee).

Married April 9, 1902, in New Haven, Ethel Hubbell, daughter of John and Helen (Hubbell) Clarke and sister of Mabelle Clarke Shoninger, ex'02 Art. Daughter Dorothy Palmer (B.A Connecticut Coll for Women 1937), the wife of Stuart Wilson Cleaveland (B S Dartmouth 1927).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Center Cemetery, Goshen. Survived by wife, daughter, a granddaughter, a sister, Mrs. Clifford Thompson of Wilbraham, Mass., and a brother, Francis Ray Wadhams of Goshen Another brother, Noah S. Wadhams, '97 S, died in 1929

## William Roscoe Bassick, Ph.B. 1900.

Born August 16, 1878, in Rosita, Colo Died April 25, 1944, in Mill Valley, Calif

Father, Edmund Chase Bassick of Bridgeport, Conn, engaged in mining; discovered Bassick Mine in Colorado, son of William and Polly (Chase) Bassick of Searsport, Maine Mother, Rebecca Elizabeth (Webb) Bassick; daughter of Frederick Cleveland and Cynthia (Davidson) Webb of Americus, Ind. Yale relatives include a nephew, Marshall M. Bassick, ex-'36.

University School, Bridgeport. Select course, honors in history Senior year, member Sheff Debating Society and St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Partner Sanitary Coupling Company, Bridgeport, 1900-01; with Burns, Silver & Company, manufacturers of cabinet hardware, Bridgeport, 1901– 02; special apprentice in Altoona shops of Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1902-04, placer gold dredging representative Bucyrus Company, mining and manufacturing, South Milwaukee, Wis, 1904-14 and Pacific coast manager for that company and Vulcan Steam Shovel Company of San Francisco 1905–14; treasurer Burns & Bassick Company, manufacturers of furniture trimmings, Bridgeport, 1914–16; vice-president and general manager Bassick Company, Bridgeport 1916–22; president Turner & Seymour Manufacturing Company, Torrington, Conn, 1922-26, vice-president Edgrelwema, Inc, investments, Bridgeport, 1924-41, president Commerce Motor Truck Company, Ypsilanti, Mich, 1926-27; chairman of the board Relay Motors Corporation, Inc., Wabash, Ind., 1927; not actively engaged 1927-31; associated with Tellite Pacific Company, electric signs, San Francisco, 1931–35, receiver and later president Joshua Hendy Iron Works, mining and heavy-duty machinery, San Francisco, 1935 until retirement 1941, member Bridgeport and Connecticut Manufacturers associations, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, and Church of Christ Scientist, Mill Valley

Married October 25, 1906, in Oakland, Calif., Della Elizabeth West (Univ. California ex-'04), daughter of Myers Burton and Amanda (Donovan) West. Children: Frederick Cleveland, 2d, '31 S, and Margaret Elizabeth (B.A Scripps Coll. 1935), the wife of Robert Cushman Munier (New York Univ. 1930–33)

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Ashes interred in Cypress Lawn Memorial Park, San Mateo County, Calif. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two brothers, Edgar Webb Bassick and Frederick Cleveland Bassick, both of Bridgeport

# Irving Edward Burdick, Ph.B. 1900.

Born September 1, 1876, in Friendship, N.Y. Died February 29, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Judge Horace Adrian Burdick (Alfred Univ ex-'72), a lawyer in Dansville, N.Y. Mother, Mary Honor (Vars) Burdick.

Dansville High School, Rochester (N.Y.) Business Institute, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Select course; honors in history, economics, and political science Senior year; member Sheff Debating Society and Class Book committee Senior year.

Secretary and treasurer Naval Electric Company, New York City, 1900– or, studied law in office of Judge Edmund B. Coyne, New York City; admitted to New York bar 1904 and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1930, lawyer in New York City 1904-44 (member Hitchings & Burdick 1914–18), for many years associated with Daniel F. Cohalan, former Justice of the New York State Supreme Court, and Francis A. O'Neill, former United States Commissioner, assistant to counsel for Interurban Street Railway Company; general counsel to United States Government Explosives Plants 1918; treasurer and vice-president Barton Estate Corporation, trustee New York School of Applied Design for Women 1935-44 and Alfred University 1942-44, a governor Hotchkiss Alumni Association 1934–36, vice-president and a governor Society of the Genesee; served in Engineer Corps during Spanish-American War, held patents on a submarine arc lamp, an electric block system for railroads, and a rapidfire gun which was used on patrol boats during World War I, member New England Society of New York, Sons of the Revolution, American-Irish Historical Society, New York County Lawyers Association, and Masonic order.

Married April 15, 1914, in New York City, Mary Louise, daughter of Oscar Jay and Annie Louise (Whelan) Gude and sister of Arthur J Gude, ex-'15 S. No children Mrs. Burdick died May 7, 1942.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Bradford (R.I.) Cemetery. Survived by a brother, Charles A Burdick of Washington

# Alexander de Trofimoff Ogden Jones, Ph.B. 1900.

Born May 2, 1878, in St Petersburg, Russia. Died December 1, 1943, in New York City

Father, Mahlon Ogden Jones, ex-'69 (B A. Univ. Chicago 1870), son of William E. Jones and Caroline Ogden Jones McCagg of Chicago, Ill, and Newport, R I. Mother, Princess Vera deTrofimoff, daughter of Alexander Ivanovich and Agnes Alexandrovna (Bologofskoi) deTrofimoff of St. Petersburg. Yale relatives include a nephew, Waldo C. M Johnston, '37

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Civil engineering course.

Civil engineer Great Northern Railway and associated with Tower & Wallace, paper mill engineers, Rumford Falls, Maine, 1900, studied painting in Europe and America 1900–03 (at Art Students League, New York City, with Robert Henri, and in museums in Spain and Munich), traveled around the world 1903–04, attended Harvard Law School 1904–05, admitted to New York bar 1907, clerk Lord, Day & Lord, lawyers, New York City, 1908–10; member Bridges, Bacon & Jones 1911–19, retired from law practice in 1919, engaged in commercial fruit growing in Southern Pines, N.C, 1920–22; free lance writer, member St Anthony and Delta Psi and First Presbyterian Church, Cooperstown, N.Y.

Married June 9, 1909, in New York City, Alice Van Doren, daughter of Brigadier General Edward Hastings Ripley, USA (BA Union Coll 1862), and Amelia Dyckmann (Van Doren) Ripley Children. Frances Ogden (died in infancy), Ripley Ogden (B.S. Harvard 1938; died October 17, 1942), Alice de Trofimoff Ogden (Yale School of the Fine Arts ex-'43),

and Alexander Ogden, Jr. (Trinity Coll ex-'42).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Center Rutland, Vt Survived by wife, one daughter, one son, two sisters, Marie deT. Johnston, the widow of Waldo C. Johnston, 'o6 S, of Cooperstown, and Mrs. George W. Jean of New York City, and a half sister, Mrs Armistead Peter, 3d, of Washington, and Cambridge, N.Y.

# Arthur Beardsley Maynard, Ph.B. 1900.

Born August 28, 1877, in Utica, N.Y. Died April 21, 1944, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, John Frederick Maynard, president Globe Woolen Company, Utica; son of Isaac Newton and Margaret (Aitken) Maynard of Utica. Mother, Mary Adams (Beardsley) Maynard, daughter of Arthur Moore and Louise (Hathaway) Beardsley of Utica Yale relatives include an uncle, Samuel R Maynard, ex-'90 S.

St. Paul's School, Concord, N H Select course; Cap and Gown Commit-

tee, member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Employed in Utica 1900 until retirement 1916; associated with Empire State Shaft Coupling Company, carriage hardware, 1900 and Globe Woolen Company 1900–16 (assistant designer 1902, assistant superintendent 1903–04, purchasing agent 1905, treasurer 1906–16); general manager Utica Motor Car Company 1912–14, president and treasurer Lewis Heater Corporation 1914–15 and Foundry Assets Corporation 1916; vice-president and treasurer The Xardell Corporation, tanks and sheet metal products, 1915–20, treasurer Mayro Realty Corporation 1914–41; captain Troop G, New York National Guard, 1910–12, resided in Coronado, Calif, 1922–41, trustee Coronado Public Library 1924–28; member Coronado Board of Councilmen; vestryman St Paul's Church (Episcopal), San Diego, Calif, 1932–36.

Married September 25, 1909, in East Liverpool, Ohio, Anne Garretson, daughter of Joseph Garretson and Elizabeth (Knowles) Lee No children

Death due to myocardial infarction. Ashes interred in Cypress Lawn Memorial Park, San Mateo County, Calif. Survived by wife and a brother, John F Maynard, Jr., '05 S.

#### John Egbert Wheeler, Ph.B. 1900.

Born May 19, 1879, in Portville, N.Y. Died September 6, 1943, in San Mateo, Calif

Father, William E Wheeler (BA 1866) Mother, Emily Almira (Mersereau) Wheeler Yale relatives include: John D. Mersereau, ex-'75 S. (uncle), William M. Wheeler, '99, and Lawrence R Wheeler, '11 (brothers), Roland W Mersereau, '05, Eugene L. Mersereau, '06, W. Reginald Wheeler, '11, Alexander R Wheeler, '11, and Egbert W. Mersereau, '11 (cousins), and William M Wheeler, Jr, '35 (nephew).

Phillips-Andover. Select course

Assistant manager Wheeler & Dusenbury, lumber manufacturers, Endeavor, Pa., 1900–05, organizer of and officer in several lumber companies on the West coast, president Wheeler Timber Company 1906–43, McCormick Lumber Company 1908–32, Rogue River Timber Company and Trask Timber Company 1911–27, and Wheeler Pine Company and Redwood Company, Ltd., 1932–43, manager Silver Fork Lumber Company 1905–26, New York and Pennsylvania Redwood Company 1906–10, Grande Ronde Lumber Company 1907–11, Penn Timber Company 1910–27, Tioneta Timber Company 1910–20, Soper Timber Company 1910–28, Portville Timber Company 1911–27, Big Lagoon Lumber Company 1911–20, and N P Wheeler Land Company 1912–26; coorganizer Columbia

Pacific Shipping Company 1917; with his brother Lawrence purchased The Portland (Ore) Telegram 1914 (editor and publisher 1914–27), chairman Pacific coast advisory board of Associated Press 1926, member First

Presbyterian Church, Portland (elder 1910–27).

Married June 5, 1907, in Cincinnati, Ohio, Margaret Elizabeth, daughter of James Coe Culbertson (grad. Bellevue Hospital Medical Coll 1865) and Sarah (Pogue) Culbertson. Children. William Egbert, 2d, '33 (died March 7, 1938); Mary Elizabeth (BA Wellesley Coll. 1932), the wife of Col Carl Wilbert Carlmark, USA (BS United States Military Academy 1931); John Pogue, '39; and Margaret Knox (B.A Wellesley Coll. 1944), the wife of Capt John Herbert Hollomon, AUS. (BS Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1940).

Death due to cardiovascular failure Ashes interred in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati. Survived by wife, daughters, one son, one grandson, and a sister, Eleanor Wheeler Pfeiffer, the wife of Timothy Newell Pfeiffer (B A Princeton 1909; LL B Harvard 1913) of Riverdale-on-Hudson, N.Y.

# [Charles] Carroll Sprigg, Ph.B. 1901.

Born June 16, 1880, in Dayton, Ohio Died February 21, 1944, in Dayton, Ohio

Father, John McMahon Sprigg, member Sprigg, Fitzgerald & Sprigg, lawyers, Dayton; son of Joseph and Jean (Duncan) Sprigg of Cumberland, Md. Mother, Mary (Helfrich) Sprigg. Yale relatives include a cousin, J. Sprigg McMahon, '89.

St Mary's Institute, Dayton, Michigan Academy, Orchard Lake, and Phillips-Andover Select course; honors in English Senior year, Class Day historian

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1901–04 (LL B. 1904), admitted to New York and Ohio bars 1904; lawyer in New York City 1904–06 and Dayton 1906–44 (member Sprigg, Fitzgerald & Sprigg 1906–08 and Fitzgerald & Sprigg 1908–11; in practice with his son under firm name Carroll Sprigg & John M Sprigg 1933–44), judge Court of Common Pleas, Dayton, 1911–17, presiding judge first Miami Conservancy Court 1913–17; United States consul general and diplomatic agent to Egypt 1920–22, enlisted in the United States Army September, 1918, and attended Field Artillery Central Officers Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, Ky, until discharged November 27, 1918; during World War II member Alien Enemy Hearing Board of Southern District of Ohio, president Yale Club of Dayton 1914 and Dayton Bar Association 1927; on Class Triennial and Sexennial committees and Class of 1901 S Sons and

Daughters Committee; member Ohio State and American Bar associa-

tions and Second Church of Christ Scientist, Dayton.

Married (1) June 14, 1906, in Dayton, Charlotte Louise, daughter of Charles H. and Ada (Bennett) Brown Son John McMahon, '30. Mrs. Sprigg died July 26, 1934. Married (2) September 23, 1937, in Dayton, Rosemond Fuller Christian Schenck, daughter of Abram Chester and Myra (Fuller) Christian.

Death due to hypertensive vascular disease. Buried in Woodland Ceme-

tery, Dayton Survived by wife, son, and two grandchildren.

# Arthur Glenney Belden, Ph.B. 1902.

Born April 1, 1880, in New Haven, Conn. Died June 8, 1944, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Frank Henry Belden, member Thompson & Belden, paint merchants, New Haven; son of Aaron and Harriet (Macomber) Belden of New Haven Mother, Minerva (Jacobs) Belden; daughter of John Frank and Mary Jacobs of New Haven.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven. Chemistry course, member Book and Bond.

Assistant chemist Harrison Brothers & Company, Philadelphia, 1902–03, chemist Rosengarten & Sons, manufacturing chemists, Philadelphia, 1904–05; and research laboratories of National Lead Company, Brooklyn, 1905 until retirement 1940 (laboratory manager 1926–40); associated with Bull & Roberts, consulting chemists, New York City, 1942–43, member Dwight Place Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married August 10, 1918, in New York City, Elizabeth, daughter of George James and Anna May (Ryder) Blight. Sons: Herbert Blight and

Arthur Glenne<del>y</del>, Jr

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, sons, and a brother, Frank Henry Belden of West Palm Beach, Fla.

#### Nelson Blount, Ph.B. 1902.

Born January 22, 1879, in Grand Rapids, Mich. Died August 30, 1943, in Morris Plains, N J

Father, Frederick Ripley Blount, associated with Blount Plow Works, Evanston, Ill, owner of a salt mine in Texas and the Consumers Lignite Company, Alba, Texas. Mother, Isabel A. (Nelson) Blount.

Langdon School, Norwood, Mass. Sanitary engineering course.

Laborer, foreman, and superintendent Oro Grande Placer Mining Company, Dillon, Colo, 1902–04; surveyor and engineer and later general superintendent Consumers Lignite Company 1905–08, design engineer with a lamp concern 1908–13, superintendent Kaolin Company, West Cornwall, Conn., 1913–18, physicist Bureau of Ordnance, United States Navy Department, 1918–22 (special investigator, torpedo experimental work, Naval Experiment Station, New London, Conn, and research engineer Mine Laboratory, Naval Torpedo Station, Newport, R I), with Western Electric Company, New York City, 1923–25, telephone engineer and supervisor of research and development Bell Telephone Laboratories, Inc, New York City, and Murray Hill, N J, 1925 until retirement in August, 1943, aided in development of the throat microphone and the handset telephone; member Yale Engineering Association, Aeronautic Society of America, and Presbyterian church.

Married October 15, 1910, in Middletown, N.Y, Bertha, daughter of Richard Mackey and Octavia (Churchill) Rorty Children Elinor (died August 5, 1935) and Richard (BS Lehigh Univ. 1939) Mrs Blount died in April, 1940.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Survived by son and two brothers, Harold Bruce Blount (Cornell Univ ex-'03) of Westfield, NJ, and Frederick Ripley Blount, Jr, of Alba

# Wayne Camp Nisbet, Ph.B. 1902

Born January 3, 1879, in Stokes, N.Y Died January 4, 1944, in Glendale, Calif

Father, Ward H Nisbet of Rome, N.Y, a traveling salesman, son of Robert Brown and Mary Adeline (Camp) Nisbet of Lee Center, N Y Mother, Mary (Camp) Nisbet; daughter of Daniel King Ferguson and Rhoda (Ward) Camp of Sangerfield, N.Y.

Rome Free Academy Sanitary engineering course, honors in English composition Junior year.

With engineering corps Pennsylvania Railroad Company 1902–12 (successively assistant engineer Pennsylvania Lines West of Pittsburgh, in Toledo, Ohio, and Fort Wayne, Ind; in charge of construction, East Palestine and Mansfield, Ohio, in Pittsburgh office, acting assistant engineer Toledo Division; assistant engineer Louisville Division 1908–10 and Cleveland and Pittsburgh Division 1910–12), associated with The Emerson Company, efficiency engineers, New York City, 1912–23 (assigned to Sunburst, N.C., 1912–13; on survey for the city of Pittsburgh 1913; in New London, Conn., 1914, Baltimore and Ohio Railroad Company, Baltimore, 1917–18; Celite Products Company, Lompoc, Calif, 1919–23, un-

occupied 1923-24; industrial engineer Los Angeles Chamber of Commerce 1926-44; contributed to Railway Maintenance Engineer and Industrial

Management, member Glendale Presbyterian Church.

Married November 7, 1907, in Fort Wayne, May, daughter of Hiram Bloomer and Ella Adelaide (Dresser) Woolsey. Children: Robert Woolsey and Mary Adelaide, the wife of William Lyman Thompson (B S. Univ. California 1935).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, and a

sister, Miss Mabel Nisbet of Glendale.

#### Samuel James Reeves, Ph.B. 1902.

Born February 9, 1880, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died February 18, 1944, in Media, Pa

Father, David Reeves (CE. Rensselaer Polytechnic Inst 1872), president Phoenix Bridge Company and The Phoenix Iron Company, steel manufacturers, Phoenixville, Pa; son of Samuel J and Margaret (Handy) Reeves of Philadelphia and Phoenixville Mother, Elise Caroline (Fisher) Reeves, daughter of James Cowles and Mary (Teisseire) Fisher of Philadelphia and Torresdale, Pa. Yale relatives include a nephew, William H. Reeves, 3d, '39

St Paul's School, Garden City, NY. Civil engineering course; Harlequin crew Freshman year; Class Book historian Senior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, University Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Traveled around the world 1902-03, associated with The Phoenix Iron Company 1904-44 (apprentice 1904-07, purchasing agent 1907-23, president 1923-44), president Phoenix Bridge Company 1940-44 and Little Schuylkill Navigation Railroad & Coal Company 1923-44; vice-president Cambria Iron Company 1923-42; operated a dairy farm in Phoenixville 1903-17, secretary National Jersey Breeders Association; on regional board American Mutual Liability Insurance Company and American Iron and Steel Institute, member National Industrial Conference Board and Iron and Steel Industry Defense Committee; vestryman St. Peter's Church (Episcopal), Phoenixville.

Married October 14, 1922, in Rosemont, Pa, Lucile Polk, daughter of William Ernest and Lucile (Polk) Carter Children. Elise Fisher, the

wife of Peter V Fraser, David, and Lucile Stewart

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Washington Memorial Churchyard, Valley Forge, Pa. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Miss Mary Teisseire Reeves of Phoenixville, and a brother, William H. Reeves, Jr, '04 S.

# Kenneth Baker Schley, Ph.B. 1902.

Born November 19, 1881, in New York City Died June 12, 1944, in New York City

Father, Grant Barney Schley, member Moore & Schley, bankers and brokers, New York City; son of Evander and Olive (Higby) Schley of Canandaigua, N.Y. Mother, Martha Elizabeth (Baker) Schley, daughter of George Ellis and Evelyn (Stevens) Baker of Tuxedo Park, N Y Yale relatives include: Reeve Schley, '03 (cousin), Max H Behr, '05 S. (brotherin-law); Grant B. Schley, 2d, ex-'32, and Grant B. Schley, 3d, Class of 1945W (nephews).

The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H Select course; Class deacon Freshman year; Senior Promenade Committee; member University Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Traveled around the world 1902–03, associated with Moore & Schley 1903–44 (partner since 1908); chairman board of directors Elliott-Fisher Company 1918–44 (vice-president 1918), member finance committee Underwood-Elliott-Fisher Company 1927–44, vice-president Electric Storage Battery Company, Philadelphia, 1918–44; member executive committee and director TelAutograph Corporation; operated a 2,000 acre farm with herd of black Angus beef cattle at Lamington, N J, a founder Essex Fox Hounds, Far Hills, N J., 1911 and later joint master, vestryman St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Gladstone, N J

Married June 8, 1912, in Hyde Park, N.Y, Ellen Habersham, daughter of Archibald Rogers, '73 S, and Anne Caroline (Coleman) Rogers, and sister of Edmund P Rogers, '05, Rae H Rogers, ex-'10, and Herman L Rogers, '14 Children Anne Caroline, the wife of John Richard Webb, and Kenneth Baker, Jr. (B.A. Princeton 1941).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in St. Bernard's Cemetery, Bernards-ville, N J. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a brother, Evander B. Schley, '04 S Another brother, Chaloner B Schley, '00 S., died in 1917.

# Thomas Hilton Williams, Ph.B. 1903.

Born April 20, 1881, in Jersey City, N.J. Died March 9, 1944, in Jersey City, N.J.

Father, Thomas Hilton Williams, manufacturer of radiators in Jersey City, son of William and Eliza Ann (Hilton) Williams of Peekskill, N Y Mother, Fannie Wylder (Holden) Williams; daughter of David LeCain and Ann Maria (Jones) Holden of Jersey City.

Hasbrouck Institute, Jersey City, Stevens School, Hoboken, NJ, and St. Paul's School, Concord, NH Select course.

With E A Williams & Son, Inc., brass foundry, Jersey City, 1903-44 (president 1907-44), with Bureau of Investigation, Department of Justice, 1917-18, a governor Children's Home of Jersey City, member Masonic order, vestryman St. John's Church (Protestant Episcopal), Jersey City.

Married October 22, 1907, in Jersey City, Gladys Williams, daughter of Edward and Minnie (Hetherington) Linn. Children. Vidalin, the wife of Frank Paul Wittmer (BS Univ. Pennsylvania 1924); Gladys Barbara (BA Smith Coll 1934), the wife of Charles Raymond Nichols, Jr. (M.E Stevens Inst Technology 1929); and Thomas Hilton, Jr. (died December 13, 1929). Mrs Williams died December 8, 1940

Death due to cerebral apoplexy. Buried in New York Bay Cemetery,

Jersey City Survived by daughters and four grandchildren.

## Clarence Moore Blair, Ph.B. 1904.

Born August 21, 1885, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 21, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Henry Blair, superintendent of construction C. W. Blakeslee & Sons, general contractors, New Haven; son of William Basile and Martha Jane (Waters) Blair of New York City Mother, Mary (Moore) Blair, daughter of Paul Moore of New York City. Yale relatives include: Clarence Blakeslee, '85 S. (uncle); and Harold L. Blakeslee, '07 S, M Grant Blakeslee, '15 S., Dwight W. Blakeslee, ex-'20 S., and Frank H Blakeslee, ex-'21 (cousins).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Civil engineering course; honorable mention for excellence in mathematics Freshman year; honors for excellence in all studies Junior year; general two-year honors Senior year; member Sigma Xi.

In office of Albert B Hill, '69 S., consulting civil engineer, New Haven, 1904–30 (first assistant 1913–30), president and treasurer Blair & Marchant [Orson H., '04 S.], Inc., civil engineers and surveyors, New Haven, 1930–38 and Clarence M Blair, Inc., 1938–44; on Connecticut State Board of Civil Engineers 1930–39 and Connecticut State Board for Supervision of Dams, Dikes, Reservoirs and Similar Structures 1939–44; member board of control Safety Council of New Haven 1925–44; director New Haven Chamber of Commerce 1937–39; chairman '04 S. Reunion Committee 1934 and 1939 and vice-president of the Class; author of many papers on engineering subjects; member New Haven Congregational Club (president 1921 and on nominating committee 1942–44), Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers (assistant secretary 1911, 1916, 1921, secretary-treasurer

1921–31, second vice-president 1932 and 1937, first vice-president 1933, president 1934, director 1935, honorary member 1941), Rotary Club (president 1937–38), American Society of Civil Engineers (charter member Connecticut section 1919, secretary 1920–29, secretary-treasurer 1932–39), Yale Engineering Association, New England Water Works Association, and American Water Works Association; deacon Dwight Place Church (Congregational), New Haven (on Ecclesiastical Society Committee and superintendent of the Sunday School).

Married April 15, 1909, in New Haven, Fanny Belle, daughter of Stillman Nehemiah and Belle Morrison (Cameron) Rand No children

Death due to uremia with chronic nephritis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife and a brother, William Basil Blair of St Petersburg, Fla.

# Edgar Toll Glass, Ph.B. 1904.

Born May 24, 1879, in Syracuse, NY. Died April 9, 1944, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Edgar Patterson Glass (B A Univ. Rochester 1869, M A 1872, Columbia Univ School of Law 1872–73), a lawyer in Syracuse, surrogate Onondaga County, N Y, 1893–1922; son of Joseph Jenkinson and Sarah (Toll) Glass of Syracuse Mother, Henrietta (Jessup) Glass, daughter of Benjamin Townsend and Emily (Johnson) Jessup of New York City

Attended Syracuse University 1898–99 and Mercersburg (Pa.) Academy 1899–1901. Select course, University Football Team Junior year; line coach University Football Squad Senior year and for some years after graduation; named all-American guard by Walter Camp 1902, University Track Team and winner second place, hammer throw event, Yale-Harvard-Oxford-Cambridge meet Senior year; president of the Class Junior year; chairman Class Book and Picture committees; member The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with The Stanley Works, New Britain, Conn, 1904–16 (clerk 1904–05 and sales manager cold rolled strip department 1905–16), manager of sales, tractor department, New Britain Machine Company, 1916–22, New England district sales manager Elyria Iron and Steel Company (later Steel and Tubes, Inc), a subsidiary of Republic Steel Corporation, Cleveland, 1922–44; on executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Hartford, vice-president and president Class of 1904 S for several years; director Yale Football Y Association; on Board of Control of Athletic Association 1941–44 (executive committee 1943–44); member The Aurelian Honor Society, attended St John's Church (Episcopal), West Hartford.

Married February 19, 1916, in Hartford, Carolyn May Woolley (B.A. Smith Coll 1911), daughter of George Hollister and Ella Taylor (Frisbie) Woolley and sister of Fred F. Woolley, ex-'06 S. Children. Carolyn Elizabeth (B.A. Smith Coll. 1939), the wife of George P. Hoke, '38 L., and Edgar Toll, Jr, '42.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Ashes interred in Fairview Cemetery, West Hartford Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a

brother, Joseph Jessup Glass of Syracuse.

# Louis Edward Heady, Ph.B. 1904.

Born March 19, 1883, in Milford, Conn. Died August 24, 1943, in Milford, Conn.

Father, Elias B Heady (M. D. 1872) Mother, Julia Virginia (Kellogg) Heady.

Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, Conn Metallurgy course.

Attended Colorado School of Mines, with Bethlehem Steel Company, Detroit, Mich, and South Bethlehem, Pa, 1904–11; associated with Manganese Steel Forging Company 1911–12, superintendent Hobo Mine, American Agricultural Chemical Company, fertilizers, Bourbon, Mo, 1914–21, with Smith-Mattice Company, Inc., real-estate brokers and developers, St. Petersburg, Fla; general foreman hot-press department American Brass Company, Ansonia, Conn, 1929–43.

Married June 5, 1926, in Brooklyn, N.Y, Nellie Walker, daughter of

Charles Edward and Mary (Adams) Seaton No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by wife.

# Thomas Edward Keating, Ph.B. 1905.

Born October 5, 1884, in Springfield, Mass. Died December 30, 1943, in New York City.

Father, Thomas Keating, a machinist with Gilbert & Barker Manufacturing Company, Springfield, son of Cornelius and Bridget (Keating) Keating of Ireland Mother, Margaret (Hanrahan) Keating, daughter of Anthony and Mary (Burke) Hanrahan of Ireland Yale relatives include. John Keating, ex-'76 M, and Bernard Keating, '80 L. (uncles), John J. Cullinan, '87, Thomas M Cullinan, '89, Frank W Nolan, '98 M., Vincent L Keating, '13, Thomas B Nolan, '21 S, John T Cullinan, '31 L, and Paul H Cullinan, '35 (cousins); and Thomas Francis Keating, '45W E. (nephew).

Springfield High School. Mechanical engineering course, prize for excellence in Spanish Sophomore year; general two-year honors in mechanical engineering and prize for excellence in advanced Spanish Senior year.

With Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company, New York City and East Pittsburgh, Pa., 1905 until placed on inactive list in 1937 (sales engineer, steam-power engineer, manager turbine department, eastern district industrial manager, and assistant to vice-president in charge of steam lines in New York City); commissioned Lieutenant, U.S. Naval Reserve Force, May, 1918; instructor Steam Engineer's School, Hoboken, N.J., 1918; engineer aboard U.S. Leviathan 1918 until discharge 1919, member Yale Engineering Association and St. Agnes Church (Catholic), New York City.

Unmarried.

Death due to paralysis agitans. Buried in St Michael's Cemetery, Spring-field. Survived by mother, a sister, Mrs. Leonard James Cain of Arlington, Mass., and a brother, Ralph Harold Keating of Flushing, N.Y.

## Lauren Allen Kennedy, Ph.B. 1905.

Born December 24, 1881, at Swan Lake, S Dak Died February 22, 1944, in Duluth, Minn

Father, Edward Cook Kennedy (Albany Law School 1871–72), a lawyer in Duluth; mayor of Superior, Wis; son of Lauren Orwell and Caroline (Cook) Kennedy of West Galway, NY Mother, Emma (Allen) Kennedy; daughter of Joseph and Fanny (Wain) Allen of Cheshire, England.

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School, attended Princeton University 1901–03 Entered Sheffield Scientific School in Junior year, forestry course

In sales department Northern Lumber Company, Cloquet, Minn, 1906–09; engaged in iron mining business with his father, mine superintendent at Ely, Minn., and manager hay and oats department Hoover Grain Company, Duluth, 1910–11, with Barth Martin Company, wholesale grain and feed, 1911–17; president and manager Kennedy Commission Company, wholesale grain and feed commissioners, Duluth, 1917–27; in investment business 1927–33; traveling representative Francis Shimer Junior College, Mount Carroll, Ill., 1933; manager and engineer of operations Zim Gold Mines Development Company, Helena, Mont., 1934–37; independently engaged in mining interests and investments, Duluth, 1938–41, with Barnes-Duluth Shipbuilding Company 1941–44, winner of Duluth and Minnesota tennis championships several years, member Masonic order and St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Duluth

Married May 6, 1905, in New York City, Alice Marie, daughter of

George Richardson Hardy (BS Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1873) and Ella Corina (Foljambe) Hardy Children: Athena Caroline, the wife of Alonzo Wheelock Wilson (B.A. Univ. Minnesota 1917), Jane Elizabeth, the wife of Alvie Reynolds Swan (Carleton Coll. 1926–27; Univ. Minnesota 1927–28); and Edward Cook, 2d

Death due to virus pneumonia Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Duluth. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, father, a sister, Caroline Kennedy Spring (Smith Coll ex-'10), the wife of Willis Ware Spring (ME Univ. Minnesota 1907) of Duluth, and a brother, Walter Emiel Kennedy of Louisville, Ky.

#### Lewis Elmer Armstrong, Ph.B. 1906.

Born December 18, 1885, in New Haven, Conn Died May 28, 1944, in New York City

Father, Elmer Leroy Armstrong, treasurer M Armstrong Company, carriage manufacturers, New Haven; son of Montgomery and Mary (Alling) Armstrong of New Haven. Mother, Nellie (Carr) Armstrong.

New Haven High School Mechanical engineering course; honor division Freshman year Attended Yale Graduate School 1906–08.

Taught mathematics at Holderness School, Plymouth, N.H., 1908–09; instructor in mathematics Pennsylvania State College 1909–16; assistant professor of mathematics Stevens Institute of Technology 1916–44; member Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven.

Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Edmund Safford Higgins, Ph.B. 1906.

Born August 5, 1885, in Manchester, N.H Died December 18, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Edmund Fessenden Higgins (Dartmouth Coll. ex-'78), treasurer Manchester Supply Company; son of Lewis and Susan (Whitney) Higgins of White Rock, Maine. Mother, Martha (Safford) Higgins; daughter of Nathaniel Tracy and Eunice (Carter) Safford of Dunbarton, N H

Manchester High School Civil engineering course; honor division Freshman year.

Associated with American Locomotive Company, Dunkirk, NY., 1906–10 (in construction engineering department Richmond, Va., Boston, Mass.,

Schenectady, NY., and Montreal, Quebec, 1906-08; engineer in charge construction of garage for Quaker City Cab Company, Philadelphia, 1909-10); superintendent Quaker City Cab Company 1910–15, maintenance engineer E. I. duPont de Nemours Powder Company on construction of munitions plant at Hopewell, Va, 1915-18, with Oakland Motor Car Company, Pontiac, Mich, and Procter & Gamble Company, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1918-20, president Philadelphia Spring Company 1920-23, vicepresident and general manager Yellow Cab Company of Philadelphia 1923-28; vice-president Motor Mileage Corporation 1929, vice-president and general manager Parmelee Transportation Company, operating cab companies in New York, Pittsburgh, and Chicago, 1929-34, in 1934 returned to Philadelphia and with a group of associates gained control of Yellow Cab Company of Philadelphia (president 1936–43), president Yellow Rental, Inc., and Cab Research Bureau, Inc., 1938–43, Yellow Cab Company of Camden 1939–43, and Royal Blue Line Company, Philadelphia, 1940-43; frequently represented the cab industry before Office of Defense Transportation in recent years; designer of the cabulance, member Yale Engineering Association, New England Society of Pennsylvania, The Franklin Institute, and Bryn Mawr Presbyterian Church

Married (1) September 30, 1914, in Philadelphia, Margaret Lucy, daughter of William and Margaret (Bichan) Kelley Children: Margaret Safford (B.A. Smith Coll. 1937) and Edmund Fessenden, '40 S Mrs. Higgins died December 31, 1937. Married (2) August 17, 1940, in Philadelphia, Edna, daughter of Samuel Henry and Celey (Bolitho) Veale.

Death due to Hodgkin's disease. Buried in Valley Forge Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and two sisters, Mrs. H Ellis Straw and Ruth Whitney Higgins (B.A. Smith Coll. 1913), both of Manchester.

## Fred Hodgdon Thompson, Ph.B. 1906.

Born June 7, 1885, in Bath, Maine. Died November 24, 1943, in Portland, Maine.

Father, Frank Nelson Thompson, partner Thompson Brothers, clothing and men's furnishings, Bath. Mother, Effie (Hodgdon) Thompson.

Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course, Freshman Baseball Team; member Book and Bond.

With Thompson Brothers 1906–10; clerk for Sagadahoc County, Maine Supreme Judicial Court, 1911–43; owner Fred H Thompson, general insurance business, Bath; member Masonic order

Married April 27, 1908, in Bath, Ethel May, daughter of William J and Addie Downing. Children: Dorothy Amelia (Mrs Olsen), Fred Hodgdon, Jr, and Frank Downing.

Death due to hypertensive heart disease. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Bath Survived by wife and children.

## Robert Daniels Bardwell, Ph.B. 1907.

Born June 4, 1884, in Pittsfield, Mass. Died November 25, 1943, in Pittsfield, Mass

Father, Ralph Bucklin Bardwell, president Third National Bank, Pittsfield, and chairman of the board of its successor, Pittsfield-Third National Bank & Trust Company; son of Ralph Bucklin Bardwell Mother, Emma L. (Daniels) Bardwell, daughter of S. V. R. Daniels

Phillips-Andover Select course, secretary Sheff Debating Society Senior

year, Triennial Committee

Teller Berkshire County Savings Bank, Pittsfield, 1907–11; teller and assistant to the president Third National Bank 1911–18; eastern sales manager Refrigerator, Heater, and Ventilator Car Company, St Paul, Minn, 1919–20, in insurance business in Pittsfield 1920–43 (vice-president and treasurer Gale-Bardwell, Inc., 1920–34, president and treasurer Bardwell-Fuller, Inc, 1934–41 and Bardwell Company, Inc, 1941–43), director Pittsfield Board of Trade, on Republican City Committee, vice-president Berkshire County Council Boy Scouts of America; president Yale Alumni Association of Berkshire County 1931–34 and on executive committee, chairman for Pittsfield, Yale Endowment Fund Campaign 1926; commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance, July 17, 1918, assistant disbursement officer, Ordnance Office, New York City District; discharged February 4, 1919, Captain Ordnance Department Reserve Corps; blackout director Civilian Defense Council of Pittsfield, member Baptist church.

Married March 26, 1908, in Pittsfield, Helen Margaret, daughter of Fred Carleton and Alice Thayre (Cooke) Pillsbury. Children: Beatrice Pillsbury (diploma Sarah Lawrence Coll. 1930), the wife of Ernst K. Von

Mertens, and Robert Daniels, Jr, '42.

Death due to carcinoma. Ashes interred in Pittsfield Cemetery Survived by wife, children, mother, and two grandchildren

#### Paul Seiberling Mosser, Ph.B. 1907.

Born September 19, 1886, in Boston, Mass. Died February 25, 1944, in Waban, Mass

Father, Jacob Mosser, member J K. Mosser Company, tanners and sole cutters, Boston; son of James Kistler and Maria (Keck) Mosser of Allentown, Pa. Mother, Sarah Jane (Seiberling) Mosser; daughter of Peter and Catharine (Hartman) Seiberling of North Penn, Pa

English High School, Boston, and Worcester (Mass) Academy. Chemistry course; honor division Freshman year; honors in German Junior year.

With J. K Mosser Company, Boston, and Newberry, Pa, 1907–16; associated with Armour Leather Company, Chicago, 1916–20, manager Boston office Colson Company, manufacturers of hand trucks, children's vehicles, and wheel chairs, Elyria, Ohio, 1921–26; became co-owner Parker Associates, Inc., insurance, Boston, 1927, treasurer Dorchester (Mass) Coal & Oil Company, Inc., 1937; salesman S. S. Pierce Company, wholesale grocers and wine merchants, Boston, 1936–44; member St. Mark's Church (Lutheran), Boston.

Married April 11, 1912, in Williamsport, Pa, Marguerite, daughter of William Emery and Willetta (Stark) Gray Children Willetta Stark, Jacob (B.A. Dartmouth 1937), and William Gray (died June 18, 1933).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mrs Pio Pediconi of Rome, Italy, and Anna M Roberts, the wife of Kenneth Roberts (B.A Cornell Univ. 1908) of Kennebunkport, Maine, and three brothers, Karl E. Mosser, '11, Philip Dudley Mosser (B A. Cornell 1921) of Alexandria, Va, and Charles Richard Mosser of New York City Another brother, Harris Mosser, '14 S., died in 1938.

## Joseph Clayton Stephenson, Ph.B. 1907.

Born May 20, 1883, in Menominee, Mich Died October 19, 1943, in Northbrook, Ill.

Father, Isaac Stephenson, a lumberman in Menominee, and Ludington, La.; son of Robert and Hannah (Benthouse) Stephenson of Menominee Mother, Annie Laurie (Stephenson) Stephenson, daughter of Andrew and Charlotte (Pycheon) Stephenson of Menominee

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Civil engineering course, member University Club and St. Elmo and Delta Phi

Assistant secretary Ludington Wells & Van Shaick Lumber Company, Ludington, 1907–17; engaged in valuation of lumber for Tropics Corporation, Georgetown, British Guiana, 1919–22 and in the Northwest for an Atlanta, Ga; firm 1922–25; partner Florida Realty Associates, Inc, Daytona, 1925–27, engineer George Allen Richardson, Inc, builders, Great Neck, NY., 1927–28, Union Carbide Company, New York City, 1928–31, and Oxweld Railroad Service Company, Chicago, 1931–43, enlisted May, 1917; sent to Officers Training Camp, Fort Sheridan, September, 1917, commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, January, 1918; with 337th

Field Artillery, Camp Dodge, overseas August, 1918—January, 1919; discharged February 1, 1919, member First Presbyterian Church, Menominee

Married January 3, 1925, in Forest Hills, NY., Helen Ruth Hicks (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1915), daughter of Walter Raleigh Hicks (Univ. Michigan Medical School 1885–87; M.D. Bellevue Hospital Medical Coll. 1888) and Ester Ann (Phalen) Hicks Children Marion (Connecticut Coll for Women 1946) and Joseph Clayton, Jr.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Menominee. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Ethel S. Haggerson, the wife of Fred Henry Haggerson (Hamilton Coll ex-'08; LL B Univ. Michigan

1907) of Plandome, NY.

## Leroy Christy, Ph.B. 1908.

Born April 7, 1886, in Stamford, Conn. Died October 18, 1943.

Father, Charles Roland Christy, in lumber business in Montclair, N.J. Mother, Jennie (Lundy) Christy Direct descendant of Abraham Pierson, rector of the College 1701-07

King School, Stamford, and Irving School, New York City. Mechanical engineering course, Freshman Football and Crew squads; cross-country

squad Junior year, University Wrestling Team Senior year.

In drafting department Post & McCord, Inc., contractors, New York City, 1909, lumber salesman 1909; head engineer logging railroad Anticosti Island, Quebec, Canada, 1910–11; with Bellingham (Wash.) Bay Lumber Company and Lumber Sales Corporation, New York City, 1911-12, bookkeeper Adams River Lumber Company, British Columbia, 1912-13; successively secretary, sales manager, and superintendent Fred K. Baker Lumber Company, Everett, Wash; associated with J. L & C. R. Christy, Jr, wholesale dealers in forest products, New York City, and Leroy Christy, Inc., wholesale lumber, New York City (president 1933-43), enlisted in Washington National Guard, 12th Company, February 15, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant March 29, 1917; promoted First Lieutenant May 26, 1917, and Captain September 17, 1918; entered federal service July 25, 1917, at Fort Casey, Wash; assigned to Battery E, 63d Coast Guard Artillery; overseas July 30, 1918—February 6, 1919; discharged April 5, 1919, chairman Montclair Central District, Boy Scouts of America, 1939–43, member Episcopal church.

Married July 16, 1913, in Bellingham, Laura Elizabeth, daughter of Frederick Kessler and Lynne Laura (Edie) Baker. Survived by wife, a daughter, Elizabeth, the wife of Lucien R Shattuck, Jr., '30 S., and a son,

Nicholas Pierson, '45 (degree awarded June, 1944).

## Bernard Stearns Clark, Ph.B. 1908.

Born August 28, 1886, in New York City Died October 1, 1943, in West Hartford, Conn

Father, Allan Jay Clark, partner Nichols Brothers & Company, manufacturers and importers of furs, New York City, assistant paymaster United States Navy 1862–65; son of Allan and Melissa (Hitchcock) Clark of Jersey City, N J. Mother, Emmie (Buell) Clark; daughter of Henry Robert and Kathryn Ann (Andruss) Buell of New York City Yale relatives include a cousin, Allen C. Bragaw, '03.

Chapin Collegiate School, New York City, and Holbrook School, Ossining, N.Y. Select course; member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa.

With Johns-Pratt Company, manufacturers of electrical insulation and specialties, Hartford, 1908–27 (assistant superintendent and later production superintendent 1918–27), associated with Bush Manufacturing Company, heat transfer products, Hartford, 1927–43 (assistant superintendent 1929–31, superintendent 1931–36, director of purchases 1936–42, and director of material control 1942–43); member Yale Engineering Association and St James' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married August 28, 1917, in Hartford, Marghueretta, daughter of Maurice and Mary (Hamilton) Keating. Children. Allan Bernard and George Hamilton Mark.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, sons, mother, and a sister, Mrs Walter Bramhall Eager of Westport, Conn.

## Fred Engelhardt, Ph.B. 1908.

Born April 15, 1885, in Naugatuck, Conn. Died February 3, 1944, in Durham, N H.

Father, John Georg Engelhardt, an employee Goodyear India Rubber Glove Manufacturing Company, Naugatuck; son of Georg Engelhardt Mother, Helena Theresa (Deubel) Engelhardt; daughter of Johann Nickolaus and Helena (Holtermuller) Deubel of Frankfurt-am-Main, Germany. Yale relatives include two nephews, Nickolaus L. Engelhardt, Jr, '29 S., and George John Engelhardt, Jr, Ph D. 1943

Naugatuck High School, Phillips-Andover, and Haverford (Pa ) School. Electrical engineering course. Attended Yale Graduate School 1908-09 (laboratory assistant in physics)

Attended summer sessions at Harvard 1909, 1910; registered summer sessions Teachers College, Columbia University, 1912–15 and academic year 1923–24 (MA 1915, Ph D 1924), studied education, economics, and

sociology University of Pennsylvania Graduate School 1916–17; instructor and principal Western Military Academy, Alton, Ill, 1909-11; principal Franklın Academy, Malone, N.Y., 1911-16; head of science department William Penn Charter School, Philadelphia, 1916–17; inspector elementary education New York State Department of Education, Albany, 1919; director Bureau of Administration, Pennsylvania State Department of Public Instruction, Harrisburg, 1919-22, assistant dean College of Liberal Arts, University of Pittsburgh, 1922-24; professor of educational administration, College of Education, University of Minnesota, 1924–37; president University of New Hampshire 1937-44; visiting professor George Peabody College for Teachers 1929, University of Manitoba 1932, Stanford University 1933, Duke University 1934, and Northwestern University 1935; lecturer on educational administration (professorial rank) Yale University 1935–36, entered Officers Training Camp, Fort Niagara, May 15, 1917; commissioned Captain, Coast Artillery Corps, August 25, 1917, and Major September, 1918, instructor Heavy Artillery School, head department of gunnery, and later supervisor and director of instruction, Fort Monroe; helped compile Gunnery for Field Service (1918) and several bulletins on teaching of mathematics and other subjects for use in heavy artillery units of student army training schools, discharged January 23, 1919, commissioned Major, Reserve Corps, January, 1919; author: Forecasting School Population (1925), Public School Organization and Administration Syllabus (1930), Public School Organization and Administration (1931), and Fulling Mill Brook, A Study in Industrial Evolution 1707–1937 (1937); co-author Public School Business Administration (1927), Accounting Procedure for School Systems (1927), First Course in Algebra (1927), Selecting Sites for School Buildings (1928), Second Course in Algebra (1929), Planning School Building Programs (1930), Mathematics (3 vols., 1931), District Organization and Secondary Education (1933), Administration and Supervision (1933), A Survey Manual for the Business Administration in Public School Systems (1936), Secondary Education; Principles and Practices (1937); author or co-author of many monographs and survey reports on public schools in various Minnesota and Wisconsin towns, editor Appleton-Century Series in Administration, LL.D. University of Maine 1940; chairman New Hampshire State Planning and Development Commission 1940-44 and Committee on Military Affairs of National Association of State Universities 1941-43; New Hampshire director New England Town Meeting on the Air, New England Town Hall, Inc, 1940-42, special consultant National Secondary School Survey Commission 1930-32 and National Survey of School Finance 1931; on Committee on Postwar Planning of New Hampshire State Manufacturers Association, Commission for the Promotion of Wealth and Income of the People of New Hampshire, New Hampshire State Defense Committee,

New Hampshire Committee on War Savings, National Committee on Army and Navy Morale, National Wartime Educational Committee, National Advisory Council on School Building Problems, Uniform School Record Commission, and Advisory Education Committee, Office of War Information; trustee Austin-Cate Academy, Center Strafford, NH, and Northern New England School of Religious Education 1937–44, and Brewster Free Academy, Wolfeboro, N.H., 1940-44; member Chicago Public School Survey 1932, education committee of Minnesota State Planning Board 1934-37, Pennsylvania State Teachers Association, Pennsylvania State Educational Association, Minnesota Education Association, Association of State University Presidents, National Education Association, American Association of School Administrators, National Society for the Study of Education, Society for the Advancement of Education, New Hampshire Historical Society, Newcomen Society, Phi Delta Kappa, Kappa Delta Pi, Alpha Sigma Phi, American Legion, Masonic order, and Community Church (Congregational), Durham.

Married (1) June 20, 1911, in Springfield, Mass, Ruth, daughter of Frank B and Anna B. (Deland) Strickland Daughter Alice Marjorie (died at birth). Mr and Mrs. Engelhardt were divorced in 1928. Married (2) August 29, 1929, in Laconia, NH, Marian Emma Haskell-(BA Barnard Coll 1921, M.A. Columbia Univ. 1925), daughter of Lucius Wyman and Mabel Helen (Stevens) Haskell

Death due to carcinoma Ashes scattered. Survived by wife, three sisters, Mrs Ray Leggett of Arlington, N J, Mrs John Brown of Jersey City, Mrs Morris William Ivie of New York City, and three brothers, Nickolaus L. Engelhardt, '03, George Engelhardt of Naugatuck, and Harris Engelhardt of Wantagh, N.Y.

#### Harry Breden Ham, Ph.B. 1908.

Born May 23, 1885, in Napanee, Ontario, Canada Died July 27, 1943, in Beverly Hills, Calif.

Father, George Ira Ham, a banker in Mexico City. Mother, Margaret (Breden) Ham.

Glover's School, Kingston, Ontario, and Royal Military Academy. Select course; vice-president Freshman Navy; Cap and Gown Committee Senior year; member York Hall and Chi Phi.

An automobile race driver; appeared in many motion pictures produced by Christie Film Company, Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios, Inc, Famous Players Film Company, Universal Pictures Company, Marshall Neilan Productions, and Joyce-Frank Selznick; became representative in London for Inspiration Film Company and First National Pictures, Ltd,

in 1931; managing director London office Selznick-Myron, Ltd. (later Selznick-Joyce, Ltd.); associated with Lyons & Lyons and William Morris Agency.

Married Children Lucita and Myra.

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif Survived by wife, children, mother (Lady Sharp), and a sister, Mrs. E. Eliot Palmer.

## Neil Atkinson McGill, Ph.B. 1908.

Born February 15, 1884, in Taylor, Nev. Died September 24, 1943, in Socorro, N.Mex.

Father, William Neil McGill, partner Adams-McGill Company, cattle raisers in Nevada; manager Chainman Mine Company, Ely, Nev.; member Nevada Legislature 1891–93, son of John La Boyteaux and Hannah (Atkinson) McGill of Mount Healthy, Ohio. Mother, Mary (Fouts) McGill, daughter of Levi and Frances (Peters) Fouts of Marysville, Calif.

Bett's Academy, Stamford, Conn, and Franklin School, Cincinnati; attended University of Cincinnati 1902-03 (member Phi Delta Theta). Min-

ing engineering course; member Class cup committee.

In assay office Steptoe Valley smelting plant of the Nevada Consolidated Copper Company, Ely, 1908–09, with Gunn Thompson Exploration Company 1909–11 and 1912–13 (chief engineer Coppermines property, Ely, 1909–11, civil engineer Magma mines, Superior, Ariz., and superintendent Trixie property, Phoenix, 1912–13); underground engineer Giroux Company 1911–12; with Calumet & Arizona Copper Company, Ely, 1913–15; civil engineer Salt River Valley Water Users Association 1915–18 and Southwest Cotton Company 1918–20, in charge construction Hoover Farms, Wasco, Calif., 1920; independent mining engineer in Phoenix 1921–23 and Ely 1923–34; inspection engineer Division of Grazing, United States Department of the Interior, 1934–42; with United States Army Engineers in Phoenix examining and appraising mining properties 1942–43; member Nevada Legislature 1927–31, secretary Yale Alumni Association of Arizona 1922–23, member St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), Ely, and Trinity Cathedral, Reno, Nev.

Married December 26, 1905, in Newport, Ky, Ozello May, daughter of George Byron and Ozello May (Chick) Egelston. Children. Ozello Junior, the wife of Harold Paulson, William Neil Egelston (B S. United States Naval Academy 1935), Allan Cleveland (B.A. Univ. Nevada 1942), and Marjory Kathleen.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Ely Cemetery Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, and a brother, William Yates Mc-Gill (Purdue Univ ex-'02) of Ely

#### Stuart Clark Merwin, Ph.B. 1908.

Born March 2, 1886, in New Britain, Conn. Died August 23, 1943, in Meriden, Conn.

Father, Charles Philip Merwin, founder C P. Merwin Brick Company, Berlin, Conn; son of Marcus and Abigail (Smith) Merwin of Milford, Conn. Mother, Harriet Newell (Hitchcock) Merwin; daughter of Reuben Morse and Emiline (Barnes) Hitchcock of Naugatuck, Conn.

New Britain High School. Select course; member Yale Corinthian Yacht

Club and Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Assistant to sales manager Corbin Motor Vehicle Corporation, New Britain, 1908–12; in wholesale and retail drug business, New Haven, 1912–15; assistant to New York City branch manager, retail sales department, Studebaker Corporation of America, 1915–18; assistant chief government bond department Federal Reserve Bank of New York 1918–28; assistant secretary Dime Savings Bank, Wallingford, Conn, 1929–41 and assistant treasurer 1941–43; treasurer Wallingford Playgrounds Association 1935–40 and Meriden-Wallingford Yale Alumni Association 1941, member South Congregational Church, New Britain.

Married May 8, 1915, in New York City, Emily Sanborn, daughter of Warren Alphonse Spalding, '81 S, and Myra A (Sanborn) Spalding, and sister of Henry Spalding, '96, Clarence G. Spalding, '98 S, Edward B Spalding, '03 S., and Ruth Lillian Spalding Bigelow, ex-'09 Art Children: Emily Spalding (Webber Coll. 1934–36; Mrs. John Harold Buffum, Jr.); and Stuart Spalding.

Death due to peritonitis. Buried in In Memoriam Cemetery, Wallingford Survived by wife, children, one grandson, and two brothers, R Clifford Merwin, '97 S, and Charles Philip Merwin (certificate Pratt Inst 1901) of New Britain

#### Paul Milo Watrous, Ph B. 1908.

Born May 5, 1885, in Chester, Conn. Died May 13, 1944, in Clinton, Conn.

Father, Edgar Henry Watrous, postmaster of Chester; son of Henry and Sabra (Tyler) Watrous of Chester. Mother, Rosabelle (Nettleton) Watrous; daughter of John Crane and Mary (Griswold) Nettleton of Killingworth, Conn.

Morgan School, Clinton Electrical engineering course.

Employed as electrical engineer in Boonton, N.J, 1909–11; partner Grant and Watrous, electrical engineers, Bluefield, W.Va, 1911–17; electrical engineer Western Electric Company, New York City, 1917–20,

manager "Ye Old Clinton House" 1920–28; dealer in electrical appliances, refrigerators, ranges, etc., Clinton, 1928–42; electrical engineer Electric Boat Company, Groton, Conn., 1942–44; chairman Republican Town Committee, Clinton, 1934–40; on Board of Selectmen 1922–44, communications chairman Civilian Defense Council 1941–44; member Clinton Board of Education and Masonic order.

Married February 14, 1913, at Sheepshead Bay, N.Y., Elisabeth Elma, daughter of Christopher and Annie (Fox) Rodman. Children Edgar Christopher and Hazel Marion.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Indian River Cemetery, Clinton Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Edgar G. Watrous of Killingworth

### Edgar Clinton Wolcott, Ph.B. 1908.

Born October 18, 1886, in Rochester, N.Y. Died August 26, 1943, in Rochester, N.Y.

Father, Asel Bryant Wolcott, associated with Curtice Brothers Company, canners, Rochester, son of Chauncey and Lavinia (Bryant) Wolcott of Webster, N.Y. Mother, Belle (Curtice) Wolcott; daughter of Mark and Elmina (Goodnow) Curtice of Webster.

East High School, Rochester. Electrical engineering course; Freshman Basketball Team; Class basketball team Junior and Senior years (captain Senior year), member York Hall and Chi Phi.

Assistant superintendent Curtice Brothers Company 1908–27; in stock department Tucker, Anthony & Company, Rochester, 1928–30, president Wolcott & Stafford, Inc., brokers, Rochester, 1930–32; financial secretary and manager First Federal Savings & Loan Association, Rochester, 1932–38, president 1938–43; president Citizens Tax League of Rochester and Monroe County 1938–39; on executive committee New York State League of Savings and Loan Associations 1930–43 (vice-president 1940, president 1941); director Taxpayers Federation of New York State and Rochester Association of Workers for the Blind; executive councilman, representing New York State, for United States Savings and Loan League; on City Planning and Housing Council of Rochester, and Rochester War Council 1941–43, secretary Yale Alumni Association of Rochester 1917–21, vice-president 1923–24, president 1924–25; mess sergeant, Troop H, Squadron B, New York National Guard, 1918, member Third Presbyterian Church, Rochester (trustee and chairman finance committee).

Married February 19, 1912, in Rochester, Elizabeth, daughter of Harold Pond and Mary Elizabeth (Harris) Brewster. Children Elizabeth, the wife of Charles Edwin Angle (BA. Harvard 1933, MB.A 1935), Jane

(B.S. Univ. Rochester 1938), the wife of Theodore Behn Steinhausen (Univ. Michigan 1935–37; M.D. Univ. Rochester 1941), Ann (Univ. Rochester ex-'42), the wife of Tyler Perry Cobb (B.A. Princeton 1938), and Edgar Clinton, Jr (Univ. Rochester ex-'45).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester. Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and mother

#### Alan Carson Dixon, Ph.B. 1909.

Born July 18, 1886, in Chicago, Ill. Died May 4, 1944, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Arthur Dixon, founder Arthur Dixon Transfer Company, motor trucking, cartage, and shipping, Chicago; son of Arthur and Jane (Allen) Dixon of Fermanaugh County, Ireland. Mother, Annie (Carson) Dixon; daughter of Thomas and Mary Ann (Laing) Carson of Ireland

Harvard School for Boys, Chicago, and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical

engineering course; member St Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with Butler Brothers, wholesalers of general merchandise, Chicago, 1909–28 (clerk 1909–13, successively manager and buyer china, glassware, and electrical fixture departments, manager import department, assistant general manager, and general merchandise manager 1913–28); real-estate and investment broker 1928–31; vice-president and treasurer Arthur Dixon Transfer Company 1931–41, president and treasurer 1941–44; vice-president Terminal National Bank of Chicago and part owner and secretary Site of Fort Dearborn Building Corporation 1929–31, historian, vice-president, and regional director for '09 S, for a number of years; fellow American Geographical Society, member Yale Engineering Association, American Museum of Natural History, Field Museum of Natural History, Art Institute of Chicago, and Masonic order, treasurer and vestryman St James' Church (Episcopal), Chicago.

Married (1) October 12, 1912, in Rockford, Ill, Adalyn Emerson Thompson (Wellesley Coll ex-'12), daughter of Norman F Thompson, '81, and Adaline Eliza (Emerson) Thompson (B.A. Wellesley Coll 1880), granddaughter of Norman C. Thompson, ex-1849, great-granddaughter of Rev. Ralph Emerson (B.A. 1811), and sister of Norman F Thompson, Jr., '06, and Ralph E Thompson, '09 S No children Mrs Dixon died February 5, 1915. Married (2) June 14, 1917, in Chicago, Janet, daughter of John Stocker and Ann (Gross) Miller. No children Mr. and Mrs Dixon

were divorced in 1943.

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by three sisters, Kate D. Martin, the wife of Wilton B Martin (Beloit Coll. ex-'94) of Chicago, Elsie D Faithorn, the wife of Walter E.

Faithorn, '01 S, and Mrs. Paul A. Walker of Chicago, and two brothers, Arthur Alexander Dixon of Chicago and Homer L. Dixon, '01 S.

## Andrew King Haxstun, Ph.B. 1909.

Born March 8, 1887, in Fort Edward, N.Y. Died September 4, 1943, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Richard Baxter Haxstun, manufacturer of fertilizers, Fort Edward; son of Andrew King and Martha (Darrow) Haxstun of Fort Edward Mother, Helen Eliza (Carswell) Haxstun, daughter of William and Mary Isabella (Paine) Carswell of Fort Edward.

Fort Edward High School Civil engineering course.

Road surveyor in Fort Edward 1909–11; resident engineer Atlantic Coastline Railway, Raleigh, N.C., 1911–15, Jefferson Construction Company, Charleston, S.C., 1915–17, New York State Highway Department 1919, and North Carolina State Highway Department, Williamston, 1919–25; employed by United States Government 1925–43 as consulting engineer for Pan-American highway, working in Mexico, Guatemala, Costa Rica, Puerto Rico, Venezuela, and Paraguay; with Bureau of Inter-American Affairs at Honduras 1942–43; enlisted as sergeant, Engineers Reserve Corps, June 16, 1917, assigned to Company C, 17th Engineers (railway); transferred to Company F July 22, 1917; with Headquarters Company, 17th Engineers, April 1, 1918, until discharge April 10, 1919; promoted Master Engineer (1 g) April 1, 1918, and Master Engineer (s g.) October 19, 1918; overseas July 28, 1917—March 25, 1919

Married July 27, 1935, in Cincinnati, Ohio, Suzanne King Martin Miller, daughter of Thomas Henry and Rose Virginia (Hickson) Martin Stepdaughter Suzanne Winston Miller, the wife of Robert Brient.

Death followed an operation for a kidney condition. Buried in Union Cemetery, Fort Edward. Survived by wife, stepdaughter, two step-grand-children, three sisters, Mrs. William Henry Connors of South Glens Falls, N.Y, Mrs Joseph Rex La Marche of Fort Edward, and Lina Wait Haxstun (grad State Normal School, Oneonta, N.Y., 1908) of Troy, NY, and a brother, Richard Carswell Haxstun of Fort Edward.

#### Rudolph Stanley-Brown, Ph.B. 1909.

Born April 9, 1889, in Mentor, Ohio. Died February 8, 1944, in Augusta, Ga.

Father, Joseph Stanley-Brown, '88 S. Mother, Mary (Garfield) Stanley-Brown Yale relatives include. Newell Garfield, '18, and Rudolph H Garfield, ex-'21 S. (cousins)

St. Paul's School, Garden City, NY. Civil engineering course, member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa.

Attended Columbia University School of Architecture 1909-12 and École Nationale Supérieure des Beaux Arts, Paris, 1913-15, entered First Officers Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August, 1917, and Captain October, 1918, overseas September, 1917—July, 1919; Saumur Artillery School, aide-decamp to Major General Ernest Hinds, Chief of Artillery, American Expeditionary Forces, in engagements at Château-Thierry and St -Mihiel and in the Argonne; discharged July 19, 1919; partner Abram Garfield, architect, Cleveland, 1919–34; consulting architect United States Treasury, Washington, 1934-40; senior consulting architect Division of Recreation, Federal Security Agency, Washington, 1940-44; co-author Public Buildings Architecture under the Public Works Administration 1933 to 1939 (1939), translated two French artillery journals used by United States Army 1918-19; illustrator: The Song Book of the American Spirit (1927), The Young Architects (1929), and The Story of Printed Pictures (1931), all by Katharine Stanley-Brown, and The Young Decorators (1933) by Nancy McClelland; his etchings and water colors were exhibited in museums and galleries; chairman Arts and Decoration Committee, and on Commission on Church Architecture, National Cathedral, Diocese of Washington, member Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, attended Cathedral of St. Peter and St Paul (Episcopal), Washington

Married June 6, 1922, in East Orange, N.J., Katharine Schermerhorn Oliver (B A. Vassar Coll. 1915), daughter of Charles Augustus Oliver (M.D Univ. Pennsylvania 1876) and Mary Schermerhorn (Henry) Oliver. Children Edward Garfield (Univ Virginia 1941–44, Univ Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1944) and Katharine Oliver

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Prospect Hill Cemetery, Nantucket, Mass Survived by wife, children, mother, and two sisters, Ruth Stanley-Brown Feis (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1915), the wife of Herbert Feis (B A Harvard 1916, Ph D 1921) of Washington, and Margaret Stanley-Brown (B A. Vassar Coll 1919, M D Columbia Univ. 1923) of New York City

## Richard Nash Hall, Ph.B. 1910.

Born September 13, 1886, in Logansport, Ind. Died June 18, 1944, in Topeka, Kans.

Father, Willard Nash Hall, founder and president Hall Lithographing & Stationery Company, Topeka; son of Samuel Alonson and Mirando Phoebe (Nash) Hall of Logansport. Mother, Luella (Robbins) Hall,

daughter of Alvin L. and Laura (Laughead) Robbins of Rochester, Ind. Yale relatives include a cousin, Louis S. Hall, '12 S.

Phillips-Andover. Select course; member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma

Kappa.

Vice-president Hall Lithographing Company 1910–20 and 1933–38, president 1920–33 and 1938–44; vice-president Hall Stationery Company 1919-39 and president 1939-44; organizer Topeka Building and Loan Association 1923 and president 1923-30; entered Officers Training Camp, Fort Sheridan, August 27, 1917; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, November 27, 1917, and assigned to 309th Field Artillery, 153d Brigade, 78th Division, Camp Dix; transferred to 350th Field Artillery, 167th Brigade, 92d Division, February 27, 1918, assigned to 9th Battalion, Field Artillery Replacement Depot, Camp Jackson, May 24, 1918; on detached service in command of 41st Company, 156th Depot Brigade, May 28, 1918, until reassigned to 9th Regiment, 26th Battalion late in June, 1918, attended School of Fire for Field Artillery, Fort Sill, July 28-October 12, 1918, assigned to 36th Field Artillery, Camp McClellan, October 23, 1918, assistant adjutant, 12th Field Artillery Brigade Headquarters, Camp McClellan, October 27, 1918, until discharged February 8, 1919, vice-president Topeka Yale Club 1941-42 and president 1942-44; chairman Yale Alumni War Service committee in Kansas in World War II; member Masonic order and Grace Cathedral (Episcopal), Topeka.

Married March 22, 1924, in St Louis, Mo, Marguerite Elizabeth, daughter of James Reid and Maude (Southard) Koontz. Sons: Willard Nash, 2d (Class of 1945W Feb), Richard Nash, Jr., and Robert Tucker Southard

Death due to phlebitis migrans. Ashes scattered in Centennial Valley, Wyoming Survived by wife, sons, mother, and a sister, Mrs. Laura Hall Hamilton of Topeka.

### Preston Southworth Hoyt, Ph.B. 1910.

Born July 8, 1888, in Danbury, Conn. Died June 13, 1944, in Brewster, NY.

Father, Eli Thacher Hoyt, treasurer Tweedy Silk Mills, Inc., Danbury; son of Henry T. Hoyt (B A. 1853) and Frances (Huntington) Hoyt of Danbury Mother, Helen (Southworth) Hoyt; daughter of John Preston and Caroline (Wallace) Southworth of Mobile, Ala. Yale relatives include a great-uncle, Oliver H Perry (B A. 1834).

Danbury High School. Electrical engineering course; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

In testing department General Electric Company, Schenectady, 1910-11;

assistant to manager, agency department, General Vehicle Company, Long Island City, N.Y, 1911–14; with Pease & Elliman, Inc, real estate, New York City, 1914–17, member Jones & Hoyt, real estate, Tavares, Fla; clerk United States Bureau of the Census, Washington, 1930; became manager of an Atlantic & Pacific Tea Company store, Washington, in 1931; engaged in real-estate business Hightstown, N.J.; entered Officers Training Camp, Plattsburg, May 15, 1917; commissioned Second Lieutenant and First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 31, 1917; adjutant 4th Field Artillery, Camp Shelby and Camp Jackson; aide-de-camp to General W. H Burt, 10th Field Artillery Brigade; on overseas duty six months after armistice; discharged February 12, 1920, member First Congregational Church, Danbury.

Married June 29, 1925, in Orlando, Fla, Esther Schaack No children Mr. and Mrs Hoyt were divorced.

Death due to shock. Buried in Wooster Cemetery, Danbury Survived by mother, a sister, Margaret H Hodge (Wheaton Coll ex-'15), the wife of Austin Eber Hodge of Danbury, and a brother, Francis H Hoyt, '28 S.

## James Stanley Joyce, Ph.B. 1910.

Born December 13, 1886, in Clinton, Iowa. Died January 4, 1944, in Hot Springs, Ark.

Father, William T. Joyce, founder Joyce Lumber Company, Omaha, Nebr. Mother, Clotilde (Gage) Joyce.

Phillips-Andover. Select course, Senior German Committee, member St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

President Tremont & Gulf Railway, Winnfield, La; owner and president Joyce Lumber Company until his death.

Married (1) January 22, 1920, in Miami, Fla., Margaret Upton Archer Hopkins. Mr. and Mrs. Joyce were divorced in 1921. Married (2) November 20, 1926, in Chicago, Ill, Nellie M. Vail Mr and Mrs Joyce were divorced.

Death due to a heart attack. Survived by no immediate relatives

## George Webb Shillingford, Ph.B. 1910.

Born September 13, 1888, in Peale, Pa. Died May 2, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Robert Adair Shillingford (B.S. Univ. Pennsylvania 1879), vice-president Clearfield (Pa) Bituminous Coal Company, son of Henry

H. and Martha Read (Thompson) Shillingford of Philadelphia. Mother, Elizabeth (Webb) Shillingford, daughter of George and Emma (Alder) Webb of Pennsylvania.

Lawrenceville (N J.) School Civil engineering course; Class Day Com-

mittee Senior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club.

Associated with Empire Coal Mining Company, Philadelphia and New York City, 1910–41 (company representative in New England and New York State 1911–14, secretary and treasurer 1914–15, treasurer and general manager 1915-25, president and general manager 1925-41); president Pioneer Coal Company 1919-34 and Empire Coal Sales Corporation, Philadelphia and New York City, 1925-41; organizer and general manager Shillingford & Company, coal dealers, Clearfield, 1916-19; chairman board of directors and treasurer Merit Equipment Corporation, Cleveland, 1928-29, with War Production Board, New York City, 1941-44 (head of pooling section, contract distribution branch, December, 1941-43; assistant to deputy director in charge of smaller war plants division New York, Region II, 1943–44); president and in charge postwar management Edo Aircraft Corporation, College Point, NY.; enlisted as private Aviation Section, Signal Corps, November 15, 1917; sent to Ground Officers Training School, Kelly Field, transferred to School of Supply Officers, Department of Military Aeronautics, Georgia School of Technology, January 15, 1918—March, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Aviation Section, March 4, 1918, supply officer 76th Aero Service Squadron, and officer in charge of transportation Carlstrom Field April-July, assistant chief engineer Dorr Field June-July, and chief engineer July until discharge December 19, 1918, president Central Coal Association of Pennsylvania 1921; director Clearfield Hospital; member Code Authority, Bituminous Coal Industry of Central Pennsylvania, and St. Andrew's Church (Episcopal), Clearfield

Married June 28, 1913, in South Norwalk, Conn, Julie Ferry, daughter of Philip Nichols and Mary Lydia (Pattison) Knapp No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Hillcrest Cemetery, Clear-field Survived by wife and a sister, Martha S. Babcock, the wife of Oliver Morgan Babcock (BS in M.E. Purdue Univ. 1908) of Evanston, Ill.

### Robert Cecil Moran, Ph.B. 1911.

Born January 17, 1891, in Hartford, Conn. Died January 10, 1944, in Wenonah, N J.

Father, James Francis Moran, in building business in Hartford; son of Dennis J. and Mary A (Donahue) Moran of Hartford Mother, Mary Ann (Flanagan) Moran, daughter of Michael A. and Mary A (Harring-

ton) Flanagan of Wethersfield, Conn. Yale relatives include a nephew, Henry A. Moran, Jr., '40.

Hartford Public High School. Chemistry course, honors for excellence in all studies Freshman year; Samuel Lewis Penfield Prize Junior year; two-year honors in chemistry Junior year and three-year honors Senior year. Attended Yale Graduate School 1911–13 (laboratory assistant in chemistry 1912–13).

Studied at University of Paris and at Pasteur Institute 1913–14, graduate student University of Pennsylvania 1914–16 (Ph.D. 1916; member Sigma X1); with Takamine Laboratory, Inc., Clifton, N J, 1916–17, research chemist in charge of explosives research E I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, Inc., Philadelphia, 1917–24; research chemist and later supervisor Research and Development Division, Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc., Paulsboro, N.J, 1924–44.

Married July 16, 1921, in Clifton, Dorothy Jean, daughter of George Henry and Helen Jean (Currie) Michels Children. Mary-Jean (B A Connecticut Coll. for Women 1944), the wife of Lieut. Wilfred Ulrich Johnson (grad. U.S. Coast Guard Academy 1944), and Robert Forbes (died May 10, 1936).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Wenonah Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Lucy Moran Carroll, the wife of Edward C Carroll, ex-'23 L., and four brothers, Frank J. Moran, '02 S, Edward E. Moran, '04 S., Harry A. Moran, '08 L., and Louis J. Moran (B S Trinity Coll. 1916) of Springfield, Mass.

## John Harry Doerr, Ph.B. 1912.

Born May 11, 1889, in Galveston, Texas Died September 26, 1943, in Waukegan, Ill

Father, John Doerr, a merchant tailor in New Haven, Conn Rochester (N.H.) and New Haven High schools. Civil engineering course

Transit man, maintenance of way department, Connecticut Company, 1912–16; with Westcott & Mapes, construction and consulting engineers, New Haven, 1916–18 (successively assistant engineer on construction Lake Torpedo Company, Bridgeport; field engineer and construction superintendent Chester [Pa.] Shipbuilding Company, and superintendent on construction Submarine Base, New London, Conn), in charge engineering and sales layouts Clarence J. Elmgren, heating engineer and contractor, Hartford, Conn., 1918; associated with J. V. Dermott, heating engineer, Durham, NC, 1919–20; roadmaster Waterbury division, Connecticut Company, 1920–23 and New Britain, Meriden, and Middletown divisions about 1924–31; engineering representative covering California, Washing-

ton, and Oregon, Railway Track-Work Company, Philadelphia, 1923–24; consulting engineer, Albany, NY., 1931–33; engineer and estimator Wolff & Munier, Inc., New York City, 1936; sales engineer United States Radiator Corporation and later manager Pacific Steel Boiler Division, Scotia and Schenectady, NY, 1937–43; member Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, American Electric Railway Association, Masonic order, and Episcopal church.

Married April 18, 1915, in New Haven, Florence, daughter of Otto and

Helena Loos. Children. Lydia Florence and Martha Pauline.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Hartford. Survived by wife and daughters.

## John Herman Eden, Ph.B. 1912.

Born April 7, 1889, in New York City Died September 4, 1943, in Inverness, Fla.

Father, John H. Eden, '73 M. Mother, Mary Daggett (Chidsey) Eden. Yale relatives include Naphtali Daggett (B.A. 1748) (great-great-great-uncle), Philip Daggett (B A. 1762) (great-great-grandfather); Robert G. Chidsey, '77 (uncle); and Morgan H. Grace, Jr, '29, John E. Grace, ex-'30, and Oliver R Grace, '30 (nephews).

Pomfret (Conn ) School Chemistry course, Triennial Committee;

member University Club.

Special agent, New York metropolitan district, United States Department of Commerce, 1912-13, associated with Howland Publishing Company, New York City; insurance broker in New York City 1920-38; engaged in land development and farming orange and tung groves, Inverness, 1938-43; private (1st class) Squadron A, New York National Guard, October 16, 1913, saw service on Mexican border July-December, 1916; received medical discharge July 23, 1917, enlisted as private, Signal Enlisted Reserve Corps, October 4, 1917; Ground Officers Training School, Kelly Field, December 1, 1917; transferred to United States School for Adjutants, Columbus, Ohio, January, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Signal Reserve Corps, Aviation Section, February 21, 1918; sent to Carruthers Field as Military Police Officer, February 25, 1918; in office of Director of Military Aeronautics, Finance Branch of Supply Section, Washington, November 1, 1918; discharged December 23, 1918; treasurer Class of 1912 S from 1912 to 1940 and acting secretary of the Class 1930; member several Class reunion committees (chairman 1937 reunion) and permanent reunion committee of Alumni Board, trustee Village of Kings Point, NY., 1924–38; member The Association of Ex-Members of Squadron A, American Legion, New York Association for Prevention of Cruelty to Animals, New York Zoological Society, National Association of Audubon Societies, and American Museum of Natural History, vestryman All Saints' Church (Episcopal), Great Neck, NY.

Married June 3, 1915, in Naugatuck, Conn, Muriel Seymour, daughter of Howard B. Tuttle, '87 S., and Jeannette (Seymour) Tuttle and sister of Donald S. Tuttle, '12 S Children: Jeannette Daggett, the wife of Edward C. R. Whitcraft, '36, John Herman, Jr (Bard Coll ex-'43), and Bronson Beecher Tuttle.

Death due to accidental drowning. Buried in All Saints' Churchyard, Great Neck Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs Ralph T. Rokeby of Ascot, England, and Mrs Morgan H Grace of Kings Point.

## Dominic Ruotolo, Ph.B. 1912.

Born April 19, 1893, in New Haven, Conn Died December 19, 1943, in Newark, N J

Father, Pasquale Ruotolo, associated with Rostand Manufacturing Company, brass goods, New Haven. Mother, Anna (Lanzieri) Ruotolo Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Charles H Stokesbury, '11 S

New Haven High School. Mechanical engineering course, honors for excellence in all studies of Freshman year; two-year honors in mechanical engineering Junior year and three-year honors Senior year

In cost and efficiency department Seymour (Conn) Manufacturing Company 1912-13 and Yale & Towne Manufacturing Company, Stamford, Conn., 1913-14, assistant to manager Birmingham (England) Small Arms, Ltd, 1914; cataloguer scientific and technical material New York Public Library 1915-17, civilian inspector of artillery ammunition, United States Army, September, 1917—January, 1920 (stationed at Dayton Metal Products and Davis Sewing Machine companies, Dayton, Ohio, chief inspector Ansonia [Conn ] Manufacturing Company; acting engineer of tests American Brass Company, Inc, Ansonia); factory superintendent and assistant works manager P R. Mallory Company, manufacturers of tungsten and molybdenum wire and products, Port Chester, N.Y, 1921-25; cost accountant Miller Company, Meriden, Conn., 1925–29; associated with Sirian Wire & Contact Company, Newark, 1929-43 (assistant superintendent 1929-30, assistant secretary 1930-38, assistant treasurer and sales manager 1938-42, vice-president and sales manager 1942-43); secretary Sırıan Lamp Company and National Television Company of Delaware 1930-43; made several trips to Europe and opened tungsten wire markets for his company in Holland, England, France, Italy, and Austria, associated with War Production Board as member the Small Diamond Die Industry Advisory Committee, and the Molybdenum and Tungsten Wire and Rod Advisory Committee; member New York, New York State, and

American Library associations, Yale Engineering Association, and Church

of Our Lady of Good Counsel (Roman Catholic), Newark.

Married May 22, 1923, in Naugatuck, Conn., Alice Katharine, daughter of John Martin Sweeney, '79 L., and Maria Celia (Jones) Sweeney, and sister of Edward F. Sweeney, '07, John M Sweeney, '10, and William J. Sweeney, '13 S. Children Donn (Class of 1945 E.) and Andrew Keogh (Class of 1945WS).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in St. James Cemetery, Naugatuck Survived by wife, sons, mother, four sisters, and six brothers.

#### Walter Lombard McGill, Ph.B. 1913.

Born January 13, 1890, in Chelsea, Mass. Died July 16, 1943, in Newton Center, Mass.

Father, John Henry McGill, a commission merchant in West Medford, Mass.; son of John and Emily C. (Williams) McGill of Boston. Mother, Fannie Washburn (Taylor) McGill; daughter of Thomas and Harriet Lydia (Washburn) Taylor of Providence.

Medford High School and Phillips-Andover. Select course; Freshman

Football Association; member Franklin Hall and Theta Xi.

With Lombard & Company, Inc., manufacturers of abrasives and grinding wheels, Boston, and Montreal, Canada, 1913–43 (manager Montreal branch 1917–21; secretary and manager Boston branch 1921–25, secretary and vice-president 1925–42, treasurer and president 1942–43); member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Newton Center.

Married July 11, 1918, in Wellesley Hills, Mass., Priscilla Alden, daughter of Francis Henry and Willia (Leach) Williams Children: Joan, the wife of John Carroll French, Walter Lombard, Jr. (Class of 1946 Nov),

and Suzanne

Death due to coronary heart disease. Ashes interred in Newton Cemetery Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Harriette McGill of West Medford.

### Vernon Theodore Strong, Ph.B. 1913.

Born January 10, 1890, in Oakland, Calif. Died February 2, 1944, in San Francisco, Calif.

Father, Theodore Pomeroy Strong, owner Theodore P. Strong Company, general insurance, San Francisco, son of Jacob Hurd and Frances Pomeroy (Walker) Strong of Connecticut. Mother, Amy Bond (Baker) Strong; daughter of Jehiel Hull and Lucy Ann (Flint) Baker of California.

Phillips-Exeter Select course.

With New England Casualty Company, San Francisco, 1913–16, claims adjuster and underwriter Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, San Francisco, 1916–19 and resident special agent 1919–21; manager northern California offices Maryland Casualty Company 1921–26, owner Theodore P. Strong Company and general agent American Indemnity Company, San Francisco, 1926–44; member Masonic order and Congregational church, Oakland

Married October 19, 1912, in New York City, Edith Blanche, daughter of Victor and Elizabeth (Michael) Grosse Son. Dwight Vernon (B A Stanford Univ. 1937). Mr. and Mrs Strong were divorced in 1943.

Death due to congestive heart failure Buried in Cypress Lawn Memorial Park, San Mateo County, Calif. Survived by son and mother.

### Arthur Anderson Ticknor, Ph.B. 1914.

Born October 6, 1892, in West Claremont, NH Died September 26, 1943, in Plainfield, N.J.

Father, Rev. Joseph Almon Ticknor, '78. Mother, Nelly Haigh (Anderson) Ticknor Yale relatives include: Jacob Catlin (BA 1784) (great-grandfather); Almon P. Ticknor (MD. 1853) (grandfather), and Herbert L. Mitchell, '85 S. (uncle)

Athol (Mass.) High School Chemistry course, general honors for excellence in all studies Freshman year; two-year honors for excellence in all studies Junior year and three-year honors Senior year; member Sigma Xi. Attended Yale Graduate School 1914–17 (Ph D 1917; laboratory assistant in chemistry 1914–16; member Alpha Chi Sigma and Gamma Alpha)

Research chemist Calco Chemical Company, Inc (subsidiary American Cyanamid Company), Bound Brook, N.J., 1917–20 and divisional chemist in charge basic dyes and lake pigments 1924–43, assistant to chief chemist Tubize Artificial Silk Company 1920–24 (in Tubize, Belgium, 1920 and Hopewell, Va, 1920–24); author. "The Polyketide Iso Thiocyanate" and "Ethyl Iso Thiocyan-Propionate", contributed to *Journal* of the American Chemical Society; fellow American Institute of Chemists; member Plainfield Civilian Defense Council, American Chemical Society, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Plainfield.

Married July 30, 1918, in Hartford, Conn., Katharine Cowles, daughter of Thomas and Katharine Cowles (Whittlesey) Abbé. Daughter Catharine Abbé.

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, West Haven, Conn. Survived by wife, daughter, mother, and a brother, John Williams Ticknor of New York City.

### Albert Daniel Moore, Ph.B. 1915.

Born July 17, 1893, in Kansas City, Mo. Died September 27, 1943, in Kansas City, Mo.

Father, Milton Moore, LL.D., a lawyer in Kansas City; president Kansas City Board of Education, Brigadier General Spanish-American War, son of Rev Albert Adam Moore and Elizabeth (Stapp) Moore of Harrisonville and Wellington, Mo. Mother, Mary (Burnes) Moore; daughter of Daniel Dearborn and Virginia (Winn) Burnes of Weston and St. Joseph, Mo Yale relatives include a nephew, MacVicker Snow, '42 E

Westport High School, Kansas City, and Phillips-Andover Chemistry

course

In electrical testing engineer's office Kansas City Railways Company 1916, engaged in real-estate and insurance business, Kansas City, 1916–43 (partner Moore Bros 1916–42); enlisted December 6, 1917, in Ordnance Department, transferred to Coast Artillery Corps June 7, 1918; Officers Training Camp, Fort Monroe, September 23, 1918; Second Lieutenant Coast Artillery Corps Reserve November 22, 1918—November 21, 1923; first vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Kansas City 1922–23 and on executive committee 1924–26, member Westport Presbyterian Church, Kansas City

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Kansas City Survived by two sisters, Virginia M Snow (B.A. Smith Coll. 1902), the wife of Clifford McVicker Snow (LL.B Kansas City School of Law 1901) of Cincinnati, and Miss Mary Louise Moore of Kansas City.

# [George] Sterling Patterson, Ph.B. 1915.

Born June 28, 1893, in Nashville, Tenn. Died October 26, 1943, in Indianapolis, Ind

Father, Rev. George William Patterson, D.D. (M.A. Southwestern Presbyterian Univ [Clarksville, Tenn.] 1875), minister First Presbyterian Church, Montgomery, Ala.; son of Reuben Fuget and Pamela Angeline (Gregg) Patterson of Baton Rouge, La Mother, Mary Rebekah Vaughn Patterson Winchester; daughter of General Michael Vaughn and Emma Agustan (Baxter) Vaughn of Nashville

Gilman Country School, Baltimore Select course; art editor Yale Record Senior year, Class Book Committee, member Elizabethan Club, York Hall and Chi Phi, and Aurelian Honor Society.

Reporter New York Herald Tribune 1915-17; enlisted as private (1st

class) Aviation Section, Signal Reserve Corps, May 30, 1917; attended School of Military Aeronautics, Ohio State University; overseas August, 1917—December, 1918; attended Ground School, Oxford, and received flying training with Royal Air Force; injured in an airplane crash and attached to Air Service Headquarters, London; commissioned First Lieutenant, Air Service, May 27, 1918; assigned to 142d Squadron, Winchester, England, sent to Ireland in charge U.S. Air Service troops July, 1918, returned to England in command of Air Service Squadron October, 1918, discharged January, 1919; with Western Electric Company, New York City, 1919-33 (in public relations department and editor Western Electric News 1919-30, editorial director 1930-33); special writer American Telephone and Telegraph Company 1933-37; engaged in writing, consultation, and lecturing on gardens; garden designer in Baltimore 1937-43; author Be Your Own Gardener (1940), author and illustrator Week End Gardening (1935); wrote and illustrated a garden page in Better Homes and Gardens for several years, contributed to House and Garden, House Beautiful, Arts and Decoration, Field & Stream, Judge, New Yorker, Outlook, and Country Life, illustrated The Old Soak by Don Marquis, public school trustee Bayville, NY., 1936, appointed Captain, Army Air Forces, August 21, 1942, attended Officers Training School, Miami Beach; public relations officer First Troop Carrier Command, Stout Field, October, 1942—October, 1943; promoted Major February 26, 1943; member First Presbyterian Church, Montgomery.

Married August 4, 1917, in Baltimore, Harriet Dushane, daughter of George Dobbin and Harriet Wilson (Dushane) Penniman. Children Harriet Penniman (School of Fine and Practical Arts, Maryland Institute for the Promotion of the Mechanic Arts 1938–41), the wife of Thomas Gittings Buchanan, Jr, ex-'40, George Sterling, Jr (Johns Hopkins Univ 1941–43), George Dobbin Penniman, and Dushane

Death due to-acute myocarditis Buried in Greenmount Cemetery, Baltimore. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Ella Vaughn Patterson Sioussat, the wife of William Leonard Sioussat (BA Johns Hopkins Univ. 1906) of New York City

## Robert Persky, Ph.B. 1915.

Born September 21, 1894, in New Haven, Conn Died February 22, 1944, in Asheville, N.C.

Father, Simon Persky, president-treasurer Simon Persky & Sons, Inc, real estate and insurance, New Haven; son of Abram and Rhoda Freda (Rabinowitz) Persky of Valosin, Russia Mother, Fanny Yenta (Frankel)

Persky, daughter of Eli and Gertrude (Monoson) Frankel of Sloosk, Russia Yale relatives include: Bernard B Frankel, ex-'07 S., and Joseph Frankel, '16 S (cousins)

New Haven High School. Biology course.

Secretary Simon Persky & Sons, Inc., and president Congress Clothes, Inc, 1915 until retirement 1925 because of ill-health; resided in Asheville 1925–44, treasurer Industrial Discount Corporation, Asheville, 1930–35 and Asheville Community Center 1940–44; secretary Laurenteen Canteen 1943–44 and on advisory board; director St Joseph's Catholic Hospital 1935–44; member executive committee Asheville Boy Scouts 1928–33; on Decennial, Vicennial, and Quindecennial Reunion committees and Alumni Committee of the Class in 1923; member Temple Beth-Ta-Ha-Phila, Asheville.

Married March 11, 1917, in New York City, Frances Moisse, daughter of Joseph and Bessie (Rosenberg) Fox Children: Myra Naomi (B.S. Columbia Univ 1943), the wife of Sydney Donald Berzoff (B.S.E. Univ. Arkansas 1939), and Arthur William (Univ. North Carolina 1941–43).

Death due to pulmonary hemorrhage. Buried in B'nai Jacob Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, children, father, two sisters, Clara P Levin, the wife of Hyman A Levin, '15, and Gertrude P. Levin, the wife of Murray A Levin, ex-'26 Art, and two brothers, Samuel A. Persky, ex-'08 L., and Harry Persky (BS Univ. Connecticut 1916) of Chicago, Ill. Another brother, Alaric E. Persky, '23 S., died in 1930.

### Franklin Canning Wilson, Ph.B. 1915.

Born April 30, 1891, in New Haven, Conn. Died May 5, 1944, in New Haven, Conn

Father, James Franklin Wilson, night watchman Centerfreeze Ice Company, New Haven Mother, Minnie Jane (Canning) Wilson.

New Haven High School and Hallock School, Great Barrington, Mass Chemistry course

Analytical chemist New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1915; with Atlas Powder Company, Tamaqua, Pa., 1915–19 (successively analytical chemist and acid superintendent, night supervisor on sulphuric acid manufacture, and in charge ammonium nitrate manufacture); superintendent of lithophone manufacture Butterworth Judson Corporation, Newark, N J., 1919–20; production manager East Orange plant Eagle-Picher Lead Company, Cincinnati, 1920–24; with Peerless Explosives Company, White Haven, Pa, 1924–29; superintendent Fraser Electric Transmission Corporation, Cleveland, 1929–32; salesman H. M.

Bullard Company, furniture, New Haven, 1932-44, member Pilgrim Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married October 23, 1916, in New Haven, Ethel Mildred, daughter of Lewis Leman and Eva May (Gilbert) Fowler. Children Leman Franklin (died in infancy), Mildred Fowler, the wife of Russell Edward Stevens, Ruth Strong, and Helen Frances.

Death due to acute cardiac dilatation. Buried in East Lawn Cemetery, East Haven, Conn Survived by wife, daughters, and one grandson

## James Joseph Fleming, Ph.B. 1918.

Born November 26, 1896, in Bridgeport, Conn Died April 16, 1944, in New York City

Father, James Curry. Mother, Hannah (Fleming) Curry, daughter of Thomas Fleming of Ansonia, Conn.

Ansonia High School. Biology course; honors of second grade for excellence in all studies Freshman year Enlisted Medical Reserve Corps, transferred to S.A.T C at Yale July 24, 1918; attended Yale School of Medicine 1918–22 (M.D. 1922; member Alpha Kappa Kappa).

Physician United States Public Health Service Hospital No 43, Ellis Island, N.Y., 1922–23; surgeon in New York City 1923–44; on staff New York Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital, Columbia University, 1923–44 (surgical interne 1923–25, assistant attending surgeon 1925–44, instructor regional anesthesia, and assistant professor of clinical surgery 1935–37); assistant attending surgeon Post-Graduate Dispensary and New York City Department of Correction; attending surgeon Fifth Avenue Hospital of the City of New York; senior attending surgeon and chief of clinic West Side Hospital and Dispensary, Lieutenant Commander, United States Naval Reserve, 1915 until retirement 1943; fellow American College of Surgeons; member New York County Medical Association and Roman Catholic church

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Mount St. Peter's Cemetery, Derby, Conn. Survived by no immediate relatives.

## Robert Royal Steiger, Ph.B. 1919.

Born June 4, 1896, in Holyoke, Mass Died April 30, 1944, in Springfield, Mass

Father, Albert Steiger, founder Albert Steiger Company, department stores, Hartford, Conn., Holyoke, and Springfield, son of Jacob and Mary

(Feierabend) Steiger of Huntington, Mass. Mother, Izetta (Allen) Steiger; daughter of Chauncey Dwight and Francelia (Norton) Allen of Westfield, Mass Yale relatives include a nephew, Reynolds Emery Steiger (School of Music, Class of 1948).

Central High School, Springfield, and Phillips-Exeter. Select course;

awarded Ph B. 1920 with enrollment in Class of 1919.

Enlisted in United States Army June, 1918; overseas July, 1918—March, 1919; with Company D, 2d Artillery Park, June–November, 1918; saw action at Aisne-Marne, St.-Mihiel, Oise-Aisne, and Meuse-Argonne; transferred to Air Service November 21, 1918, and assigned to 636th Squadron, 2d Aviation Instruction Center, Tours; discharged April, 1919; associated with accounting firm of James W Eadie, Boston; office manager Albert Steiger, Inc., Hartford, and assistant treasurer 1927–34; manager Hall Galleries, Albert Steiger Company, Springfield, 1933–44; president Steiger Realty Company, Springfield, 1939–44; member Springfield Art League (treasurer 1941–42, president 1943–44), Springfield Orchestra Association, Farmington Valley Polo Association, Masonic order, and South Congregational Church, Springfield (on finance committee)

Unmarried.

Death due to a gunshot wound Buried in Pine Hill Cemetery, Westfield. Survived by three brothers, Chauncey Allen Steiger (B.S. Dartmouth Coll 1917) and Ralph Allen Steiger, both of Springfield, and Philip Chauncey Steiger of West Hartford.

### Charles Philip Baither, B.S. 1923.

Born August 25, 1900, in Toledo, Ohio. Died March 4, 1944, in Toledo, Ohio.

Father, Charles Gustav Baither, in insurance business, Toledo, son of Gustav and Mary (Burkholder) Baither of Toledo Mother, Katherine (Schmidt) Baither, daughter of Philip and Barbara Elisabeth (Ries) Schmidt of Toledo

Scott High School, Toledo; attended University of Michigan 1918–19 (private SATC June until discharge December, 1918). Entered Yale with the Class, administrative engineering course, Freshman Baseball and Basketball teams, University Basketball Team three years; member St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

Employed in Toledo 1923–44, with Star Water Company 1923–24; engineer Ohio Bell Telephone Company 1924–30; associated with Ohio Citizens Trust Company 1932–44 (credit manager 1932–35, assistant treasurer 1935–38, assistant secretary 1936–38, vice-president 1938–44, secretary

1942-44), member Association of Reserve City Bankers, American Institute of Bankers, and Collingwood Presbyterian Church, Toledo

Married October 16, 1929, in Toledo, Cordelia Emma, daughter of Albert Van Vleet and Leila Estelle (Rorick) Foster Children. Charles Philip, Jr., Cordelia Foster, and Thomas Albert.

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Toledo. Survived by wife, children, and mother.

## Adam Keith Luke, Jr., B.S. 1930.

Born December 23, 1905, in New York City. Died June 2, 1944, in New York City.

Father, Adam Keith Luke (Ph.B. Univ. Pennsylvania 1888), vice-president and treasurer West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company, New York City; son of William and Rose (Lindsay) Luke of Wilmington, Del. Mother, Irene Hess (Mills) Luke; daughter of James Holton and Grace Mathilda (Norris) Mills of Hamilton, Ontario. Yale relatives include: David L. Luke, Jr., '22 S., Victor S. Luke, ex-'22 S, William Luke, 2d, '24 S., James L. Luke, '26 S., and Alexander M. Luke, ex-'28 S. (cousins).

Irving and Hackley schools, Tarrytown, N.Y., The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn, and Phillips-Exeter Entered with Class of 1929 S; Freshman Football Squad; withdrew end of Freshman year, attended New York University 1926–27; joined Class of 1930 S Sophomore year, general science course; University Football Squad Sophomore and Junior years, member University Club and The Cloister and Book and Snake.

Clerk West Virginia Pulp and Paper Company, Tyrone, Pa, 1930-34 and New York City 1938-44; broker Craigmyle Marache & Company, investment securities, New York City, 1934-36; with Kane Carburetor Company, Shelton, Conn., 1936-37; timekeeper Yale & Towne Manufacturing Company, Stamford, Conn., for a short time, member St James' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married (1) in April, 1936, in Miami, Fla, Marian, daughter of Ralph Worthington No children. Mr and Mrs. Luke were divorced in 1939 Married (2) January 20, 1940, in Mount Vernon, N.Y, Vivienne Claire de Marmon Joyce, daughter of André Paluel and Lulu Claire (Kelly) de Marmon. No children.

Death due to gas poisoning. Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, North Tarrytown. Survived by wife, parents, two sisters, Grace L. Gough, the wife of William Alfred Reginald Gough (BS Dartmouth Coll. 1916) of New York City and Mrs. William Chatland Lenhart of Northbrook, Ill, a brother, Gordon Lindsay Luke (Univ Virginia 1929–30) of Charleston, S.C., and two step-daughters, the Misses Yvonne and Barbara Joyce

## Kay Todd, Jr., B.S. 1932.

Born February 15, 1910, in St. Paul, Minn. Died June 12, 1944, in France.

Father, Kay Todd (LL B Univ Minnesota 1900, LL M 1901), member Todd, deLambert & Todd, lawyers, St Paul; son of James Henry and Adeline Elizabeth (Page) Todd of Iowa, Nebraska, Kansas, and Washington Mother, Charlotte Sinclair (Holbrook) Todd, daughter of Norman Bruce and Elizabeth Sinclair (Adams) Holbrook of Marengo, Iowa

St Paul Academy Industrial engineering course; scholar of the second rank second term Freshman year, Class baseball team Freshman year; Freshman Hockey Team, Freshman Football Squad; University Hockey Squad three years, University Hockey Team Junior and Senior years, football squad three years, University Football Team Senior year; on 10th Olympiad Football Team, Los Angeles, summer 1932; Junior Promenade Committee; Sheffield Student Council Senior year, Triennial Committee; member University Club, St Elmo and Delta Phi, Aurelian Honor Society, and Tau Beta Pi

With St Elmo Mining & Construction Company, Mexico, 1932–33; attended University of Minnesota Law School 1934–36 (LL.B. 1936); admitted to the bar 1936, associated with Todd, Fosnes & Green, St. Paul, 1933–34, 1936–37 and Todd, Stone & deLambert 1937; member Todd, deLambert & Todd 1938–42; president University Club of St Paul; member Church of St John the Evangelist (Episcopal), St. Paul.

Married January 13, 1943, in New Orleans, La, Nancie McAuliffe (Colorado Coll 1940–41), daughter of Henry Clifford and Elizabeth I. (Belt) McAuliffe

Inducted into Army of the United States May 18, 1942; with Company—— (and later——) Infantry Training Battalion, Camp Wolters, June–October, 1942; promoted corporal October 9, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, January 9, 1943; attended Parachute School, Fort Benning, January–February, 1943; communications course at Fort Benning March–June, 1943, stationed at Alliance (Nebr.) Army Air Field June–December, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant November 11, 1943; went overseas December, 1943; communications officer with—— Parachute Infantry in England, Ireland, and France, his regiment received a citation following D-Day.

Lieutenant Todd was killed by enemy action when leading his men against an enemy machine gun nest, while his group was trying to establish contact with the main forces in the early days of the invasion of France. Survived by wife, parents, and a sister, Elizabeth Todd Troost (BA Vassar Coll 1928), the wife of Capt Bradley Troost, A.U.S. (B.A. Univ. Minnesota 1926, MD 1929) of St Paul

## Robert Jenkins Shallenberger, B.S. 1936.

Born December 1, 1913, in Pittsburgh, Pa. Died April 11, 1944, in Anzio, Italy.

Father, Ira Bugher Shallenberger (BS Washington and Jefferson Coll 1902), president Latrobe (Pa) Trust Company, son of Frank Lobingier and Emma S (Kuhns) Shallenberger of Edgewood and Greensburg, Pa Mother, Elinor Blakeslee (Hugus) Shallenberger; daughter of William Henry and Mary Morton (Jenkins) Hugus of Pittsburgh

Latrobe High School and The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa Applied economics course; Freshman Water Polo Team and Swimming Squad; University Water Polo Team three years, Wright football and swimming teams Sophomore year; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta

Credit man Bank of the Manhattan Company, New York City, 1936-41, member First Presbyterian Church, Latrobe

Unmarried

Inducted into Army of the United States April 2, 1941, with Company—, — Infantry, Fort Jackson, until February, 1942; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, commissioned Second Lieutenant May 29, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant October, 1942, and Captain April, 1944; assigned to Infantry Replacement Training Center, Camp Croft, June, 1942; personnel officer — Tank Destroyer Battalion, Fort Bragg, July, 1942; went overseas August, 1942; awarded Silver Star for gallantry in action at Bizerte

Captain Shallenberger died from wounds received in action at Anzio. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart Survived by mother and three brothers, William Hugus Shallenberger (B A Stanford Univ. 1934) of Los Angeles, Frank Kuhns Shallenberger (B A Stanford Univ. 1936) of Arlington, Mass., and John Bugher Shallenberger (B A. Stanford Univ. 1939) of Washington

## Richard Harold Sperry, B.S 1936

Born December 31, 1914, in Westport, Conn. Died January 11, 1944, near Oschersleben, Germany

Father, Harold Shepard Sperry of Norwalk, Conn; foreman of repairmen Southern New England Telephone Company, Bridgeport, Conn.; son of Hartley Wilbur and Jennie Cornelia (Shepard) Sperry of Branford, Conn. Mother, Margaret Ann (Hatchman) Sperry; daughter of Norman and Heneretta (Woodnorth) Hatchman of Norwalk

Norwalk High School. Applied economics course, Freshman and Class

crew squads Freshman year, awarded John Edward Heaton swimming charm Senior year; member Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa, and Trumbull College (touch football and swimming teams Junior year; crew

Senior year).

Employed in New York City 1936–41; associated with Chubb & Son, insurance underwriters, September, 1936—January, 1937; clerk, letter-of-credit department, Irving Trust Company, 1937–41; attended New York University 1937–40 (posthumously awarded MBA. 1944) and registered at Columbia University September, 1941, member First Congregational Church, South Norwalk.

Unmarried

Enlisted as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces, December 18, 1941; received primary training at Dorr Field January 11–March 27, 1942, basic training at Shaw Field March 29–June, 1942, and advanced training at Spence Field June–August 5, 1942, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant August 5, 1942, sent to England with —— Squadron, —— Bombardment Group, August 24, 1942; promoted First Lieutenant and assigned as bomber pilot (B-17) December 11, 1942

Lieutenant Sperry lost his life while on a mission over Germany Buried in Germany Survived by father, stepmother, a brother, Donald Wil-

liam Sperry of Norwalk, and maternal grandmother

## Ernest Pritchard Christner, B.S. 1937.

Born February 19, 1916, in Montclair, N.J. Died September 8, 1943, in Montclair, N.J.

Father, Paul Jacob Christner, associated with Mutual Life Insurance Company, New York City, son of John Christian and Elizabeth (Hunziger) Christner of Brooklyn, N Y. Mother, Ella Carithers (Pritchard) Christner, daughter of John Wagner and Harriet (Small) Pritchard of Brooklyn

Montclair High School. Industrial administration course; scholar of the first rank Freshman year and general one-year honors Sophomore year; Freshman Swimming Team, University Swimming Team Sophomore, Junior and Senior years; member Trumbull College, Franklin Hall and Theta Xi, and Tau Beta Pi

In operating division Great Northern Railway Company, Klamath Falls, Ore., 1938–40 and transportation inspector Fargo, N Dak, and St. Paul, Minn, 1940–41, inducted into federal service October 28, 1941, at Fort Snelling and interviewer in classification office there November 1–December 5, with Signal Corps at Fort Monmouth (basic training December 5–22, Radio School December 22, 1941—March, 1942, and Officer Can-

didate School March-May, 1942); received medical discharge September 15, 1942; with Great Northern Railway Company, St. Paul, November, 1942—July 1, 1943; member First Congregational Church, Montclair.

Unmarried.

Death due to Hodgkin's disease. Buried in Mount Hebron Cemetery, Montclair. Survived by parents and a brother, Paul Jacob Christner, Jr (Princeton ex-'36), of Montclair.

## Charles David Horn, B.S. 1937.

Born July 22, 1917, in New York City. Died August 11, 1943, in New Caledonia.

Father, Arthur Horn (LL B New York Univ 1907, LL M 1908), manager Albany, NY, branch Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Pictures Exchange; son of Bernath and Mary Horn of New York City. Mother, Jeanette (Kaplan) Horn (B.A. Hunter Coll. 1906); daughter of Hyman and Sarah Eva

Kaplan of New York City.

Shortridge High School, Indianapolis, George Washington High School, New York City, and New Haven (Conn) High School Biological science and physiological chemistry courses; scholar of the first rank, awarded Yale Club charm, and shared second and third Benjamin F Barge Mathematical Prizes Freshman year; general one-year honors for excellence in all studies Sophomore year and two-year honors Junior year, awarded B S with honors (highest distinction in physiological chemistry and bacteriology), Freshman Track Squad, 150-pound football squad Sophomore year; member Berkeley College; associate member Sigma Xi

Attended Harvard Medical School 1937–41 (M.D 1941), interne Sinai Hospital, Baltimore, 1941–42 and assistant resident July–November, 1942.

Married January 31, 1942, in New York City, Ann McAvoy (B A Sarah Lawrence Coll 1941, M.D. Johns Hopkins Univ 1944), daughter of John Vincent McAvoy (B A. Manhattan Coll 1897; LL B New York Law School 1899) and Marian (Newcomb) McAvoy

Commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, Army Air Forces, November 12, 1942; stationed at Miami Beach November 15-December 26, 1942, and at MacDill Field and Daniel Field; squadron surgeon —— Airdrome Squadron, Hunter Field, went overseas in May, 1943

Lieutenant Horn died in a motor vehicle accident Buried in United States Cemetery, Nouméa, New Caledonia Survived by wife, parents, and a sister, Marion H. Peskin (B.A. Smith Coll 1933, M S. Yale 1935), the wife of Edward Peskin (B.A. Columbia Univ 1935, M A. 1937, D.E E. Polytechnic Inst. Brooklyn 1943) of New York City

### Frederick Cushing Cross, B.S. 1940.

Born July 8, 1917, in Lunenburg, Mass. Died August 7, 1943, off the Atlantic coast.

Father, Frederick Cushing Cross (B.S Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1901), a wholesale grocer in Fitchburg, Mass; son of Charles Albert and Sarah Frances (Wright) Cross of Fitchburg. Mother, Dorothea (Farquhar) Cross (B.A Bryn Mawr Coll. 1900); daughter of Francis Ulric and Mary Howard (Williams) Farquhar of Detroit, Mich. Yale relatives include Alpheus S Williams (BA 1831) (great-grandfather); Walter S. Cross, '04 (uncle), and Thomas E. Barbour, ex-'37, Norman C. Cross, '39, and Harold Cross, Jr., '39 (cousins)

Fitchburg High School and The Loomis School, Windsor, Conn Industrial administration course; Freshman Crew, University Crew Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; University Glee Club Junior and Senior years, deacon Church of Christ in Yale University Senior year; member Aurelian Honor Society, St Elmo Society, and Berkeley College (hockey team Junior year)

Student apprentice Chain Belt Company, Milwaukee, Wis, 1940–41; seaman (2d class) US Naval Reserve Air Corps April 1, 1941; flight elimination training Glenview, Ill, May, 1941, aviation cadet Pensacola, Fla., June 27, 1941—January 19, 1942, commissioned Ensign December 20, 1941, and promoted Lieutenant (1 g) October 1, 1942; with Transition Training Squadron Atlantic, Naval Air Station, Norfolk, January, 1942—February, 1943, transferred to Deland, Fla, in April, 1943, and later to Boca Chica, Fla.; on Caribbean patrol; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Fitchburg

Únmarried

Lieutenant Cross was fatally wounded when his plane attacked an enemy submarine. In spite of his condition he successfully landed his plane on the water some miles from the scene of the action and assisted his copilot and radioman to get out of the plane before it sank. They were picked up and saved but Lieutenant Cross died of his wounds and sank Posthumously awarded Navy Cross in January, 1944 A destroyer escort, the USS Cross, has been named in his honor Survived by mother and three sisters, Rosamond Cross (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll 1929, M.A. 1934) of Bryn Mawr, Pa, Dorothea Cross Leighton (B.A. Bryn Mawr Coll. 1930, MD Johns Hopkins Univ 1936), the wife of Alexander Hamilton Leighton (BA Princeton 1932; M.D Johns Hopkins Univ 1936) of Chicago, and Mary Cross Armstrong (Wellesley Coll. 1928–30, Univ. London 1930–31), the wife of Ray Livingston Armstrong (BA. Williams Coll. 1932, M.A. Univ. Oxford 1934; PhD. Columbia Univ. 1938) of Wellesley, Mass.

## Francis Mercer Hackley, Class of 1941 S.

Born November 13, 1918, in Oakfield, NY Died July 4, 1943, over France.

Father, Francis Alexander Hackley, owner Hackley Hardware Store, Oakfield. Mother, Elizabeth Asman (Armstrong) Hackley (Middlebury Coll. ex-'00).

Oakfield High School Entered Yale September, 1937, member Alpha

Chi Sigma and St Michael's Church (Episcopal), Oakfield

Withdrew from college June 14, 1940, entered Army of the United States May, 1941; assigned to 4th Armored Division, transferred to medical unit, Pine Camp, accepted as air cadet June, 1942, and transferred to Army Air Forces, ordered for training at Maxwell Field August 1, 1942, attended navigation school, Monroe, La., October 12, 1942, received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant January 16, 1943, advanced training at Gowen Field, Wendover Field, Sioux City (Iowa) Army Air Base, and Kearney Army Air Forces Facility; went overseas June 6, 1943; navigator of a Flying Fortress, Eighth Air Force, based in England.

Lieutenant Hackley lost his life while returning from a mission over Le Mans, France. Buried near Sees, France Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and official commendation from his commanding officer. Survived by parents, a sister, Ruth Elizabeth Hackley George (B A. Wellesley Coll. 1934), the wife of Albert A. George of Evanston,

Ill, and a brother, Reginald A. Hackley, '31 S.

## Edward Cyprian Digan, B.S. 1942.

Born July 25, 1921, in Brooklyn, NY. Died July 12, 1943, in Sicily

Father, Thomas Joseph Digan, vice-president United States Steel Export Company, New York City; son of Thomas and Elizabeth (Heaphy) Digan of Brooklyn Mother, Margaret Ann (Meagher) Digan; daughter of Thomas Francis and Margaret (Ryan) Meagher of New York City.

Bishop Loughlin Memorial High School, Brooklyn Freshman Cross-Country Team; on Vanderbilt basketball team and crew Sophomore year, member the More Club and Trumbull College (basketball team Junior year and touch football team Senior year). Member St Agnes Church (Catholic), Rockville Centre, N.Y

Unmarried

Enlisted in Army of the United States July 15, 1942, received basic training at Camp Gruber; attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning;

commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, February 10, 1943; volunteered for Airborne Infantry and temporarily assigned as Second Lieutenant, —— Parachute Infantry, Fort Benning; went overseas in May, 1943, and joined —— Parachute Infantry after its arrival in North Africa.

Lieutenant Digan was killed in action in the paratroop invasion of Sicily Posthumously awarded the Silver Star Survived by parents, a sister, Miss Rosemary Margaret Digan of Rockville Centre, and two brothers, Gerard Francis Digan, AUS, and Thomas Joseph Digan, Jr, US.N.R. (ME Stevens Inst Technology 1941)

## Hovey Seymour, B.S. 1942.

Born July 13, 1920, in New York City Died March 3, 1944, at sea.

Father, Edward Palmer Seymour, '10, of Greenwich, Conn; associated with The Crowell-Collier Publishing Company, New York City, advertising manager Woman's Home Companion, son of James Sherwood and Martha Steever (Palmer) Seymour of Bronxville, NY. Mother, Alice Barhyt (Hovey) Seymour; daughter of Franklin Henry and Caroline Virginia (Freeman) Hovey of Summit, NJ Yale relatives include Edward Seymour (B.A 1858) (great-grandfather); Walter E. Woodford, '10 (uncle), and Walter E. Woodford, Jr, '38 (cousin)

Brunswick School, Greenwich, and Phillips-Andover. Industrial administration course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year; captain Freshman Football Team and member Freshman Wrestling Team, University Football Team three years; awarded Ledyard Mitchell Punting Trophy 1940 and 1941, honorable mention All-Eastern football team Sophomore year, University Rugby Team four years, University Hockey Squad Junior year, cup man, nonresident member Pierson College (hockey team Sophomore year), member N R O T C. at Yale, The Pundits, St Anthony Hall, Torch Honor Society, and Tau Beta Pi.

Unmarried

Commissioned Ensign, US Naval Reserve, on graduation in June, 1942; joined Yale Naval Flying Unit and entered service as aviation cadet July 7, 1942, at Navy Pre-Flight School, Chapel Hill; at US Naval Reserve Aviation Station, Grosse Isle, October, 1942—February, 1943, when transferred to Naval Air Station, Pensacola, received wings June 18, 1943, stationed at Miami for advanced training June–August, 1943; assigned to Composite Squadron Ten September 1, 1943, as torpedo bomber pilot and squadron matériel officer, assigned to sea duty February, 1944.

Ensign Seymour lost his life when his plane crashed during a practice flight off California Survived by parents and two brothers, Edward H.

Seymour (B.S. 1938, Ph.D. 1941) and Roger Sherwood Seymour of Greenwich.

The officers of Composite Squadron Ten, Air Force, United States Pacific Fleet, have made a gift in memory of Ensign Seymour to be used for books on athletics to be placed in the Linonia and Brothers Library.

## Gordon Taylor Gates, Class of 1943 S.

Born April 2, 1921, in Montclair, N.J. Died October 20, 1943, in the Southwest Pacific area

Father, Franklin H Gates, '12, formerly a vice-president Chase National Bank, New York City; son of Rev Frederick Taylor Gates, LLD (B A Univ. Rochester 1877, M A. 1879, grad. Rochester Theological Seminary 1880), and Emma Lucillia (Cahoon) Gates of Montclair Mother, Janet Stewart (McKee) Gates; daughter of Charles J and Sarah (Hughes) McKee of Dayton, Ohio. Yale relatives include: Frederick L Gates, '09, and Russell C Gates, '14 (uncles); and Morris R. Mitchell, ex-'43, and F Taylor Gates, ex-'45 (cousins).

Montclair Academy and Montclair High School Entered Yale September, 1939; member Calhoun College (tennis team, captain two years, touch football team, captain Junior year, hockey team two years, and track team Sophomore year) and First Congregational Church, Montclair

Withdrew from college December, 1941, enlisted as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces, January 6, 1942; received preliminary preflight training at Maxwell Field January, 1942, primary training Ocala, Fla, April, 1942, basic training Greenville, Miss, summer 1942, and advanced training Selma, Ala, September, 1942, received pilot's wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant September 6, 1942; pursuit pilot, — Fighter Squadron, Sarasota (Fla.) Air Base, fall of 1942; sent overseas December, 1942, and trained in Australia and New Guinea, promoted First Lieutenant spring of 1943, as a P-39 fighter pilot with the Fifth Air Force had taken part in more than twenty-five operational flight missions against the enemy, receiving the Army Air Medal September 27, 1943, cited for meritorious achievement in aerial flights from May 27 to August 11, 1943

Lieutenant Gates was killed by enemy action Survived by parents, two sisters, Elinor G King, the wife of Richard King, USNR, and Janet G Bonney, the wife of Alfred Bonney, USMC, and two brothers, Lieut Franklin M. Gates, '38 E., US.NR, and Capt. Richard J. Gates, ex-'43 S, AUS.

#### SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

#### Harold William Peyser, B.S. 1933.

Born September 28, 1911, in New York City. Died July 3, 1943, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Harold Peyser (B S Coll. City of New York 1896), principal Steinway Junior High School, New York City. Mother, Rosine (Berge) Peyser.

Port Washington (NY.) High School. Chemical engineering course; member Alpha Chi Sigma, and Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa.

Carbide and Carbon Chemicals Corporation Fellow, Mellon Institute of Industrial Research, Pittsburgh, 1933-34; in technical sales department Carbide and Carbon Chemicals Corporation, New York City, 1934-43 (manager sales-correspondence department 1942-43)

Married August 16, 1941, in Port Washington, Mary Lou Wright (Wellesley Coll ex-'42), daughter of Joseph Thatcher Wright (Ph B Union Coll 1908) and Grace Elizabeth (Marsh) Wright. No children.

Death due to nephritis Buried in Mount Calvary Cemetery, White Plains, N Y Survived by wife, father, and two sisters, Rosine Peyser Hussey, the wife of Roland Fountain Hussey (B A Univ. Michigan 1918, M S. Harvard 1921, S.D. 1923), and Elizabeth Peyser (Manhattanville Coll of the Sacred Heart 1923–25; Barnard Coll. ex-'29), both of New York City

#### Beverly Ward Bristol, Class of 1942 E.

Born March 8, 1920, in Jamaica, NY. Died September 20, 1943, in Vancouver, British Columbia

Father, Raymond Winship Bristol, '11 S, vice-president Radio Inventions, Inc., and Faximile, Inc., New York City, and Paragon Revolute Corporation, Rochester, N.Y; son of Warren H. Bristol, '90 L, and Annie (Winship) Bristol. Mother, Alma Wilhelmina (Ward) Bristol, daughter of Charles Willis Ward of Queens Village, N Y Yale relatives include; Kenneth H Bristol, '14 S. (uncle), and Kenneth C. Bristol, Class of 1942 (cousin).

The Loomis School, Windsor, Conn. Entered Yale September, 1938, and withdrew May 5, 1939, member Freshman Soccer and Fencing teams.

With Benjamin Franklin Unit, American Volunteer Ambulance Corps, May-September, 1940, attached to French Army until French-German

armistice; in Vichy for several months until evacuated through Spain and Portugal; returned to United States in September, 1940; volunteered as private, Royal Canadian Air Force, January, 1941; received primary training at No. 3 Elementary Flying Training School, Stanley, Nova Scotia, July 1–September 1, 1941; leading aircraftsman in No. 8 Service Flying Training School, Moncton, New Brunswick, September 1–December 5, 1941; received wings and commissioned Pilot Officer December 5, 1941; attended 31st General Reconnaissance School, Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island, January–March, 1942; promoted Flying Officer October 1, 1942; pilot, —— Bomber Reconnaissance Squadron, Sea Island, Vancouver, March, 1942—September, 1943, and stationed for a year in Alaska.

Death due to an aircraft accident. Survived by parents and two sisters,

Miss Eileen Ward Bristol and Mrs. Phyllis Bristol Olson

### Edward Salisbury Bentley, Jr., B.E. 1943.

Born August 11, 1920, in New York City.

Missing in action June 29, 1943, off coast of Tunisia.

Presumptive date of death June 30, 1944

Father, Edward Salisbury Bentley, '14 (LL.B. Harvard 1917), of Lawrence, N.Y., member Conklin & Bentley, lawyers, New York City, son of Edward M. Bentley, '80, and Mary Helen (Merrill) Bentley. Mother, Dorothy (Anderton) Bentley; daughter of William Bancroft Anderton (M D Bellevue Hospital Medical Coll. 1879) and Elizabeth (Palmer) Anderton of New York City. Yale relatives include: Edward W. Bentley (B.A. 1850) (great-grandfather); and William H. Bentley, ex-'84 (uncle).

Lawrence School, Hewlett, N.Y., Morristown (NJ) School, and Phillips-Andover. Mechanical engineering course, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, student branch American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Society of Automotive Engineers, NR.O.T.C. at Yale, and Trumbull College (football team Junior year); awarded degree in December, 1942.

Unmarried.

Commissioned Ensign, US Naval Reserve, March 30, 1942 (to rank from March 4); reported to United States Navy Salvage Training School, New York City, for active duty January 11, 1943; graduated as diving officer March 15, 1943, ordered to an advance base for duty outside the United States March 23, 1943, and further ordered to US.S. ——, submarine rescue vessel.

Ensign Bentley was reported missing June 29, 1943, when an underwater explosion due to enemy action sank his ship off the coast of Tunisia. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as June 30, 1944)

Survived by parents, a sister, Mary Elizabeth Bentley (Oberlin Coll. Class of 1947) of Lawrence, a brother, William Bancroft Anderton Bentley, Class of 1945W S., and maternal grandmother.

Ensign Bentley bequeathed all of his books to the University for use in

the Andrews Memorial Loan Library.

#### GRADUATE SCHOOL

#### MASTERS OF ARTS

[Joseph] Frazer Hood, M.A. 1900.

Born June 2, 1875, in Tupelo, Miss Died June 19, 1944, in Charlotte, N C

Father, Charles Buren Hood, a merchant in Tupelo; captain in Confederate Army; son of Rev. William Hood and Mary (Cassidy) Hood of North Carolina, Tennessee, Alabama, and Mississippi Mother, Martha Leontine (Wiley) Hood, daughter of Joseph and Mary Antoinette (Sherrill) Wiley of Pontotoc, Miss

Tupelo High School; BA. Southwestern Presbyterian University, Clarksville, Tenn, 1896 (member Kappa Alpha), attended Johns Hopkins University 1898–99 and Yale Graduate School 1899–1902 (MA 1900, Ph.D. 1902, fellow in psychology 1901–02), studied in France and England 1925-26; principal Tombigbee (Miss) Academy 1896-98, professor of ethics and English Hanover College 1902-03, acting professor of psychology University of Oklahoma 1903-04; in insurance business in Memphis 1904–13; professor of psychology and head department of education West Tennessee State Normal School 1913-18, instructor in psychology and director psychology laboratory Northwestern University 1919-20, professor of psychology and head of the department Davidson College 1920–44, taught at summer sessions University of North Carolina 1923–25 and Ohio State University 1930, 1933; lecturer on Smythe Foundation, Columbia Theological Seminary, Atlanta, 1934; assistant State high-school inspector North Carolina 1923–26; president Presbyterian Educational Association 1943-44; trustee Edgar Tufts Memorial Association, Banners Elk, N.C., 1921–44; Litt D. Presbyterian College of South Carolina 1923; author Psychology Every Parent Ought to Know (1917) and Everyman's Insurance (1925); commissioned First Lieutenant, Sanitary Corps, March 19, 1918, assistant chief educational service and head division psychology and statistics General Hospital No 36, discharged August 1, 1919, member North Carolina Academy of Science (chairman psychology section 1941), North Carolina College Conference, North Carolina Education Association, Southern Society of Psychology and Philosophy, American Psychological and American Statistical associations, Sigma Upsilon, Scabbard

and Blade, Phi Delta Kappa, Phi Beta Kappa, Masonic order, and Davidson Presbyterian Church.

Married April 15, 1903, in Water Valley, Miss, Kalista, daughter of Daniel R and Mary Gertrude (Young) Wagner. Daughter: Kalista Wagner.

Death due to leukemia. Buried in Davidson College Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs. Hattie Lee Hood Harrison of Germantown, Tenn

# Edwin Clarence Norton, M.A. 1900.

Born July 5, 1856, in Bradford, Pa. Died October 6, 1943, in Claremont, Calif.

Father, Rev. William Wallace Norton, a frontier minister; chaplain during Civil War, son of Ira Norton. Mother, Frances Beach (McCoy) Norton.

Preparatory and college work Carleton College 1873–77; attended Amherst College 1877–79 (B.A. 1879; member Delta Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa; M A. Hon. 1883), Johns Hopkins University 1880–81, Yale Graduate School 1881–82 (M.A 1900), and Yale Divinity School 1882–83, studied at University of Oxford 1904 and Columbia University 1914; principal public schools Alexandria and Waseca, Minn., 1880–81; professor of Greek Yankton College 1883–87; ordained in Yankton Congregational Church May 1, 1884, a founder Pomona College 1888 and on faculty 1888–1943 (principal preparatory school 1888–90, professor of Greek language and literature 1890–1926, professor emeritus 1926–43; dean of the faculty 1890–1923, dean emeritus 1923–43; registrar and acting president ad interim), Ph D. Hon Carleton College 1896; D D. Pacific School of Religion 1910; president and moderator Southern California Congregational Conference 1911–12; member Claremont Congregational Church.

Married June 26, 1884, in New Haven, Conn, Frances Lee Rice (Mount Holyoke Coll. 1874–75), daughter of Joel Tuttle and Mary Jane (Rowe) Rice Children. Katharine Rice (B.A. Pomona Coll. 1909), the wife of Alan Benner (B.A. Pomona Coll. 1909; M.D. Cornell Univ. 1916), Philip (died April 19, 1892), Dorothy (died July 6, 1894), Theodore Edwin (Pomona Coll. ex-'24; died September 8, 1922).

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Ashes interred in Oak Grove Cemetery, Claremont Survived by wife, one daughter, three grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren.

### Albert S. Hurst, M.A. 1904.

Born August 13, 1866, in Morpeth, Ontario, Canada. Died April 1, 1944, in Fayetteville, NY.

Father, James Hurst, a school teacher and farmer in Morpeth; son of Andrew Hurst of Guelph, Ontario Mother, Charity (Smith) Hurst, daughter of John B. Smith of Grimsby, Ontario.

Ridgetown (Ontario) Collegiate Institute; taught in public schools of Kent County, Ontario, 1886–95, B.A. University of Toronto 1899; attended Clark University 1899–1900, graduate student in philosophy Yale University 1902–05 (M.A 1904, Ph.D. 1905); instructor in English Peekskill (NY.) Military Academy 1900–02; head of English department Bridgeport (Conn.) High School 1902–05, educational director Y M.C A, St. Louis, 1905–06; on faculty Syracuse University 1906–44 (instructor in education 1906–08, associate professor of the history and principles of education 1908–14, professor 1914 until retirement 1936, dean Teachers College of the University 1920–30, dean emeritus 1930–44); lecturer Auburn Theological Seminary 1921–26; P D. Hon Syracuse University 1936, author: "The Ontological Value of the Moral Ideal" (1905), member National Education Association, Phi Kappa Phi, Kappa Phi Kappa, and Erwin Methodist Episcopal Church, Syracuse.

Married August 28, 1900, in Aylmer, Ontario, Nina, daughter of Taylor and Ellen (Marshall) Sowler. Daughter Marian Charity Ellen (B.S. Syracuse Univ. 1936, M.A. 1940), the wife of Harold James Pierce (B.S. Syracuse Univ. 1918).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Ridgetown Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Minnie Hurst of London, Ontario.

#### DOCTORS OF PHILOSOPHY

Charles Horswell, Ph.D. 1891.

Born November 27, 1857, in Kingston, Ontario, Canada Died December 21, 1943, in Saugatuck, Mich.

Father, Richard Horswell of England and Canada, retired officer of the Royal Navy; son of James and Susan (Brooks) Horswell of Devonshire,

England. Mother, Mary (Wood) Horswell; daughter of George and Ade-

line (Carr) Wood of Plymouth, England.

Evanston (Ill.) Academy; B A. Northwestern University 1884, M.A. 1887 (member Phi Kappa Psi and Phi Beta Kappa); B D. Garrett Biblical Institute 1887; ordained in Methodist Episcopal church, Kensington, Ill., 1887; substitute minister in the Chicago district 1887–91; registered Yale Graduate School 1888–91 (Ph D. 1891), professor of Hebrew language and literature, Northwestern University, and registrar Garrett Biblical Institute 1891–1902; lectured at various theological institutions 1902–04; minister Kenilworth (Ill.) Union Church 1904–17; professor of Biblical literature Hamline University 1917 until retirement 1925; resided in Saugatuck, Mich., 1925–43; D D. Northwestern University 1901; author. "An Inductive Study of the Terms Used for Divination and Prophecy in the Old Testament" (1891), attended First Congregational Church, Saugatuck.

Married September 3, 1887, in Evanston, Helen Miranda Redfield (B.A. Northwestern Univ. 1884), daughter of George Elliot and Harriet Ada (Clark) Redfield Children Laurence Alden (Michigan State Coll. 1907–08, Univ. Wisconsin 1910–11), Helen Carol (B A. Wellesley Coll. 1916), the wife of Gardner Endicott Johnson (Massachusetts Inst. Technology 1914–17), and Richard Redfield Mrs. Horswell died June 15, 1943.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Sauga-

tuck. Survived by children and four grandsons.

# Charles Hamline Zimmerman, Ph.D. 1897.

Born April 12, 1870, in Macomb, Ill. Died July 20, 1943, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Rev Charles Henry Zimmerman (B A. Ohio Wesleyan Univ 1864, B D Garrett Biblical Inst. 1869), a Methodist minister and journalist, son of Peter and Harriet (Boardman) Zimmerman of Delaware, Ohio. Mother, Jane Lowry (Eggleston) Zimmerman, daughter of Joseph William and Mary Jane (Craig) Eggleston of Madison, Ind

Preparatory school of Northwestern University; attended Northwestern University 1886–89 and 1890–92 (BA 1891; MA. 1892; member Beta Theta Pi and Phi Beta Kappa), instructor in Latin and Greek Markham Hall, Milwaukee, Wis., 1889–90 and preparatory school of Northwestern University 1891–93; graduate student in classical studies Yale University 1893–97 (Ph D 1897), teacher of Latin New Haven High School 1893 until retirement 1940, author. "The Independent Subjunctive in Tacitus" (1897) and Groups for Latin Composition (1917); founder

Boys' Glee Club at New Haven High School 1894; tenor Center Church choir 1894–98, Calvary Baptist Church choir 1898–1900, and Battell Chapel choir 1900–30; member executive committee Connecticut Golf Association 1927; on Connecticut State golf championship team 1910; a founder New Haven Country Club 1898 and honorary member since 1939; member American Philological Association.

Unmarried.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Ashes interred in Rose Hill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by two sisters, Ethel Cary Zimmerman (Ph.B. Northwestern Univ. 1895) and Marion Eggleston Zimmerman Pooler (B.L. Northwestern Univ. 1901), the wife of Lemuel Fiske Pooler (D D S Northwestern Univ.), both of Evanston, Ill

#### Elisabeth Frances Abbe, Ph.D. 1903.

Born February 22, 1866, in Abington, Mass. Died March 8, 1944, in Natick, Mass

Father, Rev. Frederic Randolph Abbe (B A. 1848) Mother, Mary Thaxter (Thayer) Abbe. Yale relatives include. Benjamin Colton (B.A. 1710) (great-great-great-grandfather), Eli Colton (B A. 1737), George Colton (B A. 1756), and Eliphalet Steele (B A. 1764) (great-great-great-uncles); Jonathan Barnes (B A. 1784) (great-grandfather), Alanson Abbe (M D. 1821) (grandfather), Jonathan Barnes (B A. 1810), Julius S. Barnes (B A. 1815), and Josiah Barnes (B A. 1825) (great-uncles); Edward P. Abbe (B.A. 1848) and Burr Reeve Abbe (M.D. 1854) (uncles); and Burr Reeve Abbe, '89, Harry A. G. Abbe, '92, and Franklin J. Abbe, '93 (cousins).

Girls' Latin School, Boston; B A Wellesley College 1888, taught ancient languages in Brookfield, Milford, and Quincy, Mass, high schools 1888–94; studied Greek and philology Wellesley College 1894–96 (M.A. 1896); member Greek department Mount Holyoke College 1896–98, studied Classical languages and literatures Yale Graduate School 1898–1902 (Ph.D. 1903); resided in Dorchester, Mass., 1902–06, head of Latin department Melrose (Mass) High School 1906 until retirement 1929, resided in Wellesley, Mass, 1929–44; author: "Entrances in Greek Tragedies" (1903); member College Settlement Association, American Association of University Women, Classical Association of New England, American Philological Association, and Congregational church

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Mount Auburn Cemetery, Cambridge, Mass. Survived by a brother, Alanson Joseph Abbe (B A Harvard 1881, M D. 1885) of Winter Park, Fla.

#### Ralph Nelson Maxson, Ph.D. 1905.

Born December 2, 1879, in Westerly, R.I. Died November 18, 1943, in Lexington, Ky.

Father, Charles Albertus Maxson, member Maxson's Sons, contractors, Westerly; son of William and Sarah (Rogers) Maxson of De Ruyter, N.Y., and Westerly. Mother, Maria Margaret (Reynolds) Maxson; daughter of

Nelson and Catharine (Saunders) Reynolds of Milton, Wis

Westerly High School; B.S. Rhode Island State College 1902; graduate student in chemistry Yale University 1902–05 (Ph D. 1905; member Sigma X1, assistant in chemistry 1903–05); instructor in general chemistry Pennsylvania State College 1905–06; assistant professor of chemistry University of Kentucky 1906–09, professor of inorganic chemistry 1909–43, and head of department 1934–43; author: "The Estimation of Small Amounts of Gold" in American Journal of Science (vol. 16, 1903; vol. 17, 1904; vol. 21, 1906), contributing editor Journal of Chemical Education, contributed to Zeitschrift fur Anorganische Chemie, collaborator Modern Scientific Knowledge of Nature, Man and Society (1929); fellow American Institute of Chemists; member Kentucky Educational Association, American Chemical Society, American Association of University Professors, and Pi Gamma Mu

Married December 27, 1905, in Westerly, Jessie Olivia, daughter of William and Mary Collins (Ayars) Taylor. Children. William Taylor (B.A. Univ Kentucky 1930, M.D. Univ. Michigan 1934) and Charles Reynolds (B.A. Univ Kentucky 1933).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Lexington Cemetery. Survived by wife, sons, and five grandchildren.

# Frederick Williams Pierce, Ph.D. 1909.

Born August 1, 1873, in Peabody, Kans. Died September 19, 1943, in Clinton, Conn.

Father, Cyrus Alonzo Pierce, a teacher and farmer in Peabody; son of Miles Pierce of New York State, and Battle Creek, Mich Mother, Amelia Elvira (Williams) Pierce; daughter of Eben Sturgis and Polly Hopkins (Hayden) Williams of Connecticut, New York, Michigan, and Nebraska.

Hartford (Kans.) High School; attended Baker University 1901–06 (Ph B 1906, tutor in German 1903–06); graduate student in German Yale University 1906–09 (Ph D 1909); instructor in German Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass., 1909–11 and Cheshire (Conn.) Academy 1911–12; on faculty Pennsylvania State College 1912–43 (instructor in Ger-

man 1912-15, assistant professor 1915-20, associate professor 1920-28, professor 1928-42, head of department 1940-42, professor emeritus 1942-43), member Clinton Historical Society and Clinton Congregational Church

Married December 24, 1910, in New Haven, Conn, Jennie Willard Bailey, daughter of Charles William and Louesa (Dowd) Willard. Stepdaughter: Marguerite Louesa Bailey Hume (died February 5, 1931). Mrs Pierce died December 2, 1941.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Indian River Cemetery, Clinton. Survived by a sister, Mrs Lucius Moses Coy of Chowchilla, Calif., and two brothers, Gale Waldo Pierce of Chowchilla and Willie Franklin Pierce of Lost Springs, Kans.

### George Theron Davis, Ph.D. 1938.

Born November 3, 1899, in Boston, Mass. Died June 27, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Samuel Davis, a baker in Boston and Worcester, Mass., and Providence, R I.; son of Jacob and Leah Davis of Blaszki, Poland Mother, Sarah Marion (Weisberg) Davis, daughter of Gershon and Minna Evelyn (Stucker) Weisberg of Poland.

English High School, Boston, and Classical High School, Worcester, B.A. and M.A Clark University 1922 (member Tau Kappa Alpha), instructor in sociology Western Reserve University 1922–23; taught history New Haven High School 1923 until retirement in January, 1944, because of ill-health, graduate student in economics, sociology, and government Yale University 1930–39 (Ph D. 1938); research associate in International Relations (assistant professorial rank), Yale 1939–41; instructor in government University of Connecticut Extension Division, New Haven, 1940; instructor in social studies Arnold College for Hygiene and Physical Education 1941–43; educational editor *Illustrated Current News*, author. "The Naval Policy of the United States 1880–1917" (1938) and A Navy Second to None (1940).

Married June 29, 1924, in Boston, Eva, daughter of Max and Freda (Rubin) Jaffe. Children: Carolyn Joy and Paul Harvey.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Mishkan Israel Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, mother, four sisters, Minna Davis Marsden, the wife of Bernard Marsden (M E. Stevens Inst. Technology 1925) of New York City, Freda Davis Nair, the wife of Harvey Nair (Ph B Brown Univ. 1928; LL.B. Boston Univ. 1932) of Hartford, Conn, Rosalie Davis Epstein, the wife of Carl Max Epstein (Ph B Brown Univ. 1934; M D. Tufts Coll. 1939) of Dallas, Texas, and Miss Jocelyn Davis of Hart-

ford, and two brothers, Harry T. Davis (B.A. Clark Univ. 1930; D.D.S. Dalhousie Univ. 1934) and Murray Davis, both of Providence.

# Floyd Gilbert Wood, Ph.D. 1940.

Born October 5, 1909, in Long Beach, Calif. Died January 17, 1944, near Asheville, N C.

Father, Percy Ernest Wood, dairy foreman Montana Land Company, Long Beach; son of Ralph and Margaret Marsden (Bury) Wood of New York, Missouri, and California Mother, Mary Etta (Lininger) Wood; daughter of Henry Corwin and Emily Augusta (Magers) Lininger of Indiana, Ohio, and Kansas.

Long Beach Polytechnic High School; attended University of California at Los Angeles 1926–30 (B A. 1930; assistant in department of astronomy 1928–30), teaching fellow University of Southern California 1930–31 (M A 1931); teacher and athletic coach Oxnard (Calif.) Union High School 1931–37; taught at San Pedro High School, Los Angeles, 1937–38; graduate student in education Yale University 1938–40 (Ph.D. 1940; teaching assistant 1939–40); superintendent of public schools Clinton, Conn, 1940–41, author "Effect of Bonded Indebtedness on School Expenditures" (1940); member Theta Chi, Phi Delta Kappa, and First Baptust Church, Long Beach.

Married October 25, 1930, in Long Beach, Maida Isabel Owen (B.A. Univ. California 1930; Univ. California at Los Angeles 1930–31), daughter of Harry Edward and Theobel (Martin) Owen. Children: Floyd Gilbert, 2d, and Maida Isabel.

Entered active service as First Lieutenant, Army of the United States, November 8, 1941; studied military meteorology at California Institute of Technology November, 1941—March, 1942; communications officer 2d Field Artillery Observation Battalion, Camp Bowie, March-August, 1942, and civilian personnel director September–November, 1942, at Brooke General Hospital, Fort Sam Houston, August–September, 1942; transferred to Army Air Forces November 12, 1942, and stationed at Kelly Field as Base Weather Officer until February 17, 1943, when assigned to Randolph Field, promoted Captain July 17, 1943, and assigned head of Accident Reporting Unit of Operations Division, Weather Wing Headquarters, Asheville

Captain Wood was killed in an airplane crash near Asheville. His ashes were scattered according to his request. Survived by wife, children, mother, and a brother, Ernest Perry Wood of Long Beach.

## Robert Sellers Done, Ph.D. 1941.

Born February 4,\_1917, in Salt Lake City, Utah Died November 23, 1943, in Gibbstown, N J.

Father, Joseph Franklin Done, a bookkeeper with Juárez Lumber Company, Ciudad Juárez, Mexico; son of Abraham and Elizabeth Annie (Robinson) Done of Payson, Utah. Mother, Anne Elizabeth (Sellers) Done, daughter of James Fisher and Mary (Marsh) Sellers of Pacheco, Mexico.

West High School, Salt Lake City; attended University of Utah 1933–38 (B.A. 1937; member Phi Beta Kappa and Phi Kappa Phi; M.A. 1938); graduate student in chemistry Yale University 1938–41 (Ph D. 1941, laboratory assistant in chemistry 1938–40, member Sigma X1), research chemist E. I. du Pont de Nemours & Company, Newark, N.J., 1941–February, 1943, and in explosives division Gibbstown plant February–November, 1943, member Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints (Tenth Ward), Salt Lake City (superintendent Sunday School New Haven Branch 1939–41; East Orange, N.J., ward clerk 1942–43).

Married May 20, 1938, in Salt Lake City, Mildred Martin (Univ. Utah ex-'39), daughter of Charles Starley and Julia May (Hawkins) Martin

Sons: Joseph Martin and Stephen Lawrence

Mr. Done was instantly killed in an explosion Buried in Salt Lake City Cemetery. Survived by wife, sons, mother, two sisters, Mary D Curtis (Brigham Young Univ 1936–37), the wife of Arthur William Curtis (Brigham Young Univ. 1936–37) of Central Valley, Calif, and Miss Joanne Done of Salt Lake City, and four brothers, Willard Edwin Done (B.S Brigham Young Univ. 1939) of Salt Lake City, Melvin James Done (Univ. Utah 1937–39), Arwell Lee Done (Univ. Utah 1941–42), and Arthur Adelbert Done of Salt Lake City

#### SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

George Foster Fiske, M.D. 1883.

Born January 26, 1860, in Madison, Conn. Died October 18, 1943, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Samuel Fiske (B A Amherst Coll. 1848, M.A 1851; Andover Theological Seminary 1850–52) of Madison; minister and author; captain 14th Connecticut Volunteers during Civil War; son of David and Laura (Severance) Fiske of Madison. Mother, Elizabeth Leavitt (Foster) Fiske (Mount Holyoke Coll. ex-'59), daughter of Rev. Aaron Foster (B A. Dartmouth Coll 1822, M.A. 1825; grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1825) and Dorothy Ashley (Leavitt) Foster of Pendleton, S C., and East Charlemont, Mass.

B.A. Amherst College 1881, M A 1886 (member Alpha Delta Phi and Phi Beta Kappa); attended Yale School of Medicine 1882–83 (M.D 1883); studied at universities of Gottingen and Halle 1884–86 (associated with the Royal Eye Clinic, Halle, 1885–86); eye and ear specialist in Chicago 1886–1943; assistant surgeon Illinois Eye and Ear Infirmary 1887–88; a founder and surgeon Henrotin Hospital, and surgeon St. Luke's Hospital; ophthalmologist Maurice Porter Memorial Hospital; professor of otology Chicago Policlinic; lecturer, and author of articles on ophthalmology; fellow American College of Surgeons, member Chicago Medical Society, American Otological Society, American Ophthalmological Society (president), American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology, American Medical Association, and Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States

Married (1) August 9, 1888, in Peterborough, N H, Gertrude, daughter of Perkins Bass (B A Dartmouth Coll 1852) and Clara (Foster) Bass. Children. Samuel Bass, George Foster, Jr (Amherst ex-'14, M D Chicago Coll Medicine and Surgery 1917), and Clara Bass (died in infancy). Married (2) May 20, 1905, Edna Withers. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife and sons

# Gould Shelton Higgins, M.D. 1901.

Born July 2, 1875, in Huntington, Conn Died January 5, 1944, in Willimantic, Conn

Father, Rev Lucius H. Higgins (BA. 1860). Mother, Louise Young (Blakeslee) Higgins

Norwich (Conn.) Free Academy; worked in drug store of H. B. Smith, Norwich, 1894–96; attended Yale School of Medicine 1896–1901 (MD) 1901; member Skull and Sceptre); physician and surgeon in Hartford, Conn., 1901–04, North Haven 1904–25, Waterbury 1925, Deep River 1931, and South Coventry 1931-44; graduate New Haven School of Physical Therapy 1923, secretary and clinical instructor 1924–28; engaged in medical compensation service New York City 1929-31; commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, July 6, 1917; promoted Captain, Medical Corps, August 20, 1918; attended Medical Officers Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, September 15-November 25, 1917; assistant surgeon 105th Ammunition Train, Camp Sevier, November 26, 1917—April 4, 1918; overseas May 11, 1918—December 23, 1918; assistant surgeon 117th Infantry, April 1–July 15, 1918, 105th Field Signal Battalion, 30th Division, July 15-November 25, 1918, discharged January 15, 1919, deputy, Medical Emergency Service, Coventry Civilian Defense, World War II, member Connecticut State Medical Society, American Medical Association, and Congregational Church, South Coventry

Married (1) September 3, 1902, in Scotland, Conn, Marie C, daughter of John B and Josephine (Cunningham) Bacon Daughter. Harriet Bacon (Skidmore Coll. ex-'36), the wife of Alden Allen Mason. Mrs. Higgins is deceased. Married (2) August 24, 1928, Ann Wright

Death due to an accidental overdose of nembutal Buried in Fairview Cemetery, West Hartford, Conn Survived by wife, daughter, and two sisters, Mrs. Mary H. Russell and Mrs. Jennette H. Preston, and two brothers, Henry DeWitte Higgins and David Winne Higgins, all of West Hartford.

# Clement Channing Nevin, M.D. 1908.

Born July 26, 1882, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 12, 1944, in Edgartown, Mass

Father, William Channing Nevin, author and lawyer in Philadelphia; founder Philadelphia Evening Express, son of Rev. Edwin Henry Nevin (grad. Jefferson Coll. 1833; Western Theological Seminary 1833–34; Princeton Theological Seminary 1834–36) and Ruth Channing (Little) Nevin of Philadelphia, and New Athens, Ohio. Mother, Anna Josepha (Shiverick) Nevin; daughter of Clement Francis Shiverick (M.D. Columbia Univ. 1845) and Mary Annette (McCashion) Shiverick of New Bedford and Edgartown, Mass.

Edgartown High School; attended Clark University, and Yale School of Medicine 1904–08 (M.D. cum laude 1908; Class treasurer; member Alpha Kappa Kappa); did postgraduate work at Harvard Medical School 1908–

o9; physician in Edgartown 1909–44; secretary staff Martha's Vineyard Hospital, Oak Bluffs; school physician Edgartown and West Tisbury; medical examiner Dukes County; examining physician local draft board No. 43 during World War I; member Martha's Vineyard Medical Society (president), American Medical Association, and First Congregational Church of Edgartown.

Married December 1, 1909, in Edgartown, Margaret Dexter, daughter of Joseph Baylies and Mary Eliza (Dexter) Worth. Children: Margaret Ruth (School of the Museum of Fine Arts [Boston] 1928–29), the wife of Kenneth Taylor Galley (Clark Univ. 1927–28; Bates Coll. 1928–29), and Edwin Worth (New England Conservatory of Music 1940–41).

Death due to acute hepatitis. Buried in West Side Cemetery, Edgartown. Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, mother, and a brother, William Shiverick Nevin of Edgartown.

# Benson Joseph O'Grady, M.D. 1924.

Born January 2, 1898, in Florence, Mass. Died February 11, 1944, in Hoboken, N.J.

Father, Michael John O'Grady, associated with Corticelli Silk Company, Florence, son of Thomas Richard and Margaret Marcella (Rowe) O'Grady of Florence. Mother, Bridget Matilda (Shea) O'Grady; daughter of Patrick John and Bridget Mary (Commins) Shea of Florence. Yale relatives include a nephew, Lawrence Peter Shea (School of Medicine December 1946).

Northampton (Mass) High School; B.A. College of the Holy Cross 1920; attended Yale School of Medicine 1921–24 (M.D. 1924; member Nu Sigma Nu), interne St. Vincent's Hospital, New York City, summer 1923 and St. Mary's Hospital, Hoboken, 1924–25; physician and surgeon in Hoboken 1926–44, associate physician Hoboken Industrial Surgical Clinic 1926–44, planned the rebuilt X-ray department of St. Mary's Hospital, and head of the department; school physician A. J. Demerest High School; fellow American Medical Association; member Hudson County Medical Society, American Legion, Holy Name Society, and Our Lady of Grace Church (Roman Catholic), Hoboken.

Married November 11, 1926, in Hoboken, Regina Agnes, daughter of Thomas Aloysius and Katherine (Kelleher) Dohn. Children: Regina Catherine, Marita Angela, and Benson Joseph, Jr.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Holy Name Cemetery, Jersey City, N J. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. Lawrence David Shea of Florence, and four brothers, Rev. Augustine Bernard O'Grady (B A. Coll of the Holy Cross 1915) of Huntington, Mass, and Thomas

Matthew O'Grady, William Francis O'Grady, and James Gerald O'Grady, all of Florence.

# Roderick Frederick MacDougal, M.D. 1935.

Born May 7, 1909, in East Millinocket, Maine Died February 24, 1944, in Liverpool, England.

Father, Wilbur Edwin MacDougal (Ph C Univ Maine 1898; M D. Coll. Physicians and Surgeons [Baltimore] 1904), a physician in Dover-Foxcroft, Maine; son of Fred and Delia (Campbell) MacDougal of Lincoln, Maine Mother, Mary Augusta (Weymouth) MacDougal, daughter of Albert H and Mary E (Haynes) Weymouth of Howland, Maine

Foxcroft Academy; B.S Colby College 1931 (member Zeta Ps1), attended Yale School of Medicine 1931–35 (MD 1935); interne Strong Memorial Hospital, Rochester, N.Y., 1935–36 and assistant resident in obstetrics and gynecology 1936–37; associate resident in obstetrics and gynecology University Hospital, Iowa City, Iowa, 1937–38 and resident 1938–39; assistant in obstetrics and gynecology University of Rochester School of Medicine and Dentistry 1936–37 and State University of Iowa College of Medicine 1937–38, and instructor 1938–39, physician, specializing in obstetrics and gynecology, Cedar Rapids, Iowa, 1939–42; member Dover-Foxcroft Baptist Church.

Married November 4, 1939, in Cedar Rapids, Mildred, daughter of Stanley Lawrence and Sarah Margaret (Howe) Greaves No children

Commissioned Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, September 26, 1942; camp inspector, Camp Phillips, Salina, September, 1942—November, 1943, and at a base in England December, 1943—February 24, 1944.

Death due to acute heart failure following an attack of influenza. Buried in American Military Cemetery, Brookwood, England. Survived by wife, parents, and a brother, Albert Frederick MacDougal (Colby Coll. ex-'28; D.M D Harvard 1930) of Bangor, Maine

# John Hall Bates, M.D. 1941.

Born August 21, 1912, in Warren, Conn.
Missing in action February 1, 1943, in the Pacific area
Presumptive date of death February 2, 1944

Father, John E Bates, president J. E. Bates, Inc., hat merchants, New York City; son of Erastus and Caroline (Page) Bates of Warren Mother, Mary Dederick (Hall) Bates (B.A. Barnard Coll 1902), daughter of Isaac

Hollister Hall, Litt D., L.H.D. (B A. Hamilton Coll. 1859, Ph D. 1875; LL.B. Columbia Univ. 1865), and Fannie Murden (Dederick) Hall of New York City.

Ridgefield (Conn.) School for Boys; B.A. Hamilton College 1936 (member Alpha Delta Phi); attended Yale School of Medicine 1937–41 (M.D. 1941); interne Royal Victoria Hospital, Montreal, July 1, 1941—June 30, 1942, and appointed assistant resident in surgery there July 1, 1942; granted license to practice in Connecticut July, 1942; member First Presbyterian Church, Mount Vernon, N.Y.

Unmarried

Appointed assistant surgeon, with rank of Lieutenant (j.g.), Medical Corps, U.S. Naval Reserve, May 18, 1942 (to rank from April 20, 1942); on active duty at U.S. Naval Hospital, Newport, July 15, 1942, until September 17, 1942, when transferred to Bath, Maine, for duty in connection with outfitting the U.S.S.——, a destroyer; medical officer aboard that vessel when placed in commission.

Lieutenant Bates was reported missing in action as of February 1, 1943, when the —— was sunk in an engagement with enemy planes south of Savo Island. In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as February 2, 1944. Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by mother, a brother, George Page Bates, USN.R (B.A Hamilton Coll 1936), and a half brother, Franklin S. Bates, '14. Another half brother, Harold S. Bates, '09, died in 1919.

#### DIVINITY SCHOOL

# Robert Walter Sharp, B.D. 1886.

Born November 2, 1857, in Phillipsburg, N.J. Died June 21, 1944, in Springfield, N.J.

Father, Dr. John Sharp, son of William and Mary (Fives) Sharp of Easton, Pa. Mother, Mary Martha (Shimer) Sharp, daughter of William

and Mary Shimer of Phillipsburg.

BA Lafayette College 1880; attended Yale Divinity School 1883–86 (B.D. 1886), preached at Sidney, N Y., 1886–87 and Saugerties 1887–89, ordained in Congregational church, Foxboro, Mass, September 12, 1889, and minister there 1889–92; minister Thomaston, Conn., 1892 until retirement from the ministry 1897; in wholesale dry goods business, New York City, 1897–1905; founded and operated Peoples Collateral Loan Association, Newark, N J., 1905–15 and a similar business in New York City 1915–20; salesman for a piano firm in New Haven, Conn, 1927 until retirement 1929; resided in East Orange, N J, 1897–1927 and Hamden and New Haven 1927–38, attended Presbyterian church

Married in 1886, in Brooklyn, Ella, daughter of William and Harriet (Skinner) Hopkins. Children Genevieve (Mrs Charles Teale Rue) and

Vera: Mrs. Sharp died July 4, 1931

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange, N.J. Survived by daughters, two grandchildren, two half sisters, Mrs. Paul Hartmann and Mrs. John R. Morss, both of Brooklyn, and a half brother, Howard Webster of Brooklyn.

#### James Wilson Bixler, B.D. 1887.

Born February 28, 1861, in Hanover, Pa. Died August 22, 1943, in Exeter, N.H.

Father, David Daniel Bixler, of Hanover, engaged in hardware business, son of David and Susan (Long) Bixler of Hanover. Mother, Almira (Wilson) Bixler; daughter of John and Rachael (Mantell) Wilson of Lower Chanceford Township, York County, Pa.

Dickinson Seminary, Williamsport, Pa (founder, and editor *The Dickinson Liberal* 1877–78); B A Amherst College 1882, M A 1887 (member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa); principal Glastonbury (Conn.) Academy 1882–84; attended Yale Divinity School 1884–88 (B.D. 1887, Commencement speaker; Hooker Fellow 1887–88) and Yale Graduate School

1900-02, assistant minister United Church, New Haven, 1887-88 and First Church, Hartford, 1888-89; ordained in North Congregational Church, Haverhill, Mass., October 28, 1889, and minister there 1889-91; minister Second Congregational Church, New London, Conn., 1891-1916, and Congregational Church (union of First and Phillips Congregational churches), Exeter, NH, 1918-36, minister emeritus 1936-43; supply minister Brentwood (NH) Congregational Church 1937-43; professor of Biblical and Christian theology Atlanta (Ga) Theological Seminary 1916-18, D.D Roanoke College 1903; member New Hampshire House of Representatives 1925-29 (chairman Industrial Schools Commission and New Hampshire State Hospital Commission) and State Senator 1933-35 (chairman Educational Commission); moderator Association of Ministers of Exeter and Vicinity 1923-43; president Playground Association, New London, and Eventide Home for the Aged, Exeter, 1934-43; overseer of Charitable Fund, Amherst College, 1891-1941; director Associated Charities and YMCA, New London; corporate member American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions; member Masonic order.

Married (1) August 4, 1891, in Amherst, Elizabeth James Seelye (Smith Coll ex-'84), daughter of Rev. Julius Hawley Seelye, D.D., LL.D. (B A Amherst 1849), and Elizabeth (James) Seelye. Son: Julius Seelye (B A Amherst 1916, M A 1920; Ph D Yale 1924). Mrs Bixler died April 10, 1894 Married (2) September 7, 1898, in Amherst, Mabel Seelye (B A Smith Coll 1894), a sister of his first wife. Children: Elizabeth Seelye (B A Smith Coll 1922, M A Radcliffe Coll. 1924; B.N. Yale 1927; dean Yale School of Nursing), James Wilson, Jr (B A Marietta Coll 1926), and Herbert Edwards (B A Amherst 1932, M.S. [Trans.E] Yale 1933). Mrs. Bixler died July 2, 1919 Married (3) October 15, 1921, in South Berwick, Maine, Clara Matilda Burleigh (B A. Smith Coll. 1904), daughter of John Micajah Burleigh (B.A Williams Coll. 1878) and Lucy (Dickerson) Burleigh, and niece of Edward S Burleigh, ex-'77.

Death due to a heart block Buried in Exeter Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, nine grandchildren, and three brothers, Samuel Long Bixler and Charles Saxton Bixler, both of Hanover, and David Herbert Bixler (BA Amherst Coll 1896) of Rutland, Vt

### Frank LaDu Ferguson, B.D. 1888.

Born June 21, 1861, in Tamworth, Ontario, Canada. Died May 21, 1944, in Orlando, Fla

Father, Rev John Ferguson, a Methodist minister, Province of Ontario; son of Duncan and Susannah (Preston) Ferguson of Perth, On-

tario. Mother, Catherine Matilda (Pomeroy) Ferguson; daughter of Dan-

iel and Sarah Agnes (Taylor) Pomeroy of Perth.

Toronto, Ontario, public schools; B.A. Albert (Ontario) College 1879, engaged in business 1879-87, ordained in Congregational church, Clio, Mich., July 21, 1885; attended Yale Divinity School 1887–89 (B.D 1888); minister First Congregational Church, Milford, Conn, 1888-90 and Congregational Church, Chadron, Nebr., 1890–93 (principal Chadron Academy); eastern field secretary Congregational Education Society, Boston, 1893–98 (founder academy department); trustee Pomona College 1897– 1901 and president of the college 1898–1901; selectman Town of Winchester, Mass., 1901-05; in real-estate and lumber business, Jamaica, NY, 1902–25 (president Spartan Realty Company 1906–25 and Franklin Apartment Hotel Corporation 1911-22); president and manager New York and Florida Associates, Orlando, 1919–29, Ferguson Construction Company, Orlando, 1920–26, and Massachusetts Investment Company, Boston, 1921– 22; organizer Orlando Taxpayers Association 1926 and president 1926-36, owner Orlando Weekly News 1929-44; president South Orlando Civic and South Dixie associations; on executive committee Yale Club of Central Florida 1927 and board of directors 1929-30, 1931-32, delegate to National Progressive Convention 1912 and on New York City Fusion Committee 1913, member Orlando Chamber of Commerce, Sons of the American Revolution, and Plymouth Congregational Church (later Church of the Pilgrims), Brooklyn, NY (president board of trustees 1910-15), attended Congregational church, Winter Park, Fla

Married December 16, 1884, in Fremont, Nebr., Margaret Jeannette, daughter of Samuel and Jeanette V. (McCord) Maxwell. Children John Maxwell (B A. Harvard 1908; M A Columbia Univ 1909, Ph D 1927, J U.D. Univ Leipzig 1912), Franklin Pomeroy (B A Harvard 1910, LL B Columbia Univ. 1913), and Jeannette (B.A Barnard Coll. 1914;

died April 29, 1918).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife, sons, three grandchildren, and a brother, John Calvin Ferguson, LL D. (B A. Boston Univ. 1886, Ph D 1902), of New York City.

# George Henry Jackson, B.D. 1889

Born February 28, 1863, in Natick, Mass Died November 13, 1943, in Los Angeles, Calif

Parents, James Henry and Mary Avilda (Roberts) Jackson Natick High School; graduate Colgate Theological Seminary 1887; ordained in Baptist church, Natick, June 29, 1887, minister Immanuel Baptist Church, New Haven, Conn., 1887–93; attended Yale Divinity School 1888–91 (BD 1889) and Yale School of Medicine 1889–92 (MD. 1892); M.A. Shaw University 1892, medical missionary American Baptist Foreign Mission Society, Lukunga, Congo Free State, Africa, 1893–95 and in charge of a medical school there 1895–97; United States consul at Cognac and La Rochelle, France, 1897–1914, in importing and exporting business, Paris, 1914–35, resided in Los Angeles 1935–43 and engaged in missionary work; author The Medicinal Value of French, an organizer Pan-African Congress, member Temple Baptist Church, Los Angeles.

Married (1) April 24, 1888, Grace, daughter of George W. Lillie. Children Donald Fancher (Univ. Oxford); Helen Dorothea, the wife of Leopold Dupuy; Grace Marjorie, the wife of George Haury, George Aunis, and Mary Denise, the wife of Joseph Bazanjon. Married (2) about 1920, in France, Alice, daughter of Paul and Maria Brouillard. Daughter

Christiane

Death due to a stroke. Buried in Valhalla Cemetery, Burbank, Calif. Survived by wife, children, grandchildren, and a brother, Stephen Jackson of Natick

# Winfield Scott Manship, B.D. 1889.

Born February 4, 1861, in Honey Brook, Pa. Died July 12, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Nathan Manship, owner and proprietor of a general store in Honey Brook, son of Andrew Manship. Mother, Caroline (Bruner) Manship, daughter of Abraham and Caroline (Talbott) Bruner of Honey Brook

B A. Wesleyan University 1886 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon); attended Yale Divinity School 1887–89 (B.D. 1889) and Yale Graduate School 1896–1901, 1908–12 (Ph D. 1901); traveled and studied at universities of Berlin, Halle, and Jena 1895; ordained in Methodist Episcopal church, Danbury, Conn., 1893; minister Center Moriches, N Y, 1889–93, Summerfield Methodist Episcopal Church, Bridgeport, Conn., 1893–95, South Meriden 1896–1901, Unionville 1901–03, Floral Park, N.Y., 1903–06, Middlefield, Conn., 1906–08, Cheshire 1908–12, West Suffield 1912–14, East Berlin 1915–16, and Bloomfield 1917; associated with Aetna Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1917–18, civil service clerk United States Navy Department, Office of Supplies and Accounts, 1918 until retirement 1933, attended George Washington University Law School 1926–31 (LL.B 1931), admitted to District of Columbia bar 1931; Sunday-school superintendent Army War College, Washington, 1918–33; associate minister Italian Methodist Church, New Haven, 1934–43 and vice-president

and superintendent Sunday-school domestic work 1939-43, member New York East Annual Methodist Conference (assistant Conference secretary 1896-1918).

Married December 19, 1896, in Center Moriches, Frances Bishop Petty (B A. Wesleyan Univ. 1896; M D. Woman's Medical Coll Pennsylvania 1912), daughter of John Wesley and Frances Adelaide (Bishop) Petty No children.

Death due to general debility Buried in Methodist Church Cemetery, Honey Brook. Survived by wife.

# Manasseh Garabed Papazian, B.D. 1889.

Born February 16, 1865, in Berejik, Turkey Died July 11, 1943, in Fresno, Calif

Father, Rev Garabed Papazian, a minister in Cilicia, Asia Minor, son of Mark Papazian of Aintab, Cilicia. Mother, Mary (Nazarian) Papazian B.A. Central Turkey College, Aintab, 1882, attended Yale Divinity School 1886-89 (BD 1889; Commencement speaker) and Andover Theological Seminary 1889–90; ordained in First Congregational Church, Rowley, Mass., May 28, 1890, and minister there 1890-92; minister Haik Evangelical Church, Aintab, and instructor Central Turkey College 1892-1907; minister Armenian Evangelical Church, New York City, 1908–14 and Pilgrim Armenian Congregational Church, Fresno, 1914-40, minister emeritus 1940–43; minister ad interim Bethany Armenian Congregational Church, Oakland, Gethsemane Church, Los Angeles, and Cılıcıa Church, Pasadena, 1940-42; at various times general evangelist and home secretary Armenian Missionary Association of America, teacher pastoral theology, School of Religion, Athens, Greece, and minister Armenian Presbyterian Church, West New York, N J; president Fresno Ministerial Union 1917 and 1928; moderator Northern California Congregational Church Conference 1923 and Armenian Evangelical Union of California 1938, awarded diploma in recognition of distinguished service to San Joaquin Valley by International Institute of Fresno 1938, D.D. Pacific School of Religion 1939; author in Turkish. The Martyrs of Cilicia (1909), Truth and Life, A Collection of Sermons in Turkish and Essays (1912), Sermons in Armenian (1915), Seventy Years (1935), If I Were Fifty Years Younger (1938), Mother and I (1940), and History of Pilgrim Armenian Congre-

Married August 11, 1892, in Rowley, Mary Eliza, daughter of William Caldwell and Lucy Pickard (Bradstreet) Foster Children William Hohanness (died in childhood); Laura (Pomona Coll. ex-'20), the wife of

gational Church in Fresno (1943), member American committee for Ar-

menian-Syrian Relief Fund.

Michael Gasper Kaprielian (B.S. Univ. Southern California 1913); Robert Aram (Stanford Univ. ex-'23; died September 22, 1932); George Mark Foster (B.A. Stanford Univ. 1922); and Paul Bradstreet Foster (B.A. Pomona Coll. 1925; Stanford Univ. 1925–26).

Death due to anterior poliomyelitis. Buried in Belmont Memorial Park, Fresno. Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, seven grandchildren, and

one great-grandchild.

# John Thomas Nichols, B.D. 1890.

Born February 13, 1861, in Freetown, Mass. Died March 2, 1944, in Assonet, Mass.

Father, Thomas Gilbert Nichols (B A. Union Coll. 1843; M D. Jefferson Medical Coll. 1847), a physician in Assonet; son of John and Margaret (Winslow) Nichols of Assonet Mother, Irene Lazell (Crane) Nichols; daughter of Barzillai and Lydia (Eddy) Crane of Berkley, Mass. Yale relatives include a sister, Hester Deane Nichols, Graduate School

1897–98

Phillips-Andover; B A Harvard University 1884; attended Union Theological Seminary 1887–88 and Yale Divinity School 1888–90 (B.D. 1890); member Yale group of six Divinity School graduates who engaged in frontier missionary work in eastern Washington beginning in 1890; ordained in Congregational church, Pataha, Wash., February 21, 1891, and minister there 1890–94; minister Edgewater Congregational Church, Seattle, 1894–1902, superintendent Congregational Church Extension Society, Seattle, 1902–04, minister Owen Avenue Congregational Church, Seattle, 1904–07, First Congregational Church, Asbury Park, N J., 1907–10, Park Avenue Congregational Church, Meadville, Pa, 1910–22, and Congregational Church, Ellington, Conn., 1922 until retirement 1935; resided in Assonet 1935–44; D D Allegheny College 1919; vice-president Connecticut Congregational Club 1926–27; secretary Class of 1890 D. from 1923 to 1944.

Married October 15, 1891, in North Woodstock, Conn., Anna Caroline Herrick (grad Mount Holyoke Coll 1877), daughter of Rev. Henry Herrick (B A 1822) and Sarah Maria (Wright) Herrick, granddaughter of Rev Claudius Herrick (B A 1798), and sister of Rev. Edward P Herrick, '71 D Children Pierrepont Herrick (B.A. Allegheny Coll. 1914, M A. Harvard 1921, Ph D 1924) and Dorothy Winslow (B A Allegheny Coll. 1918), the wife of Frederick John Powell (B.S. Allegheny Coll. 1916). Mrs.

Nichols died March 17, 1937.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Nichols Cemetery, Assonet. Survived by children and three grandchildren.

#### Elmer Addison Dent, B.D. 1891.

Born November 30, 1861, in Athens County, Ohio Died June 29, 1944, in Hamden, Conn

Father, Richard Shively Dent, a farmer, builder, and merchant in Millfield, Ohio; son of George Eli and Sarah Jane (Calvert) Dent of Jacobsburg, Ohio. Mother, Malvina (Evans) Dent; daughter of Aaron and Rachel (Koons) Evans of Hebbardsville, Ohio.

Atwood Institute, Albany, Ohio, and Northwestern Ohio Normal Institute, Ada; organized Athens (Ohio) Summer Normal School for Teachers, and taught there 1887; Ph B. Ohio University 1888, Ph.M. 1891 (member Phi Delta Theta); attended Yale Divinity School 1888-91 (BD 1891), and Boston University School of Theology 1891-92 (S.T B 1892); ordained deacon in Methodist Episcopal church, Danbury, Conn, 1893, and elder in New Haven 1895; minister Unionville 1890-92 and Windsor Locks 1893–96; pastor St. Andrew's Church, New Haven, 1896–97, People's Sixty-first Street Church, New York City, 1898–1905, South Park Church, Hartford, Conn., 1905-09, and First Methodist Episcopal Church, New Haven, 1909–14; superintendent New Haven District of Methodist Churches 1914-20; secretary Committee on Conservation and Advance, New York Area, 1920–24; minister Trinity Church, Richmond Hill, NY., 1924 until retirement 1927; resided in Orange, Conn, and Belleview, Fla., 1927-44; D.D. Ohio University 1902; secretary Law and Order League of Athens; mayor of Belleview 1941, 1942, member Athenaeum Literary Society, Masonic order, and First Methodist Church, New Haven.

Married April 19, 1893, in Everett, Mass, Madeline Campbell, daughter of Edward Mortimer and Jessie (Percy) Archibald Daughters Marguerite Dent Nelson Bonner, the wife of Donald Cameron Alford (Princeton ex-'20), and Gwendolyn Dent Dyer (Randolph-Macon Woman's Coll. ex-'18), the wife of Remore Bradley Ross.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Pleasant Valley Cemetery, Barkhamsted, Conn. Survived by wife, daughters, three grandchildren, one of whom is Truman D. Dyer, ex-'41 S., three great-grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Wiley Sprague of Van Nuys, Calif., and Mrs Louis Russell of Athens, and a brother, Evans Dent of Canton, Ohio.

### Samuel Hetherington Woodrow, B.D. 1892.

Born March 23, 1862, in Melbourne, Quebec, Canada. Died September 5, 1943, in Chautauqua, Ill

Parents, Clark and Eliza (Spear) Woodrow B.A. Bates College 1888; attended Yale Divinity School 1889–92 (BD

1892; Commencement speaker); ordained in Congregational church Mechanic Falls, Maine, 1888 and minister there 1888-89; minister Westerly, R I., 1892-95, Plymouth Congregational Church, Providence, 1895-98, Hope Congregational Church, Springfield, Mass, 1898-1907, First Congregational Church, Washington, 1907-13, Pilgrim Congregational Church, St Louis, 1913-21, and Newton Highlands, Mass, 1921 until retirement 1928; supply minister Pacific coast summer 1921; resided in California, Colorado, and Illinois 1928–43, D.D. Bates College 1903; author: Probability and Possibility of Miracles (1899) and Essential Truth (1904); president Congregational Home Missionary Society 1910–13 and Boston Seaman's Friend Society 1927; trustee Bates College 1905–20, Hartford Seminary Foundation, Atlanta Theological School, and Drury College 1915-22, director and member Board of Examiners from Missouri, Chicago Theological Seminary, 1919–21; delegate missionary convention at Edinburgh 1910; moderator Massachusetts Conference of Congregational Churches 1921-27, graduate member Phi Beta Kappa

Married November 6, 1888, in Auburn, Maine, Minnie Clough Chil-

dren Frank Clough and Christine Hetherington (deceased).

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Valhalla Cemetery, St Louis. Survived by wife and son.

# Harry Elmer Small, B.D. 1893.

Born November 6, 1862, in Machiasport, Maine. Died December 10, 1943, in North Berwick, Maine.

Father, Andrew Jackson Small, a sea captain; son of Job and Susan (Lane) Small of Machiasport Mother, Mary Ellen (Phinney) Small; daughter of Matthias and Eleanor Bartlett (Berry) Phinney of Machiasport.

Washington Academy, East Machias, Maine; B.A Amherst College 1890, attended Yale Divinity School 1890–94 (BD 1893), ordained in Second Congregational Church, Guilford, Conn, June 20, 1893, and minister there 1893–95; minister Riverside, RI, 1895–97, First Congregational Church, Goshen, Conn., 1897–1928, and First Congregational Church and Westminster Congregational Church, Canterbury, Conn., 1928 until retirement 1938; resided in North Berwick 1938–43; representative from Goshen in Connecticut General Assembly session of 1927, vice-president Litchfield County University Club 1928–29; member Litchfield Northeast Association of Churches and Ministers and Goshen Congregational Church

Married January 5, 1895, in Guilford, Bertha Bartlett (Oberlin Coll. ex-'97), daughter of Edwin Williams and Annis Sophronia (Dudley)

Bartlett. Children: Eleanor Bartlett (Inst. of Musical Art 1919–21), the wife of Horace Norton (Inst. of Musical Art 1921–22); Miriam Rossiter (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1919, M.A Yale 1923, Ph D 1925), Harry Eliot (died May 19, 1911); and Edwin Williams, '30.

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Center Cemetery, Goshen Survived by wife, daughters, one son, a sister, Mrs. Blanche Small Cole of Portland, Maine, and a brother, Capt. Clarence Augustus Small of Machiasport.

#### Jacob Lewis Hartsock, B.D. 1894.

Born January 20, 1873, in Middletown, Md. Died December 29, 1943, in Laurel, Md.

Father, Rev. Samuel Mitchell Hartsock, minister Baltimore Conference of Methodist Episcopal Church; son of Daniel and Lydia (Mitchell) Hartsock of Mount Union, Pa. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Lewis) Hartsock, daughter of Jacob and Delia (Smith) Lewis of Frederick, Md.

Wright's Preparatory School, Baltimore; attended Johns Hopkins University 1888–91 and Yale Divinity School 1891–94 (BD 1894), ordained in Methodist Episcopal church, New York City, 1896 and minister Metropolitan Temple 1896–97, minister First Church, Highland, NY, 1897–98, Central Church, Yonkers, NY, 1898–1905, and Union Church, New York City, 1905–15; field secretary Goucher College 1915–16, minister Trinity Church, Newburgh, N.Y., 1916–21, Church of St Paul and St Andrew, New York City, 1921–27, Trinity Church, Poughkeepsie, NY, 1927–28, and Methodist Episcopal Church, Ossining, N.Y, 1928–32; superintendent Poughkeepsie district New York Conference Methodist Episcopal Church 1932 until retirement 1938 because of ill-health; resided near Laurel 1938–43; chaplain Empire State Society Sons of the American Revolution 1926–28; affiliated with the Quarterly Conference of Trinity Church, Poughkeepsie.

Unmarried.

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Ivy Hill Cemetery, Laurel Survived by a sister, Miss Marie A. Hartsock of Laurel, and a brother, St John Hartsock (died May 20, 1944).

### Gilbert Augustus Shaw, B.D. 1894.

Born April 17, 1862, in Harvard, Mass Died March 8, 1944, in North East, Pa.

Parents, Andrew and Ellen Marinda (Whitemore) Shaw.
Attended Andover Theological Seminary 1889–91, Bangor Theological

Seminary 1891–93, and Yale Divinity School 1893–94 (B.D. 1894); ordained in Congregational Church, Clayton, N.Y., June 14, 1894, and minister there 1894–96; minister Deep River, N.Y., 1896–97, Greenwich, Conn., 1897–98, and New England Congregational Church, Brooklyn, N.Y., 1898–99; ordained deacon in Protestant Episcopal Church December 13, 1899, and priest June 5, 1900; rector Church of the Redeemer, Watertown, N.Y., 1900–10, Grace Church, Riverhead, 1910–12, and St. Peter's Church, Hazleton, Pa., 1912–16; associate rector Grace Church, Buffalo, N.Y., 1916–19; rector St. John's Church, Medina, 1919–25, Trinity Church, Canaseraga, 1925–29, and Trinity Church, Fredonia, 1929 until retirement 1930; resided in Macedon 1930–44.

Married April 10, 1884, in Middletown, N.Y., Nellie Kate, daughter of David R Miller. Children: Ethel, the wife of James M. Savage, Lillian, and Reginald Gilbert (B.A. Hobart Coll. 1923; M.A. Columbia Univ.

1937). Mrs. Shaw died March 22, 1933.

Death due to an embolism. Buried in North Watertown Cemetery, Watertown. Survived by children, four grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren.

# Raymond Cummings Brooks, B.D. 1895.

Born September 26, 1869, in Tabor, lowa. Died May 14, 1944, in Upland, Calif.

Father, Rev. William Myron Brooks, D.D. (B.A. Oberlin Coll. 1857, M.A. 1873), professor of moral philosophy Tabor College and its first president, son of Samuel and Sophia (Johnson) Brooks of LaPorte, Ohio. Mother, Adelia Sophia (Jones) Brooks; daughter of Jonas and Pamela (Cummings) Jones of Oberlin, Ohio.

B A. Tabor College 1891; attended Oberlin College Graduate School of Theology 1891–92 and Yale Divinity School 1892–93 and 1894–95 (B.D. 1895, Commencement speaker); ordained in Congregational church, Elliott, Iowa, October 31, 1893, instructor in philosophy Tabor College 1895–96, minister First Congregational Church, Eugene, Ore., 1896–1900, Pilgrim Congregational Church, Oakland, Calif., 1900–08, Mills College 1901–08, and First Congregational Church, Walla Walla, Wash., 1908–13; associate professor of philosophy Whitman College 1910–13; professor of homiletics Pacific School of Religion 1913–19; minister First Congregational Church, Berkeley, Calif., 1913–21, trustee Pomona College 1915–21 and member faculty 1921–44 (Nancy M. Lyon Professor of Religious Education and head department of religion 1921–35; professor emeritus 1935–44); lecturer convocation Yale Divinity School, Hartford Seminary Foundation, and Bangor Theological Seminary 1928; Gates lecturer Grinnell

College 1930; D.D. Tabor College 1905 and Whitman College 1913; president Pilgrim Place in Claremont 1921–44 and Cummock School, Los Angeles, 1935–42; moderator Northern California Conference of Congregational Churches 1908; member Commission on Evangelism and Devotional Life, National Council of the Congregational Churches; on executive committee Congregational Home Missionary Society 1900–08; delegate from Yale to Scripps College for inauguration of President Jaqua 1927.

Married June 18, 1896, in Colorado Springs, Sylvia Mabel Drake (B.A. Tabor Coll. 1894; New England Conservatory of Music 1894–95), daugh-

ter of Solomon and Anne Amelia (Killam) Drake. No children.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Ashes interred in Redlands (Calif) Cemetery. Survived by wife, three sisters, Edith Marian Brooks (B A Tabor Coll. 1886; Wellesley Coll. 1886–87; Mrs. Edmund De Witt Brooks) and Anna B. Wyckoff (B.A. Tabor Coll. and Boston Univ. 1897; B S. Columbia Univ. 1906; Mrs. Rufus Judson Wyckoff), both of Westwood, Calif., and Adelia B. Snow (Tabor Coll. 1895–96; Boston Univ. 1896–98, B L. Univ. Minnesota 1899), the wife of George Crocker Snow (grad. Massachusetts Normal Art School 1898) of Waltham, Mass

### Christopher Walter Collier, B.D. 1896.

Born February 23, 1866, in Westbury, England Died May 2, 1944, in Claremont, Calif.

Parents, David Allen and Louisa (Slade) Collier.

Bett's Academy, Stamford, Conn; B A Williams College 1892 (member Theta Delta Chi) and Harvard 1893; attended Yale Divinity School 1894–96 (B.D. 1896) and University of Berlin 1897–98; ordained in Congregational church, North Adams, Mass, January 4, 1894, minister East Hampton, Conn, 1894–97, Central Congregational Church, Orange, Mass., 1898–1905, Hammond Street Congregational Church, Bangor, Maine, 1905–16, and Hancock Congregational Church, Lexington, Mass, 1916 until retirement 1924; resided in California 1924–44; with American Field Service in France July, 1917—January, 1918, and acting chaplain American Red Cross Base Hospital No. 30, Royat, Puy de Dôme district, October, 1918—January, 1919

Married September 6, 1893, in Williamstown, Mass, Jennie, daughter of John and Lucinda (Beverley) Wheeler. No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis. Buried in Pomona (Calif) Mausoleum. Survived by wife.

The Rev. Mr Collier bequeathed a sum to the University, the income

of which is to be used for a scholarship for an undergraduate student in Yale College.

# Jay Birney Stanton, B.D. 1900.

Born November 4, 1871, in College Springs, Iowa Died April 16, 1944, in Lincoln, Nebr.

Father, Austin N Stanton, a farmer and nurseryman in College Springs. Mother, Isabel Sheppard (Boyles) Stanton, daughter of John Park and

Rebecca R (Sheppard) Boyles.

B.S Amity College 1893, M.S. 1896, B.A. 1897, M A 1898, attended University of Chicago Divinity School 1898–99 and Yale Divinity School 1899–1900 (B.D 1900), ordained in Congregational church, Carsonville, Mich, June 28, 1900, and minister there 1900–01, minister Congregational church, Glenwood, Iowa, 1901–02 and Cromwell 1902–04, and Villa Park Congregational Church, Denver, 1904–05, principal public school Van Wyck, Idaho, 1907–08 and Halfway, Ore, 1908–10; instructor Washoe (Idaho) public school 1910–11; engaged in farming in New Plymouth, Idaho, and College Springs 1911–24, studied at Chicago Theological Seminary 1924–26, traveled and engaged in writing and research in Dallas, Texas, Lincoln, Nebr, and Iowa City, Iowa, 1926–44.

Married October 15, 1894, in Oregon, Mo., Harriett Gale, daughter of Jay Birney Laughlin Children. Harold Willard (B.S. State Univ. Iowa 1924), Austin Nathan (B.S. State Univ. Iowa 1925; M.S. 1927), and Alice

Gale (State Univ. Iowa ex-'34)

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Wyuka Cemetery, Lincoln Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and three sisters, Miss Mary Stanton and Mrs Jean S Cunningham, both of College Springs, and Mrs. Anna S. Clelland of Arlington, S Dak.

#### Ernest Graham Guthrie, B.D. 1904.

Born December 21, 1879, in Dunedin, New Zealand. Died January 22, 1944, in Winter Park, Fla

Father, Henry Guthrie, shipowner and agent in Dunedin; son of Henry Guthrie of Largo, Scotland. Mother, Isabella Allen (Graham) Guthrie; daughter of Allen Graham of Kilmarnock, Scotland.

Obago Boys High School, Dunedin; B.A. University of New Zealand 1900, M A 1901; attended Presbyterian Theological Hall, Dunedin, 1901–03 and Yale Divinity School 1903–05 (BD 1904); ordained in Third

Presbyterian Church, Rochester, N.Y, 1906 and minister there 1905-07; minister in New Zealand 1907-08, First Congregational Church, Burlington, Vt., 1908-14, and Union Congregational Church, Boston, 1914-26, general director Chicago Congregational Union 1926-43; personnel director American Field Service April-November, 1917, spent some time on western front at request of French War Office, and lecturing in New England December, 1917—January, 1918, overseas as an observer for British Ministry of Information June-December, 1918; co-author The Significance of the Personality of Christ for the Minister of Today (1901); editorial adviser The Protestant 1938-43; sponsor Christianity and Crisis 1941-43; D.D. Chicago Theological Seminary and Carleton College 1927, Olivet College 1928 and LLD 1933; president Greater Boston Federation of Churches 1925-26; trustee Chicago Federation of Churches 1928-44 and Olivet College 1930–44, chairman College Church Movement 1942–44 and Illinois Committee for Assistance to War Victims 1940-42, vice-president Yale Divinity School Alumni Association of Eastern Massachusetts 1920, member Chicago City Managers Committee, Christian Unity Committee, Fight for Freedom Committee, Union for Democratic Action, National Commission for Inter-Church Relations, Committee to Defend America by Aiding the Allies, National Committee of the Christian Institute of American Democracy, and Wellington Avenue Congregational Church, Chicago.

Unmarried.

Death due to acute myocardial failure Buried in Hinsdale, Ill Survived by two sisters, Miss Margaret Ann Guthrie of Winter Park and Mrs Isobel G. Bethune of Christchurch, New Zealand, and four brothers, Harry and Edwin Guthrie of Dunedin, and George and Douglas Guthrie of Auckland.

#### [Homer] Maxwell Hall, B.D. 1910.

Born August 20, 1883, in Franklin, Ind Died May 18, 1944, in Marietta, Ohio

Father, Homer John Hall (MD Univ of Louisville 1877), a physician in Franklin; son of John Wesley and Amanda (Taylor) Hall of Crawford County, Pa. Mother, Frances Emeline (Hammon) Hall, daughter of Marshall Miron and Harriet Sophia (Cooper) Hammon of Crawford County.

Franklin High School; attended College of the Bible 1902–05, B.A. Transylvania College 1905 (member Pi Kappa Alpha); M A Butler University 1906; attended Yale Divinity School 1909–10 (BD 1910), ordained in Disciples of Christ Church, Franklin, June 24, 1906; Sunday

School evangelist, Christian Church of Nebraska, Sunday School secretary, Nebraska Christian Missionary Society, Lincoln, and editor Christian Reporter 1906-09; minister Christian Church, Athens, Ohio, 1910-11, Central Christian Church, Uniontown, Pa, 1911-13, First Christian Church, Portland, Ore., 1914, and Broad Street Church of Christ, Columbus, Ohio, 1917-20, general financial secretary Intercollegiate Prohibition Association, Chicago, and Ohio Anti-Saloon League 1915–16; assistant to director of City Survey Division, Interchurch World Movement, New York City, 1920, administration superintendent and director of Southeastern District, Ohio Sunday School Association, Marietta, 1921; state superintendent Division of School Administration, Ohio Sunday School Council of Religious Education, 1922-25, organized interdenominational cooperative program of weekday religious education in public schools of Marietta and Washington County; executive secretary Washington County Council of Religious Education 1925–30, and consulting secretary 1930–44; author Student Voters Manual (1921); delegate from Yale at 100th anniversary of Marietta College 1935; member committee to recodify election laws of the State of Ohio (1921).

Married December 12, 1907, in Lexington, Ky., Susan Newman (B.A. Transylvania Coll 1902, M.A. 1903), daughter of James William and Susan McBrayer (Arnold) Newman. Children: Frances Jessamine (B.A. Western Coll for Women 1929; M.A. Ohio State Univ. 1930), the wife of [Fred] Willis King (B Sc. Wilmington Coll. 1929; M.A. Haverford Coll. 1930, Ph D. Univ. Cincinnati 1939); Homer James (B.A. Marietta Coll. 1931, M.S. Ohio State Univ. 1932, Ph.D. 1935); and Newman Arnold (B A. Marietta Coll. 1934; Ph D. California Inst. of Technology 1938)

Death due to Parkinsonian syndrome Buried in Greenlawn Cemetery, Franklin Survived by wife, children, and six grandchildren.

#### Charles George Smith, B.D. 1910.

Born January 24, 1879, in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Died June 27, 1944, in Moncton, New Brunswick, Canada.

Father, John Smith, a farmer Mother, Emma (Bourne) Smith; daughter of William and Mary Ann (Pettit) Bourne of Westmarsh, Kent, England

Grammar School and Collegiate, Toronto; B.D Toronto Bible Training School (now Toronto Bible College) 1899; ordained in Baptist church, Stonebroom, Alfreton, England, June, 1901, and minister there 1901–05, attended Yale Divinity School 1905–08 and 1909–10 (B.D. 1910); minister Grand Avenue Baptist Church, New Haven, Conn., 1905–10, Victoria Avenue Baptist Church, Belleville, Ontario, 1910–18, and Temple Baptist

Church, Outremont, Montreal, 1918 until retirement 1943; on editorial staff Christian Index and Baptist Miscellany, member board of publications and periodicals Ontario and Quebec Baptist Convention; chairman educational committee Canadian Baptist 1931; corresponding secretary Montreal auxiliary British and Foreign Bible Society; moderator Quebec Baptist Association 1924–25; annual lecturer Dickensian Society, Montreal; member Masonic order.

Married July 1, 1902, in Toronto, Mabel, daughter of James and Sara (Reed) Leaman. Children: Dorothy May (MacMaster Univ 1920–22), the wife of Arthur Wilmot Eddy; Ralph Leaman (B.A. McGill Univ 1926, M.D 1933); and Marjory Bourne, the wife of Arthur Elbert Curtis, Jr (BS. McGill Univ. 1928). Mrs. Smith died February 17, 1941.

Death due to a stroke. Buried in Mount Royal Cemetery, Montreal Survived by children, three grandchildren, and three sisters, the Misses Annie and Nellie Smith and Mrs. F. C. Hartley, all of Toronto.

#### Thomas Penn Ullom, B.D. 1911.

Born August 7, 1867, in Antioch, Ohio Died March 4, 1944, in Columbus, Ohio

Father, Shadrach Mitchell Ullom, a miller in Antioch; son of Elijah Ullom of Antioch Mother, Sarah Ann (Penn) Ullom, daughter of Thomas and Martha (Paris) Penn of Antioch

During the 1880's was teacher and superintendent of an Indian school in Oklahoma Territory; B A. and M.A. Hon Bethany (W Va) College 1908; attended Yale Divinity School 1908–11 (B D. 1911), Yale Graduate School 1911–12 (M.A. 1912), Harvard Divinity School 1912–13, and Harvard College 1913–14; ordained in Disciples of Christ church, Antioch, 1897; general evangelist, Winona Lake, Ind, 1914–17, Y.M.C.A secretary Camp Gordon and Fort Dade 1918–19; industrial secretary Y M C A, Beloit, Wis., 1919–20; supply minister Presbyterian church Manitowoc, Wis, 1920–22; Presbyterian minister Worthington, Ohio, 1922–31, Pemberville 1931–41, and Columbus 1941–44; member Masonic order

Married August 15, 1907, in Antioch, Virginia, daughter of George and Mary (Merschrad) Hechler. Children Virginia Yale (BA and BS Bowling Green State Univ. 1935), the wife of Milton Ivan Edwards (Ohio State Univ. ex-'36); Paul Harvard (B.S. Bowling Green State Univ. 1940); and Martha Penn (Ohio State Univ. ex-'44), the wife of James Joseph Foley.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Franklin County, Ohio. Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. Alice U Dye of Cincinnati, and a brother, Frederick Gay Ullom of Columbus

#### John Evander Johnson, B.D. 1913.

Born May 22, 1880, in Timmonsville, S.C. Died November 24, 1943, in Gainesville, Fla.

Father, William Thomas Johnson, a farmer in Florence County, S.C; son of Green and Nannie (Cockfield) Johnson of South Carolina Mother, Fanny (Gardener) Johnson, daughter of George W. and Suzannah (Steele) Gardener of Florence County

Prepared at public schools in Florence County, B S. Clemson Agricultural College 1906, attended Yale Graduate School 1910–12 (M.A. 1913) and Yale Divinity School 1910–13 (B D 1913); associated with Young Men's Christian Association 1913–24, industrial secretary New Haven, Conn, 1913–14, state student secretary for Ohio at Columbus 1914–16, University of Kentucky 1916–18, North Carolina at Charlotte 1918–21 (departmental executive secretary National War Work Council), and South Carolina at Columbia 1921–24, professor of the Bible University of Florida 1924–43 and departmental head 1941–43; on Y.M.C A. board of directors, Camp Blanding, 1941–43; member Sardis (S C.) Baptist Church

Married July 17, 1917, in Cincinnati, Alma Nelson Spalsbury, daughter of Andrew and Mary Elese (Madsen) Nelson. Son Gordon Stanley (Univ. Florida ex-'43)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Gainesville. Survived by wife, son, two sisters, Mrs. Furman Hill and Mrs Evans Benton, both of Timmonsville, and two brothers, David Johnson of Timmonsville and Henry S Johnson, ex-'15 D. (B S Clemson Agricultural Coll 1910).

#### Joseph Darden Armistead, B.D. 1921.

Born February 12, 1875, in Fayette, Miss. Died January 11, 1944, in Center Point, Texas.

Father, Joseph Robert Armistead, a pharmacist in Hopkinsville, Ky., and Fayette, son of Robert and Mary (Jenkins) Armistead of Virginia, and Montgomery, Ala. Mother, Sue (Darden) Armistead; daughter of Joseph P and Margaret (Fleming) Darden of Fayette

Hopkinsville High School, attended College of the Bible, Transylvania College, 1898–1903 (BA 1902, M.A 1903) and Yale Divinity School 1920–21 (BD 1921); ordained in Disciples of Christ church, Hopkinsville, August, 1902, and minister there 1902–03, minister Nashville, Tenn, 1903–04, Cincinnati, Ohio, 1905–08, Eminence, Ky, 1908–10, Walla

Walla, Wash., 1910–12, Cynthiana, Ky., 1912–22, Downey Avenue Christian Church, Indianapolis, Ind, 1922–27, Washington Boulevard Christian Church, Beaumont, Texas, 1927–30, and South Side Christian Church, San Antonio, Texas, 1930 until retirement 1940, supply minister Christian Church, Center Point, 1940–44; vice-president Foreign Missions, United Christian Missionary Society, 1910–20; trustee College of the Bible 1917–22.

Married October 27, 1903, in St Louis, Anna Gertrude Sullivan (Transylvania Coll. ex-'02), daughter of James Richard Parish and Sallie Bell (Hamilton) Sullivan. Children: Joseph Hamilton, ex-'28, and Richard Darden.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Center Point Cemetery Survived by wife, sons, four grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Franklin Townsend of New York City, and four brothers, Thomas Darden Armistead of Lexington, Ky., Robert Stanton Armistead of Montgomery, Benjamin Putman Armistead of Miami, and Victor D. Armistead of San Antonio.

#### Clifford Harry French, B.D. 1921.

Born April 18, 1888, in Pulaski County, Mo. Died March 15, 1944, in Cameron, Mo.

Father, Charles French, a farmer in Waynesville, Mo.; son of Jefferson and Mary French of Carroll County, Mo Mother, Annie May (Christeson) French; daughter of Elijah Jordon and Sally (Colley) Christeson of Waynesville.

Taught in country schools in southern Missouri 1906–09, preached at Passaic and Butler, Mo., 1909–11; attended Morrisville (Mo) College and Southwest Missouri State Teachers College 1911–13; B A Central College [Fayette, Mo] 1917; attended Yale Divinity School 1917–18 and 1919–21 (B.D. 1921); preached at Methodist church, Cheshire, Conn., 1918–20, minister Morrisville Methodist Church June–September, 1921, ordained in Methodist Episcopal church, Hannibal, Mo., September 5, 1921; minister Methodist church, Liberty, 1921–23, Fifth Street Methodist Church, St Charles, 1923–27, First Methodist Church, Salisbury, 1927–30, Pearl Street Methodist Church, Macon, 1930–32, Norborne 1932–34, Columbia 1934–35, Rockport 1935–37, Fairfax 1937–41, and Cameron 1941–44; on staff training school for Christian leaders, Methodist Episcopal Church South, Fayette, 1927, member Masonic order.

Married September 6, 1921, in Corder, Mo., Amy Douglass, daughter of William Henderson and Medora (Frazier) Bell. Daughters Medora Ann, Lillian (Central Coll. 1946), and Dorothie

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Cameron Survived by wife and daughters.

# John Russell Coombs, B.D. 1923.

Born August 9, 1892, in Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island. Died September 11, 1943, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, John Coombs, a publisher; one time editor Canadian Royal Gazette, son of Benjamin and Mary Coombs of Charlottetown. Mother, Ada Christina (Barr) Coombs, daughter of James Baker and Grace (Tippett) Barr of Charlottetown.

Lawrence (Mass) High School, teller Bay State Bank of Lawrence 1911-15, attended Harvard University 1915-20 (special student Harvard College 1915-16, 1919-20, and Harvard Divinity School 1916-18), the Sorbonne 1919, Columbia University 1920–21 (B.A. 1921), and Yale Divinity School 1921-23 (B.D. 1923); ordained in Trinity Church (Congregational), Lawrence, June 7, 1923; assistant minister First Congregational Church, Meriden, Conn, 1923-25; associate minister Second Congregational Church, Waterbury, 1925–43; served overseas during World War I, member Masonic order.

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by a sister, Martha Ruth Coombs Buck, the wife of Robert W Buck, '14.

#### SCHOOL OF LAW

### Charles Kleiner, LL.B. 1883.

Born June 4, 1854, in New Haven, Conn Died November 11, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Israel Kleiner, a merchant tailor in New Haven; founder I. Kleiner & Sons; son of Meyer and Henrietta Kleiner of Steinhardt, Germany. Mother, Eva (Meyer) Kleiner; daughter of Max Isaac Meyer of Frankfurt-am-Main, Germany. Yale relatives include three nephews, Israel S. Kleiner, '06 S, Simon B. Kleiner, '11 S, and Israel K Weil, '18 S.

In printing business in New Haven 1868–81 (typesetter Yale Courant and College Courant, foreman Stafford Printing Company, and compositor New Haven Register); attended Yale School of Law 1881–83 (LL B. 1883), admitted to Connecticut and Minnesota bars 1883, lawyer in St. Paul, Minn., 1883–85 and New Haven 1885 until retirement 1939 (in office of Henry G. Newton ['72 L] 1885–91; partner Kleiner & Quinn [Michael J., '10 L] 1919–23); State Compensation Commissioner 1923–39; member City Council 1885–87 (president 1886, 1887) and Board of Aldermen 1888–90; corporation counsel for City of New Haven 1910–18; an incorporator Connecticut Savings Bank and trustee 1923–43; director New Haven Free Public Library 1887–90, member World Court Committee of New Haven, Yale chapter Chi Tau Kappa, Academy of Political Science, New York, American and New Haven County Bar associations, State Bar Association of Connecticut, Masonic order, and Free Sons of Israel, trustee Congregation Mishkan Israel, New Haven, and president 1899–1903.

Married January 27, 1886, in New Haven, Clara, daughter of David and Babette (Zunder) Lautenbach. Children: a son (died at birth), Israel, '09 M. (died August 6, 1929), Leah Rose (Connecticut State Normal Coll 1908), Estelle (Connecticut State Normal Coll. 1909), Manfred, and Maurice (died in infancy).

Death due to edema of the lungs. Buried in Mishkan Israel Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, two daughters, one son, two grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Esther Kleiner Cohn, and two brothers, Isaac L. Kleiner and Nathan I. Kleiner, all of New Haven. Another brother, Moses Kleiner, '88 M, died in 1938.

#### Albert McClellan Mathewson, LL.B. 1884.

Born October 19, 1860, in Woodstock, Conn. Died September 20, 1943, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, William Williams Mathewson, a farmer in Woodstock; son of Rufus Smith and Faith Williams (McClellan) Mathewson of Brooklyn and Woodstock, Conn. Mother, Harriet Augusta (Warner) Mathewson; daughter of Benjamin and Sarah (Gazley) Warner of New Berlin, N.Y. Yale relatives include: Jonathan Trumbull (LL.D. 1779) (great-great-great-great-grandfather), Jonathan Trumbull (LL.D. 1797) (great-great-great-grandfather); Shubael Abbe (B.A. 1764) (great-great-great-great-uncle); John McClellan (B.A. 1785) (great-grandfather); Benjamin Silliman (B.A. 1796), Isaac Webb (B.A. 1822), and John McClellan (B.A. 1833) (great-uncles), Arthur Mathewson (B.A. 1858) (uncle); and Cornelius D.

Haskell, '08, and Albert M. Haskell, '10 (nephews).

Woodstock Academy; taught school in Woodstock; attended Yale School of Law 1882-84 (LL.B. 1884; member Kent Club) and 1889-91 (LL M 1891), admitted to the bar 1884; lawyer in Putnam, Conn., 1884-88 and New Haven 1888 until retirement 1934 (in office of Judge Henry E. Pardee [BA. 1856] 1888-89; associated with Chase [Prentice W., '87 L ], Mathewson & Chase [Prentice T., '12 S., '17 L.] 1915-25); clerk of Shell Fisheries, State of Connecticut, 1896–1905; judge New Haven city court 1905-11, author: The Graves of the Signers of the Declaration of Independence from Connecticut (1909), Model of Charter for the City of New Haven (1912), Our Mercantile Marine (1915), The County System of Connecticut (1917), and of many papers on early New England history, delivered before New Haven Colony Historical Society; president American Loan Company 1927 and New Haven Council Boy Scouts of America; vice-president for New Haven County, Connecticut Prison Association, 1911-33, an organizer in 1921 and vice-president and general counsel Citizen's Bank and Trust Company 1921–30; secretary-treasurer Young Men's Republican Club 1926, on advisory board Bankers National Insurance Company of New York and Salvation Army (chairman 1929); member executive committee of board Beneficial Loan Society of New York; founder Boys Good Government Club 1908; trustee Junior Republic Association, Litchfield, Conn, 1919-43; on board of managers New Haven Boys Club and Friends of Boys; served on Legal Advisory Board during World War I, honorary member Corbey Court; member New Haven Grays 1889-92, New Haven Colony Historical Society (assistant secretary 1915-37, secretary 1937-39, chairman committee on relics 1929-39), Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, Society of Mayflower Descendants, Society of Descendants of Signers of the Declaration of Independence (president 1907–08 and 1924), Sons of the American Revolution (historian

1923), New Haven County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven (member First Ecclesiastical Society and delegate New Haven West Association of Congregational Ministers and Churches 1924).

Married June 13, 1888, in New Haven, Mary Elizabeth Board Foster, daughter of Edmund Kingsmand and Abigail (Heard) Board. No chil-

dren. Mrs. Mathewson died November 15, 1940.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Woodstock Hill Cemetery Survived by a stepson, Pierrepont B. Foster, '03, three stepgrandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. Ellen Trumbull Mathewson Haskell of Wakefield, Nebr.

In 1941 Mr. Mathewson gave a collection of volumes and pamphlets to

the library of the Yale School of Law.

#### Hubert Wilson Butler, LL.B. 1888.

Born January 10, 1868, in Freeport, Ill. Died October 27, 1943, in St. Petersburg, Fla.

Father, Eugene Kincaid Butler, general manager McCormick Harvester Company; son of Ezekiel and Eunice (Shaw) Butler of Rome, N.Y Mother, Sarah Rebecca (Olmstead) Butler, daughter of Daniel C and Elizabeth Octavia (Kendal) Olmstead who lived near Prophetstown, Ill.

Attended Yale School of Law 1886-88 (LL B. 1888; charter member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1889 but never practiced law; engaged as builder and real-estate operator in Chicago 1889 until retirement 1942 and in Highland Park, Ill, since about 1932; on Board of Aldermen, Chicago, 1890-98; member Masonic order; trustee First Congregational Church of Jefferson Park, Chicago.

Married (1) September 9, 1889, in Chicago, Viola Douglass Son Douglass. Mr. and Mrs. Butler were divorced Married (2) October 18, 1900, in Chicago, Alice, daughter of Wallace Carter Son Eugene Kincaid. Adopted children: Walter Carter, George, and Dorothy. Mrs. Butler died in October, 1924 Married (3) January 10, 1925, in El Paso, Texas, Margaret Olive, daughter of Frederick and Margaret (Thompson) Schramm

Death due to a stroke. Ashes interred in Sterling, Ill. Survived by wife,

children, and three grandchildren.

#### Warren Henry Bristol, LL.B. 1890.

Born April 12, 1860, in Cheshire, Conn Died September 27, 1943, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Henry Lambert Bristol, a dealer in horses, New Haven, Conn; son of Elias and Fidelia (Hotchkiss) Bristol of Cheshire Mother, Emeline

Victoria (Hull) Bristol; daughter of Ledyard and Julia (Andrus) Hull of Windham, N.Y.

Syracuse (N.Y) Classical School; associated with United States Department of the Interior, Santa Fé, N.Mex, 1886–87; collector of internal revenue for district of New Mexico with headquarters at Tucson, Ariz, 1887–88; attended Yale School of Law 1888–90 (LL.B. 1890; member Corbey Court); admitted to Connecticut bar about 1890 and New York bar about 1905; lawyer in New Haven 1890–1903 and Brooklyn 1905 until retirement 1936, in closing department Lawyers Title & Trust Company 1905–16, attorney and manager bond and mortgage department Peoples Trust Company (later City Bank Farmers Trust Company) 1916–36; assistant city attorney New Haven 1895–97 and corporation counsel 1898–99; member Crescent Athletic Club of Brooklyn; attended Episcopal church

Married July 2, 1889, in New York City, Annie Winship (grad. Normal College of the City of New York 1888), daughter of James Greis and Isadora (Conklin) Winship. Children Raymond Winship, '11 S, and Kenneth Hull, '14 S Mrs. Bristol died November 4, 1940.

Death due to a shock Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by children and four grandsons. Two other grandsons, Beverly W. Bristol, ex-'42 E., and Kenneth C. Bristol, ex-'42, were killed in service on September 20 and September 21, 1943, respectively.

# George Elisha Hall, LL.B. 1894.

Born May 10, 1870, in New Haven, Conn Died February 4, 1944, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Elisha Hall, inventor and model maker in New Haven; son of Solomon and Mary (Finnemore) Hall of Staffordshire, England. Mother, Mary (Hayden) Hall; daughter of James Hayden of Cannock, England. Yale relatives include John A. Hall, '97 S. (brother); Stanton H. Wooster, ex-'15 S (nephew); and Marion Sage Adams Hall, '40 Ne (daughter-in-law).

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Law 1892–94 (LL B. 1894; associate editor Yale Shingle; member Kent Club and Phi Delta Alpha), admitted to Connecticut bar 1894, to practice before federal courts 1895, and before Supreme Court of the United States 1907; lawyer in New Haven 1894–1944, assistant prosecuting attorney city court of New Haven 1903–05 and judge 1915–17; chairman Republican Committee of the Tenth Ward, and member Town Committee 1895–1905, on Board of Councilmen, and on Board of Aldermen 1897–99; chairman Board of Zoning Appeals, State senator sessions of 1925, 1927, 1929 (chair-

1

man committee on military affairs 1925, 1927, 1929 and committee on railroads 1925 and 1929); president and secretary Arnold College for Hygiene and Physical Education 1922-25, trustee 1929-34; on board of directors State Tuberculosis Commission to establish county homes 1911; president Yale Alumni Association of New Haven 1923-26 and its representative on Alumni Board 1925–32; member Connecticut National Guard 1896–1934; enlisted as private Company F, Second Connecticut Infantry, 1896; promoted Second Lieutenant Company E, March 31, 1898, First Lieutenant July 5, 1898, Captain April 30, 1901, Major June 10, 1911, and Lieutenant Colonel, 2d Regiment, November 20, 1916, served on Mexican border 1916; called into federal service with 2d Regiment (redesignated 102d Infantry) March 28, 1917; transferred to 1st Regiment, Connecticut Infantry (redesignated 58th Pioneer Infantry) February 10, 1918; with 58th Pioneer Infantry, Camp Greene and Camp Wadsworth, until discharge January 29, 1919; appointed Colonel, US Infantry Reserve, May, 1926; retired with rank of Brigadier General 1929, regimental commandant 417th Infantry Reserve, 176th Division, 1924 until retirement 1934; inactive reserve 1934-41; judge advocate Military Order of the World War and commander 1929-30, member New Haven County Patent Law Association, New Haven County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, American Judicature Society, International Law Association, New Haven Colony Historical Society, Masonic order, and Universalist Church of the Messiah, New Haven.

Married December 4, 1908, in New Haven, Harriet Finnette, daughter of Dennis Albert and Lizzie Finnette (Law) Blakeslee, and sister of Harold L. Blakeslee, '07 S, and M Grant Blakeslee, '15 S Sons William Blakeslee, '31 S., '36 L, and George Elisha, Jr., '38 S., Ph D. 1942

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in The National Cemetery, Arlington. Survived by wife, sons, and one grandchild

# Terence Francis Carmody, LL.B. 1895.

Born July 1, 1871, in Watkins, N.Y. Died July 3, 1943, in Watertown, Conn

Father, Thomas Carmody, a merchant in Waterbury; son of Timothy and Margaret (Driscoll) Carmody of Tralee, Ireland Mother, Margaret (Lawlor) Carmody; daughter of Terence and Mary (Slattery) Lawlor of Tralee. Yale relatives include a nephew, Terence C Carmody, '26 L

Waterbury High School, attended Yale School of Law 1893-95 (LL.B 1895; executive committee Kent Club; member Phi Delta Alpha); ad-

mitted to the bar 1895; lawyer in Waterbury 1895-1943, specializing in corporate law; in partnership with his classmate, Frederick M. Peasley, 1896-97; partner Burpee [Lucien F, '79] & Carmody 1899-1909, Carmody, Monagan & Larkin [William J., '07, '09 L.] 1912-23, Carmody & Thoms [William E., '94] 1923-39, and Carmody, Larkin & Torrance [Walter F, '19, '21 L.] 1939-43; joint compiler: United States War Revenue Law of June 13, 1898 (1899), attorney Town of Waterbury 1901-02; State's attorney for Superior Court of New Haven County at Waterbury 1917-23, on Connecticut Judicial Council 1942-43 and legal committee War Council of Connecticut 1943; president Waterbury Chamber of Commerce 1921-25 and Board of Park Commissioners; became first vice-president Yale Club of the Naugatuck Valley 1923 and member executive committee 1925-28; trustee Canterbury School, New Milford, 1920-43, St. Mary's Hospital Corporation, Waterbury, 1925-43, Taft School, Watertown, 1927-43, and Silas Bronson Library, Waterbury; general chairman Boy and Girl Scout Council drive 1934; member Waterbury Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut (vice-president 1924–26, president 1926–28), American Bar Association, and St John's Church (Catholic), Watertown

Married June 30, 1903, in Waterbury, Lauretta Cecilia, daughter of John and Joanna (Guerin) Ryan Children Edward Thomas, '27, '30 L., John (died July 17, 1906), Francis Terence, '29, '32 L., Guerin Benedict, '32, '35 L, Marie-Louise (B A. Wheaton Coll. [Mass] 1936), and Paul (died January 2, 1921).

Death due to cardiovascular disease Buried in New St Joseph Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, daughter, three sons, and six grand-children.

#### Archibald Graham, LL.B. 1895.

Born May 4, 1873, in Paterson, N J. Died February 20, 1944, in Pompton Plains, N J.

Father, Archibald Graham, owner Graham Brewery, Paterson; Civil War veteran, son of Archibald and Nancy Ann (McIntyre) Graham of Paterson Mother, Sarah Jane (Stoddard) Graham; daughter of John and Margaret (McGurl) Stoddard.

Columbia Grammar School, New York City; attended Sheffield Scientific School 1891–92 (Freshman Football Team; substitute University Football Team; Class crew, member The Cloister and Book and Snake) and Yale School of Law 1893–95 (LL B. 1895; member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1896; practiced independently in Paterson for many

years; stockbroker associated with New York Consolidated Stock Exchange and New York Produce Exchange until retirement about 1939; a founder Yale Club of New York; New Jersey amateur golf champion 1900 and 1901 and runner-up in national amateur and metropolitan championship golf tournaments; commissioned Lieutenant in World War I but did not see active service; member Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States; attended Church of the Messiah, Paterson.

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Cedar Lawn Cemetery, Paterson. Survived by two sisters, the Misses Bertha and Louise Graham of Pompton Plains.

# Edward Lewis Medler, LL.B. 1895.

Born October 4, 1873, in Washington, D.C. Died January 21, 1944, in Albuquerque, N.Mex.

Father, Edward Medler, a contractor in Los Angeles and Albuquerque. Mother, Sophia (Gardner) Medler; daughter of Lewis Basmont and Lydia (Cafferty) Gardner.

Los Angeles public schools; attended Yale School of Law 1894–95 (LL.B. cum laude 1895), admitted to the bar 1894; lawyer in Albuquerque and Hot Springs, N Mex., 1895–1912 and 1933–41, El Paso, Texas, 1918–28, and Los Angeles 1928–33 (member Medler & Wood); discontinued practice in 1941 because of ill-health; assistant United States attorney, Territory of New Mexico, 1902–08; judge third judicial district New Mexico, Las Cruces, 1912–18; on board of regents New Mexico College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts, adjutant (with rank of captain) New Mexico National Guard 1896–97; member Albuquerque Chamber of Commerce, Rotary Club of Hot Springs, Masonic order, and First Presbyterian Church, Las Cruces.

Married October 14, 1909, in Albuquerque, Lillian Stewart, daughter of John J and Mary D (Evans) Thomas Children Florence Marie (died in infancy), Edward Lewis, Jr. (died in infancy), John Thomas (B A and M.A. New Mexico Coll. Agriculture and Mechanic Arts 1937, Ph D Univ Minnesota 1940); Eleanor Lillian (B.A. DePauw Univ 1939), the wife of John Nathan Lorentzen (Virginia Military Inst 1935); David Charles (B.S. Univ Southern California 1942; Univ Southern California School of Medicine 1945); and Elizabeth Gardner (died in infancy)

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Sunset Memorial Park, Albuquerque. Survived by wife, one daughter, two sons, and two grand-children.

#### Will Clough Atkins, LL.B. 1896.

Born August 25, 1873, in Hallowell, Maine. Died September 30, 1943, in Gardiner, Maine.

Father, Edwin Henri Atkins (Wesleyan Univ. ex-'74), a merchant in Kennebunkport, Maine, adopted son of Captain Edwin Atkins. Mother, Mary Ellen (Clough) Atkins; daughter of Willoughby and Betsey (Lyford) Clough of Mount Vernon, Maine.

Gardiner High School; read law in office of O. B Clason, Gardiner, 1892-94, admitted to the bar 1894; attended Yale School of Law 1895-96 (LL.B 1896); lawyer in Gardiner 1896–1943 (in partnership with O. B. Clason 1896-97), president Gardiner Common Council 1897 and Board of Aldermen 1898, city solicitor 1900-07, court recorder 1900-10, and acting judge of municipal court at various times; mayor 1907 and 1908; judge municipal court 1910-28, 1932-36 and probate court of Kennebec County 1940-42, public administrator for the County 1925-41; president Gardiner Board of Trade 1921–22, vice-president Depositors Trust Company, Augusta, Maine, 1942-43, receiver Gardiner Trust Company, MA. Hon. Bates College 1915; Second Lieutenant, Company A, Second Regiment, Maine National Guard, third vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Maine 1915–16 and second vice-president 1916–17; member Gardiner Board of Education (chairman 1938–41), Rotary Club (president), Kennebec Bar Association (secretary-treasurer 1919–1943), and Masonic order; attended First Universalist Church, Gardiner.

Married May 15, 1901, in Farmingdale, Maine, Alice Goud Tasker, daughter of Frederick and Abbie Marson (Jackson) Goud. No children.

Death due to drowning. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Gardiner. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Mary Atkins Luques of Kennebunkport.

#### Stanley Pearce Bradish, LL.B. 1899.

Born July 12, 1864, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died April 14, 1944, in Foxboro, Mass.

Father, John Q Bradish (B A. 1857). Mother, Susanna Rikeman (Simpson) Bradish

Boston Public Latin School, attended Yale School of Law 1896-99 (LL B 1899), admitted to New York, Rhode Island, Massachusetts, and Texas bars, lawyer in New York City, Providence, R.I., Worcester, Springfield, and Boston, Mass, Fort Worth, Texas, and East Greenwich, R.I., 1899 until retirement because of ill-health; member Baptist church.

Married October 1, 1904, in Attleboro, Mass, Leola Pearl, daughter of

Jasper Latham Dodge. Son: Donald Millard Mr and Mrs Bradish were divorced.

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis. Buried in Maple Root Cemetery, Coventry, R.I. Survived by son.

## Arthur James Raney, LL.B. 1899.

Born November 30, 1869, in Kishwaukee, Ill Died October 1, 1943, in Portland, Ore.

Father, Andrew Raney, dealer in livestock, Stillman Valley, Ill. Mother, Elizabeth (Clothier) Raney.

Morgan Park Military Academy of the University of Chicago; preparatory department Oberlin College 1891–92; engaged in livestock business 1892–96; attended Yale School of Law 1896–99 (LL B. 1899; member Kent Club and Phi Delta Alpha); admitted to the bar 1899, lawyer in Chicago 1899–1913; employed in Portland 1913–44; general agent Security Mutual Life Insurance Company of Binghamton, N.Y., 1913–26, salesman Goodsell Motor Company 1926–28 and Francis Motor Company 1929–44; contributed articles to poultry magazines; member Masonic order, attended Apostolic Faith Mission.

Married June 27, 1900, in New Bedford, Mass, Edith Russell, daughter of Samuel Cook and Sarah Nickerson (Briggs) Hart. Children. Winston Theall, Arthur Hart, Lorna Elizabeth, the wife of Wilbur Moyer, and Gordon.

Death due to bronchopneumonia. Ashes interred in Portland Mauso-leum. Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

# Thornton Joseph Theall, LL.B. 1899

Born November 19, 1877, in New York City Died August 10, 1943, in Baldwin, N.Y

Father, Elisha Theall, a druggist in Brooklyn, son of Elisha Sylvester Theall of Brooklyn. Mother, Elizabeth (Garvey) Theall, daughter of Elizabeth Agatha Garvey of Brooklyn. Yale relatives include a brother, Harold L. Theall, ex-'04 L.

Brooklyn High School; attended Yale School of Law 1897–99 (LL B 1899; member Kent Club and Phi Delta Alpha), admitted to the bar 1899, lawyer in Brooklyn 1899–1943, trial counsel, litigation division, Brooklyn Manhattan Transit Company 1917–40, assistant counsel Board of Transportation, City of New York, 1940–43.

Married May 29, 1937, in New York City, Sadie Sophie, daughter of

John and Sophie (Berglund) Wallin.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Holy Cross Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife and a sister, Lila Theall (B.A. Coll. of St. Elizabeth [N J ] 1911) of East Orange, N J.

#### Curtiss Stow Bacon, LL.B. 1902.

Born July 2, 1877, in Middletown, Conn. Died December 23, 1943, in Middletown, Conn.

Father, Arthur William Bacon (B A Wesleyan Univ. 1856), a lawyer in Middletown, son of Curtiss and Ann (Stowe) Bacon of Middletown. Mother, Henrietta Belden (Parker) Bacon; daughter of Frederick and Ann (Howland) Parker of West Barnstable, Mass. Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Robert W. Forbes, '07.

Attended Wesleyan University 1886–89 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon) and Yale School of Law 1899–1902 (LL B. 1902; baseball team first year); admitted to the bar 1902; lawyer in Middletown 1902–08, judge probate court, district of Middletown, 1908–43; vice-president Probate Assembly of Connecticut 1929–30 and president 1930–32; city attorney for Middletown 1906; president Middlesex County Bar Association; member Masonic order and Church of the Holy Trinity (Episcopal), Middletown

Married February 26, 1916, in New York City, Yvonne Lamour, daughter of William Grant and Adella (Van Slyck) Ross. Children Adele Virginia, the wife of William Walter Hatfield (B.A. Wesleyan Univ. 1936),

and Curtiss, ex-'41

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Middletown Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren.

#### John Francis McGrath, LL.B. 1902.

Born June 24, 1878, in Waterbury, Conn. Died December 10, 1943, in Waterbury, Conn.

Father, Edward McGrath, in real-estate business in Waterbury; son of Thomas Morgan and Margaret (Powell) McGrath of Waterbury. Mother, Anne (Fruin) McGrath; daughter of John and Johanna (Magner) Fruin of Waterbury

B.A St Francis College, Brooklyn, 1898; attended Yale School of Law 1899–1902 (LL B 1902, captain Law School Baseball Association Senior year), admitted to the bar 1902; lawyer in Waterbury 1902 until retirement 1938, member Hayes [Abner P., '98], McGrath & Weisman [Herman J, '09 L] 1915–22; associated with Abner P. Hayes and J. Gregory

Lynch, '23, '25 L., from 1925 to 1928 and J. Gregory Lynch and James M. Lynch 1928–38; assistant prosecutor city court of Waterbury 1907–11, prosecutor 1911–17, and judge 1917–38, State senator 1913; member National Board, Friends of Boys, Inc., and St Margaret's Church (Catholic), Waterbury.

Married (1) June 28, 1910, in Waterbury, Frances, daughter of Timothy and Mary (Murtha) Fallon Children: John Francis, Jr (B.A Villanova Coll. 1935) and Eleanor (B A Marymount Coll. [N.Y] 1937) Mrs McGrath died December 6, 1927. Married (2) June 4, 1928, in New York City, Irene Katherine, daughter of Edward Stanislaus and Katherine (McGrath) Cullen.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in New St Joseph's Cemetery, Waterbury. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and a brother, William McGrath of Waterbury

## Francis William Tully, LL.B. 1902.

Born November 14, 1872, in New York City Died July 7, 1943, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Patrick Joseph Tully, associated with Butterick Company, Inc., and *Delineator*, son of William and Winifred (Geraghty) Tully of County Galway, Ireland Mother, Katherine Mary (Doherty) Tully; daughter of Matthew and Bridget (Parsons) Doherty of Tuam, County Galway Yale relatives include a cousin, Liguori A Doherty, '07

Attended Yale School of Law 1900-02 (LL B. 1902, business manager Yale Law Journal 1901-02; member Kent Club), engaged in business in Boston 1902-43; publicity director and vice-president William Filene's Sons Company, department store, 1902–12; advertising manager and vicepresident R H. White Company, department store, 1912-30, president Home Alliance Stores, Inc., and Durall Company, Inc., chemical and industrial research, 1930–43; commissioned Major, Ordnance Reserve Corps, January 9, 1918; assigned to Industrial Service Section, Ordnance Department, and Industrial Relations, War Department; acting assistant to Secretary of War on War Labor Policies Board; acting chairman Emergency Construction Wage Commission, secretary War Industries Badge Committee; member committee to organize United States Employment Service and in charge employment management Ordnance Department; member conference committee of all government wage adjusting boards, discharged December 21, 1918; appointed by Governor Coolidge to Massachusetts State Board of Education, to serve on Advisory Council, division in charge of immigration and Americanization, 1920–27, director Boston Chamber of Commerce and chairman committee on Americanization

(originator Boston plan of Americanization); member American Association for the Advancement of Science, Chemists Club of New York, American Legion (vice-commander Crosscup-Pishon Post), and St. Lawrence Church (Roman Catholic), Chestnut Hill, Mass.

Married April 18, 1906, in Brooklyn, Susan Pratt Kennedy (B.A. Smith Coll 1903), daughter of Elijah Robinson and Lucy Brace (Pratt) Kennedy, great-granddaughter of Thomas K. Brace (B.A. 1801), great-greatgranddaughter of Ephraim Lewis (B A 1758) and Jonathan Brace (B.A. 1779), great-great-great-granddaughter of Rev Judah Lewis (B.A. 1726), a descendant of Rev. Samuel Mather (one of the founders of Yale), and sister of Sidney R Kennedy, '98, and Leonard Kennedy, '09 Children: Susan (B A Smith Coll. 1929; universities of Oxford and Heidelberg), Francis William, Jr, '30 (Lieut. USNR.), and Sidney Kennedy, '33 (Lieut. Comdr USNR.)

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford, Conn Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs. John H. O'Donnell of Yonkers, NY, and two brothers, Joseph E Tully of New York City and Charles J. Tully of Bradenton, Fla.

# George Philip Hambrecht, LL.B. 1904.

Born February 1, 1871, in Milwaukee, Wis. Died December 23, 1943, in Madison, Wis.

Father, William Hambrecht, a landscape gardener at Lake Geneva, Wis, son of George Philip and Caroline (de la Roche) Hambrecht of Durkheim, Germany Mother, Mary (Cleary) Hambrecht; daughter of Patrick and Katherine (Ambrose) Cleary of County Limerick, Ireland.

Lake Geneva public schools, attended University of Wisconsin 1892–95; teacher of science and mathematics Wisconsin Rapids High School 1895–99 and principal 1899–1902; superintendent Wisconsin Rapids schools 1899–1902; studied law in Wisconsin Rapids, and attended University of Chicago 1902–03 (Ph B. 1903); student Yale School of Law 1903–04 (LL B 1904, member Book and Gavel); admitted to the bar 1903; lawyer in Wisconsin Rapids 1904–43 (associated with H. C. Wipperman 1903–07, member Hambrecht & Calkins 1921–43); city attorney 1904–21; on Wood County Board of Supervisors; member Wisconsin House of Representatives State Assembly sessions of 1909, 1915; member Industrial Commission State of Wisconsin 1915–21 (chairman 1916–21); chairman State War Labor Board and State director United States Employment Service and United States Public Service Reserve 1917–18; director State Board of Vocational and Adult Education 1921–43; chairman local N.R.A. Compliance Board 1933–34; member Wisconsin Council of Education 1939–43

and Wisconsin Council of Defense 1940-42; director National Safety Council 1918–21; became a member National Safety Code Commission, Bureau of Standards, 1930; on national advisory council United States Employment Service 1939-43 and Committee of Educational Advisers, Office of War Information, president Association of Government Labor Officials 1919-20, Rotary Club of Wisconsin 1927 and 1928, Madison Civic Music Association 1928–37, National Association of State Directors of Vocational Education 1929–30, and American Vocational Association 1935-36 (honorary life member), lecturer on Lincoln and collector of Lincolniana; author: Abraham Lincoln—His Spirit Lives (1926), Lincoln Literature (1937), Abraham Lincoln in Wisconsin (1941), and several monographs on educational subjects; charter member Lincoln Fellowship of Wisconsin (president 1937-43), president The Lincoln Association 1942-43; vice-president Lincoln Scholarship Fund (New York) 1929-43; honorary member Southern California Abraham Lincoln Association, member The Abraham Lincoln Association, Springfield, Ill; on board of visitors University of Wisconsin 1911–43 (president of the board 1922–23) and special lecturer on workmen's compensation at the University's Law School; Sc.D. The Stout Institute 1932; became honorary member Texas Rangers 1938; member National Economic League, National Education ' Association, Wisconsin and American Bar associations, Wisconsin Association for Vocational and Adult Education, Theta Delta Chi, Delta Chi, and Masonic order

Married August 4, 1896, in Tomah, Wis, Kate Magee Barrows Brace, daughter of Frederic Shearer and Elizabeth Ann (Williams) Barrows Stepdaughter: Elizabeth (State Teachers Coll. 1905–07), the wife of Peter William Krier (Lawrence Univ. ex-'09). Mrs. Hambrecht died October 12, 1939

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Madison. Survived by stepdaughter and one stepgrandchild.

#### John Leon Bonee, LL.B. 1905.

Born February 19, 1881, in Hartford, Conn. Died January 9, 1944, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Joseph Bonee, a fruit dealer in Hartford, son of Peter and Caroline Bonee of Saracena, Italy Mother, Domenica (Covello) Bonee, daughter of Gaetano and Madaline (Tolisano) Covello of Saracena

Brown School, Hartford; BA Fordham University 1902, attended Yale School of Law 1902–05 (LL.B. 1905); admitted to the bar 1905, law-yer in Hartford 1905–44; assistant clerk city police court 1905–08, clerk 1908–13, prosecuting attorney 1923–27, and judge 1927–31; chairman

Arsenal School District Committee 1924-34 and committee to draw up resolutions at Republican probate convention 1926, member St. Anthony's Church (Roman Catholic), Hartford.

Married August 28, 1918, in Hartford, Helen Loretta, daughter of Luke and Mary (Welch) Eagan Children: John Leon (B.S. Trinity Coll. [Conn ] 1943), Saverio Joseph (Wesleyan Univ Class of 1946), and Peter Antonio (Wesleyan Univ. Class of 1947).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Mount St. Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield, Conn Survived by wife, sons, and a sister, Miss Eliza-

beth Marie Bonee of Hartford.

#### Birdsey Erskine Case, LL.B. 1906.

Born September 2, 1878, in North Canton, Conn. Died September 23, 1943, in Hartford, Conn.

Father, Emerson Jay Case, a farmer in North Canton and Avon, Conn.; son of Jay and Frances Case of Avon. Mother, Frances C. (Case) Case;

daughter of Ambrose and Jane (Rice) Case of North Canton.

Collinsville High School, Canton; attended Yale School of Law 1903–06 (LL.B magna cum laude 1906; second-year honors; vice-president Law School Y M C.A. Junior year and president Senior year; assistant critic Kent Club Junior year and president Senior year; on board Yale Law lournal, member Class Day committee); admitted to the bar 1906; lawyer in Hartford 1906–43; instructor Hartford College of Law 1922–31 and professor 1931–43 (member committee on entrance requirements 1924–27), incorporator Hartford College of Insurance 1939 and on faculty 1939–43; member Hartford Bar Association and First Methodist Episcopal Church, Hartford

Married July 17, 1906, in Collinsville, Louise Marion, daughter of Calvin Nash and Cora (Thompson) Sage. Children: Emerson Woodruff, ex-

'33 E. (B A Bates Coll 1936), and Cedric Wilcox.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in North Canton Cemetery, Canton Survived by wife and sons.

# George Nicholas, LL.B. 1907.

Born August 12, 1884, in Saratoga Springs, N.Y. Died May 27, 1944, in New York City.

Father, George Nicholas, a real-estate dealer in New York City; son of George Nicholas of Cardiff, Wales. Mother, Catherine (Maccabe) Nicholas

Lawrenceville (N.J.) School and Princeton (N J.) Preparatory School; attended Yale School of Law 1903-06 (LL B 1907, member Corbey Court); admitted to the bar 1907; lawyer in New York City 1907 until retirement in January, 1944; in real-estate business with his father 1907-16 and in real-estate department Title Guarantee & Trust Company 1916-36; an assistant in office attorney general of the State of New York, dealing in real-estate titles, 1936-41; special attorney on war properties for the federal government 1941-44; enrolled United States Navy April 16, 1917, petty officer (1st class); discharged January 10, 1919, member Calvary Baptist Church, New York City.

Married (1) in 1909, in New York City, Elizabeth Jeanne, daughter of John Dunston. Son John Dunston Mr and Mrs Nicholas were divorced in 1916. Married (2) July 9, 1921, in Flushing, N.Y., Jeannette, daughter of Howard Bowne Snell (LLB New York Univ. 1890) and Louise (Andrews) Snell. Children George, Jr, Marion Jeannette, Robert, Alfred, Donald, Gloria, James, Catherine, Margaret, Jeannette, and Edna.

Death due to a kidney condition. Buried in Flushing Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and five grandchildren.

#### Adrian Abraham Pierson, LL.B. 1908.

Born December 27, 1881, in West Burlington, NY. Died January 1, 1944, in Cooperstown, N.Y

Father, Clark Green Pierson, a merchant in West Burlington, son of Aaron and Eunice (Green) Pierson of West Burlington Mother, Charlotte Eliza (Matteson) Pierson; daughter of Adam Alonzo and Eliza (Ball) Matteson of West Burlington

Edmeston (N.Y.) High School; attended Ohio Normal University 1901–02 and Yale School of Law 1905–08 (LL B. 1908, an editor Yale Law Journal and Yale Shingle), admitted to the bar 1909, lawyer in Cooperstown 1908–44 (associated with Arnold and Cooke 1908–11; member Campbell and Pierson 1911–18); district attorney for Otsego County 1918–24 and judge 1925; president Otsego County Children's Society 1936–44; vice-president First National Bank of Cooperstown; on Cooperstown Board of Education 1922–42 (president 1936–42), member Otsego County and New York State Bar associations and Masonic order, vestryman Christ Church (Episcopal), Cooperstown.

Married June 5, 1912, in Cooperstown, Anna Bell, daughter of Fayette and De Ette (Fassett) Houck. Children Adrian Abraham, Jr. (Hamilton Coll. ex-'35, Pratt Inst. 1935–36); Charlotte Anna (B.A Connecticut Coll. for Women 1936), the wife of Edmund Joseph Necrason (Clarkson Coll Technology 1933–36), and Constance.

Death due to a stroke. Buried in Hartwick Seminary (NY.) Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, a grandson, and a brother, Arthur Matteson Pierson of Utica, NY.

# Elmer Stephen Redick, LL.B. 1911.

Born June 10, 1887, in Omaha, Nebr. Died March 16, 1944, in Venice, Fla.

Father, John Irwin Redick, a lawyer in Omaha; attorney Union Pacific Railroad Company; associate justice Territory of New Mexico 1876; son of John H and Eliza (Forbes) Redick of Omaha Mother, Mary Elizabeth (May) Redick

Shattuck School, Faribault, Minn.; attended Yale School of Law 1908–09, 1910–12 (LL.B 1911) and Cornell University Law School 1909–10; admitted to the Nebraska bar; lawyer in Omaha 1912 until about 1930; member Shotwell, Redick & Lord [Carroll J, LL.M. 1911] 1913–15; after retirement had resided in Paris and New York City.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Omaha Survived by no immediate relatives.

#### Levi Nelson Tillotson, LL.B. 1911.

Born September 29, 1882, in Andover, Mo. Died December 25, 1943, in Osceola, Iowa.

Father, Elijah Tillotson, a Methodist minister in Clarke County, Iowa; son of George Nelson and Rhoda (Pritchard) Tillotson of Terre Haute, Ind Mother, Zulina (Hiner) Tillotson, daughter of George Jacob and Rachel (Todd) Hiner of Staunton, Va

Ph B. Dakota Wesleyan Univ. 1907; attended Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL B 1911; honors Junior year, member Chi Tau Kappa and Phi Alpha Delta), admitted to Illinois bar 1913, Iowa bar about 1925, and Missouri bar, lawyer and insurance adjuster in Chicago and Des Moines 1912 until retirement 1941 because of ill-health; lawyer and claim examiner Fidelity & Casualty Company of New York in Des Moines 1914–16; head of claims department Iowa Mutual Insurance Company 1916–21; with Independent Adjusters and practiced law in Des Moines 1921–41; special adjuster Employers Mutual Insurance Company of Des Moines 1932–41, member Masonic order and First Methodist Church, Des Moines.

Married December 27, 1905, in Mitchell, S Dak, Mary Rebecca Laugh-

lin (ex-'08 Art), daughter of Simeon and Mary (Boyer) Laughlin Children: Richard Laughlin (died December 25, 1913), Robert Levi (State Univ. Iowa 1935–36; Univ North Dakota 1939–41), and Mary Elizabeth (B S. Iowa State Coll. 1940), the wife of Frank Atmore Marnette (B A. State Univ. Iowa 1935, M.S. 1936).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Osceola Survived by wife, daughter, one son, five sisters, Mrs. Bessie T. Bishop of Des Moines, Mrs. Elsie T. Booth and Miss Kathryn Tillotson, both of Osceola, Merle Tillotson Alcock (Mus.B Drake Univ. 1906) and Enid Tillotson (B S. New York Univ. 1930, M A. 1940), both of New York City, and a brother, La Clede Tillotson of Osceola

## Frank Douglas Taylor, LL.B. 1921.

Born April 14, 1895, in Yorkville, S.C. Died November 28, 1943, in Philadelphia, Pa.

Father, Frank Taylor, a Pullman porter; son of Frank Douglas Taylor and Clara (Hughes) Taylor of Dunnellon, Fla Mother, Cecelia (Shipp) Taylor; daughter of Wilson and Elizabeth (Wheterspoon) Shipp of Salisbury, N.C.

B.S. Florida Agricultural and Mechanical College 1916; attended Yale School of Law 1916–18 and 1919–21 (LL B 1921); entered United States Army April 30, 1918; regimental sergeant major, 808th Infantry, Camp Devens, and overseas August 31, 1918—June 22, 1919, discharged July 11, 1919, admitted to the bar 1923; associated with Lewis & Norris [J. Austin, '17 L.], Philadelphia, 1921–23; lawyer in Philadelphia 1923–43; member Allen African Methodist Episcopal Church, Philadelphia

Married June 12, 1931, in Philadelphia, Nellie, daughter of Percy and Carrie (Morris) Grandy No children

Death due to diabetic coma. Buried in National Cemetery, Philadelphia Survived by wife, two sisters, Mary Taylor Miller (cert in nursing Hampton Inst. 1920) and Clara Taylor McNichols (cert. in nursing Hampton Inst. 1922), both of Staten Island, NY., and a brother, Rev George Androcles Taylor (B.A. Livingstone Coll. 1919) of New York City

#### Harold Robert Moore, LL B. 1924.

Born November 11, 1896, in Okolona, Miss Died August 15, 1943, in Houston, Texas

Father, Harrison Robert Moore, a wholesale druggist in Houston, son of Samuel and Eliza (Burbridge) Moore of Mississippi Mother, Carrie

(Black) Moore; daughter of David Paterson and Mary Jane (McDowell)

Black of Mississippi

Palestine and Houston High schools; B.A. University of Texas 1919 (member Phi Delta Theta), attended University of Virginia Law School 1921–22 and Yale School of Law 1922–24 (LL B. 1924; an editor Yale Law lournal, member Corbey Court); admitted to Texas bar 1924, Ohio bar 1925, and New York bar 1930, with Thompson, Hine & Flory, lawyers, Cleveland, 1925–30, and Root, Clark, Buckner & Ballantine, New York City, 1930, associated with Yount Lee Oil Company, Beaumont, Texas, 1930–33, lawyer in Houston 1933–43; member Houston Bar Association (treasurer 1943), and First Presbyterian Church, Houston.

Unmarried

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Houston Survived by mother, a sister, Miriam M Wilson (Univ. Texas ex-'14), the wife of Edward Clifton Wilson, and a brother, Lieut. Comdr. Preston Moore (BA Princeton 1923), both of Houston.

# Myron Lawrence Carlson, LL.B. 1937.

Born July 27, 1908, in Fargo, N Dak. Died January 31, 1944, in Bethesda, Md.

Father, Marshall Conrad Carlson, insurance underwriter Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, Chicago, son of Conrad and Minnie Carlson of Chicago Mother, Ida Minnie (Shogren) Carlson; daughter of Charles Edward and Emma (Soderholm) Shogren of Chicago.

Schurz High School, Chicago; attended Crane Junior College 1925–28; Ph B University of Chicago 1931; teacher of social sciences and athletic director Bellflower (Ill) High School 1931-34; attended Yale School of Law 1934-37 (LL B 1937; an editor Yale Law Journal); instructor in finance YMCA Junior College, New Haven, 1936-37; admitted to the bar 1938, with Wright, Gordon, Zachary & Parlin (later Wright, Gordon, Zachary, Parlin & Cahill), New York City and Washington, 1937-42, counsel Manufacturers Association of Connecticut at Hartford a few months in 1938, commissioned Lieutenant (jg) US. Naval Reserve March 21, 1942, and Lieutenant (s.g.) October 1, 1942; assigned to contracts section, Bureau of Ships, Washington, 1942-43; at his own request released for active sea duty April, 1943, to be assigned to duty at Submarine Chaser Training Center, Miami, under instruction; hospitalized at Naval Medical Center, Bethesda, May-June, 1943; sent to Naval Convalescent Hospital, Asheville, July, 1943, and returned to Bethesda hospital, member Addison Street Church (Baptist), Chicago.

Unmarried

Death due to lymphosarcoma. Buried in Memorial Park Cemetery, Evanston, Ill. Survived by parents and three brothers, Raymond Marshall Carlson (J.D. Northwestern Univ. 1933) and Clifford Carlson, both of Chicago, and Milton Charles Carlson of St. Louis.

# Harry Lehrer, LL.B. 1937.

Born October 10, 1912, in Krzemieniec, Poland Died November 18, 1943, in Portland, Ore.

Father, Echiel Michael Lehrer, a merchant in Walla Walla, Wash; son of Hirsch Lehrer of Krzemieniec. Mother, Matle (Rojch) Lehrer

Walla Walla High School, B A Whitman College 1934 (member Sigma Chi and Delta Sigma Rho), attended Yale School of Law 1934–37 (LL B 1937; member Thomas Swan Barristers Union), admitted to Washington bar 1937 and to practice before Supreme Court of the United States 1942, associated with Cookingham & Hanley, lawyers, Portland, 1937–42, attorney Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, 1942–43; member Bnai Brith Congregation, Portland

Married December 14, 1940, in Tacoma, Wash, Mary Gail Harvey (BA. Univ. Washington 1939), daughter of Paul Winter and Nellie Marietta (Mayes) Harvey Daughter Nancy Lucinda

Death due to chronic glomerular nephritis. Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, Walla Walla. Survived by wife and daughter.

# Charles David Pack, LL.B. 1940.

Born June 2, 1917, in New York City Died March 4, 1944, in Long Beach, Calif.

Father, Julian Pack (D.D.S. George Washington Univ. 1904), a dentist in New York City; son of Joseph and Katherine (Rubin) Pack of Philadelphia Mother, Florence Edith (Engel) Pack; daughter of Charles Wesley and Pauline (Wasserman) Engel of New York City

BA. University of Pennsylvania 1937 (member Phi Beta Kappa), attended Yale School of Law 1937–40 (LL B. 1940), admitted to the bar 1940; special attorney antitrust division, Department of Justice, Washington and New York City, 1940, junior attorney tax certification section of advisory commission to Council of National Defense 1941–42, commissioned Ensign U.S. Coast Guard Reserve June 1, 1942, promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) January 29, 1943; stationed in Washington for a short time 1943; attended U.S. Coast Guard Officers Indoctrination School, St Augustine,

February-June, 1943; on duty in the Pacific area aboard U.S.S. — July, 1943, until hospitalization August, 1943; member Temple Beth Israel, Altoona, Pa.

Unmarried.

Death due to a brain tumor Buried in Ferncliff Mausoleum, Ardsley, N Y. Survived by parents.

# Arthur Pue Gorman, 2d, LL.B. 1941.

Born January 16, 1917, in Baltimore, Md. Died May 28, 1944, on Biak Island, near New Guinea.

Father, Douglas Gorman (C E. Princeton 1903), president Cumberland Coal Company, Baltimore, son of William Henry and Mary (Clark) Gorman of Annapolis and Baltimore. Mother, Shirley Maud Gwendolen (Nash) Gorman, daughter of Edmund Strudwick and Mathailde (Chenault) Nash of Rye, N Y. Yale relatives include a cousin, Edmund W. Nash, Jr., '39.

Gilman Country School, Baltimore; B.A cum laude Princeton 1938 (president Ivy Club Senior year); attended Yale School of Law 1938-41 (LL B 1941, treasurer Corbey Court Senior year), admitted to Maryland bar 1941; member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), Garrison, Md

Married December 13, 1941, in Baltimore, Marjorie Aylesford Armstrong, daughter of Alfred Patterson and Marjorie Aylesford (Armstrong) Pendleton Daughter. Gwendolen Nash.

Commissioned Second Lieutenant, Army Air Forces, August 2, 1941; assigned to — Observation Squadron and stationed at Harrisburg (Pa.) Airport August-October, 1941, Fort Bragg October-November, 1941, and Providence, R.I., December, 1941—May, 1942; attended Adjutant General's School, Fort Washington, June-August, 1942; with — Observation Squadron stationed at Hyannis (Mass.) Airport August, 1942, 1st Ground Air Support at Mitchel Field, September-November, 1942, and Morris Field November-December, 1942; assigned to Intelligence, — Heavy Bombardment Wing, — Air Force, South Pacific Area, December 28, 1942, promoted First Lieutenant April 28, 1942, Captain January 14, 1943, and Major April 17, 1944.

Major Gorman was killed when his plane crashed and burned during enemy action in the Biak offensive Survived by wife, daughter, parents, and four brothers, Douglas Gorman, Jr (B.A Princeton 1935), Edmund Nash Gorman (BA Princeton 1936), Ogden Chenault Gorman, and Kenneth Aubrey Gorman (Princeton Class of 1946), all of Stevenson, Md.

# Morgan O'Brien Preston, LL.B. 1942.

Born May 7, 1918, in New York City. Died June 2, 1944, near Valmontone, Italy.

Father, Stuart Duncan Preston (B A. Harvard 1906; LL B New York Law School 1911), in city mortgage division Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, New York City; son of William Duncan and Annie Stuart (Fargo) Preston of New York City. Mother, Madeleine (O'Brien) Preston; daughter of Morgan Joseph O'Brien, LL.D. (B.A. St. John's Coll. [N Y.] 1872; M A. St. Francis Xavier Coll [N.Y.] 1873; LL B. Columbia Univ. 1875; Ph D. Villanova Coll. 1902), and Rose Mary (Crimmins) O'Brien of New York City. Yale relatives include: Morgan J. O'Brien, Jr, '11, Esmond P. O'Brien, '12, and Kenneth O'Brien, '17 (uncles); and Lyttleton Fox, '31, and Henry James, Jr., '40 (cousins).

Buckley School for Boys, New York City, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N.H.; B.A. cum laude Harvard 1939 (on board Harvard Crimson, member Hasty Pudding Club); attended Yale School of Law 1939–42 (LL.B. February 1942; member Corbey Court); with Davies [Julien T, '17 S., '22 L.], Auerbach, Cornell & Hardy, lawyers, New York City, Edwards April 2010 member Cotholog church

February-April, 1942; member Catholic church.

狗

Unmarried

Inducted as private, Army of the United States, April 27, 1942; with Company E, 27th Military Police Battalion, Military Police Replacement Training Center, Fort Riley, May-October, 1942, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Benning, October, 1942—January, 1943; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry, January 8, 1943, with —— Infantry, Camp Edwards, January-July, Company ——, —— Infantry, Fort George G. Meade, August-October, and Camp McCoy, October-December, 1943, assigned to Fort George G. Meade, and overseas about January 15, 1944; with Company ——, —— Infantry, at Anzio, Italy; wounded north of Isola Bella March 17, 1944, and hospitalized at Naples for six weeks, cited for gallantry in action and awarded Silver Star, rejoined his regiment in May and assigned to a battle patrol.

Lieutenant Preston was instantly killed by shell fragments when his battle patrol, returning from a successful mission, was ambushed by the enemy north of Valmontone. Survived by parents and two brothers, Stuart D. Preston, Jr., '37, and John Duncan Preston (Harvard ex-'44)

#### SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

#### BACHELORS OF FINE ARTS

Irene Weir, B.F.A. 1906.

Born January 15, 1863, in St. Louis, Mo. Died March 22, 1944, in Yorktown Heights, N.Y.

Father, Walter Weir (B A Trinity Coll [Conn.] 1853) of West Point, NY, and St Louis, son of Robert Walter and Louisa (Ferguson) Weir of West Point Mother, Annie Field (Andrews) Weir; daughter of John Clark and Tirza Ann (Field) Andrews of New Britain and Hartford, Conn. Yale relatives include: John F. Weir (MA. Hon. 1871) and J. Alden Weir (MA Hon 1917) (uncles), Louise W. Sargent, ex-'88 Art and Edith W. Perry (cert. Art 1898) (cousins).

Attended Yale School of the Fine Arts 1881–82 (B.F.A. 1906); pupil of J Alden Weir, Joseph Pennell, and J. H Twachtman; studied at Art Students League, New York City, Colarossi Academy, Paris, and Écoles d'Art Américaine de Fontainebleau (diplôme 1923); traveled and studied in France, Italy, Spain, Holland, and England, freehand drawing instructor New Haven (Conn.) grammar and high schools 1887–90; director Norwich (Conn ) Art School 1890-93; instructor in drawing Brookline (Mass) public schools 1893-1900 and director of drawing 1908-10; founder School of Design and Liberal Arts, New York City, 1917 and director 1917-29; director of fine arts department Ethical Culture School, New York City, resident artist Louis C. Tiffany Foundation; director Art Alliance of America and Salons of America; director of art Women's University Club, New York City; lectured on modern and classic art, architecture, and modern poetry; author Burne-Jones (1898), Landseer (1898), Giotto and His Followers (1898), Raphael (1898), Rosa Bonheur (1898), Drawings by Italian Masters (1899), Greek Painters' Art (1905), and Three Weirs Artists (1945), contributed articles on art to periodicals; among her best known paintings are *Dawn* and *Little Red Top* in the Museum of Fine Arts at Houston, Texas, portraits of Professor Robert W. Weir and General Irwin McDowell at United States Military Academy, West Point, portrait of D. Cyprian Willcox in Memorial Hall, University of Georgia, portrait of Madame Curie in Memorial Hospital, New York City, and murals, St Francis, Canticle of the Sun at Rollins College and The Annunciation in St Luke's Church, Katonah, N.Y; member founder's group Museum of Fine Arts, Houston, member Associates in the Fine Arts (Yale University), Society of Independent Artists, National Association of Women

Artists, New York Classical Club, Lyceum (London), College Art Association, New York Water Color Club, National Society of Etchers, Society of Arts and Crafts (Boston), Copley Society of Boston, and St. Luke's Church (Episcopal), Katonah.

Death due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease. Buried in Zion Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by no immediate relatives

# Harry Poole Camden, Jr., B.F.A. 1924.

Born March 10, 1900, in Parkersburg, W Va. Died July 29, 1943, in Walterboro, S C

Father, Harry Poole Camden (LL B Univ. Virginia 1881), a lawyer in Parkersburg; son of Thomas Bland Camden (M D. Jefferson Medical Coll 1854) and Susan Eliza (Holt) Camden of Weston, W Va. Mother, Juliette (Blackford) Camden, daughter of John Graham and Mary (Van Winkle) Blackford of Lynchburg, Va

Culver Military Academy (cadet captain 1918), military instructor in a high school in Chicago 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant September, 1918, at Camp Perry, stationed at Marietta College as instructor SATC until discharged December 25, 1918; attended Carnegie Institute of Technology 1919 and Yale School of the Fine Arts 1919-24 (B.F.A. 1924, Fannie B. Pardee Prize third year; honor certificate fourth year, awarded Prix de Rome in sculpture 1924); fellow American Academy in Rome 1924-27, assistant professor of sculpture and departmental head University of Oregon 1927-29 and Cornell University 1929-37; winner national government competition for group "Unity" placed in Federal Building at New York World's Fair 1938; commissioned to do another group symbolizing "Peace" for same building, received honorable mention in competition for a monument of General Stonewall Jackson for battlefield at Manassas 1939, his statue Typical American Boy awarded as trophy to New York public school with best record for respect of school property 1941; executed sculpture for Leaburg Power Plant, Eugene, Ore, Criminal Court Building, New York City, and Sigma Xi and McMullen memorials, Cornell University; his work was exhibited at Yale Art Gallery, Philadelphia Museum of Art, Whitney Gallery (New York City), and in San Francisco and France, vice-president National Sculpture Society of New York 1941–43, associate member American Academy in Rome and National Academy; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Parkersburg.

Married June 24, 1930, in Buffalo, Helen, daughter of John Chilion and Hazel Peters (Rea) Trefts. Children John Trefts, Juliette Blackford, and Susan Trefts.

Commissioned Captain, Army Air Forces, May 20, 1942; temporary duty Jefferson Barracks, Mo.; stationed at Fort Belvoir, Kellogg Field, at Birmingham, Ala, and Will Rogers Field, and Drew Field; executive officer —— Bomb Squadron of the —— Bomb Group ——, Walterboro Army Air Field July 15, 1943.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Independent Order of Odd Fellows Cemetery, Parkersburg Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Mary C. Kyle (B A. Smith Coll. 1928), the wife of William Joseph Kyle, Jr, of Pittsburgh, and a brother, Graham Blackford Camden (B.S. Lehigh Univ. 1931) of Parkersburg.

# Spencer Otis Burnham, B.F.A. 1940.

Born January 2, 1918, in Evanston, Ill. Died September 28, 1943, near Scottsville, Ky.

Father, Daniel Hudson Burnham (Harvard Univ. 1905–07), member Burnham & Hammond, Inc, architects, Chicago; son of Daniel Hudson Burnham (M A. Hon. 1893) and Margaret (Sherman) Burnham of Chicago. Mother, Helen Clarissa (Otis) Burnham (B.A. Vassar Coll. 1908); daughter of Spencer and Eleanor G. (Beard) Otis of Barrington, Ill.

Middlesex School, Concord, Mass.; attended Armour Institute of Technology 1937–38 and Yale School of the Fine Arts 1938–40 (B.F.A. 1940); traveled in Europe and the United States four months after graduation; architectural superintendent Burnham & Hammond, Inc., 1940–41; designer at United States Submarine Base, Coca Solo, Panama Canal Zone, 1941; inducted into Army of the United States as a private March 16, 1942; assigned to 4th Platoon, Company A, 32d Engineering Training Battalion, Engineering Replacement Training Center, Fort Leonard Wood, March-August, 1942, attended Officer Candidate School, Fort Belvoir, September-November, 1942; commissioned Second Lieutenant November 25, 1942; assigned to troop training, Camp Leonard Wood, December 1, 1942—January 5, 1943, with Company C, 240th Engineer Combat Battalion, Camp Phillips, January 8-August 31, 1943; promoted First Lieutenant July 29, 1943.

Unmarried.

Lieutenant Burnham was killed in an Army vehicle accident while on maneuvers with the 2d Army in Kentucky and Tennessee. Ashes interred in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by father, mother (died March 22, 1944), and a brother, Lieut. Daniel Hudson Burnham, 3d, U.S N.R. (B A. Harvard 1936), of Chicago

#### MASTER OF FINE ARTS

#### Charles James Andrews, Jr., M.F.A. 1940.

Born March 10, 1916, in Norfolk, Va. Died December 8, 1943, in Italy.

Father, Charles James Andrews (M.D. Medical Coll. Virginia 1902), a physician in Norfolk; son of William McKendrie and Susan (Williamson) Andrews of Bedford County, Va. Mother, Jean Currie (Cooke) Andrews; daughter of William Mordecai and Eloise (De Winter) Cooke of Norfolk.

Norfolk Academy; B.A. Washington and Lee University 1937 (member Sigma Chi and Phi Beta Kappa), student in Department of Drama, Yale School of the Fine Arts, 1937–40 (M F.A. 1940); instructor in English Norfolk division College of William and Mary 1940–42; author of a play "The Poet Died in Bed" (1940); member First Presbyterian Church, Norfolk.

Unmarried.

Volunteered for American Field Service January 15, 1943; served in Egypt, Syria, and Tunisia, and as section leader with New Zealand division, British Eighth Army, in Italy

Mr. Andrews lost his life while working with his section near an advanced medical dressing station. Buried in American Military Cemetery at Bari, Italy. Survived by parents, two brothers, Mason Cooke Andrews (BA. Princeton 1940; MD. Johns Hopkins 1943) and William Cooke Andrews (Princeton Class of 1946; Johns Hopkins Medical School 1943-), and maternal grandmother

#### SCHOOL OF MUSIC

# Raymond Augustus Morris, Mus.B. 1935.

Born February 5, 1906, in Hartford, Conn. Died March 1, 1944, in Newington, Conn.

Father, James Augustus Morris, clerk Hartford Fire Insurance Company; son of Henry Augustus and Fannie (Turner) Morris of Hartford. Mother, Elizabeth Ruth (Sharper) Morris; daughter of Benjamin Walker

and Clara Josephine (Caples) Sharper of Meriden, Conn.

Weaver High School, Hartford; attended Julius Hartt School of Music, Hartford, and Yale School of Music 1931–35 (Mus.B. 1935); studied at Eastman School of Music 1938–39 (Mus M. 1939); dean School of Music at Bishop College 1936–43; head department of music North Carolina College for Negroes 1943–44; author of many orchestral compositions, some of which have been played by the Pennsylvania Federal Symphony Orchestra, Dallas and Hartford Symphony orchestras, Kryle's Symphony Orchestra of Chicago, Chicago Woodwind Quintet, and Center Symphony Orchestra of Jersey City, member Talcott Street Church (Congregational), Hartford

Married November 25, 1936, in Springfield, Mass., Sarah Estelle Waller (grad Hartford Art School 1932), daughter of Rev. Garnett Russell Waller, D D (B A Lincoln Univ. [Pa] 1884; B.Th. Newton Theological Institution 1887), and Lelia Grant (Shelton) Waller. No children

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in Zion Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife and mother.

#### SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

# Hamilton Griswold Merrill, M.F. 1904.

Born July 18, 1878, in Andover, Mass Died March 21, 1944, in Santa Maria, Calif.

Father, George Cooke Merrill (B.A Amherst Coll. 1865, M.A. 1868). Peabody instructor in natural sciences at Phillips-Andover; son of Rev James Harvey Merrill (B A Dartmouth Coll 1834; grad. Andover Theological Seminary 1839) and Lucia Wadsworth (Griswold) Merrill of Montague and Andover, Mass Mother, Florence (Adams) Merrill, daugh-

ter of Isaac and Nancy (Hamilton) Adams of Topeka, Kans

Phillips-Andover; B.A. Amherst College 1900, M. 1905 (member Psi Upsilon); taught Latin and Greek at Phillips-Andover 1901–02, attended Yale School of Forestry 1902–04 (MF 1904), forest supervisor U.S. Forest Service in Santa Barbara, Red Bluff, and King City, Calif, 1904–20; engaged in fruit raising Paso Robles, Calif, 1920–25; postmaster of Paso Robles 1925–35; accountant in Santa Barbara 1935–38, proprietor Hi-Way News Agency, Paso Robles, 1938–43, president Paso Robles Chamber of Commerce 1928–32, member Society of American Foresters, Masonic order, and Plymouth Church (Congregational), Paso Robles

Married January 1, 1913, in Santa Barbara, Helen Inez Eschenburg (B L. Univ. California 1908), daughter of Arnold William Eschenburg (LL B. Univ Michigan 1876) and Mary (McGraw) Eschenburg Children Robert Eschenburg (B.S. Univ. Michigan 1936), Mary Elizabeth (B A Univ. California 1939), the wife of Sydney Williams (B.A Univ. California, 1938, M A. 1939), and George Duschak (Univ. California ex-'45)

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Ashes interred in Santa Barbara Cemetery Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a sister, Florence M. Featherston (B.A. Smith Coll. 1898), the wife of Ren Featherston of Clements, Calif.

# Blaine Spooner Viles, M.F. 1904.

Born July 22, 1879, in North New Portland, Maine Died September 9, 1943, in Augusta, Maine

Father, Edward Payson Viles, president Dead River Log Driving Company; postmaster North New Portland; son of Rufus and Sarah Ann (Stanley) Viles of Flagstaff, Maine. Mother, Ada Augusta (Spooner) Viles; daughter of Lamont and Caroline (Cragin) Spooner of New Portland.

Skowhegan (Maine) High School; attended Bowdoin College 1899-1902 (awarded BA. 1905 with enrollment in Class of 1903; member Delta Kappa Epsilon) and Yale School of Forestry 1902-04 (M.F. 1904); forester and superintendent Blue Mountain Forest Association (Austin Corbin Game Preserve), Newport, NH, 1904-08; in lumber business in Augusta 1908-43, woods manager Cushnoc Paper Company 1919-22; president C M Rice Paper Company, Portland, 1925-27, Augusta Lumber Company and Brown & White Paper Company, Bangor, 1928-43, and Kennebec Box & Lumber Company, South Gardiner, 1934–43, treasurer and manager Northern Timberland Company, Northeastern Land Company, and Kennebec Land Company 1923-43; honorary chief fire warden Maine Forestry District 1908-43; commissioner of Inland Fisheries and Game 1910-14, State Forest Commissioner and Land Agent of Maine 1913-15, mayor of Augusta 1915-16; president Republican Club of Augusta 1912-19, Republican City Committee of Augusta 1915-16, and Kennebec County Republican Committee 1921; chairman executive council of the State of Maine 1925-31; member Maine House of Representatives 1919-21 and Senate 1923-25; M.A. Hon. University of Maine 1935; director Kennebec Valley Protective Association; member Society of American Foresters, American Fisheries Society, American Bison Society, Masonic order, and South Parish Congregational Church, Augusta.

Married June 30, 1904, in Hallowell, Maine, Annie Ethel, daughter of William Carlton and Annie H. (Copp) Johnson. Children: Dorothy, the wife of Lieut. Sanford Leroy Fogg, Jr., U.S.N.R. (B.A. Bowdoin Coll. 1927; LL B Boston Univ. 1930); and William Payson (Univ. Maine ex-28).

Death due to pulmonary edema. Buried in Hallowell Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

# Georges deSouza Canavarro, M.F. 1909.

Born January 9, 1885, in Honolulu, Hawaii. Died October 18, 1943, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, Antonio deSouza Canavarro of Honolulu; Portuguese consul general for Territory of Hawaii 1883–1913. Mother, Miranda (McElroy) Canavarro

Attended Cornell University 1904-05; B S. University of Minnesota 1908 (member Alpha Zeta, Delta Upsilon, and Sigma X1); attended Yale School of Forestry 1908-09 (M.F 1909), forest assistant in charge section of compilation U S. Forest Service, Washington, 1910-16; vice-president American Pasteurizer Company, Inc., Washington, 1916-18; salesman foreign department Pierce Arrow Motor Corporation 1919-20; in real-

estate business in Honolulu 1922 until retirement 1929; resided in Europe 1929–31 and in Arizona winters 1934 to 1939, engaged in farming Erinton,

Queenstown, Md., 1937-43.

Married March 8, 1915, in Briarcliff, N.Y, Helen, daughter of Henry Ludwig and Gertrude E. (Strong) Achilles. Children: Helen deSouza, the wife of Richard Gibson Hubler (B A. Swarthmore Coll. 1934), and Kim deSouza (Harvard 1936–40, M.D. Columbia Univ. 1943).

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Wye Cemetery, Wye Mills,

Md. Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren.

#### Charles Frederic Hitchcock, M.F. 1912.

Born August 30, 1884, in Gilbertville, Mass Died May 17, 1944, in Ware, Mass.

Father, Frederic Abner Hitchcock, owner of a general store in Gilbertville; son of Charles Foster and Hannah (McClintock) Hitchcock of Gilbertville Mother, Clara Mary (Packard) Hitchcock, daughter of Otis and Melita (Ross) Packard of Ware.

Williston Academy, Easthampton, Mass; BS. Dartmouth College 1910; attended Yale School of Forestry 1910–12 (MF 1912), partner with his classmate, Leslie A. Bull, in firm of Bull & Hitchcock, consulting foresters, Billerica, Mass, 1912–13, engaged in farming and fruit raising, Gilbertville, 1913–44; treasurer Hardwick (Mass) Taxpayers Association 1934–44; member Massachusetts Fruit Growers Association, attended Trinitarian Congregational Church, Gilbertville.

Married February 19, 1917, in Worcester, Mass, Edna Mann, daughter of Albert Billings and Jennie Eliza (Mann) Haskell. Son Stanley Haskell (Massachusetts State Coll. 1936–37, Stockbridge School of Agriculture 1937–38).

Death due to pulmonary edema. Buried in Hardwick Cemetery Survived by wife, son, a sister, Ruth Hazel Hitchcock, and a brother, Harold Manley Hitchcock, both of Gilbertville.

#### SCHOOL OF NURSING

# Doris Katherine Kean Hallwhich, M.N. 1942.

Born August 11, 1909, in Detroit, Mich Died September 11, 1943, in Detroit, Mich.

Father, Max Augustus Kean, a printer with Nelson Baker Company, Detroit, son of August and Bertha (Schanback) Kean of Berlin, Germany Mother, Lena Caroline (Schmidt) Kean, daughter of Frank and Lena Carolina (Kusch) Schmidt of Warren, Mich.

Eastern High School, Detroit; cashier Michigan Bell Telephone Company, Detroit, 1928–31; B A. Wayne University 1936, M.A. 1939; substitute teacher, Detroit, 1936–39; attended Yale School of Nursing 1939–42 (M N 1942), director Federal Nursing Refresher Program, Wayne County, Mich, 1942–43; supervisor of nursing arts Deaconess Hospital, Detroit, 1943, member St Alban's Church (Episcopal), Highland Park, Mich

Married March 19, 1931, in Highland Park, William Hallwhich (B A. Wayne Univ. 1942, Coll Medicine, Wayne Univ, 1942–44), son of Michael and Mary (Buban) Hallwhich. No children.

Death due to hemorrhage Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Detroit Survived by husband and mother.

#### SUPPLEMENT

# NOTICES OF DEATHS PRIOR TO JULY 1, 1943 NOT PREVIOUSLY REPORTED

# Albert David Levi, B.A. 1895.

Born April 24, 1872, in Erie, Pa Died May 25, 1943, in Erie, Pa.

Father, Isaac Levi, head of Levi Brothers, merchants in Erie. Mother, Carrie (Schoenfield) Levi.

Erie High School. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; one-year honors in natural sciences Senior year.

Assistant manager Standard Manufacturing Company, manufacturers of overalls, trousers, and sportswear, Erie, 1895–1908, partner 1911–24, and president 1924 until retirement 1930; secretary and treasurer Tabor Glove Company, Milwaukee, 1908–11; member Masonic order and Anche Hesed Congregation, Erie (treasurer of the Temple 1926–29).

Married in June, 1929, in Detroit, Virginia Dexter.

Death due to cardiac failure. Buried in Anche Hesed Cemetery, Erie Survived by wife.

#### Harry Burrows Cox, B.A. 1902.

Born August 9, 1880, in New York City. Died June 15, 1943, in Nevada City, Calif

Father, William Henry Cox, a broker in New York City; son of William Henry and Mary Jane (Burrows) Cox of Brooklyn, N Y. Mother, Margaret (Potter) Cox; daughter of Thomas and Adaline Coleman (Bower) Potter of Philadelphia Yale relatives include. David M. Meeker, '91 S., and Gardner Meeker, '92 S (stepbrothers); Stephen J Meeker, '15 S. (half brother); and George van H. Potter, ex-'96 L., and Joseph W Wear, '99 (cousins).

The Hill School, Pottstown, Pa. Member University Club, Yale Corin-

thian Yacht Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

With Thomas Potter, Sons & Company, Inc., manufacturers of oil cloth and linoleum, Philadelphia, 1902–21 (in Philadelphia 1902–04, Boston branch 1904–06, and in charge of Southern sales, New York City, 1906–18 and 1919–21), worked in a gold mining camp in Nevada County, Calif., 1922–23; owner Barnegat Ranch, dairy products and cattle breeding, Grass

Valley, Nevada County, 1923–43; entered naval aviation February 11, 1918, commissioned Lieutenant (s g.), United States Naval Reserve, May 27, 1918, detailed as assistant superintendent Naval Aircraft Factory, Philadelphia Navy Yard, relieved from active duty June, 1919; discharged from Reserves June, 1922; member Civilian Defense Council for Nevada County 1942–43.

Married (1) July 9, 1919, in Philadelphia. No children. Married (2) March 25, 1924, in Sacramento, Calif, Juliet Inness Ellsworth, daughter of George Inness, Jr., and Julia (Rosswell-Smith) Inness. Adopted daugh-

ter. Betty, the wife of Bernard Avila

Death due to heart disease Buried in Indian Springs Cemetery, Grass Valley Survived by wife and daughter.

# Bartlett Golden Yung, B.A. 1902.

Born January 23, 1879, in Washington, D.C. Died on unknown date, in Shanghai, China. (Information received October 8, 1943.)

Father, Yung Wing, LL D. (BA. 1854). Mother, Mary Louisa (Kellogg) Yung. Yale relatives include John Bartlett (B.A. 1807) (great-grandfather), Francis B. Kellogg, '83 (uncle); Morrison B. Yung, '98 S. (brother), and Herbert H. Kellogg, '94, Charles A. Kellogg, '00, Hin Lun Yung, '18 S., and Sanford B. Kellogg, '17 (cousins).

Hartford (Conn ) Public High School First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, University Banjo Club (secretary Junior year, president Senior year); University Mandolin Club Junior and Senior years; vice-president Yale Glee and Banjo Clubs Association Senior year; mem-

ber Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

In export business 1902–03; graduate student Columbia University 1904–05, associated with Rotary File & Machine Company, Brooklyn, N.Y., 1903–12 (general manager 1903–09, president 1909–12); occupied in Shanghai since about 1912, salesman in China for Colt's Patent Fire Arms Manufacturing Company of Hartford; associated with American Trading Company, owner Bartlett Yung & Company, importers and exporters, and operated a typewriter and office supply business and a garage and machine shop, held many positions with business firms and Chinese government; sometime director Canton Arsenal, major general in Army of the Republic of China, an employee Ministry of Education; representative of executive committee, American University Club of China, in Shanghai 1915; secretary Yale Club of East China 1927–34; member Community Church, Shanghai

Married February 28, 1917, in Shanghai, Elsie Fung-kyau Chur. Chil-

dren: Mary (died in infancy), Elsie Jane, Bartlett Golden, Jr, and Violet Death due to natural causes. Buried in Shanghai Survived by wife, two daughters, and son.

# Carroll Gowen Riggs, B.A. 1915.

Born August 22, 1890, in Bucoda, Wash. Died December 18, 1942, in Australia.

Father, Arthur Norton Riggs, manager McCormick (Wash) Lumber Company; son of John Gowen and Georgina Frances (Norton) Riggs of Minneapolis. Mother, Virginia Belle (Willard) Riggs, daughter of Jonathan and Hannah Joselyn (Blaisdell) Willard of Seattle.

Tacoma (Wash.) High School and Phillips-Andover First colloquy appointment Junior year; Freshman Track Team, University Track Squad, College Choir three years

Overseas with American Field Service June, 1915—December, 1916, awarded Croix de Guerre for driving his ambulance seventy-two consecutive hours under fire; entered military service May 15, 1917, attended Officers Training Camp, The Presidio of San Francisco, May-August, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Officers Reserve Corps, August 15, 1917, transferred to regular Army November 15, 1917; promoted First Lieutenant October 26, 1917, Captain (temporary rank June 28, 1918) July 1, 1920, Major August 1, 1935, Lieutenant Colonel August 18, 1940, and Colonel June 26, 1942; overseas July 13, 1918—June 28, 1919, with 62d Regiment, Coast Artillery Corps, until the Armistice and then with Second Aeronautical Corps and Army of Occupation, stationed at Fort Winfield Scott with Fifty-seventh Coast Artillery Corps 1920 and 1923-29 and Camp Lewis 1921; assigned to 59th Coast Artillery, Camp Mills, Corregidor, Philippine Islands, 1921–22; graduate Battery Officers Course, Coast Artillery School, and Field Officers Course, Chemical Warfare School, 1929, stationed at Fort Shafter, Hawaii, 1929-33, Fort Hancock 1933-35, and Fort Wadsworth 1935-38; ROTC instructor University of Kansas 1938-40; stationed at Fort Sheridan 1940–41, at the Armory in Philadelphia 1941-42, and overseas from February 16, 1942; member First Congregational Church, Seattle.

Married October 23, 1926, in San Jose, Calif, Vivian Mildred, daughter of James Bert and Nonie Ethel (Herbert) Rines Children Marilyn, Joan Carroll, and Sonya Michaele.

Colonel Riggs was killed when his plane crashed while on a reconnaissance flight Buried in an American cemetery in Australia Survived by wife, daughters, mother, and two brothers, Fredrick Willard Riggs of Long Beach, Calif, and Arthur Norton Riggs, Jr, of Vallejo, Calif.

#### Joseph Winterbotham Mott, B.A. 1936.

Born January 10, 1915, in Highland Park, Ill. Died October 2, 1942, in Charlottesville, Va.

Father, Russell Mott (B.A. 1901; LL B. Harvard 1904), retired lawyer and farmer in Charlottesville; son of John Grenville and Rue (Winterbotham) Mott of Michigan City, Ind., and Chicago Mother, Helen Treat (Cutler) Mott; daughter of Frederick Barker and Evelyn (Treat) Cutler of Brookline, Mass.

Woodberry Forest (Va.) School. Winner Paul Haviland golf trophy Sophomore year, member Calhoun College.

Attended Harvard Law School 1936-40 (LL.B. 1940); admitted to the bar 1941; with Williams, Loyall & Taylor, lawyers, Norfolk, Va., 1940-42.

Married November 24, 1936, in New York City, Mary, daughter of Robert Humphrey Montgomery (LL B Harvard 1912) and Mary (Murray) Montgomery. Son Russell, 2d.

Death due to a nervous breakdown. Ashes scattered. Survived by wife, son, parents, a sister, Mrs. John E. Dodson of Bethlehem, Pa, two brothers, John Grenville Mott, 2d (Univ Virginia 1924–28) of El Paso, Texas, and Frederick Cutler Mott of Charlottesville, and maternal grandfather.

# John Winston Graham, Class of 1940.

Born October 6, 1916, in Evansville, Ind. Died October 5, 1941, near Puerto Rico

Father, Ray Austin Graham (BS. Univ. Illinois 1908), treasurer Graham-Paige Motors Corporation, Detroit; chairman of the board Libbey-Owens-Ford Glass Company, Toledo; son of Ziba Foote and Margaret (Cabel) Graham of Washington, Ind. Mother, Eugenia (Winston) Graham; daughter of John L and Laura (Scudder) Winston of Washington Yale relatives include two cousins, Duncan Aikman, '11, and John S. Boyd, '18.

Georgetown Preparatory School, Garrett Park, Md., and Phillips-Andover. Entered Yale in September, 1936; Freshman Lacrosse and Football squads, University Rugby Squad and second University Football Team Sophomore year, member N R O.T C. at Yale, Timothy Dwight College, and Fence Club, withdrew September 28, 1938; attended Cornell University 1938–40; member Catholic church, Grosse Pointe, Mich.

Married June 26, 1941, in San Juan, Puerto Rico, Nancy Dykman, daughter of Henry C. Martin, '02 S., and Elfrieda (Weber) Martin.

Enlisted Army Air Forces June, 1940; called to active duty September 11; stationed at Lakeland Army Air Force Facility September 11-November 30; received advanced training at Maxwell Field December 1, 1940—April 25, 1941; commissioned Second Lieutenant April 25, 1941; with — Observation Squadron, Puerto Rico, May-October, 1941.

Lieutenant Graham was lost at sea during air maneuvers. Survived by wife, mother, two sisters, Laura Margaret Graham Forbes, the wife of Clifford L. Forbes, ex-'38, and Miss Barbara Anne Graham, a brother, Ray A Graham, Jr., '38, and maternal grandmother.

# Robert Francis Keeler, Class of 1940.

Born August 28, 1917, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died December 5, 1942, in New Guinea

Father, Isaac Pullen Keeler, founder and partner Greenville Finishing Company, Inc., New York City, and founder Tilton & Keeler, cotton converters. Mother, Anna (Trainor) Keeler

Georgetown Preparatory School, Garrett Park, Md., and Phillips-Exeter. Entered Yale September, 1936; withdrew June 2, 1938; attended University of Arizona 1938–40; bookkeeper John A. Maguire, textile factors, New York City, 1940–41; member Our Lady Help of Christians Church (Catholic), East Orange, N.J.

Enlisted Army Air Forces November 8, 1941, air cadet Maxwell Field, Bennettsville Army Air Force Facility, Shaw Field, and Turner Field; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant July 3, 1942; tactical training at Camp Jackson July 13-August 13; stationed at Hamilton Field August 16-September 3; went overseas September 3, 1942; pilot of a B-25 bomber in Pacific area and in action at Buna and in New Guinea.

Lieutenant Keeler was killed in an engagement in New Guinea Awarded Order of the Purple Heart. Survived by stepmother, a sister, Miss Helen Ann Keeler, and a brother, Richard Isaac Keeler

#### Michael Stein Jacobs, Class of 1941.

Born November 17, 1919, in Montreal, Quebec, Canada. Died February 13, 1943, over England

Father, Samuel William Jacobs, K.C. (B.C.L. McGill Univ 1893), a lawyer in Montreal; representative House of Commons. Mother, Amy (Stein) Jacobs (Goucher Coll. ex-'07)

Westmount High School, Montreal. Entered Yale September, 1937;

member Saybrook College and Shaar Hashomayım Synagogue, Montreal. Married July 23, 1941, in Montreal, Sara Helen Westheimer (B.A. Smith Coll 1941), daughter of Milton F. Westheimer, ex-'94, and Helen Brafman (Gutman) Westheimer (B.A. Goucher Coll. 1901).

Withdrew from college to enter Royal Canadian Air Force as aircraftsman two October 11, 1940; trained at Rockcliff Air Port (Ottawa), Initial Training School (Toronto), and at Malton, Ontario; received training in bombing gunnery at Jarvis, Ontario, and in astronomical navigation at Rivers, Manitoba, stationed at Debert, Nova Scotia; promoted aircraftsman one February 3, 1941, and leading aircraftsman; attached to Royal Air Force Flying Corps, received observer's wings and sergeant's stripes June 7, 1941; sent to England September, 7, 1941, acting as navigator on the flight; advanced training at an operational training unit in England; member Moose Squadron, attached to Royal Air Force; promoted flight sergeant on completion of over thirty operational flights March 1, 1942; took part in the first thousand-plane raids over Cologne and Bremen in May, 1942, instructor at a Canadian station in England September, 1942, promoted Pilot Officer October 19, 1942.

Pilot Officer Jacobs was killed in an airplane crash over England. Survived by wife, mother, and three sisters, Mrs. George J. Rosengarten, Mrs. N. Warner, and Miss Deborah Jacobs, all of Westmount, Quebec.

#### Malcolm Gardner Main, B.A. 1941.

Born February 15, 1919, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died November 13, 1942, in the Southwest Pacific.

Father, William Robert Main (B A. Allegheny Coll. 1907), resident partner Main and Company, certified public accountants, Philadelphia; son of Thomas Wilbur and Barbara Gardner (McNaughton) Main of Titusville, Pa. Mother, Helen Christine (Fellows) Main (B.A. Wilson Coll 1906, M.A. Columbia Univ 1907); daughter of Eugene Doud and Iola (Seagraves) Fellows of Scranton, Pa.

Swarthmore (Pa) High School, McDonogh (Md.) School, and Phillips-Andover Scholar of the second rank Freshman and Sophomore years, scholar of the third rank and oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment and honors in English Senior year; Freshman Soccer Squad and Track Team; University Track and Cross-Country teams three years (captain Cross-Country Team Senior year); winner Willisbrook Cup Senior year, member Undergraduate Athletic Association, Yale Political Union, and Pierson College Attendant Swarthmore Friends Meeting. Unmarried

Enlisted as apprentice seaman, U.S. Naval Reserve, Class V-7, June 17, 1941; attended U.S. Naval Reserve Midshipmen's School, Northwestern University, September 18, 1941—January 16, 1942; appointed midshipman October 16, 1941, promoted Ensign January 16, 1942; attended U.S. Naval Training School, Noroton, Conn., January 26–February 19, 1942, attached to U.S.—.

Ensign Main was killed in action off Savo Island in the Battle of the Solomons Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart September 2, 1943 Survived by parents, a sister, Elizabeth McNaughton Main (B A. Mount Holyoke Coll. 1937, M.D. Cornell Univ 1941) of Malvern, Pa., and a brother, William Fellows Main (Allegheny Coll. ex-'42) of Malvern.

# Henry Randall Wilson, 3d, Class of 1941.

Born August 27, 1918, in Easthampton, NY Died February 9, 1941, in Montgomery, Ala

Father, Henry Randall Wilson, Jr., ex-'16 S.; son of Henry Randall and Emma Louise (Harding) Wilson of Brooklyn Mother, Marion Janet (Becker) Wilson; daughter of Margaret (Bathgate) Becker

Harvey School, Hawthorne, NY., and The Hotchkiss School, Lake-ville, Conn Entered Yale September, 1937, Freshman Golf Squad and Swimming Team; Vanderbilt Swimming Team Sophomore year; University Swimming Team Sophomore and Junior years; member Beta Theta Pi, Branford College (captain golf team Junior year; captain-elect swimming team Senior year), and Central Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Withdrew from college July 6, 1940; enlisted as Air Corps cadet September, 1940, at Albany, Ga., trained at Basic Flying School, Maxwell Field, January–February 9, 1941.

Death due to an automobile accident Survived by mother (Mrs Acheson) and paternal grandmother.

## Robert Kalman Haas, Jr., Class of 1942.

Born April 2, 1920, in New York City Died May 28, 1943, in the Atlantic area.

Father, Robert K Haas, '11, of Scarsdale, N.Y.; vice-president Random House, Inc., New York City; son of Kalman and Henrietta (Fatman) Haas of New York City Mother, Merle Ethel (Simon) Haas. Yale rela-

tives include. George C. Haas, '08 S. (uncle); and George C. Haas, Jr., '42 (cousin).

Deerfield (Mass ) Academy. Entered Yale September, 1938; on championship Freshman Soccer Team; University Soccer Squad Sophomore

year; member Silliman College.

Withdrew from college September, 1940; enlisted as seaman (2d class), U.S. Naval Reserve, January 8, 1941; preliminary flight training Naval Air Station, Floyd Bennett Field, February 15–April, 1941, and Jacksonville, Miami, and Norfolk April–October, 1941; received wings as naval aviator and commissioned Ensign, U.S. Naval Reserve, October 8, 1941; promoted Lieutenant (1 g.) October 1, 1942; carrier duty on U.S.S.— (Atlantic Fleet), involving flying under training January–February, 1942; assigned to Escort Scouting Squadron One, later changed to Composite Squadron One, first aboard U.S.S.— and later U.S.S.—, for active duty involving flying, February, 1942—May 28, 1943, awarded American Defense Service Medal, Fleet Clasp, 1939–41, and Presidential Unit Citation Medal.

Lieutenant Haas lost his life in the line of duty. Survived by parents and two sisters, the Misses Elizabeth May and Priscilla Merle Haas of Scarsdale.

# Morris Randolph Mitchell, Jr., Class of 1943.

Born July 3, 1920, in Montclair, N.J. Died September 9, 1942, in England.

Father, Morris Randolph Mitchell (B.A Univ. Delaware 1919; M.A. George Peabody Coll for Teachers 1925, Ph.D. 1926), head department of education Alabama State Teachers College, Florence; son of Samuel Chiles Mitchell, LL D, Litt D (M.A. Georgetown Coll. 1888; Ph.D. Univ. Chicago 1899) and Alice Virginia (Broadus) Mitchell of Georgetown, Ky. Mother, Grace Lucille (Gates) Mitchell; daughter of Rev. Frederick Taylor Gates, LL D (B.A. Univ. Rochester 1877, M.A. 1879; grad Rochester Theological Seminary 1880), and Emma Lucillia (Cahoon) Gates. Yale relatives include: Frederick L. Gates, '09, Franklin H. Gates, '12, and Russell C Gates, '14 (uncles); and Franklin M. Gates, '38 E., Gordon T. Gates, ex-'43 S, Richard J. Gates, ex-'43 S, and F. Taylor Gates, ex-'45 (cousins).

International School, Geneva, Switzerland, and Montclair High School. Entered Yale September, 1939, withdrew January, 1940.

Attended Cheshire (Conn ) Academy January–June, 1940; trained to be a commercial pilot at Union and Grand Central air terminals, Burbank,

Calif., and Arlen-Probert Flying School, Metropolitan Airport, Van Nuys, Calif.; received commercial flying license September 15, 1941, commercial pilot for Arlen-Probert and transcontinental ferry pilot for Taylorcraft Aviation Corporation, Alliance, Ohio, September 15-December 7, 1941; volunteered in American Eagle Squadron, Royal Air Force, December 7, 1941; took a refresher course at War Eagle Field March-June, 1942, and commissioned Sergeant Pilot June 5; went to England June 15, 1942, trained as bomber pilot in twin-engine ships June-August, assigned to an operational unit; had completed twenty-three flights as copilot on bombing missions.

Sergeant Pilot Mitchell died as a result of injuries received when the gas lines of his bomber broke a few seconds after the take-off, the plane burst into flames and crashed at the end of the runway. Survived by parents, two sisters, the Misses Grace Anne and Alice Broadus Mitchell, and paternal grandfather.

# Thomas Jefferson Rainey, Class of 1943.

Born July 4, 1921, in Oklahoma City, Okla. Died June 14, 1943, near Fire Island, NY.

Father, Robert Minter Rainey (Univ. Texas ex-'05), co-senior partner Rainey, Flynn, Green & Anderson, lawyers, Oklahoma City, former chief justice Oklahoma Supreme Court. Mother, Lillian Schofield (Fryer) Rainey.

Classen High School, Oklahoma City, and Episcopal High School, Alexandria, Va. Entered Yale September, 1939, Andrew D White Prize Freshman year; enrolled Civilian Pilot Training Course fall of 1941; member R.O.T.C. at Yale, Yale Political Union, Trumbull College (glee club), and First Presbyterian Church, Oklahoma City

Withdrew from college to enlist as aviation cadet, Army Air Forces, January 27, 1942; received preflight training at Maxwell Field March–June, 1942, primary training Dorr Field June–September, basic training Bush Field September–November, and advanced training Napier Field November, 1942—January, 1943; received wings and commissioned Second Lieutenant January 14, 1943; combat training for P-47's at Westover Field January–February, 1943; assigned to —— Fighter Squadron and sent for further training to Trumbull Field February–June, 1943, and Mitchel Field.

Lieutenant Rainey was killed in an airplane crash near Fire Island. Survived by parents, a sister, Dorothea Rainey Robertson (BA Vassar Coll 1938), the wife of David S. Robertson, and two brothers, Lieut. Robert

Minter Rainey, Jr, USN.R. (LLB. Univ Virginia 1932), and Lieut. Gordon F. Rainey, U.S.N.R. (LLB. Univ. Virginia 1936).

# Charles Michael Fauci, Jr., Class of 1944.

Born October 5, 1921, in Boston, Mass. Died November 28, 1942, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Charles Michael Fauci of Wellesley, Mass; president Fauci Oil Company and C M Fauci Company, wholesale liquors, Medford, Mass. Mother, Gertrude May (Denehy) Fauci.

Prepared at The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Entered Yale Sep-

tember, 1940.

Withdrew from college June, 1942, to attend Roosevelt Aviation School, New York City, accepted by United States Navy October 21, 1942.

Mr Fauci lost his life in the Cocoanut Grove night-club fire in Boston. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Medford. Survived by father.

# Frank Russell Whittlesey, Class of 1944.

Born July 5, 1921, in New York City. Died September 14, 1942, on Guadalcanal, Solomon Islands

Father, Melzar M. Whittlesey, '17, of New York City; son of Frank Russell and Annie Elizabeth Whittlesey of Pittsfield, Mass. Mother, Adelaide Gould Ingram Whittlesey; daughter of Elgin R. L and Mary Hurst Gould of New York City. Yale relatives include: Russell Whittlesey, '11 S, Lyttleton B. P Gould, '17, Erl C. B. Gould, '18, and John H P. Gould, '25 (uncles), and Julian H Whittlesey, '27 S, Granville Whittlesey, Jr, '29, and Lyttleton B. P Gould, Jr., '43 (cousins)

St Paul's School, Concord, NH Entered Yale September, 1940; mem-

ber Timothy Dwight College.

Withdrew from college January, 1942; enlisted as private, U.S. Marine Corps Reserve, January 28, 1942, received boot training at Parris Island January–March, volunteered and accepted for First Raider Battalion and sent to Quantico, Va; went overseas in April, 1942, and saw action at Tulagi and Guadalcanal August 7–September 14, 1942.

Private Whittlesey was killed in action on Guadalcanal Posthumously awarded the Order of the Purple Heart and First Marine Division Presidential Unit Citation Survived by parents, a sister, Mrs Michel C Poylo, a brother, Capt E Gould Ingram, '31, A U.S., and maternal grandmother.

# Mikael Katchadoor Minassian, Ph.B. 1900.

Born November 8, 1873, in Harpoot, Turkey. Died August 3, 1936, in Oakland, Calif.

Father, Rev Katchadoor Minassian (grad. American Coll. and Divinity School, Tarsus, Turkey), a Congregational minister in Adana, Turkey. Mother, Margerid (Michaelian) Minassian.

Missionary High School, Bardizas, Turkey. Natural history course; honors in Junior year; two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year.

Studied elocution, psychology, and philosophy at Harvard Graduate School 1900–01, 1905–07; graduate student in chemistry Yale University 1907–08; assistant editor Gotchnae, Armenian newspaper printed in Boston 1901–02; edited Louyce, monthly scientific magazine, 1902–09, general superintendent of schools Miatzyal (United) Society in Armenian provinces of Turkey 1909–15, in charge scientific department Avedaper, weekly newspaper in Istanbul; devoted time to editorial work and founder and editor of several Armenian weeklies, engaged in research in poultry experimental station University of California; president Growers Chemical & Supply Company, Fresno, Calif., 1919–20, member First Congregational Church, Berkeley, Calif.

Married June 28, 1910, in Erzroom, Turkey, Satenig, daughter of Hoohanness and Serpuie (Aslanian) Garabedian Children Edward William (B A. Univ. California 1937, M D. St. Louis Univ. School of Medicine 1943), Yervant Jack (B.S. Univ. California 1939), Henry Levon, and Aileen, the wife of Lloyd John Bradley.

Death due to uremia Ashes interred in Sunset Mausoleum, Berkeley Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, and four sisters, Mrs. Esther Unjeian and Mrs Arsalous Kesaian, both of Fresno, Mrs Rochel Bashian of Watertown, Mass, and Mrs. Elizabeth Derian of Somerville, Mass

# Edward Ward Manning, Ph.B. 1909.

Born July 23, 1884, in New Haven, Conn Died September 23, 1942, in Glendale, N.Y

Father, Michael W. Manning of New Haven. Mother, Jane (Grimes) Manning.

New Haven High School Electrical engineering course

Taught mathematics and mechanical drawing in evening school of New Haven High School; attorney in New York City, with Steckler and Steckler, New York City

Married.

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver. Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs. Agnes M. Markham of New Haven, and three brothers, Walter G. Manning of West Haven, Arthur F Manning of New Haven, and George S. Manning, ex-'04 L.

# Richard William Dooly, B.S. 1924.

Born April 2, 1901, in Salt Lake City, Utah. Died July 11, 1941, in Salt Lake City, Utah.

Father, John Edward Dooly, president Utah National Bank, Ogden. Mother, Mary Veach (Cavanaugh) Dooly.

Preparatory department University of Notre Dame and Phillips-Exeter. Administrative engineering course, Class crew squad Sophomore year; member St. Elmo and Delta Phi.

In trust department Walker Brothers Bank, Salt Lake City, 1925–27; associated with Bamberger Investment and Exploration Company, Salt Lake City, 1929–41; president Dooly Block, Inc., and Syndicate Investment Company until 1941; secretary and treasurer John E. Dooly Company and Island Improvement Company until 1941; trustee University Club of Salt Lake City 1930 and 1931 (president 1931); member Cathedral of the Madeleine (Roman Catholic), Salt Lake City.

Married July 2, 1931, in Salt Lake City, Margaret Blaine, daughter of Lewis B. McCornick. No children.

Death due to pulmonary fibrosis Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Salt Lake City Survived by wife, three sisters, Mary Catherine Dooly Smith (B.A. Wellesley Coll. 1921), the wife of Milton Smith (B.A. Univ. Colorado 1922, LL.B. 1924) of Denver, Mrs. Ernest Bamberger of Salt Lake City, and Miss Ethel C. Dooly of Los Angeles, and a brother, John E. Dooly of Salt Lake City.

# Samuel Jackson Underhill, B.S. 1939.

Born August 25, 1917, in Jericho, NY.

Missing in action May 8, 1942, in the Battle of the Coral Sea.

Presumptive date of death May 9, 1943.

Father, Henry Willets Underhill, a banker in Hicksville, N.Y.; son of Samuel Jackson and Emma (Albertson) Underhill of Jericho Mother, Helen (Wallower) Underhill (B.A Wellesley Coll. 1910), daughter of Elias Zollinger and Maria Dorothy (Hoover) Wallower of Harrisburg, Pa Yale relatives include: Horace M. Witman, '98 D. (uncle); and William Witman, 2d, '35 (cousin).

Friends' Academy, Locust Valley, NY, and Gunnery School, Washing-

ton, Conn. Applied economics course; Freshman Track and Cross-Country teams and Freshman Swimming Squad; University Track Squad Sophomore year; Freshman Glee Club; University Glee Club three years, associate member Yale Dramatic Association; nonresident member Branford College (football team Junior year; track team three years); member St. Anthony and Delta Psi.

Attended Harvard Law School 1939-40; member Society of Friends. Unmarried.

Enlisted U.S. Naval Reserve November, 1940; received primary flight training at U.S. Naval Air Base, Floyd Bennett Field, and advanced training at Naval Air Station, Jacksonville, received wings and commissioned Ensign August 5, 1941, assigned to Scouting Squadron —, October, 1941, for active duty aboard U.S.S. — in Asiatic waters; contributed materially to the sinking or damaging of eight enemy vessels in Tulagi Harbor on May 4, 1942, and to the sinking of an enemy aircraft carrier in the Coral Sea on May 7. On May 8, 1942, the final day of the Battle of the Coral Sea, he was one of the eight pilots from the —— assigned to protect our surface vessels from hostile torpedo planes while our fighter squadrons were attacking the Japanese fleet about 100 miles away This patrol using slow bombing planes had to act without fighter protection. A large number of fast Japanese planes attacked our fleet and while the patrol was seeking to intercept the attacking torpedo planes Ensign Underhill and three others of the patrol were shot down. He was awarded the Navy Cross for extraordinary heroism in this battle.

Ensign Underhill was reported missing in action as of May 8, 1942. (In compliance with Section 5 of Public Law 490, as amended, the presumptive date of death was fixed as May 9, 1943) Survived by a brother, Henry Willets Underhill, Jr. (B S. Princeton 1935), and an uncle, Daniel Underhill, both of Jericho.

The destroyer escort vessel U S.S. *Underhill*, commissioned November 15, 1943, was named to honor him. The Township of Oyster Bay, N.Y., has dedicated a plot of land at Jericho to be known as "Underhill Memorial Park." On this spot have been erected the honor rolls of the community for both World Wars.

# Robert Torrey Thompson, Class of 1940 S.

Born October 11, 1917, in Andover, Mass. Died April 9, 1941, at Maxwell Field, Ala.

Father, Charles D. Thompson, '08 S, president Merrimade, Inc, paper manufacturers, Lawrence, Mass; son of Andrew and Frances (Torrey)

Thompson of Honesdale, Pa. Mother, Aline (MacMillan) Thompson; daughter of Henry G. and Anne C. MacMillan of Salt Lake City. Yale relatives include. Augustus P. Thompson, '96 S, and Gordon McMillan,

ex-'05 S (uncles).

Fessenden School, West Newton, Mass., and Phillips-Andover Entered Yale September, 1936, biological science course; Freshman Crew Squad; Vanderbilt football and hockey teams and crew Sophomore year; on business board Yale Dramatic Association Sophomore year; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi, Berkeley College (hockey team Junior year; football team Senior year), and School Church, Andover.

Withdrew from college January 24, 1940; enlisted in Army Air Forces as flying cadet August, 1940; received primary training at Tuscaloosa, Ala, and advanced training at Southeast Air Corps Training Center, Maxwell

Field, until April 9, 1941

Death due to an airplane accident. Received wings posthumously. Buried in Phillips Academy Cemetery, Andover Survived by parents and two brothers, Lieut David M. Thompson, '38 S., U.S N.R., and Lieut. Donald G. Thompson, A U.S (Class of 1945 S)

# Foster Miller Fargo, Class of 1941 S.

Born June 7, 1919, in Plainfield, N J. Died April 14, 1943, near Moycock, N C.

Father, F. Miller Fargo, Jr, '06 S., vice-president Calco Chemical Company, Bound Brook, N J, son of Frank M. Fargo, '81, and Georgene Louise (Watkinson) Fargo (Yale School of the Fine Arts ex-'80) Mother, Lillian (Foster) Fargo, daughter of Adelbert M. Foster of Evanston, Ill Yale relatives include: George A Watkinson, ex-'89 (great-uncle), Alvin W. Fargo, '06 S. (uncle); and Alvin W. Fargo, Jr, '37 S. (cousin).

Wardlaw School for Boys, Plainfield, N.J, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn. Entered Yale September, 1937; Freshman Crew; University Crew Sophomore year, member St. Anthony and Delta Psi and Say-

brook College.

Withdrew from college June 19, 1939; associated with Colgate-Palmolive-Peet Company, Jersey City, N.J., June, 1939—January, 1941; member Crescent Avenue Presbyterian Church, Plainfield.

Married October 6, 1941, in New York City, Ruth Wheelock, daughter of Robert Rentoul and Christine (Patten) Reed. Son: Foster Miller, Ir.

Aviation cadet, United States Navy, January-October, 1941; received wings and commissioned Ensign October 3, 1941; trained naval recruits and instructor in instrument flying U.S. Naval Air Station, Jacksonville,

until March, 1943; promoted Lieutenant (j g.) October 1, 1942, assigned to a fighting squadron, U.S. Naval Air Station, Norfolk, March 1, 1943

Lieutenant Fargo was killed in a mid-air collision Survived by wife, son, parents, and two sisters, Louise Lillian Fargo Thompson (B A Smith Coll. 1938), the wife of Gleed Thompson, ex-'35 S., and Mrs. Herbert Hastings Foster, Jr., of Plainfield.

# James Watson Hatch, Jr., Class of 1941 S.

Born August 22, 1918, in Hartford, Conn. Died April 25, 1942, in North Africa.

Father, James Watson Hatch (Trinity Coll ex-'17), president and treasurer Bush Manufacturing Company, heat transfer products, Hartford, son of Edward Buckingham Hatch (B A Trinity Coll 1886) and Georgia (Watson) Hatch of Hartford Mother, Florence Watrous (Marvin) Hatch; daughter of L. P. Waldo Marvin, '92, and Florence Belle (Watrous) Marvin of West Hartford Yale relatives include an uncle, Edwin W. Marvin, '22.

Kingswood School, West Hartford, and Choate School, Wallingford, Conn Entered Yale September, 1937; Freshman Crew Squad.

Withdrew from college January 18, 1939, associated with Hartford National Bank and Trust Company 1939 and Bush Manufacturing Company 1939–40; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford.

Enlisted as private, 208th Coast Artillery, January 1, 1941; promoted private (1st class); accepted as air cadet January 15, 1942; trained at Williams Field until March 1, Air Force Training Detachment, Ryan School of Aeronautics, San Diego, until June 30, La Moore, Calif, until August 30, and Luke Field until he received his wings and was commissioned Second Lieutenant October 30; stationed at Muroc Bombing Field, November-December, and Orange County Army Air Field, Santa Ana, Calif, December 12, 1942—January 20, 1943, went overseas February 8, 1943; volunteered for — Photo Reconnaissance Group, North Africa

Lieutenant Hatch was killed by antiaircraft fire while flying a mission over enemy territory. Buried in American Cemetery, Beja, Tunisia Survived by parents, three sisters, Mrs G. Brown Webster and the Misses Helen and Florence Watrous Hatch, and maternal grandmother

# David Edsall Tileston, Class of 1943 S.

Born January 14, 1922, in New Haven, Conn Died June 14, 1943, in the Southwest Pacific area

Father, Wilder Tileston (B.A. Harvard 1895, MD 1899) of New Haven; member of faculty Yale University since 1909; son of John Boies and

Mary Wilder (Foote) Tileston of Concord, Mass. Mother, Ethel Walker (Smyth) Tileston, daughter of Rev. Newman Smyth (B.A. Bowdoin Coll. 1863, grad Andover Newton Theological School 1867; D D Yale 1895; member Yale Corporation 1899–1921) and Anna Marston (Ayer) Smyth of New Haven Yale relatives include. Nathan A. Smyth, '97 (uncle); and William Smyth, '32 (cousin).

Hamden Hall and Hopkins Grammar School, New Haven, and The Hotchkiss School, Lakeville, Conn Entered Yale September, 1939; member Calhoun College (on touch football team Sophomore year) and Center

Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Withdrew from college February, 1942; enlisted as private, Army of the United States, March 25, 1942; received basic training Keesler Field March-May; attended Radio Operator and Mechanical School, Scott Field, May-September; assigned to — Troop Carrier Squadron, — Troop Carrier Group, in September; received further training as a radio operator on a troop-carrier plane at Bowman Field, and Lawson Field, Fort Benning, September-December; went overseas January, 1943, and based somewhere in Australia; on detached service aboard a troop-carrying transport May, 1943; made private (1st class); promoted corporal and sergeant.

Sergeant Tileston lost his life in an airplane crash. Survived by parents, a sister, Anne Tileston, A U.S. (B.S. Simmons Coll. 1940), and two brothers, Thomas N. Tileston, A.U.S. (B.A. Harvard 1937), and Peter A.

Tileston, A U S. (California Inst. Technology Class of 1943).

# Edward Lewis Dodd, M.A. 1902.

Born November 1, 1875, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died January 9, 1943, in Austin, Texas.

Father, Heber Peet Dodd, assistant accountant New York Central Railroad Company, son of Edward Lewis and Susan Elizabeth (Peet) Dodd of Cleveland. Mother, Emma Melvina (Drake) Dodd; daughter of James B and Melvina (Phelps) Drake of Cleveland.

Cleveland Central High School; B A. Western Reserve University 1897, M.A 1901, studied mathematics Yale Graduate School 1901–04 (M.A. 1902, Ph.D 1904); instructor in mathematics State University of Iowa 1904–06 and University of Illinois 1906–07, on faculty University of Texas 1907–43 (instructor in mathematics 1907–14, adjunct professor 1914–17, associate professor of actuarial mathematics 1917–23, professor 1923–43; research professor 1939–40, departmental chairman 1916–20 and 1923–29); while on leave of absence 1922–23 taught at Williams College; lecturer at Congress on the Theory of Probability, Geneva, 1937 and summer sessions of Cowles Commission for Research in Economics, Colorado

Springs, 1936-40; author: "Multiple Sequences" (1905), On Ordinary Plane and Skew Curves (1912), The Arithmetic Mean as Approximately the Most Probable Value a Posteriori Under the Gaussian Probability Law (1915), Some Dangers in Establishing a Pension System and Proper Precautions (1919), A Comparison of the Pensions of the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association with Those of Other Legal Reserve Companies (1919), and numerous papers on theoretic probability and statistics in this country and Europe; associate editor American Mathematical Monthly 1918-23; represented Mathematical Association of America at Seventh American Science Congress, Mexico City, 1935, fellow Royal Economics Society (London), Institute of Mathematical Statistics, and American Statistical Association; member Texas Academy of Science, American Mathematical Society, Econometric Society, Phi Beta Kappa, Sigma Xi, and St David's Church (Episcopal), Austin.

Married June 15, 1910, in Austin, Alice, daughter of Charles Thomas and Ellen Charlotte (Jackson) Laidman. No children.

Death due to cardiac thrombosis. Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Austin. Survived by wife and a brother, Charles Heber Dodd of Los Angeles.

# Francis King Jones, M.A. 1906.

Born April 12, 1870, in Kokomo, Ind Died September 9, 1941, in Portland, Ore

Father, Philemon Jones, a farmer in Indiana and Kansas, son of Henry and Susannah (Pemberton) Jones of Ohio and Indiana Mother, Mary (Newlin) Jones; daughter of John and Elizabeth (King) Newlin of Indiana.

Tonganoxie (Kans) Friends' Academy; BS William Penn College 1896, M.A. 1903; teacher secondary schools Earlham, Iowa, 1896–97; instructor Pacific College 1897–1905 (BA. 1901) and 1906–09, registered in Yale Graduate School 1905–06 (M.A. 1906); principal San Jacinto (Calif) High School 1909–11 and Santa Paula (Calif.) Union High School 1911 until retirement 1930, chairman Portland Boys Committee and Social Welfare Committee; member Rose City Presbyterian Church, Portland

Married August 8, 1900, in Newberg, Ore., Anna Hoskins (B S Pacific Coll. 1899), daughter of Josiah Lewis and Mary Laura (Hadley) Hoskins Children: Mary Bernice (B.A. Occidental Coll. 1924), the wife of William Wilson Wood (B.S. Massachusetts State Coll. 1924), and Merle H. (B A Occidental Coll 1928).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Lincoln Memorial Park, Portland. Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, one sister, and three brothers.

# Howard Ansel Morton, M.A. 1909.

Born March 3, 1873, in New Germany, Nova Scotia. Died April 7, 1943, in Lynn, Mass.

Father, Silas Morton, a farmer in New Germany; son of Joseph and Deborah (Moore) Morton of New Germany. Mother, Sarah Ann (Young) Morton, daughter of George and Caroline (Durland) Young of New Germany.

B A Acadia University 1897; attended Harvard College 1897–98 and Harvard Graduate School of Education 1898–99 (B.A. 1899); B.D. Chicago Theological Seminary 1904; attended Yale Graduate School 1908–09 (M A 1909), ordained in Cobourg, Ontario, 1902 and minister there 1902–03, minister Rollo, Ill, 1904–05, Orleans, Mass, 1906, Essex, Conn, 1907–11, Deep River 1911–17, Newington 1919–21, Phillips Congregational Church, South Boston, Mass., 1921–29, and Congregational Church, Point of Pines, Revere, Mass, 1932–43; conducted private classes in the Bible and Biblical History, Boston, 1929–43; member Connecticut Assembly session of 1915, Y M C.A secretary assigned to 314th Infantry, 79th Division, overseas June 1, 1918—July 7, 1919; member Masonic order and First Congregational Church, Rockland, Mass.

Married July 8, 1902, in Somerville, Mass, Eleanor McDonald, daughter of Richard Prentice and Jane Roberts (Tupper) Knowles Children: Richard Knowles (BS Boston Univ 1925, S.T.M. 1931, STB. Harvard 1930) and Eleanor McDonald (BS Boston Univ. 1932), the wife of Merl Street (Univ Wisconsin ex-'25) Mrs Morton died July 2, 1942.

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, Rockland Survived by children, four grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs. Lalia Morton Bell of New Germany and Mrs Marian Morton Eaton of Worcester, Mass, and seven brothers, George Alvey Morton, Lockert Freeman Morton, and Daniel Whitman Morton, all of New Germany, and Parker Caleb Morton of Tangerine, Fla., Rupert Havelock Morton of Worcester, Maynard Brown Morton of Northampton, Mass., and Noble Lenley Morton of Hartford, Conn.

# Bertha Ellen Lovewell Dickinson, Ph.D. 1898.

Born July 20, 1867, in Prairie du Chien, Wis. Died June 6, 1943, in Pasadena, Calif.

Father, Joseph T Lovewell (B A. 1857). Mother, Margaret Lois (Bissell) Lovewell Yale relatives include an uncle, John Lovewell (B.A. 1858).

B.L. Washburn College 1889; attended Yale Graduate School 1892-93 and 1897–98 (Ph D. 1898); principal Minneapolis High School 1889–92; dean of women and professor of English literature Washburn College 1894-96; dean of women and instructor in English Hartford Public High School 1898-1903; lecturer in English University of Southern California 1931-40, lectured widely and occasionally over radio station KRKD (University of the Air), Los Angeles; author A Critical Edition of the Life of Saint Cecelia from M.S. Ashmole 43 and M.S. Cotton Tiberius E VII (1898) and of many reviews, programs, and studies, including "The Poetic Art of Browning" and a manuscript on Browning, Litt D. Washburn College 1929; led study of Browning in Pasadena Browning Society 1913-29 (honorary president 1930); founder Bard and Sage Club (Hartford, Conn.) 1890 and Pacific Coast Browning Foundation, Inc., 1931, organized and led Pasadena Browning Seminar 1926-40, president Pasadena Fine Arts Club 1931-33 (honorary member 1941), honorary member Los Angeles, Hollywood, Long Beach, and New York Browning societies; member Tau Delta Pi, Daughters of the American Revolution, and All Saints' Church (Episcopal), Pasadena

Married September 3, 1903, in New Haven, Conn, George Lyman, son of Sylvanus and Mary Ann (Randall) Dickinson. Son John Lovewell (California Inst. Technology 1925–27; Univ North Carolina 1929–30; B.A. Univ. Southern California 1932).

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Mountain View Mausoleum, Altadena, Calif Survived by husband, son, a sister, Mrs Harry K Grigg of Mount Vernon, N.Y, and a brother, Paul Arthur Lovewell (BA Washburn Coll. 1897) of Topeka, Kans.

# Julius Olsen, Ph.D. 1902.

Born May 5, 1873, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 15, 1942, in Abilene, Texas.

Father, Ole Olsen, a farmer and cattleman near Concordia, Kans.; son of Ole and Lusie (Halvorsen) Olsen of Frosten, Norway Mother, Regina (Paulsen) Olsen, daughter of Paul and Anne (Johannesen) Paulsen of Gudbrandsdal, Norway.

Bethany Academy, Lindsborg, Kans; B.S Bethany College 1898, attended Yale Graduate School 1898–1902 (Ph D 1902) and universities of Berlin and Cambridge 1905–06; member faculty Hardin-Simmons University 1902–42 (professor of mathematics 1902–10, chemistry 1910–15, and physics 1910–42; head department of physics and chemistry 1910–26 and department of physics 1910–42; acting dean 1910–15, dean 1915–42),

Sc.D Bethany College 1922; author "An Investigation into the Existence of Free Ions in Aqueous Solutions of Electrolytes" (1902); a founder National Council of Alpha Chi (president 1931–32) and of local chapter at Hardin-Simmons University which is named in his honor; president Scholarship Societies of the South 1931–32, fellow Texas Academy of Science and American Association for the Advancement of Science; member Texas Society of Archeology and Paleontology (vice-president 1928–42), American Physical Society, and First Baptist Church, Abilene.

Married December 25, 1902, in Norway, Kans., Clara, daughter of Thoresius Aasilius and Marie Claudine (Pedersen) Nelson. Children: Regina May (B A Hardin-Simmons Univ. 1924 and Carleton Coll. 1925), the wife of Meredith Townsend Lewis (B.S. Texas Agricultural and Mechanical Coll 1927), Claudine Juliette (B.A Hardin-Simmons Univ. 1926); Julius Nelson (died February 12, 1913); Ollie Lena (B.A. Hardin-Simmons Univ. 1935 and Smith Coll. 1937; M.A. Columbia Univ. 1940); and Julian Clarence (Hardin-Simmons Univ. ex-'40).

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Abilene Survived by wife, daughters, and one son

In 1944 a liberty ship was named to honor him.

# Corydon Mott Ryno, M.D. 1901.

Born January 31, 1876, in Coloma, Mich. Died February 6, 1941, in Benton Harbor, Mich.

Father, Wakeman Ryno (M.D. Univ. Michigan 1872) Mother, Jennie Rosa Ryno.

BS Rutgers University 1898, attended Yale School of Medicine 1899-1901 (MD 1901), physician in Benton Harbor 1901–41; on staff Taber Sanatorium, house physician Premier Mineral Baths, Benton Harbor; commissioned Lieutenant (j.g.) U.S. Naval Reserve January 5, 1917; passed assistant surgeon (with rank of Lieutenant), United States Navy, September 21, 1917; stationed at United States Naval Hospital, Charleston, S.C., as chief of contagious section; resigned while on duty at Parris Island July 10, 1920

Married (1) July 16, 1902, Ida Eder, of Chicago. Children. Dorothea, Elizabeth Ann (B A. New Jersey Coll for Women 1928), and Jane (Ph B. Univ. Chicago 1931), the wife of Webster Sterling Married (2) May 4, 1937, Alice M, daughter of C. Hammond of Benton Harbor.

Death due to septic liver Buried in Oakwoods Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife and children

# Jairus Lee Nott, B.D. 1885.

Born November 21, 1856, in Deerfield, Wis. Died March 10, 1943, in Minneapolis, Minn

Father, Christopher Nott, a farmer in Madison, Wis Mother, Alvira (Munson) Nott.

B.A. Drury College 1882, MA. 1895; attended Yale Divinity School 1882-85 (BD. 1885); ordained in Congregational church, Hebron, Conn, December 2, 1885, and minister there 1884–88; minister Northford, Conn, 1888-92, Middlefield 1892-93, Union Congregational Church, St. Louis Park, Minneapolis, 1894-97, Benson 1897-1900, Zumbro Falls 1900, and Mazeppa 1900-01; retired from the ministry in 1901 and had engaged in selling stocks and operating real estate in Minneapolis; member Plymouth Congregational Church, Minneapolis

Married (1) May 15, 1885, in Seymour, Conn, Helen, daughter of Henry and Helen Ward (Gaylord) Parsons Children. Josephine Olive (B.A. Carleton Coll 1913), the wife of Leslie Henry Morse, and Edna Mae (B A. Smith Coll. 1919), the wife of Russell Lucius Whitaker Mrs Nott died January 1, 1901. Married (2) June 25, 1913, in Minneapolis,

Irene, daughter of John and Anna Haslehurst.

Death due to old age. Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

# John Hovey Kimball, B.D. 1896.

Born lanuary 21, 1871, in Nashua, NH Died September 13, 1942, in Berkeley, Calif.

Father, John Gardner Kimball, president New Hampshire Banking Company, Nashua, treasurer Underhill Edge Tool Company, son of Isaac and Lucinda (Tenney) Kimball of Greenville, NH Mother, Betsey Chandler (Spalding) Kimball; daughter of Ira and Eliza Jane (Atwood) Spalding of Merrimack, NH.

Nashua High School; B.A. Beloit College 1893; attended Yale Divinity School 1893-96 (BD. 1896); ordained to Evangelical ministry in Stoughton, Wis, March 16, 1898, and minister there 1897-1901; minister Congregational Church, Sebastopol, Calif., 1901-03 and San Mateo 1903-10; traveled in Europe 1910; in real-estate business in California 1911-17, superintendent of religious education First Congregational Church of Berkeley 1917-18 and a trustee; secretary to mayor of Berkeley 1919-23; secretary East Bay Municipal Utility District, Berkeley, 1923 until retirement 1941; chairman Abraham Lincoln Fellowship of Northern California and lectured extensively on Lincoln

Married April 3, 1902, in Los Angeles, Estelle Ann, daughter of Isaac and Eliza Grieves (Graham) Robinson Son: John Robinson (B.A. Univ. California 1926).

Death due to myocarditis. Ashes interred in Chapel of Chimes, Oakland,

Calif Survived by wife, son, and a granddaughter.

# William Charles Morro, B.D. 1904.

Born November 11, 1871, in Tipton, Iowa. Died March 24, 1943, in Fort Worth, Texas.

Father, Horace Edgar Morro, postmaster in Viola, Mo Mother, Amelia (Hacksteen) Morro; daughter of John Jacob and Catherine Amelia (Von Setton) Hacksteen

Attended College of the Bible, Lexington, Ky, 1895–98; B.A. Transylvania College 1898, M A 1903, ordained to Disciples of Christ ministry, Lexington, 1898; pastor Lygon Street Church of the Disciples of Christ, Melbourne, Australia, for three years; attended Yale Divinity School 1903–04 (B D 1904) and Harvard University Graduate School of Education 1904–06 (Ph D. 1906); professor College of the Bible 1906–11 and dean 1910–11; Reeves Memorial Professor of Biblical History and head School of Ministerial Education at Butler University 1911–25; professor of New Testament interpretation University of Michigan School of Religion 1926–27; professor and head New Testament department Brite College of the Bible, Texas Christian University, 1927–43; author Stewardship (1932) and "Brother McGarvy" (1940).

Married February 8, 1898, in Tollesboro, Ky, Willa Sue, daughter of Albert and Adeline (Farrar) Hull Children Catherine Amelia (B.A Texas Christian Univ 1928), Helen Augusta (B.A Texas Christian Univ. 1931; M.A. Univ. Virginia 1933), the wife of Albert Joseph Belmore (B.A. Lehigh Univ 1932), and William Charles, Jr. (B.S. Texas Christian Univ. 1936, M.S. State Univ Iowa 1937).

Death due to cerebrovascular hemorrhage Buried in Laurel Land Cemetery, Fort Worth. Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and two sisters, Mrs William Uriah Cooper of Edna, Kans., and Mrs James David Couch (died April 26, 1943).

# Toshitake Okubo, LL.B. 1889.

Born April 13, 1867, in Kagoshima, Province of Satsuma, Japan Died in 1943.

Father, Lord Toshimichi Okubo, a statesman. Mother, Masako (Kayasaki) Okuho Yale relatives include Tetsujiro Nanjo, ex-'02 Grad M.

Tokyo Imperial University Preparatory School and First Higher Middle School, Tokyo; attended Yale School of Law 1887-89 (LL B. 1889, O. S. Seymour Prize Senior year); studied government administration in England, France, Italy, Switzerland, Norway, Sweden, and Germany 1892-96 (Ph D. University of Halle 1896); private secretary to governorgeneral of Taiwan (Formosa) 1897 and to Minister of State for Home Affairs 1898; director of Prison Affairs Bureau 1899, governor of Tottoriken 1900, Otta-ken 1901, and Saikama-ken 1906, sent to Europe and America by the Home Department to study government administration and municipal affairs 1900-01; director Bureau of Commerce and Industry, Department of Agriculture and Commerce, 1908–12; governor of Osaka Prefectural Government 1912 until retirement from government civil service in 1918; imperial nominee to House of Peers 1917–43; author: "History of Development of Local Administration and Self-Government in Japan" (in German); contributed to various periodicals and magazines, president Saitama branch of the Japanese Red Cross Society; vice-president Yale Association in Japan 1913-23, president 1923-40; delegate to International Penal and Prison Congress, Brussels, and International Congress of Charities, Correction, and Philanthropy, Paris, 1900; awarded Fourth Order of the Sacred Treasure 1902 and Third Order of the Rising Sun 1906; member Oriental and Japanese Economic societies and Board for Collecting and Editing Materials on the History of the Restoration.

Married April 1, 1899, in Tokyo, Sakae, daughter of Baron Rempei Kondo and Ju Kondo. Children: Yudsuru, Toshimasa, and Michitada.

# George Howard Stanton, LL.B. 1893.

Born March 27, 1867, in Cloverdale, Ind. Died October 27, 1941, in Great Falls, Mont.

Father, Thomas Stanton, a farmer and stock raiser in Cloverdale; son of George Washington and Sarah (Hood) Stanton of Virginia Mother, Mary Ann (Walker) Stanton, daughter of James and Mary (Robinson) Walker of Virginia and Missouri. Yale relatives include. Edwin M Stanton (LL.D. 1867).

Central Normal College, Danville, Ind., 1885–86; attended Central Normal College School of Law 1891–92 and Yale School of Law 1892–93 (LL.B. 1893; member Kent Club and Pi Delta Alpha); admitted to the bar 1893; lawyer in Great Falls 1893–1941; counsel Amalgamated Copper Company 1903–05 and Conrad Investment Company and Conrad-Stanford interests in Montana 1905–41; member Montana House of Representatives 1897–99 and Senate 1899–1905 (president *pro tempore* and chairman judiciary committee); president Great Falls Gas Company 1910, Belt Val-

ley Coal Company, Commercial Trust & Savings Bank 1912–14, and Stanton Trust & Savings Bank 1914–23; vice-president and treasurer American Brewing and Malting Company 1909–18 and Great Falls Telephone Company about 1912–13; member United Church (Congregational), New Haven, Conn.

Married February 5, 1910, in Chicago, Dorothy, daughter of Edgar Austin and Carolyn May (Miller) Potter. Children Potter (B.S. Univ. Tulsa 1934), Carolyn Mary (Sophie Newcomb Memorial Coll for Women ex-37), Nancy Dorothy (Sophie Newcomb Memorial Coll. ex-37), the wife of Marion Matthew Truxillo (Loyola Univ. ex-40), and George Howard, Jr. (Univ Tulsa ex-43).

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Highland Cemetery, Great Falls. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

# Edward Garfield Burke, LL.B. 1902.

Born February 2, 1881, in Haddam, Conn. Died May 21, 1943, in Stamford, Conn.

Father, Miles Coverdale Burke of Deep River, Conn., in lumber business in Haddam; son of Edward Griffin and Mary Farrington (Smith) Burke of Haddam Neck Mother, Harriet Newell (Burdick) Burke; daughter of Ambrose and Mary Ann (Luther) Burdick of Millington, Conn.

Deep River High School; attended Yale School of Law 1899–1902 and 1911–12 (LL B 1902), admitted to Connecticut bar 1902, and to practice before United States Circuit Court 1906 and Supreme Court of United States 1928; lawyer in Hartford 1902–17 and Deep River 1902–42; judge probate court, District of Saybrook, 1917–23; collection attorney Deep River 1923–42; represented Saybrook in Connecticut General Assembly sessions of 1925, 1931, 1933 and member judiciary committee; justice of the peace Deep River 1914–18 and 1936–41; chairman Republican Town Committee, Deep River, 1926; president Deep River Businessmen's Association 1923–24, member Commercial Law League of America, Middlesex County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, Sons of the American Revolution, Masonic order, and Deep River Congregational Church.

Married (1) May 16, 1916, in Newark, Helen, daughter of George Dowden. No children Mr. and Mrs. Burke were divorced in 1936. Married (2) November 3, 1938, in Lenox, Mass., Louise Frelinghuysen Elmendorf (B A Smith Coll. 1909; M A. Syracuse Univ. 1931), daughter of John Edward and Helen Aline (Decker) Elmendorf.

Death due to myocarditis. Buried in Fountain Hill Cemetery, Deep River Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Harriet B Langdon of Mattapoisett, Mass, and a brother, William Burke (died February 23, 1944).

# Ray Lawrence Strother, LL.B. 1911.

Born May 19, 1884, in Wilsonburg, W Va. Died April 19, 1943, in Clarksburg, W.Va.

Father, John J. Strother; son of John J. and Almira (Gaines) Strother of Wilsonburg. Mother, Almira (Fittro) Strother, daughter of Martin and

Katherine (Shinn) Fittro of Wilsonburg

West Virginia Wesleyan University Academy, B S Ohio Northern University 1906, M S. 1909; attended University of Michigan School of Law 1908–09 and Yale School of Law 1909–11 (LL.B. 1911); admitted to the bar 1911; lawyer in Clarksburg 1911–43 (member Strother & McDonald 1928–32 and 1933–39 and Strother, McDonald & Rosenshine 1932–33), referee in bankruptcy United States District Court of West Virginia 1926–43; secretary Yale Alumni Association of West Virginia 1923–43, member Harrison County and West Virginia Bar associations and First Methodist Episcopal Church, Clarksburg.

Married September 21, 1921, in Clarksburg, Nelle Frances Hurst (diploma Salem Coll. 1914); daughter of William Lincoln and Eva Evaline (Laughery) Hurst. Daughter: Frances Louise (Ohio Wesleyan Univ.

1945).

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Masonic Cemetery, Clarksburg. Survived by wife, daughter, and three brothers, Walten L. Strother (M.D. Univ. Maryland 1900) of Salem, W.Va., Jesse F. Strother, and John J. Strother.

# James Jay Sheridan, LL.M. 1895.

Born August 15, 1868, in Virginia City, Nev. Died August 23, 1942, in San Diego, Calif.

Father, James C. Sheridan, a farmer in Marshall, Mich. Mother, Bridget

(Crowley) Sheridan.

LL.B. University of Michigan 1894, attended Yale School of Law 1894–95 (LL.M. 1895; member Corbey Court); admitted to Illinois bar 1895; lawyer in Chicago, specializing in corporation and banking law, 1895–1926, Aberdeen, Wash., 1926–32, and San Diego 1932–42; member charter convention to formulate new charter for Chicago 1904; member Chicago Bar Association and Church of Christ, Scientist

Married (1) March 25, 1911, in Chicago, Gertrude Eleanor, daughter of Obadiah and Mary E. (Wright) Sands. Daughter. Gertrude (B.A. Margrove Coll 1939), the wife of Raymond John Mauer, Jr. (B S. Univ.

Detroit 1940) Mrs Sheridan died June 24, 1917. Married (2) September 10, 1924, in Aberdeen, Florence Katherine, daughter of William and Katherine (Keenan) Donovan.

Death due to sepsis Buried in mausoleum of Greenwood Memorial Park, San Diego Survived by wife, daughter, one grandson, a sister, Mrs. Louis Schupp of Detroit, and a half sister, Mrs James O'Brien of Marshall

# William Thomas Maxey, LL.M. 1896.

Born February 11, 1863, in Mount Vernon, Ill. Died August 6, 1942, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Parents, John and Elizabeth (Bullock) Maxey.

Attended Yale School of Law 1895–96 (LL M. 1896); admitted to the bar, had been engaged as a broker in Los Angeles.

Married Children. Yale and Fay.

Death due to senile dementia. Buried in Fairlawn Cemetery, Santa Ana, Calif Survived by children

# Abel Miller Hammett, LL.M. 1902.

Born April 15, 1878, in Huntsville, Mo. Died November 1, 1942, in Tulsa, Okla.

Father, Charles Henry Hammett, a banker in Huntsville and an oil producer in Indian Territory and Oklahoma. Mother, Frances (Jackson) Hammett.

Private school, Kansas City, Mo, and Mexico (Mo) Military Academy; attended William Jewell College 1895–96, University of Virginia Law School 1899–1900, Kansas City, School of Law (LL B 1901), and Yale School of Law 1901–02 (LL.M. 1902); admitted to the bar 1905; lawyer in Tulsa 1906 until about 1908, oil producer and capitalist in Tulsa until his death, attended Trinity Church (Episcopal), Tulsa.

Married February 1, 1905, in Kansas City, Adelaide Virginia, daughter of John Veitch and Harriette (Roscoe) Ellard Daughter: Harriette Frances (died in infancy)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Rose Hill Cemetery, Tulsa. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Van Hammett Costello of St. Louis.

# Robert Worthington Lyman, J D 1913.

Born March 27, 1850, in Northampton, Mass Died September 14, 1937, in Northampton, Mass

Father, Ahira Lyman, a farmer in Southampton, Mass, son of Ahira and Sally (Pomeroy) Lyman of Southampton. Mother, Theresa (Lyman) Lyman, daughter of Elihu and Hannah (Judd) Lyman of Westhampton, Mass. Yale relatives include Jonathan Judd (BA 1741) (great-great-grandfather); and Jonathan Judd (BA. 1765) (great-great-uncle).

Easthampton (Mass) High School; BS Massachusetts State College 1871; LL B. Boston University 1879, LL M. 1912, attended Yale School of Law 1912–13 (J.D. 1913; member Phi Alpha Delta and Acacia), J.D University of Michigan 1917; admitted to the Massachusetts bar 1879; lawyer in Northampton; judge United States District Court, Hampshire County, Mass., and registrar of deeds; lecturer on rural law Massachusetts State College, and Farmers Institute, Massachusetts State Board of Agriculture, professor of law of real property Dickinson School of Law, Carlisle, Pa, 1913–28 and librarian 1928–29

Married. Mrs. Lyman is deceased

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Main Street Cemetery, East-hampton Survived by no immediate relatives.

# DATES OF DEATH OF OTHER INDIVIDUALS WITH YALE AFFILIATION

# REPORTED SUBSEQUENT TO JULY 1, 1943

# RECIPIENTS OF HONORARY DEGREES

YEAR	
1897	Samuel Harden Church (M.A), October 11, 1943.
1910	Charles McLean Andrews (M.A; Litt D. 1935), September 9,
-	1943.
1916	Walter Wheeler Cook (M A.), November 7, 1943.
1920	Frank Schlesinger (M A.), July 10, 1943.
1922	Sir Robert Alexander Falconer (LL.D.), November 4, 1943.
1923	Winthrop More Daniels (M.A.), January 2, 1944.
1923	Karl Young (M.A.), November 17, 1943.
1929	John Maudgridge Snowden Allison (M.A.), April 6, 1944.

## **NON-GRADUATES**

## YALE COLLEGE

CLINO	
1873	Charles Ernest Rounds, January 10, 1944.
1874	Charles Joseph Harris, February 14, 1944.
1879	Frank Moody Curtiss, April 29, 1943.
1882	Ira Barrows, January 12, 1944
1886	Henry Flarsheim, October 13, 1943.
1887	Albertus Hutchinson Baldwin, March 17, 1944.
1890	Frank Pennington Ball, June 17, 1944.
1891	William Griswold Smith, December 25, 1943
1894	Lee Kingsley Stewart, January 18, 1944.
1896	Elbert Adrian Brinckerhoff, November 11, 1943.
1896	Herman Dingwell Sears, August 14, 1943.
1899	Williams Cochran, April 25, 1944.
1899	Carl Andrew Squire, June 13, 1944.
1904	Ammon Latshaw Halteman, December 31, 1943.
1905	Harold Moore Richards, December 7, 1943.
1906	Irving Kent Fulton, June 2, 1944.
1906	Howard Frank Russell, December 19, 1943.
1907	Marshall Forrest, June 23, 1944.
1910	Louis Folsom Pollard, December 7, 1943.
	_

```
CLASS
        John Lawrence Keenan, January 5, 1944.
  IQII
        Ralph Lewin Buell, May 2, 1944.
  1913
        Hoagland Gates, January 17, 1944.
  1913
        Dwight Van Atta Baldwin, November 25, 1943.
  1917
        Atwood Violett, May 31, 1944.
  1917
        Oakley John Dollard, May 21, 1944.
  1919
        Lewis Tolman Byron, Jr, August 21, 1940
  1920
        William Sloan Taylor, February 11, 1944.
  1920
  1921
        Henry Bradshaw Welsh, Jr., June 23, 1944
       Cary Field Clay, June 4, 1942.
  1922
        Randolph Faris, June 23, 1944.
  1923
        Frederick Hurlburt Thwing, September 21, 1943.
  1926
        Eugene Lamb Richards, August 30, 1943.
  1929
        Francis Stringfellow, November 19, 1943
  1929
        Henry Davies Roulston, January 29, 1944.
  1930
*1931
        George Harrington McMann, October 31, 1943.
        Charles Collier Bloomfield, January 16, 1944
  1933
*1935
        Harlow Phelps Spencer, December 1, 1943
        Mark Murray Waxman, December 17, 1943.
*1936
        Charles Henry Mellon, Jr., September 14, 1943.
  1937
 *1940
        John Winston Graham, October 5, 1941.
        Robert Francis Keeler, December 5, 1942
 *1940
· *1940
        John Hill Spalding, January 4, 1944
 *1941
        Michael Stein Jacobs, February 13, 1943.
        Henry Randall Wilson, 3d, February 9, 1941.
 *1941
       Kenneth Coe Bristol, September 21, 1943
 *1942
 *1942
        Robert Kalman Haas, Jr, May 28, 1943
 *1943
        John McDevitt Cronan, June 27, 1944
 *1943
        Morris Randolph Mitchell, Jr, September 9, 1942.
 *1943
        Cyrus LaRue Munson, September 16, 1943
        Charles Morgan Perry, October 25, 1943.
 *1943
        Worthington Webster Phillips, March 27, 1944.
 *1943
 *1943
        Thomas Jefferson Rainey, June 14, 1943
 *1943
        William Scott Snead, Jr, December 25, 1943.
 *1943
        Daniel Greenough Souther, September 3, 1943.
        John Neibert Carpenter, 3d, February 25, 1944.
 *1944
 *1944
        Charles Michael Fauci, Jr, November 28, 1942.
        Willis Clyde Locher, Jr., December 7, 1943.
 *1944
        Walter Roy Manny, Jr, October 18, 1943
 *1944
 *1944
        Frank Russell Whittlesey, September 14, 1942
```

<sup>★</sup> Died in war service

<sup>\*</sup> A biographical sketch appears in this volume, see index for page reference

**CLASS** 

†1945 Clement Gould Amory, January 8, 1944.

†1945 Boyd Taylor Cummings, October 26, 1942.

†1945W Frederick Anson Brown, April 27, 1944

†1945W Francis Joseph Fitzgerald, December 20, 1943.

†1945W Charles Jared Ingersoll, Jr., May 14, 1944.

†1945W John Campbell Moore, November 26, 1943.

†1945W Ralph Davis Sneath Sample, December 13, 1944.

1946 David Townsend Mason, 2d, February 12, 1944.

## SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- 1883 Oliver Rockwell Morgan, December 31, 1943.
- 1884 James Arthur Fawcett, November 25, 1943.
- 1884 William Mason Wright, August 16, 1943.

1888 Addison Graves, June 24, 1943.

- 1888 George Parker Thompson, December 13, 1943.
- 1891 George Tallman Ladd, October 3, 1943.
- 1892 Harris Platt Allen, January 9, 1944.
- 1892 Louis Septimus Owsley, September 26, 1943.
- 1892 Edward Harrison Post, February 13, 1942.
- 1892 Frank Herbert Sampson, July 11, 1943.
- 1894 Allan Worthington Cooke, May 6, 1944.

1896 Martin Kennedy, Jr., May 18, 1944.

- 1897 Joseph Richard Jackson, Jr., January 27, 1944.
- 1898 Charles Phillips Hatch, January 22, 1942.
- 1898 Hobart Elmore Marshall, December 20, 1943
- 1898 Walter Phelps Warren, Jr., February 23, 1944.
- 1899 Robert Thomas Easterbrook, June 22, 1944.
- 1900 John Aubrey Foulks, August 30, 1943.
- 1901 Frank Everson Powell, July 2, 1943.
- 1905 John Calvin Anderson, November 13, 1943.
- 1906 Frank Hurd Robinson, June 26, 1944.
- 1907 Charles Kingsbury Billings, Jr, March 12, 1944.
- 1908 Frederic Albert Dignowity, March 4, 1944.
- 1909 Ezra Read Vail, September 14, 1943.
- 1910 Arthur Bear Hinterleiter, February 20, 1943.
- 1910 Livingston Evans Wilkeson, February 18, 1944.
- 1911 Virgil H. Belford, March 10, 1944.
- 1911 Benjamin Fitch Collender, January 15, 1944.
- 1912 Clement McQueen Petit, January 18, 1944.

<sup>†</sup> Died in war service—a biographical sketch will appear in a subsequent issue of the Obituary Record.

#### CLASS

- 1915 Francis Dayton Canfield, 3d, March 5, 1944
- 1916 Jonathon Sheldon Alling, May 6, 1944
- \*1917 Lucius Bass Manning, April 9, 1944.
  - 1917 Robert Simon Wormser, December 7, 1943
  - 1919 James Fenton Simpson, May 9, 1942.
  - 1920 Alvah Mansur Kaime, May, 1937.
  - 1920 Louis Carmen Seaman, April 3, 1922.
  - 1921 Seaver Page Francis, July 5, 1943.
  - 1921 Isadore Zelle Sigle, October 5, 1943.
  - 1925 John Andrus Pharr, Jr., January 14, 1944.
  - 1927 John Mairs Gilchrist, February 3, 1942.
- \*1933 Townsend Cutter, July 17, 1943.
  - 1933 Walter Daskam Griggs, June 22, 1944.
- 1936 Thomas Herbert Lynn, Jr, October 6, 1943.
- \*1940 Robert Torrey Thompson, April 9, 1941.
- \*1941 Foster Miller Fargo, April 14, 1943.
- \*1941 Francis Mercer Hackley, July 4, 1943.
- \*1941 James Watson Hatch, Jr., April 25, 1942.
- \*1943 Gordon Taylor Gates, October 20, 1943.
- \*1943 David Edsall Tileston, June 14, 1943.

#### SPECIAL STUDENT IN THE SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

1883 Edward Seymour Hotchkiss, November 16, 1943.

#### SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING

- \*1939 Lawrence Nelson Succop, October 17, 1943.
- \*1942 Beverly Ward Bristol, September 20, 1943.
- †1945W Samuel Johnson Walker, Jr, June, 1944

## GRADUATE SCHOOL

- 1890 Ernest Leonard Fox, December 28, 1943
- 1891 Herbert Lockwood Willett, March 28, 1944
- 1892 William Newel Filson, March 27, 1944.
- 1893 Ida May Schottenfels, March 11, 1942.
- 1894 Alfred Clarence Carlson, July 26, 1943

#### **★** Died in war service.

\* A biographical sketch appears in this volume, see index for page reference

† Died in war service—a biographical sketch will appear in a subsequent issue of the Obituary Record.

**CLASS** 

1900 John Eastlund, December 18, 1943.

1901 Estelle Holbrook, December 26, 1943

1903 Samuel Henry Dodson, May, 1943.

1904 Mary Adéle Allen, May 17, 1944.

1906 Ward Murray Jones, February 26, 1944.

1914 Fred Roebling Stuart, March 23, 1944.

1921 Ransel Eugene Andrew, June 26, 1942.

1926 Emma Rebecca Ellis, August 2, 1943.

1926 Frank Kenneth Pool, December 25, 1943.

1929 Herman George Mickelson, July 14, 1943.

1930 Luther Malmberg, September 20, 1943.

\*1941 Warren Williams, Jr, March 3, 1944

\*1942 John Fleming Landis, February 16, 1943.

\*1942 Anthony George Palermo, October 27, 1943.

\*1942 Reino Arvin Ranta, May 5, 1943.

## SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

1891 William John Mayer, October 12, 1943.

1893 Charles Edmund Geer, September 9, 1943.

1894 Thomas Boyne Patterson, December 22, 1943.

1896 Lucius Harrison Stewart, June 12, 1944.

1897 James Leslie Allan, February 16, 1943.

1899 Frederic John Ingate, December 29, 1943.

1904 Walter Loraine Plumb, January 21, 1944.

1905 Laurence Leonard Libby, May 11, 1941.

1910 James Aloysius Barrett, April 28, 1944

1912 James Andrew McNamara, Jr., January 30, 1944.

#### DIVINITY SCHOOL

1888 Gerald Stanley Lee, April 3, 1944

1888 John Corvell Parsons, December 23, 1943.

1890 Arthur Fairbanks, January 13, 1944.

1891 Henry Knowles Wingate, February 22, 1944.

1894 Henry Leigh Layman, April 2, 1944.

1895 William Hiram Waggoner, January 27, 1944.

1906 Alfred Bright, April 2, 1944.

1914 Edwin Reeder Errett, January 29, 1944.

1927 Francis McLennan Vreeland, February 6, 1943.

<sup>★</sup> Died in war service

## SCHOOL OF LAW

CLASS	
1890	Herbert James Menzie, June 27, 1942.
1893	Byron Lakin Bargar, June 14, 1943.
1894	Bernard Joseph Gretsch (formerly Grech), April 1, 1943
1896	Roger Fuller Mercaine Andrews, August 9, 1943
1896	Oliver Case, November 16, 1937
1899	Henry Alexander Jackson, October 5, 1943
1900	Henry Edward Shannon, July 7, 1943
1901	Lewis MacDougall, December 15, 1943
	Harry Crosby Camp, June 16, 1944.
1902	Arthur Garfield Harrison, March 26, 1941
1903	Francis Martin Langlois, January 20, 1944.
1905	Harry Rockey Parker, December 22, 1939
1907	Wallace Stuart Handy, January 5, 1944.
1908	Louis Mario Petruccelli, February 3, 1944.
1908	Carl Andrew Shirk, April 25, 1944.
1910	Russell Keresy Dougherty, February 24, 1944.
1910	Clarence Arthur Hoornbeek, March 24, 1944.
<b>*</b> 1943	Ralph Hamill, August 15, 1943.
<b>*</b> 1943	Stephen Ferguson Hopper, January 1, 1944.
	SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SCHOOL OF LAW
1007	William Lill Zepp, May 1, 1943.

1907	william Lill Zepp, May 1, 1943.
1908	Michael Patrick Haggarty, December 28, 1930.
1911	Michael L. Fahey, August 15, 1943.

## SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

### RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

1884	Emma Elizabeth Hill, December 27, 1943
1885	Emma H. Bacon, September 21, 1942.
_	Clara Louise Thayer (Mrs. Frank Dodge Leffingwell), May 8,
-	1944.

#### NON-GRADUATES

1874	Emma Munger (Mrs. William T. Foote), November, 1928.
1878	John F. Clark, June, 1944.
1879	Caroline Hansell, April 18, 1944
1887	Matılda Amelia Bostwick (Mrs. George Clifford Foote), April 9,
•	1944.

<sup>★</sup> Died in war service

		_	_
CI	.А	S	S

- 1887 Effie Helena Sperry, September 24, 1943.
- 1898 John Garretson Terrill, June 9, 1942.
- 1898 Anna Russell Zeller (Mrs. Carl J. Hazelton), December 19, 1943.
- 1900 William Farrow, October 27, 1942.
- 1902 Max Dellfant, January 26, 1944.
- 1906 Ruth McIntosh (Mrs. Clarence Holloway Cogswell), January 7, 1944.
- 1927 Maxwell Jay Rice, November 30, 1943.
- 1929 Victor Vladko Najer, July 22, 1938.
- \*1936 Walter Timothy Enright, November 27, 1943
  - 1938 Ruth Goldie Small (Mrs. Charles Villency), October 21, 1943.
- \*1941 Robert Carter Bryan, May 17, 1944.

### SCHOOL OF MUSIC

#### RECIPIENT OF CERTIFICATE

1902 Florence Annette Wells, January 8, 1944.

#### **NON-GRADUATES**

- 1913 George Ernest LaFramboise, November 8, 1943.
- 1926 Loretta Cannon Yates, February 13, 1944.

#### SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

1904 Frank Percival Hamilton, December 11, 1943

<sup>★</sup> Died in war service.

## **STATISTICS**

## DEATHS RECORDED IN THIS VOLUME

	Graduates	Non-Graduates
Yale College	<b>2</b> 30	67
Sheffield Scientific School	112	49
School of Engineering	2	3
Graduate School	16	20
School of Medicine	7	10
Divinity School	26	9
School of Law	37	19
School of the Fine Arts	8*	15
School of Music	1†	2
School of Forestry	4	I
School of Nursing	ı	
Recipients of Honorary Degrees	8	
	452	195

The age of the 224 graduates of Yale College who died between July 1, 1943, and July 1, 1944, averages 62 0, and the age of the 108 graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School averages 62 o

The oldest living graduate of Yale College is Charles McCormick Reeve (BA 1870) of Minnetonka Beach, Minn, born August 7, 1847 He succeeds Cornelius Royal Wallace, B.A 1874 (page 6)

The oldest living graduate of the Sheffield Scientific School is William Arthur Rogers (Ph B 1874) of Buffalo, NY, born September 8, 1851.

#### DEATHS REPORTED IN WAR SERVICE

	Deaths recorded in this volume		December 7, 1941- July 1, 1944	
	Graduates	Non- Graduates	Graduates	Non- Graduates
Yale College	30	30	64‡	45
Sheffield Scientific School	9	8	19§	45   18‡
School of Engineering	1	3	2	3§ 6
Graduate School	I	4	3	6
School of Medicine	2 (1)		2 (2)	
Divinity School			2	
School of Law	4 (1)	2	4(1)	5
School of the Fine Arts	3	2	5	4
School of Music				<b>1</b> §
School of Forestry			(1)	I
School of Nursing				
Recipients of Honorary Degrees		•	I	
	_		<del></del>	_
	50	49	102	83

<sup>\*</sup> Includes 3 who held certificates † Recipient of certificate

<sup>§</sup> Includes 1 who died prior to December 7, 1941 || Includes 3 who died prior to December 7, 1941

<sup>‡</sup> Includes 2 who died prior to December 7, 1941
Note Figures in parentheses indicate professional school graduates who have also received an undergraduate degree from Yale

## **INDEX**

Members of the different Schools of the University are distinguished from members of Yale College by italic letters as follows Divinity School, d, School of Engineering, e, School of the Fine Arts, art, School of Forestry, f, Graduate School, ma or dp, School of Law, l, ml, or 1d, School of Medicine, m, School of Music, mus, School of Nursing, n, Sheffield Scientific School, s War casualties are designated by a star (\*)

CLASS		DACE	67.455		DAGE
_		PAGE	CLASS	Donated Donas des XX est	PAGE
1903 <i>dp</i> 1881 s	Abbe, Elisabeth F	295	<b>★</b> 1942 e	Bristol, Beverly Ward	288
1888	Adams, Charles F	209	<b>*</b> 1942	Bristol, Kenneth C	195
	Allen, Edmund	42	1890 l	Bristol, Warren H	325
1896	Alvord, Samuel M	75	1895 d	Brooks, Raymond C	314
1890	Ames, Edgar	49	1886	Brown, William Adams	31
*1940 art	Andrews, Charles J, Jr	347	1900	Buck, Jerome H	100
1921 d	Armistead, Joseph D	320	1896 s	Bughman, George B	227
1906 s	Armstrong, Lewis E	252	1899	Bulkley, Joseph E	98
1889	Atkins, Henry C	44	<b>*</b> 1936	Bull, Webster M	176
1896 !	Atkins, Will C	330	1900 \$	Burdick, Irving E	240
1902 l	Bacon, Curtiss S	332	1902	Burke, Edward Garfield	376
<b>1896</b>	Bacon, Leonard B	75	<b>★</b> 1940 art	Burnham, Spencer O	346
<b>*</b> 1940	Badger, Paul B, Jr	188	1889 \$	Burroughs, George T., Jr	216
1923 \$	Baither, Charles P	278	1888 /	Butler, Hubert W	325
1908	Baldwin, Simeon	137	<b>*</b> 1928	Byrne, John B	168
1885	Baldwin, Walter S	26	*1924 art	Camden, Harry P, Jr	345
1897	Baldwin, William D	84	1909 f	Canavarro, Georges deS	350
1888	Baldwin, William Pitt	42	*1937 l	Carlson, Myron L	340
1907 5	Bardwell, Robert D	254	1895 (	Carmody, Terence F	327
1905	Bartlett, Walcott D	122	1895	Carpenter, Arthur F.	66
1900 \$	Bassick, William R	239	<b>*</b> 1944	Carpenter, Joseph N, 3d	202
★1941 m	Bates, John H	303	1907	Carter, Winthrop L	130
1895	Beattie, Edward W	65	1893	Cartwright, Otho G	58 226
1897 s	Beers, Clifford W	231	1906 l	Case, Birdsey E.	336
1902 \$	Belden, Arthur G	244	1936	Case, Robert D	177
1901	Beltz, Frederick	104	1912	Case, Theodore W	150
1896	Benedict, Henry H	76	1901	Caskey, Lacey D	105
<b>★</b> 1943 e	Bentley, Edward S, Jr	289	1884	Chara William H	22
1894	Bishop, Charles Benjamin	59	<b>*</b> 1918	Chain, William H	162
1887 d	Bixler, James W	305	1885	Chandler, Edward H	27
19045	Blair, Clarence M	248	1896 s 1878 s	Chapin, Charles H B	227
1874	Blougett, Samuel F	5		Chapin, William G	207
19025	Blount, Nelson	244	1875 \$	Christman France P	205 282
1897	Boardman, Francis Bond, Robert E	85	1937 5	Christner, Ernest P Christy, Leroy	
1903		111	1908 \$		256 86
1905 <i>l</i> 1893	Bonee, John L Bosworth, Charles W	335	1908 \$	Church, Willard Clark, Bernard S	
	Botwinik, Norman E	57 188	1893 5	Clark, George C.	<sup>257</sup>
1940	Boyce, James L		1899 \$	Clark, Henry Skyrin	220
1901 1884	Boyd, Robert M, Jr	104 21		Clark, Martin	236
1899 <i>l</i>	Bradish, Stanley P		1879 1879	Cochrane, Aaron V S	10
	Bradway, Judson, Jr	330 175	1911	Colburn, A Presby	
1935 1908	Bragg, Caleb S	138	1 2 -	Coleman, Christopher B	149
1900	Diagg, Calcu o	130	1 1090	Colcinali, Chilotophel D	77

Index 389

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1896 d	Collier, Christopher W	315	1893 s	Fox, Edward L	220
1880 s	Collin, Frank McA	208	<b>★</b> 1939	Freedman, Murray C	186
1890	Colton, Arthur W	50	1921 d	French, Clifford H	321
1898	Colton, Molton A	92	1895	Frissell, Lewis F	67
1931	Conner, Frank N	172	1883	Frost, Herbert L	18
1915	Cook, Sidney A	156	1896	Gaines, John M	78
<b>*</b> 1938	Cookman, George E	183	1884	Gale, Edward C	23
1923 d	Coombs, John R	322	1898	Gallaudet, Herbert D	92
1927	Cotter, Charles F, Jr	168	*1943 s	Gates, Gordon T	287
1902	Cox, Harry B	353	1876	Gaylord, Franklin A	6
1908	Crawford, Leonard J	139	1910	George, Nathan F	147
1907	Crawford, Seth T	131	1897 s	Gerard, Julian M	233
<b>★</b> 1943	Cronan, John McDevitt	196	1916	Gibb, John R	158
*1940 s	Cross, Frederick C	<b>2</b> 84	1899 s	Gillet, Louis A	237
<b>*</b> 1938	Currier, David F	184	19045	Glass, Edgar T	249
1901	Curtis, Eugene N	105	1903	Gleason, William W	112
1879	Curtiss, Julian W	II	1889	Godard, Porter B	45
1938 dp	Davis, George T	297	1902	Goodwin, James L	109
1935	Degnan, William M	175	1896	Gordon, William S	79
1891 d	Dent, Elmer A	311	*1941 l	Gorman, Arthur P, 2d	342
1898 <i>dp</i>	Dickinson, Mrs George L	370	1896	Gowans, Theodore M	80
1894	Diefendorf, Allen R	60	1895 l	Graham, Archibald	328
<b>★</b> 1942 s	Digan, Edward C	285	<b>*</b> 1940	Graham, John W	356
1909 \$	Dixon, Alan C	263	1901 °	Greene, Clifford	106
1902 <i>ma</i>	Dodd, Edward L.	368	1886 s	Greenebaum, James E	213
19125	Doerr, John H	269	1896	Griggs, Maitland F	81
1941 <i>dp</i>	Done, Robert S.	299	1890 s	Gunn, Charles N	217
19245	Dooly, Richard W	364	1904 d	Guthrie, Ernest Graham	316
<b>*</b> 1943	Dugan, Richard D	197	<b>★</b> 1942	Haas, Robert K , Jr	359
1894	Duncan, Winthrop H	61	*1941 s	Hackley, Francis M	285
1899 s	Dusun, Guy K	237	1898 '	Hale, William B	94
1902	Easton, Edward	108	1895 5	Hall, Allan E	<b>2</b> 25
1892	Eaton, Richard G	52	1894 l	Hall, George E	326
19125	Eden, John H	270	1898 v	Hall, Lester W	235
1886	Eliot, George E.	34	1910 d	Hall, Maxwell	317
1908 s	Engelhardt, Fred	257	1910 5	Hall, Richard N.	265
1894	Evans, W Leslie	62	1942 n	Hallwhich, Mrs William	352
_1908	Everard, Lewis C	140	1887 5	Ham, George C	215
*1941 s	Fargo, Foster M	366	1908 š	Ham, Harry B	259
1899	Farnam, Thomas W	99	1904	Hambrecht, George P	334
1894 s	Farnum, Henry W	222	1884	Hamill, Robert W	24
1879	Farwell, John V	13	1904	Hamilton, Harry T	117
1885	Farwell, Walter	28	<b>*</b> 1943	Hamilton, John H	198
*1944	Fauci, Charles M, Jr	362	1902 ml	Hammett, A Miller	378
1888 d	Ferguson, Frank L	306	1921	Hanf, Noel E	164
18945	Fifer, Alois J J	223	1885	Harrison, Henry K	29
1892 1882 m	Fisk, Otis H	<b>5</b> 3	1894 d	Hartsock, J Lewis	313
1883 m	Fiske, George F	300	*1941 5	Hatch, James W, Jr	367
19185	Fleming, James J	277	1909 \$	Haxstun, A King	264
1880	Flint, Peter	15	19045	Heady, Louis E	250
1876 s	Forbes, Stanly	206	1883	Helleberg, Victor E	19
1891 \$	Forrest, George C	219	1912	Henderson, Peter	151
1905	Fowler, Harry E	123	1895	Henderson, Yandell	68

1884 Higbee, Howard H 1906 s Higgins, Edmund S 1901 m Higgins, Gould S 1937 Higgins, Norris R 1902 Higgins, William A 1883 Hillard, Harry R 1900 Hills, William B 1900 Hills, William B 1901 m Higgins B 1902 Higgins S 1883 Hillard, Tuthill R 1900 Hills, William B 1900 Hills, William B 1900 Hills, William B 1901 Hitchcock, Charles F 1902 Hitner, George W 1903 Hood, Frazer 1904 Hood, Frazer 1905 Mary R 1906 Lamprey, Howard A 1907 Lattin, Edward E 1895 Lee, Howard B 1895 Levi, Albert D 1883 Lewis, Carll A 1906 Locker, Willis C, Jr 1891 Lovering, William J 1881 Lovering, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 1938 Lowinger, Frederic C 1949 Locker, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 1938 Lowinger, Frederic C 1949 Locker, William H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 1887 Ludington, William H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 1993 1896 s Lusk, William C 1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S	GΕ
1884       Higbee, Howard H       25       1894       Lamprey, Howard A       6         1906 s       Higgins, Edmund S       252       1928       Larrabee, Benjamin H       16         1901 m       Higgins, Gould S       300       1892       Lasell, Sidney L       5         1937       Higgins, Norris R       181       1907       Lattin, Edward E       13         1902       Higgins, William A       109       1895       Lee, Howard B       18         1883       Hill, Herbert C       223       1937 l       Lehrer, Harry       32         1883       Hillard, Harry R       19       1895       Levi, Albert D       35         1883       Hillard, Tuthill R       20       1883       Lewis, Carll A       20         1912 f       Hitchcock, Charles F       351       1939       Loveday, William J       18         1902       Hitner, George W       110       1881       Lovering, William M       19         1914       Holden, Wallace D       153       1933       Lowinger, Frederic C       19         1900       ma       Hood, Frazer       291       1887       Ludington, William H       20         1891       dp       Horswell, Charles	62
1906 s Higgins, Edmund S 1901 m Higgins, Gould S 1937 Higgins, Norris R 1902 Higgins, William A 1904 s Hill, Herbert C 1883 Hillard, Harry R 1900 Hills, William B 1900 Hills, William B 1901 m Higgins, Norris R 1901 Itattin, Edward E 1902 Lee, Howard B 1895 Lee, Howard B 1895 Levi, Albert D 1883 Lewis, Carll A 1900 Hills, William B 1914 Hitchcock, Charles F 1902 Hitner, George W 1903 Hitner, George W 1904 Holden, Wallace D 1905 ma Hood, Frazer 1906 ma Hood, Frazer 1907 Lattin, Edward E 1907 Lattin, Edward E 1907 Lee, Howard B 1907 Lee, Howard B 1908 Levi, Albert D 1895 Levi, Albert D 1895 Levis, Carll A 1894 Locker, Willis C, Jr 1894 Loveday, William J 1895 Loveday, William J 1897 Loveday, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 1918 Lovering, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 1918 Lowinger, Frederic C 1919 Italian H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 1930 s Luke, Adam K, Jr 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 1931 Houston, Paul L 1932 Lyman, Cassius S 1933 Lyman, Cassius S	63
1901 m       Higgins, Gould S       300       1892       Lasell, Sidney L       1937       Higgins, Norris R       181       1907       Lattin, Edward E       13         1902 Higgins, William A       109       1895       Lee, Howard B       18         1894 s       Hill, Herbert C       223       1937 l       Lehrer, Harry       32         1883 Hillard, Harry R       19       1895       Levi, Albert D       35         1883 Hillard, Tuthill R       20       1883       Lewis, Carll A       20         1900 Hills, William B       101       *1944       Locker, Willis C, Jr       20         1912 f       Hitchcock, Charles F       351       *1939       Loveday, William J       18         1902 Hitner, George W       110       1881       Lovering, William M       18         1914 Holden, Wallace D       153       *1933       Lowinger, Frederic C       19         1900 ma       Hood, Frazer       291       1887       Ludington, William H       20         1891 dp       Horswell, Charles       293       1896 s       Lusk, William C       22         1913 Houston, Paul L       152       1882 s       Lyman, Cassius S       23	69
1937       Higgins, Norris R       181       1907       Lattin, Edward E       13         1902       Higgins, William A       109       1895       Lee, Howard B       18         1894 s       Hill, Herbert C       223       1937 l       Lehrer, Harry       34         1883       Hillard, Harry R       19       1895       Levi, Albert D       35         1883       Hillard, Tuthill R       20       1883       Lewis, Carll A       20         1900       Hills, William B       101       *1944       Locker, Willis C, Jr       20         1912 f       Hitchcock, Charles F       351       *1939       Loveday, William J       18         1902       Hitner, George W       110       1881       Lovering, William M       18         1914       Holden, Wallace D       153       *1933       Lowinger, Frederic C       17         1900       ma       Hood, Frazer       291       1887       Luke, Adam K, Jr       27         1891 dp       Horswell, Charles       293       1896 s       Lusk, William C       22         1913       Houston, Paul L       152       1882 s       Lyman, Cassius S       27	5 <b>5</b>
Higgins, William A  109  1895  Lee, Howard B  1894 s  Hill, Herbert C  223  1937 l  Lehrer, Harry  34  1883  Hillard, Harry R  19  1895  Levi, Albert D  35  1883  Hillard, Tuthill R  20  1883  Lewis, Carll A  1900  Hills, William B  101  1912 f  Hitchcock, Charles F  351  1902  Hitner, George W  110  1881  Lovering, William M  1914  Holden, Wallace D  153  1933  Lowinger, Frederic C  1900 ma  Hood, Frazer  291  1887  Ludington, William H  1937 s  Horn, Charles D  283  1896 s  Luke, Adam K, Jr  281  1891 dp  Horswell, Charles  293  1896 s  Lusk, William C  201  202  203  204  205  206  207  208  209  209  209  209  209  209  209	
1894 s Hill, Herbert C 223 1937 l Lehrer, Harry 34 1883 Hillard, Harry R 19 1895 Levi, Albert D 35 1883 Hillard, Tuthill R 20 1883 Lewis, Carll A 1900 Hills, William B 101 1912 f Hitchcock, Charles F 351 1939 Loveday, William J 1890 Hitner, George W 110 1881 Lovering, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 153 1887 Ludington, William H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 283 1896 s Luke, Adam K, Jr 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 293 1896 s Luke, William C 221 1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S 21	71
1883 Hillard, Harry R 1883 Hillard, Tuthill R 1900 Hills, William B 1912 f Hitchcock, Charles F 1902 Hitner, George W 1914 Holden, Wallace D 1900 ma Hood, Frazer 1900 ma Hood, Frazer 1917 Horswell, Charles D 1887 Ludington, William H 1914 Horswell, Charles D 1887 Ludington, William H 1918 Horswell, Charles 1930 s Luke, Adam K, Jr 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 1913 Houston, Paul L 1920 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S	
Hillard, Tuthill R  1900 Hills, William B  1912 f Hitchcock, Charles F  1902 Hitner, George W  1914 Holden, Wallace D  1900 ma Hood, Frazer  1900 ma Hood, Frazer  1901 dp Horswell, Charles  1902 Houston, Paul L  1903 S Luke, Adam K, Jr  1804 Lovering, William H  1905 Ludington, William H  1906 s Lusk, William C  1907 Ludington, Cassius S	
1900 Hills, William B 101 *1944 Locker, Willis C, Jr 1912 f Hitchcock, Charles F 1902 Hitner, George W 110 1881 Lovering, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 153 *1933 Lowinger, Frederic C 1900 ma Hood, Frazer 291 1887 Ludington, William H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S	20
1912 f Hitchcock, Charles F 351	03
1902 Hitner, George W 110 1881 Lovering, William M 1914 Holden, Wallace D 153 **1933 Lowinger, Frederic C 1900 ma Hood, Frazer 291 1887 Ludington, William H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 293 1896 s Lusk, William C 1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S	87
1914 Holden, Wallace D 1900 ma Hood, Frazer 291 1887 Ludington, William H 1937 s Horn, Charles D 1891 dp Horswell, Charles 293 1896 s Lusk, William C 1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S	16
1900 ma       Hood, Frazer       291       1887       Ludington, William H       3         *1937 s       Horn, Charles D       283       1930 s       Luke, Adam K, Jr       27         1891 dp       Horswell, Charles       293       1896 s       Lusk, William C       22         1913       Houston, Paul L       152       1882 s       Lyman, Cassius S       21	73
★1937 s       Horn, Charles D       283       1930 s       Luke, Adam K, Jr       283         1891 dp       Horswell, Charles       293       1896 s       Lusk, William C       223         1913       Houston, Paul L       152       1882 s       Lyman, Cassius S       213	35
1891 dp Horswell, Charles 293 1896 s Lusk, William C 22 1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S 21	79
1913 Houston, Paul L 152 1882 s Lyman, Cassius S 21	29
TOOL Hoveredt Worren I TOT 1012 td Lyman Pohert W	II
1901 Hoysradt, Warren J 107   1913 1d Lyman, Robert W 3'	79
	36
	03
	60
1925 Hume, Theodore C 166 1913 s McGill, Walter L 27	72
1902 Humiston, Howard 111 1902 l McGrath, John F 33	32
1911 Hunn, Clarke Fox 150 1900 McKenzie, Alexander L 10	IC
1904 ma Hurst, Albert S 293 *1941 Main, Malcolm G 35	58
1907 Huson, Horace L 133 1900 Malony, William R P 10	02
	63
	04
	o <b>8</b>
1893 s January, Harry C 221 1892 Marshall, L Winfield	56
	71
	55
	24
	78
	96
	57
	4 I
	29
^ 1 11	45
	49
	46
	25
	27
1885 Kerr, Robert B 29 1877 Mervine, Charles S	7
	26
	51
	59
	55
	53
A 77 1 77 1 77 1 77	60
0 77 416 198 6 7 98 99 91 99	74
	39
1905 Lagerquist, Walter E 124   1911 5 Moran, Robert C 26	58

Index 391

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1935 mus	Morris, Raymond A	348	<b>*</b> 1936	Richardson, John H	18o
1904 d	Morro, William C	374	1915	Rigby, Henry B	158
1909 ma	Morton, Howard A	370	<b>*</b> 1915	Riggs, Carroll G	355
1907 5	Mosser, Paul S	254	1878	Ripley, Alfred L	8
1936	Mott, Joseph $V$	356	1891	Robinson, Allan	51
1903	Motter, John B	113	1898 \$	Rogers, Allen Merrill	236
<b>★</b> 1943	Munson, C LaRue	198	1885 s	Ross, William T	213
1879	Munson, Robert H	14	19125	Ruotolo, Dominic	271
1896 <i>s</i>	Murray, Walter	229	1901 m	Ryno, Corydon M	372
1908 m	Nevin, Clement C	301	1897	Sage, Dean	89
1907 l	Nicholas, George	336	1881 \$	Sargent, G Lewis	210
1890 d	Nichols, John T	310	<b>*</b> 1938	Saunders, Robert P	185
1902 s	Nisbet, Wayne C.	245	<b>*</b> 1240	Sautter, Carl U	190
1900 ma	Norton, Edwin C	<b>′ 292</b>	1896	Sawyer, J Denison	82
1898	Norton, John T, Jr	96	19025	Schley, Kenneth B	247
1885 d	Nott, J Lee	373	1895	Scoville, William H	72
1888	Ogden, Harold V	43	1909	Secor, Clarence E	146
1924 m	O'Grady, Benson J	302	1888	Seeley, James R	44
<b>*</b> 1936	O'Keefe, John E, Jr.	178	1891	Seidle, Ira E	52
1889 <i>l</i> _	Okubo, Toshitake	374	1908	Seligman, Joseph L	142
1902 dp	Olsen, Julius	371	1892	Seymour, Frank W	57
1886	Otis, William A	34	*1942 s	Seymour, Hovey	286
<b>*</b> 1940	Ott, Richard L	189	*1936 s	Shallenberger, Robert J	281
<b>*</b> 1936	Overton, Alan G	179	1886 d	Sharp, Robert W.	30 <b>5</b>
_ 1897 <u> </u>	Owen, William H	87	1904	Shaw, Carleton	121
*1940 l	Pack, Charles D	341	1894 d	Shaw, Gilbert A	313
1889 d	Papazian, Manasseh G	309	1889	Shearman, Thomas G	47
1874	Parkin, William	5	1879	Shepard, John W	15
1904	Parks, Elton	119	1895 ml	Sheridan, James Jay	377
*1915 s	Patterson, Sterling	274	19108	Shillingford, G Webb	267
<b>*</b> 1933	Pearson, William G	174	<b>*</b> 1931	Sidenberg, Gilbert H	172
1908	Peirce, George A	142	1893 d	Small, Harry E	312
1883 s	Penfield, Edward W	212	$\perp$ 1910 $d$	Smith, Charles George	318
1907	Percy, Karlton G	134	<b>*</b> 1943	Snead, William S, Jr	201
<b>*</b> 1943	Perry, Charles M	199	1896 s	Sniffen, Ernest W	230
1915 \$	Persky, Robert	275	<b>*</b> 1043	Souther, David G	202
1933 e 1887	Peyser, H William	288	1905	Spalding, Edward E	125
1887 s	Phelps, William Lyon	37	★. <sup>6</sup> 940	Spalding, John H	191
	Phillips, Charles E	215	1895	Speer, John B	73
*1943	Phillips, Worthington W	200	1917	Spencer, Oliver W	161
1909 <i>dp</i> 1889 s	Pierce, Frederick W Pierce, William H	296 216	1904	Spencer, Walter B Sperry, Richard H	121 281
1908 l	Pierson, Adrian A		*1936 <i>s</i> 1887	Sprague, Frederick W	
1897	Pinchot, Amos R E.	337 88	1901 5	Sprigg, Carroll	40 243
1892 s	Pond, Miles A	219	_	Stanley-Brown, Rudolph	264
1894	Pope, Alfred M	64	1909 s 1893 l	Stanton, George H	•
<b>★</b> 1942 <i>l</i>	Preston, Morgan O	343	1900 d	Stanton, Jay B	375 316
<b>★</b> 1943	Rainey, Thomas J	343 361	1900 #	Steele, Charles M	148
1945	Randal, Jules C	167	1910	Steele, Roswell H	144
1920 1899 l	Raney, Arthur J.	-	_	Steiger, Robert R	
1898		331	1919 5		277
_	Recknagel, Harold S	97	1907 \$	Stephenson, Joseph C	255 128
1911 /	Redick, Elmer S	338	1906 ************************************	Stevens, Carleton H	160
1902 S	Reeves, Samuel J	240	<b>*</b> 1916	Strong, Carl H	100

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
19135	Strong, Vernon T	272	1929	Wack, Damon deB	170
1911 l	Strother, Ray L	377	18995	Wadhams, Joseph P.	238
1907	Sumner, Cyril	135	1878	Walker, George R	9
1889 5	Sweetser, Lewis H	217	1874	Wallace, Cornelius R	6
1895	Talmage, John F	73	1898	Walsh, John W	97
<b>★</b> 1940	Taylor, Cyrus R	191	1903	Ward, Freeman	115
1921 l	Taylor, Frank D	339	1908 \$	Watrous, Paul M	261
1909	Terrill, M Clark	146	1885	Way, Charles L	30
1886 s	Tevis, William S	214	1940	Weber, Theodore C	192
1896 s	Thaw, Josiah C	231	1906 art	Weir, Irene	344
1899 l	Theall, Thornton J	33 <b>1</b>	1882	Welles, Martin	17
1906	Thom, Alfred P, Jr	129	1900 s	Wheeler, John E	242
1900	Thompson, Charlton B	103	1895	Wheeler, William M	74
1906 s	Thompson, Fred H	<b>25</b> 3	<b>★</b> 1940	Wheelock, Wendell R	193
1908	Thompson, Miles G	144	1896	Whitaker, Morris M	83
<b>★</b> 1940 s	Thompson, Robert Torrey	365	<b>*</b> 1938	White, Frederick W	185
1906	Tice, Edward P	129	<b>*</b> 1944	Whittlesey, Frank R	362
19145	Ticknor, Arthur A	273.	1889	Whittlesey, James T	48
<b>*</b> 1943 <i>s</i>	Tileston, David E	367	1880 s	Williams, George G	209
1911 [	Tıllotson, Levi N	338	1903 \$	Williams, Thomas H	247
<b>★</b> 1932 s	Todd, Kay, Jr	<b>28</b> 0	1907	Wilshire, George	136
1887	Trowbridge, Francis B	40	19155	Wilson, Franklin C	276
1902 l	Tully, Francis W	333	<b>*</b> 1941	Wilson, Henry R, 3d	359
1890 s	Turner, Albert M	218	1903	Wing, Wilson G	116
1897	Tytus, John B	91	1908 5	Wolcott, E Clinton	262
1911 d	Ullom, Thomas Penn	319	*1940 dp	Wood, Floyd G	298
<b>★</b> 1939 s	Underhill, Samuel J	364	1892 d	Woodrow, Samuel H	311
1894	VanSlyck, George F.	64	<b>*</b> 1937	Woods, N Stanley	182
1903	Van Tassel, Ernest S	114	1894 <i>s</i>	Wright, Edward T	224
1903	Vestling, Axel E	114	1902	Yung, Bartlett G	354
1904 <i>†</i>	Viles, Blaine S	349	1897 dp	Zimmerman, Charles H	294
1893 s	Vought, John H	222			

## FORMS OF BEQUEST

IN answer to many inquiries from alumni and friends of the University who plan to remember Yale in their wills, the following forms are suggested.

## (GENERAL)

I give and bequeath to Yale University, a corporation existing under and by the virtue of a charter granted by the General Assembly of the Colony and State of Connecticut, and located in the Town of New Haven in said State, ... Dollars, to be used (br, the income to be used) at the discretion of the Corporation of said University.

## (SPECIFIC)

(It is strongly recommended that a competent lawyer be employed to prepare the will and to supervise its execution in order to comply with all the requirements of the law of the state in which the maker of the will resides. It is also wise to give the University considerable latitude in the use of any fund so that a change of circumstances may not impair the usefulness of the gift. The Treasurer of the University will be glad upon request to review the phrasing of any proposed form of bequest.)